# URANIUM - BEARING QUARTZ - PEBBLE CONGLOMERATES: EXPLORATION MODEL AND UNITED STATES RESOURCE POTENTIAL

By: Robert S. Houston and Karl E. Karlstrom



UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING LARAMIE, WYOMING

November, 1979

PREPARED FOR THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY Assistant Secretary for Resource Applications Grand Junction Office, Colorado

metadc784565

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by the United States Government. Neither the United States nor the United States Department of Energy, nor any of their employees, nor any of their contractors, subcontractors, or their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability of responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights.

### PRECAMBRIAN URANIUM-BEARING QUARTZ-PEBBLE CONGLOMERATES: EXPLORATION MODEL AND UNITED STATES RESOURCE POTENTIAL

Robert S. Houston and Karl E. Karlstrom

Department of Geology University of Wyoming Laramie, Wyoming 82071

November, 1979

PREPARED FOR THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR RESOURCE APPLICATIONS GRAND JUNCTION OFFICE, COLORADO UNDER CONTRACT NO. EY-76-C-14-1664 AND BENDIX SUBCONTRACT NO. 78-22-E

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Rex Cole, our Bendix Project Manager for continued assistance in preparing this report. His dedication to the scientific objectives of the project has been extremely helpful. We also thank Bob Young (Bendix Corporation), Paul Graff (Research Associates of Wyoming), and Jim Sears (Auburn University) for useful editorial comments. The prodigious job of typing and retyping the manuscript was performed by Elaine Hertzfeldt, to whom we also extend our thanks.

### CONTENTS

Introduction	. 1	
Part I. Exploration model for Precambrian uranium-bearing fossil place	ers 3	;
Precambrian geologic setting	• 3	}
Terminology	. 4	ł
Archean crust	. 5	;
Archean metasedimentary rocks	. 9	)
Early atmosphere and hydrosphere	. 12	)
Archean-Proterozoic transition	. 18	}
Early Proterozoic-type sedimentary rocks	. 19	)
Evolution of Precambrian sedimentary rocks	. 21	!
Summary and implications for exploration	. 27	,
Genetic concepts	. 29	)
History of exploration	. 29	)
History of genetic concepts	. 30	)
Witwatersrand Sequence, South Africa	. 30	)
Blind River-Elliot Lake area, Canada	• 34	ł
Jacobina, Brazil	• 34	ł
Current views on genesis	• 35	- >
Evidence for placer origin of uranium and gold	• 35	,
Evidence for fluvial origin of conglomerates	• 39	)
Sedimentary model for the Witwatersrand goldfields	- 41	
Current problems	. 42	<u>}</u>
Modified placer hypotheses	. 43	3
Syngenetic transport of gold and uranium	. 46	>
Magnetite-pyrite	. 52	<u>)</u>
Paleoclimatethe glacial association	. 54	ł

World-wide distribution of Precambrian fossil placers	. 61
Differences between major deposits	. 64
Huronian-type deposits	. 66
Witwatersrand-type deposits	. 67
Exploration model	. 69
Preferred model	. 69
1. Age constraints	. 69
2. Source area constraints	. 70
3. Stratigraphic constraints	. 71
4. Sedimentological constraints	. 72
5. Lithologic characteristics	• 75
6. Mineralogical characteristics	. 78
7. Preservation and metamorphism	. 80
Alternative concepts	. 81
References cited	. 85
Part II. Summaries of known and potential occurrences of uraniferous and auriferous quartz-pebble conglomerates	. 99
Canadian Shield	. 99
Huronian Supergroup	. 99
Geologic setting	. 99
Age	.100
Distribution and structure	.100
Archean regolith	.102
Stratigraphy and paleogeography	.105
Elliot Lake Group	.105
Hough Lake Group	.111
Quirke Lake Group	.114

Cobalt Group
Post-Huronian events
Uranium deposits
Distribution
Lithology and mineralogy
Genesis
Production and reserves
Northern Quebec
Otish Mountains-Mistassini Lake areas
Sakami Lake
Grenville Province
Churchill Province
Hurwitz Group and "Montgomery Lake Sediments"
Wollaston Lake Foldbelt
References cited
African Platform
Witwatersrand System
Geologic setting
Distribution and structure
Stratigraphy
Witwatersrand Sequence
Dominion Reef Group
Lower Division of Witwatersrand Sequence
Upper Division of Witwatersrand Sequence
Klipriviersberg Group
Ventersdorp Sequence
Transvaal Sequence

Waterberg Sequence
Intrusive rocks
Sedimentology and paleogeography
Model of source area
Model of sediment transport
Model of sediment deposition
Model of tectonic influence on sedimentation
Mineral deposits
Distribution
Lithology and mineralogy
Genesis
Economic importance
West Africa
Ghana and Ivory Coast
Geologic setting
Stratigraphy and lithology
Sedimentology
Mineral deposits
Gabon
References cited
South American Platform
Geologic setting
Sâo Francisco Craton
Jacobina
Belo Horizonte
Other areas in the Sâo Francisco Craton
References cited

Indian Shield	• • •	•••	•	•••	•	•	•	.223
Geologic setting			-	•••		•	•	.223
Problems in the Precambrian stratigraphy of	India		•	• •	•	•		.226
Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks		•••	•	•••	•	•	•	. 227
Karnataka Craton	• • •		•			•	•	.227
Singhbhum Craton			•	•••	•		•	.232
Aravalli Craton			•	•••		•	•	.233
Mineral deposits			•	• •			•	.233
References cited			•	•••		•	•	.235
Australian Shield		• •	•				•	.237
Geologic setting		•••	•		•	٠	٠	.237
Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks					•		•	.240
Hamersley basin			•			•	•	.241
Nubberu basin			٠		•	•	•	.242
Halls Creek Province			•		•	•	•	.243
Pine Creek Geosyncline		••	•			•	•	.245
Other areas			•		•	•		.247
Mineral deposits			•		•		•	.248
References cited			•			•		.250
East European Platform			•		•	•	•	.254
Baltic Shield					•	•	٠	.254
Geologic setting			-		•			.254
Karelian Supergroup			•		•	•		.256
Distribution and age			•				•	.256
Stratigraphy and lithology		••			•		•	.257
Paleogeography				· ·		•	•	.260
Mineral deposits			•		•		٠	.262

Ukranian Shield
Geologic setting
Stratigraphy
Mineral deposits
References cited
Siberian Platform
Geologic setting
Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks
Mineral deposits
References cited
Part III. United States resource potential
Introduction
Lake Superior region
Wyoming Province
Geologic setting
Archean rocks
Gneissic terrain
Archean metasedimentary successions
Greenstone belts
Beartooth Mountains
Northeast Laramie Range
Central Laramie Range
Late Archean(?) or Early Proterozoic(?) metasedimentary successions
Southwestern Montana
Northern Utah and southern Idaho
Albion and Raft River Ranges

Wasatch Range-Antelope Island area	,	•	•	٠	٠	.315
Little Willow Series	,	•	•	•	•	.316
Formation of Facer Creek		•	•	•	•	. 318
Red Creek Quartzite of the northeast Uinta Mountains		•	•	•	•	.318
Early Proterozoic-type metasedimentary successions	,	•	•	•	•	. 320
Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming	•	•	•	•		. 320
Geologic setting	•	•	•	•	•	.320
Distribution and structure	•	٠	•	•	•	.324
Stratigraphy and paleogeography		•		•	٠	.325
Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite	•	•	•	•	•	.325
Deep Lake Group		•	•	•	•	. 328
Magnolia Formation		•	•	•	•	. 329
Lindsey Quartzite	•	•	•	•	•	.333
Campbell Lake Formation	•	•	•	•	•	.333
Cascade Quartzite	•	•	•	•	•	• 334
Vagner Formation	•		•	•		. 334
Rock Knoll Formation	•	•	•	٠	٠	• 335
Libby Creek Group	•	•	•	٠	•	. 336
Regional stratigraphic correlations	•	•		٠	•	. 338
Mineral deposits	•	•	•	•	•	. 341
History of exploration	•	•	•	•	•	. 341
Uranium exploration possibilities	•	•	•	•	•	. 342
Geochemistry and mineralogy	•	•	•		•	. 343
Reserves	•	•	•	٠	•	.344
Sierra Madre, Wyoming	•	•	•	•	•	. 344
Geologic setting	•	•	•	•	•	.344
Distribution and structure	•		•			. 345

Stratigraphy and paleogeography	7
Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite	7
Deep Lake Group	9
Mineral deposits	9
Radioactive conglomerate units	9
Uranium exploration possibilities	0
Hartville Uplift, Wyoming	1
Black Hills Uplift, South Dakota	2
Summary and correlation of Early Proterozoic-type	
metasedimentary successions	7
References cited	1

Part IV. Bibliography of Precambrian uranium-bearing fossil placers

Canadian Shield	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	.378
African Platform	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	.415
South American Platform	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	.469
East European Platform	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		.475
Indian Shield		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		.481
Siberian Platform	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	.489
Australian Shield	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	.493
Wyoming Province	٠	•	•	•		•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•		. 497

### LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Plate	Ι.	Regional lithostratigraphic correlation and idealized stratigraphic chart of Early Proterozoic rocks along the south margin of the Archean nucleus of North America In pocket
Plate	п.	Early Proterozoic geology of the Wyoming Province in pocket
Figure	e	
1.1	World ura	d-wide distribution of Early Proterozoic-type fossil placer anium and gold occurrences
1.2	Eh-pł irc	diagram showing stability fields of common
1.3	Summa and	ary of the temporal distribution of sedimentary rocks d sedimentary ore deposits
1.4	a. S	Stability relations among some gold compounds
	b. I	Eh-pH diagram in the U-O-CO <sub>2</sub> -H <sub>2</sub> O system
1.5	Photo Sup	ographs of glacial(?) diamictites from the Huronian Dergroup, Ontario and the Deep Lake Group, Wyoming
1.6	Dist bar of	ribution of Early Proterozoic fossil placers and aded iron formations on the Proterozoic supercontinent Piper (1976)
1.7	Diagı of	rammatic stratigraphic column showing idealized distribution sand and gravel lithofacies in a braided river deposit 74
1.8	Photo Afi	ographs of uranium-bearing conglomerates from South rica, Canada, and Wyoming
2.1	Inde: of	x map of the Canadian Shield showing locations Early Proterozoic metasediments
2.2	Dist	ribution and structure of Huronian rocks
2.3	a) :	Stratigraphy of Matinenda Formation near Elliot Lake
	ь) :	Sections showing facies relationships in uranium-bearing rocks of the Matinenda Formation
2.4	Dist: she	ribution of radioactive rocks in the Huronian Supergroup owing locations of important ore zones
2.5	Dist Af	ribution of Archean and Early Proterozoic rocks in rica and South America

# Figure

2.6	The relative positions of the depositional axes of progressively younger Proterozoic sedimentary basins on the Kaapvaal craton
2.7	Outcrop pattern and locations of major goldfields in the Witwatersrand basin
2.8	Comparative columns of the Upper Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence showing mineralized reefs
2.9	An inverted stratigraphy model of the history of basin filling in the Witwatersrand basin
2.10	Conceptual model of the transfer systems which formed Witwatersrand ore deposits
2.11	Conceptual model of a Witwatersrand-type goldfield
2.12	Conceptual model of the stratigraphic response to harmonic variations in energy of deposition in the Witwatersrand basin
2.13	Geology of the Tarkwa region and index maps of the Tarkwanian outcrops of Ghana and Ivory Coast
2.14	Distribution of Archean and Early Proterozoic rocks in Africa and South America
2.15	Simplified geological and structural map of India
2.16	Precambrian geology of the Karnataka (Dharwar) craton
2.17	Distribution of Archean and Early Proterozoic rocks in Australia
2.18	Generalized geology of the Baltic Shield
2.19	Generalized geology and Early Proterozoic structural elements of the Siberian Platform
3.1	Geology of the Archean nucleus of North America
3.2	Generalized Precambrian geology of the Lake Superior region279
3.3	Early Proterozoic geology of the Wyoming Province
3.4	Schematic summary of the Precambrian history of the Wyoming Province
3.5	Sketch of altered basalt dike from the Archean of Wyoming

Page

# Figure

3.6	Generalized geology of the Slate Creek metamorphic terrain, central Laramie Range
3.7	Generalized geology of pre-Beltian rocks in southwestern Montana
3.8	Precambrian geology of the Albion, Raft River, and Grouse Creek Mountains, Idaho and Utah
3.9	Generalized geology of the Medicine Bow Mountains
3.10	Lithostratigraphic correlation of metasedimentary rocks in the Sierra Madre, Medicine Bow Mountains, and Huronian Supergroup
3.11	Generalized geology of the Sierra Madre
3.12	Generalized geology of the Black Hills
Table	Page
1.1	Provisional classification of Precambrian fossil placers 66
2.1	Summary of Huronian stratigraphy
2.2	Stratigraphy and correlation of Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks of the Otish Mountains and Mistassini Lake areas
2.3	Stratigraphy of the Hurwitz Group of the Churchill Province135
2.4	Stratigraphy of Archean and Early Proterozoic supracrustal rocks in South Africa
2.5	Main marker beds of the Lower Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence
2.6	Minerals present in Witwatersrand auriferous horizons
2.7	Stratigraphy of the Jacobina Series
2.8	Early Precambrian stratigraphy of Minas Gerais, Brazil
2.9	Early Precambrian stratigraphy of the Karnataka Craton
2.10	Comparative stratigraphies of the Karelian Supergroup in Russia and Finland
3.1	Stratigraphy of Early Proterozoic rocks in the Great

# Table

-

3.2	Stratigraphy of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite and Deep Lake Group of the Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming
3.3	Stratigraphy of the Libby Creek Group of the Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming
3.4	Stratigraphy of Early Proterozoic metasediments of the Sierra Madre, Wyoming

## INTRODUCTION

Uranium has been discovered in fluvial quartz-pebble conglomerates in most of the Precambrian shield areas of the world, including the Canadian, African, South American, Indian, Baltic, and Australian shields. Occurrences in these and other areas are shown in Figure 1.1. Two of these occurrences, the Huronian supergroup of Canada and the Witwatersrand deposit of South Africa contain 20-30 percent of the planet's known uranium reserves (Nininger, 1974). Thus it is critical that we understand the origin of these deposits and develop exploration models that can aid in finding new deposits. Inasmuch as these uranium-bearing conglomerates are confined almost entirely to rocks of Precambrian age, Part I of this review begins with a discussion of Precambrian geology as it applies to the conglomerates. This is followed by a discussion of genetic concepts, a discussion of unresolved problems, and finally a suggested exploration model. Part II summarizes known and potential occurrences of Precambrian fossil placers in the world and evaluates them in terms of the suggested exploration model. Part III discusses the potential for important Precambrian fossil-placer uranium deposits in the United States and includes suggestions that may be helpful in establishing an exploration program in this country. Part III also brings together new (1975-1978) data on uranium occurrences in the Precambrian of the Wyoming Province. Part IV is a complete bibliography of Precambrian fossil placers, divided according to geographical areas. In total, this paper is designed to be a comprehensive review of Precambrian uraniumbearing fossil placers which will be of use to uranium explorationists and to students of Precambrian geology.



Figure 1.1. World-wide distribution of Early Proterozoic-type fossil placer uranium and gold occurrences.

# PART I. EXPLORATION MODEL FOR PRECAMBRIAN URANIUM-BEARING FOSSIL PLACERS

### PRECAMBRIAN GEOLOGIC SETTING

The Precambrian encompasses a time span from the beginning of the earth's history, more than 4500 m.y. ago, to 570 m.y. -- the great bulk of the geologic history of the earth. Obviously the most ancient rocks have complex geologic histories and, in many areas, the earlier history is obscured or obliterated by more recent geologic events. The complexity of Precambrian rocks, compared to generally less deformed Phanerozoic rocks, plus the fact that for five decades or more much of the economic impetus for geologic studies has come from the oil and gas industry which is primarily interested in Phanerozoic rocks, has meant that far less is known about the first 4000 m.y. or more of the earth's history than the last 600 m.y.

A beginning synthesis of Precambrian geologic history was made by Rankama (1963, 1965, 1967, 1970) who edited a four volume set of review articles by various authors designed to bring geologists up-to-date on Precambrian geology. As Rankama pointed out, the key to the understanding of Precambrian geologic history is the development of isotope dating methods that establish a time framework for rocks without guide fossils. The review articles in Rankama's volumes are a good first-look at Precambrian geology, but substantial progress in the understanding of Precambrian geology has been made in the last decade and the following recent symposia and review papers are especially commendable: McCall (1977); Windley (1976); Windley (1977); and Sutton and Windley (1973). TERMINOLOGY

One of the major problems in Precambrian terminology involves the subdivision of Precambrian time. In this report, we will follow the recommendations of the I.U.G.S. working group on the Precambrian (1978), and James (1978) by using the following subdivisions:

Late Proterozoic	900-570 m.y.
Middle Proterozoic	1600-900 m.y.
Early Proterozoic	2500-1600 m.y.
Late Archean	2900-2500 m.y.
Middle Archean	3300-2900 m.y.
Early Archean	> 3300 m.y.

However, important breaks in the geologic record, which have often been used in the literature to subdivide the Precambrian, do not always conform to this scheme. For example, the Pongola and Witwatersrand Sequences of South Africa are Archean in age according to the subdivision given above, yet they are similar in character to Early Proterozoic sedimentary successions found elsewhere in the world. We will refer to these as "Early Proterozoic-type" successions and, to avoid confusion, absolute dates are included whenever such information is available -- <u>e.g</u>. Pongola Sequence (3100-2900 m.y.).

Our use of the terms shield, craton, greenstone belt, and mobile belt conforms to the definitions given by Anhaeusser and others (1969). A shield is a continental or sub-continental area of exposed crystalline rocks and a craton is a stable Archean nucleus within a shield area. In addition, we use the term platform as the next larger continental element; that part of a continent which is underlain by Precambrian crystalline rocks. The hierarchy, from largest to smallest, is thus platform-shieldcraton. ARCHEAN CRUST

This section considers only those aspects of Archean geology that we believe have a bearing on the origin of uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates. Of first concern is the nature of the source of the uranium now found in fossil placers. Which Archean rocks are the most likely source of the uranium minerals and what period of Archean crustal evolution was most favorable for the development of these sources?

One approach to this question is to examine the distribution of the major radioactive elements -- K, U, and Th, in the earth through geophysical studies of heat generation. Heat flow studies supply two important pieces of information. First, the radioactive elements appear to have been strongly concentrated in the crust and upper mantle very early in the earth's history, probably by fractional melting of the mantle during large scale differentiation of the earth prior to 4000 m.y. (Birch, 1965; Hanks and Anderson, 1969). Second, rates of heat generation due to decay of K and U were on the order of two times higher than present at 2600 m.y. and three times higher at 3600 m.y. (Lambert, 1976). This indicates that Early Archean crustal rocks were appreciably richer in uranium and geothermal gradients were steeper then than now (Lambert, 1976). Both of these suggest that lowgrade sources of uranium may have existed very early in the Archean.

A more useful approach in understanding Archean source areas is through petrologic and geochemical studies. Many workers have shown that uranium is preferentially distributed in felsic rocks and is nearly absent in mafic and ultramafic rocks. As a consequence, the appearance of uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates on earth must have post-dated the development of extensive areas of uranium-bearing Archean felsic rocks and it is necessary to ask when such felsic rocks first appeared on earth and which felsic rocks are richest in uranium.

Unfortunately there is no consensus among Precambrian geologists on either the time of development or composition of the earliest crustal rocks. Archean rocks can be subdivided into three major types: granulite terrains which consist of metamorphic and igneous rocks of highest metamorphic rank and are dominated by felsic gneisses and migmatites; gneissic terrains of intermediate metamorphic rank that may or may not be a retrograde or reconstituted granulite terrains; and greenstone belts that are low rank metamorphic rocks dominated by volcanic rock suites. A critical debate among Precambrian geologists is the relative age of the gneissic terrains versus that of the greenstone belts. One school of thought is that, at least, some greenstone belts represent primordial crust and that highgrade gneiss terrains are younger than these greenstone belts. Proponents of this idea include: Anhaeusser (1973), Anhaeusser and others (1969), Glikson (1976), and Glikson and Lambert (1976). Another school of thought is that the gneissic terrains are older and formed the basement for the greenstone belts. This idea is supported by Windley and Bridgwater (1971), McGregor (1973), Hunter (1974), Moorbath (1975), and Windley (1977). A student of Phanerozoic rocks might suggest that a careful study of contact relationships between the two rock sequences should solve the problem. Unfortunately most contacts between greenstone belt rocks and gneissic "basement" are invaded by younger igneous rocks or are so deformed and metamorphosed that it is difficult to establish age relationships. Even age determinations of rocks in the two terrains does not solve the problem because it is difficult to date the mafic and ultramafic volcanic rocks of the greenstone belts and periods of multi-deformation and metamorphism create ambiguity in establishing the age of the gneissic terrains.

We do not consider this problem to be solved, but we believe most of the world's greenstone belts were formed after a felsic gneissic

basement had been developed because: the most ancient rocks dated are 3700-3900 m.y. old rocks in the gneissic terrains (Moorbath, 1975; Goldich and Hedge, 1974); granitic clasts are common in conglomerates in greenstone belts (although they are often in the younger rocks of the greenstone succession); and finally, where careful reviews of field evidence are made, the evidence generally favors an older gneissic terrain (Bliss and Stidolph, 1969; Hunter, 1970, 1974; McGregor, 1973, Collerson and others, 1976). Nevertheless, we agree with Moorbath (1975) who cautions that: "there is no clear evidence that any particular greenstone-granite association represents primordial crust, or that stratigraphical relationships between the two rock units should always be the same way round".

It seems safe to assume that felsic rocks existed very early in the earth's history which could have constituted a basement for supracrustal rocks. These granitic rocks may or may not be primordial crust but that point is not critical to this discussion. The important factor for the uranium geologist is whether or not these felsic gneisses were rich enough in uranium-bearing minerals to supply uranium to overlying supracrustal sedimentary rocks.

The chemical composition of gneissic terrains has been reviewed by Tarney (1976) and Heier (1973). Tarney (1976, p. 405-415) pointed out that early basement gneisses (>3000 m.y.), both granulite facies and amphibolite facies, are characteristically depleted in K, Rb, Th, and uranium. There is no agreement on the cause of this depletion of K, Rb, Th, and U (Tarney, 1976, p. 413-415), but some type of flushing mechanism, during deformation and metamorphism especially for granulite facies focks seems most probable.

The fact that uranium is relatively depleted in Archean felsic rocks older than 3000 m.y. is significant for prospecting because it implies that these rocks are an unpromising source of uranium minerals for subsequent deposition in younger sedimentary rocks and also that they are a poor place to prospect for uranium, in general. This geochemical argument seems to be supported by geologic data because geologists note (Smith, 1974) that few if any vein deposits of uranium have been recognized in rocks of Archean age. Admittedly, it remains possible that even a very low-grade source of uranium such as this could have been the source of placer deposits if the concentration process was extremely efficient. However, a better solution to the source area problem is to examine other Archean felsic rocks. Are there Archean granites which are richer in uranium than the Archean gneissic terrains?

Geochemical data indicate that some Late Archean granites are enriched in uranium (Roscoe, 1969; Stuckless, 1978; Rye and Roy, 1978). For example, concentrations up to 100 ppm Th and 30 ppm U were reported by Roscoe and Steacy (1958) for granites of the southern Superior Province. These Late Archean granites are probably a more suitable source for uranium minerals than the pre-2900 m.y. Archean gneissic terrains, If these late Archean granites were derived, even partially, by melting of older gneissic rocks, radioactive elements lost during basement mobilization (i.e. U. K. Th, Rb) might be added to the melts which formed at near granite minimum temperatures and hence, might be concentrated in Late Archean intrusives. There are arguments for (Tarney, 1976; Rye and Roy, 1978) and against (Moorbath and Pankhurst, 1976) this hypothesis, with the final resolution of the argument probably dependent on the interpretation of strontium isotope studies which often show low initial Sr<sup>87</sup>/Sr<sup>86</sup> ratios for Late Archean granites indicating that the granites do not represent rejuvenated crustal material. Nevertheless, empirical evidence indicates that late Archean K-rich granites should be considered as more favorable source rocks for uranium-bearing fossil placers than Archean high-grade gneisses.

#### ARCHEAN METASEDIMENTARY ROCKS

Most uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates are in Early Proterozoic-type successions which range in age from about 2700 to 2000 m.y. To evaluate whether the search for such conglomerates should be confined only to rocks of this age, it is necessary to discuss the physical characteristics of the Precambrian sedimentary rocks and the evolution and composition of the hydrosphere and atmosphere.

This section discusses two end-member types of Archean metasedimentary successions; low-grade metasediments which are part of greenstone belts and highly metamorphosed and deformed metasedimentary rocks that occur as inliers in granulite and amphibolite facies gneissic terrains. A third type consists of Late Archean sequences containing mature clastic sediments. However, these are similar to Early Proterozoic-type metasedimentary platform successions and will be discussed in later sections.

According to Anhaeusser (1973), a typical greenstone belt is made up of a lower ultramafic-mafic group, a middle calc-alkaline volcanic group, and an upper sedimentary group. The lower ultramafic group is composed of mafic and ultramafic volcanic rocks that may retain pillow structures; some layered ultramafic complexes; and very minor quartzitic cherts, schists, and pelites. These rocks appear to be entirely of marine origin and the volcanic rocks are characterized by a high Ca0/Al<sub>2</sub>0<sub>3</sub> ratio, high Mg0, and low K<sub>2</sub>0. Rocks of the lower ultramafic group do not appear to be a promising source of uranium and, to our knowledge, no uranium deposits are known in this group. However, these rocks often contain gold deposits and can be an important source of fossil-placer gold deposits (Pretorius, 1976a).

The middle calc-alkaline volcanic group consists of cyclic successions of volcanic rocks that are composed chiefly of mafic volcanic rocks but also contain felsic assemblages in the upper part of each cycle. The presence of pillow structures in the mafic volcanics and the presence of chemical sedimentary rocks such as chert and iron-formation suggests a marine depositional environment. The calc-alkaline group rocks are similar to the ultramafic group in that they do not appear to be a promising source of uranium but may be a source of gold.

The upper sedimentary group is primarily graywacke, shale, and impure sandstone in the lower part and conglomerate, quartzite, limestone, and iron formation in the upper part. These sedimentary rocks show a general transition from deep to shallow water sedimentation. The sedimentary rocks deposited in shallow water include both paraconglomerates and polymictic conglomerates with clasts of a great variety of rock types. The source area for these clasts was certainly granitic in part because clasts of granite, gneissic granite, felsic gneiss, and vein quartz are common in the conglomerates and the quartzites contain abundant feldspar. We know of no fluvial uranium-bearing conglomerates from this shallow water succession but we are unwilling to rule out the possibility that the upper part of greenstone successions might contain uranium- or gold-bearing conglomerates.

The distinction between the shallow-water sediments of the upper part of greenstone successions and Early Proterozoic-type platform successions is far from clear-cut. Supracrustal successions seem to have diachronously evolved through time and there appears to have been a gradual change from the older greenstone successions, dominated by volcanic rocks, to platform successions dominated by quartzites. During this change, in the interval 3000-2500 m.y., successions containing nearly equal volumes of volcanics and quartzites were deposited and it is not always clear whether to call

them Archean greenstone successions or Early Proterozoic-type platform successions. These successions may include fluvial and shallow water quartzites that contain detrital uranium and gold minerals. For example, the Pongola sequence of South Africa (3100-2900 m.y.) contains about 55% volcanics and 45% sediments (Anhaeusser, 1973, figure 4) and contains detrital gold in quartzites. This sequence is often referred to as an Early Proterozoic sequence in spite of its age.

The Bababudan Group of India (2600-2100 m.y.) could also be one of these transitional metasedimentary sequences. It contains abundant mafic volcanics as well as quartzites and uranium-bearing conglomerates and is referred to by most Indian geologists as a greenstone sequence (Radhakrishna and Vasudev, 1977; Ramakrishnan and others, 1976). However, descriptions of the lithologies of this unit suggest to us that it is probably an Early Proterozoic-type succession. Indeed, Radhakrishna (1975) describes this "greenstone sequence" as geosynclinal in character and Proterozoic in age and it seems odd that he insists on the term "greenstone sequence". At any rate, the main point of this discussion is that seedimentary successions referred to as greenstone belts in the literature should not be arbitrarily ignored by the uranium explorationist without a careful examination of the rocks themselves.

The second type of Archean metasedimentary rocks that may be of interest to the uranium geologist is the metasedimentary rocks that occur within granulite and amphibolite facies gneiss terrains. These metasedimentary rocks include mica schists -- some of which are graphitic; marbles; quartzite which is often fuchsitic; and iron formation. Amphibolite and hornblende gneiss are also common in the gneissic terrains but are probably mainly of volcanic origin. These metasediments are more intensely deformed than rocks of the greenstone belts and are usually preserved as small synformal bodies within the gneissic terrain. They may represent very ancient sedimentary rocks preserved only in this "basement" terrain, remnants of disrupted and granitized greenstone belts, or even platform-type sediments which have been highly deformed and granitized. Too little is known about these metasedimentary rocks to appraise their uranium potential, but it seems probable that deep burial, severe deformation and accompanying metamorphism and metasomatism promoted a loss of uranium, especially in the granulite gneiss terrains. On the other hand, if some Archean gneissic terrains contain remnants of platform-type sediments, they could contain uranium. Thus, the younger Archean gneissic terrains should also not be ignored by uranium geologists.

#### EARLY ATMOSPHERE AND HYDROSPHERE

The earth's atmosphere and hydrosphere are considered by most workers (including Rubey, 1951, 1955; Rutten, 1964; Holland, 1962; Berkner and Marshall, 1967) to be of secondary origin. Rubey (1951, 1955) and Brown (1952), among others, have pointed out that certain volatile materials  $(H_20, C0_2, C1, N, and S)$  are too abundant in today's atmosphere and hydrosphere to be explained as products of rock weathering. Also, the noble gases are not abundant enough if our planet had an original atmosphere and hydrosphere with elemental abundances comparable to that of the universe. This suggests that the escape velocities of the constituents that might have constituted an early hydrosphere and atmosphere were too high to allow these elements to be retained on the earth's surface during formation of the planet. The planet therefore did not have an atmosphere and hydrosphere in earliest Archean, and the atmosphere and hydrosphere probably evolved through time.

This concept requires that the hydrosphere and atmosphere evolved from some juvenile source and Rubey (1951, 1955) suggested that this source may have been volcanic gases that escaped during the crystallization of magmas.

These gases may have been added to the atmosphere and hydrosphere in one catastrophic event in the Early Archean (Walker, 1976) or, more probably, in many minor periods of Archean volcanism (Fisher, 1976). If these volcanic emanations were similar to modern volcanic emanations, they contained mainly  $H_2^0$  and  $CO_2$  with a variety of less abundant gases but essentially no free oxygen (Schidlowski, 1976). Oxygen was probably contributed to the atmosphere in small quantities by dissociation of water and in large, quantities by organic photosynthesis, once life began to evolve.

Holland (1962) took Rubey's concept of a volcanic source of volatiles one step farther by considering the composition of gases that might be in equilibrium with magmas generated at various periods of the planet's development. Holland (1962) proposed a three-stage model for the evolution of the earth's atmosphere. Holland's earliest atmosphere developed prior to core formation at a time when native iron was present in the outer planet. Holland did not believe this stage was of long duration (00.5 b.y.), but gas in equilibrium with magmas generated at this time would be strongly reducing and have as major constituents  $CH_4$  and  $H_2$  with lesser amounts of  $H_2^0$ ,  $N_2^{}$ ,  $H_2^{}$ S, NH3, and Ar. This atmosphere is of little interest to the uranium geologists because of its short duration and the probability of very limited hydrosphere in equilibrium with it. Holland's second stage atmosphere ( $\circ$ 3 b.y. to  $\circ$ 2 b.y.) which was in equilibrium with Hawaiian-type magma, was less reduced and was made up mainly of nitrogen, water, and carbon dioxide with Ar, Ne, He, and  $CH_4$  in modest amounts (>10<sup>-6</sup> - <10<sup>-4</sup> atm). Holland also considers that  $NH_3$ ,  $SO_2$ , and  $H_2S$  may have been present in trace amounts, and that  $0_2$  was present as a nonequilibrium trace. Holland's calculation of oxygen pressure, however, is based on the stability of uraninite in surface waters, and may be subject to revision. Holland's third stage atmosphere (2 b.y.-present) became increasingly like our present atmosphere.

The second stage of Holland's model of atmospheric evolution is of great interest to the uranium geologist because the scarcity of free oxygen in the Archean and Early Proterozoic atmosphere and hydrosphere may be one key to understanding the formation of uranium-bearing fossil placers (Roscoe, 1969; Pretorius, 1976a). Uraninite and pyrite are unstable minerals in oxidizing environments but appear to have been mechanically weathered and transported as detrital minerals in the low-oxygen atmosphere and hydrosphere which existed in the Archean and Early Proterozoic. The main lines of evidence supporting an anoxygenic atmosphere and hydrosphere in the Archean and Early Proterozoic are given below.

(1) Geochemistry of iron. There are several lines of evidence which indicate that  $Fe^{+2}$  was transported in solution in large quantities in early Precambrian waters, that hematite was unstable in the atmosphere, and that pyrite was stable. Collins (1925) and later workers have identified a regolith between the Huronian Supergroup and underlying Archean granites. Roscoe (1969) reported that this regolith was depleted in total iron and that the  $Fe^{+2}/Fe^{+3}$  ratio was increased relative to nearby unweathered Archean granites. This is opposite to modern soils where iron is enriched because of its low solubility in oxidized groundwaters and it implies a low-oxygen atmosphere in the early Precambrian. Second, the transport of abundant  $Fe^{+2}$  in solution is also indicated by the Early Proterozoic banded iron formations. Most models for genesis of these deposits require a low-oxygen atmosphere and hydrosphere. Third, Archean and Early Proterozoic clastic sediments are mainly a drab green color and red-beds are significantly absent before about 2300 m.y. This suggests that hematite was not stable during deposition and diagenesis of the sediments and that the atmosphere was low in oxygen. The presence of detrital pyrite in Early Proterozoic sediments is additional evidence for low oxygen because this mineral is only

stable under low Eh conditions (at normal pH). See Figure 1.2 for the stability fields of various iron minerals under different Eh and pH conditions.

(2) Geochemistry of uranium. In the basal Huronian regolith, uranium was <u>not</u> depleted during weathering (Roscoe, 1969). This suggests that uraninite was a resistate mineral in the early Precambrian soils. Also, the presence of detrital uraninite in fossil placer deposits indicates that uraninite was stable in the hydrosphere during fluvial transport. This is opposite to modern environments where uraninite is highly soluble in the hydrosphere and it suggests low-oxygen in the early Precambrian environment.

(3) Organic evolution models. If one accepts the hypothesis that the atmosphere is secondary and originated by volcanic emanations, it is necessary to consider the source of atmospheric oxygen. Dissociation of water is one possibility (Berkner and Marshall, 1965) but Schidlowski (1971) suggested that it was far less important than organic photosynthesis as a source of  $0_2$ . Photosynthesis may have begun as much as 3700 m.y. ago (Junge and others, 1975) but most workers believe that life, as blue-green algae, and appreciable quantities of free oxygen did not become widespread until the Early Proterozoic (Cloud, 1968, 1972; Schopf, 1975).

From the viewpont of the explorationist, the important question is the time when the atmosphere became sufficiently oxidizing to oxidize uranium during weathering of source rocks and <u>prevent</u> transportation of uraninite and pyrite as detrital minerals in streams and rivers. This appears to have occurred about 2300-2000 m.y. ago. The main evidence is the change in heavy mineral assemblages found in Early Proterozoic clastic rocks. Roscoe (1973) suggested that Early Proterozoic successions in Canada, South Africa, Brazil, and Australia record a dramatic change in the oxygen content of the atmosphere. In each case, the basal units contain pyrite as the main iron-bearing phase and uraninite in the heavy mineral



Figure 1.2. Eh-pH diagram showing stability fields of common iron minerals. Total activity of dissolved carbonate, 1M, of dissolved sulfur,  $10^{-6}M$ . Solid field boundaries on left side of diagram are for total dissolved iron =  $10^{-6}M$ , dashed lines for  $10^{-4}M$ . Taken from Krauskopf.(1967, p. 252). Note that the stable iron phase under low Eh conditions may be Fe<sup>+2</sup>, pyrite, siderite, or magnetite, depending on pH and on concentrations of sulfur and carbonate but that hematite is not stable. If sulfur is abundant, the pyrite field expands to cover most of the lower part of the diagram. From: Introduction to Geochemistry by K. B. Krauskopf. Copyright (c) 1967) by McGraw-Hill Inc. Used with permission of McGraw-Hill Book Company.

suites -- and there are no red beds. In contrast, the upper units contain iron oxides instead of pyrite and thorium phases such as monazite instead of uraninite -- and red beds began to appear. It must be admitted that existing geochronologic data on some of these successions is still imprecise. However, where good bracketing dates exist, such as in Canada and South Africa, the transition from uranium and pyrite bearing fossil placers to oxide and monazite bearing placers took place about 2300-2200 m.y. ago. Roscoe (1973) suggested that this was a worldwide event related to the appearance of appreciable free oxygen in the atmosphere about this time.

Other evidence which supports the increase in free oxygen in the atmosphere about 2300-2000 m.y. is the appearance and disappearance of the largest Proterozoic banded iron formations during the interval 2200-1800 m.y. (see page 24) and the appearance of more widespread biogenic carbonates after about 2000 m.y. It seems clear that the Early Proterozoic was a time of rapid changes in the atmosphere and biosphere and that atmospheric conditions most favorable for deposition of uranium-bearing conglomerates occurred prior to about 2300-2000 m.y. ago.

The evolution of the hydrosphere is also of interest to the uranium geologist. It is quite clear from the sedimentary record that a hydrosphere existed at an early stage in the planet's evolution. Evidence includes the presence of rounded granite boulder conglomerates and marbles in the 3750 m.y. old Isua supracrustals of West Greenland (McGregor, 1973); the presence of pillow structures in 3400 m.y. volcanics of the Onverwacht Group of South Africa (Viljoen and Viljoen, 1969); and the presence of stromatolites in the 3000 m.y. old limestones of Rhodesia (Schopf and others, 1971). The key question, however, is when did the hydrologic cycle become well enough developed and land masses stable enough to support large fluvial systems and large sedimentary basins. As Rubey (1951) pointed out the

volume of the ocean may have grown through time, a concept that fits well with that of a gradual growth of land masses and deepening of ocean basins until a point was attained during the Late Archean and Early Proterozoic when continents became stable and major transgression and regressions might be possible. Evidence from the sedimentary record suggests that this point was reached in South Africa prior to 3000 m.y. ago and elsewhere on earth by 2500 m.y. This is discussed more fully in the next sections.

#### ARCHEAN-PROTEROZOIC TRANSITION

Geologists working in Phanerozoic rocks are familiar with the problems that have existed in setting the exact date for the beginning of the Phanerozoic Eòn, even in highly fossiliferous rocks of Cambrian age. Setting the date for the beginning of the Proterozoic Eon some 2500 m.y. ago, in rocks without guide fossils, it is even more difficult.

The Archean-Proterozoic boundary represents the most profound change in tectonic style in the earth's history. The Archean was characterized by high mobility of crustal material, steep geothermal gradients, and deposition of greenstone belts. This period ended about 2500 m.y. ago and the end is marked by three occurrences: 1) concentration of high heat flow along linear mobile belts adjacent and surrounding the (newly) inactive cratonic blocks, 2) extensional fracturing of the rigid crust and emplacement of basic dike swarms, and 3) deposition of mature quartz-rich clastic platform sediments on the stable margins of the cratonic blocks and in intracratonic basins. These occurrences are generally considered to represent a change in tectonic processes which resulted from an increase in the thickness and rigidity of the sialic cratons (Anhaeusser and others, 1969; Windley, 1973; Sutton, 1973; Burke and Dewey, 1973). Viewed as such, the Archean-Proterozoic boundary is not a sharp time line but instead is a transitional phase in an evolving planet.
Early Proterozoic mobile belts, dike swarms, and platform sediments are identified on all the major continents but they appeared diachronously. For example, the earliest platform sediments in South Africa, the Pongola Sequence, were deposited between 3100 and 2900 m.y. ago whereas the earliest platform sediments in the Canadian shield, the Huronian Supergroup, were not deposited until after 2500 m.y. ago. Thus in South Africa the Archean-Proterozoic boundary is often placed at around 3000 m.y. whereas in Canada it is placed at 2500 m.y. Also, Early Proterozoic-type events overlapped temporally with Archean-type events. For example, initiation of the Proterozoic-type Limpopo mobile belt of South Africa began prior to 3000 m.y. (Mason, 1973), at about the same time that Archean greenstones of the upper Swaziland Sequence were being deposited elsewhere on the same craton. Similarly, platform sediments of the Pongola Sequence were deposited at about the same time that Archean granites were diapirically intruding the Swaziland Sequence (Anhaeusser, 1973).

Because of the transitional nature of the Archean-Proterozoic boundary, Precambrian geologists have not yet accepted a specific date for the end of the Archean although 2500-2600 m.y. is seen most often in the literature. So long as the uranium geologist recognizes that this problem exists, he can search for uranium in Proterozoic-type metasedimentary rocks keeping in mind that it is the environment of deposition not the precise age that is critical to the development of fossil placers.

# EARLY PROTEROZOIC-TYPE SEDIMENTARY ROCKS

Proterozoic sedimentary successions include thick piles of clean, wellsorted quartzites, conglomerates, stromatolitic limestones and shales that are quite similar to miogeosynclinal rocks of the Phanerozoic Eon. The major change from the Archean style of sedimentation is that Early Proterozoic type successions are not dominated by volcanic rocks as they were in the Archean and that sedimentation took place in environments of relative tectonic quiescence. This striking change in the geologic record is recognized worldwide and took place between 3000 and 2500 m.y. ago.

The beginning of deposition of Proterozoic-type sedimentary successions is commonly said to be the result of a less active tectonic regime on earth which allowed the development of extensive areas of stable continental crust. The existence of these stable landmasses, in turn, allowed the development of a mature erosional cycle which supplied detritus to major river systems which flowed into large intracratonic basins and continental shelf environments. This clastic material consisted of mechanically stable minerals such as quartz, chert, and various heavy minerals, including uraninite, pyrite, and gold which were all stable in the low-oxygen hydrosphere and atmosphere of the Early Proterozoic.

One of the most fascinating aspects of Early Proterozoic-type sedimentation is its cyclical nature. For example, Pretorius (1966, 1976a) described the sedimentary successions of South Africa in terms of tectonically controlled cycles of various frequency. Increased tectonic unrest produced periods of volcanism, erosion, or deposition of coarse-clastics whereas tectonic quiescence produced non-clastics. Similarly, Roscoe (1969, 1973) and Frarey and Roscoe (1970) viewed sedimentation of the Huronian Supergroup in terms of major cycles which, in this case, appear to have been controlled by advance and retreat of continental glaciers in response to climatic changes. Sedimentary cycles have also been proposed for Early Proterozoic sediments in the Medicine Bow Mountains of Wyoming (Karlstrom, 1977). Aside from implications of crustal evolution, cyclical sedimentation in the Early Proterozoic was important in terms of concentrating and preserving heavy minerals in placers during periods of marine regression and transgression. Regression in fluvial

environments causes continued reworking of sediments and concentration of heavy minerals (Pretorius, 1976a) and transgression was effective in preserving previously deposited sediments.

Early Proterozoic-type sedimentary successions are the most favorable hosts for fossil-placer uranium deposits because of the interaction of a variety of environmental factors which acted to create favorable sedimentary conditions. These sedimentary successions developed at a time when continental landmasses were newly stabilized. This created, for the first time on earth, a situation where extensive river systems existed which could transport and concentrate resistate heavy minerals as placers. Cyclical tectonic and/or climatic changes caused episodic marine regressions and transgressions which were effective in preserving the heavy minerals in placers.

### EVOLUTION OF PRECAMBRIAN SEDIMENTARY ROCKS

Uranium-bearing conglomerates are mainly restricted to sedimentary successions which are between 2700 and 2000 m.y. old. To understand why this is true, it is necessary to examine the changes in the earth's sedimentary record through time and to examine the factors that have controlled these changes. Such factors include: changes in tectonic processes, evolution of the hydrosphere, atmosphere, and biosphere, changes in the types of source areas for sediments, and sedimentary recycling (Windley, 1977, p. 304). It is critical that the uranium explorationist understand the appearance and disappearance of uraniferous conglomerates in the geologic record in terms of the larger trends in the evolution of Precambrian sedimentation. As an illustration, Figure 1.3 shows that red beds and carbonates became well developed on earth sometime after uraniferous conglomerates. Thus, sequences which contain thick red bed or carbonate sections can be regarded as relatively poor targets for uraniferous conglomerate and the explorationist can assume that stratigraphically lower rocks are likely to be more favorable.

As discussed earlier, the change from the Archean to the Proterozoic Eon is marked by a change in sedimentary style represented by a decrease in deposition of volcanogenic rocks and an increase in deposition of clastic sediments such as arkoses, quartz-arenites, and quartz-pebble conglomerates (Figure 1.3). Another major sedimentary change was in the deposition of iron formation. Iron formation is an important Precambrian rock-type which is present in every Precambrian shield area and may account for about 15 percent of the total thickness of sedimentary successions (Ronov, 1964). Archean iron formations are typically thin lenses intercalated with volcanic and volcaniclastic rocks and the iron minerals are usually oxides. In contrast, Early Proterozoic iron formations tend to be much thicker and they are associated with stromatolitic dolomite, quartzite, slate, and chert. Iron minerals are distributed into oxide, silicate, carbonate, and sulphide assemblages which are interpreted to represent different facies of sedimentation (James, 1966). This change in the character of iron formations can best be understood in terms of the changing tectonic regime which allowed large stable land masses to develop.

Another important change between the Archean and the Early Proterozoic is in the character of paraconglomerates (also called tilloids or diamictites) which are open framework, matrix-dominated conglomerates. These rocks occur in Archean successions and are quite common in the sedimentary unit of the greenstone belt where they are usually interpreted as mudflows or proximal turbitites. Paraconglomerates that appear in the Early Proterozoic.



Figure 1.3. Summary of the temporal distribution of sedimentary rocks and sedimentary ore deposits in geologic history. Adapted from Veizer (1976, p. 25). Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company and the author.

however, are more widespread and can perhaps be correlated over vast areas (Young, 1970). These paraconglomerates have associated laminated phyllites with dropstones, large clasts with possible striations, and even local striated pavements at their base. They have been interpreted as tillites (Lindsey, 1966; Cassyhap, 1969, Young, 1973) and may represent the earliest examples of continental glaciation. Certainly these deposits are further evidence of the development of large stable landmasses by the Early Proterozoic. They may also represent a time of change in the temperature regime of the planet sufficient to allow glaciation, or a time when the hydrosphere was large enough volumetrically so that major ice sheets could form. Various suggestions have been made by geologists (Roscoe, 1969; Wiebols, 1955) to relate the formation of these tillites to the origin of uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerate. The writers cannot make a direct connection between these two Early Proterozoic lithologies, except that they are often found together, especially in North America. This topic will be discussed in greater detail in a later section.

In addition to changes in sedimentary style between Archean and Early Proterozoic times, there were important changes within the Proterozoic Eon. The most intriguing of these changes is the sudden disappearance of banded iron formation about 1800 m.y. ago and the appearance of widespread red beds at about the same time (Figure 1.3). In recent years, this curious disappearance of iron formation has been explained most commonly in terms of the oxygen fugacity of the Precambrian atmosphere. Oxygen is believed to be a volumetrically unimportant constituent of the early (Archean) atmosphere (Schidlowski, 1976), but is believed to have evolved through time as plants developed that could produce oxygen through photosynthesis. Iron can readily dissolve in surface waters deficient in oxygen and should therefore have been an important constituent of the Archean hydrosphere. In the Archean, this iron was

chemically precipitated along with silica to form the typical laminated beds of alternating silica-rich and iron rich layers. The characteristic association with volcanic rocks in the Archean suggests that during volcanism both iron and silica may have become locally saturated in the sea water and chemically precipitated to form iron formation. In the Early Proterozoic, iron formations are not typically associated with volcanic rocks and a different solution must be found to explain their origin. As oxygen producing plants evolved, the oxygen fugacity undoubtedly slowly increased in the Precambrian atmosphere and hydrosphere. Although there is evidence of life in Early Archean rocks as stated above, stromatolites became really abundant for the first time in the Early Proterozoic. With the increase in these oxygen-producing plants, a critical point was probably attained where iron was less soluble in surface waters and was more easily extracted from surface waters by various mechanisms. Under such circumstances a general period of widespread deposition of iron in lakes, bays, rift zones, or shelves bordering the open ocean might be expected. Numerous mechanisms have been proposed to account for deposition of iron and silica in various environments, (Trendall, 1973, Eugster, 1969, Lepp and Goldich, 1964; Govett, 1966; James, 1966 and 1969, Drever, 1974), but there are two main points that are of interest in terms of trends in Precambrian sedimentation. First, most of the above models suggest that oxygen fugacity played a role in the transportation and precipitation of iron. Second, most Early Proterozoic iron formation is of vast extent and individual beds can be correlated for hundreds of miles. This is additional evidence that large continental platforms of some type must have existed at this time.

Therefore, evolution of iron formation deposits provide independent evidence of changing oxygen fugacity through time and of the development of large stable landmasses. Iron formations also provide a clue as to a time of the development of an oxidizing atmosphere similar to that of today. As stated above, true iron formation is uncommon in rocks younger than 1800 m.y. In addition, true red beds began to appear in Proterozoic sedimentary successions at about the same time that iron formation disappeared (Cloud, 1968; Veizer, 1976). There are exceptions and overlaps (Dimroth, 1975) in iron formation and red beds, but the disposition through time of these two rock types along with the increasing number of stromatolitic limestones is most simply explained by a gradual increase in the oxygen fugacity of the atmosphere.

So far, we have presented several lines of evidence that the Early Proterozoic was a time of major changes in tectonic regimes, sedimentary styles, and atmosphere and hydrosphere composition. The way that these changes affected the types of fossil-placer deposits which formed is summarized in Figure 1.3 which shows that uranium-bearing placers are restricted to the time interval between 2800 and 2000 m.y. but that gold-bearing placers are found as early as 3100 m.y. and are still found today. The older limit of about 3100 m.y. for gold placers can best be explained in terms of the evolving hydrosphere and changes in sedimentary style. A source of gold was available as early as 3400 m.y. in greenstone belts of South Africa but the deposition of gold-placers had to await the development of a sedimentary environment capable of depositing relatively mature guartzites and conglomerates. The fact that the first uranium placers were not deposited until somewhat later (2700 m.y.) probably reflects the fact that the main source of uranium was Late Archean K-rich granites (2900-2500 m.y.). Nevertheless, there is no reason that uranium placers might not have developed earlier if

suitable sources and depositional environments could be found. The younger limit of about 2000 m.y. for uranium placers is best explained in terms of the evolution of the atmosphere. By about 2000 m.y. the amount of free oxygen appears to have been sufficient to make detrital uraninite and pyrite unstable in the existing hydrosphere. In contrast, detrital gold is stable in oxidizing waters so that gold placers persist in modern environments.

### SUMMARY AND IMPLICATIONS FOR EXPLORATION

In the discussion of Precambrian geology certain facts have been developed that may assist the explorationist. They are listed below:

1. There is evidence of a granitic crust as early as 3800-3900 m.y., but geochemical studies suggest that this early crust is uranium poor and is a poor source for uranium minerals. In fact, very few uranium deposits have been found in rocks older than 2800 m.y.

2. Archean gneissic terrains contain abundant younger granites (3000-2500 m.y.) that differ chemically from earlier rocks. Some of these granites contain significant uranium, with concentrations of up to 10-20 ppm. They may be the source of uranium in younger quartz-pebble conglomerate and therefore their location may be significant in the search for uranium.

3. No significant uranium deposits have been found in greenstone belt successions, but we cannot rule out the possibility that the sedimentary rocks of the greenstone belts, especially of the younger greenstone belts (2800-2500 m.y.), may contain uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates. Furthermore, some Late Archean (2900-2500 m.y.) supracrustal successions are very similar in overall characteristics to Early Proterozoic-type sedimentary basins that typically contain uranium-bearing quartz pebble conglomerates. The explorationist should therefore look carefully at sedimentary-volcanic successions that are referred to as greenstone belts -- they may be a different sequence of rocks entirely.

4. The Early Proterozoic represents a striking change from the Archean greenstone belt deposition to a type of sedimentation more like the Phanerozoic. This change did not take place at the same time everywhere on the planet, and the beginning of Early Proterozoic-type sedimentation ranges from 3100 m.y. in some areas to 2500 m.y. in others. Thus the age of the rocks cannot be used exclusively to identify favorable metasedimentary successions.

5. By 2500 m.y. ago, large stable landmasses had developed everywhere on the planet. As they evolved, perhaps beginning at 3000 m.y., major drainage basins could form and extensive, relatively clean detrital sediments could be deposited in fluvial systems. These stable landmasses allowed transgression and regression over large areas and ultimate burial and preservation of thick fluvial successions.

6. There is evidence in Early Proterozoic sedimentary rocks, independent ent of the distribution through time of uranium-bearing conglomerate, to substantiate a change in the composition of the hydrosphere and atmosphere to a point at approximately 2000-1800 m.y. where there was adequate oxygen in the atmosphere to oxidize uranium minerals in source areas, during transportation or after deposition and thus prevent the formation of uraniumbearing fluvial placers.

## GENETIC CONCEPTS

### HISTORY OF EXPLORATION

The discovery that led to the development of the gold- and uraniumbearing guartz-pebble conglomerate of the Witwatersrand of South Africa was made by George Walker and George Harrison in 1886 (Whiteside and others, 1976). This discovery ultimately led to the development of mines over most of the northern Witwatersrand basin. The mines were developed for their gold values, but uraninite was determined to be an additional constituent of the conglomerate (Cooper, 1924) and now the conglomerates are mined for both their gold and uranium values. These conglomerates contain the world's largest reserves of gold and major resources of uranium. One of the most atonishing facts concerning this deposit is that geologists were extremely slow in utilizing the information gained concerning the characteristics of the Witwatersrand deposits to discover, or at least, explore for additional reserves of the same type. There are probably two factors that played a role in this: one was the economic conditions which controlled the price of gold and uranium and the other was the long standing debate over the origin of the deposits.

Gold mining was stimulated by South Africa's decision to go off the gold standard in 1932 and more recently by greatly increased market prices for gold. After the second World War the price of uranium was artificially pegged at high prices to stimulate prospecting and recently, free market uranium prices have increased more than four-fold. Interestingly, it appears that the post World War II uranium market did more to stimulate prospecting for uranium and gold in quartz-pebble conglomerates than any other factor. For example, uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates were discovered in the Blind River area of Ontario, Canada in 1948 (Robertson and Card, 1972) and gold-and uranium-bearing conglomerates were discovered in the Serra de Jacobina in the state of Bahia, Brazil in 1953 (Bowie, 1970, p. 27). The discovery at Blind River in Canada led to additional finds at Elliot Lake; at Agnew Lake, in the area between Sudbury and Saulte St. Marie, Ontario; in the Montgomery Lake-Padlei area in the Northwest Territories of Canada; and in the Sakami Lake area in Quebec. In addition, more recent finds have been reported in Australia (Richards, 1972), Brazil (D.S. Robertson, 1974), India (Viswanatha and others, 1977), South Dakota (Hills, 1977) and Wyoming (Houston and others, 1977). All of these deposits are in Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks and are very similar in their overall geologic setting to the deposits discovered in South Africa in 1886.

## HISTORY OF GENETIC CONCEPTS

# Witwatersrand Sequence, South Africa

Uranium and gold-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates in South Africa have been the subject of one of the most remarkable debates in the history of economic geology. The controversy began more than 90 years ago and has not been entirely put to rest even today. As stated above, this controversy prevented the acceptance of a genetic model for the deposits and was probably a major contributor to delayed exploration for additional deposits of the same type.

The controversy has had two facets. The first involved a debate on the origin of the uranium and gold minerals in the conglomerates and the second involved a debate on the depositional environment(s) of the conglomerates.

From the beginning (1886), most South African geologists subscribed to the syngenetic, placer model for the origin of the gold. However, they were opposed by a vociferous group of geologists from outside South Africa who insisted that the gold was derived from a magmatic source and transported into the Witwatersrand basin by epigenetic hydrothermal solutions. This debate over a syngenetic versus epigenetic origin for the gold mirrored the debate between the neptunists school of economic geologists, who believed that many metals in ore deposits came from non-magmatic sources, and the magmatists, who maintained a rather rigid concept that virtually all metals were derived from magma.

A fascinating aspect of the debate on the origin of the gold is that the magmatists (Maclaren, 1908; Horwood, 1917; Graton, 1930; Davidson, 1953, 1957, 1964; Fisher, 1939; Hatch and Corstorphine, 1904; H. Louis, J.H. Hammond, and R. Beck, in Lindgren, 1933, p. 244) were largely from academic and research institutions located outside of South Africa and they had very limited experience in the Witwatersrand mines. In contrast, most of the placerists (Ballot, 1888; De Launay, 1896; Young, 1911, 1917; Mellor, 1916; Rogers, 1922; Du Toit, 1926; Nel, 1927; Sharpe, 1949; Antrobus, 1956; Viljoen, 1963; Brock and Pretorius, 1964a; Pretorius, 1966, 1974; Minter, 1972, 1976) were South African geologists and mine workers. This situation led Davidson (1953), who was the principal proponent of the magmatic theory, to state that the placer theory was "a national article of faith" in South Africa. However, it seems more likely that this adherence to the placer model, by South Africans, came from practical experience which showed that the placer model could be successfully applied to exploration and development of the deposits (Reinecke, 1927).

The evidence presented by the magmatists was based on mineralogical, textural, and structural characteristics of the ore deposits which are not typical of modern fluvial placers. This evidence is summarized below:

- in many samples, the gold is not rounded but, instead, occurs as irregular masses which are sometimes well crystallized,
- the pyrite in the matrix of the conglomerates is often crystalline or anhedral,

- 3) there is evidence of replacement of quartz pebbles by pyrite,
- veinlets of gold cut quartz pebbles, and gold is also found in veinlets cutting pyrite grains,
- 5) some conglomerates contain abundant sericite and chlorite which were said to be of hydrothermal origin,
- 6) sulfur isotope studies show that values of  $S^{34}/S^{32}$  are very close to that of meteoritic sulfur and there is little deviation from this value--this suggests the sulfur had a magmatic source.

There are two additional major points made by magmatists that require discussion: one is the significance of uraninite and magnetite and the other is the role played by the organic material referred to as thucholite. Uraninite is a rare constituent of modern placers, but an important one in the Witwatersrand, whereas magnetite is a typical constituent of modern placers and is not present in the Witwatersrand. Magmatists, most notably Davidson (1953, 1955, 1957, 1961, 1962, 1964), have maintained that uraninite is not a constituent of modern placers because it cannot survive in an oxidizing atmosphere and thus there is no reason to expect it in fossil placers. In addition, the virtual absence of magnetite in the Witwatersrand, and for that matter in most other Proterozoic quartz-pebble conglomerates, is remarkable considering that magnetite is one of the most common constituents of modern placers and its presence has even been used as an indicator of the possible presence of gold. Thus, the presence of uraninite and the absence of magnetite in the Witwatersrand conglomerates was cited as evidence that the deposits are not normal gold placers.

The organic material thucholite is clearly associated with both gold and uraninite in the Witwatersrand. It is really a hydrocarbon containing variable amounts of uranium and thorium with a variety of elements in minor amounts such as Pb, Mg, Zr, K, Ce, La, Yt, Er, Ti, Fe, Al, V, Ca, Na, P, and Si. The name thucholite was given by Ellsworth (1928) to an organic material from the elements Th, U, C, H, and O present in the substance. Subsequently this term has been used for any organic material containing uranium and/or thorium and the name has clearly been applied to organic material of quite different origin, composition, and structure.

Thucholite in the Witwatersrand Sequence occurs as small granules about 2 mm or less in diameter, in seams up to 15 mm thick that parallel bedding planes in quartzite, and as veins that transect primary structure. It contains inclusions of uraninite, pyrite, and gold. Magmatists maintained that the thucholite was formed from hydrothermal emanations, probably gaseous hydrocarbons, and they cited pegmatite and vein thucholite as analogues (Davidson, and Bowie, 1951; Liebenberg, 1955). They suggested that there was a definite paragenesis with deposition of pyrite, carbon, pyrite, and finally gold (Fisher, 1939).

The second aspect of the controversy concerned the depositional environment(s) of the conglomerates. This aspect of the Witwatersrand controversy was summarized by Pretorius (1975), who divided the history of work on the Witwatersrand into several phases. The early history of the Witwatersrand (up to 1928) was characterized by a wide variety of speculations on the depositional environment of the conglomerates. Most geologists of this period favored deposition in a neritic, littoral or shoreline delta environment and conglomerates were usually considered to be beach gravels. After 1928, as a result of increased use of quantitative sedimentological techniques, geologists began to give preference to various fluvial models and to combinations of fluvial and shallow marine environments. At present (1979), the most widely accepted model combines braided fluvial and lacustrine depositional environments. This model is summarized by Pretorius (1976a, 1976b) and will be discussed in a later section.

## Blind River - Elliot Lake Area, Canada

The discovery of uranium-bearing conglomerates of the Huronian Supergroup in 1948 at Blind River, Ontario came at a time when the magmatists were strongly supporting an epigenetic, hydrothermal origin for the gold and uranium of the Witwatersrand Sequence. As a consequence, many early workers considered the Blind River uranium deposits to also be epigenetic and hydrothermal in origin (Bateman, 1955; Joubin and James, 1957; Davidson, 1957; Heinrich, 1958; Patchett, 1960). As in South Africa, however, the majority of the field geologists working in the Blind River - Elliot Lake area favored a placer origin for the uranium and a fluvial origin for the conglomerates (Abraham, 1953; McDowell, 1957, 1963; Pienaar, 1958, 1963, Roscoe, 1957, 1959, 1969; D. S. Robertson, 1962a, 1962b, J. A. Robertson, 1960, 1968, 1969, 1976).

A variation of the placerist view was expounded by Holmes (1957), among others, who suggested that the ores were deposited as placers but were later modified by diagenetic, metamorphic, and deformational events which created some new secondary minerals and textures. This has been called the "modified placer hpothesis" and it is now (1979) the favored hypothesis for formation of the Blind River - Elliot Lake deposits (Robertson, 1976). From the explorationists viewpoint, this modified placer hypothesis is not much different from the placer hypothesis--the distribution of heavy minerals is still controlled by primary sedimentary features. Nevertheless, it is important to be aware of the nature of the postdepositional changes, particularly in exploring for fossil placers in amphibolite and higher facies terrains These changes are discussed in a later section.

## Jacobina, Brazil

Gold- and uranium-bearing conglomerates were discovered at Jacobina in 1953, again during the of the magmatists. These deposits are more

intensely metamorphosed than the Blind River deposits and they contain abundant evidence of gold and pitchblende in fractures and veins cross-cutting the conglomerates and along the contacts with ultramafic intrusives (Gross, 1968). This evidence was cited by White (1956; 1957; 1961; 1964), Bateman (1958), and Ridge (1972) to support a hydrothermal origin of the gold and uranium. However, Cox (1967) and Gross (1968) presented sedimentological evidence that the gold was syngenetic and they favored the modified placer hypothesis. Gross (1968) said that gold was found in the matrix of nearly all the conglomerates and the highest concentrations were along foreset beds. He suggested that remobilization of gold took place during folding, metamorphism, and intrusion of mafic dikes.

# CURRENT VIEWS ON GENESIS

### Evidence for Placer Origin of Uranium and Gold

In the last several decades a wealth of information has become available on uranium and gold-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates not only in South Africa, but also in other localities. Most of this information supports the placerist viewpoint. In South Africa notable progress has been made in understanding sedimentology, mineralogy, and the nature of the organic material, and a major part of the published work is by D.A. Pretorius of the University of the Witwatersrand and his students. In Canada, papers by S.M. Roscoe and J.A. Robertson, among others, have strongly supported the placer viewpoint. Evidence which supports the placer origin of the uranium and gold is summarized below.

1. Sedimentological studies have established that the distribution of uranium, gold, pyrite, and other heavy minerals in the metasediments is strongly controlled by primary sedimentary features. Heavy minerals are commonly concentrated in the matrix of conglomerates (Liebenberg, 1973) and tend

to be best concentrated near the base of individual conglomerate layers. In addition, heavy minerals are found in economic concentrations along the foresets of cross-bedded sandstones that fill erosion channels and in sandstone, shale, and carbonaceous seams which directly overlie local unconformities (Pretorius, 1976a). In Canada, heavy minerals are concentrated in conglomerates which were deposited in topographic depressions that developed on the Archean erosion surface (Roscoe, 1969). Another convincing piece of evidence which favors a sedimentological control of heavies is that paystreaks in the Witwatersrand conglomerates are elongate in the directions of the paleocurrents and form fan-shaped patterns reminiscent of braided river channels (Reinecke, 1927; Minter, 1976).

2. Textural studies in both Canada and South Africa show that many of the heavy minerals occur as rounded grains; even the sulphides--pyrite, cobaltite, linnaeite, and arseno-pyrite. The pyrite, which constitutes 90% of the sulphide fraction (Saager and Esslaar, 1969), is typically rounded and is referred to as buckshot pyrite. Uraninite is also commonly rounded and even rounded grains of gold have been found (this mineral is most typically irregular in form and occurs in minute particles 0.005 to 0.5 mm in width). These rounded grains are viewed as detrital and stream transported.

3. Where the original detrital form of heavy minerals can be determined, it has been shown (Koen, 1961; Viljoen, 1963; Simpson and Bowles, 1977) that these minerals are generally in hydraulic equivalence with associated light minerals in the matrix of the conglomerates and with each other. This suggests that the heavy minerals were transported in suspension, probably in a fluvial system. As a corollary to this argument, Minter (1972) showed that there is a relationship between the specific gravity of heavy minerals and their proximity to the source area. Uraninite, for example, is lighter than gold and is generally more abundant farther down the paleoslope whereas gold tends to be concentrated closer to the source. Also, Viljoen (1963) showed that there is a systematic decrease in grain-size of heavy minerals radially away from the points where the sediment entered the basin. All of these facts suggest a detrital origin for the heavy minerals. Admittedly, from the sedimentologist's viewpoint, there are major problems with the concept of hydraulic equivalence which is based on particle settling velocities (Rittenhouse, 1943). Nevertheless, it is difficult to imagine that hydrothermal processes would form a suite of heavy minerals which are in hydraulic equivalence and it seems reasonable to invoke sedimentary processes to explain this relationship.

4. Recent detailed studies of the organic material thucholite (Hallbauer, 1974, 1975) show that this material is some form of primitive plant, perhaps a primitive conidia producing fungus or some form of blue-green algae. Its principal mode of occurrence is in mats that range in thickness from one to twelve millimeters, but it is also common as granules in conglomerate layers (Hallbauer, 1975). Placerists interpret this carbonaceous material to represent algal colonies which flourished near the mouths of the rivers and which collected gold and uranium by physically filtering the river water and, possibly, by chemically precipitating gold and uranium from solution.

5. S<sup>34</sup>/S<sup>32</sup> values are near meteoritic values and very consistent. Placerists interpret this to indicate an ultimate magmatic source for pyrite sulphur which was then deposited in an igneous environment of the Archean source area. This pyrite was subsequently eroded, transported, and deposited in a reducing environment so that no oxidation-reduction reactions occurred that might have resulted in sulphur isotope fractionation. Furthermore, the pyrite was largely protected from alteration after it was buried.

6. Unquestionably one of the most significant points made by supporters of the theory of placer origin for the uranium in the Witwatersrand is from age determinations. The basement for the Witwatersrand metasedimentary rocks has been dated by determining the age of Archean granites. These granites yield ages ranging from 3100 to 2750 m.y. (Hales, 1960; Allsopp, 1964). In addition, direct dates of volcanic rocks in the lowermost Witwatersrand Sequence yield ages of 2820 + 55 m.y. by Rb/Sr and 2800 + 50 m.y. by U/Pb (Van Niekerk and Burger, 1964). These data indicate that the Witwatersrand Sequence is younger than about 2800-2750 m.y. A minimum age for the Witwatersrand Sequence is given by a 2300 + 100 m.y. date on the Ventersdorp Sequence, which stratigraphically overlies the Witwatersrand Sequence (Van Niekerk and Burger, 1964) so that uraniferous conglomerates are bracketed between 2750 and 2300 m.y. old. However, uraninite grains from these conglomerates have been dated as 3050 + 50 m.y. (Rundle and Snelling, 1977) and monazite as 3160 + 100 m.y. (Nicolaysen and others, 1962). Inasmuch as these grains are older than the deposits in which they occur, it is clear that they cannot be of hydrothermal, epigenetic origin. Thus, the placer theory is strongly supported by geochronological data.

7. Thorium is a typical constituent of most Precambrian fossil placers. This association is in strong contrast to uranium deposits that are clearly of chemical origin; in fact, thorium is not even mentioned as a constituent of epigenetic uranium deposits of the United States in Finch's 1967 detailed summary of their characteristics. Thorium has an extremely low solubility in modern natural waters which are generally alkaline. It is typically concentrated in resistate minerals or is absorbed by clay minerals in weathered rocks of today. We cannot be certain that thorium followed this same pattern during the Early Proterozoic because thorium is more soluble in acid solutions. But, if Roscoe and Steacy (1958) are correct, thorium was weathered during the Early Proterozoic much as it is today. Therefore, it seems unlikely that thorium was transported in solution during the Early Proterozoic and thus the uranothorite and uranothorianite of these deposits is probably detrital, and the presence of significant amounts of thorium in these deposits can be taken as additional evidence of detrital origin for most of the constituents.

# Evidence for Fluvial Origin of Conglomerates

Sedimentological studies, in addition to establishing the distribution of heavy minerals, have defined the environments of deposition of the host rocks. Most geologists now agree that the conglomerates, which host much of the uranium and gold mineralization, are fluvial in origin. The most convincing evidence comes from the Witwatersrand Sequence, which has been the most thoroughly studied of known deposits. However, there is also convincing evidence from the Canadian rocks. The evidence falls into several categories which are discussed below.

1. Distribution of conglomerates--In the Witwatersrand, conglomerates occur in several bi-lobate fanshaped bodies on the margin of the basin, nestled between granite domes (Steyn, 1963; Pretorius, 1976a). These have been interpreted as fluvial fan-deltas. In Canada, conglomerates are thickest in valleys and basins in the underlying Archean erosion surface (Roscoe, 1969). In both areas, the large-scale distribution of conglomerates appears to have been controlled by local topography. Within conglomeratic zones, in both areas, individual conglomerate layers are lenticular and elongated parallel to the paleoslope (Armstrong, 1968; Reinecke, 1927; Pienaar, 1963; Roscoe, 1969). This distribution suggests that the conglomerates represent gravels which accumulated in channels and bars of a braided river system (Pretorius, 1976b).

2. Paleocurrents--Paleocurrent distributions are unimodal and have a low variance, suggesting fluvial transport (Minter, 1976; Pienaar, 1963,

McDowell, 1957). In the Witwatersrand, paleocurrent directions radiate out from the apex of the fluvial fan-deltas, suggesting fluvial transport away from the point where the river emptied into the basin (Pretorius, 1975).

3. Down-paleoslope variations--In the Witwatersrand, pebbles in the conglomerates become finer-grained and less rounded down the paleoslope and the quartzite/conglomerate ratio increases (Viljoen, 1963). This change is accompanied by an increase in indicators of wave and tidal action such as oscillation ripples. These variations indicate a decrease in energy of transport down the paleoslope--a typical characteristic of fluvial systems.

4. Stratification sequences--Pretorius (1976b) describes fining-upwards sedimentary cycles in the Witwatersrand sediments. Each cycle began with deposition of gravels on a local unconformity, followed by deposition of sands, and sometimes silts and clays. The abrupt change across the unconformities, from the silts and clays at the top of one cycle to gravels at the base of the next, was cited by Mellor (1915) and Roberts and Kronsdorff (1938) as evidence for fluvial deposition.

5. Sedimentary structures--Abundant channels, small scours, and trough cross-bedding in the conglomerates have been cited as evidence for fluvial deposition (Winter, 1965; Pienaar, 1963). Also, fluvial-type pebble imbrication was reported by Armstrong (1968), Knowles (1966), and Pienaar (1963).

6. Lithology--The conglomerates are bimodal sediments which consist of a pebble fraction (∿ 80 percent by weight) consisting of quartz and chert pebbles and a matrix fraction consisting of poorly sorted, mature to submature sand with relatively large amounts of clay or mica, and heavy minerals (Viljoen, 1963; Pretorius, 1976b; Pienaar, 1963; Roscoe, 1969). The conglomerates are interlayered with poorly sorted, submature subarkoses which are less mature than the matrix sands of the conglomerates (Minter, 1976; Roscoe, 1969). The poor sorting and submature nature of the sands suggests rapid fluvial deposition.

#### Sedimentary Model for the Witwatersrand Goldfields

Fluvial deposition of heavy minerals in conglomerates is only part of the story of the formation of uranium- and gold-bearing conglomerates. In addition to fluvial deposits, the Witwatersrand Sequence contains a variety of shallow water clastic sediments, mafic and felsic volcanic rocks, and iron formation. To understand the conglomerates in terms of the total stratigraphic succession, it is necessary to formulate models of the paleogeographic setting and sedimentary history of the entire sedimentary basin. This was done for the Witwatersrand basin in recent papers by D.A. Pretorius (1975, 1976a, 1976b), which are very briefly summarized here. A more detailed discussion of these papers is presented in a later section.

Pretorius (1976a, 1976b) viewed the Witwatersrand basin as a large, intermontane lake or inland sea bordered on the north and west by tectonically active highlands. Clastic material was carried into the basin by major river systems which flowed through deep canyons in the Archean source terrain, across a relatively short piedmont plain, and then into the basin. Large, fluvial fan-deltas developed at each of the six points where major rivers entered the basin. Uranium- and gold-bearing sands and gravels were deposited on these fan-deltas in braided channels and on bars. Finer-grained sediments were carried farther into the basin and were reworked and redeposited by clockwise longshore currents. Deeper in the basin, chemical sediments were occasionally deposited.

Concentration of most of the gold and uranium in the sediments was related to cyclic episodes of regression and transgression which, presumably, were controlled by tectonism. Regressions were initiated by uplift in the source area. This caused an increase in the supply of clastic material entering the basin and progradation of the fan-deltas. Progradation took place in pulses; first an openwork gravel was deposited, then sands were deposited which filtered into the openwork gravel. Gold and uranium were brought in with the sand phase. Continued reworking of previously deposited sediments during progradation allowed heavy minerals to be very efficiently concentrated. Many of the economically important reefs in the Witwatersrand Sequence formed by this process of continued sediment reworking during regressional episodes.

As tectonic activity waned, the supply of clastic material decreased, stream gradients became lower, and the strandline transgressed. Finer-grained material was deposited and, locally, algal colonies flourished in quiescent areas. These algal colonies collected very fine-grained gold and uranium by both mechanical filtration and biochemical precipitation. During periods of non-deposition, longshore currents caused winnowing of the light mineral fraction and concentration of the residual heavy minerals on the erosion surface. Many economic concentrations of gold and uranium occur directly above such erosion surfaces in carbonaceous mats, sands, or shales. Renewed tectonism and uplift of the source area, then, would start the cycle over again.

#### CURRENT PROBLEMS

In spite of the general consensus among geologists, that the Precambrian uranium- and gold-bearing conglomerates are fossil placers which were deposited by braided rivers in a low-oxygen atmosphere, there are important aspects of the deposits which are not explained by the current model. First, there is evidence that not all gold, uranium, and pyrite grains in the deposits are detrital in origin--but instead some have formed by precipitation from solution. This fact has given rise to various modified placer hypotheses. The usual modified placer hypothesis views the ore metals to have been deposited first as placers and then to have been redistributed and recrystalized during diagenesis and/or metamorphism (Stanton, 1972). More recent modified placer hypotheses suggest that gold and uranium were transported in solution as well as in detrital minerals during deposition of the conglomerates.

Second, there are still unanswered questions regarding the geochemistry of the Precambrian environment. How much oxygen was in the presumed lowoxygen atmosphere? What role did organic material play in transporting and concentrating ore minerals? And why are the placers essentially devoid of magnetite but rich in pyrite?

Third, the paleoclimatic and tectonic setting in which these rocks were deposited is not well enough understood. Why are they often stratigraphically associated with presumed glacial deposits and what was the paleoclimate and paleolatitude during deposition? Also, what is the significance of the fact that the world-wide distribution of Early Proterozoic conglomerates is very similar to the distribution of Proterozoic banded iron formations? These controversial aspects of Precambrian fossil-placer deposits are discussed in the following sections.

### Modified Placer Hypothesis

There is good evidence in most Precambrian fossil-placer deposits for some movement of gold, uranium, and other constituents in solution. In the Witwatersrand, the association of gold and uranium with carbonaceous seams suggests biochemical precipitation of mineralized waters (Pretorius, 1976b; Hallbauer, 1975) and textural studies of ore minerals suggest that some of the gold, uranium minerals, and pyrite are not of detrital origin (Saager, 1970; Feather and Koen, 1975; Simpson and Bowles, 1977). Similarly, in Canada, mineralogical and textural studies of the primary uranium mineral--brannerite--suggest that it may have formed by alteration of titanium phases in the presence of dissolved uranium (Ramdohr, 1957; Ferris and Rudd, 1971). In Brazil, textures also indicate considerable mobilization of gold and uranium (Bateman, 1958; Gross, 1968). The evidence for mobility of gold and uranium is overwhelming but the timing of migration of these elements is difficult to establish. Migration may have occurred syngenetically, diagenetically, during metamorphism or all three. Various workers have suggested each of these possibilities. In this section, we discuss metamorphic and diagenetic movement of metals; syngenetic transport will be discussed in the next section.

There are several lines of evidence which demonstrate that uranium and gold in conglomerates can be remobilized during metamorphism. Even in the Witwatersrand Sequence, where metamorphic temperatures were only 200-250°C (Schidlowski, 1968), there are textures which indicate metamorphic recrystallization. For example, Schidlowski (1968) reported intergrowths between gold particles, gold in the pressure shadows of quartz grains, and gold overgrowths on clearly authigenic pyrite nodules. He interpreted these as evidence for small scale transport (several mm) of gold as Aus<sup>-</sup> during low-grade regional metamorphism and local thermal metamorphism associated with mafic dikes. Also, Pretorius (1964) reported migration of gold some tens of meters due to intrusion of mafic dikes. Geochronological studies of uraninite (Burger and others, 1962; Rundle and Snelling, 1977) demonstrate an original age of 3050 + 50 m.y. for detrital uraninite, but suggest a major reworking at 2040 + 40 m.y. which reset uranium ages and released radiogenic lead which was deposited in veins and fissures as galena. There is also geochronological evidence of uranium loss, but the timing is uncertain.

Obviously, metamorphic effects become more pronounced in higher grade deposits, of which the Jacobina Series in Brazil is a good example. These rocks were metamorphosed to amphibolite facies (Cox, 1967) and both gold and uranium have been remobilized. Gross (1968) reported gold and uraninite in fractures cutting quartz pebbles and pyrite grains and these metals were enriched in contact zones adjacent to mafic dikes. He suggested that the metals were remobilized during regional metamorphism and subsequently reconcentrated during dike intrusion, in areas where dikes cut conglomerates. Pyrite

was also recrystallized, at times surrounding gold grains and at times filling fractures in the matrix of the conglomerates. This type of textural evidence was originally used by Bateman (1958) and White (1961) as evidence for an epigenetic origin of the mineralization but was interpreted by Cox (1967) and Gross (1968) as evidence for a modified-placer origin.

In general, there appear to be two types of metamorphic changes in fossil placers. The first is recrystallization and very minor redistribution (on the scale of mm or perhaps cm) of metals during regional metamorphism. The second is reconcentration of metals due to thermal metamorphism associated with mafic intrusives. The first is not of great concern to the explorationist because, even at amphibolite facies, the distribution of metals is still directly related to sedimentary features. The second, however, is of potential economic significance because this mechanism appears capable of creating economic concentrations of uranium and gold adjacent to intrusive contacts in conglomerates which would otherwise be of sub-economic interest. Jacobina is one example and the Paukkajanvaara Mine of Finland is another (see page 263).

Diagenetic remobilization of metals is difficult to distinguish on a textural basis from metamorphic remobilization (or from syngenetic movement for that matter), and the distinction is certainly not clear for the lowgrade deposits of Canada and South Africa. Nevertheless, there are several mineralogical and textural changes which have been attributed to diagenetic processes--to the extreme position advocated by Davidson in one of his later papers (1965) that all uranium mineralization represents diagenetic precipitation of uranium from circulating ground waters. This idea is not very convincing in view of the abundant mineralogical evidence for detrital uraninite grains (Liebenberg, 1955; Roscoe, 1969; Feather and Koen, 1975; Simpson and Bowles, 1977) but diagenetic changes do warrant consideration for minor

redistribution of uranium and for formation of brannerite--a uranium-titanium mineral commonly found in the Canadian and South African conglomerates.

Brannerite typically contains a delicate internal structure which would be unlikely to survive detrital deposition and so indicates epigenetic processes (Ramdohr, 1957; Roscoe, 1969; Ferris and Rudd, 1971). Ramdohr (1957) believed that brannerite is a metamorphic mineral formed by the "Pronto reaction":

$$U0_2 + 2-3Ti0_2 + UTi_{2-3}0_{6-8}$$

in which detrital grains of uraninite or ilmenite were converted to brannerite. Roscoe (1969) and Ferris and Rudd (1971), on the other hand, suggested that brannerite represented ilmenite which was altered diagenetically in the presence of uranium in solution. This view may be difficult to reconcile with geochemical evidence that uranium is not appreciably soluble in reducing waters--a point which is discussed in the next section. Nevertheless, diagenetic movement of uranium remains a possibility.

### Syngenetic Transport of Gold and Uranium

Syngenetic transport of gold has been proposed by Pretorius (1975, 1976a, 1976b) to help explain the gold found as coatings and replacements of carbonaceous filaments in carbon reefs of the Witwatersrand Sequence and to explain the very fine-grained gold found in sediments of the Transvaal Sequence (2300-2100 m.y.) which overlies the Witwatersrand Sequence. The Transvaal Sequence differs from the Witwatersrand Sequence by containing a significantly higher proportion of fine clastic sediments and dolomites. These were considered by Pretorius (1976a) to be mixtures of deltaic muds and silts with shallow-water carbonates. Stromatolites are abundant in dolomites of the Transvaal Sequence suggesting a significant increase in algal activity. Pretorius (1976a, p. 25) stated that the gold in these fine-grained sedimentary rocks was probably transported in solution and precipitated either chemically or biologically. He considered the precipitants to have been carbonate material, colloidal particles of clay, and algae, either separately or in combination. He further suggested that chloride- and cyanide-complexes, which may have existed in the anoxygenic hydrosphere of the times, promoted the solubility of gold in the Precambrian hydrosphere. Obviously, if gold was transported in solution during Transvaal time it could also be transported during Witwatersrand time and many textures and structures that were interpreted as evidence for hydrothermal origin of gold might simply be the result of syngenetic chemical precipitation from surface waters.

The concept of syngenetic transport of uranium in solution has also had its supporters (Derry, 1960; Joubin, 1960; Simpson and Bowles, 1977). Simpson and Bowles (1977) have made a detailed study of ores from the Witwatersrand Sequence using a variety of mineralogical techniques. They propose that there are two types of uranium ore; one the result of transportation and deposition of clastic grains of uraninite and the other the result of transportation and deposition of uranium from solution. Uranium thought to be deposited from solution occurs in various ways: in secondary clay minerals forming marginal overgrowths on pyrite; in interstitial clay phases of pyrite concretions; disseminated through rounded granules that consist of quartz, kaolinite, and pyrophyllite; as a dendritic vein system containing uraninite, gold, pyrite, and galena; in rounded grains of thucholite; in thucholite seams as dendritic growths; in sutures that parallel the columnar structure of the thucholite; and in internal pore spaces of the thucholite. All of these textures are believed to demonstrate that uranium (and gold) were precipitated from solution and that precipitation was controlled largely by the presence of the organic material thucholite and by clay minerals.

An interesting point made by Simpson and Bowles is that there is a

significant difference in thorium content between the detrital uraninite and the uraninite believed to be deposited from solution. The Witwatersrand detrital uraninite is relatively high in thorium and is similar to detrital uraninite in modern alluvial deposits of the Indus River in Kashmir, India and Hazro, Pakistan which is also high in thorium. According to Simpson and Bowles (1977, p. 312), a thorium uraninite containing one percent or more thorium oxide can survive in river detritus under oxidizing atmospheric conditions and, inasmuch as the detrital uraninite of the Witwatersrand is high thorium, these authors believe that it is not necessary to have had a lowoxygen atmosphere for transport and deposition of uranium. In fact, they suggest that uranyl ions in solution might require the existence of an oxidizing atmosphere.

This point concerning the Precambrian atmosphere is an interesting one because <u>both</u> gold and uranium are believed to have been syngenetically transported in solution in Precambrian waters. According to Pretorius, chlorideor cyanide-complexes may have been the medium for gold transportation but he suggests that this would require an anoxygenic atmosphere, whereas Simpson and Bowles suggest the reverse situation (an oxidizing atmosphere) as best for transportation of uranium. If we consider all of the geological and geochemical evidence presented earlier in this report, it is difficult to believe that free oxygen was present in the Precambrian atmosphere in significant amounts prior to about 2000 m.y. ago. As a consequence, we are forced to try to reconcile the geologic evidence of transport of both uranium and gold in solution with the geologic and geochemical evidence of an atmosphere and hydrosphere low in oxygen.

Gold cannot be transported in its ionic forms,  $Au^+$  or  $Au^{3+}$ , because these species are stronger oxidizing agents than water and, therefore, water would decompose before  $Au^+$  or  $Au^{3+}$  would form (Krauskopf, 1967; Ling Ong and Swanson, 1969). Pretorius (1976a) suggested that gold was transported as chloride or cyanide complexes. However, as shown in Figure 1.4a, transportation of significant quantities of gold chlorites in solution requires strongly acid waters (pH < 3) plus the presence of a strong oxidizing agent such as  $Mn0_2$ ,  $Fe^{3+}$ , or  $Cu^{2+}$  (Krauskopf, 1967; Ling Ong and Swanson, 1969). These specialized conditions have been observed in some mine waters, volcanic waters, and hydrothermal waters (Ling Ong and Swanson, 1969) but it seems unlikely that such conditions could have existed in the rivers which fed the Witwatersrand basin. The possibility of the transport of gold as cyanide complexes also has difficulties, as Hallbauer and Utter (1976) suggested, in that the presence of significant amounts of HCN,  $(CN)_2$ , and  $NH_3$  in the Precambrian atmosphere is unsubstantiated. Perhaps the most likely possibility is transport of gold as AuS<sup>-</sup>. As shown in Figure 1.4a, this can take place in strongly reducing solutions containing HS<sup>-</sup> > 10<sup>-6</sup> moles/liter and such conditions seem possible for the Witwatersrand basin.

An alternative interpretation was presented by Hallbauer and Utter (1976) who suggested that gold was transported as organic supported colloids during Witwatersrand and Transvaal deposition and that no gold was transported in solution. Hallbauer (1975) maintained that such an interpretation can explain the observed occurrence of fine-grained gold in carbonaceous mats and calcareous muds and he cited work by Ling Ong and Swanson (1969) which demonstrated that organic acids stabilize colloidal gold by giving them protective coatings which inhibit precipitation. According to Ling Ong and Swanson (1969), this mechanism for transport of gold requires concentrations of organic acids greater than 3 ppm and a pH between 4 and 9. These conditions also seem plausible for the Witwatersrand basin and it appears to us that the transport of gold as colloidal particles is at least as probable as the transport of gold as Aus<sup>-</sup> in solution -- and both are capable of accounting



Figure 1.4a. Stability relations among some gold compounds in water at 1 atm. total pressure. Total dissolved chloride species = 1M; total dissolved sulphur species = 10<sup>-1</sup>M. Shows stability fields at low and high chloride and sulfur contents. From Garrels and Christ (1965, p. 258): Solutions, Minerals and Equilibria. Reproduced with permission from Freeman, Cooper and Company.



Figure 1.4b. Eh-pH diagram in the U-0,-C0,-H<sub>2</sub>O system at 25° C for  $P_{CO_2} = 10^{-2}$  atm. Uraninite,  $UO_2(C)$ , solution boundaries are drawn at  $10^{-6}$  M (.24 ppm) dissolved uranium species. H & G denotes the boundary of the uraninite stability field according to Hostetler and Garrels (1962). Taken from Langmuir (1976, p. 560). Reproduced with permission from Pergamon Press Ltd. and the author.

for the geologic observations that gold may have moved in solutions as well as in detrital minerals during deposition of the Witwatersrand and Transvaal Sequences.

Transport of uranium in solution in a low-oxygen atmosphere and hydrosphere is at least as problematical as transport of gold. According to Langmuir (1978), uranium is soluble under anoxygenic conditions (in waters containing typical amounts of  $CO_3$ , CI, F,  $PO_3$ , and  $SO_3$ ), as uranous ( $U^{+4}$ ) flouride complexes only if the pH is less than 4 or as uranous hydroxy complexes at higher pH (Figure 1.4b). However, transport of uranium as hydroxy complexes is severely limited by the fact that uraninite and coffinite are stable and highly insoluble in anoxygenic waters so there is no strong tendency for uranium to go into solution.

To answer this problem, Simpson and Bowles (1977) proposed that the atmosphere may have been oxidizing during deposition of the Witwatersrand Sequence--as early as 3000 m.y. ago. We are reluctant to agree with them because most other evidence is against this view. Nevertheless, if they are correct in believing that uranium was syngenetically transported in solution, it is either necessary to propose an oxidizing environment or to propose other geochemical explanations. For example, one might invoke a very low pH (less than 4) for the river waters. If this were the case, appreciable gold could be transported as chloride complexes and uranium as flouride complexes. Unfortunately, a low pH may be incompatible with the abundance of organic carbon in the Witwatersrand Sequence and the abundance of carbonate in the Transvaal Sequence. This problem of simultaneous transport of uranium and gold in solution and as detrital minerals needs further attention from the geochemists.

#### Magnetite - Pyrite

The problem of the abundance of pyrite and the relative absence of magnetite in fossil placers compared to modern placers was used extensively by hydrothermalists (Davidson, 1957; 1960; 1962) as evidence against a syngenetic origin of the mineralization. Explanations advanced by placerists, to this date, are only partially able to answer the problem.

The placerists argue that the pyrite is mainly detrital and was supplied from the Archean greenstone belts. This position was supported by Köppel and Saager (1974) who showed that the isotopic composition of Witwatersrand pyrite was similar to that of the pyrite in the Swaziland Sequence to the northeast. Placerists further maintain that the magnetite and ilmenite seen in the Archean source area were unstable in the Precambrian atmosphere and hydrosphere and were altered to pyrite during weathering, transport, deposition, and diagenesis.

The key to this argument is the mineralogic work of Ramdohr (1958), Roscoe (1969), Saager (1970), and Köppel and Saager (1974) which demonstrated that there are several varieties of pyrite in the conglomerates. In addition to abundant detrital pyrite there are concretionary grains which are rounded and porous. These may have been deposited detritally (Simpson and Bowles, 1977) or they may have formed diagenetically (Saager, 1970). According to Feather and Koen (1975) many of these grains may represent altered iron-oxides. A third type of pyrite is recrystallized authigenic pyrite which includes euhedral grains and overgrowths. These probably formed or were modified during metamorphism and dike intrusion (Ramdohr, 1958; Saager, 1970; Köppel and Saager, 1974).

The presence of clearly non-detrital pyrite led Ramdohr (1958) to suggest that the absence of appreciable magnetite and ilmenite in the placers is the result of pyritization--a process leading to the conversion of iron-titanium oxides to rutile plus new pyrite. This process was also advocated by Ferris and Rudd (1971) for the Canadian deposits. They proposed the following reactions:

The rutile that formed in the first reaction was then capable of taking up uranium from solution to form brannerite via the "Pronto reaction":

$$2-3TiO_2 + UO_2 \rightarrow UTi_{2-3} O_{6-8}$$

Ferris and Rudd (1971) believed that this type of reaction exchange could explain the high pyrite-low ilmenite content of the ores, the texture and composition of the brannerite with its complex interpenetrating textures of rutile and brannerite crystals and its variable uranium content, and the overgrowths of new pyrite on old pyrite and brannerite crystals.

We agree that this process of sulfidization of iron-titanium oxides is the most likely explanation for the presence of some of the authigenic pyrite and for the lack of iron-oxides. Indeed, Figure 1.2 shows that pyrite should be the stable iron phase in low oxygen waters (see also Krauskopf, 1967). However, there are several problems with the model. First, it is not clear whether sulfidization took place syngenetically or epigenetically and second, it is not clear where the sulfur came from.

The timing is difficult to establish on textural grounds. Ramdohr (1958) suggested that much of the sulfidization took place during deposition of the sediments whereas Ferris and Rudd (1971) and Saager (1970) suggested it took place diagenetically. Both possibilities seem plausible to us.

Ferris and Rudd (1971) suggested a volcanic source for the sulfur and Saager (1970) suggested a biogenic origin. The consistent values of  $S^{34}/S^{32}$  in both Canada and South Africa, however, seem to favor a volcanic origin and

suggest that biogenic fractionation of sulfur isotopes was minimal and that the sulfur was probably never in the form of sulfate. However, there is no direct evidence for volcanism contemporaneous with deposition of the Witwatersrand or Blind River conglomerates which could supply the sulfur. The explanation is still missing but we believe that sulfur, as HS<sup>-</sup>, was present and was in some way characteristic of the Early Proterozoic atmosphere and hydrosphere because every fossil placer (except the Ghana deposit) is rich in pyrite and poor in iron-titanium oxides. We doubt that each deposit had the same metamorphic history, but they were most likely deposited under similar atmospheric conditions.

## Paleoclimate - The Glacial Association

An interesting feature of some Precambrian uranium-bearing conglomerates is their association with paraconglomerates of possible glacial origin--i.e. tillites. The best example is the Blind River - Elliot Lake deposit of Canada but there are several others, especially in the Northern Hemisphere. These include: the Hurwitz Group, Northwest Territories (Bell, 1970; Young, 1973); the Mistassini Lake area of Quebec (Roscoe, 1973); southeastern Wyoming (Blackwelder, 1926); and the Baltic and Ukranian Shields (Salop, 1977, Plate 3). These locations, shown in Figure 1.1, are all areas in which uranium-bearing conglomerates have also been reported. In the Southern Hemisphere, presumed glacial conglomerates have been reported in the Lower Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence (Wiebols, 1955) but, to our knowledge, uranium-bearing conglomerates in Brazil, India, and Australia are not associated with glacial deposits. The important question to the explorationist is the possibility of a genetic relationship between glacial processes and the deposition of fossil placers.

In the Blind River - Elliot Lake area of Canada, paraconglomerates occur
as thick and extensive beds at the base of three of the four groups within the Huronian Supergroup: the Ramsey Lake Formation at the base of the Hough Lake Group, the Bruce Formation at the base of the Quirke Lake Group, and the Gowganda Formation at the base of the Cobalt Group (Table 2.1, page 106). The best documented glacial deposits are in the Gowganda Formation, shown in Figure 1.5, where a striated pavement, striated boulders, dropstones, varve-like beds and other evidence indicates a glacial origin. The Ramsey Lake Formation and Bruce Formation are probably also glacial but the evidence for this is not so convincing (Young, 1973; Roscoe, 1969),  $\mathbb{Z}$ Boscoe (1969, p. 79) pointed out that quartz-pebble conglomerates occur beneath the Ramsey Lake paraconglomerate, the Bruce paraconglomerate, and the Gowganda paraconglomerate, and he suggested that this association might be related to glaciation. If the paraconglomerates represent tills deposited by continental glaciers, the quartz-pebble conglomerates may represent the better-sorted material of the glacial outwash plain or sandur. Sandurs are outwash plains formed by rivers carrying meltwater away from fronts of glaciers or ice caps. They are aggradational sand plains that are deposited by braided streams that continually shift position. Inasmuch as sedimentological studies suggest that uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates were deposited by braided streams and the conglomerates are interbedded with poorly-sorted, coarsegrained sandstone that has a substantial mica fraction (originally clay mineral?); the sandur model is certainly worth considering. According to Flint (1971, p. 190) the bulk of the sandur deposits seen in modern sedimentary successions was deposited during shrinkage of glaciers of the last glacial age, and Flint believes that sandur deposits are more likely to have developed during glacial retreat than during advance. As an ice-sheet retreats the sandur deposits should be laid down on top of till (paraconglomerate) and therefore the succession should be quartz-pebble conglomerate overlying







- - grained, chloritic matrix.
- lithic arkosic wacke matrix.



D

Figure 1.5. Photographs of glacial (?) diamictites from the Huronian Supergroup, Ontario and the Deep Lake Group, Wyoming.

A. Lower Gowganda Formation from the core of the Quirke Syncline, north of Elliot Lake, Ontario. Sub-angular to rounded clasts of pink granite are irregularly scattered in a dark-gray, fine-

B. Outcrop of polymictic paraconglomerate of the Vagner Formation, Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming. Clasts of white granite, quartzite, and mafic schist are scattered in a medium-grained

C. Transition zone between the Ramsey Lake and Pecors Formations near Quirke Lake, Ontario. Large granite boulder was apparently dropped from floating icebergs into unconsolidated silt and clay, causing bedding to be depressed (Robertson and Card, 1972).

D. Polished slab of a dropstone structure in the Headquarters Formation, Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming. Bedding below the granite clast is distorted; bedding above goes across undisturbed. This suggests that the clast was ice-rafted and dropped from above into laminated subaqueous sediments. Photograph is actual size. Taken from Sylvester (1973, p. 57).



paraconglomerate -- the opposite of the Blind River-Elliot Lake succession. However, sandur deposits can develop in front of advancing ice sheets and Flint (1971, p. 154, fig. 7-1) shows an illustration of a Pleistocene example. So the succession of quartz-pebble conglomerate overlain by paraconglomerate seen at Blind River-Elliot Lake could represent this type of sequence.

Canadian geologists most familiar with the Huronian succession do not make a direct connection between possible glacial deposits and the deposition of the uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerate -- that is, they do not consider the uranium-bearing conglomerate as part of sandur deposits laid down in front of advancing ice sheets or behind retreating ones. Instead indirect connections are suggested such as: deposition of fluviatile sedimentary rocks during a period of high precipitation preceding continental glaciation (Roscoe, 1969, p. 79); or deposition of fluviatile sediments following glacial rebound (Young, 1973); or deposition of uraniferous conglomerates in rapidly moving rivers "under cold, possibly frigid reducing conditions" (Robertson, 1976, p. 35). The question of a direct versus indirect connection between uraniferous conglomerates and glacial (?) paraconglomerates is really a question of timing of events and rates of sedimentation during Huronian deposition. If these deposits were laid down during a short time interval, the direct glacial connection might be established. On the other hand, if there was a long time interval between deposition of uraniferous conglomerates and glacial (?) paraconglomerates, the direct glacial connection seems unlikely. Regional stratigraphic relationships indicate that the Ramsey Lake paraconglomerate is separated from the overlying uraniferous conglomerate of the Matinenda Formation in places by up to 2150 meters of argillite of the McKim Formation and an erossional hiatus. This suggests that there was a considerable length of time between deposition of the uraniferous congloemrate and deposition of the overlying glacial units -- hence the sandur model for deposition of the Canadian uranium-bearing conglomerates seems unlikely.

A sandur-type model was also suggested by Wiebols (1955) to explain the gold- and uranium-bearing conglomerates in the Witwatersrand basin. Wiebols suggested that the Witwatersrand was an enclosed basin or inland sea situated on the edge of an ice sheet. Glacial-fluvial sedimentation was believed to have taken place on a peneplain bordering the sea where sandurs developed on the margin of the ice sheet. Wiebols thought that periodically the ice sheet advanced and deposited tills on top of the glacio-fluviatile sediments. When the ice-sheet retreated, the tills were reworked by the waters of the transgressive sea -- washing out clay and concentrating the heavy minearls. Wiebols' concept was criticized by Broch and Pretorius (1964b, p. 571-572) because it ignored the tectonic setting of the basin (there is strong evidence for marginal faulting controlling pulses of sedimentation) and because "tills" are not believed to be a really significant part of the Witwatersrand succes-Nonetheless, Weibols' concept does explain the cycles (also proposed sion. by Pretorius, 1976a) that begin with active deposition of coarse fluviatile sediments followed by trangression and winnowing of previously deposited and sedimentary rocks.

Antough the direct glacial connection--fluvial deposition of uraniferous conglomerates in glacial outwash plains -- doesn't appear to withstand close scrutiny, the indirect connections cannot be dismissed. Deposition of both extensive paraconglomerates and uraniferous conglomerates appears to havebeen one of the characteristic features of Early Proterozoic successions, especially in North America. It is possible that glacial and periglacial conditions may have contributed to the large amount of coarse clastic material found in Precambrian fluviatile deposits and that the cyclic aspects of Early Proterozoic sedimentation could be explained in terms of worldwide climatic cycles.

It is also possible that the cold conditions of glacial or periglacial deposition may have been conducive to the transport of uraninite as a detrital mineral. Along this line, Trow (1977, p. 1205-1206) has proposed a model to demonstrate that uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates might form in CO2-deficient atmospheres that are synchronous with glaciation regardless of the age of the deposit. Trow (1977, p. 1206) suggested that clastic uranyl oxide pseudomorphs after uraninite might have formed in Early Proterozoic oxidizing atmospheres if the solubility of uranium as uranyl carbonate complexes was decreased in a CO2-deficient atmosphere. This clastic uranyl oxide then could be transported by streams to a sharp interface between oxidizing and reducing environments, where uranyl oxide would be reduced to uraninite; magnetite reduced to pyrite; ilmenite to pyrrhotite; TiO, would combine with  $UO_2$  to form brannerite; and placer gold would dissolve temporarily as Aus<sup>-</sup> to mobilize and lose its placer morphology (Trow, 1977, p. 1206). Trow further suggested that ore metals were preserved by being sealed from renewed oxidation during post-glacial conditions. This is an interesting theory but it is counter to many concepts previously proposed. It requires an oxidizing atmosphere in the Early Precambrian, a direct tie to glaciation, a rather spectacular change from oxidizing to reducing environments in the fluviatile system, and the ability of a uranyl oxide of questionable hardness to resist abrasion. Again we return to the 0, pressure of the Precambrian atmosphere as the key issue, and again the majority of the evidence seems to favor a low  $P_{0_2}^{--}$  in which case, a low-CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere would not be required to permit the transport of clastic uraninite.

It might be suggested that paleomagnetic evidence of the paleolatitude of deposition of the paraconglomerates could resolve the issue--if glacial deposition was restricted to high latitudes in the Early Proterozoic. The Huronian basin was at latitudes of  $35^{\circ}$  during deposition of the Thessalon Volcanics (2400 m.y.), which directly underlie the uranium-bearing Matinenda Formation (Symons and O'Leary, 1978). And the Witwatersrand basin was at latitudes of about  $65^{\circ}$  during deposition of the Lower Ventersdorp lavas (2400-2500 m.y.) which overlie the radioactive units of the Witwatersrand Sequence (Piper, 1976b). Thus, the world's two biggest deposits of Precambrian fossil placers appear to have been deposited at intermediate latitudes.

However, the importance of this information is difficult to assess largely because of the scarcity of both paleomagnetic and geochronologic data from other Early Proterozoic-type successions and the inexact nature of the data which do exist. What is worse, there is no agreement among geologists that ancient glacial deposits need have been deposited at high latitudes (Harland, 1964; Piper, 1973) so, at present, paleolatitude data neither support nor undermine the glacial hypothesis.

The most frustrating aspect of this whole discussion of the possible glacial association is that there is but scanty evidence that the Proterozoic paraconglomerates are indeed of glacial origin. The best case for glacial deposition can be made for the Gowganda Formation of Canada but even here there is some doubt (Pienaar, 1963). For other paraconglomerates both in the Huronian Supergroup and elsewhere, tectonically sponsored mudflow or turbidite modes of deposition of paraconglomerates may be an equally valid alternative. Certainly tectonic cycles, such as were proposed by Pretorius (1976a) for the Witwatersrand basin, are capable of producing

the observed cyclic stratigraphic successions which are common in Early Proterozoic metasediments.

#### World-Wide Distribution of Precambrian Fossil Placers

Paleomagnetic evidence, scanty though it is, has been interpreted by Piper (1976a; 1976b) to demonstrate that all the continents were grouped together into one supercontinent from at least 2200 m.y. (and maybe 2700 m.y.) until about 1000 m.y. This supercontinent is shown in Figure 1.6, as are the distributions of both Precambrian fossil placers and Proterozoic banded iron formations (after Goodwin, 1973). The two rock types appear to be closely associated in terms of their world-wide distribution -- both occur mainly in a narrow zone which traverses the entire supercontinent.

The implications of this are striking. First, the zone is mainly intracratonic on the pre-drift reconstruction which suggests that both fossilplacer conglomerates and banded iron formations were deposited in intracratonic basins and troughs which formed this linear zone. Second, the zone is subparallel to modern continental margins, especially between South America and Africa and in Asia (Goodwin, 1973). This suggests that this zone of sedimentation later became a zone of Phanerozoic rifting. Goodwin (1973) suggested that some unique feature of Precambrian crustal evolution caused this alignment of Proterozoic iron formations, and it is evident from Figure 1.6 that the sedimentary basins of major iron formation deposition were already in existence--and already aligned in a zone--several hundred million years earlier, during deposition of the first Early Proterozoic-type clastic



sedimentary successions. This suggests to us that the same crust-mantle tectonic regime which resulted in stabilization of continental masses at the end of the Archean and in deposition of the first clastic continental platform sequences was also responsible for the linear distribution of sedimentary basins. Perhaps incipient rifting along this zone, during the Archean-Proterozoic transition, created the sedimentary basins and provided a suitable tectonic environment for clastic deposition--and then iron formation deposition.

The most important implication to the explorationist is that, on the scale of a continent, fossil placer deposits and Proterozoic banded iron formations are spatially associated. Examples are numerous. In North America, the Huronian Supergroup is about 200-300 km east of the Lake Superior iron deposits. In South Africa, the main Witwatersrand fossil placers are just south of the iron formation in the Transvaal Sequence. In Australia, low-grade fossil placers of the Fortesque Group were deposited in the same sedimentary basin but just north of the Hamersley iron formation. In India, iron formation occurs in the Chitradurga Group which overlies the uraniumbearing Bababudan Group, and iron formation occurs in the Iron-ore Series in the Singhbhum craton to the east. In Russia, the Krivoy Rog iron formation of the Ukraine overlies rocks containing fossil-placers. And possibly the best example is the Minas Gerais area of Brazil where uraniferous conglomerates of the Minas Series pass up-section into fine-grained clastics and then to iron formation without significant hiatus. In most of these areas, the fossil placers and the iron formations occupy approximately the same sedimentary basin and, in every case, the Proterozoic banded iron formations are younger than the fossil placer deposits. Both of these facts should be useful to the explorationist.

#### Differences Between Major Deposits

There are important differences between fossil-placer occurrences which, ultimately, might make it possible to classify these deposits into specific types based on their geologic setting and sedimentological characteristics. In this section we attempt such a classification. However, we also recognize that there is simply too little detailed information on some fossil-placer occurrences to catagorize them properly and we consider the following classification to be provisional and subject to revision.

Perhaps the most important difference between major Precambrian fossilplacer deposits is in the distribution of reefs (ore zones) within the stratigraphic section. In some deposits there is a single ore-bearing formation which occurs at the base of the clastic succession and directly overlies the Archean basement. The best example is the Huronian Supergroup of Canada and we therefore weill refer to this type of deposit as Buronian-type. In other deposits, there are several or numrous reefs which occur higher in the stratigraphic succession and are associated with local unconformities developed on quartzites, shales or volcanics. The best example of this type of fossilplacer is the Witwatersrand Sequence and we refer to it as the Witwatersrandtype.

In Huronian-type deposits there is likely to be only one major placer zone and it occurs directly above a pronounced Archean erosion surface. This erosion surface is the key to the deposit. It represents a prolonged period of erosion in which detrital ehavy minerals were mechanically liberated from the source terrain and accumulated in a weathering residuum. This detrital residue was then swept into localized topographic depressions in the erosion surface by streams and these depressions became the sites of placer deposition. The erosion surface is often represented by a regolith which gradationally separates arkosic conglomerate from unweathered granite. Ore may occur directly above the regolith but, more commonly, the ore occurs in one or several discontinuous conglomerate lenses within a basal quartzite sequence several hundred meters thick. Exploration for this type of deposit is relatively simple; it focuses on identifying the basal Proterozoic nonconformity and sampling the basal clastics.

Witwatersrand-type deposits are more complex. Here, heavy minerals accumulated at various levels in the stratigraphic sequence, in specific parts of tectonically controlled (?) sedimentary cycles. Most commonly, reefs occur at the conglomeratic base of regressional, fining-upward sequences. This type of deposit is recognized by the local unconformity at the base of the regressional cycle--there are as many potential ore horizons as there are local unconformities. Exploration for this type of deposit requires detailed sedimentological study to outline the facies patterns, stratification sequences, and depositional environments of the sediments. The explorationist needs to identify both large and small sedimentary cycles, with emphasis on conglomerates overlying local unconformities within large-scale regressional sequences.

Table 1.1 is an attempt to classify Precambrian fossil placers according to two end members: Huronian versus Witwatersrand types. We recognize a continuum between the two types so that classification of some deposits was rather arbitrary and depended upon which type of exploration approach we thought would be most useful in outlining the deposit. If the uranium- or gold-bearing units in a sequence are closely associated with a profound basal Proterozoic nonconformity we called it Huronian-type. If, however, the mineralized horizons are associated with localized unconformities within the stratigraphic succession so that more detailed mapping and sedimentology are required to outline the deposit--we called it Witwatersrand type. For some deposits, the distinction cannot be readily made based on available information so Table 1.1 must be viewed as a provisional classification. The main facts used to classify each occurrence are summarized below. More detailed information on individual occurrences is presented in Part II.

Table 1.1 Provisional Classification of Precambrian Fossil Placers	
Huronian - type	Witwatersrand - type
Huronian Supergroup, Ontario	Witwatersrand, South Africa
Fortesque Group, Australia	Tarkwa Group, Ghana
Krivoy Rog Group, Ukraine	Deep Lake Group, Wyoming
Bababudan Group, India	Estes Group, South Dakota
Jacobina Series, Brazil→	←Minas Gerais, Brazil
Karelian Supergroup, Finland→	<karelian russia<="" supergroup,="" td=""></karelian>
Montgomery Lake Sediments, N.W. Terr.	
Sakami Formation, Quebec→	

Arrows indicate that deposits may be intermediate in character between two end member-types.

Huronian-type Deposits

Fortesque Group, Australia. Uranium-bearing conglomerates occur in the basal clastic unit of the Fortesque Group which crops out along the south margin of the Pilbara Archean craton and possibly along the northeast margin of the Yilgarn craton. The basal clastic unit of the Fortesque Group occupies topographic depressions in the Archean erosion surface and the best exploration technique would appear to be a detailed sampling program along this erosion surface. Hence, we classify this occurrence as Huronian-type.

<u>Krivoy Rog Group, Ukraine</u>. Conglomerates containing gold, pyrite, and presumably uranium (though not reported in the Russian literature) occur in

the basal clastic units of the Krivoy Rog Group which directly overlie Archean basement.

<u>Bababudan Group, India</u>. Uranium and gold occur in the basal Chickmagalur conglomerate of the Bababudan Group of Karnataka. This conglomerate unconformably overlies Archean basement so we consider it to be Huroniantype.

Jacobina Series, Brazil. Gold-bearing reefs occur within the lower 500 m of the Jacobina Series. According to Gross (1968), these rocks nonconformably overlie Archean basement. However, Cox (1967) reported a basal fault contact and, in places, the Jacobina Series is underlain by older metasediments. Thus this deposit may be intermediate in character. However, we classify this occurrence as Huronian-type because the ores are distributed along the Archean-Proterozoic contact.

<u>Karelian Supergroup, Finland</u>. Uranium occurs mainly in quartzites and conglomerates which closely overlie a regolith developed on the Archean erosion surface. Hence we classify this occurrence as Huronian-type.

<u>Montgomery Lake Sediments, Northwest Territories</u>. Mineralized conglomerates occur in a quartzite sequence which is preserved only in isolated synclinal inliers in Archean basement. These may, in part, represent original topographic depressions in the Archean erosion surface in which gravels accumulated.

<u>Sakami Formation, Quebec</u>. Uraniferous conglomerates overlie a tightly folded Archean greenstone sequence and appear to be basal Proterozoic conglomerates. However, the details on conglomerate distribution are not available to us and this occurrence could be intermediate in character.

### Witwatersrand-type Deposits

Tarkwa Sequence, Ghana. Gold-bearing conglomerates occur in several

reefs located above local unconformities in the Tarkwa Sequence, which overlies an older metasedimentary succession. This occurrence is very similar to the Witwatersrand deposit in that sedimentological studies play a key role in outlining the mineralized zones. They are different, however, in that the Tarkwa deposit contains gold and hematite--and no uranium, whereas the Witwatersrand contains gold, pyrite, and uranium.

Deep Lake Group, Wyoming. Uraniferous conglomerates occur in the lower part of the Deep Lake Group which unconformably overlies both older metasediments and Archean basement. The main mineralized horizon occurs above this major unconformity and, in that respect the Deep Lake Group resembles a Huronian-type deposit. However, uraniferous rocks also occur in the older metasedimentary sequence and in quartzites well up in the Deep Lake Group. Also, sedimentological studies and detailed mapping of various unconformities may be critical in outlining the potential of this occurrence. We consider this occurrence to be perhaps more similar to the Witwatersrand than the Huronian deposit.

Estes Group, South Dakota. The situation here is similar to that of the Deep Lake Group because uraniferous conglomerates overlie both an older metasedimentary succession and Archean basement. We consider it to be transitional in character based on this analogy with the Deep Lake Group.

<u>Minas Gerais, Brazil</u>. Uraniferous conglomerates are located within a 300 m thick quartzite and conglomerate sequence at the base of the Minas Series, which unconformably overlies an older metasedimentary sequence. This occurrence is intermediate in character--the reefs are related to one major unconformity but this unconformity is not a basa; Broterozoic nonconformity.

Karelian Supergroup, Russia. Gold-, pyrite-, and presumably uraniumbearing conglomerates occur in the Karelian Supergroup of Soviet Karelia as well as Finland. Here, mineralized conglomerates overlie both Archean basement and older quartzites, shales, and felsic volcanics and they appear to occur in various horizons--all related to unconformities, but not necessarily to a basal Proterozoic nonconformity.

# EXPLORATION MODEL

A number of very good exploration models have been proposed for Precambrian uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerates including two exceptional ones by Pretorius (1976a) and Roscoe (1969, p. 166-167). These two models, as well as those of Whiteside (1970) and D.S. Robertson (1974), are based on the concept that the uranium minerals were detrital and were deposited in fluviatile sedimentary rocks. The writers are in general agreement with this concept based on the evidence cited above, but we recognize that many questions concerning these deposits are unanswered, and we will therefore present a preferred model followed by a brief discussion of some alternate concepts.

### PREFERRED MODEL

#### 1. Age Constraints

Uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates are found almost entirely in Early Proterozoic-type metasedimentary successions which range in age from 2800 m.y. to about 2000 m.y.. Gold-bearing placers range in age from about 3100 m.y. to the present.

(a) The maximum age for uranium and gold placers is related to crustal evolution. Early Proterozoic-type sedimentary rocks are considered to have developed after a period of Late Archean (3000-2500 m.y.) cratonization when a substantial continental mass or masses developed allowing widespread sedimentation on low-lying stable platforms. This cratonization did not take place at the same time everywhere on the planet but was essentially completed everywhere by 2500 m.y.. The diachronous nature of the Archean-Proterozoic transition means that rocks classed as Archean by some observers may have Early Proterozoic-type sedimentary successions.

(b) The minimum age for uranium-bearing fossil placers is related to atmospheric evolution. Exploration for uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates should be confined to sedimentary successions older than about 2000 m.y. because most geologic, geochemical and paleontologic evidence suggests that the Precambrian atmosphere contained sufficient oxygen by this time to allow oxidation and dissolution of uranium minerals in the zone of weathering and thus make them unstable for transportation and deposition in fluviatile deposits. In contrast, there is no apparent minimum age for gold placers.

## 2. Source Area Constraints

The best source area contains Late Archean, K-rich granites and Archean greenstone belts.

- (a) The source of uranium in Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks was probably Late Archean (3000-2500 m.y.) granites. There is substantial evidence that Early Archean granites and gneisses are uranium poor, but some Late Archean granites contain appreciable uranium. A geochemical study of these granites might be fruitful in locating provinces where there is a uranium potential in younger rocks.
- (b) The source of gold and much of the detrital pyrite in the placers was probably Archean greenstone belts. Thus, the favorability of a fossil placer for gold can, in part, be assessed by determining whether gold-bearing greenstone belts are present in the Archean source terrain.

#### 3. Stratigraphic Constraints

The most favorable rocks are Early Proterozoic sedimentary successions with a preponderance of sandstone, conglomerate, shale, and carbonate and a relatively minor proportion of volcanic rocks. They can be recognized by their strong resemblance to Phanerozoic sedimentary successions and by certain characteristics that may be unique:

- (a) Most Early Proterozoic-type sedimentary successions lie nonconformably on a more highly metamorphosed Archean granite gneiss terrain which may contain infolded greenstone belts. This unconfomity represents considerable hiatus and the Archean rocks may show evidence of deep residual weathering prior to deposition of Early Proterozoic rocks.
- (b) Other Early Proterozoic-type successions unconformably overlie earlier metasedimentary successions which contain a higher proportion (> 50 percent) of volcanic rocks interbedded with clastic sediments.
- (c) The thickest and most extensive beds of laminated iron formation are in Early Proterozoic sedimentary successions, but these rocks are usually younger than uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerate and are only rarely in direct contact with them.
- (d) Many Early Proterozoic successions are characterized by stromatolitic dolomites, but again these rocks are not normally in close association with uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerate. They usually lie above them.
- (e) Early Proterozoic sedimentary rock-types in direct association with uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerate include paraconglomerate, quartzite, and lesser amounts of slate and limestone. These metasedimentary rocks may be arranged in sequences with

paraconglomerates at the base, grading upward into shales and limestones, in turn overlain by quartzite that may be in part, fluviatile. This sequence may be repeated and may be in some manner related to Precambrian glacial episodes, but the cyclic successions may or may not control the deposition of uraniumbearing, quartz-pebble conglomerate. Although we do not understand the manner of formation of these sequences they are still quite useful in prospecting simply as a rock succession with which uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerate may be associated.

(f) Some Late Archean supracrustal successions contain sedimentary sequences that are transitional between clastic rocks of true greenstone belts and clastic rocks of the Early Proterozoic-type successions. No uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerate has been reported in these sedimentary successions, but we consider them to be legitimate exploration targets, albeit of secondary interest to the true Early Proterozoic-type sedimentary succession.

# 4. Sedimentological Constraints

The sedimentary environment most favorable for deposition of uraniumbearing quartz-pebble conglomerates is considered to be a fluvial-deltaic environment that has the overall characteristics of braided stream or river systems.

(a) The sedimentary succession is marked by fining-upward stratification sequences, with clast\*supported conglomerate at the base grading upward into cross\*bedded, coarse-grained sandstone (cross-beds may be low~angle, or inclined about 30<sup>0</sup>, or trough), and having climbing ripple sets near the top of the sequence.

Unlike meandering river systems the braided stream fining-upward sets do not usually contain shales or siltstones near the top and the in-channel deposits (coarse-grained sandstones) may be quite thick. A diagrammatic illustration of such a stratification sequence is shown in Figure 1.7. However, the exact characteristics of the stratification sequence will vary depending on proximity to source, tectonism, or climate so that the development of the various units within the fining-upward sets may vary significantly. Usually these fining-upward sets are repeated in ancient braided river deposits as a result of channel migration.

- (b) Sedimentary structures include abundant channels, small scours, and trough cross-bedding. The conglomerates may show upstream pebble imbrication. Paleocurrent distributions tend to be unimodal and low-variance in individual areas but may vary considerably over the depositional basin reflecting different points where rivers entered the basin.
- (c) The sedimentary succession may show evidence of cyclic sedimentation. This may take the form of repetition of fining-upwards stratification sequences or repeated paraconglomerate-argillite-quartzite sequences. This is an important aspect of Early Proterozoic sedimentation because it indicates the occurrence of regressional and transgressional episodes which were important in continually reworking and reconcentrating the placers. The control of these cycles may have been tectonic movements in the source area and basin margins and/or fluctuations in sea level due to climate changes.
- (d) As a result of cyclic sedimentation, uranium-bearing conglomerates often occur at more than one horizon within the quartzite succession. These layers may range in thickness from that of a single

Figure 1.7. Diagrammatic stratigraphic column showing idealized distribution of sand and gravel lithofacies in a braided river deposit (facies labels explained below). Taken from Miall (1977). Arrows at right of column show major and minor cycles which represent main and secondary channel systems. The scale of the entire column can vary from meters to tens of meters as can the lateral extent of individual facies units.

Placer uranium and gold are found in several places in such a sequence:

- in isolated conglomerate beds at the base of fining-upwards cycles. Such conglomerates represent deposition on isolated longitudinal bars and may or may not be of economic importance.
- in thick conglomerate sequences containing many gravel-sand cycles which represent deposition of superimposed longitudinal bars in response to fluctuating flood or valley-fill conditions. Examples are the Main-Bird series of the Witwatersrand and the Matinenda ores of Blind River, Canada.
- 3. in coarse sands overlying local unconformities. Erosion of underlying units causes accumulation of residual heavy minerals on the erosion surface so this type of horizon can be economically important if the unconformity cuts placerbearing gravels or if carbonaceous material developed on the unconformity.

Facies labels: Gm - massive gravel; Sh - horizontallybedded sand; St - trough crossbedded sand; Sp - planar cross-bedded sand; Ss - scour-fill sand; Sr - ripple cross-laminated sand; Fl - laminated sand, silt, and mud.

Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company and the author.



pebble to compound zones of conglomerate ten meters or so in thickness.

(e) The most important sedimentologic feature in locating mineralized zones within the sedimentary succession is the unconformity. All mineralized zones in fossil placer deposits are related to regional or local unconformities. A simplistic model (which is often the best) might be expressed by stating that the best opportunity for development of uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerate is at the unconformity that marks the base of the first true Proterozoic-type sedimentary rocks. Major Canadian, Brazilian, Indian, Australian, and Finnish deposits lie at or near this Proterozoic-Archean nonconformity. Thus, if the Archean-Proterozoic unconformity can be located in a given area it is clearly a good exploration target. However, there are important fossil placer deposits that are not directly associated with a basal Proterozoic unconformity such as the Witwatersrand, Ghana, Wyoming, and Minas Gerais, Brazil deposits. For these, the key to exploration is to identify the local unconformities at the base of large, regressional fining-upward stratification sequences.

## 5. Lithologic characteristics

Certain lithologic characteristics seem to typify rock types that contain Precambrain uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates. These characteristics can be seen in Figure 1.8.

(a) <u>Color</u>-Fresh samples of sedimentary rocks deposited prior to 2000
 m.y. ago tend to be characterized by drab colors--gray, green,
 white, or buff-color and they generally lack pink, red, orange and



A. Vaal Reef placer from the Witwatersrand, South Africa; gold, uraninite, and rounded pyrite grains occur in the matrix of quartz- and chert-pebble conglomerate, which rests unconformably on underlying barren quartzite; note irregularity of basal contact. Average uranium content of the Vaal Reef is 500 ppm; average gold content is 15 ppm (Minter, 1976).



B. Detail of basal contact of Vaal Reef (from A) showing well-rounded granules of nodular pyrite along erosional unconformity. Fine-grained gold is concentrated within one centimeter of the basal contact and is interpreted by Minter (1976) to be a basal concentrate which lay in depressions on the unconformity surface prior to deposition of the gravels. Gold concentrations often reach 1500 ppm in the Vaal Reef (Minter, 1976).



14 percent from the Denison mine. Photograph is actual size.



gray grains are pyrite which makes up more than 85 percent of the rock.

C. Quartz- and chert-pebble conglomerate of the Matinenda Formation from the Denison mine near Elliot Lake, Ontario. Pyrite is irregularly distributed through the matrix and occurs both as well-rounded grains (1) and euhedral grains (2). Pyrite euhedra were probably formed during post-depositional recrystallization of originally detrital grains. Uranium occurs in the matrix as brannerite and uraninite; uranium ore averages

D. Well-rounded pyrite sands from a lower-energy, distal portion of the Klerksdorp fandelta, Witwatersrand, South Africa. Distal facies rocks such as this may contain appreciable uranium but are not as rich in gold as proximal facies rocks such as in A. Black layers show bedding orientation and are composed of quartz-rich sands; the light-



E. Pyritic quartz-pebble conglomerate from drill core near the Carrico Ranch, northwestern Sierra Madre, Wyoming. The pyrite in the matrix of the conglomerate is relatively fine-grained (average diameter is about 1 mm) and grains are mainly euhedral. Assays from this core are not available yet but similar drill core from the northeastern Medicine Bows yielded 885 ppm U and 1870 ppm Th. Core diameter is 6.25 cm (2.5 inches).



F. Outcrop of the guartz-pebble conglomerate shown in E (above), from the Carrico Ranch. Pyrite is nearly completely oxidized in outcrop and only boxworks of square pyrite casts are visible. Oxidation of pyrite has stained conglomerates dark red. Uranium has also been strongly leached from outcrops and Th: U values are high (about 6:1). Maximum uranium content found so far is 131 ppm U. Scale is 17.5 cm (7 inches) long.



brown coloration. This is thought to reflect the oxidation state of iron, as  $Fe_{\pm}^{+2}$ , in the low-oxygen atmosphere. This is a useful exploration tool because uranium-bearing rocks are generally stratigraphically below the oldest red colored rocks.

- (b) <u>Composition</u>--The most important lithologic types are quartz-pebble conglomerate and quartzite. Quartz-pebble conglomerates contain well-rounded quartz pebbles several centimeters in diameter in a quartz-sericite matrix. The pebbles commonly constitute 60-80 percent of the rock and are mainly quartz and chert, with minor rock fragments such as granite, quartzite, and schist. The pebbles are often, but not always, in contact, forming a pebble supported conglomerate. The matrix of the conglomerates contains quartz, sericite--which may constitute up to 25 percent of the matrix, and heavy minerals--usually less than 5-20 percent. Surrounding quartzites range from orthoquartzite to greywacke in composition but the predominant composition is subarkose.
- (c) <u>Textural maturity</u>--Although uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerate has been referred to as mature orthoquartzitic conglomerate, implying that they are composed of quartz clasts, are wellsorted, and have a mineral cement, this is not generally true. Both the conglomerate and interbedded quartzite are only moderately well-sorted (bimodal or multi-modal), sericite and other phyllosilicate minerals are commonly abundant in the matrix, and detrital grains are often poorly rounded. In fact, in Canadian deposits, it is the poorly sorted sericitic grits and associated conglomerate units that are typically radioactive and interbedded orthoquartzites and orthoquartzite conglomerates are barren. However, it is true that the matrix of mineralized conglomerates tends to be compositionally and

texturally more mature than adjacent quartzites and that clasts are well rounded and predominantly quartz and chert. In general, the sub-mature nature of mineralized conglomerates and quartzites seems to fit the fluvial model very well.

(d) <u>Sericite</u>--The association of sericite with mineralized conglomerates and quartzites is a useful exploration tool. Its presence might indicate that these sedimentary rocks contained a significant clay mineral fraction prior to diagenesis and metamorphism. Another possibility is that sericite is a primary mineral derived from a weathered granitic or granite gneiss source rock. We prefer the latter interpretation because the majority of the heavy minerals (uraninite, zircon, monazite, urano-thorite, ilmenorutile, rutile, allanite, cassiterite, magnetite (original), and ilmenite (original) were probably derived from a granitic source.

## 6. Mineralogical Characteristics

- (a) Pyrite is the principal heavy mineral in Precambrian conglomerates that contain uranium minerals, and it is not only present in the conglomerates but is a common detrital mineral in associated quartzites. In conglomerates it commonly comprises 5-20 percent of the matrix and in banded quartzites it can comprise up to 25 percent of the entire rock. Its presence or absence is a good guide to the presence or absence of uranium minerals because both required a low-oxygen atmosphere for detrital transport.
- (b) Uraninite is the most common uranium mineral. It occurs predominantly in grains about .1 mm in diameter in the matrix of conglomerates. It also occurs as minute crystals in thucholite. Other uranium minerals include brannerite, uranothorite, and coffinite.

The total uranium content of ore-grade conglomerates averages between about 1000 and 1500 ppm but uranium concentrations up to one or more percent have been reported. Also, uraninite veinlets associated with thucholite have yielded values higher than ten percent uranium.

- (c) Thorium is an important constituent of Precambrian uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates; perhaps as typical of these conglomerates as uranium. Thorium minerals include monazite, uranothorite, uranothorienite, thorite, xenotime, and others. Thørium is also present in much of the uraninite. The presence of thorium contrasts with uranium deposits of chemical origin, where thorium is largely absent, and is additional evidence for a detrital origin of the mineralization.
- (d) Gold is present only in some fossil placers. Where present, it is found in the basal part of conglomerate reefs, in banded quartzites, and in thin films along unconformity surfaces and carbon seams. The gold may be extremely fine-grained and not visible to the naked eye. In sampling for gold assays, it is extremely important to identify the unconformity surface and sample directly on or above it.
- (e) The carbonaceous material commonly referred to as thucholite is probably some form of primitive plant that occurs in mat-like beds and as clastic particles in quartzite and conglomerate. The plants that produced this organic material seem to have flourished at the same time uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerates were deposited. This organic material is difficult to identify in the field, but its presence would certainly be a good indicator of the possible presence of detrital uranium minerals.

(f) Leaching has often altered the mineralogical composition of conglomerate outcrops because uraninite and pyrite are metastable minerals in modern oxidizing environments. Depending on the duration of exposure and type of climate, these minerals may be wholly or partially leached from surface outcrops. The outcrop, however, may show evidence of the former presence of these minerals in gossan-type residues containing reddish, hydrated iron oxides and voids with distinctive crystal form. Uranium may be wholly or partially leached from such outcrops, but inasmuch as thorium is usually present in uranium-thorium minerals or as detrital thorium minerals, the outcrop will be radioactive. These oxidized outcrops usually show a very high Th/U ratio (5-15), but samples acquired from below the zone of weathering usually exhibit a much lower Th/U ratio (1-2).

### 7. Preservation and Metamorphism

The biggest and best fossil placer deposits are in greenschist or lower grade metasedimentary rocks which have never been involved in orogenic deformation. This type of sequence is obviously the best exploration target. However, uranium and gold have not been appreciably remobilized in some deposits of amphibolite grade (e.g. Brazil and possibly Wyoming). Thus, it is reasonable to explore for fossil placer uranium deposits in any Early Proterozoictype quartzite successions which are amphibolite facies or lower. Granulite facies sequences and rocks which have been intensely deformed are unlikely to contain fossil placer deposits because uranium is likely to have been remobilized. Even here, however, if the quartzites originally contained uranium, they might have been a good source for nearby epigenetic vein and unconformity uranium deposits.

## ALTERNATIVE CONCEPTS

The previous model is, as all models are, an attempt to bring together a vast body of observational data and theoretical concepts into a coherent explanation of the genesis of Precambrian fossil placers. Formulation of such a model requires a process of evaluating different, and sometimes conflicting, ideas and observations--some to be believed and others to be ignored. The result is a generalization which hopefully will be of use in uranium exploration and hopefully will not assume the role of a restrictive dogma. The basis for good science is the use of the method of multiple working hypotheses (Chamberlin, 1897) and it is particularly important for the Precambrian geologist to remain open to new interpretations and new information. With this in mind, we briefly outline some alternative genetic concepts regarding fossil placers which should be used to salt the "preferred model".

There is one important aspect of the model which could be drastically wrong--that is our generalization that uranium-bearing placers are restricted to rocks older than 2000 m.y. This generalization comes from the fact that the few well-dated uranium placers are older than 2000 m.y. and from the concepts that the Early Proterozoic atmosphere was low in oxygen and that uraninite cannot be transported in today's atmosphere but could be transported in a low-oxygen atmosphere.

In all objectivity, however, it must be admitted that the only uraniumbearing fossil placers that we know absolutely to be older than 2000 m.y. are the two big ones--Blind River-Elliot Lake and the Witwatersrand. Also, the evidence for a low oxygen atmosphere in the Early Proterozoic is based on various geochemical models and has vague similarities to a house of cards. In addition, detrital uranium minerals are not entirely confined to fluviatile sedimentary rocks older than 2000 m.y.--but are also reported from recent alluvial deposits of the Indus River, along with gold and pyrite (Darnley, 1962; Miller, 1963; Simpson and Bowles, 1977). Thus, it behooves us to ask-what situations might promote deposition and preservation of uranium minerals in sedimentary rocks younger than 2000 m.y.?

The writers are not of the opinion that glaciation was a direct control on the formation of Precambrian uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerate for reasons cited above, but chemical weathering is inhibited during glacial episodes, and a large volume of clastic material is transported, deposited, and reworked in glacial outwash or sandur deposits. These sandur deposits should be investigated in areas where uranium minerals are known to be present in a source area. Trow (1977, p. 1205) states that uranium deposits have been found in both Late Precambrian and Eocambrian deposits using a glacio-chemical model that he proposed. We cannot fully evaluate Trow's model from information presented in his abstract, but we believe that the glacial environment deserves more consideration as a favorable one for uranium deposition than it has so far received.

Another geologic situation where weathering and deposition might be rapid enough to preserve detrital uranium minerals even in an oxidizing environment is in areas where there is a production of a substantial volume of felsic and intermediate composition volcanic detritus. Reworking of volcanic debris in streams, rivers, and finally on beaches has resulted in accumulation of thick black sands that consist primarily of heavy minerals of volcanic origin, in New Zealand, for example. These black sands are composed of common heavy accessory minerals such as magnetite and ilmenite. Nevertheless, some consideration might be given to volcanic source rocks that might provide detrital uranium and thorium minerals, either in modern or fossil volcanic sedimentary successions.

Inasmuch as detrital uranium minerals appear to have been deposited in

Precambrian uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerates in braided streams or river systems and inasmuch as the only significant occurrences of uranite in a modern river (the Indus and Hunza Rivers) are in a braided river system, consideration might be given to the origin of such fluviatile systems present and past. These braided stream systems clearly develop where there is aggradation due to an overload of clastic material and they are also more common in arid climates where the water volume cannot overcome the supply of detritus. It is conceivable that the sedimentary environment is more important than it has been given credit for, and that, if available in a source area, detrital uranium minerals might be found in any fluviatile succession deposited by a braided stream or river system. In the western United States most of the chemically deposited uranium is in arkosic sandstones deposited by braided streams or rivers. Most observers have concluded that the uranium was leached from granites in adjacent highlands and/or from tuffs overlying the arkosic sandstone, but little attention was given to the possiblity that this uranium came from heavy minerals in the arkosic sandstone. In this connection it is interesting to review again the hypothesis of Simpson and Bowles (1977) who considered the uranium of the Witwatersrand to be deposited both as clastic uraninite (high thorium) and as chemical uraninite (low thorium) in an atmosphere not too different from today's. Obviously, if these gentlemen are correct, neither clastic uraninite nor chemically deposited uraninite need be confined to a specific geologic time span. Perhaps all of this is relative, and we are indeed correct in stating that clastic uraninite is more likely to be found in rocks older than 2000 m.y., but some may have been deposited in braided streams after this date. Thus we may find either clastic uraninite or chemical deposits derived from such uraninite if we have a thorough understanding of the geologic history of a given area.

There are two other aspects of our model which could be too restrictive. First, we have emphasized Early Proterozoic metasedimentary successions as the best hosts for uranium-bearing fossil placers because these are the hosts for known deposits. However, we see no reason that uraniumbearing sediments might not also be found in clastic rocks in the upper part of greenstone sequences or in other Archean supracrustal successions. Again the key may be the depositional environment and not age.

Second, we have emphasized detrital transport and placer deposition of uranium and gold so we have focused on conglomerates (and quartzites) as the most favorable host rocks. At the same time, we reviewed evidence that both uranium and gold may have been transported in solution as well. If this were true on a large scale, the explorationist should consider Early Proterozoic black shales and slates --- such as in the Wollaston Group of the Churchill Province of Canada, for low grade uranium deposits, and siltstones, mudstones, and carbonates --- such as the Transvaal Sequence of South Africa, for deposits of gold.

In conclusion, the uranium explorationist should remain open to a large range of possibilities. Uranium is commonly found in certain mineral districts, but, within these districts, it may occur in many different lithologies and in rocks of several different ages because of its high mobility. Thus, in areas of known placer deposits, the explorationist should consider the possibility that uranium may have been also chemically deposited (or redeposited) in a variety of environments and, in areas of known chemical uranium deposits, the explorationist should examine any nearby conglomerates and quartzites with the idea that low-grade uranium placers may have been one source for the uranium. Also, the explorationist should not ignore other minerals of potential economic interest when he examines fossil placer deposits.

#### REFERENCES CITED

- Abraham, E. M., 1953, Geology of parts of Long and Spragge Townships, Blind River uranium area, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Report 1953-2, 10 p., and attached map, scale, 1 inch to  $\frac{1}{4}$  mile.
- Allsopp, H. L., 1964, Rubidium-strontium ages from the Western Transvaal: Nature, London, v. 204, p. 361-363.
- Anhaeusser, C. R., 1973, The evolution of the Early Precambrian crust of southern Africa: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. A-273, p. 359-388.
- Anhaeusser, C. R., Mason, R., Viljoen, M.J., and Viljoen, R. P., 1969, A reappraisal of some aspects of Precambrian shield geology: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 80, p. 2175-2200.
- Antrobus, E. S. A., 1956, The origin of the auriferous reefs of the Witwatersrand System: Geological Society of South Africa, Transactions, v. 59, p. 1-22.
- Armstrong, G. C., 1968, Sedimentological control of gold mineralization in the Kimberley Reefs of the East Rand Goldfield: University of Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit, Information Circular, no. 47, 24 p.
- Ballot, J., 1888, The Banket Formation: its probable origin and present position: Mendelssohn and Scott (Publishers), <u>in</u> Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 3, p. 147.
- Bateman, J. D., 1955, Recent uranium developments in Ontario: Economic Geology, v. 50, p. 361-370.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958, Uranium-bearing auriferous reefs at Jacobina, Brazil: Economic Geology, v. 53, p. 417-425.
- Bell, R. T., 1970b, The Hurwitz Group--a prototype for deposition on metastable cratons: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 70-40, p. 159-168.
- Berkner, L. V., and Marshall, L. C., 1965, On the origin and rise of oxygen concentration in the earth's atmosphere: Journal of Atmospheric Science, v. 22, p. 225-261.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967, The rise of oxygen in the earth's atmosphere with notes on the Martian atmosphere: Advances in Geophysics, v. 12, p. 309-331, Academic Press, N.Y., N.Y.
- Birch, F., 1965, Speculations on the earth's thermal history: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 76, p. 133-154.
- Blackwelder, E., 1926, Precambrian geology of the Medicine Bow Mountains: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 37, p. 615-658.

- Bliss, N. W., and Stidolph, P. A., 1969, A review of the Rhodesian basement complex: Transactions Geological Society South Africa, Special Publication no. 2, p. 305-333.
- Bowie, S. H., 1970, Some geological concepts for consideration in the search for uranium provinces and major uranium deposits, in Uranium exploration geology: International Atomic Energy Agency Panel Proceedings, p. 235-266 (I.A.E.A. - Pl. 391/27).
- Brock, B. B., and Pretorius, D. A., 1964a, An introduction to the stratigraphy and structure of the Rand goldfield, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 25-62.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964b, Rand basin sedimentation and tectonics, <u>in</u> Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. l, p. 549-599.
- Brown, H., 1952, Rare gases and the formation of the earth's atmosphere, in
  G. P. Kuiper, ed., The atmospheres of the earth and planets: Chicago
  University Press, p. 258-266.
- Burger, A. J., Nicolaysen, L. O., and de Villiers, J. W. L., 1962, Lead isotope compositions of galenas from the Witwatersrand and Orange Free State and their relation to the Witwatersrand and Dominion Reef uraninites: Geochimica Cosmochimica Acta, v. 26, p. 25-29.
- Burke, K., and Dewey, J. F., 1973, An outline of Precambrian plate development, <u>in</u> Tarling and Runcorn, eds., Implications of continental drift to the earth sciences: London, Academic Press, v. 2, p. 1035-1045.
- Cassyhap, S. M., 1969, Petrology of the Bruce and Gowganda Formations and its bearing on the evolution of Huronian sedimentation in the Espanola-Willisville area, Ontario, Canada: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 6, p. 5-36.
- Chamberlin, T. C., 1897, The method of multiple working hypotheses: Journal of Geology, v. 5, p. 837-848.
- Cloud, P., 1968, Atmospheric and hydrospheric evolution on the primitive earth: Science, v. 160, p. 729-736.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1972, A working model of the primitive earth: American Journal of Science, v. 272, p. 537-548.
- Collerson, K. D., Jesseau, C. W., and Bridgwater, D., 1976, Crustal development of the Archean gneiss complex, eastern Labrador, in B.F. Windley, ed., The early history of the earth: London, John Wiley, p. 237-253.
- Collins, W. H., 1925, North shore of Lake Huron: Geological Survey of Canada, Memoir 143, 160 p., Accompanied by Maps 1969, 1970, and 1971, scale 1 inch to 2 miles.
- Cooper, R. A., 1924, Mineral constituents of Rand concentrates: Journal of Chemical, Metallurgic and Mineral Society of South Africa, v. 24, p. 90-95.
- Cox, D. P., 1967, Regional environment of the Jacobina auriferous conglomerate, Brazil: Economic Geology, v. 62, p. 773-780.
- Darnley, A. G., 1962, Detrital uraninite from the Hunza River, Kashmir, Age determination report no. 22: Geological Survey of Great Britain, Atomic Energy Division (unpublished).
- Davidson, C. F., 1953, Gold-uranium ores of the Transvaal: Rhodesian Mining Journal, v. 25, p. 285-289; no. 317, p. 319-323; no. 318, p. 349-353. Mining Magazine, London, v. 88, p. 73-85.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1955, The mineralisation of the Witwatersrand: Mining Magazine, London, v. 92, p. 152-156.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957, On the occurrence of uranium in ancient conglomerates: Economic Geology, v. 52, p. 668-693.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1960a, The present state of the Witwatersrand controversy: Mining Magazine, v. 102, p. 84-95, 149-159, 222-229.
- \_\_\_\_, 1961, The Witwatersrand controversy: Mining Magazine, London, v. 105, p. 88~90.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1962, On the Witwatersrand metallogeny: Mining Magazine, London, v. 107, p. 158-160.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964, Uniformitarianism and ore genesis: Mining Journal, v. 262, p. 176-177, 179, 181, 183, 185, 244-245, 247, 249, 251, 253.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965a, The mode of origin in banket orebodies: Transactions Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 74, p. 319-337.
- Davidson, C. F., and Bowie, S. R. U., 1951, On thucholite and related hydrocarbon-uraninite complexes: Geological Survey of Great Britain, Bulletin, v. 3, p. 1-19.
- De Launay, 1896, Sur la mode de formation des minerais auriferes du Witwatersrand (Transvaal): Compte Rendue Academy Science, Paris, v. 122, p. 343-346; Neues Jahrbuch fur Mineralogie, 1897, v. 1, p. 296.
- Derry, D. R., 1960, Evidence of the origin of the Blind River uranium deposits: Economic Geology, v. 55, p. 906-927.
- Dimroth, E., 1975, Paleo-environment of iron-rich sedimentary rocks: Geologische Rundschau, v. 64, p. 751-767.
- Drever, J. I., 1974, Geochemical model for the origin of Precambrian banded iron formations: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 85, p. 1099-1106.

Du Toit, A. L., 1926, Geology of South Africa: Oliver and Boyd, London.

Ellsworth, H. V., 1928, Thucholite and uraninite from the Wallingford Mine, near Buckingham, Quebec: American Mineralogist, v. 13, p. 442-448.

- Eugster, H., 1969, Inorganic cherts from the Magadi area, Kenya: Contributions Mineralogy and Petrology, v. 22, p. 1-31.
- Feather, C. E., and Koen, G. M., 1975, The mineralogy of the Witwatersrand reefs: Mineral Science and Engineering, v. 7, p. 189-224.
- Ferris, C. S., and Rudd, C. O., 1971, Brannerite: Its occurrences and recognition by microprobe: Colorado School of Mines Quarterly, v. 66, 35 p.
- Fisher, D. E., 1976, Rare gas clues to the origin of the terrestrial atmosphere, in Windley, B. F., ed., The early history of the earth: New York, John Wiley, p. 547-558.
- Fisher, M. S., 1939, Notes on the gold, pyrite and carbon in the Rand Banket: Bulletin Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London, no. 414, p. 1-36.
- Flint, R. F., 1971, Glacial and Quarternary geology: New York, John Wiley, 892 p.
- Frarey, M. J., and Roscoe, S. M., 1970, The Huronian Supergroup north of Lake Huron, in Baer, A. J., Symposium on basins and geosynclines of the Canadian Shield, Geological Survey of Canada Paper 70-40, p. 143-157.
- Garrels, R. M., and Christ, C. L., 1965, Solutions, Minerals, and Equilibria: New York, Harper and Row, 450 p.
- Glikson, A. Y., 1976, Stratigraphy and evolution of primary and secondary greenstones: significance of data from shields of the southern hemisphere, in Windley, B. F., ed., The early history of the earth: New York, John Wiley, p. 257-277.
- Glikson, A. Y., and Lambert, I. B., 1976, Vertical zonation and petrogenesis of the early Precambrian crust in western Australia: Tectonophysics, v. 30, p. 55-89.
- Goldich, S. S., and Hedge, C. E., 1974, 3800 myr granitic gneisses in southwestern Minnesota: Nature, v. 252, p. 467-468.
- Goodwin, A. M., 1973, Plate tectonics and evolution of Precambrian crust, in Tarling and Runcorn, eds., Implications of continental drift to the earth sciences: London, Academic Press, v. 2, p. 1047-1069.
- Govett, G. J. S., 1966, Origin of banded iron formation: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 77, p. 1191-1212.
- Graton, L. C., 1930, Hydrothermal origin of the Rand gold deposits: Economic Geology, v. 25, supplement to no. 3, 185 p.
- Gross, W. H., 1968, Evidence for a modified placer origin for auriferous conglomerates, Canavierras Mine, Jacobina, Brazil: Economic Geology, v. 63, p. 271-276.
- Hales, A. L., 1960, Research at the Bernard Price Institute of Geophysical Research, University of Witwatersrand: Proceedings Royal Society of London, v. A258, p. 1-26.
- Hallbauer, D. K., 1974, Gold and other heavy minerals in reefs: Research Review, Chamber of Mines of South Africa, p. 48-53.

- Hallbauer, D. K., 1975, The plant origin of the Witwatersrand carbon: Minerals Science Engineering, v. 7, p. 111-131.
- Hallbauer, D. K., and Utter, T., 1976, Geochemical and morphological characteristics of gold particles from recent river deposits and the fossil placers of the Witwatersrand: Research Report, Chamber of Mines of South Africa, no. 73/76, 18 p.
- Hanks T., and Anderson, D., 1969, The early thermal history of the earth: Physics Earth Planetary Interiors, v. 2, p. 19-29.
- Harland, W. B., 1964, Critical evidence for a great Infra-Cambrian glaciation: Geologische Rundschau, v. 54, p. 45-61.
- Hatch, F. H., and Corstorphine, G. S., 1904, The petrolography of the Witwatersrand conglomerates with special reference to the origin of the gold: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 140-145.
- Heier, K. S., 1973, Geochemistry of granulite facies rocks and problems of their origin: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. A273, p. 429-442.
- Heinrich, E. W., 1958, Witwatersrand, Union of South Africa, <u>in</u> Mineralogy and geology of radioactive raw materials: New York, McGraw-Hill, p. 319-324.
- Hills, F. A., 1977, Uranium and thorium in the Middle Precambrian Estes Conglomerate, Nemo district, Lawrence County, South Dakota -- a preliminary report: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-55, 27 p.
- Holland, H. D., 1962, Model for the evolution of the earth's atmosphere, in Petrologic studies: a volume to honor A. F. Buddington: Geological Society of America memoir p. 447-477.
- Holmes, S. W., 1957b, Pronto Mine, in Structural geology of Canadian ore deposits, Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy: Special v. 2, p. 324-339.
- Hostetler, P. B., and Garrels, R. M., 1962, Transportation and precipitation of uranium and vanadium at low temperatures, with special reference to sandstone type uranium deposits: Economic Geology, v. 57, p. 137-167.
- Houston, R. S., Graff, P. J., Karlstrom, K. E., and Root, F. K., 1977, Preliminary report on radioactive conglomerate of Middle Precambrian age in the Sierra Madre and Medicine Bow Mountains of southeastern Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 77-584, 31 p.
- Horwood, C. B., 1917, The gold deposits of the Rand: London, Charles Griffin and Co.
- Hunter, D. R., 1970, The ancient gneiss complex in Swaziland: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 73, p. 107-150.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1974, Crustal development in the Kaapvaal Craton: Precambrian Research, v. 1, p. 259-326.

International Union of Geologic Sciences Working Group, Montreal Geological Society of America meeting, J. E. Harrison, personal communication (1978).

- James, H. L., 1966, Chemistry of iron-rich sedimentary rocks: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 440.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Comparison between Red Sea deposits and older ironstone and iron formation, <u>in</u> Degens, E. T., and Ross, D. A., eds., Hot brines and recent heavy metal deposits in the Red Sea: New York, Springer, p. 525-532.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1978, Subdivision of the Precambrian--a brief review and a report on recent decisions of the subcommission on Precambrian stratigraphy: Precambrian Research, v. 7, p. 193-204.
- Joubin, F. R., 1960, Comments regarding the Blind River (Algoma) uranium ores and their origin: Economic Geology, v. 55, p. 1751-1756.
- Joubin, F. R., and James, D. H., 1957, Algoma uranium district, in Structural geology of Canadian ore deposits: Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy special volume no. 2, p. 305-317.
- Junge, C., Schidlowski, M., Eichmann, R., and Pietrek, H., 1975, Model calculations for the terrestrial carbon cycle: carbon isotope geochemistry and evolution of photosynthetic oxygen: Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 80, p. 4542-4552.
- Karlstrom, K. E., 1977, Geology of the Deep Lake Group, central Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Wyoming, 116 p.
- Knowles, A. G., 1966, A paleocurrent study of the Ventersdorp Contact reef at Western Deep Levels Limited on the Far West Rand: unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Witwatersrand, 125 p.
- Koen, G. M., 1961, The genetic significance of the size distribution of uraninite in Witwatersrand bankets: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 64, p. 23-54.
- Koppel, H., and Saager, R., 1974, Lead isotope evidence on the detrital origin of the Witwatersrand pyrites and its bearing on the provenance of the Witwatersrand gold: Economic Geology, v. 69, p. 318-331.
- Krauskopf, K. B., 1967, Introduction to geochemistry: New York, McGraw-Hill, 721 p.
- Lambert, R., 1976, Archean thermal regimes, crustal and upper mantle temperatures, and a progressive evolutionary model for the earth, in B. F. Windley, ed., The early history of the earth: New York, John Wiley, p. 363-387.
- Langmuir, D., 1978, Uranium solution-mineral equilibria at low temperatures with applications to sedimentary ore deposits: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 42, p. 547-570.

- Liebenberg, W. L., 1973, Mineralogical features of gold ores in South Africa, in R. J. Adamson, ed., Gold metallurgy in South Africa: Chamber of Mines of South Africa, Johannesburg, p. 352-446.
- Liebenberg, W. R., 1955, The occurrence and origin of gold and radioactive minerals in the Witwatersrand System, the Dominion Reef, the Ventersdorp Contact Reef and the Black Reef: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 58, p. 101-223.
- Lindgren, W., 1933, Mineral deposits, 4th edition: New York, McGraw-Hill, 930 p.
- Lindsey, D. A., 1966, Sediment transport in a Precambrian ice age: The Huronian Gowganda Formation: Science, v. 154, p. 1442-1443.
- Ling Ong, H., and Swanson, V. E., 1969, Natural organic acids in the transportation, deposition, and concentration of gold: Colorado School of Mines Quarterly, v. 64, p. 395-425.
- McCall, G. J. H., 1977, ed., The Archean--search for the beginning: Dowden, Hutchinson and Ross, Stroudsburg, Penn., 505 p.
- McDowell, J. P., 1957, The sedimentary petrology of the Mississagi Quartzite in the Blind River area: Ontario Department of Mines, GC6, 31 p., Accompanied by 3 figures.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1963, A paleocurrent study of the Mississagi Quartzite along the north shore of Lake Huron: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, The Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland.
- Maclaren, J. M., 1908, Gold: Its geological occurrence and geographical distribution: London, The Mining Journal, p. 95-98.
- McGregor, V. R., 1973, The early Precambrian gneisses of the Godthaab district, West Greenland: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. A273, p. 343-358.
- Mason, R. G., 1973, The Limpopo mobile belt, southern Africa: Philosophical Transactions Royal Soicety of London, v. A273, p. 463-486.
- Mellor, E. T., 1915c, The East Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 18, p. 57-71.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1916, The conglomerates of the Witwatersrand: Transactions Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 25, p. 226-348, Journal South Africa Chemical Society, v. 16, p. 144-180.

- Miall, A. D., 1977, A review of the braided-river depositional environment: Earth Science Reviews, v. 13, p. 1-62.
- Miller, J. M., 1963, Uraninite-bearing placer deposits in the Indus alluvium near Hazro, Pakistan: Report no. 254, Geological Survey of Great Britain, Atomic Energy Division (unpublished).
- Minter, W. E. L., 1972, The sedimentology of the Vaal Reef in the Klerksdorp area: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg.

- Minter, W. E. L., 1976, Detrital gold, uranium, and pyrite concentrations related to sedimentology in the Precambrian Vaal Reef placer, Witwatersrand, South Africa: Economic Geology, v. 71, p. 157-176.
- Moorbath, S., 1975, The geological significance of early Precambrian rocks: Proceedings Geological Association, v. 86, p. 259-279.
- Moorbath, S., and Pankhurst, R. J., 1976, Further rubidium-strontium age and isotope evidence for the nature of the late Archean plutonic event in West Greenland: Nature, v. 262, p. 124-125.
- Nel, L. T., 1927, The geology of the country around Vredefort: Special Publication Geological Survey South Africa, no. 6.
- Nicolaysen, L. O., Burger, A. J., and Liebenberg, W. R., 1962, Evidence for the extreme age of certain minerals from the Dominion Reef conglomerates and underlying granite in the western Transvaal: Geochimica Cosmochimica Acta, v. 26, p. 15-23.
- Nininger, R. D., 1974, The world uranium supply challenge--an appraisal, <u>in</u> Formation of uranium ore deposits: International Atomic Energy Agency symposium, Vienna.
- Patchett, J., 1960, A study of radioactive minerals of the uraniferous conglomerate, Blind River area: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Toronto, Ontario.
- Pienaar, P. J., 1958, Stratigraphy, petrography and genesis of the Elliot Group including the uraniferous conglomerates, Quirke Lake syncline, Blind River area: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Queens University, Ontario.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1963, Stratigraphy, petrology and genesis of the Elliot Group, Blind River, Ontario, including the uraniferous conglomerate: Geological Survey of Canada Bulletin 83, 143 p.
- Piper, J. D. A., 1973, Latitudinal extent of late Precambrian glaciations: Nature, v. 244, p. 342-344.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976a, Definition of pre-2000 m.y. apparent polar movements: Earth Planetary Science Letters, v. 28, p. 470-478.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976b, Paleomagnetic evidence for a Proterozoic supercontinent: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. A280, p. 469-490.
- Pretorius, D. A., 1964a, The geology of the central Rand goldfield, in Haughton, S. H., ed., Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 63-108.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966b, Conceptual geological models in the exploration for gold mineralization in the Witwatersrand Basin, in Symposium on mathematical statistics and computer application in ore valuation, Johannesburg: South Africa Institute Mining and Metallurgy, 1966, p. 225-275.

- Pretorius, D. A., 1974, The nature of the Witwatersrand gold-uranium deposits: Economic Geology Research Unit Information Circular no. 86, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, 50 p.
- , 1975a, The depositional environment of the Witwatersrand gold fields: a chronological review of speculations and observations: Mineral Science and Engineering, v. 7, p. 18-47.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976a, Gold in the Proterozoic sediments of South Africa: systems, paradigms, and models, <u>in</u> Wolf, K. H., ed., Handbook of strata-bound and stratiform ore deposits: New York, Elsevier Publishing Co., v. 7, p. 1-29.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976b, The nature of the Witwatersrand gold-uranium deposits, <u>in</u> Wolf, K. H., ed., Handbook of strata-bound and stratiform ore deposits: New York, Elsevier Publishing Co., v. 7, p. 29-88.
- Radhakrishna, B. P., 1975, The two greenstone groups in the Dharwar craton: Indian Mineralogist, v. 16, p. 12-15.
- Radhakrishna, B. P., and Vasudev, V. N., 1977, The early Precambrian of the southern Indian Shield: Journal Geological Society of India, v. 18, no. 10, p. 525-541.
- Ramakrishnan, M., Viswanatha, M. N., and Swami Nath, J., 1976, Basementcover relationships of peninsular gneiss with high grade schists and greenstone belts of southern Karnataka: Journal Geological Society of India, v. 17, p. 97-111.
- Ramdohr, P., 1957, Die "Pronto-Reaktion": Neues Jahrbuch fur Mineralogie, Monatshefte, p. 217-222.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958b, Uber das vorkommen von uranin alten konglomeraten: Geologie (Berlin), Jahrgang 7, p. 965-968.
- Rankama, Kalervo, ed., 1963, The Precambrian, volume 1: New York, Interscience, 279 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, ed., 1965, The Precambrian, volume 2: New York, Interscience, 454 p.
- , ed., 1967, The Precambrian, volume 3: New York, Interscience, 325 p.
- , ed., 1970, The Precambrian, volume 4: New York, Interscience, 288 p.
- Reinecke, L., 1927, The location of payable ore-bodies in the gold-bearing reefs of the Witwatersrand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 30, p. 89-120.
- Richards, G. M., 1972, Proterozoic uraniferous conglomerates, Pilbara, W. Australia: Geological Society of Australia Special Groups Meeting (abst.).
- Ridge, J. D., 1972, Annotated bibliographies of mineral deposits in the western hemisphere: Geological Society of America Memoir no. 131, p. 588-590.

- Rittenhouse, G., 1943, Transportation and deposition of heavy minerals: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 54, p. 1725-1780.
- Roberts, E. R., and Kransdorff, D., 1938, The upper Witwatersrand System at Randfontein Estates: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 41, p. 225-248.
- Robertson, D. S., 1962a, Thorium and uranium variations in the Blind River ores: Economic Geology, v. 57, p. 1175-1184.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1962b, Thorium and uranium variations in the Blind River camp: Canadian Mining Journal, p. 58-65.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974a, Basal Proterozoic units as fossil time markers and their use in uranium prospection: International Atomic Energy Agency Symposium on the formation of uranium ore deposits, Athens, May 6-10, 1974.
- Robertson, J. A., 1960, Geology of part of the Blind River area, Ontario: unpublished M.Sc. thesis; Queen's University, Kingston, Ontario.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968b, Uranium and thorium deposits of northern Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines MRC9, 106 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969b, Geology and uranium deposits of the Blind River area, Ontario: Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Bulletin, v. 62, June 1969, p. 619-634.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976b, The Blind River uranium deposits: the ores and their setting: Ontario Division of Mines, MP65, 45 p.
- Robertson, J. A., and Card, K. D., 1972, Geology and scenery north shore of Lake Huron region: Ontario Department of Mines Geologic Guide Book no. 4, 224 p.
- Rogers, A. W., 1922, The geology of the country around Heidelberg. Explanation of geologic map: Special Publication Geological Survey of South Africa, v. 4.
- Ronov, A. B., 1964, Common tendencies in the chemical evolution of the earth's crust, ocean, and atmosphere: Geochemical Institute, v. 1, p. 713-737.
- Roscoe, S. M., 1957a, Geology and uranium deposits, Quirke Lake Elliot Lake, Blind River, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 56-7.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1959a, On thorium-uranium ratios in conglomerates and associated rocks near Blind River, Ontario: Economic Geology, v. 54, no. 3.

- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Huronian rocks and uraniferous conglomerates in the Canadian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 68-40, 205 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, The Huronian Supergroup, a Paleoaphebian succession showing evidence of atmospheric evolution, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 31-48.

- Roscoe, S. M., and Steacy, H. R., 1958, On the geology and radioactive deposits of the Blind River region: Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd., Chalk River, Ontario, Atomic Conference, 15/P/222, 19 p., A.E.C.L.-632, September 1958.
- Rubey, W. W., 1951, Geologic history of sea water: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 62, p. 1111-1148.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1955, Development of the hydrosphere and atmosphere, with special reference to probable composition of the early atmosphere: Geological Society of America Special Paper no. 62, p. 631-650.
- Rundle, C. C., and Snelling, N. J., 1977, The geochronology of uraniferous minerals in the Witwatersrand Triad; an interpretation of new and existing U-Pb age data on rocks and minerals from the Dominion Reef, Witwatersrand, and Ventersdorp Supergroups: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. 286, p. 567-583.
- Rutten, M. G., 1964, Geologic data on atmospheric history: Paleogeography, Paleoclimatology, Paleoecology, v. 2, p. 47-57.
- Rye, D. M., and Roy, R. F., 1978, The distribution of thorium, uranium, and potassium in Archean granites from northeastern Minnesota: American Journal of Science, v. 278, p. 354-378.
- Saager, R., 1970, Structures in pyrite from the Basal Reef in the Orange Free State goldfield: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 73, pt. 1, p. 29-46.
- Saager, R., and Esselaar, P. A., 1969, Factor analysis of geochemical data from the Basal Reef, Orange Free State goldfield, South Africa: Economic Geology, v. 64, p. 445-451.
- Salop, L. J., 1977, Precambrian of the northern hemisphere: New York, Elsevier, 378 p.
- Schidlowski, M., 1968, The gold fraction of the Witwatersrand conglomerates from the Orange Free State goldfield (South Africa): Mineralium Deposita, v. 3, p. 344-363.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971, Probleme der atmosphärischen Evolution im Präkambrium: Geologische Rundschau, v. 60, p. 1351-1384.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Archean atmosphere and evolution of the terrestrial oxygen budget, <u>in</u> B. F. Windley, ed., The Early History of the Earth: New York, John Wiley, p. 525-535.
- Schopf, J. W., 1975, Precambrian paleobiology: problems and perspectives: Annual Review Earth Planetary Science, v. 3, p. 212-249.
- Schopf, J. W., Oehler, D. Z., Horodyski, R. J., and Kvenvolden, K. A., 1971, Biogenecity and significance of the oldest known stromatolites: Journal of Paleontology, v. 45, p. 477-485.

- Sharpe, J. W. N., 1949, The economic auriferous bankets of the upper Witwatersrand beds and their relationship to sedimentation features: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 68, p. 225-235.
- Simpson, P. R., and Bowles, J. F. W., 1977, Uranium mineralization of the Witwatersrand and Dominion Reef Systems: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. 286, p. 527-548.
- Smith, E. E. N., 1974, Review of current concepts regarding vein deposits of uranium, in Formation of uranium ore deposits: symposium, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna.
- Stanton, R. L., 1972, Ore petrology: New York, John Wiley, p. 564-577.
- Steyn, L. S., 1963, The sedimentology and gold distribution pattern of the Livingstone Reefs on the West Rand: unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Witwatersrand, 132 p.
- Stuckless, J. S., 1978, U, Th, and K concentration in three Precambrian granites from Wyoming: implications for uranium geology (abst.), in Lageson, D. R., ed., Occurrences of uranium in Precambrian and younger rocks of Wyoming and adjacent areas: Geological Survey of Wyoming, public information circular no. 7, p. 29-30.
- Sutton, J., 1973, Stages in the evolution of the granitic crust: Special Publication Geological Society of South Africa, v. 3, p. 1-6.
- Sutton, J., and Windley, B. F., eds., 1973, A discussion on the evolution of the Precambrian crust: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. A273, 581 p.
- Symons, D. T. A., and O'Leary, R. J., 1978, Huronian polar wander and paleomagnetism of the Thessalon volcanics: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 15, p. 1141-1150.
- Tarney, J., 1976, Geochemistry of Archean high-grade gneisses with implications as to the origin and evolution of the Precambrian crust, in B. F. Windley, ed., The Early History of the Earth: New York, John Wiley, p. 405-417.
- Trendall, A. F., 1973, Iron formations of the Hamersley Group of western Australia: type examples of varved Precambrian evaporites, <u>in</u> Genesis of Precambrian iron and manganese deposits: Proceedings Kiev Symposium, 1970, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, Paris, p. 257-270.
- Trow, J., 1977, Uraniferous quartz-pebble conglomerates and their chemical relation to CO<sub>2</sub>-deficient atmospheres synchronous with glaciations of almost any age (abst.): Geological Society of America abstract with programs, v. 9, p. 1205-1206.
- Van Niekerk, C. B., and Burger, A. J., 1964, The age of the Ventersdorp System: Annual Geological Survey of South Africa, v 3, p. 75-86.

- Veizer, J., 1976, Evolution of ores of sedimentary affiliation through geologic history; relations to the general tendencies in evolution of the crust, hydrosphere, atmosphere, and biosphere, in K. H. Wolf, ed., Handbook of strata-bound and stratiform ore deposits: New York, Elsevier, v. 3, p. 1-92.
- Viljoen, R. P., 1963, Petrographic and mineragraphic aspects of the Main Reef and Main Reef leader of the Main-Bird Series, Witwatersrand: unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, 193 p.
- Viljoen, M. J., and Viljoen, R. P., 1969, A collection of 9 papers on many aspects of the Barbarton granite-greenstone belt, South Africa: Geological Society of South Africa Special Publication no. 2, 295 p.
- Viswanatha, M. N., Ramakushnan, M., Chayapathi, N., Seshadri, T. S., Devudu, G. R., and others, 1977, Geology of the greenstone-granite terrain of Karnataka craton, south India: International Geological Correlation Program Project no. 92, excursion guide.
- Walker, J. C. G., 1976, Implications for atmospheric evolution of the inhomogeneous accretion model of the origin of the earth, in B. F. Windley, ed., The early history of the earth: New York, John Wiley, p. 535-546.
- White, M. G., 1956, Uranium in the Serra de Jacobina, state of Bahia, Brazil: Ist United Nations International Conference on Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy (Geneva) Program, v. 6 p. 140-142.
- , 1957b, Uranium in the auriferous conglomerates at the Canavieiras gold mine, state of Bahia, Brazil: Engenharia, Mineracao e Metalurgia (Rio de Janeiro), v. 26, no. 155, p. 279-282.
- , 1961, Origin of uranium and gold in the quartzite-conglomerate of the Serra de Jacobina, Brazil: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 424-B, p. B8-B9.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964, Uranium at Morro do Vento, Serra de Jacobina, Brazil: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 1185-A, p. Al-A18.
- Whiteside, H. C. M., 1970b, Uranium exploration geology: Proceedings panel, Vienna, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, p. 49-74.
- Whiteside, H. C. M., Glasspool, K. R., Hiemstra, S. A., Pretorius, D. A., and Antrobus, E. S. A., 1976, Gold in the Witwatersrand Triad, in C. B. Coetzee, ed., Mineral resources of the Republic of South Africa: Geological Survey of South Africa, p. 39-74.
- Wiebols, J. H., 1955, A suggested glacial origin for the Witwatersrand conglomerates: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 58, p. 367.
- Windley, B. F., 1973, Crustal development in the Precambrian: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. A273, p. 321-341.
- , ed., 1976, The early history of the earth: New York, John Wiley, 619 p.
  - \_\_\_\_, 1977, The evolving continents: New York, John Wiley, 385 p.

- Windley, B. F., and Bridgwater, D., 1971, The evolution of Archean low- and high-grade terrains: Geological Society of Australia Special Publication no. 3, p. 33-46.
- Winter, H. D., 1965, Trough cross-stratification in the upper division of the Witwatersrand system at Hartebeesfontein Mine, Klerksdorp: unpublished report Economic Geology Research Unit, University of Witwatersrand, 88 p.
- Young, G. M., 1970a, An extensive Early Proterozoic glaciation in North America?: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 7, p. 85-101.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973c, Tillites and aluminous quartzites as possible time markers for Middle Precambrian (Aphebian) rocks of North America: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 97-127.
- Young, R. B., 1911, The problem of the Rand banket: Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 14, p. 22-29.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1917, The banket of the South African goldfields: Gurney and Jackson, London.

# PART II. SUMMARIES OF KNOWN AND POTENTIAL OCCURRENCES OF URANIFEROUS AND AURIFEROUS QUARTZ-PEBBLE CONGLOMERATES

## CANADIAN SHIELD

## HURONIAN SUPERGROUP

## Geologic Setting

The Huronian Supergroup is a sequence of low-grade metasedimentary rocks which crops out in the Southern Province of the Canadian Shield (Card and others, 1972), in a belt which extends from Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario to Noranda, Quebec. These rocks are bounded on the north by the Archean Superior Province, on the east by higher-grade metamorphic rocks of the Grenville Province, and on the south by onlapping, undeformed Paleozoic sedimentary rocks (Figure 2.1).

The Superior Province formed the basement on which the Huronian Supergroup was deposited and is composed of Keewatin-type greenstone belts surrounded by intrusive granites. Greenstone belts occur in the east-west trending arcuate belts and contain basic volcanics, felsic volcanics, and volcaniclastic sedimentary rocks. The greenstone belts were deposited between 2950 and 2750 m.y. ago (Krogh and Davis, 1972) and were metamorphosed to greenschist facies during the Kenoran orogeny -- 2500 m.y. ago. Algoman granites were also emplaced during the Kenoran orogeny. After the Kenoran orogeny, basic dikes were emplaced into the newly stablized craton, then the craton was subjected to uplift accompanied by prolonged weathering and erosion. This period of erosion resulted in the formation of a regolith which is now preserved beneath outcrops of the basal Huronian Supergroup and it created many topographic irregularities which were important in localizing heavy minerals during deposition of the first sediments. The age of the Huronian Supergroup is bracketed between 2500 m.y. -the age of Algoman granites which form the basement for the sediments (Van Schmus, 1965; Wanless and others, 1965) and 2160 m.y. -- the age of the Nipissing Diabase which intrudes the sediments (Van Schmus, 1965; Fairbairn and others, 1969). In addition, a date of about 2400 m.y. was obtained from volcanics below the Matinenda Formation (Fairbairn, 1965; Fairbairn and others, 1969) and a date of 2288 was obtained from the Gowganda Formation (Fairbairn and others, 1969). Thus, the time of deposition of the Huronian Supergroup is firmly established as earliest Proterozoic 2500 -2150 m.y. Roscoe (1973) believed that deposition took place in the early part of this interval (2450 - 2250) whereas Van Schmus (1976) believed that deposition was slightly later (2400 - 2150).

### Distribution and Structure

Metasedimentary rocks of the Huronian Supergroup crop out in a 440 km long belt which contains three segments, shown in Figure 2.2. The western segment extends from Sault Ste. Marie to the Elliot Lake Area. In the western part of this segment the Huronian rocks form a block faulted, south-dipping homoclinal succession and in the eastern part, they are folded into two broad, open folds: the Chiblow anticline and the Quirke syncline (Roscoe, 1969). The central segment extends from the Pronto Mine to Wanapitei Lake. This segment is more tightly folded than the western segment and has numerous folds with steeply dipping and overturned limbs. The northeastern segment extends from Lake Wanapitei to Noranda and is referred to as the Cobalt Embayment (Douglas, 1974). This is the largest of the three segments and contains northerly trending folds with dips less than 25 degrees (Roscoe, 1969).

Age



Economic concentrations of uranium occur in conglomerates of the lower Huronian Supergroup in the western and central segments, near Pronto mine, Elliot Lake, Quirke Lake, and Agnew Lake (Figure 2.2). There are also some radioactive conglomerates in the Cobalt Embayment but these are in the upper Huronian Supergroup and are not of economic importance.

Major east-west trending reverse faults are found in the western and central segments. The most important are the Murray and Flack Lake Faults (Figure 2.2) which are located in sedimentary hinge zones characterized by rapid facies changes (Robertson, 1976). These faults now form the boundaries of the area which contains economically important uranium deposits. Roscoe (1969) considered these faults to be reactivated older (Archean) normal faults on which reverse movement took place during folding of the Huronian Supergroup. He suggested that the faults may have been active during deposition of the Huronian Supergroup and that syn-depositional tectonic movements may have influenced thickness and facies changes in the Huronian Supergroup. He also suggested that volcanic extrusions along the Murray Fault may have obstructed drainage of the sedimentary platform to the north and could have been important in localizing deposition of uraniferous conglomerates in areas north of the fault.

### Archean Regolith

The Huronian Supergroup was deposited nonconformably on an eroded Archean granite-greenstone terrain. In Canada it is possible to study exposures of Archean rocks that are believed to represent the weathered surface upon which the Proterozoic sedimentary rocks were deposited. Contacts between Archean and Proterozoic rocks have been studied as well as Archean rock surfaces where Proterozoic rocks have been removed locally. These contacts and surfaces were recognized as paleosol by Collins (1925) and they



Figure 2.2. Distribution and structure of Huronian rocks. Taken from Roscoe (1969, p. 14). From Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 68-40, Figure 1.

have subsequently been studied and interpreted in the same manner by Roscoe (1957), McDowell (1957), Pienaar (1963) and Robertson (1961, 1966). Roscoe (1969, p. 70-71) gives an excellent description of one of these paleosols, as follows: "granitic rock, for example a pink biotite, granite, grades upward into a white rock with recognizable granitic texture, but containing highly altered mafic minerals and plagioclase almost entirely altered to sericite. Inclusions of unaltered rocks are found in the white-altered granitic material. Higher in the section the granitic texture disappears, microcline is partly replaced by sericite that commonly divides individual grains into fragments. The quartz grains remain similar in shape and size to those in the original granite. The ultimate development is a greenish rock containing quartz grains and relatively few, smaller, irregular grains of microcline 'floating' in a structureless mass of sericite (mica-illite)." Roscoe further states that small grains of hematite, magnetite, pyrite, rutile, zircon, monazite, thorogummite, garnet, and amphibole have been recognized in samples of the granitic saprolite. This ancient soil is similar texturally to that observed today where granites have been weathered except that clay minerals take the place of mica-illite which is undoubtedly a metamorphic mineral.

There are, however, some important differences in chemistry between this Archean soil and modern ones developed on granite. According to Roscoe (1969, p. 72) uranium was not lost during weathering; CaO,  $SrO_2$  and  $MnO_2$ was extensively leached, appreciable amounts of  $MgO_2$ ,  $Na_2O$ , FeO, and  $Fe_2O_3$ were removed, but loss of  $Fe_2O_3$  exceeds that of FeO, and water,  $Rb_2O_3$ , and variable amount of  $K_2O$  are believed to have been added. The primary difference between this soil and a modern one seems to be the state of oxidation. The increase in  $FeO/Fe_2O_3$  ratio in soil over unaltered rock is the opposite of that in modern soils and under most circumstances uranium would be oxidized and removed in solution and Mn would be oxidized and remain as an oxide resistate in modern soils. This Archean soil study supports the concept of reducing atmosphere during the Late Archean and Early Proterozoic and also indicates that uraninite would be a resistate mineral in the soils of this time (Roscoe, 1969; Pienaar, 1963; and Robertson, 1964).

### Stratigraphy and Paleogeography

Rocks of the Huronian Supergroup are divided into four groups which are separated by local unconformities: Elliot Lake Group, Hough Lake Group, Quirke Lake Group, and Cobalt Group (Table 2.1). The Elliot Lake Group contains subaerial volcanics overlain by uranium-bearing conglomerates, quartzites, and argillites. The upper three groups contain paraconglomerate - argillite - quartzite sequences which are interpreted by many workers to be glacial sequences which represent regional climatic fluctuations (Roscoe, 1969; Frarey and Roscoe, 1970; Young, 1973; Roscoe, 1973). By this interpretation the paraconglomerate is considered to be glacial till representing advance of the ice sheet; argillites are interpreted as marine sediments representing marine transgressions following glacial retreat; and quartzites are interpreted as shallow marine to fluvial transgressive sequences which represent uplift of the craton due, in part, to isostatic rebound following ice melt. An alternative interpretation is that the repeating paraconglomerate - argillite - quartzite sequences could be explained in terms of tectonic cycles (Pienaar, 1963; Roscoe, 1969).

#### Elliot Lake Group

The Elliot Lake Group is a transgressive sequence composed of: the Livingstone Creek Formation (local), basic volcanics (local), the Matinenda Formation, and the McKim Formation (Table 2.1). According to Roscoe (1973),

Group	Formation	Lithology	Thickness (m); distribution	Sedimentary Features	Depositional Environment	Source	Mineralization	Age
	Bar River	sandstone	300-1500	cross-beds, ripple marks, mud- cracks, metazoan(?) tracks	shallow marine	N, variable		minimum age of Huranian Super Group is 2150 m.y. which is age of intrusive Nipissing Diabase
Cobalt	Gordon Lake	reddish siltstone green siltstone reddish siltstone	250-1000	current ripples, slump structures micro cross-beds, dessication cracks	shallow marine	N, variable	Th (monazite) and hematite where un-	
	Lorrain	sandstone conglomerate arkose	600-2100; fairly uniform	cross-beds, ball and pillow structure, breccias, conglomerate layers	beach and eolian fluvial shallow marine	NNW	comformable on Archean rocks trace Th in lower conglomerates	2287 ± 88 from Rb-Sr whole
	Gowganda	argillite (sand- stone) paracon- glomerate	150-2200; average about 1000	striated basement, striated clasts, varves, dropstone <del>s</del>	glacial in N. glacial-marine in S.	N		rock analysis
Quirke Lske Hough Lake	Serpent	arkosic sandstone	0-1000; thickens	cross-beds, ripple marks muderacks	shallow marine	NW	trace U	
	Espanola	limestone, dolomite, siltstone	0-460; average 150, uniform	breccias, clastic dikes, mudcracks, ripple marks	shallow marine with tectonic disturbance	NW	trace U, Cu in lime- stone at diabase contacts	
	Bruce	paraconglomerate	0-180; average 30, uniform	dropstones, varves	glacial-shallow marine	N		
	Mississagi	coarse subarkosic sandstone	0-3400; thickens to S., thickest near Sudbury	planar cross-beds, troughs, ripple marks, dessication cracks, mud chips	fluvial-braided rivers	WNW in W. NNE in E. N. in S.	U near basement highs; U and trace Au where un- conformable on Archean rocks	
	Pecors	argillita, siltstone	0-500; thickens to S., thickest S. of Espande	varves, ripple marks, micro cross-beds, slumo structures	marine	NNW	trace U near basement highs	
	Ramsey Lake	paraconglomératé	0-180; average 20, thickens to S.	dropstones, crude bedding, mudcracks, cross-beds, ripple marks	glacial-shallow water	NW?	trace U where uncon- formable on Matinenda	
Elliot Lake	McKim	argillite greywacke	0-2150; thickens to S., thickest near Sudbury	rippte marks, small scale cross-beds, quartzite lenses	shallow water- deltaic	NW	trace U near basement highs	
	Matinenda	sandstone arkosic grit oligomictic conglomerate	0-300; thickens to S., absent in Cobalt Embayment	trough cross-beds imbricated pebbles, conglomerate layers, pyritic, uraniferous conglomerate	fluvial-dettaic	NW	U, Th, rare earths, and pyrite in conglomerates in the basement depressions	
	Thessalon Pater, Stobie, Copper Cliff	basalt, andesite (rhyolite, sandstone)	0-1500; local volcanic piles	amygdules, brecciated flows, rare pillows, interlayered conglomerate	subaerial	Flack Lake, Murray Faults	Fe and Cu sulphides in volcanics; U, Th in conglomerate interbeds	questionable 2400 m.y. Rb-Sr date
	Livingstone Creek	arkose, conglomerate	0-500; absent E. of Thessalon, thickest north of Bruce Mines	cross-beds, lenses of conglomerate and argillite	fluvial	NW?	U, Th in conglomerate lenses	
	Algoman Granite	red quartz monzonite, gray granodiorite, quartz diorite					pitchblende veinlets, uraninite in pegmatite	2500 m.y.
Archean	greenstone beits	basalt, andesite, volcaniclastic sediments		pillows, amygdules	marine		iron formation, pyrite	2750-2950 m.y.

this group is least extensive of the groups in the Huronian Supergroup and it shows the most rapid and pronounced lateral facies changes. It also contains the principal uranium ores.

The Livingstone Creek Formation contains the oldest exposed Huronian rocks between Sault Ste. Marie and Blind River and it nonconformably overlies Archean basement (Frarey, 1967). The formation contains fine-grained, arkosic to subarkosic quartzite with thin layers of siltstone and uraniferous, pyritic, quartz-pebble conglomerate. Uraniferous conglomerate layers are most commonly found in close proximity to, or actually interlayered with, the overlying basic volcanic rocks (Roscoe, 1969). The matrix of these conglomerates is dark and chloritic and contains appreciable amounts of pyrrhotite and magnetite. According to Roscoe (1969), these conglomerates are of submarginal economic importance because of their low overall grades (<.1 per cent) and lenticular distribution. Roscoe (1969) suggested that the Livingstone Creek Formation, which overlies basic volcanics in the eastern sector, may be a westward extension of the lower Matinenda Formation of the Elliot Lake area, which overlies basic volcanics. If so, the lowest Huronian rocks were deposited during a period in which basic volcanism and rapidly changing fluvial deposition of coarse clastic material were occurring simultaneously. This type of sedimentation marks a transition between the unstable, volcaniclastic deposition in the late Archean and stable, platform-type, miogeosynclinal deposition of the upper Huronian Supergroup.

Volcanic rocks of the Thessalon, Pater, Stobie, and Copper Cliff Formations crop out between Sault Ste. Marie and the Sudbury area and seem to be localized along the Murray and Flack Lake Faults. Robertson (1976) suggested that the flows were extruded in areas of crustal weakness and rapid facies change (i.e. the fault zones) and that their source was a series of gabbroic intrusives which cut the underlying Archean rocks. The volcanic sequences contain mainly massive metabasalt with minor amygdaloidal metabasalt, felsic flows, and felsic tuffs. Geochemical information indicates the volcanics are sub-alkaline tholeiites (Robertson, 1976). According to Roscoe (1969), the flows were very fluid and had extensive flat tops as is evidenced by thin amygdule layers which can be traced for considerable distances and by the presence of laterally extensive interlayers of conglomerate and quartzite in the volcanic sequences. The conglomerate layers are uraniferous and were probably deposited in fluvial channels whose distribution was strongly influenced by the volcanic topography. As a consequence, the conglomerate layers are most commonly found on the margins of the flows (Robertson, 1976). Robertson (1976) also suggested that the volcanism may have contributed sulfur which converted detrital magnetite to pyrite and pyrrhotite in the conglomerates. Efforts to date the felsic phases of the volcanics have yielded a questionable Rb-Sr whole rock age of 2400 m.y. (Fairbairn and others, 1969). Paleomagnetic pole positions from the Thessalon volcanics suggest an age of 2375 m.y. (Symons and O'Leary, 1978).

The Matinenda Formation is the main uranium-ore bearing unit in the Huronian Supergroup (Table 2.1). It crops out in the western segment between the Murray and Flack Lake Faults, and is especially well exposed in the Chiblow Anticline, the Quirke Syncline, and near Pronto (Figure 2.2). It also crops out in the Agnew Lake area of the central segment. Most of the Matinenda Formation is composed of moderately-well sorted, mediumgrained subarkose (Roscoe, 1969). However, the uraniferous conglomerate layers are oligomictic quartz-pebble conglomerates and they occur within zones of poorly-sorted, coarse-grained, sericitic, subarkosic grit which have a characteristic greenish color. Roscoe (1969) suggested that these grit zones can be used to identify horizons in the Matinenda which are likely to contain uraniferous oligomictic conglomerates.

Roscoe (1969) divided the Matinenda Formation of the Quirke Syncline into three members: Ryan Member (lowest), Stinson Member, and Manfred Member. The stratigraphic relationship between these three members is shown in Figure 2.3. The Ryan Member is poorly-sorted grit containing radioactive conglomerate layers and is the unit mined in the Nordic zones, on the south limb of the Quirke Syncline. The Stinson Member is a cleaner, better sorted, subarkose which rests on the Ryan Member to the south and on Archean rocks to the north. The Manfred Member is lithologically similar to the Ryan Member and contains the uraniferous conglomerate layers which are mined in the Quirke Zone on the north limb of the Quirke Syncline. As shown in Figure 2.3, the Manfred Member was deposited on the Stinson Member in the central part of the Quirke Syncline and on Archean rocks to the north. According to Robertson (1976), this northward overlap of lithofacies occurs throughout the Matinenda Formation so that uranium-bearing conglomerate horizons get progressively older to the south.

Crossbedding measurements from the Matinenda Formation show that the quartzites and conglomerates were deposited by southwest directed paleocurrents. Most workers consider the paleocurrents to have been part of a fluvial system. (James and Joubin, 1956; Holmes, 1956; McDowell, 1957; Pienaar, 1963; Roscoe, 1969; Robertson, 1976). Evidence for fluvial deposition of the Matinenda is: 1) unimodal, low-variance paleocurrent distribution (McDowell, 1957; Pienaar, 1963); 2) poor sorting and coarse-grain sizes of Matinenda (McDowell, 1957); 3) strong downstream pebble imbrication in conglomerate (Pienaar, 1963), and 4) the interfingering and lenticular distribution of sand and gravel lithofacies shown in Figure 2.3 (Pienaar, 1963).

The pattern of fluvial deposition and placer accumulation of heavy minerals was profoundly influenced by local topographic irregularities in the depositional surface. The two main ore-bodies, the Quirke and Nordic Zones,







Figure 2.3b. Sections showing facies relationships in uranium-bearing rocks of the Matinenda Formation; A - Quirke Mine., B - Nordic Mine (from Pienaar, 1963, p. 64). From Geological Survey of Canada, Bulletin 83, Figure 11. are both located in large depressions in the Archean erosion surface caused by preferential erosion of the weaker underlying greenstone belts relative to surrounding granitic rocks. Similarly, the Pronto ore-body is located in a depression in the Archean surface and local uraniferous conglomerates in the Livingstone Creek Formation are located in depressions marginal to volcanic flows. Other evidence for topographic control of conglomerate deposition is that the ore-bodies tend to be thickest in the central (deepest) part of the depressions, where detritus from the eroded basement was deposited by aggrading river systems (McDowell, 1957). Roscoe (1969) estimates that local vertical relief in these depressions was on the order of one foot per 100 feet of horizontal distance.

The McKim Formation crops out between Elliot Lake and Sudbury and contains mainly argillites and siltstones with local layers of coarser, crossbedded arenite (Roscoe, 1969). Sedimentary structures include thin planar laminations, ripple marks, small-scale crossbedding and mudcracks (Card, 1965) and they indicate shallow water, perhaps deltaic deposition (Roscoe, 1969). This deltaic concept is supported by the presence of arenite intercalations in the argillite and by the fact that the McKim Formation interfingers with fluvial sediments of the Matinenda Formation to the north. To the south and east, the McKim is interlayered with mafic volcanic rocks of the Thessalon, Pater, Stobie, and Copper Cliff Formations. According to Roscoe (1969), the McKim Formation was deposited during marine transgression which began during a period of volcanism and fluvial sedimentation and continued after volcanism ceased.

#### Hough Lake Group

The Hough Lake Group contains the Ramsey Lake Formation (paraconglomerate), the Pecors Formation (argillite), and the Mississagi Formation (quartzite) which are shown in Table 2.1. Basal paraconglomerate of the Ramsey Lake Formation unconformably overlies rocks of the Elliot Lake Group in the area between Sault Ste. Marie and Lake Winapitei (Figure 2.2) and overlies Archean rocks north of the paleolimit of Elliot Lake Group deposition (Roscoe, 1969). This is evidence for continued northward overlap of sedimentation in the Huronian basin during deposition of the lower Hough Lake Group.

The Ramsey Lake Formation consists of matrix-supported, conglomeratic graywacke with clasts of gray granite, quartz, and mafic igneous rocks in a pyritic, gritty quartzose matrix. The lithology indicates deposition by mass transport mechanisms (Pettijohn, 1957). Robertson (1976) favored glacial transport because of the presence of graded bedding and dropstones in the paraconglomerate. Roscoe (1969) also favored glacial deposition instead of a mudflow interpretation (Pienaar, 1963) because of the wide lateral extent of the paraconglomerate, the lack of evidence of tectonic movements or steep paleoslopes, and the absence of beds of unsorted, immature sediment. The presence of mudcracks, ripple marks, and crossbedding in graywacke lenses in the Ramsey Lake Formation indicate shallow-water deposition, possibly in glacial-related environments.

The Ramsey Lake Formation is radioactive in areas where the paraconglomerate overlies radioactive conglomerates of the Matinenda Formation and it is lighter colored and more potassic where it overlies arkoses of the Matinenda. Robertson (1976) suggested that this is evidence that uranium mineralization in the Matinenda conglomerates predated deposition of the Ramsey Lake Formation and was, therefore, syngenetic.

The Pecors Formation (Table 2.1) conformably overlies the Ramsey Lake Formation and is composed mainly of argillite. The lower Pecors contains possible varved argillite with dropstone clasts which may have been deposited from floating icebergs (Robertson, 1976). Ripple marks, microcrossbedding, mudcracks, and slump structures higher in the Pecors Formation suggest shallow marine deposition. Argillites of the Pecors are locally radioactive (31 ppm  $U_3^{0}_{8}$ ; 51 ppm Th $_2^{0}$ ) and contain disseminated pyrite and pyrrhotite (Roscoe, 1969).

The Mississagi Formation gradationally overlies the Pecors Formation (Palonen, 1973) and contains gray, coarse-grained subarkosic quartzite with minor subgraywacke and argillite. Adjacent to basement highs in the Elliot Lake area, the quartzite is a green sericitic, gritty and pebbly subarkose which is radioactive. The radioactivity reflects high potassium as well as the presence of uranium and thorium minerals. The uranium content is not high enough to be of economic importance.

Crossbedding is the most abundant sedimentary structure in the Mississagi Formation and is generally planar, although some trough crossbedding is also present. Other sedimentary structures include plane bedding, desiccation cracks, mud-chips, slump structures, and clastic dikes (Long, 1978). Most workers have interpreted the Mississagi Formation to be a fluvial sequence (Collins, 1925; McDowell, 1957; Pienaar, 1963; Young, 1968; Long, 1978). Long (1978) summarized the major lines of evidence supporting a fluvial (braided stream) depositional environment. These include: the abundance of planar and trough crossbedding, a general decrease in grain size and size of bed forms up-section, predominance of unimodal paleocurrent distributions, the abundance of clay size material in the arenites, the general immaturity of the sediment, and the absence of extensive mudstone units, ripple marks, flaser bedding, reactivation surfaces and other features of shallow marine environments.

Paleocurrent studies of crossbedding in the Mississagi Formation have been variously interpreted. McDowell (1957) found a mean paleocurrent of

109 degrees in the Elliot Lake area and Pienaar (1963) found a mean of 143 degrees for the same area. Both authors showed unimodal distributions which they interpreted as evidence for fluvial transport. In contrast, Palonen (1973) favored shallow marine deposition of the Mississagi Formation. He reported bimodal and polymodal paleocurrent distributions in areas south of the Murray Fault and he interpreted these rocks to be intertidal deposits. He also cited cylical upward-coarsening marine stratification sequences and a lack of fluvial features such as channeling and point bar sequences in favor of marine deposition. Long (1978) contradicated Palonen's observations and reported mainly unimodal distributions and fining-upwards sequences south of the Murray Fault. He interpreted his paleocurrent and petrographic data as evidence for two major braided river systems in the Missisagi Formation. The first flowed east-southeast from the Sault Ste. Marie - Elliot Lake area toward Lake Panache where it converged with a river flowing south-southwest off the Cobalt Embayment. The combined rivers flowed south.

The weight of the evidence favors fluvial deposition for the Mississagi Formation and this interpretation **a**lso fits the broader picture of marine regression during deposition of the Pecors and Mississagi Formations. Nevertheless, Palonen's concept of shallow marine deposition south of the Murray Fault cannot be ruled out, particularly in light of the rapid thickening and facies change in the Mississagi Formation south of the Murray Fault.

#### Quirke Lake Group

As shown in Table 2.1, the Quirke Lake Group is composed of the Bruce, Espanola, and Serpent Formations. These formations contain the most distinctive lithologies and best marker units in the Huronian Supergroup (Roscoe, 1969). The basal formation of the Quirke Lake Group is the Bruce Formation, a paraconglomerate unit similar to the Ramsey Lake Formation, which unconformably overlies quartzites of the Mississagi Formations (Robertson, 1976). This conglomerate contains clasts of gray granite, quartzite, and greenstone in a moderately-sorted, coarse-grained graywacke matrix which is slightly pyritic (Robertson, 1976). Various workers (Collins, 1925: Pienaar, 1963; Cassyhap, 1966; Roscoe, 1969; Palonen, 1973; Robertson, 1976) have suggested that the Bruce Formation is a tillite. Palonen (1973) considered the Bruce Formation to be a terrigenous glacial till which represents continued marine regression following deposition of the Pecors Formation (shallow marine) and the Mississagi Formation (fluvial). Roscoe (1969) suggested that the Bruce Formation may be a terrigenous till in its lower part and a glacio-marine till in its middle and upper parts. Roscoe (1969) postulated that both the Ramsey Lake and Bruce Formations represent marine regressions caused by widespread glaciations.

The Espanola Formation contains marine sediments which represent a transgression following deposition of the Bruce Formation. In the Elliot Lake area, the Espanola consists of three members: the Bruce limestone, the Espanola graywacke, and the Espanola limestone (ferruginous dolomite). In the central sector, these members are not recognized. Sedimentary structures in the Espanola such as ripple marks, mudcracks, clastic dikes, intraformational breccias, and disharmonic drag folds indicate that the Espanola was deposited in shallow water and then was deformed while still in an unlithified state (Robertson, 1976). According to Robertson (1976), the presence of carbonate and iron in the Espanola Formation are indications of some free oxygen in the atmosphere.

The Serpent Formation is a well-sorted, feldspathic (plagioclase) quartzite with minor silstone and polymictic conglomerate. The quartzite contains crossbedding, ripple marks, and mudcracks (Pienaar, 1963) which indicate shallow water deposition by southeast directed paleocurrents (Robertson, 1976). According to Pienaar (1963), the presence of graywacke and polymictic conglomerate beds suggests intermittent rapid deposition due to local tectonic disturbances.

## Cobalt Group

The Cobalt Group consists of the Gowganda, Lorrain, Gordon Lake, and Bar River Formations and it unconformably overlies the Quirke Lake Group (Table 2.1). The Cobalt Group differs markedly from the lower three groups of the Huronian Supergroup in three ways. First, the Cobalt Group is well exposed in the northeast sector, north of Sudbury and this represents a drastic northward increase in size of the Huronian depositional basin. Second, the Cobalt Group is thicker than the other groups and shows less dramatic lateral facies changes between segments or across major faults. Third, the Cobalt Group contains hematitic, red beds and thorium-magnetite heavy mineral assemblages instead of uranium-pyrite assemblages. These differences indicate an increase in the availability of free oxygen in the atmosphere. A fourth point of interest is that the Cobalt Group may contain evidence of rapid climatic change from glacial conditions (Gowganda Formation) to sub-tropical conditions (Lorrain Formation). Young (1973) has suggested that this was a regional climatic change which can be used in lithostratigraphic correlation of Early Proterozoic metasediments in North America.

The Gowganda Formation lies unconformably on rocks ranging from Archean granitic rocks to Quirke Lake Group rocks and contains a heterogeneous assemblage of polymictic paraconglomerate, graywacke, arkosic quartzite, and argillite. The lower Gowganda contains thick conglomerate layers, whereas the upper Gowganda is mainly argillite. Paraconglomerates of the Gowganda are distinct from the Ramsey Lake and Bruce paraconglomerates because they contain predominately red granite clasts instead of gray granite and their matrix has a higher Na/K ratio (Robertson, 1976).

The depositional environment of the Gowganda Formation is considered by most workers to have been glacial or periglacial (Collins, 1925; Arnold, 1954; Overshine, 1964, 1965; Cassyhap, 1966, 1968; Lindsey, 1966; Young, 1973). Roscoe (1969) emphasized that only part of the Gowganda is likely to actually be glacial till; the rest being glacial-fluvial, glacio-marine, and even non-glacial mass transport deposits such as mudflows and turbidites. The most convincing evidence for glacial-related deposition of the Gowganda is: 1) striated Archean basement directly below the Gowganda Formation, 2) dropstones in argillites which are interpreted to be ice-rafted pebbles, 3) varved conglomerates and argillites which probably indicate freeze-thaw cycles, 4) striated clasts, and 5) high Na/K ratios which indicate an absence of chemical weathering (Roscoe, 1969). If a glacial depositional environment is accepted, it is still necessary to distinguish terrigenous till from glacio-marine and other periglacial deposits. According to Robertson (1976), densely-packed boulder conglomerates, arkoses and argillites in the Gowganda Formation contain sedimentary features which indicate sub-aqueous deposition. Matrix-supported paraconglomerates, on the other hand, may be either terrigenous or sub-aqueous tillites or non-glacial mudflow or turbidite deposits.

Paleomagnetic evidence for the paleolatitude of deposition of the Gowganda Formation is contradictory. Symons (1975) reported a paleolatitude of 62<sup>0</sup> for deposition and development of primary magnetization in the Gowganda Formation of the Elliot Lake area, and interpreted this as evidence in favor of glacial deposition at polar latitudes rather than sub-polar deposition. Roy and Lapointe (1976), on the other hand, studied the upper Gowganda of the Cobalt area (Firstbrook Formation) and concluded that its primary remanent magnetization was acquired at paleolatitudes of 30 degrees, which supports low-latitude, possibly non-glacial deposition of the Firstbrook Formation. They also isolated a secondary remanence in the Firstbrook Formation which was introduced at polar latitudes at the time of intrusion of the Nipissing Diabase - 2160 m.y. ago (Van Schmus, 1965; Fairbairn and others, 1969). Perhaps these contradictions can be explained in terms of rapid rates of apparent polar wander during and after deposition of the Cobalt Group, in the interval 2300-2060 m.y.

The Lorrain Formation conformably overlies the Gowganda Formation and is divided by Young (1973) into three members which can be recognized throughout the Huronian basin. The lowest member contains pink, green, and white feldspathic quartzite and siltstone with planar bedding, crossbedding, and abundant evidence of soft-sediment deformation. The middle member is a cross-bedded, sericitic guartzite containing guartz- and jasper-pebble conglomerates. The upper member is a pure quartz arenite, with minor quartz-pebble conglomerates, which becomes more mature upsection. Robertson (1976) reports the presence of thorium-rich radioactive conglomerates (Th:U > 10:1) within coarse-grained hematitic arkose of the lower Lorrain in the Elliot Lake area. According to Roscoe (1973), these conglomerates contain black sand-type heavy-mineral assemblages consisting of magnetite, hematite, monazite and zircon. This is a marked change from the pyrite-brannerite (or uraninite) heavy mineral assemblages found lower in the Huronian Supergroup and Roscoe interpreted this change as evidence for an increasing oxygen content of the Precambrian atmosphere.

Aluminous minerals such as kaolinite, sericite, pyrophyllite, diaspore, kyanite, and andalusite are found in the middle and upper Lorrain, generally in non-feldspathic layers. Textural evidence suggests that these minerals are diagenetic (and metamorphic) alteration products of the breakdown of detrital feldspars (Chandler and others, 1969; Young, 1970, 1973; Wood, 1970). This leads to the interpretation that the middle and upper Lorrain are fossil laterites which were extensively weathered in a tropical to subtropical climate (Young, 1973). Young (1973) interpreted the change from glacial deposition of the Gowganda Formation to tropical diagenetic weathering of the Lorrain Formation to be indicative of a very rapid, regional climatic change which can be recognized elsewhere in North America (e.g. southeastern Wyoming and Churchill Province). He suggested that this climatic transition should be considered a time line for lithostratigraphic correlation of Early Proterozoic metasediments in North America.

Young's (1973) interpretation of the depositional environments of the Lorrain Formation supports the proposed climatic transition. He suggested that the Lorrain represents a transition from glacial outwash deposition of the uppermost Gowganda, through shallow marine deposition of the lower Lorrain, to fluvial deposition of coarse conglomerates in the middle Lorrain. Fluvial deposition of the middle Lorrain is supported by a unimodal paleocurrent distribution showing southerly paleocurrents, variable grain size of lenticular sand and gravel lithofacies, and the paucity of shales (Young, 1973). The upper Lorrain is extremely mature, has a unimodal paleocurrent distribution, a bimodal size distribution, and 30-60 cm crossbed sets which Young (1973) considered as evidence that the upper Lorrain was deposited by aeolian currents and reworked by weak fluvial currents.

The Gordon Lake Formation conformably overlies the Lorrain and consists of siltstone, argillite, chertstone, and fine- to medium-grained quartzite

which are evidence for marine transgression following deposition of the Lorrain. According to Robertson (1976), the Gordon Lake contains three members: red sandstone and siltstone with gypsum nodules (lowest); dark green siltstone, argillite and sandstone; and reddish siltstone, argillite, and chert. Mudcracks, current ripple marks, microcrossbedding, and slump features indicate deposition in very shallow water (Robertson, 1976).

The Bar River Formation is a massive quartz-arenite with infrequent ferruginous silt layers (Robertson, 1976). Desiccation features on ripplemarked surfaces of the silt layers are segmented and sinuous structures which could be biogenic-metazoans (Hoffman, 1967; Young, 1967; Donaldson, 1967; <u>in</u> Robertson, 1976). The presence of oolites in the ferruginous beds (Wood, 1970), and the sedimentary structures indicate shallow water deposition.

### Post-Huronian Events

The end of Huronian sedimentation is marked by folding and faulting of the metasediments, followed by the intrusion of the Nipissing Diabase along pre-existing structures (Card and Pattison, 1973). The Nipissing Diabase is accurately dated at 2160 m.y. (Van Schmus, 1965; Fairbairn and others, 1969) and this places a minimum age on the Huronian Supergroup. Following the diabase intrusions, Huronian metasediments and diabases were metamorphosed under conditions ranging from lower greenschist to lower amphibolite facies (Card and Pattison, 1973). This occurred during the Penokean Orogeny 1700-1900 m.y. ago which metamorphosed Early Proterozoic rocks of the Marquette Range Supergroup in northern Michigan (Cannon, 1973). Deformation and metamorphism of the Elliot Lake uranium deposits was minimal (lower greenschist facies) during the Penokean Orogeny and uranium was not extensively mobilized.
# Uranium Deposits

## Distribution

The distribution of the uranium-bearing units of the Huronian Supergroup is shown in Figure 2.4. The only deposits of economic importance at the present time (1978) occur where oligomictic conglomerates of the Matinenda Formation unconformably overlie topographic depressions in the Archean basement. This situation is found in the Quirke, Nordic, and Pronto ore zones of the Elliot Lake-Blind River area and in the Agnew Lake area, north of Espanola (Figure 2.4).

The Quirke ore zone is 9700 m long by 2200 m wide (Robertson, ]976) and is located on the north limb of the Quirke Lake Syncline. It contains two ore-bearing reefs separated by barren arkose. The lower one, the Denison Reef, occurs at the base of the Manfred Member and unconformably overlies Archean rocks. The upper reef, the Quirke reef, occurs about 30 m above the Denison Reef. Both reefs are composite units containing intercalated lenses and fingers of conglomerate and quartzite. The Denison reef contains two major uraniferous conglomerate layers 1.8-3.6 m thick separated by **0**.6-2.4 m of arkose (Robertson, 1976). The Quirke Reef contains three conglomerate layers with the middle layer being richest in uranium. Uranium ore from the Quirke Reef averages .17 per cent  $U_3 0_8$  in the New Quirke Mine and ore from the Denison Reef averages .14 per cent  $U_3 0_8$  in the Denison Mine (Robertson, 1976).

The Nordic Zone is 5800 m long by 1600 m wide and is located on the south limb of the Quirke Syncline. Ore occurs in a 30 m thick conglomeratic zone near the base of the Ryan member of the Matinenda Formation (Figure 2.3). This conglomeratic zone contains three reefs separated by barren arkoses. The richest reef, the Main Reef, is about 3 m thick and is laterally



Figure 2.4. Distribution of radioactive rocks in the Huronian Supergroup showing locations of important ore zones (shown in black). Adapted from Roscoe (1969, p. 169). From Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 68-40, Figure 12.

quite continuous (Roscoe, 1969). Average ore grade from the Nordic Zone is .12 per cent  $U_{3}O_{8}$  (Roscoe, 1969).

The Pronto Zone is located on the south limb of the Chiblow Anticline. Ores from this zone occur at the base of the Matinenda Formation, within a topographic depression in the underlying weathered granite. The ore conglomerate averages about 2 m thick and is significantly coarser than conglomerates of the ore zones farther north. Average ore grade is .13 per cent  $U_3 O_8$ . The Pronto Zone dips south and is truncated by the Murray Fault.

Deposits in the Agnew Lake area occur in the lower Matinenda and conglomerates are finer-grained, more deformed, and have a higher Th:U ratio than the Elliot Lake ores. This area has a proven ore-body but, as of 1975, production had not been started (Robertson, 1976).

Other units with anomalously high radioactivity occur in the Huronian Supergroup but are presently uneconomical. The Livingstone Creek and Thessalon Formations contain conglomerate lenses interlayered with volcanic flows and the Mississagi and Lorrain contain radioactive conglomerates at the margins of the Huronian basin, where these units unconformably overlie Archean rocks. Argillite units of the Huronian Supergroup are often high in uranium in areas adjacent to basement highs and paraconglomerates may be uraniferous where they unconformably overlie radioactive conglomerates of the Matinenda Formation (Robertson, 1976).

#### Lithology and Mineralogy

Ore-bearing conglomerates of the Matinenda Formation are quartz-pebble conglomerates containing: well-rounded and well-sorted quartz pebbles 6-50 mm in diameter, a few chert and jasper pebbles, and rare pebbles of granite, greenstone, and argillite (Roscoe, 1957). The matrix is composed of poorly sorted grains of quartz and feldspar and interstitial sericite, chlorite and epidote. Pyrite also occurs in the matrix and may constitute up to 30 percent of the rock, although average values are closer to 15 percent (Robertson, 1976). Other heavy minerals in the matrix are monazite, zircon, brannerite, uraninite; with occasional anatase, amphibole, barite, apatite, cassiterite, chromite, diopside, garnet, epidote, gold, flourite, hematite, ilmenite, magnetite, rutile, scheelite, sphene, spinel, tourmaline, pyrrhotite, chalcopyrite, arsenopyrite, galena (probably radiogenic), cobaltite, xenotime and yttroflourite (Robertson, 1976).

The most important uranium-bearing minerals in the ore are brannerite, a uranium-titanium oxide, and uraninite, a uranium oxide. Brannerite is found as egg-shaped red-brown to black metamict grains with small inclusions of pyrrhotite and radiogenic galena (Thorpe, 1963; <u>in</u> Robertson, 1976). Ferris and Rudd (1971) and Theis (1973) suggested that the brannerite may have formed at low temperatures during diagenesis of the conglomerates by decomposition of ilmenite and introduction of uranium from solution. Uraninite occurs as black subhedral to rounded grains which are usually about 1 mm in diameter (Robertson, 1976). The uraninite has a high uranium to thorium ratio (10:1) and this suggests that it was derived from pegmatites instead of from hydrothermal uraninite veins (Robertson, 1976). Monazite also contains relatively high uranium concentrations,  $U_3O_8$ : ThO<sub>2</sub> = 1:4 (Thorpe, 1963; <u>in</u> Robertson, 1976) and is abundant enough in the Matinenda conglomerates that Roscoe (1969) considered it an ore mineral.

Pyrite grains have widely varying morphologies, even on the scale of a thin section. Grains range from anhedral grains 1/2 mm in diameter to euhedral grains 6 mm in diameter. Also, many pyrite grains are rounded to well-rounded. Roscoe (1969) considered the wide variation in morphology to indicate that the pyrite has several origins. Most of the pyrite was probably originally detrital grains .3-.5 mm in diameter (Roscoe, 1969).

However, some of the pyrite may have originated by secondary sulphidization of detrital magnetite and hematite (Arnold, 1954; Bottril, 1973; <u>in</u> Robertson, 1976), and some may have formed authigenically. In addition, much of the pyrite has been recrystallized during metamorphism.

Thucholite has been reported both from thin seams along bedding in the high-grade conglomerates and from secondary fractures. Ruzicka and Steacy (1976, <u>in</u> Robertson, 1976) propose a biogenic origin for the thucholite in the conglomerates and consider it to be primary.

#### Genesis

Most workers now consider the Blind River-Elliot Lake ore deposits to be fossil placer heavy mineral accumulations which were deposited in a fluvial environment under reducing conditions (Abraham, 1953; McDowell, 1957, 1963; Pienaar, 1963; Roscoe, 1969, 1973; D. S. Robertson, 1974; J. A. Robertson, 1961-1976). This syngenetic view of the genesis of the mineralization is overwhelmingly supported by detailed sedimentological, stratigraphic, and mineralogic evidence (Roscoe, 1969; Robertson, 1976). A modified view of this placer hypothesis was proposed by Derry (1960) and Joubin (1960) who suggested that uranium was carried in solution by the same streams that deposited the detritus so that some uranium could have been precipitated syngenetically or diagenetically, possibly by organic material. This idea is difficult to verify but should be seriously considered in view of work by Simpson and Bowles (1977) in the Witwatersrand which suggests that some of the uraninite was precipitated from solution. Also, the presence of brannerite may indicate that uranium-bearing solutions were present during and after deposition of the conglomerates. Nevertheless, most of the uranium minerals in the conglomerates were probably detrital so an

understanding of the genesis of the mineralization involves understanding the provenance of the conglomerates, the method of transport of the uranium (paleogeographic setting and paleocurrent studies), and the depositional environment of the conglomerates.

Paleocurrent studies indicate that the provenance of the ore-bearing conglomerates was to the northwest and consisted of Archean granites and greenstones. There are two types of granites in the Archean terrain. The first type is non-radioactive gray granodiorite and the second is red quartz monzonite. The red quartz monzonite is slightly radioactive throughout and contains up to 100 ppm  $ThO_2$  and 30 ppm  $U_3O_8$  locally (Roscoe and Steacy, 1958). In some areas north and northwest of Elliot Lake, this quartz monzonite carries pitchblende coated joints or is associated with uraninite-bearing pegmatite veins (Robertson, 1976). This red quartz monzonite and associated pegmatite veins may well have been the source for detrital uraninite in the conglomerates. The absence of gold occurrences in the Archean greenstone belts north and northwest of Elliot Lake is reflected in the low gold content of the Huronian sediments.

The paleogeographic setting prior to deposition of the Huronian conglomerates involved deep weathering and erosion of the Archean source area and development of a system of southerly flowing rivers and streams. Roscoe (1969) studied the weathering of the Archean surface by examining the mineralogy and geochemistry of the preserved regolith. He concluded that the pre-Huronian surface was covered by a residual detrital debris formed by deep chemical and mechanical weathering of the Archean rocks. It was this debris which was the source of the detritus which formed the ore-bearing conglomerates and this explains the feldspathic and sericitic nature of the uraniferous conglomerate and surrounding arkoses. Detrital uraninite (and brannerite) was also apparently derived from this detrital debris, as is evidenced by the fact that the uranium content of the regolith is about the same as the uranium content of the granite from which it was derived (Roscoe and Steacy, 1958). This indicates that uranium minerals were resistates which were not dissolved by ground water. The detrital debris on the Archean surface was an extremely important factor in terms of the formation of uranium-bearing conglomerates, and it is significant that every formation of the Huronian Supergroup which unconformably overlies Archean basement contains some uranium mineralization.

The Archean erosion surface contained numerous, northwest-southeast (Pienaar, 1963) or north-south (Roscoe, 1969) trending ridges and valleys prior to deposition of the Huronian Supergroup. These depressions were the major factor which controlled facies and thickness changes during deposition of the Matinenda Formation (Roscoe, 1969).

Fluvial transport and deposition of the detrital debris from the Archean source area were the major mechanisms of concentration of uranium minerals. During deposition of the Matinenda Formation, detritus was swept into streams and rivers which followed the local depressions. Placer accumulation of the coarse and heavy materials took place in the deepest parts of these depressions. The major ore zones are located in the deepest parts of the basement depressions and were probably deposited by aggrading streams. This type of deposition would deposit gravel bodies with lateral dimensions equal to the width of the meander system (McDowell, 1957) and could account for the blanket type deposits of the ore zones. The presence of uraninite as a detrital mineral in the conglomerate indicates that weathering, fluvial transport, and placer deposition took place under reducing conditions, possibly in a frigid climate, and is evidence for a low oxygen Early Proterozoic atmosphere. **Production and Reserves** 

Between the time of early uranium production from the Pronto Mine in 1955 and 1973, 12 mines in the Blind River-Elliot Lake area produced about 1.5 billion dollars worth of uranium (something in excess of 90,000 short tons of  $U_3^0{}_8$ ) with an average grade of 2 pounds  $U_3^0{}_8$  per short ton (.1 per cent). Two mines, the Denison and New Quirke Mines, continue to operate and produce about 4000 short tons  $U_3^0{}_8$  per year (Robertson, 1976).

Estimated reserves as of 1973 were 200,000 short tons of  $U_{3}^{0}{}_{8}^{0}$  with a grade of greater than 1.8 pounds per ton (.09 per cent) and an additional 150,000 short tons at grades between 1.4-1.8 (.07-.09 per cent) pounds per ton. The Blind River-Elliot Lake conglomerates also contain thorium reserves of greater than 100,000 short tons Th0<sub>2</sub>. These reserves constitute about 75 per cent of Canada's uranium reserves and about 17 per cent of the free world's recoverable reserves (Robertson, 1976).

#### NORTHERN QUEBEC

## Otish Mountains-Mistassini Lake Areas

Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks crop out in two areas along the south edge of the Superior Province in Quebec (Figure 2.1). The northern area is located in the Otish Mountains and the southern area is located near Mistassini Lake. The stratigraphy of the Early Proterozoic metasediments is shown in Table 2.2. The age of these metasediments is bracketed between the 2600 m.y. old basement and 1700-1800 m.y. metamorphic ages reported both from the upper Mistassini Group (Fryer, 1971) and from micas in the Archean regolith (Krough, <u>in</u> Chown and Caty, 1973).

The oldest metasedimentary rocks are conglomerates and sandstones of the lower Otish Group and the Papaskwasati Formation which lie unconformably on a regolith developed on Archean gneisses. According to Chown and Caty

(1973), this regolith is characterized by weathered feldspars and the absence of Fe-Mg minerals and appears to be thickest over basement highs and thinnest in basement troughs. A basal polymictic paraconglomerate locally overlies the regolith and its composition varies with the underlying basement (Chown and Caty, 1973). The most common type of conglomerate, however, is an oligomictic, quartz-pebble conglomerate which is thickest and coarsest in NE-SW trending valleys in the Archean basement. In the Papaskwasati Formation, those oligomictic conglomerates are greenish and radioactive; they contain abundant sericite, little hematite, and no reported pyrite (Roscoe, 1969). Oligomictic conglomerates of the lower Otish Group are also locally radioactive, but the conglomerates contain ironoxides and the radioactivity results from a high thorium content related to detrital monazite. According to Roscoe (1973), the Otish Group and Papaskwasati Formation may be correlatives of the Lorrain Formation of the Huronian Supergroup. This correlation is based on the presence of magnetite- and monazite-dominated heavy mineral assemblages in the Otish conglomerates and the fact that the quartzite - conglomerate successions underlie the oldest red-beds in the area (Peribonca Formation) and probably overlie glacial units of the Chibougamau Group, which is correlated with the Gowganda Formation (Morris, 1977). This is similar to the Lorrain, which underlies redbeds of the Gordon Lake and Bar River Formations and overlies glacial units of the Gowganda Formation.

The Mistassini Group overlies the conglomerate - quartzite succession in the Mistassini Lake area. Chown and Caty (1973) suggested that the Mistassini Group is a deeper water facies of the Papaskwasati Formation and that both successions are therefore contemporaneous. However, Roscoe (1969) stated that the Papaskwasati Formation is folded into open, N-S trending folds whereas the Mistassini Group is flat lying and dips gently south

Otis	h Mountains Area				Mistassini Lake		
Name (thickness)	Lithology	Source	Depositional Environment	Name (thickness)	Lithology	Source	Depositional Environment
Kaniapiskau Supergroup	Matonipi iron formation red siltstone		marine	Mistassini Group (>330 m)	iron formation carbonaceous shale stromatolitic dolo- mite 	ممممم	marine
upper Peri- bonca Forma- tion (120 m) ⊇lower Peri- bonca Forma-	red arkose, sandstone stromatilitic dolomite	NE	shallow marine or fluvial marine shallow	Cheno Formation (150 m)	dolomite sandstone sandy dolomite		shallow marine
indicator Formation (300-800 m)	arkose arkose arkosic con- glomerate quartz pebble	rkose SSW? fluvial rkosic con- NNE fluvial lomerate uartz pebble NE fluvial	Papaskwasati Formation (500 m)	arkose NE arkosic conglomerate fluvi quartz-pebble fluvi conglomerate			
۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰ می	rchean gneisses		······	Chibougamau Group	tillite-like paraconglomerate		glacial
			Archean gneisses				

(Nielson, 1951; Chown, 1960; <u>in</u> Roscoe, 1969). This suggests that the Mistassini Group unconformably overlies the Papaskwasati Formation and implies that the Mistassini Group may be significantly younger. Roscoe (1973) correlates the Mistassini with the Animikie Group of the Lake Superior area and iron formations found in the Labrador Trough. Roscoe's interpretation appears to explain the contrasting lithologies more satisfactorily than that of Chown and Caty.

Roscoe's (1969) description of the rocks in the Mistassini-Otish areas suggests that the potential for uraniferous conglomerates is limited. The paleogeographic setting characterized by a deeply weathered and dissected Archean erosion surface and by early, fluvial sedimentation of guartzpebble conglomerates is favorable for deposition of uraniferous conglomerates. However, it appears that the conglomerates are too young. The Otish Group conglomerates contain magnetite and monazite instead of pyrite and uraninite suggesting that deposition took place in the presence of sufficient free-oxygen to make detrital pyrite and uraninite unstable. The conglomerates of the Papaskwasati Formation are interpreted by Chown and Caty to be correlative with the lower Otish Group, so they are probably also too young. The potential for gold in the conglomerates is also low because there are no important gold deposits in the Archean source area. However, the conglomerates could contain appreciable thorium reserves.

## Sakami Lake

Uraniferous and pyritic quartz-pebble conglomerates crop out west of Sakami Lake (Figure 2.1) and are described by D. S. Robertson (1974). They unconformably overlie a tightly folded Archean greenstone succession and appear to have been metamorphosed during the Kenoran Orogeny - 2500 m.y. ago (D. S. Robertson, 1974). This suggests that the conglomerates are between 2750 and 2500 m.y. old. The conglomerates are unconformably overlain by red-beds of the Sakami Formation.

The conglomerates occur in thin beds within a succession of coarsegrained, yellowish-green to gray quartzites. The pebbles in the conglomerate tend to be small. According to Robertson (1974), heavy minerals include pyrite (up to 10 percent), uraninite (with 10 percent ThO<sub>2</sub>), and a thorium silicate (thorite or allanite). Robertson (1974) interpreted these conglomerates to be similar in age and depositional environment to conglomerates of the Huronian Supergroup.

## GRENVILLE PROVINCE

The Grenville Province is a northeast-trending zone of highly deformed and metamorphosed Archean and Proterozoic rocks which forms the southeastern boundary of the Superior Province. In the Lake Huron area, the Grenville Province is the southeast boundary of recognizable Huronian rocks and may include highly metamorphosed and deformed equivalents of the Huronian Supergroup (Quirke and Collins, 1930; Frarey and Cannon, 1969). No uraniferous conglomerates are present in the Grenville Province because of the high degree of deformation and metamorphism. However, it does contain important hydrothermal and metasomatic uranium deposits, especially toward the southwest (Ruzicka, 1971). In particular, uranium deposits occur along the northeast margin of Lake Huron and in the Bancroft area (Figure 2.1). These deposits occur in reworked granitic pegmatites within an area of reworked Early Proterozoic (possibly Huronian?) rocks and they are located within several hundred km of the area of outcrop of the Huronian Supergroup. This leads to the speculation that the original source for the uranium in the southwestern Grenville Province could have been low-grade Early Proterozoic rocks, similar to those found in the Huronian Supergroup. The uranium

could easily have been remobilized and reconcentrated during the Grenville orogeny. The spatial relationship of epigenetic uranium deposits with uranium-bearing Early Proterozoic rocks in this and other areas (e.g. Wollaston Lake fold belt, northern Australia) may be of importance in understanding uranium districts in many parts of the world.

## CHURCHILL PROVINCE

## Hurwitz Group and "Montgomery Lake Sediments"

Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks crop out in a series of isolated basins in the Churchill Province west of Hudson Bay (Figure 2.1). These rocks include the Hurwitz Group (Wright, 1955) and a pre-Hurwitz Group succession called the "Montgomery Lake Sediments" (Bell, 1970). Both sequences nonconformably overlie an Archean basement which consists of metavolcanic and metasedimentary rocks (Kaminak Group of Davidson, 1970) and intrusive granites dated as 2500 m.y. old (Bell, 1970). Diabase dikes dated as 2330 m.y. (Davidson, 1970) form part of the basement for the Hurwitz Group but their relationship to the "Montgomery Lake Sediments" is not known (Bell, 1970). Hudsonian metamorphism at about 1800 m.y. affected Archean and Early Proterozoic rocks so that the age of the Hurwitz Group is between 2330 and 1800 m.y. (Table 2.3).

The "Montgomery Lake Sediments" consist of a discontinuous basal paraconglomerate, yellowish-green to gray quartzites, oligomictic conglomerate, and siltstone, which crop out in a small area near Padlei. Pyritic, radioactive quartz-pebble conglomerate from those sediments was described by Heywood and Roscoe (1967) and D. S. Robertson (1974). Heywood and Roscoe (1967) described a 1.3 m thick pyritic conglomerate layer which may occur about 100 m above basement, although stratigraphic relationships are complex. It consists of poorly-packed pebbles of quartz, and minor chert and jasper, about 12 mm in diameter in a sericitic, arkosic matrix containing 5 percent pyrite. One sample contained 13 ppm  $U_20_8$ , 35 ppm Th0<sub>2</sub>, and .7 ppb Au (Heywood and Roscoe, 1967). Similar conglomerates up to 2.5 m thick have been intersected by drilling and contain grades up to 260 ppm  $U_30_8$ , 350 ppm Th0<sub>2</sub>, and .1 ppm Au over a two foot interval (D. S. Robertson, 1974). According to Robertson (1974), the principal radioactive minerals are uranothorite and zircon. Radioactivity in the conglomerate beds. Heywood and Roscoe (1967) and Robertson (1974) suggested a tentative correlation with the lower Huronian Supergroup on the basis of the presence of pyritic, radioactive conglomerate.

The Hurwitz Group unconformably overlies both "Montgomery Lake Sediments" and Archean rocks and has a much wider distribution than the "Montgomery Lake Sediments" (Figure 2.1). The stratigraphy of the Hurwitz Group is shown in Table 2.3. The Padlei Formation contains paraconglomerate, varved mudstone, and dropstones and may be a glacial unit (Bell, 1970; Young, 1973). Young (1973) suggests that it is correlatable with glacial units of the Gowganda Formation and represents tills deposited near the NW margin of an Early Proterozoic ice-cap. The overlying Kinga Formation contains thick aluminous quartzites which are similar to those of the Lorrain Formation (Young, 1973). Units above the Kinga Formation consist of red beds, argillite, graywacke, volcanics, thin iron formation, and quartzite and are considered by Bell (1970) to be younger than the Huronian Supergroup.

The paleogeographic setting for deposition of the Hurwitz Group and pre-Hurwitz sediments is difficult to evaluate because of the extensive remobilization of Archean and Early Proterozoic rocks during the Hudsonian

Group	Formation	Lithology	Thickness (m)	Sedimentary Features	Source	Depositional Environment	Age
	Hurwitz G.	quartzite, dolomitic quartzite, argillite	300-1200	coarsens upward	SW	non-ma <b>rin</b> e	minimum age of 1800 from metamorphic dates
Hurwitz	post-Ameto complex	graywacke, argillite, dolomite	600-1540		?	marine	
	Ameto	volcanics, pillow basalt slate, graywacke	300 600	pillows		marine volcan <del>-</del> ism and volcano- clastic deposi- tion	
	Kinga	fine-grained quartzite	300	ripple marks thin bedded	SE	shallow mari	ne
		coarse-grained aluminous quartzite, arkose, grit	300-1200	cross-beddec thick beddec	I, SW I	shallow mari	ne
	Padlei	mudstone, siltstone paraconglomerate	<500	varves?	SE?	glacial and glacial-fluv	maximum age ial of 2330 from intrusive diabase
·····	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	·····					vivivivivi
"Montgomery Lake Sediments"		quartzite, siltstone pyritic quartz-pebble conglomerate paraconglomerate	0-3000	cross-beds ripple marks	E?	continental- fluvial	1800-2500
······	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	www.	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		~~~~~		·····
Kaminak Archean metavolcanic and			metasediment	ary rocks			cut by 2500 my granites

Table 2.3 Stratigraphy of the Hurwitz Group of the Churchill Province. Adapted from Bell (1970), Young (1973), and D. S. Robertson (1974)

orogeny 1800 m.y. ago. Bell (1970) suggested that the Hurwitz Group was deposited on a "metastable" craton which was unlike the stable Archean craton on which the Huronian Supergroup was deposited. It seems more likely that the general paleogeographic setting characterized by a weathered granitic, Archean craton and early fluvial deposition is analogous to that of the Huronian Supergroup (D. S. Robertson, 1974) and that observed differences in preservation and metamorphism are related to remobilization during the Hudsonian orogeny.

D. S. Robertson considered the potential for important occurrences of uraniferous conglomerate to be small. The conglomerates of the "Montgomery Lake Sediments" appears to be the right age and lithology and to have been deposited in approximately the right paleogeographic setting. However, the conglomerates are poorly-sorted and the uranium content is low. Robertson (1974) suggested that the Archean metasediments in the area may not have been a favorable source for detrital uranium and gold (even though Lord (1953) reported gold in nearby Archean greenstones) and that the poor sorting of the conglomerates indicates that the fluvial system was not well enough developed to concentrate uranium and gold in mature-oligomictic conglomerates. Another severe limitation is the small lateral extent of the conglomerates. They have been largely eroded from the Churchill Province and are preserved in small synclinal remnants. Thus, even if cleaner and higher-grade uraniferous conglomerates could be found, it is questionable that economically significant quantities will be found.

The Hurwitz Group appears to be a bit too young and to have been deposited in the wrong depositional environments under oxidizing conditions. The presence of glacial deposits, aluminous quartzites, and redbeds indicate that the Hurwitz Group may be correlatable with the upper Huronian Supergroup and, hence, too young for important placer uranium occurrences.

#### Wollaston Lake Foldbelt

The Wollaston Lake foldbelt is a northeast-trending zone of Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks located in the central part of the Churchill Province (Figure 2.1). The metasedimentary rocks consist of arkosic quartzite, graywacke, pelitic schists, and metavolcanic rocks which have been folded into upright isoclinal folds and metamorphosed to amphibolite facies under low pressure conditions (Abukuma facies series). They are surrounded by granitic rocks which are mainly remobilized Archean granites but are partly syn-orogenic Hudsonian (1700-1800 m.y.) granites (Money and others, 1970). The age of the metasediments is bracketed between the 2500 m.y. age of the basement rocks and metamorphism of 1700-1800 m.y. (Ray, 1977). In addition Pb isotope data and a two point Rb-Sr isochron on quartzites (Cumming and Scott, 1976) suggest that the metasedimentary rocks are older than 2000 m.y.

Stratigraphic and sedimentological information on the metasedimentary rocks is incomplete because of the high degree of deformation and metamorphism. However, several attempts at stratigraphic subdivision have been made. Money and others (1970) divided the metasedimentary rocks south of Wollaston Lake into three assemblages separated by unconformities: Sandfly Lake Group (immature clastics such as arkose and graywacke); Meyers Group (mature quartzites and quartz-pebble conglomerate); and Daly Lake Group (both mature and immature clastics and calc-silicates). However, work by Gilboy (1975) and Ray (1975, 1976, 1977) in the Wollaston Lake area indicated that the Sandfly Lake and Daly Lake groups are, in part, lateral equivalents and they suggested that the entire metasedimentary assemblage be called the Wollaston Group. The Meyers Group, which crops out in the eastern part of the foldbelt, retains its identity but was considered by Ray (1977) to be a sub-group within the Wollaston Group. We will use the more

recent terminology of Ray (1977). The total thickness of the Wollaston Group is 2500-3000 m near Wollaston Lake and may be as much as 11500 m farther north (Weber and others, 1975).

Ray (1977) divided the Wollaston Group into two broad units: a lower, locally graphitic, pelitic unit 200-500 m thick which rests unconformably on Archean basement and an upper unit consisting of thick arkoses 2000-3000 m thick with interbeds of pelite, quartzite, amphibolite, and calcareous metasediments. The lower unit was deposited on a weathered Archean surface during marine transgression and Ray (1977) considered the unit to represent organic-rich shales which were deposited in a stagnant, anaerobic, shallowmarine environment. Pelitic rocks of the lower unit contain uneconomic but widespread U, Cu, Pb, Zn, and Mo mineralization which Ray (1977) considered to be syngenetic. He suggested that the organic-rich anaerobic environment could have been favorable for syngenetic precipitation of uranium from solution. He also suggested that the lower pelitic rocks may have been an important source for the unconformity-type deposits found at Key Lake and Rabbit Lake, Saskatchewan. The upper arkosic unit is a heterogeneous assemblage which probably is mainly of shallow-marine origin (Money and others, 1970). The Meyers sub-Group consists of mature quartzites, oligomictic quartz-pebble conglomerate pelitic rocks, volcanics and calcareous rocks. Money and others (1970) considered the conglomerate to be a beach deposit on the basis of its wide areal extent (25 - 50 km) and they considered the other units to be mainly shallow marine on the basis of their lithologies.

Uraniferous quartz-pebble conglomerates seem to be entirely lacking in the Wollaston Lake foldbelt (Roscoe, personal communication, 1978). Nevertheless, these rocks have several important implications in terms of our model. The Wollaston Group was deposited on a deeply-weathered Archean erosion surface during the Early Proterozoic and the wide areal extent of the

lower unit of the Wollaston Group suggests that deposition took place in a large sedimentary basin adjacent to a stable Archean craton. It appears that the paleogeographic setting and the age of the Wollaston Group were favorable for formation of uraniferous conglomerates. Also, the presence of syngenetic uranium in the lower pelitic unit indicates that the source area contained appreciable uranium. However, the depositional environment was wrong. The earliest sedimentation on the Archean surface was in stagnant, shallow basins instead of in fluvial channels. As a consequence, detrital uranium is absent and the only uranium in the sediments appears to have been transported in solution and precipitated by organic materials. Presumably, detrital uraninite was transported and concentrated by fluvial environments in the basin (to the east?) but is no longer preserved.

The presence of major unconformity-type uranium deposits in the Wollaston Lake foldbelt indicates that this area is a uranium district of the first order. It seems probable that the original source for much of the uranium was late Archean granitic rocks. Uranium was then weathered from the Archean terrain and was transported in solution and syngenetically concentrated in the pelitic rocks. Pelitic rocks may have provided an important source for the uranium now found in the unconformity-type deposits.

We would like to emphasize two aspects of this discussion which have a direct bearing on the formation of uraniferous conglomerates. First, deep weathering of an Archean granitic craton appears to have been important in providing a source for the uranium now found in the earliest Proterozoic sedimentary rocks in the Wollaston Lake foldbelt and elsewhere in North America. Second, uranium appears to have been transported in solution and syngenetically precipitated by organic materials in the lower pelites of the Wollaston Group. This indicates that uranium was probably being transported in solution and organically precipitated elsewhere as well and leads to the interpretation that both detrital and aqueous transport of uranium may have contributed to formation of the uraniferous conglomerates.

- Abraham, E. M., 1953, Geology of parts of Long and Spragge Townships, Blind River uranium area, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, P. R. 1953-2, 10 p.
- Arnold, R. G., 1954, A preliminary account of the mineralogy of the uraniferous conglomerates of Blind River, Ontario: unpublished M. A. thesis, University of Toronto.
- Bell, R. T., 1970, The Hurwitz Group--a prototype for deposition on metastable cratons: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 70-40, p. 159-168.
- Bottrill, T. J., 1971, Uraniferous conglomerates of the Canadian Shield, in Report of Activities, Part A: April to October, 1970: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 71-1, pt. A., p. 77-83.
- Cannon, W. F., 1973, The Penokean Orogeny in northern Michigan, in Young,
  G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper No. 12, p. 251-271.
- Card, K. D., 1965, Hyman and Drury Townships: Ontario Department of Mines, Geological Report 34.
- Card, K. D., Church, W. R., Franklin, J. M., Frarey, M. J., Robertson, J. A., West, G. F., and Young, G. M., 1972, The southern province, <u>in</u> Price, R. A., and Douglas, R. J. W., eds., Variations in tectonic styles in Canada: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper No. 11, p. 335-380.
- Card, K. D., and Pattison, E. F., 1973, Nipissing diabase of the southern province, Ontario, in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper No. 12, p. 7-30.
- Cassyhap, S. M., 1966, Sedimentary petrology and stratigraphy of the Huronian rocks south of Espanola, Ontario: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, 232 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968, Huronian stratigraphy and paleocurrent analysis in the Espanola-Willsville area, Sudbury District, Ontario, Canada: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 38, p. 920-942.
- Chandler, F. W., Young, G. M., and Wood, J., 1969, Diaspore in early Proterozoic quartzite (Lorrain Formation) of Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 6, p. 337-340.
- Chown, E. H., 1960, Shigami Mountain area: Quebec Department of Natural Resources; P. R. 440.
- Chown, E. H., and Caty, J. L., 1973, Stratigraphy, petrology, and paleocurrent analysis of the Aphebian clastic formation of the Mistassini-Otish Basin, in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper No. 12, p. 49-72.

- Collins, W. H., 1925, North shore of Lake Huron: Geological Survey of Canada, Memoir 143, 160 p., Accompanied by Maps 1969, 1970, and 1971, scale 1 inch to 2 miles.
- Cumming, G. L., and Scott, B. P., 1976, Rb-Sr dating of rocks from the Wollaston Lake Belt, Saskatchewan: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 13, p. 355-364.
- Davidson, A., 1970, Kaminak Lake (55L) map-area, District of Keewatin: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 69-51.
- Derry, D. R., 1960, Evidence of the origin of the Blind River uranium deposits: Economic Geology, v. 55, p. 906-927.
- Donaldson, J. A., 1967, Precambrian veriform structures. A new interpretation: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 4, p. 1273-1276.
- Douglas, R. J. W., 1974, Geological provinces, in The national atlas of Canada: Canada Department of Energy and Mines, p. 27-28.
- Fairbairn, H. W., 1965, Re-examination of Rb-Sr whole rock ages at Sudbury-Blind River, Ontario: Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Department of Geology and Geophysics, 13th Annual Report, 1381-13, p. 107.
- Fairbairn, H. W., Hurley, P. M., Card, K. D., and Knight, C. J., 1969, Correlation of radiometric ages of Nipissing Diabase and Huronian metasediments with Proterozoic orogenic events in Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 6, p. 489-497.
- Ferris, C. S., and Rudd, C. O., 1971, Brannerite: its occurrences and recognition by microprobe: Quarterly of Colorado School of Mines, v. 66, no. 4.
- Frarey, M. J., 1967, Three new Huronian formational names: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 67-6, 3 p.
- Frarey, M. J., and Cannon, R. T., 1969, Notes to accompany a map of the geology of the Proterozoic rocks of Lake Panache Collins Inlet map areas, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 68-63.
- Frarey, M. J., and Roscoe, S. M., 1970, The Huronian Supergroup north of Lake Huron, <u>in</u> Baer, A. J., Symposium on basins and geosynclines of the Canadian Shield, Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 70-40, p. 143-157.
- Fryer, B. J., 1971, Age determinations and correlations in the Circum-Ungava Geosyncline, in Variations in isotopic abundances of strontium, calcium, and argon and related topics: 19th Annual Progress Report for 1971, Massachussetts Institute of Technology, p. 76-85.
- Gilboy, C. F., 1975, Project 8: Foster Lake area, in Summary of investigations, 1975; Saskatchewan Department of Mineral Resources.
- Heywood, W. W., and Roscoe, S. M., 1967, Pyritic quartz-pebble conglomerate in the Hurwitz Group, District of Keewatin: Geological Survey of Canada. Paper 67-1, Part A.

- Hoffman, H. J., 1967, Precambrian fossils (?) near Elliot Lake, Ontario: Science, v. 156, p. 500-504.
- Holmes, S. W., 1956, The Pronto Mine-geology: Western Mines Oil Review, v. 29, no. 7.
- James, D. H., and Joubin, F. R., 1956, The Algoma District: Canadian Mining Journal, v. 77.
- Joubin, F. R., 1960, Comments regarding the Blind River (Algoma) uranium ores and their origin: Economic Geology, v. 55, p. 1751-1756.
- Krogh, T. E., and Davis, G. L., 1972, Zircon U-Pb ages of Archean metavolcanic rocks in the Canadian Shield: Carnegie Institute year book 70, Geophysical Laboratory.
- Lindsey, D. A., 1966, Sediment transport in a Precambrian ice age: The Huronian Gowganda Formation: Science, v. 154, p. 1442-1443.
- Long, D. G. F., 1978, Depositional environments of a thick Proterozoic sandstone: the (Huronian) Mississagi Formation of Ontario, Canada: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 15, p. 190-206.
- Lord, C. S., 1953, Geological notes on southern District of Keewatin, Northwest Territories: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 53-22.
- McDowell, J. P., 1957, The sedimentary petrology of the Mississagi quartzite in the Blind River area: Ontario Department of Mines, GC6, 31 p. Accompanied by 3 figures.
- Money, P. L., Baer, A. J., Scott, B. P., and Wallace, R. H., 1970, The Wollaston Lake belt, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Northwest Territories, <u>in</u> Baer, ed., Symposium on basins and geosynclines of the Canadian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 70-40, p. 169-199.
- Morris, W. A., 1977, Paleomagnetism of the Gowganda and Chibougamau Formations. Evidence for 2200-m.y.-old folding and remagnetization event of the southern province: Geology, v. 5, p. 137-140.
- Nielson, J. M., 1951, Takwa River area, Quebec: Quebec Department of Mines, Preliminary Report, 254-1951.
- Ovenshine, A. T., 1964, Glacial interpretation of Precambrian Gowganda Formation, north of Lake Huron (abstract): Geological Society of America, Program, Annual Meeting, p. 146.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965, Sedimentary structures in portions of the Gowganda Formation, north shore of Lake Huron, Canada: unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, University of California at Los Angeles, California.
- Palonen, P. A., 1973, Paleogeography of the Mississagi Formation and Lower Huronian cyclicity, in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper No. 12, p. 157-168.

- Pettijohn, F. J., 1957, Paleocurrents of Lake Superior Precambrian quartzites: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 68, p. 469-480.
- Pienaar, P. J., 1963, Stratigraphy, petrology and genesis of the Elliot Group, Blind River, Ontario, including the uraniferous conglomerate: Geological Survey of Canada Bulletin 83, 143 p.
- Quirke, T. T., and Collins, W. H., 1930, The disappearance of the Huronian: Geological Survey of Canada, Memoir 160.
- Ray, G. E., 1975, Project 5: Foster Lake (NE) Geikie River (SE) area, in Summary of Investigations 1975: Saskatchewan Department of Mineral Resources.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Project 5: Foster Lake (NW) Geikie River (SW) area, <u>in</u> Summary of Investigations 1976: Saskatchewan Department of Mineral Resources.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1977, The geology of the Highrock Lake Key Lake vicinity: Saskatchewan Department of Mineral Resources, Report No. 197, 36 p.
- Robertson, D. S., 1974, Basal Proterozoic units as fossil time markers and their use in uranium prospection: International Atomic Energy Agency Symposium on the formation of uranium ore deposits, Athens, May 6-10, 1974.
- Robertson, J. A., 1961, Geology of Townships 143 and 144: Ontario Department of Mines, GR4, 65 p.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1964, Geology of Scarfe, Mack, Cobden, and Striker Townships, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, GR20, 89 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966, The relationship of mineralization to stratigraphy in the Blind River area, Ontario: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper No. 3.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, The Blind River uranium deposits: the ores and their setting: Ontario Division of Mines, Miscellaneous Paper 65, 45 p.
- Roscoe, S. M., 1957, Geology and uranium deposits, Quirke Lake Elliot Lake, Blind River, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 56-7.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Huronian rocks and uraniferous conglomerates in the Canadian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 68-40, 205 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, The Huronian Supergroup, a Paleoaphebian succession showing evidence of atmospheric evolution, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper No. 12, p. 31-48.
- Roscoe, S. M., and Steacy, H. R., 1958, On the geology and radioactive deposits of the Blind River region: Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd., Chalk River, Ontario, Atomic Conference, 15/P/222, 19 p., A.E.C.L.-632, September 1958.

- Roy, J. L., and LaPointe, P. L., 1976, The paleomagnetism of Huronian red beds and Nipissing Diabase; post-Huronian igneous events and apparent polar path for the interval +2300 to -1500 Ma for Laurentia: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 13, p. 749-773.
- Ruzicka, V., 1971, Geological comparison between East European and Canadian uranium deposits: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 70-48, 196 p.
- Ruzicka, V., and Steacy, H. R., 1976, Some sedimentary features of conglomeratic uranium ore from Elliot Lake, Ontario, in Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 76-1A, Report of Activites, Part A, p. 343-346.
- Simpson, P. R., and Bowles, J. F. W., 1977, Uranium mineralization of the Witwatersrand and Dominion Reef systems: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. A286, p. 527-548.
- Symons, D. T. A., 1967, Paleomagnetism of Precambrian rocks near Cobalt, Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 4, p. 1161-1170.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, Huronian glaciation and polar wander from the Gowganda Formation, Ontario: Geology, v. 3, p. 303-306.
- Symons, D. T. A., and O'Leary, R. J., 1978, Huronian polar wander and paleomagnetism of the Thessalon volcanics: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 15, p. 1141-1150.
- Theis, N. J., 1973, Comparative mineralogy of the Quirke No. 1 and New Quirke Mines, Rio Algom Mines Ltd., Elliot Lake, Ontario: unpublished M.Sc. thesis, Queens University, Kingston, Ontario.
- Thorpe, R. I., 1963, The radioactive mineralogy of the ore conglomerate at Panel Mine, Blind River, Ontario: unpublished M.Sc. thesis, Queens University, Kingston, Ontario.
- Van Schmus, W. R., 1965, The geochronology of the Blind River-Bruce Mines area, Ontario, Canada: Journal of Geology, v. 73, p. 755-780.
- , 1976, Early and Middle Proterozoic history of the Great Lakes area, North America: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. 280A, p. 605-628.
- Wanless, R. K., Stevens, R. D., Lachance, G. R., and Rimsaite, R. Y. H., 1965, Age determinations and geological studies, Part 1 - Isotopic Ages, Report 5: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 64-17, 126 p.
- Weber, W., Schledewitz, D. C. P., Lamb, C. F., and Thomas, K. A., 1975, Geology of the Kasmere Lake-Whiskey Jack Lake (north half) area, Manitoba: Manitoba Mineral Resource Division, Geological Services Branch Publication 74-2.
- Wood, J., 1970, Evidence for a tropical climate and oxygenic atmosphere in Upper Huronian rocks of the Rawhide Lake-Flack Lake area, Ontario (abstract), in Institute on Lake Superior Geology, 16th Annual Meeting: Thunder Bay, Ontario, p. 45-46.

- Wright, G. M., 1955, Geological notes on central District of Keewatin, Northwest Territories: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 55-17.
- Young, G. M., 1967, Possible organic structures in Early Proterozoic (Huronian) rocks of Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 4, p. 565-568.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1968, Sedimentary structures in Huronian rocks of Ontario: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 4, p. 125-153.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1970, Widespread occurrence of aluminous minerals in Aphebian quartzites (abstract), <u>in</u> Institute on Lake Superior Geology: 16th Annual Meeting, Thunder Bay, Ontario, p. 47-48.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1973, Tillites and aluminous quartzites as possible time markers for Middle Precambrian (Aphebian) rocks of North America, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper No. 12, p. 97-128.

# AFRICAN PLATFORM

#### WITWATERSRAND SYSTEM

# Geologic Setting

Archean rocks in southern Africa crop out within two ancient cratons: the Kaapvaal craton to the south and the Rhodesian craton to the north (Figure 2.5). Both cratons are granite-greenstone terrains characterized by irregular synclinal greenstone belts containing low-grade volcanics surrounded by large volumes of diapirically emplaced granitic material (Anhaeusser and others, 1969; Anhaeusser, 1973; Hunter, 1974; Kroner, 1976). The cratons are surrounded, or cross-cut, by mobile belts which are characterized by intense deformation, high-grade metamorphism, and granitization. According to Kroner (1976), these mobile belts represent zones of Early Archean sialic crust which were remobilized about 2700 m.y. ago. Kroner also suggested that, prior to 2700 m.y., the Kaapvaal and Rhodesian cratons were continuous and were part of a larger Archean protoshield in southern Africa which contained granitic gneiss, greenstone belts, intrusive granites, and small intracratonic basins filled with quartz-rich sedimentary rocks such as the Pongola, Messina, and Kheis sequences. This protoshield became the source area and depositional site for the sediments of the Witwatersrand system.

The Archean and Early Proterozoic history of southern Africa can be viewed in terms of a progressive evolution of the style of supracrustal deposition; a change from deposition of volcanics and volcaniclastic sediments in the Archean (greater than 2800 m.y.) to deposition of thick sequences of quartz-rich clastic sediments in the Late Archean and Early Proterozoic.

The oldest known rocks in southern Africa are 3600 m.y. old granitic gneisses from the Rhodesian craton (Hawkesworth and others, 1975). According to Kroner (1976), these gneisses prove the existence of a pre-greenstone belt sialic basement in southern Africa.



Figure 2.5. Distribution of Archean and Early Proterozoic rocks in Africa and South America, showing locations of Precambrian uranium- and gold-bearing placers; drawn on pre-Mesozoic reconstruction of Bullard and others (1965). Sources of data: Hurley and Rand (1969, 1973); Clifford (1974); Cordani and others (1973); Mason (1973); Anhaeusser (1973); Almeida and others (1973); Pflug and Scholl (1975); Pretorius (1976b); Sestini (1973); Da Costa and Angeiras (1971). The earliest supracrustal rocks in southern Africa are greenstones of the Swaziland Sequence in the Kaapvaal craton. The lower part of this sequence was deposited about 3500 m.y. ago (Jahn and Shih, 1974) and volcanism and sedimentation continued episodically for at least 300 m.y. Anhaeusser (1973) considered these rocks to be the oldest in the Kaapvaal craton -- a point disputed by Hunter (1974) and Kroner (1976). As shown in Table 2.4, the Swaziland Sequence contains, in ascending order, ultramafic volcanics, mafic volcanics, felsic volcanics, marine volcaniclastic sediments and shallow marine clastic sediments (Anhaeusser and others, 1969; Anhaeusser, 1973). This has become the idealized greenstone belt stratigraphy and it reflects the evolutionary trend toward an increase in deposition of clastic sediments at the expense of volcanics. The Swaziland Sequence was diapirically intruded by tonalites which range in age from 3160 to 3400 m.y. (Anhaeusser, 1973).

The next stage in the sedimentary history of southern Africa was the deposition of quartz-rich clastic sequences in small intracratonic basins which developed on the granite-greenstone terrain. This stage represents a transition from the Archean permobile tectonic regime to the Early Proterozoic tectonic regime characterized by relative crustal stability. One such metasedimentary sequence is the Pongola Sequence of the Kaapvaal craton (Table 2.4). This sequence was deposited about 3100 m.y. ago (Van Eeden, 1972) and consists of volcanics, quartzite, and conglomerate. Some of the conglomerates contain fossil-placer gold deposits. Similar metasedimentary sequences were deposited north and southwest of the Kaapvaal craton and are called the Messina and Kheis Sequences respectively. These rocks were affected by deformation and metamorphism associated with early movements in the Limpopo and Namaqua mobile belts but Kroner (1976) maintained that the nature of these sequences indicates that they were deposited in intracratonic

	Sequence	Group	Lithology	Thickness from type areas (m)	Sedimentary Features	Depositional Environment	Mineralization	Approx. age range (m.y.); data
	Waterberg	Kronsberg Nylstroom	red shale, siltstone, minor conglomerate	6500	regressive sequence	fluvial, shallow marine		1750-2000; > 1790 ± 70 (U-Pb) based on intrusive granite
	******	Pretoria	shale, sandstone, diabase, tillite	2400	basal breccia, ripple marks	marine and shallow marine	gold, gold veins	2100-2300; 2224 ±21 on
	Transvaal	Dolomite	dolomitic limestone, chert, iron-formation	1520	stromatolitës, ripple shallow marinë marks	shaltow marine	fine-grained gold, chalcopyrite	andesite from the Pretoria Group; minimum
TRAID		Black Reef	shale, sandstone, conglomerate	30	transgressive sequence, basal conglomerate	fluvial-deiteic	gold, uranium, osmíridium	age 1950 ± 150 from the intrusive Bushveldt Complex
	Ventersdorp		basalt, andesite, volcaniclastics, andesite, quartz porphyry, sandstone, conglomerate	5000	heterogeneous assemblage with rapid lithological variations	subaerial volcanism, marine volcanism, fluvial, eluvial	gołd, uranium in basal conglomerate	2250-2500; 2300 ± 100 (U-Pb on zircons from upper Ventersdorp)
	Linoar	K lipriviersberg (locat)	andesite, pyroclastics, sandstone	3050		subaerial volcanism, high-energy fluvial despoition	***************************************	
	Division Witwatersrand	Kimberly-Elsburg	sandstone, conglomerate, shale	1670	gritty sandstone, coarsening upward	upper mid-fan and fanhead parts of	gold uranium	
	Sequence	Main-Bird	sandstone, conglomerate	1490	conglomerate reefs in arkosic	lower, mid-fan part	major gold,	
Q		Jeppestown	shale, sandstone, lava	1380	amygdaloidal andesite marker bed, banded shale (varves?)	fan-base of fluvial fan – laucustrine	miner gold, uranium	2500-2750
RSRA	Lower Division	Government	sandstone, shale, conglomerate	1970	tillite	system fluvial lacustrine	minor gold,	
IATE	Witwatersrand Sequence	Hospital Hill	shale, sandstone, iron-formation	1620	mature sandstone re-worked from Moodies Group	fluvial-lacustrine	uranium	
WITW		Dominion	rhyolite, andesite, tuff basic volcanics, minor sandstone	2040				
			basal conglomerate, sandstone	610 100	amygdaloidal flows, conglomerate in basement depressions	high-energy subserial environment dominated by volcanism, tectonism	uranium, gold	2820 ± 55 (Rb-Sr) 2800 ± 60 (U-Рь)
		·····	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••					
	Pongola	Mozaan	sandstone, conglomerate volcanics	49799	regressive sequence	fluvial, subaerial	gold, pyrite in bașal conglomerate	2900-3100 based on intrusive granites
		Insuzi	shale, volcanics, sandstone	10700		fluvial, subaerial	gold, pyrite	
					******		*****	••••••
		Moodies	conglomerate, sandstone, shale	3140	four transgressive cycles	shallow water		
		Fig Tree	annumaka shela izan formation	2150		marina turbiditas		intrusive granites
	Swaziland	Lipper Onverwacht	greywacke, snale, iron-formation	2150	flowe pyroplastics opert	marine turbicites		
				/063	nows, pyrociastics, chert	marma voludiisiii	gold at upper contact, also pyrite, arsenopyrite,	3370 ± 20 (Rb-Sr)
		Lower Onverwacht uit	ultramafic and mafic volcanics	7530	ultramafic flows	marine volcanism	stibnite gold at upper contact,	3310 ± 40 (U-Рь)
				_			also pyrite arsenopyrite, stibnite, and minor copper, nickel, cobalt	3500
	Table 2.4. Stratigraphy of Arc	hean and Early Proterozoic Supracrustal	Rocks in South Africa, Based on Pretorius (1	976a), Brock and Pretorius (1964a);	Whiteside and others (1976); Anhaeusser (197	3); and Button (1976).		

basins on an extensive sialic protoshield prior to 2700 m.y. ago. The Pongola Sequence contains about 45 percent clastic sediments and 60 percent volcanics and can be viewed as transitional between the deposition of Archean greenstone belts, where immature volcaniclastic sediments make up 20 percent and volcanics 80 percent of the section and the deposition of the Witwatersrand Sequence, where mature, quartz-rich sediments make up about 80 percent and volcanics 20 percent of the sequence (Anhaeusser, 1973).

There are two features of the Archean sedimentary history of southern Africa which should be emphasized. First, the occurrence of fossil-placer gold deposits in the Archean Pongola Sequence indicates that both Archean and Early Proterozoic quartz-rich clastic sequences can be hosts for fossilplacer gold deposits and that there is no older age limit for fossil-placer gold deposits except that which limits the formation of the quartz-rich clastic sequences (i.e. evolution of crustal stability). Thus, Archean clastic sequences in South Africa, Brazil, India, and elsewhere are potential targets for gold.

Second, the Archean crustal evolution in southern Africa appears to have been precocious relative to that of the Canadian Shield. The greenstone belts are significantly older and so are the early quartz-rich metasedimentary sequences. Also, detrital gold in quartz-pebble conglomerates appeared about 600 m.y. earlier in southern Africa (3100 versus 2500 m.y.) and detrital uranium in conglomerates appeared about 300 m.y. earlier (2800 versus 2500 m.y.). These facts suggest that the Kaapvaal craton of southern Africa, and perhaps other southern hemisphere cratons in the Brazilian and Indian shields were stabilized earlier than the cratons in the northern hemisphere.

### Distribution and Structure

The aggregate thickness of Archean and Early Proterozoic quartz-rich metasedimentary rocks in South Africa is greater than 40 km (Table 2.4). These metasedimentary rocks form five sequences which were deposited between 3100 and 1800 m.y., a period of time twice as long as the Phanerozoic Era. These sequences are: the Pongola Sequence (3100-2900 m.y.), the Witwatersrand Sequence (2800-2500 m.y.), the Ventersdorp Sequence (2500-2250 m.y.), the Transvaal Sequence (2300-2100 m.y.), and the Waterberg Sequence (2000-1800 m.y.). These metasedimentary sequences were deposited in separate intracratonic basins which become more extensive with time (Pretorius, 1976b). Figure 2.6 shows that the depositional axes of the basins trend eastnortheast and are gently warped about a northwest-trending fold axis. Figure 2.6 also shows that the axis of maximum sedimentation migrated northward with time. This was the result of a persistent tectonic pattern where the northwest side of each basin was fault-bounded and tectonically subsiding whereas the southeast sides were less active. This tectonic pattern caused the northwest side of an earlier basin to be overlapped by sediments deposited on the passive southeastern side of the succeeding basin (Pretorius, 1976ь).

The most important of the five sequences is the Witwatersrand sequence because it contains the economically important gold- and uraniumbearing rocks of the Witwatersrand Sequence. This basin is about 320 km long and 160 km wide and contains about 14 km of sediments and volcanics. The basin has the overall configuration of an asymmetrical syncline with the steeper limb on the northwest side. This syncline trends east-northeast and is warped about a northwest-trending fold axis (Figure 2.6), Figure 2.7 shows that the detailed structural pattern of the Witwatersrand basin is characterized by egg carton-like, basin and dome folds resulting from



Figure 2.6. The relative positions of the depositional axes of progressively younger Proterozoic sedimentary basins on the Kaapvaal craton in the northeastern part of South Africa. The basins young up the regional paleoslope from the Caledon cavity low towards the Limpopo gravity high. The full extenions of the Pongola and Witwtersrand basins still remain to be determined beneath the Phanerozoic cover. Taken from Pretorius (1976b, p. 34). Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Publishing Company and the author.

interference of the northwest and east-northeast trending fold systems. According to Pretorius (1976b), both of these fold systems were active before, during, and after deposition of the Witwatersrand Sequence and the folding pattern, therefore, exerted a strong influence on the patterns of sedimentation. Topographic basins formed where synclinal traces intersected and these basins became the site of alluvial fans and fan-deltas in which detrital gold and uraninite were concentrated. The basins were surrounded by topographic highs which formed where anticlinal traces intersected. These domes are cored by granitic basement rock (Figure 2.7). One of these domes, the Vredefort Dome, is located in the center of the basin and is surrounded by Witwatersrand sediments. On the north side of the dome, the sediments are overturned and dip toward the dome. This dome was a structural high before and during deposition of the Witwatersrand Sequence as evidenced by gold-bearing conglomerates around its flanks (Brock and Pretorius, 1964b). The dome was also elevated after deposition of the sediments as is evidenced by overturned beds and higher grades of metamorphism around the dome.

Faulting in the Witwatersrand basin was closely related to the patterns and stresses generated by concentric folding. The most important faults are strike faults which parallel the edge of the depositional basin. These are mainly high-angle normal faults with the downthrown side toward the axis of the basin. The faults were active before, during, and after deposition of the Witwatersrand Sequence and were the major mechanism of basin subsidence.

The persistence of the tectonic pattern and the influence of tectonics on sedimentation are both keys to the understanding of the development and distribution of the major goldfields. Apparently, continued folding and faulting created enough relief so that fluvial fan-deltas could form in the basin depressions along the margins of the Witwatersrand basin. These fans


Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company and the author.

were fed by detritus from the surrounding domes, which also supplied gold, uraninite, and other heavy minerals.

# Stratigraphy

#### Witwatersrand Sequence

<u>Dominion Reef Group</u>. The Dominion Reef Group is the basal unit of the Witwatersrand Sequence (Table 2.4). It crops out only in the northwestern and central parts of the Witwatersrand basin and, in both areas, unconformably overlies Archean granites. The type area of the group is in the northwestern part of the basin. In this area, the group consists of three units: a lower clastic unit (100 m) containing quartzites and uraniferous and auriferous conglomerates, a middle unit (610 m) containing amygdaloidal basalts and andesites, and an upper unit (2040 m) containing felsic volcanic rocks (Brock and Pretorius, 1964a; Whiteside, 1970).

The basal clastic unit, where it is fully developed, consists of a basal conglomerate called the Lower Reef, a middle part consisting of medium- to coarse-grained, sericitic, pebbly arkose, and an upper conglomerate called the Upper Reef. The basal conglomerate has been mined for detrital gold and uranium and occurs in lenses which fill local depressions in the under-lying basement. Basal conglomerates were not deposited outside basement depressions. Instead, Archean granites appear to grade up into arkosic quartzite indicating that a regolith had developed on the eroded Archean basement.

The upper Reef occurs about 18 m above the Lower Reef and is separated from it by barren, sericitic arkoses which contain lenticular conglomerate layers. The Upper Reef varies from 2 to 120 cm thick and is remarkably persistent throughout the area underlain by the Dominion Reef Group (Von Backstrom, 1976). This reef contains both placer uranium and gold but uranium values are much higher. Grades appear to be highest where the conglomerate is thin and grades as high as 1 percent uranium have been reported from areas where the Upper Reef is 2 to 5 cm thick (Von Backstrom, 1976).

The middle unit of the Dominion Reef Group consists mainly of gray, fine-grained andesite and amygdaloidal andesite. In addition, tuffs and tuff breccias occur throughout the formation at the tops of flows. Other distinctive horizons include a 30 m thick quartzite bed near the base and a quartzfeldspar porphyry higher in the section (Whiteside, 1970).

The upper unit of the Dominion Reef Group conformably overlies the middle unit and consists of rhyolites with subordinate andesites and tuffs. Thick rhyolite sections occur at the top and bottom of the unit and interbedded rhyolite and andesite occur in the middle part (Whiteside, 1970).

Lower Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence. The Lower Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence is a clastic sequence which is distinguished from the underlying Dominion Reef Group by a relative lack of volcanic rocks. Arkosic quartzite and shale are the dominant lithologies but quartz-pebble conglomerates, iron formation, tillite, and quartz-arenite are also present (Pretorius, 1964). In general, rocks of the Lower Division were deposited under transgressive conditions and fine-grained, distal-facies sediments predominate (Whiteside and others, 1976).

Table 2.5 shows that the Lower Division is subdivided into three groups: the Hospital Hill Group, the Government Group, and the Jeppestown Group. This figure also shows the most important marker beds within each group and the main mineralized horizons. The best descriptions of the Lower Division come from the central and eastern parts of the Witwatersrand basin (Pretorius, 1964; Whiteside, 1964; Whiteside and others, 1976) and the following summary is based on these descriptions. The Hospital Hill Group unconformably overlies both Archean rocks and the Dominion Reef Group. The basal unit of the group is the Orange Grove Quartzite (Table 2.5) which contains light gray to white cross-bedded quartz arenite with a few thin layers of shale and conglomerate. This unit is overlain by a sequence of alternating subgraywacke and shale which includes distinctive marker beds such as iron formation in the Water Tower Slate, the Ripple Marked Quarzite, and deformed iron formation of the Contorted Bed. The uppermost part of the Hospital Hill Group contains quartz-arenite of the Hospital Hill Quartzite.

The Government Group contains fewer shales and more arenites than the other two groups in the Lower Division and consists mainly of arkose, subgraywacke, and conglomerate. The basal units, the Promise Beds, are shales which are split by a thin zone of quartzite and conglomerate called the Promise Reef. The Promise shales are overlain by the Coronation Beds which include, a succession of tillite; Coronation Shale (iron formation); and Coronation Reef (grits). The top of the Government Group is marked by the Government Reef beds, which contain alternating quartzite and shale with a conglomerate layer near the middle called the Government Reef. This reef contains auriferous and uraniferous conglomerates which have been mined in some areas (Pretorius, 1976b) but are usually of sub-economic importance.

The Jeppestown Group consists of shale, argillaceous quartzite, and quartzite with a volcanic marker unit near its middle. This unit, the Jeppestown Amygdaloid, contains amygdaloidal volcanics and volcanic breccia (Whiteside, 1970). The Jeppestown Group also contains a gold- and uraniumproducing conglomerate in the Klerksdorp area, called the Jeppestown Reef (Pretorius, 1976b). The Jeppestown Group marks the change from transgressive sequences in Lower Division to regressive sequences in the Upper Division (Whiteside and others, 1976).

Sequence and total thickness (m)	Group and total thickness (m)	Main marker horizons Th h	nickness of marker morizon (m)	Mineralization
Lower Division Witwatersrand Sequence (4970)	Jeppestown Group (1380)	Jeppestown Amygdaloid Jeppestown Reef	31	Au, u
	Government Group (1970)	Government Reef Coronation Reef Coronation (or West Rand) Shales Promise Reef	2 2 154 2	Au, u
	Hospital Hill Group (1620)	Hospital Hill Quartzites Comforted Bed Speckled Bed Ripple-marked Quartzites Water Tower Slates Orange Grove Quartzites	5 400 46 2 5 6 246 169	

Table 2.5. Main marker beds of the Lower Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence. Adapted from Brock and Pretonius (1964a). <u>Upper Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence</u>. The Upper Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence differs in several important ways from the Lower Division. First, the Upper Division contains the vast majority of gold- and uranium-bearing conglomerates of the Witwatersrand Sequence. Second, the Upper Division is almost devoid of volcanic rocks and, instead, is dominated by continental and shallow water clastic sediments. Third, clastic sediments in the Upper Division are generally coarser and the sand to shale ratio much larger than in the Lower Division. This indicates that higher energy sedimentary conditions prevailed during deposition of the Upper Division.

The most characteristic feature of the Upper Division is the occurrence of auriferous and uraniferous quartz-pebble conglomerates which are developed on local unconformities. These conglomerates occur in relatively thin layers called reefs which appear in several stratigraphic levels within the Upper Division. The conglomerates tend to be richest in gold and uranium where they overlie unconformities (Sharpe, 1949) which suggests that the younger gold-bearing reefs represent sedimentary reworking of older reefs (Whiteside and others, 1976). Cousins (1965) suggested that the Upper Division was deposited during a series of cycles, each of which began with deposition of gold-bearing conglomerate and ended with erosion of the underlying sediments. These high-frequency cycles appear to be superimposed on a lower frequency trend toward overall regression and construction of the basin (Pretorius, 1976b). Evidence for overall regression in the Upper Division is the increasing thickness of conglomerate units up-section (Brock and Pretorius, 1964a). Thick conglomerates are indicative of a higher energy fluvial facies which was closer to the source than the thin conglomerates lower in section and this implies regression (Pretorius, 1976b).

The Upper Division is subdivided into three groups by Pretorius (1976a): the Main-Bird Group, the Kimberley-Elsburg Group, and the Klipriviersberg Group (Table 2.4). The lower two groups contain quartzite and conglomerate, including the main gold-bearing conglomerates of the Witwatersrand basin. In contrast, the upper group contains mainly andesite, tuff, and agglomerate which are often considered to be part of the Ventersdorp Sequence (Whiteside and others, 1976; Brock and Pretorius, 1964a). Figure 2.8 shows a series of stratigraphic columns for the Main-Bird and Kimberley-Elsburg Groups in various areas of the Witwatersrand basin.

The Main-Bird Group is a series of quartzites and conglomerates which occur between the top of the Jeppestown Group and the top of the Kimberley Shale. The quartzites are gray to green, sericitic, feldspathic quartzites consisting of nearly equal abundances of detrital quartz and chert with lesser amounts of muscovite, chlorite, pyrophyllite, and chloritoid (Brock and Pretorius, 1964a). The quartzites commonly contain trough crossbedding and ripple marks.

The Main-Bird Group contains the major gold- and uranium-producing horizons in the Witwatersrand basin. This include sets of conglomerate layers in the Main Reef, Main Reef Leader, Livingstone Reef, and Bird Reef and carbonaceous layers of the Carbon and Vaal Reefs (Figure 2.8). As shown in Figure 2.8, the conglomerate reefs may occur either as individual layers or as groups of more than ten conglomerate layers within the quartzite. About 80 percent of the conglomerate, by weight, is well-rounded pebbles which are set in a matrix of sericitic quartzite. The matrix tends to have less sericite, chlorite and rock fragments than the overlying and underlying quartzites, reflecting higher energy deposition and more extensive reworking. Nearly all the conglomerates contain pyrite, gold, uranium, and other heavy minerals in the matrix but only a small proportion contain mineable



Figure 2.8. Comparative stratigraphic columns of the Upper Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence showing mineralized reefs (after C. B. Coetzee). Adapted from Whiteside and others (1976), p. 42). G,g and U,u are major and minor gold- and uranium-producing reefs respectively. Reproduced with permission from the Department of Mines and Geological Survey of South Africa.

concentrations. Pebbles in the conglomerates are mainly quartz and chert but occasionally clasts of quartzite, schist, and shale are present (Pretorius, 1976b). The pebble assemblages are highly variable between one conglomerate reef and another and can sometimes be used to identify particular reefs (Pretorius, 1976b).

The gold-bearing conglomerate reefs are the most useful marker horizons in the Upper Division. However, another marker unit, the Bird amygdaloid, occurs in the eastern part of the Witwatersrand (Figure 2.8). This unit is an amygdaloidal basalt (or diabase) which sometimes includes one or two lenses of quartzite and is frequently overlain or underlain by poorly mineralized conglomerates.

The Kimberley-Elsburg Group disconformably overlies the Kimberley Shale and is lithologically similar to the Main-Bird Group. However, the quartzites of the Kimberley-Elsburg Group are somewhat less mature than those of the Main-Bird Group and typically contain more sericite and 10-15 percent less quartz (Brock and Pretorius, 1964a). Also, the individual conglomerate layers are thicker (up to 6-10 m), more closely spaced, and less richly mineralized. These differences are manifestations of marine regression accompanied by more frequent tectonic adjustments of the margins of the basin. The decreased maturity of quartzites reflects more proximal fluvial deposition -- hence regression; the thicker conglomerate layers reflect higherenergy fluvial deposition; the close spacing of conglomerates indicates frequent tectonic uplifts; and the decrease in mineralization reflects less sediment reworking -- hence rapid deposition.

The Kimberley-Elsburg Group can be subdivided into three units: the Kimberley Reef zone, the Kimberley quartzite zone, and the Elsburg Reef zone. The Kimberley Reef zone contains numerous conglomerate layers which produce significant quantities of gold and uranium (Pretorius, 1976b). The

conglomerates are quartz-pebble conglomerates which are similar to those of the Main Reef except they are slightly coarser, less mature, and thicker. The Kimberley quartzite zone consists mainly of barren, medium-grained quartzite. The Elsburg Reef zone consists of numerous lenses of coarse quartz-pebble conglomerate within a quartzite succession. Some of those conglomerate layers have been mined for gold and uranium, especially in the western part of the Witwatersrand basin (Figure 2.8).

<u>Klipriviersberg Group</u>. The Klipriviersberg Group contains two formations: the Vaal Bend Formation which consists of andesites, pyroclastics, quartzfeldspar porphyry, conglomerates, quartzites and shales and the Langgeleven Formation which consists of thick andesites, agglomerates, and tuffs with minor sediments (Pretorius, 1976a). According to Pretorius (1976b), these rocks represent high-energy volcanics and clastics deposited at the end of the Witwatersrand cycle of sedimentation and should be included with the Witwatersrand Sequence. This position is based on a similar suggestion made by Winter (1965). In contrast, many workers lump these rocks with the volcanics of the Ventersdorp Sequence (Brock and Pretorius, 1964a; Whiteside, 1970; Whiteside and others, 1976).

# Ventersdorp Sequence

The Ventersdorp Sequence contains volcanic and volcaniclastic rocks and minor clastic sediments, and appears to conformably overlie the Witwatersrand Sequence in the eastern part of the Witwatersrand basin (Whiteside and others, 1976). However, in the western part of the basin, the contact is marked by an unconformity and a basal conglomerate called the Ventersdorp Contact Reef. This reef is an auriferous and uraniferous conglomerate layer which unconformably overlies the Witwatersrand Sequence and unconformably underlies the volcanics of the Ventersdorp Sequence. The conglomerate contains reworked erosional products of the underlying Elsburg conglomerates and it often contains higher gold values than its parent conglomerates.

Table 2.4 shows that the Ventersdorp Sequence is about 5000 m thick and is composed of massive and amygdaloidal andesites and basalts, volcanic breccias, agglomerates, and tuffs. Much of the lava was probably erupted along fissures which are now represented by diabase dikes in the Witwatersrand basin (Pretorius, 1976b; Haughton, 1963). Sediments within the Ventersdorp Sequence are minor but conglomerate, arkose, and occasional dolomite, chert and shale lenses do occur (Haughton, 1963; Whiteside, 1970).

More detailed stratigraphies of the Ventersdorp Sequence have been proposed by Winter (1965) and Whiteside (1970) and will not be discussed here. However, it should be noted that there are several disconformities within the sequence and several horizons near the base which contain pillow lavas. Both of these facts indicate that there were fluctuations in sea level caused by transgressions and regressions during deposition of the Ventersdorp Sequence (Whiteside, 1970). In general, however, most of the Ventersdorp Sequence is probably of subaerial origin.

#### Transvaal Sequence

The Transvaal Sequence unconformably overlies rocks ranging in age from Archean basement to rocks of the Ventersdorp Sequence. The Transvaal Sequence is subdivided into three groups: the Black Reef Group (20 m), the Dolomite Group (1520 m) and the Pretoria Group (2440 m), shown in Table 2.4.

The Black Reef Group is the most important of these groups because it contains significant quantities of gold and uranium. It consists of finegrained vitreous quartzite and pebbly quartzite with occasional lenses of basal and intraformational conglomerate which form zones as much as 15 m thick. The upper parts of the group contain interbeds of black carbonaceous shale which become more frequent up-section and grade into black shales of the overlying Dolomite Group (Papenfus, 1964). The average thickness of the Black Reef Group in the Witwatersrand basin is 15 to 30 m. Thickness variations reflect irregularities in the underlying erosion surface, with the Black Reef thickest in topographic lows and often absent above topographic highs.

Conglomerates of the Black Reef Group contain the erosion products of the underlying rocks. Pebbles in the conglomerate are mainly well-rounded quartz pebbles, usually less than 1.25 cm in diameter (Papenfus, 1964). The matrix of the conglomerates is quartzitic and contains pyrite, gold, and uraninite. These conglomerates are similar to conglomerates of the Ventersdorp Contact Reef in that their composition is strongly influenced by the nature of the underlying rocks. For example, pebbles of quartzite, porphyry, diabase, and shale occur in areas near suboutcrops of these lithologies. Also, the quantities of gold, uranium, pyrite, and other heavy minerals are strongly variable depending on the underlying source rocks. Economic concentrations of heavy minerals in the Black Reef occur only where it overlies auriferous and uraniferous conglomerates of the Witwatersrand Sequence -- usually the Kimberley Reefs (Whiteside and others, 1976).

The Dolomite Group gradationally overlies the Black Reef Group and consists mainly of chemically precipitated sediments. The majority of the group consists of dolomite with subordinate bands of chert, limestone, iron formation, quartzite, and shale. The dolomites contain stromatolites, oolitic structures, or ripple marks in some areas. Dolomites give way up-section to cherts of various colors, ferruginous cherts, and, finally, banded iron formation (Haughton, 1963). This iron formation contains important hematite ores, expecially in the eastern part of the Transvaal basin. Gold occurs in the shales, silty dolomites, and dolomites of this group and is commonly associated with pyrite and arsenopyrite (Hammerbeck, 1976). According to Pretorius (1976a), this gold was deposited in a low-energy facies of a deltaic environment and probably was precipitated from solution by organic (algal) agents. He calls this type of deposit a Transvaal-type goldfield to distinguish it from the high-energy fluvial deposits of the Witwatersrandtype goldfields. In contrast, Hammerbeck (1976) considered the gold deposits of the upper Transvaal Sequence to be structurally controlled epigenetic deposits on the basis of the occurrence of gold lodes which cross-cut bedding.

The Pretoria Group unconformably overlies the Dolomite Group and contains a basal chert breccia or conglomerate. The Pretoria Group contains four formations: the Timball Hill Formation consisting of conglomerate, quartzite, and shale; the Daspoort Formation consisting of shale, quartzite, tillite, andesite, and iron formation; the Magaliesberg Formation consisting of shale, graphitic shale, dolomite and quartzite; and the Smelter's Kop Formation consisting of quartzite, shale, andesite and tuff (Haughton, 1963). The Pretoria Group is overlain and intruded by igneous rocks of the Bushveldt complex. Gold occurs in the upper part of the Pretoria Group both in shales and as epigenetic deposits in fracture zones (Hammerbeck, 1976).

## Waterberg Sequence

The Waterberg Sequence unconformably overlies the Transvaal Sequence with considerable hiatus. It consists of reddish conglomerate and quartzite, with minor shale, andesite, and pyroclastics. The rocks are mainly subaerial and fluvial in origin. The importance of the Watersberg Sequence to this discussion is that the quartzites are red in contrast to the gray and green quartzites in the Witwatersrand and lower Transvaal Sequences. This color change indicates that hematite (either syngenetic or

diagenetic) had become stable and this indicates that there was a large increase in free oxygen in the atmosphere during deposition of the Transvaal and Waterberg Sequences -- between 2300 and 1800 m.y. ago. This is about the same time that the first red-beds appeared in the Huronian Supergroup (e.g. 2200 m.y. old upper Cobalt Group) which suggests that the first appearance of red-beds may have been a world-wide event controlled by atmospheric evolution (Roscoe, 1973).

## Intrusive Rocks

The Witwatersrand basin contains numerous dikes and sills composed of diabase and other lithologies. These intrusives represent at least four different igneous events. The oldest dikes and sills are diabases which are considered to represent the fissures along which the Ventersdorp lavas were extruded (Pretorius, 1976b). If so, they are about 2300-2400 m.y. old. The next episode of dike emplacement was probably associated with intrusion of the Bushveldt complex to the north about 1950 m.y. ago. These dikes include diabases, quartz porphyry, gabbro, and pyroxenite (Pretorius, 1976b). Subsequent thermal episodes about 1300 and 150 m.y. ago emplaced dikes of carbonatite, diabase, syenite, kimberlite, and other lithologies.

## Sedimentology and Paleogeography

#### Model of Source Area

Paleocurrent data indicate that the Witwatersrand Sequence was deposited in an intracratonic basin surrounded by an Archean granite-greenstone terrain. Sediments were brought into the basin by river systems which flowed down a southeast paleoslope. The majority of the sediments entered the basin along its northwestern margin, where large deltas formed (Figure 2.7). These deltas contain the major economic concentrations of gold- and uranium-bearing conglomerates. Sediments also entered the basin along its southwestern edge but these sediments are thinner, more argillaceous, and do not contain as much gold and uranium as those on the northwestern edge (Pretorius, 1976b). This paleogeographic evidence indicates that the source of gold, uranium, and most of the sediments in the Witwatersrand Sequence was to the northwest of the basin (Pretorius, 1976b).

The area to the northwest of the Witwatersrand basin is mainly covered by younger rocks of the Ventersdorp and Transvaal Sequences and the Bushveldt complex. However, where pre-Witwatersrand basement is exposed it consists of Archean granitic rocks and greenstone belts, similar to rocks exposed in the Barbarton Mountain Land, several hundred km to the northeast. Therefore, rocks of the Barbarton Mountain Land have been used as examples of what the source area of the Witwatersrand Sequence was like. The Barbarton Mountain Land contains two basic rock types: granitic rocks and supracrustal rocks of the greenstone belts. Both rock types contributed detrital components to the Witwatersrand Sequence.

The supracrustal rocks in the Barbarton Mountain Land are called the Swaziland Sequence and the stratigraphy of these rocks is shown in Table 2.4. The lowest unit is an ultramafic unit. This is overlain by a mafic to felsic volcanic unit, a graywacke unit, and a quartzite unit. The lower ultramafic and mafic rocks contain siderophile elements such as Au, Pt, Cr, Co, and Ni and diamonds, and these rocks are thought to have been the source of detrital gold, platinoids, chromite, cobalite, and diamonds found in the Witwatersrand Sequence (Pretorius, 1976b). The upper felsic volcanics contain larger proportions of chalcophile elements such as Ca, Zn, Pb, Bi, and Ag, and these rocks were probably the source of much of the detrital pyrite, chalcopyrite, and silver found in the Witwatersrand Sequence. The volcaniclastic and clastic materials in the upper part of the greenstone successions probably contributed quartz, feldspar, and rock fragments to the quartzites of the Witwatersrand Sequence. The Archean granitic rocks include both older tonalites and granodiorites (3400-3150 m.y.) and somewhat younger granodiorites and granites (3100-2600 m.y.). All of these granitic rocks probably contributed quartz, plagioclase, zircon, monazite, cassiterite, and garnet to the sediments. However, uranium and potassium came primarily from the younger granites and hydrothermal quartz-uraninite veins associated with them (Shepherd, 1977). This is substantiated by dates of  $3050 \pm 50$  m.y. from detrital uraninite of the Dominion Reef, Witwatersrand, Ventersdorp, and Transvaal Sequences (Rundle and Snelling, 1977) and by the fact that detrital uranium first appeared in southern Africa about 2800 m.y. ago, whereas detrital gold appeared 3100 m.y. ago.

The validity of this source area model can be assessed by examining the history of basin filling versus erosion of the source area. Figure 2.9 shows that the stratigraphy of the Swaziland Sequence is essentially inverted in the Witwatersrand basin as a result of progressive erosion and deposition. The quartzites of the Moodies Group were reworked and deposited as quartz-arenites in the Hospital Hill Group, which are the only quartz-arenites in the Witwatersrand basin. Iron formation of the upper Fig Tree Group was redeposited as ferruginous shales in the Hospital Hill Group. The graywackes of the Fig Tree Group were redeposited as subgraywackes in the Government and Jeppestown Groups. Gold occurs at the upper and lower contacts of the Upper Onverwacht Group in the Swaziland Sequence, and these horizons were the principal sources of gold deposited in the Main-Bird and Kimberley-Elsburg Groups respectively (Pretorius, 1976a).

There are several important implications of this source area model which pertain to exploration for fossil-placer deposits. First, gold is apparently supplied by the ultramafic and mafic components of greenstone sequences. This may explain why the Blind River-Elliot Lake deposits in Canada

do not contain significant gold quantities. Greenstone belts in Canada do not contain thick ultramafic sections and, instead, felsic volcanics predominate. In particular, the greenstone belts in the source area of the Huronian Supergroup are devoid of gold-bearing mafic and ultramafic sequences. Thus, a favorable source area for gold should include greenstone belts containing thick ultramafic rocks or gold-bearing mafic rocks at their base.

Second, uranium is apparently supplied from potassium-rich granites in the source area which are generally 3100-2500 m.y. old. The presence of large volumes of these granites in the source area would be favorable for concentration of placer uranium. In southern Africa, these younger granites are not as voluminous as in the Canadian Shield because of the presence of large areas underlain by greenstone belts and older tonalites. This may explain the larger quantity of detrital uranium in the Huronian Supergroup than in the Witwatersrand Sequence.

## Model of Sediment Transport

The majority of the clastic components of the Pongola, Witwatersrand, Ventersdorp, and Transvaal Sequences were carried into the depositional basin by rivers and streams. This has been well documented by the lateral distribution of lithofacies, paleocurrent studies, patterns of facies changes, patterns of grain size variation, study of sedimentary structures, and the patterns of distribution of detrital gold and uranium (Pretorius, 1976a). These rivers flowed down a southeast paleoslope which persisted in southern Africa from about 3100 to 1800 m.y. and carried detrital debris from an eroded Archean basement into a shallow intracratonic marine or lacustrine basin. Within the basin, clockwise longshore currents washed and reworked the detritus and chemical sediments were deposited in the deeper part. The distribution of the rivers and the configuration of the basin were strongly influenced



# SWAZILAND SEQUENCE

Figure 2.9. An inverted stratigraphy model of the history of L..... filling in the Witwatersrand basin. The source of most of the gold in the Upper Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence is believed to have been strata-bound ore bodies along the contacts between the Lower and Upper Onverwacht and between the Upper Onverwacht and Fig Tree Groups (redrawn from Pretorius, 1976a, p. 21). Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company and the author. by pre- and syn-depositional basin and dome warping and by block faulting-both in the source area and around the margins of the basin. Thus, the paleogeographic setting for deposition of the Witwatersrand Triad involved relatively high-energy fluvial transport of clastics combined with subaerial deposition of volcanics and volcaniclastics and reworking of sediment by lacustrine or shallow-marine longshore currents. The continentallacustrine conditions were interrupted by at least one major period of marine transgression in which chemical sediments of the Transvaal Sequence were deposited.

Figure 2.10 is a schematic representation of the transfer systems which carried sediments into the Witwatersrand basin (after Pretorius, 1976a). The left side of the figure depicts the high-energy fluvial systems which deposited the coarse-clastics of the Pongola, Witwatersrand, Ventersdorp, and lower Transvaal Sequences. Pretorius (1976a) calls this the Witwatersrand-type transfer system. This type of fluvial system was characterized by: relatively high relief; short, linear transport; high energy transport; and a shallow lacustrine basin. Conglomerates, coarser sands, and heavy minerals were deposited in the high-energy regimes of this system and shales, silts, and algal mats were deposited in the lower energy regimes. Pretorius (1976a) suggested that a modern analogy would be something like the alluvial fans in the Basin and Range Province of the western United States except that large quantities of water were available. The Witwatersrand-type transfer system operated during regressive conditions and was responsible for much of the clastic deposition in the Pongola and Witwatersrand Sequences which took place between 3100 and 2500 m.y. ago.

The right side of Figure 2.10 depicts the lower-energy fluvial transport system which Pretorius (1976a) calls the Transvaal-type. This type of system was characterized by: more subdued relief in the source area; long



Figure 2.10. Conceptual model of the transfer systems which collect erosional debris, including gold in solid state and in solution, from the source area, and transport it to a depository, where it is concentrated by physical and biological agencies to form a Witwatersrand-type goldfield in coarse clastics and algal mats, and by chemical and biological agencies to form a Transvaal-type goldfield in fine clastics and non-clastics. Taken from Pretorius, 1976a, p. 11. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company and the author.

transport distances in a meandering river; lower energy transport conditions; and deeper water lacustrine or marine conditions. The sediments of this system are typically fine-grained clastics and chemical sediments such as dolomite and iron formation. The Transvaal-type transport system formed large deltas located well out into the depositional basin and would be analogous to continental-shelf type environments (Pretorius, 1976a). The Transvaal-type system operated during the major period of marine regression which affected the Witwatersrand basin during deposition of the Transvaal Sequence 2300-2100 m.y. ago.

## Model of Sediment Deposition

The environments of deposition of various units of the Witwatersrand system are shown in Table 2.4. The majority of the clastics were deposited in fluvial-lacustrine or fluvial-deltaic environments and the majority of the volcanics were deposited subaerially. These interpretations of depositional environments are based on abundant stratigraphic and sedimentological data, especially for the Witwatersrand Sequence. The sedimentology of the Witwatersrand basin has, perhaps, been as extensively studied as any sedimentary basin on earth because of the gold and uranium deposits in conglomerates. The process of mining and exploration of the deposits has made available an enormous amount of subsurface information so that the configuration and distribution of lithofacies of conglomerate, sand, and shale are well known; paleocurrent data are abundant; and sedimentary structures and stratification sequences are exposed in three dimensions. The most recent interpretation of the sedimentological data is presented by Pretorius (1976a, 1976b) and Whiteside and others (1976) and is summarized below. Other important articles include: Minter (1976), Pretorius (1975), Brock and Pretorius (1964a, 1964b), and Haughton (1964).

The sedimentological data indicate that the Witwatersrand basin was an elongated asymmetrical depository with shorelines along its northwestern and southeastern edges. It is not known whether the ends were closed or open to a larger seaway. The majority of the sediment was carried into the basin by southeast-flowing rivers which formed deltas and fan deltas where they spilled into the basin. The deltaic sediments, especially the distal facies, were reworked by lacustrine (or shallow-marine) longshore currents which traveled in a clockwise direction and transported and deposited finegrained clastic sediments between the deltas. Between deltas, algal colonies developed and chemical sediments were deposited. Outside of the basin, continental sedimentation and subaerial volcanism were the dominant styles of deposition. The northwest margin of the basin was fault-bounded and tectonically active during deposition and the majority of the sediments entered the basin on this side. These sediments are significantly thicker, coarsergrained, and more highly reworked than the sediments on the relatively passive, southeast side of the basin. Frequent tectonic adjustments along the northwestern marginal fault and in the source area created numerous regressions and transgressions during deposition of the Witwatersrand Sequence which resulted in the formation of disconformities overlain by reworked conglomerates. Constant reworking of deltaic sediments during the regressive episodes is probably the key to the accumulation of economically important concentrations of detrital heavy minerals.

Fluvial deposition in the Witwatersrand basin can be understood in terms of two end-member types of depositional environments shown in Figure 2.10, the Witwatersrand-type and the Transvaal-type. The Witwatersrandtype depositional environment was a high-energy fluvial system in which conglomerates and sands were deposited in a fan-delta at the edge of a

shrinking basin. A more detailed representation of this system is shown in Figure 2.11 from Pretorius (1976a). The fan-deltas formed in this system were asymmetrical structures composed of two lobes of coarse-clastics surrounded by finer-grained clastics. The asymmetry was the result of lacustrine longshore currents which redistributed the sediments; the lobes represent the main channels of the braided streams. The components of the system were the fanhead, midfan, and fanbase (Figure 2.11). The fanhead was located near the tectonically-active basin edge and it contained cobbles and boulders in deeply incised channels. Tectonic movements along the edge of the basin usually caused the fanhead clastics to be uplifted. reworked, and redeposited farther down the fan-delta. The midfan contained gravels and sands deposited in braided, shallow channels. This part of the fan-delta contained the optimum conditions for accumulation of gold because it contained relatively coarse clastics which were depressed during tectonic adjustments, and therefore preserved. The fanbase contained finergrained clastics which were deposited in shallow, braided channels and were strongly influenced by longshore currents in the basin.

Deposition in the Witwatersrand-type fan-delta took place by a series of pulses of sedimentation caused by regressive-transgressive cycles. The delta was built-out during regression due to fluvial deposition of open framework gravels and sands. This was followed by deposition of finergrained clastics during transgression. Continued transgression caused clastic deposition to cease and the sediments were then eroded and reworked by lacustrine currents--forming an unconformity. A new pulse of gravels and sands were then deposited on the disconformity following regression caused by tectonic movements and the cycle was repeated. This type of cyclical deposition is well recorded in the conglomerates and quartzites of the Upper Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence.



Figure 2.11. Conceptual model of a Witwatersrand-type goldfield. The fluvial system brings from the source-area unsorted erosional debris which undergoes sorting on the fluvial fan in accordance with a hydrodynamic regime radially decreasing in energy away from the apex of the fan. Because of the small grain-size of the gold particles, they are unable to settle, to any marked extent, in the fanhead facies. Optimum conditions for settling occur in the midfan facies. The energy level becomes too low to move detrital particles in any quantity to the fanbase environment. However, gold in solution is precipitated by the algae which grow preferentially in the non-turbulent conditions along the margins and base of the fan. Taken from Pretorius (1976a), p. 17. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company and the author.

The Transvaal-type fluvial depositional environment was a lower energy regime in which silts, muds, and dolomite were the main deposits. These fine-grained sediments were deposited in an environment which contained a long, meandering river system of low gradient feeding a large submarine delta located well out into the basin. Associated environments probably included alluvial flood plains, swamps, lagoons, and other intertidal environments. Sedimentation was less affected by tectonic movements at the edge of the basin than in the Witwatersrand-type system and the influence of shallow-marine currents was stronger. This type of depositional environment accounted for deposition of the Transvaal Sequence and probably part of the Lower Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence.

# Model of Tectonic Influence of Sedimentation

The stratigraphy of the Witwatersrand Sequence can be viewed in terms of a series of cycles of varying frequency (Sharpe, 1949; Duff and others, 1967; Pretorius, 1965, 1966, 1975, 1976a). The lowest-frequency cycle is represented by the five sedimentary sequences which formed in separate intracratonic basins in southern Africa between 3100 and 1800 m.y. ago with a periodicity of about 250 m.y. Medium-frequency cycles are represented by the overall trend of deposition in each of the sedimentary sequence which generally began with volcanism, proceeded through clastic deposition, and ended with renewed volcanism. High-frequency cycles are represented by alternating lithologies within the major groups of the medium-frequency cycle. Figure 2.12 shows the details of the medium-frequency cycle of the Witwatersrand Sequence in relation to stratigraphy and tectonic stability. The Dominion Reef Group contains volcanics and coarse-clastics which were deposited in a tectonically unstable regime following a period of erosion of the Archean basement. The Dominion Reef Group was followed by the transgressive,



Figure 2.12. Conceptual model of the stratigraphic response to harmonic variations in energy of deposition in the Witwatersrand basin. The model requires a mirror-image repetition of the stratigraphic succession from the lower members of the depositional fill into the upper members. Because of this, ideally there are two optimum stratigraphic positions for the formation of an intermediate-energy Witwatersrand-type goldfield (W1 and W2) and two positions for a low-energy Transvaal-type goldfield (T). In practice, W1 is more favorable than W2 for gold concentration because regression causes continued sediment reworking whereas transgression causes burial of pre-existing sediments. From Pretorius (1976a, p. 14). Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company and the author.

fining-upward clastic assemblage of the Hospital Hill and Government Groups. Transgression reached its peak during deposition of non-clastics and fineclastics of the Jeppestown Group. This was followed by the regressive, coarsening-upward clastic sequence of the Main-Bird and Kimberley-Elsburg Groups. Finally, volcanism began again and the Klipriviersberg Group was deposited.

Higher-frequency cycles are superimposed upon the medium-frequency cycle. Sedimentation in the Lower Division consisted of alternating shales and sands and sedimentation in the Upper Division consisted of alternating sands and gravels (Figure 2.8). These alternating clastic sequences can be explained in terms of high-frequency transgressive-regressive cycles which were superimposed in the medium-frequency transgression and regression trends shown in Figure 2.12. These high-frequency transgressions and regressions were responsible for progressive build up of the fluvial fansdeltas and concentration of heavy minerals in conglomerates.

The major control of cyclical sedimentation in the Witwatersrand basin appears to have been tectonism (Pretorius, 1976a; Brock and Pretorius, 1964b). The low-frequency cycles were a response to changes in topographic elevation which reflected the large-scale tectonic trend toward crustal thickening and cratonic stability which was the prominent feature of the Archean-Proterozoic transition. The craton appears to have been slowly rising throughout deposition of the Swaziland, Pongola, Witwatersrand, and Ventersdorp Sequences (3100-2300 m.y.); then it subsided during deposition of the Transvaal Sequence (2300-2100 m.y.) and re-emerged for deposition of the Watersberg Sequence (2000-1750 m.y.). The medium-frequency cycles represent transgressions and regressions which occurred during the general trend toward cratonic stability. These transgressions and regressions reflect episodic tectonic activity which is probably related to basin and

dome folding of the basin and the source area. The high-frequency cycles in the Witwatersrand Sequence appear to be related to faulting and differential subsidence near the margins of the basin. Movement on the faults repeatedly caused elevation of the source area relative to the basin which resulted in deposition of coarse clastics at the beginning of each cycle.

# Mineral Deposits

### Distribution

The major goldfields (and uranium producing areas) in the Witwatersrand basin are shown in Figure 2.7. In a clockwise direction these are: Welkom goldfield (also called the Orange Free State goldfield); Klerksdorp goldfield; Carletonville goldfield (also called the Far West Rand or West Wits Line goldfield); West Rand goldfield; East Rand goldfield; and Evander goldfield. The Central Rand goldfield, where gold was first discovered in the basin, is considered by Pretorius (1976a) to be the area where the East and West Rand goldfields overlap and not a separate goldfield. Each of the goldfields is interpreted to be a fluvial fan-delta which formed where a braided river system entered the basin. Their distribution on the northwest side of the depositional basin indicates that the majority of the Witwatersrand sediments were derived from a northwestern source and transported into the basin down a southeast paleoslope. Figure 2.7 also shows that the goldfields are located southeast of the trace of the Rand Anticline, in structural depressions located between domes cored by granitic material. This suggests that the northwest margin of the basin at the time of deposition of the Witwatersrand Sequence was located near the trace of the Rand Fault and that the structural pattern of basins and domes had already been established prior to deposition.

Gold and uranium occur in four different types of reefs within the fluvial fan-deltas: 1) as detrital grains in the matrix of quartz-pebble

conglomerates; 2) on the foresets of cross-bedded pyritic sands which fill scoured channels; 3) in thin layers which overlie unconformities developed on sands or muds; and 4) in thin carbon seams which developed on unconformities. Each of these types of reefs represents some facies of cyclical fluvial-deltaic deposition. The first two were deposited in response to the initial sedimentation which followed a period of erosion. Conglomerates were deposited in thick and extensive bankets in areas where the main channels of a braided river coalesced. In other areas, where transport distance was less, sands were deposited on the eroded surface. In both of these cases, some heavy minerals were brought in with the coarse-clastics and others were simply incorporated into the basal clastics from debris left on the erosion surface. In the last two types of reefs, heavies were concentrated by winnowing processes which were active during the terminal, erosion phase of the cycle. Then, if sand deposition of the succeeding cycle was rapid enough, and of low-enough energy, the accumulated heavies on the erosion surface were buried undisturbed instead of being ripped up and incorporated into the succeeding coarse-clastic type of reef. The result was a layer of heavy minerals between two sand or mud units.

It should be emphasized that all of these types of gold- and uraniumbearing reefs in the Witwatersrand basin occur either directly below or directly above inter-cycle unconformities. As a consequence, the identification of such unconformities is of great economic importance.

#### Lithology and Mineralogy

The mineralized conglomerates of the Witwatersrand Sequence are relatively mature quartz- and chert-pebble conglomerates which are typically composed of 80 percent (by weight) pebbles and 20 percent matrix (Pretorius, 1976b). Quartz and chert pebbles usually constitute 90-95 percent

of the pebble fraction; quartzite and quartz-porphyry often constitute 5-10 percent; and less competent clasts of rock fragments of shale, schist, and volcanics rarely make up more than 1-2 percent (Pretorius, 1976b). Most of the pebbles are smaller than 2.5 cm in diameter but they can range up to 10 cm. The larger pebbles are usually well-rounded to sub-rounded and oval shaped and the smaller pebbles are subangular (Whiteside and others, 1976). Pebbles are usually well-sorted due to cyclical reworking of the sediments and packing is usually fairly tight, but not always pebble-supported. In general, the highest grade conglomerates are the ones with thelowest percentage of labile pebbles such as quartzite, quartz-porphyry, shale, and schist, and the highest percentage of quartz and chert pebbles.

The matrix of the conglomerates consists mainly of quartz grains with variable amounts of phylosilicates, heavy minerals, rock fragments, and feldspar. The size of the quartz fraction is commonly in the range of .5 to 1 mm and the quartz grains are usually recrystallized. The percentage of heavy minerals is variable and tends to increase with increasing quartz content of the matrix. As an example, the Vaal Reef of the Main-Bird Group (Figure 1.8) in the Klerksdorp area is an important producer of both gold and uranium. Its matrix contains 93 percent quartz, 6 percent sericite and chlorite, and 1 percent rock fragments. In contrast, the quartzite units directly above the reef contain 62 percent quartz, 34 percent phylosilicates, and 4 percent rock fragments and are essentially barren of gold and uranium (Minter, 1976).

The heavy mineral fraction of the conglomerates of the Witwatersrand Sequence includes an impressive number of different minerals which are shown in Table 2.6. Of these, gold, platinum, uranium and pyrite (for sulphuric acid) are the major ores, with gold being by far the most important economically. The most abundant heavy mineral is pyrite, which commonly constitutes 15 percent of the matrix and 3 percent of the total rock in an ore-bearing conglomerate and can constitute up to 25 percent of the rock (Pretorius, 1976b). The most common non-economic heavy minerals are chromite, zircon, and leucoxene. The relative percentages of these three minerals is quite variable and is often diagnostic of a particular reef (Pretorius, 1976b).

Pyrite occurs in three distinguishable varieties: allogenic, concretionary authigenic, and reconstituted authigenic grains (Köppel and Saager, 1974). The allogenic pyrite is the most common type in the Dominion Reef and in many of the other reefs of the Witwatersrand Sequence. It is identified by its rounded and abraded outlines, its fresh homogeneous appearance, and a distinct suite of inclusions--most notably galena. It is interpreted to be detrital in origin on the basis of its morphology, because of its distribution in layers in the matrix of conglomerates and on the foresets of cross-beds, and because it is in hydraulic equivalence with uraninite, quartz, and gold in the matrix of the conglomerates. The second type is concretionary authigenic pyrite, and it occurs as rounded, porous grains 1-4 mm in diameter, some of which are layered or zoned with alternating sulphide and silicate layers (Simpson and Bowles, 1977). This type of pyrite was interpreted by Simpson and Bowles (1977) to be detrital on the basis of the heterogeneity of these pyrite grains on the scale of a hand specimen and the presence of fractured and abraded grains. They suggested that this type represents pyritized mudballs formed within the basin. The third type is reconstituted authigenic pyrite which occurs in euhedral shapes and is found both in the matrix of conglomerates and as overgrowths on detrital pyrite grains. Simpson and Bowles (1977) noted the presence of gold grains within reconstituted pyrite grains and suggested, on this evidence, that gold, pyrite, and uraninite were remobilized during postdepositional regional metamorphism to form these reconstituted grains.

Economic	Sulphides	Ovides	Silicates	Others
innerars	<u>outpindes</u>		JITICALOS	
Gold Tellurium	pyrrhotite	quartz	muscovite	calcite
ierrur rum	loellingite	cassiterite	pyrophyllite	dorointee
Silver	marcasite	. h. m	chlorite	zenotime
Proustite	chalconvrite	chromite	chiofitoia hiotite	monazite
Dyscrasite	chalcopyrrhotite	columbite	Diotito	diamond
,	cubanite		kaolinite	graphite
Platinum	chalcocite	corundum		
Platiniridium	neodigenite	<b>.</b>	epidote	
Usmiriaium Iridosmine	bornite	hematite	tourmaline	
Sperrylite	tennantite	qoethite	courmartic	
Braggite		5	garnet	
Cooperite	galena	rutile		
Uraninita	cobolorito	leucoxene	zircon	
Thucholite	spharerite	ilmenite	sohene	
Brannerite	molybdenite	anatase	sphene	
Uranothorite Pyrite	bismuthinite	brookite		
	arsenopyrite			
	skutterudite			
	cobaltite			
	glaucodot			
	safflorite			
	gersdorffite niccolite			
	millerite			
	pentlandite			
	mackinawite			

Table 2.6. Minerals present in Witwatersrand auriferous horizons. Taken from Pretorius (1976b, p. 64). Reproduced with permission from Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company and the author. Uraninite occurs in two forms in the Witwatersrand Sequence: as wellcrystallized uraninite with a significant thorium content ( $\sim$  6.6 percent) and as poorly-crystallized uraninite with a low thorium content ( $\sim$  2 percent) which is associated with organic material (Simpson and Bowles, 1977). The well-crystallized uraninite occurs as discrete euhedral to rounded grains .06-.25 mm in diameter which are often fractured. Simpson and Bowles interpreted this type of uraninite to be allogenic on the basis of its morphology, distribution, and the fact that it is in hydraulic equivalence with pyrite and quartz grains in the matrix of conglomerates (Koen, 1961). The median uranium to thorium ratio in this type of uraninite is 8.5.

Poorly crystallized, low thorium uraninite is found associated with thin seams of carbonaceous material and in pyrite concretions. These carbonaceous seams are very rich in both uranium and gold and are considered by Hallbauer (1975) to be the fossilized residue of Precambrian algal colonies. The carbonaceous material occurs in granular and columnar varieties in seams which are about 1 cm thick. Gold and uranium are disseminated in the pores and interstitial areas in both types of carbonaceous material. According to Simpson and Bowles (1977), the uranium was incorporated into the carbonaceous layers in two ways: as fine-grained allogenic uraninite particles caught by the algal material, and as uranyl ions which were absorbed, reduced, and precipitated by the carbonaceous muds to form the low-thorium uraninite. They suggested that the low-thorium uraninite in the carbonaceous material is evidence that uranium was transported in solution and precipitated by organic agents in the lower-energy environments of the fluvial fan-delta. One example of a carbon seam is the Carbon Leader of the Main Reef Group, which is a maximum of 13 mm thick and contains important quantities of uranium and gold. The uraninite in pyrite concretions occurs in

the pores or in the rims and probably was absorbed during transport of the concretion (Simpson and Bowles, 1977).

Gold occurs in three forms in the Witwatersrand Sequence: 1) with quartz and silicates in the matrix of conglomerates and in guartzites, 2) with carbonaceous material, and 3) as coatings on pyrite and other sulphides (Hallbauer and Joughin, 1973). The majority of the gold is of the first It occurs as platelets and irregular specks .005-.5 mm in diameter type. and is associated with quartz and phylosilicates (Pretorius, 1976b). This type of gold was transported as detrital particles in sands and was incorporated in the matrix of gravels either by incorporation of underlying sands during deposition of gravels or by downward filtration of sands into previously deposited open-framework gravels (Pretorius, 1976b). The second type of gold occurs as veinlets and patches in the pores of carbonaceous material and as a replacement of the algal filaments in the columnar variety of carbonaceous material (Hallbauer, 1972, 1975). The gold is associated and intergrown with fine-grained uraninite, pyrite, and galena. According to Pretorius (1976a), this type of gold was transported in solution as chloride and cyanide complexes and was precipitated by organic material and absorbed on colloidal particles of clay. Deposition of this type of gold occurred in the distal (fanbase) parts of the delta under low-energy, estuarine conditions. The third type of gold occurs as inclusions in or overgrowths on sulphide minerals such as pyrite, chalcopyrite, and galena (Liebenberg, 1973). Much of this type of gold probably represents small-scale, postdepositional remobilization of gold.

# Genesis

The genesis of gold- and uranium-bearing conglomerates can be largely explained in terms of the sedimentological processes which transported and
concentrated detrital heavy minerals in conglomerates and coarse sands of a braided river system. The nature of these sedimentological processes have been discussed in previous sections dealing with models of the source area, transfer system, and depositional environment of the conglomerates and will not be discussed here. However, there are two aspects of ore-genesis which need further discussion. These are the geochemical constraints and organic controls of ore genesis.

The most important question concerning geochemistry pertains to the composition of the atmosphere and waters in which the ores were deposited. Geological evidence is now interpreted to indicate that most of the gold, uraninite, pyrite, and other sulphide minerals were transported as detrital particles in braided rivers. Uraninite, pyrite, and sulphides are generally unstable minerals in modern fluvial systems because they tend to be dissolved in oxygenated waters. As a consequence, their presence in conglomerates of the Witwatersrand Sequence is usually interpreted as evidence for a low oxygen fugacity in the Archean and Early Proterozoic atmosphere (Pretorius, 1976a; Grandstaff, 1974). This concept fits well into the larger concept of atmospheric evolution which is based on evidence from biologic evolution (Cloud, 1968), and from the temporal distribution of redbeds (Roscoe, 1973), iron formation, and dolomites. These lines of evidence indicate that abundant free oxygen did not become available in the atmosphere until about 1800-2000 m.y. ago.

However, this model is difficult to reconcile with the relatively new geologic evidence of Simpson and Bowles (1977) and Pretorius (1976a) which indicates that gold, uranium, and sulphate were transported in solution and syngenetically deposited in the lower-energy regimes of the fluviallacustrine system by organic agents. Simpson and Bowles (1977) interpreted these data as an indication that uranyl and sulphate ions, and presumably gold complexes, were transported in <u>oxidizing</u> waters and precipitated in local reducing environments created by still-water conditions and organic activity. According to them, uraninite can be transported as a detrital mineral in oxygenated waters if it contains more than 1 percent thorium which all the Witwatersrand uraninite does. They propose that the atmosphere and waters during deposition of the Witwatersrand Sequence were oxidizing.

If all the interpretations of geological data are correct, then the atmosphere and water geochemistry was such that uranium, gold, and sulfur were transported both in detrital grains and in solution, and organic material was present to reduce, precipitate, and absorb the materials from solution. The exact Eh and pH of the atmosphere and waters in which this could occur is not known. Certainly some oxygen was present, but the question of how much remains enigmatic.

The exact role of organic material is another interesting problem in terms of ore genesis. Pretorius (1976a) showed that the peaks in development of gold mineralization in the Witwatersrand and Transvaal Sequences corresponds to peaks in algal activity within the Witwatersrand basin. He suggested that this correlation reflects sedimentological controls and that the braided river-lacustrine depositional environment was favorable both for placer gold deposition and algal activity. The presence of unmineralized carbonaceous seams (Simpson and Bowles, 1977) and carbon-free mineralized conglomerates indicates that there was not necessarily any direct dependence of mineralization on carbonaceous material or vice versa.

### Economic Importance

The history of exploration in the Witwatersrand basin is summarized by Borchers (1964) and Whiteside and others (1976). The discovery of gold in

conglomerates dates back to 1885 when the Struben brothers discovered goldbearing reefs in the Lower Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence. Higher grade conglomerates of the Main Reef were discovered in the Central Rand in 1886 and Johannesberg was founded that same year. The Klerksdorp field was discovered in 1887. The large extent of the conglomerate ores in the subsurface was proven in the early 1890's by deep drillholes in the Central Rand which intersected the Main Reef at depths in excess of 1000 m. These drillholes showed that the dip of the beds decreased at depth and this led to the idea that the Witwatersrand was a basin. This idea led to the discovery of the West Rand in 1898. There was little exploration from 1907 to 1932, at which time South Africa went off the gold standard and the price of gold consequently jumped. This resulted in new activity in existing goldfields, such as the discovery of the Vaal Reef in Klerksdorp field in the 1930's, and the discovery of new goldfields such as Carletonville goldfield in 1935 and the Welkom goldfield in 1939. The last of the presently known goldfields, the Evander goldfield, was discovered in the middle 1950's. In 1953, recovery of uranium as a by-product of gold mining began. Uranium production reached its peak in 1960 and gold production was highest in 1970.

The economic importance of the Witwatersrand basin is nearly unparalleled. This one mining district has contributed about 55 percent of all the gold that the world has produced throughout history--about 29,000 metric tons of gold valued at more than 34 billion dollars. As of 1972, it was responsible for about 66 percent of the world's annual gold production, and it still contains the world's largest reserves of gold (Pretorius, 1976b). The Witwatersrand basin has also produced about 76,000 metric tons of uranium valued at about 2 billion dollars and it contains about 20 percent of the world's "reasonably assured" uranium reserves of \$10/pound U<sub>3</sub>0<sub>8</sub> (Ninninger, 1974). The most significant gold-bearing reefs are those in the lower part of the Main-Bird Group. These reefs include the Carbon Leader, Main Reef, Main Reef Leader, and South Reef which are shown in Figure 2.8. Of these, the Carbon Leader has the highest gold grades--20 ppm in the Carletonville goldfield. Other important gold-bearing reefs include the Bird, Kimberley, and Elsburg Reefs of the Witwatersrand Sequence, the Ventersdorp Contact Reef, and the Black Reef of the Transvaal Sequence. The average ore grade of all these reefs is about 10 ppm.

Uranium is distributed somewhat differently. The most important uranium ores come from the Bird Reef section of the Main-Bird Group, while the Main Reef section is relatively low in uranium. The highest grades of uranium occur in the Vaal and Basal Reefs, and the Carbon Leader (Figure 2.8), with values up to about .1 percent. The Dominion Reef, like the Bird Reefs, is generally higher in uranium than in gold. The Kimberley Reefs are the youngest reefs which contain significant uranium mineralization. According to Whiteside and others (1976), the main uranium mines occur in the western part of the Witwatersrand basin--in the Carletonville, Klerksdorp, and Welkom goldfields.

### WEST AFRICA

# Ghana and Ivory Coast

# Geologic Setting

Auriferous quartz-pebble conglomerates occur in the Tarkwa Sequence of Ghana and Ivory Coast, in the southwest corner of the West African Shield (Figure 2.5). In the southern part of this shield, the oldest rocks are granitic gneisses and infolded supracrustal rocks which yield dates between 2600 and 3700 m.y. (Hurley and Rand, 1973; Cahen, 1961, Hurley and others, 1975; Hedge and others, 1975; Williams, 1978). These Archean rocks are overlain by the Birrimian Sequence containing a lower assemblage of slates, phyllites, graywackes, and volcanics and an upper assemblage of metavolcanics and minor phyllite, graywacke, and manganiferous shale (Junner and others, 1942, <u>in</u> Hurley and Rand, 1973). The Birrimian Sequence was metamorphosed and intruded by granites during a thermal episode about 2000 m.y. ago (Hurley and Rand, 1973; Kolbe and others, 1967). Thus, the age of Birrimian Sequence is between 2600 and 2000 m.y.

The Tarkwa Sequence unconformably overlies the Birrimian Sequence (Junner and others, 1942; Service, 1943, <u>in</u> Sestini, 1973) and consists of conglomerates and quartzites of fluvial origin. These rocks are at least 1645 m.y. old (Holmes and Cahen, 1955, <u>in</u> Sestini, 1973). The rocks are folded, along with the underlying Birrimian Sequence, into asymmetric northeast plunging folds with steep, overturned, or thrust faulted northwest limbs. Metamorhpic grade ranges from middle greenschist facies to middle amphibolite facies (Sestini, 1973).

Figure 2.13 shows the two major outcrop areas of the Tarkwa Sequence in Ghana and Ivory Coast. The southern outcrop, located near Tarkwa, Ghana is about 250 km long and 25 km wide. This outcrop contains gold mines along its southeastern margin. The northern outcrop is about 200 km long and straddles the border between Ghana and Ivory Coast. This outcrop contains only minor amounts of gold (Sestini, 1973).

## Stratigraphy and Lithology

The Tarkwa Sequence near Tarkwa is about 2400 m thick and is subdivided into four formations: Kawere conglomerate (lowest), Banket quartzite, Tarkwa phyllite, and Huni sandstone (Junner and others, 1942, <u>in</u> Sestini, 1973). These units and cross-cutting diabase dikes and sills are shown in Figure 2.13. According to Sestini (1973), these formations represent lithofacies of a fluvial depositional environment so each of the formations is approximately contemporaneous with and interfingers with the other formations.

The Banket quartzite is of greatest interest to this discussion because it contains the major gold-bearing conglomerates of the sequence. The Banket quartzite is about 120-600 m thick and is underlain by less mature arkoses and arkosic conglomerates of the Kawere conglomerate. The base of the Banket quartzite is marked by a conglomeratic zone 30-100 m thick which contains at least three reefs separated by cross-bedded, fine- to medium-grained sericitic quartzite and pebbly quartzite. The reefs are called the Basal (or Main) reef, the Middle (or West) reef, and the Breccia reef (Sestini, 1973).

The Basal reef is 4-15 m thick and contains between two and ten distinct conglomerate lenses which pass laterally and vertically into relatively mature, trough cross-bedded grit, breccia, and pebbly quartzite characterized by hematite seams, sericite, and rare feldspar. The conglomerate layers occur as isolated lenses of tightly packed pebbles up to 1 m thick and as the basal part of fining-upwards, trough cross-bedded stratification sequences (Sestini, 1973). The conglomerates are usually poorly sorted. The average pebble size is 5-8 cm but they range up to 18 cm. The larger pebbles (8-18 cm) are well-rounded and smaller pebbles (35-60 mm) are sub-angular. More



Figure 2.13. Geology of the Tarkwa region and index maps of the Tarkwaian outcrops of Ghana and Ivory Coast. Redrawn from Sestini (1973, p. 277). Reproduced with permission from Springer-Verlag.

than 90 percent of the pebbles are quartz, the rest being schist, phyllite, and chert. The matrix of the conglomerates consists mainly of quartz grains (.9-1.4 mm) with sericite, hematite (.4-.6 mm), magnetite, and accessory tourmaline, zircon, rutile, garnet, chloritoid, epidote, pyrite, bornite, and chalcopyrite. Hematite comprises 10-50 percent of the matrix of the conglomerates and gold values range up to 60 ppm, with an average of 5-15 ppm (Sestini, 1973).

The Middle reef is 1-15 m thick and usually consists of 2-5 conglomerate layers. It is characterized by abundant hematite seams and small-scale trough cross-bedding. It differs from the Basal reef in that it is finer grained and usually contains less gold (2-6 ppm).

The Breccia reef is 2-20 m thick and consists of angular lithic fragments of schist and phyllite up to 20 mm in diameter. These fragments are interpreted by Sestini (1973) to be fragments derived from mudstones and shales of the Tarkwa Sequence and from the underlying Birrimian Sequence. The Breccia reef is associated with quartzites and grits containing thin breccia bands and scattered lithic fragments. This reef usually contains less than 3 ppm gold (Sestini, 1973).

### Sedimentology

The Banket quartzite is interpreted by Sestini (1973) to be a fluvial assemblage on the basis of sedimentary structures, stratification sequences, and the aerial distribution of lithofacies. His evidence for fluvial deposition is as follows: 1) the lenticular nature of conglomerate beds, with transitions from conglomerate to pebbly quartzite; 2) abundant trough crossbedding; 3) fining-upwards cycles, from conglomerate to fine-grained quartzite, accompanied by decrease in depth of cross-bed sets; 4) poor sorting and abundance of sand-supported gravel; 5) abundance of tabular pebbles, many with their long axis normal to the current direction, and occasional upstream imbrication; and 6) low roundness of pebbles, indicating short transport distances.

Sestini envisioned a braided river system on a piedmont slope instead of a meandering river system in a flood plain. Evidence for braided river deposition includes: the wide aerial extent of the conglomerates, low variability in cross-bedding types and directions, an absence of fine-grained overbank sediments and other floodplain features such as lamination and mudcracks, and poor sorting. All of these factors suggest deposition by an overloaded, relatively high-gradient braided river system.

Paleocurrents measurements on crossbedding indicate that the source of the rocks near Tarkwa was to the east and south of the present outcrops (Figure 2.13). Sestini (1973) suggested that the sediments were deposited in a series of alluvial fans which were built up on the east and south margins of a depositional basin by west and north flowing, converging rivers. He also proposed that the present limit of outcrops of the Banket quartzite was the approximate location of the basin margin during deposition of the Basal reef. This idea is supported by the decrease in gold content of the basal conglomerate to the west--down the paleoslope.

# Mineral Deposits

Gold is the only reported mineral of economic importance in the Tarkwa Sequence. It occurs as irregular grains 10-15 microns in diameter in the matrix of conglomerates. Several lines of evidence indicate that the gold is detrital in origin. These are: 1) gold is associated with conglomerates; 2) high gold values occur in strips which are elongated parallel to the paleocurrent directions; 3) gold values are highest in the lower 25-50 cm of the Basal reef; 4) gold tends to be richest in conglomerate lenses which are thin, very coarse-grained, and have tightly packed pebbles; and 5) there is a direct correlation between high gold values and high concentrations of other heavy minerals, especially hematite.

Unlike most Early Proterozoic fossil-placer conglomerates, hematite rather than pyrite is the most abundant heavy mineral. In the Tarkwa conglomerates, hematite may constitute more than 50 percent of the matrix of the conglomerates and commonly comprises greater than 20 percent. It occurs as euhedral to rounded grains .4-.6 mm in diameter which may be randomly distributed in the matrix of conglomerates or concentrated along foreset beds and in small scours in the quartzites. It is often associated with rounded grains of zircon and rutile which are obviously of detrital origin. This association, and the relationship of hematite grains to sedimentary features, indicates a detrital origin for the hematite. Recrystallization during metamorphism was responsible for the euhedral shapes and for remobilization of hematite to form stringers and patches of hematite which are oriented parallel to foliation.

Sestini's model for the origin of the gold- and hematite-bearing conglomerates is very similar to the model developed by Pretorius (1976a) for the origin of the Witwatersrand conglomerates. It involves high energy transport of detritus in a braided-river system, deposition of a fluvial fan-delta at the margin of a lacustrine or shallow marine basin, and concentration of heavy minerals in the middle portions of the fan-delta by repeated reworking of the sediments. In the Tarkwa Sequence, the observed correlation of high gold values with thin, tightly packed, very coarse conglomerates can be explained in terms of this model. Gold was deposited in moderate quantities with very coarse gravel near the apex of the fan-delta. Subsequent reworking of this gravel by fluvial currents removed the sand, improved the packing of the pebbles, made the unit thinner, and concentrated

the heavy minerals. The resulting open-framework lag gravels were subsequently covered and infiltrated with sand and heavy minerals during the next pulse of sedimentation. The heavy minerals were concentrated in the gravels through settling processes and the sand was winnowed out by continued reworking. Eventually, a tightly packed conglomerate with appreciable concentrations of gold and other heavy minerals developed (Sestini, 1973).

There are two other lines of evidence indicating continued reworking of the conglomerates in a fluvial fan-delta environment. First, the auriferous reefs are richest near the east margin of the present outcrop area. This is also where the conglomerate layers are thinnest. To the west, the reefs get thicker, they contain more rock fragments, and gold values decrease. This suggests that reworking of conglomerates near the basin edge was important in concentrating gold. Second, in the eastern part of the Tarkwa Sequence, gold in the Basal reef zone is found mainly in the basal conglomerate, whereas to the west, significant gold quantities are found in the upper conglomerate layers of the zone. Similarly, the Middle reef appears to get richer toward the west. Both of these facts suggest that uplift, erosion, and reworking near the apex of the fan-delta, after deposition of the basal conglomerate, provided a source of gold which was transported and reconcentrated farther down the fan with time. This suggests that the Tarkwa Sequence is a regressive sequence deposited in a shrinking sedimentary basin; a situation very similar to conditions during deposition of the Upper Division of the Witwatersrand Sequence.

The origin of the Tarkwa ore deposits seems to be closely analogous to that of the Witwatersrand Sequence in many respects. The paleogeographic environments were similar in that both metasedimentary sequences were deposited in intracratonic basins within stable Archean shield areas. Also, the lithologies and depositional environments appear to be the same. However, there is one major difference, and that is the heavy mineral assemblages. The Witwatersrand conglomerates contain gold, uraninite, and pyrite, whereas the Tarkwa conglomerates contain gold and hematite. One possible explanation is that the Archean source areas were drastically different, containing, perhaps, a greenstone belt with associated iron formation and older tonalitic granites. A source area of this sort could supply sufficient quantities of gold, hematite, and quartz plus accessory zircon, rutile, garnet, chloritoid, pyrite, and chalcopyrite. If younger, potassium-rich granites were absent, there may not have been a source for detrital uraninite. However, the lack of abundant pyrite might be difficult to explain in terms of source area controls.

The alternative explanation, and the one favored by us, is that the Tarkwa conglomerates were deposited in a more oxygenated atmosphere than the Witwatersrand conglomerates and are several hundred million years younger than the Witwatersrand conglomerates. In an oxidizing fluvial system, uraninite and pyrite are unstable as detrital minerals (Pretorius, 1976; Liebenberg, 1955; Grandstaff, 1975; Roscoe, 1969), whereas gold, hematite, zircon, rutile and other heavy silicates are stable. According to Roscoe (1973), an oxidizing environment appeared on earth about 2200 m.y. ago, as shown by the change from pyrite-dominated heavy mineral assemblages (yellow sands) in the Lower Huronian Supergroup to hematite-dominated heavy mineral assemblages (black sands) in the Upper Huronian Supergroup which took place about this time. We speculate that the Tarkwa Sequence was deposited sometime after the appearance of appreciable free-oxygen in the atmosphere, perhaps less than 2200 m.y. ago and that, except for this age difference (< 2200 versus 2700 m.y.), the Tarkwa Sequence is closely analogous to the Witwatersrand Sequence.

### Gabon

Precambrian uraniferous conglomerates have also been reported from Mounana, Gabon, on the west coast of Africa (Bernazeaud, 1959; des Ligeris and Bernazeaud, 1960; Davidson, 1964; De Kun, 1965; Krendlev and others, 1967). Figure 2.5 shows that this area is near the southern margin of the Archean Gabon Craton of Hurley and Rand (1969) and is not far from Jacobina on the pre-Mesozoic continental reconstruction of South America and Africa.

According to Davidson (1964, p. 173), this area contains widespread radioactive conglomerates and sandstones of Proterozoic age which crop out close to an Archean granitic basement. De Kun (1965, p. 340) shows that the conglomerates are in fault contact with granitic basement and are overlain by shales, a situation broadly similar to that at Jacobina, Brazil. The radioactive minerals are reported to be black oxides of uranium and vanadium and they are associated with pyrite, galena, chalcopyrite, sphalerite, bornite, barite, calcite, and wulfenite--but no gold (Davidson, 1964). These minerals apparently form "bedded and irregular impregnations in the sediments" (Davidson, 1964) and Davidson suggested this occurrence is, perhaps, more similar to a Colorado Plateau-type uranium-vanadium deposit that to the Witwatersrandtype deposit. Certainly the presence of vanadium minerals, the porous nature of the host conglomerates, and the apparent fault control of mineralization suggest that the uranium is probably secondary. However, De Kun (1965, p. 340) reported that there was no "sympathetic relationship" between the vanadium and uranium and the minerals map of Africa (UNESCO, 1969) shows the Mounana deposit as a lateritic or eluvial deposit. If so, this would suggest that the uranium is primary and older than 2000 m.y. because after this time uranium ceased to be a resistate mineral because of increasing oxygen in the atmosphere. Nevertheless, we are inclined to believe the deposit is not a typical Early Proterozoic fossil placer but is probably secondary in origin.

### **REFERENCES CITED**

- Almeida, F. F. M., Amaral, E., Cordani, U. G., and Kawashita, K., 1973, The Precambrian evolution of the South American cratonic margin south of the Amazon River, <u>in</u> The ocean basins and margins, v. 1: New York, Plenum. Publishing Corporation, p. 411-446.
- Anhaeusser, C. R., 1973, The evolution of the Early Precambrian crust of southern Africa: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. A273, p. 359-388.
- Anhaeusser, C. R., Mason, R., Viljoen, M., and Viljoen, R., 1969, A reap praisal of some aspects of Precambrian shield geology: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 80, p. 2175-2200.
- Borchers, R., 1964, Exploration of the Witwatersrand System and its extensions, in Haughton, S. H., ed., Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 1-23.
- Brock, B. B., and Pretorius, D. A., 1964a, An introduction to the stratigraphy and structure of the Rand goldfield, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 25-62.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964b, Rand basin sedimentation and tectonics, <u>in</u> Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 549-599.
- Builard, E. C., Everett, J. E., and Smith, A. G., 1965, The fit of the continents around the Atlantic: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. A258, p. 41-51.
- Button, A., 1976, Iron-formation as an end member in carbonate sedimentary cycles in the Transvaal Supergroup, South Africa: Economic Geology, v. 71, p. 193-201.
- Cahen, L., 1961, Review of the geochronological knowledge in middle and northern Africa: Annals of the New York Academy of Science, v. 91, p. 535-567.
- Clifford, T. N., 1974, Review of African granulites and related rocks: Geological Society of America, Special Paper No. 156, 49 p.
- Cloud, P. G., 1968, Atmospheric and hydrospheric evolution on the primitive earth: Science, v. 160, p. 729-753.
- Cordani, U. G., Amaral, G., and Kawashita, K., 1973, The Precambrian evolution of South America: Geologische Rundschau, v. 62, p. 309-317.
- Cousins, C. A., 1965, Disconformities in the Main Reef Zone of the Witwatersrand System and their bearing on reef correlation with particular reference to the east, central and west Witwatersrand: Transactions of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 68, p. 121-142.

- Da Costa, L. A., and Angeiras, A. G., 1971, Geosynclinal evolution of the epi-Baykalian platform of central Brazil; Geologische Rundschau, v. 60, p. 1024-1049.
- Davidson, C. F., 1964, Uranium in ancient conglomerates: A review: Economic Geology, v. 59, p. 168-177.
- De Kun, N., 1965, The mineral resources of Africa: New York, Elsevier, 740 p.
- des Ligeris, X., and Bernazeaud, J., 1960, Le gisement de Mounana (Gabon): Bulletin Information Scientifiques et Techniques (C. E. A., Paris), no. 38, p. 4-19.
- Duff, P. M. D., Hallam, A., and Walton, E. K., 1967, Cyclic sedimentation; Developments in sedimentology no. 10: New York, Elsevier Publishing Company, 280 p.
- Grandstaff, D. E., 1974, Uraninite oxidation and the mid-Precambrian atmosphere: Transactions of the American Geophysical Union, v. 55, p. 457.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, Microprobe analysis of uranium and thorium in uraninite from the Witwatersrand, South Africa, and Blind River, Ontario, Canada: Transactions of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 77, p. 291-294.
- Hallbauer, D. K., 1972, Distribution and size of gold particles in reefs: Chamber of Mines of South Africa, 10th Annual Research Report, p. 24-29.

\_\_\_\_, 1975, The plant origin of the Witwatersrand 'carbon': Minerals Science and Engineering, v. 7, p. 111-131.

- Hallbauer, D. K., and Joughin, N. C., 1973, The size distribution and morphology of gold particles in Witwatersrand reefs and their crushed products: South Africa Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Journal, v. 76, p. 395-405.
- Hammerbeck, E. C. I., 1976, Gold outside the Witwatersrand Triad, <u>in</u> Coetzee, C. B., ed., Mineral resources of the Republic of South Africa, 5th ed.: Geological Survey of South Africa, p. 75-92.
- Haughton, S. H., 1963, The stratigraphic history of Africa south of the Sahara: London, Oliver and Boyd, 365 p.
- Haughton, S. H., ed., 1964, Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: v. 1, Gold deposits of the Witwatersrand Basin: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, 616 p.
- Hawkesworth, C. J., Moorbath, S., Onions, R. K., and Wilson, J. F., 1975, Age relationships between greenstone belts and "granites" in the Rhodesian Archean craton: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 25, p. 251-261.

- Hedge, C. E., Marvin, R. F., and Naeser, C. W., 1975, Age provinces in the basement rocks of Liberia: Journal of Research of the United States Geological Survey, v. 3, p. 425-430.
- Holmes, A., and Cahen, L., 1955, African geochronology: Colonial Geology and Mineral Resources (Great Britain), v. 5, no. 3.
- Hunter, D. R., 1974, Crustal developments in the Kaapvaal Craton: Precambrian Research, v. 1, p. 259-294.
- Hurley, P. M., Fairbairn, H. W., and Gaudette, H. E., 1975, Progress report on Early Archean rocks in Liberia, Sierra Leone, and Guyana, and their general stratigraphic setting, in Windley, B. F., ed., The Early History of the Earth: New York, John Wiley and Sons, p. 511-524.
- Hurley, P. M., and Rand, J. R., 1969, Pre-drift continental nuclei: Science, v. 164, p. 1229-1242.
- , 1973, Outline of Precambrian chronology in lands bordering the South Atlantic, exclusive of Brazil, <u>in</u> Nairn, A. E. M., and Stehli, F. G., eds., The ocean basins and margins: New York, Plenum. Press, v. l, p. 391-410.
- Jahn, B., and Shih, C., 1974, On the age of the Onverwacht Group, Swaziland Sequence, South Africa: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 38, p. 873-885.
- Junner, N. R., 1935, Gold in the Gold Coast: Gold Coast Geological Survey, Memoir No. 4.
- Junner, N. R., Hirst, T., and Service, H., 1942, The Tarkwa goldfield: Gold Coast Geological Survey, Memoir No. 6, 75 p.
- Koen, G. M., 1961, The genetic significance of the size distribution of uraninite in Witwatersrand bankets: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 64, p. 23-54.
- Kolbe, P., Pinson, W. H., Saul, J. M., and Miller, E. W., 1967, Rb-Sr study on country rocks of the Busumtwi Crater, Ghana: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 31, p. 869-875.
- Köppel, H., and Saager, R., 1974, Lead isotope evidence on the detrital origin of the Witwatersrand pyrites and its bearing on the provenance of the Witwatersrand gold: Economic Geology, v. 69, p. 318-331.
- Krendlev, F. P., Dmitriyev, A. N., and Zhuravlev, Yu. I., 1967, Comparison of geologic structure of foreign Precambrian conglomerate deposits using discrete mathematics: Akademia Nauk S. S. S. R., Doklady, v. 173, p. 65-69 (English translation from Russian).
- Kroner, A., 1976, Proterozoic crustal evolution in parts of southern Africa and evidence for extensive sialic crust since the end of the Archean; Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. A280, p. 541-554.

- Liebenberg, W. L., 1973, Mineralogical features of gold ores in South Africa, <u>in</u> Adamson, R. J., ed., Gold metallurgy in South Africa: Chamber Mines of South Africa, Johannesburg, p. 352-446.
- Liebenberg, W. R., 1955, The occurrence and origin of gold and radioactive minerals in the Witwatersrand System, the Dominion Reef, the Ventersdorp Contact Reef and the Black Reef: Transactions of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 58, p. 101-223.
- Mason, R., 1973, The Limpopo mobile belt--southern Africa: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. 273, p. 463-486.
- Minter, W. E. L., 1976, Detrital gold, uranium, and pyrite concentrations related to sedimentology in the Precambrian Vaal Reef placer, Witwatersrand, South Africa: Economic Geology, v. 71, p. 157-176.
- Ninninger, R. D., 1974, The world uranium supply challenge--an appraisal, <u>in</u> Formation of uranium ore deposits: International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna.
- Papenfus, J. A., 1964, The Black Reef Series within the Witwatersrand basin with special reference to its occurrence at government gold mining areas, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 191-218.
- Pflug, R., and Scholl, W. U., 1975, Proterozoic glaciations in eastern Brazil, a review: Geologische Rundschau, v. 64, p. 287-299.
- Pretorius, D. A., 1964, The geology of the central Rand goldfield, in Haughton, S. H., ed., Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 63-108.
  - \_\_\_\_, 1965, The evolution of Precambrian basins in South Africa: a conceptual stratigraphic process-response model (abstract): Geological Society of South Africa, Synopsis papers 8th Annual Congress, p. 28-30.
- , 1966, Conceptual geological models in the exploration for gold mineralization in the Witwatersrand Basin, in Symposium on mathematical statistics and computer application in ore valuation, Johannesburg: South Africa Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 1966, p. 225-275.
- , 1975, The depositional environment of the Witwatersrand goldfields: a chronological review of speculations and observations: Minerals Science and Engineering, v. 7, p. 18-47.
- , 1976a, Gold in the Proterozoic sediments of South Africa: systems, paradigms, and models, <u>in</u> Wolf, K. H., ed., Handbook of strata-bound and stratiform ore deposits: New York, Elsevier Publishing Company, v. 7, p. 1-27.
- , 1976b, The nature of the Witwatersrand gold-uranium deposits, <u>in</u> Wolf, K. H., ed., Handbook of strata-bound and stratiform ore deposits: New York, Elsevier Publishing Company, v. 7, p. 29-88.

Roscoe, S. M., 1969, Huronian rocks and uraniferous conglomerates of the Canadian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 68-40, 205 p.

- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, The Huronian Supergroup, a Paleoaphebian succession showing evidence of crustal evolution, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper No. 12, p. 31-48.
- Rundle, C. C., and Snelling, N. J., 1977, The geochronology of uraniferous minerals in the Witwatersrand Triad; an interpretation of new and existing U-Pb age data on rocks and minerals from the Dominion Reef, Witwatersrand, and Ventersdorp Supergroups: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. 286, p. 567-583.
- Service, H., 1943, The geology of the Nsuta manganese ore deposits: Gold Coast Geological Survey, Memoir No. 3, 32 p.
- Sestini, G., 1973, Sedimentology of a paleoplacer: the gold-bearing Tarkwaian of Ghana, in Amstutz, G. C., and Bernard, A. J., eds., Ores in sediments: International Union of the Geological Sciences, Series A, No. 3, p. 275-306.
- Sharpe, J. W. N., 1949, The economic auriferous bankets of the upper Witwatersrand beds and their relationship to sedimentation features: Transactions of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 52, p. 265-288.
- Shepherd, T. J., 1977, Fluid inclusion study of the Witwatersrand golduranium ores: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. 286, p. 549-565.
- Simpson, P. R., and Bowles, J. F. W., 1977, Uranium mineralization of the Witwatersrand and Dominion Reef Systems: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. 286, p. 527-548.
- UNESCO, 1969, Mineral map of Africa: United Nations Educations, Scientific, and Cultural Organization, Place de Fontenoy, Paris-7e, France.
- Van Eeden, O. R., 1972, The geology of the Republic of South Africa, an explanation of the 1:1000,000 map, 1970 edition: Cape Town.
- Von Backstrom, J. W., 1976, Uranium, in Coetzee, C. B., ed., Mineral resources of the Republic of South Africa; Geological Survey of South Africa, p. 233-239.
- Whiteside, H. C. M., 1964, Introduction to the geology of the east Rand, <u>in</u> Haughton, S. H., ed., Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 109-111.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970, Volcanic rocks of the Witwatersrand Triad, in Clifford, T. N., and Gass, l. G., eds., African magmatism and tectonics; Edinburg, Oliver and Boyd.
- Whiteside, C. M., Glasspool, K. R., Hiemstra, S. A., Pretorius, D. A., and Antrobus, E. S. A., 1976, Gold in the Witwatersrand Triad, <u>in</u> Coetzee, C. B., ed., Mineral resources of the Republic of South Africa: Geological Survey of South Africa, p. 39-74.

- Williams, H. R., 1978, The Archean geology of Sierra Leona: Precambrian Research, v. 6, p. 251-268.
- Winter, H. D., 1965, Trough cross-stratification in the upper division of the Witwatersrand system at Hartebeesfontein Mine, Klerksdorp: Unpublished report, Economic Geology Research Unit, University of Witwatersrand, 88 p.

#### SOUTH AMERICAN PLATFORM

# GEOLOGIC SETTING

Radiometric age dating combined with mapping of structural provinces have defined five cratonic areas in South America (Cordani and others, 1973). These are shown in Figure 2.14 and are named: the Guyana Shield, Guapore Craton, São Luis Craton, São Francisco Craton, and La Plata Craton (Cordani and others, 1973). All of these areas contain rocks which were affected by a regional metamorphic episode 1800-2200 m.y. ago (Trans-Amazonian orogeny of Cordani and others, 1973). As shown in Figure 2.14, three of the areas also contain Archean rocks. It seems likely that all of the areas will yield more pre-2500 m.y. dates in the future.

The largest area is the Guyana Shield. This area contains the oldest rocks so far reported from South America--the 2700-3400 m.y. Imataca granulite complex of Venezuela. Other Archean rocks are found to the southeast, in Guyana. The Guyana Shield was interpreted by Hurley and Rand (1973) to be a western extension of the West African craton (Figure 2.14). The southern border of the Guyana Shield is marked by onlapping Phanerozoic sedimentary rocks of the Amazon Basin. Kovach and others (1976) found rocks older than 1600 m.y. in drillcore which penetrated basement of the Amazon Basin and they suggested that the Guyana Shield may be continuous with the Guapore Craton to the south, which yields pre-2000 m.y. dates in its northeastern part (Cordani and others, 1968).

The São Francisco Craton of eastern Brazil contains the only uraniferous conglomerates that we are aware of in South America. Figure 2.14 shows that Archean rocks crop out in the northeast (Hurley and Rand, 1973) and southwest (Herz, 1970) corners of the São Francisco Craton and in a northtrending strip which underlies metasedimentary rocks (Pflug, 1975; Pflug and Scholl, 1975). These metasediments are called the Minas Series to the south



Figure 2.14. Distribution of Archean and Early Proterozoic rocks in Africa and South America, showing locations of Precambrian uranium- and gold-bearing placers; drawn on pre-Mesozoic reconstruction of Bullard and others (1965). Sources of data: Hurley and Rand (1969, 1973); Clifford (1974); Cordani and others (1973); Mason (1973); Anhaeusser (1973); Almeida and others (1973); Pflug and Scholl (1975); Pretorius (1976b); Sestini (1973); Da Costa and Angeiras (1971). and the Jacobina Series to the north and are between 2700 and 1350 m.y. old. The presence of uraniferous and pyritic quartz-pebble conglomerates near the base of the metasediments suggests an age between 2700 and 2200 m.y. (D. S. Robertson, 1974). Paleocurrent data indicates that the source of Minas Series was to the west (Dorr, 1969) whereas the source of the Jacobina Series was to the east (Gross, 1968). These data, plus the position of the metasediments between Archean age provinces (Figure 2.14) suggests that the metasediments were deposited in an intracratonic basin. This paleogeographic situation may be similar to that of the Witwatersrand Sequence of South Africa.

The other cratonic areas in South America, the São Luis and La Plata Cratons, contain rocks older than 2000 m.y. and appear to be extensions of Precambrian cratonic areas in West and South Africa.

# SAO FRANCISCO CRATON

### Jacobina

The best known occurrence of auriferous and uraniferous conglomerate in Brazil occurs at Jacobina, in the northeastern part of the São Francisco Craton (Figure 2.14). In this area, Early Proterozoic rocks crop out in a north-trending, east-dipping fault block which is over 100 km long and is bounded on the east and west sides by granitic rock of probable Archean age (Cox, 1967; Bateman, 1958). Gold has been intermittently mined from the area since the late 17th century.

Metasedimentary rocks in the Jacobina area are called the Jacobina Series (Branner, 1910) and have been divided by Leo and others (1962) and Cox (1967) into four formations shown in Table 2.7. The oldest of these, the Bananeira Formation, consists of pelitic schists and is only locally preserved. It is unconformably overlain by the Serra do Côrrego Formation which consists of auriferous quartz-pebble conglomerate and quartzite. This formation lies against Archean (?) granitic gneisses along the west edge of the Serra de Jacobina. The contact is reported both as an east-dipping thrust fault (Cox, 1967) and as an unconformity (Gross, 1968). Cox (1967) interpreted a quartz-kyanite rock which locally separates the Jacobina Series from the underlying gneisses as a metamorphosed regolith which developed on a weathered Archean surface prior to deposition of the metasediments. He interpreted the contact as a faulted unconformity. The Rio do Ouro Formation conformably overlies the Serra do Córrego Formation and consists of current-bedded quartzite. It is, in turn, overlain by the Cruz das Almas Formation which consists of pelitic schists containing hematite and local layers of iron formation.

Auriferous conglomerates crop out in a prominent ridge on the west side of the Serra de Jacobina. They occur in lenses and layers which vary in thickness from a single pebble to 20 m thick (Gross, 1968). The conglomerates are interlayered with coarse-grained quartzite, sericitic quartzite, and arkose and show abundant evidence of scour and fill structures and crossbedding (Gross, 1968). Some of the beds of conglomerate are continuous for lateral distances greater than 1 km but most are more lenticular. This lenticular distribution of the conglomerates within a quartzite succession suggests fluvial deposition (Bateman, 1958).

Conglomerates in the Serra do Córrego Formation vary from a clean, arenaceous quartz-pebble conglomerate containing quartz pebbles up to 15 cm in diameter to a dirtier conglomerate with abundant pyrite, sericite, fuchsite and chlorite in the matrix and with quartz-pebbles averaging 3 cm in diameter. All of the conglomerates contain at least small quantities of gold in the matrix. Gross (1968) reported an average of .5 ppm gold in non orebearing conglomerates. The dirtier, pyritic conglomerates are significantly

	Name	Lithology	Thickness (m)	Sedimentary Features				
	Cruz das Almas Formation	pelitic schist, micaceous quartzite, conglomerate, local iron formation	>2100					
Series	Rio do Ouro Formation	white to green quartzite, minor pelitic schist	2300	well-bedded, rip- ple marks, cross- bedding				
Jacobîna	Serra do Corrego Formation	quartzite, auriferous quartz-pebble conglomerat	2000 e	scour and fill structures, cross- bedding, ripple marks				
····	Bananeira Formation	pelitic schist, micaceous quartzite vvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvv	>1000					
granitic gneiss								
	Table 2.7. Stratigraphy of the Jacobina Series. Adapted from Cox (1967) and Gross (1968).							

richer, containing an average of 10 ppm gold. Uranium is also more abundant in the pyritic conglomerates which contain an average of .1 percent  $U_{3}O_{8}$  and grades up to .6 percent (Gross, 1968). Pyrite ranges from 2-5 percent in the dirtier conglomerates and sericite ranges from 15-25 percent (Bateman, 1968). White (1961) identified uraninite as the main uranium mineral by X-ray diffraction. Other heavy minerals in the matrix of the conglomerates include: chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, sphalerite, ilmenite, molybdenite, rutile, brannerite, pitchblende, magnetite, tourmaline, and zircon (Ramdohr, 1958, <u>in</u> Cox, 1967; Gross, 1968).

Conglomerates of the Jacobina Series fit the model for fossil-placer deposits very well. They were deposited in a fluvial environment on an eroded Archean gneissic and metasedimentary terrain. The paleogeographic setting also appears favorable. Gneisses of possible Archean age crop out both east and west of the metasediments and paleocurrent data (Gross, 1968) indicate that no source was to the east. This implies that the metasediments were deposited in an intracratonic basin or trough, perhaps similar to the Witwatersrand depositional basin. The age of the Jacobina Series is not known but the rocks are correlated with rocks of the Minas Series to the south which are between 2700 and 1350 m.y. old.

The Jacobina Series differs from the Huronian Supergroup and Witwatersrand Sequence in that it has been metamorphosed to amphibolite facies. As a result, gold and uranium minerals have been remobilized. Gross (1968) cited the occurrence of gold and pitchblende in fracture systems, high concentrations of gold in the top of the conglomerate reefs, and gold at the contacts of mafic intrusives. This evidence was interpreted by Bateman (1958) and White (1961) as an indication of hydrothermal origin of the mineralization. However, Cox (1967), Gross (1968), and most modern workers consider that

minor remobilization of the placer heavy minerals accompanied metamorphism and intrusion of mafic sills.

# Belo Horizonte

Uraniferous and auriferous conglomerates have been reported by Ramos (1972) from the basal part of the Minas Series at the south edge of the São Francisco Craton near the city of Belo Horizonte (Figure 2.14). This area has been mapped in detail by the United States Geological Survey because of deposits of iron formation in the area. As shown in Table 2.8, the uraniferous conglomerates form the basal part of the Moeda Formation of the Carasa Group and they unconformably overlie the Rio das Velhas Series, an older metasedimentary and metavolcanic sequence. The age of the Minas Series is not well known but a maximum age of 2700 m.y. is given by Rb-Sr ages on muscovite from the underlying Rio das Velhas Series and by Rb-Sr whole-rock ages from basement granodiorites (Herz, 1970). A minimum age for the Minas Series is given by a 1350 m.y. old post-orogenic granite which intrudes the upper Minas Series (Herz, 1970). Closer brackets are questionable. Herz (1970) interpreted a 1930 m.y. date (DTM-6) for porphyritic granodiorite of the Moeda Complex which underlies the Minas Series to be a maximum age for the metasediments. However, he also reported ages ranging from 2300 m.y. (DTM-5) to 462 m.y. (Ha-24) from gneisses of the Moeda Complex in the same area. All the dates are mineral dates and we have no confidence that they reflect the time of crystallization of the granodiorite so we hesitate to use them to define the age of the metasediments. Of the reported dates, the 2300 m.y. date could be primary because it is the oldest one reported in this area and it is consistent with the model that the presence of detrital pyrite and uranium in the overlying conglomerates indicates an age greater than 2000 m.y. (Roscoe, 1969, 1973; D. S. Robertson, 1974).

Name Itacolami Series		e	Lithology	Thickness (m)	Sedimentary Features	Depositional Environment (source) Age deltaic or littoral		
		lami Series	quartzite, phyllite,	2000				
	ww	······	phyllite, schist, greywacke		volcanoclastic sediments	marine turbidites maximum a of 1350		
las Series		Piracicaba Group	graphitic phyllite quartzite dolomito	120 120	irregular brown cavities	marina	intrusive granite	
	- 2		phyllite ferruginous quartzite	410 400	locally conglomeratic	Mai The	<u> </u>	
	ira G	Gandarela Formation	iron formation, dolomite, phyllite	300	locally ferruginous	marine		
	Itabi	Cauê Itabirite	iron formation (oxide facies	) 250	alternating quartz and hematite layers	marine		
is Velhas SeriesMit		Batatal Fm.	fine-grained phyllite	100	pyritic, ferruginous	marine		
	Caraca Gp	Moeda Formation	quartzite, conglomerate quartz phyllite uraniferous conglomerate	100- 1000 -	brannerite, Au, zircon	fluvial-deltaic (W)		
	m			wwww	1 matrix			
	~~~	Tamanduá Gp.	quartzite, phyllite	1200 ^^^^	local iron formation	paralic (W)		
	Maquiné Gp. quartzite, conglomerate Maquiné Gp. sericitic quartzite		1600		shallow marine (W)			
		Nova Lima Gp.	phyllite, mica schist greenstones	>4000	minor iron fm., greywack paraconglomerate, graphi	e, te marine	>2700	
da da	w							
0.2	gneisses and migmatites						>2800	

Basal conglomerates of the Moeda Formation were deposited on an erosion surface of moderate relief. Dorr (1969) stated that maximum relief was about 50 m and that there were many depressions with relief less than several tens of meters. Guild (1957) suggested that there was a regolith separating the underlying metasedimentary rocks from the Minas Series on the basis of a parallel foliation on both sides of the lower contact of the Minas Series and on the basis of the quartz-rich character of the upper Rio das Vehlas Series rocks. However, Wallace (1965) interpreted the same evidence to be the result of granitization (Herz, 1970).

Two types of conglomerates are present in the Moeda Formation. The first is a polymictic conglomerate which occurs in lenses up to 30 m thick at the base of the Moeda Formation and fills local depressions in the underlying erosion surface. These conglomerates were locally derived and contain angular fragments of the Rio das Vehlas rocks. Gold, which was probably derived from veins cutting carbonaceous iron-formations of the Rio das Vehlas Series is also present in the conglomerates and occurs in sufficient quantities (1-3 ppm) that it was mined in the l8th and l9th centuries (Dorr, 1969). The second type of conglomerate is a greenish-gray quartz-pebble conglomerate which occurs in lenses throughout the lower 300 m of the Moeda Formation.

Recent drill data from several holes greater than 400 m deep is reported by Ramos and Fraenkel (1974). Their preliminary conclusions are: 1) there is a large volume of pyritic conglomerate but grades are low. Some holes showed thicknesses of 100 m with grades of  $U_30_8$  higher than 10 ppm. Gold grades are generally less than 1 ppm in the conglomerates; 2) mineralized lenses have a maximum thickness of 1.5 m and are not laterally continuous; 3) uranium and pyrite always occur together but there appears to be no direct relationship between amounts of these minerals; 4) there is a direct

relationship between amounts of uranium and titanium; 5)  $Th0_2:U_30_8$  ratio in the subsurface ranges from .1 to 2.32 and is about 10 on the surface. This indicates appreciable surface leaching of  $U_30_8$ ; and 6) there are at least two generations of pyrite. The first occurs in large (2 cm) euhedra in many different rock types and is probably secondary. The second occurs as fine, disseminated particles in the matrix of conglomerates, is associated with other heavy minerals, and is probably of detrital origin.

The deposition of the Moeda Formation was interpreted by Dorr (1968) and Bain (in Ramos and Fraenkel, 1974) to be fluvial-deltaic on the basis of the lenticular distribution of basal conglomerates in the basement depressions and the intercalated lenses of quartz-pebble conglomerate in coarsegrained quartzite. Dorr (1969) stated that the source of the Moeda Formation was to the west because the coarse lower facies thins to the east and clasts in the conglomerate get smaller to the east.

Units above the Moeda Formation contain phyllite, iron formation, and marine sediments. Dorr considered these rocks to represent a marine transgressive sequence.

The uraniferous conglomerates near Belo Horizonte seem to fit the fossilplacer model very well. They are about the right age, were deposited on an eroded surface by fluvial processes, and are part of an Early Proterozoic sequence of clastic sediments. In some ways, the paleogeographic setting for deposition of the Moeda Formation is similar to that of the Witwatersrand Sequence. In both cases, the eroded basement on which conglomerates were deposited consists of older (gold-bearing) metasedimentary rocks. The Witwatersrand Sequence was deposited on quartzites and volcanics of the Dominion Reef Sequence and most of the detrital gold came from nearly greenstone belts. Similarly, the Moeda Formation was deposited on quartzites of the Maquine and Tamandua Groups and its source of gold appears to be greenstone-like sequences in the Nova Lima Group. Other similarities with the Witwatersrand may include age (the Moeda Formation could be as much as 2700 m.y. old) and deposition in an intracratonic basin at similar paleolatitudes.

The implications of this analogy are twofold. First, the nature of the source terrain for the Moeda Formation suggests that, like the Witwatersrand, gold may be economically more important than uranium in the conglomerates. Second, the units below the Moeda Formation should be investigated for conglomerates bearing detrital gold, such as occurs in the Dominion Reef Sequence. In particular, the Maquine Group appears to be a favorable host for detrital gold because it contains fairly mature clastic sediments which unconformably overlie gold-bearing rocks of the Nova Lima Group.

One unique feature of the Minas Series is that the conglomerates of the Moeda Formation are conformably overlain by a thick section of iron formation (Dorr, 1969). Other known uraniferous conglomerates are in thick quartzite successions which are usually interpreted to be appreciably older than the Early Proterozoic banded iron formations. For example, the Huronian Supergroup is generally thought to be about 200 m.y. older than the main Lake Superior iron formations, although the geochronologic evidence is not definitive (Goldich, 1973). The close temporal and spatial relationship of uraniferous conglomerate and banded iron formation in Brazil indicates that deposition of these two rock types could take place under the same low oxygen atmospheric conditions and that the two rock types were deposited nearly contemporaneously in Brazil. This may provide a partial explanation for the absence of detrital magnetite in the conglomerates. Perhaps magnetite was leached and iron was transported in solution into deeper parts of the depositional basin where it was precipitated as iron formation--at the same time that fluvial processes were concentrating pyrite, uraninite, and gold at the edges of the basin.

#### Other Areas in the São Francisco Craton

D. S. Robertson (1974) reported another occurrence of uraniferous and auriferous quartz-pebble conglomerate near Pitangui, northwest of Belo Horizonte (Figure 2.14). These conglomerates occur in a succession of the Proterozoic quartzites and arkoses and they unconformably overlie highly deformed schists and gneisses of the Nova Lima Group.

Uraniferous conglomerates were also reported by Ramos (1972, <u>in</u> Robertson, 1974). These conglomerates crop out near Cavalcante, Brazil, along the northwest boundary of the São Francisco Craton (Figure 2.14). The conglomerates overlie Archean (?) mica-schists and are correlated with the Minas Series of the Belo Horizonte area.

Conglomerates containing fossil-placer mineral deposits also may occur elsewhere in the São Francisco Craton. Figure 2.14 shows that quartzites which are believed to be correlative with the Minas Series and the Jacobina Series extend in a 1200 km long strip in the central part of the craton. In one area, near Diamondtina, intraformational polymictic boulder conglomerates containing diamonds were reported by Pflug and Scholl (1974). They interpret these conglomerates to have formed during a tectonic episode which interrupted a long period of deposition of shallow marine quartzites. They correlate the quartzites and conglomerates with the Minas Series. Quartzites like these should be investigated for heavy minerals in areas where they unconformably overlie either granitic rocks or older metasediments.

## **REFERENCES CITED**

- Almeida, F. F. M., de, Amaral, E., Cordani, U. G., and Kawashita, K., 1973, The Precambrian evolution of the South American cratonic margin south of the Amazon River, <u>in</u> The ocean basins and margins, v. 1: New York, Plenum. Publishing Corporation, p. 411-446.
- Anhaeusser, C. R., 1973, The evolution of the Early Precambrian crust of southern Africa: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. 273, p. 359-388.
- Bateman, J. D., 1958, Uranium-bearing auriferous reefs at Jacobina, Brazil: Economic Geology, v. 53, p. 417-425.
- Branner, J. C., 1910, The geology and topography of the Serra Jacobina, State of Bahia, Brazil: American Journal of Science, 4th Series, v. 30, p. 385-392.
- Bullard, E. C., Everett, J. E., and Smith, A. G., 1965, The fit of the continents around the Atlantic: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. A258, p. 41-51.
- Clifford, T. N., 1974, Review of African granulites and related rocks: Geological Society of America, Special Paper No. 156, 49 p.
- Cordani, U. G., Amaral, G., and Kawashita, K., 1973, The Precambrian evolution of South America: Geologische Rundschau, v. 62, p. 309-317.
- Cordani, U. G., Melcher, G. C., and de Almeida, F. F. M., 1968, Outline of the Precambrian geochronology of South America: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 5, No. 3, Part 2, p. 629-632.
- Cox, D. P., 1967, Regional environment of the Jacobina auriferous conglomerate, Brazil: Economic Geology, v. 62, p. 773-780.
- Da Costa, L. A., and Angeiras, A. G., 1971, Geosynclinal evolution of the epi-Baykalian platform of central Brazil: Geologische Rundschau, v. 60, p. 1024-1049.
- Dorr, J. V. B., 1969, Physiographic, stratigraphic, and structural development of the Quadrilatero Ferrifero, Minas Gerais, Brazil: United States Geological Survey, Professional Paper 641 A.
- Goldich, S. S., 1973, Ages of Precambrian banded iron-formations: Economic Geology, v. 68, p. 1126-1134.
- Gross, W. H., 1968, Evidence for a modified placer origin for auriferous conglomerates, Canavierras Mine, Jacobina, Brazil: Economic Geology, v. 63, p. 271-276.
- Guild, P. W., 1957, Geology and ore deposits of the Congohas district, Minas Gerais, Brazil: United States Geological Survey, Professional Paper 290, 90 p.

- Herz, N., 1970, Gneissic and igneous rocks of the Quadrilatero Ferrifero, Minas Gerais, Brazil: United States Geological Survey, Professional Paper 641 B, 58 p.
- Hurley, P. M., and Rand, J. R., 1969, Pre-drift continental nuclei: Science, v. 164, p. 1229-1242.
- , 1973, Outline of Precambrian chronology in lands bordering the south Atlantic, exclusive of Brazil, in Nairn, A., and Stehli, F., eds., The ocean basins and margins: New York, Plenum Press, v. 1, p. 391-410.
- Kovach, A., Fairbairn, H. W., Hurley, P. M., Basei, M. A. S., and Cordani, U. G., 1976, Reconnaissance geochronology of basement rocks from the Amazonas and Maranhao Basins in Brazil: Precambrian Research, v. 3, p. 471-480.
- Leo, G. W., Cox, D. P., and de Carvalho, J. P. P., 1962, Geologia departe sul da Serra da Jacobena, Bahia: Brazil, Divisão de Geologia e Mineralogia Boletim No. 209, 87 p.
- Mason, R., 1973, The Limpopo mobile belt--southern Africa: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. A273, p. 463-486.
- Pflug, R., 1975, Reconnaissance mapping in the Precambrian of eastern Brazil: Seminarbericht der Dautschen UNESCO--Kommission No. 29.
- Pflug, R., and Scholl, W. U., 1975, Proterozoic glaciations in eastern Brazil: a review: Geologische Rundschau, v. 64, no. 1, p. 287-299.
- Pretorius, D. A., 1976b, The nature of the Witwatersrand gold-uranium deposits, in Wolf, K. H., ed., Handbook of strata-bound and stratiform ore deposits: New York, Elsevier Publishing Company, v. 7, p. 29-88.
- Ramos, J. R., 1972, Possibilidades e prospectivas do uranio Brasileiro: Mineracao Metalurgia, v. 334, p. 36-41.
- Ramos, A. J. R., and Fraenkel, M. O., 1974, Uranium occurrences in Brazil, in Formation of uranium deposits: International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, p. 637-658.
- Ramdohr, P., 1958, Die uran-und goldlagerstatten Witwatersrand-Blind River District-Dominion Reef-Serra de Jacobina: Deutsche Akademie der Wissenschaften, Berlin, Abhandl, 35 p.
- Robertson, D. S., 1974, Basal Proterozoic units as fossil time markers and their use in uranium prospection, in Formation of uranium ore deposits: International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, p. 495-529.
- Roscoe, S. M., 1969, Huronian rocks and uraniferous conglomerates in the Canadian Shield: Canadian Geological Survey Paper 68-40, 205 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, The Huronian Supergroup, a Paleoaphebian succession showing evidence of atmospheric evolution, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper No. 12, p. 31-48.

- Sestini, G., 1973, Sedimentology of a paleoplacer: the gold-bearing Tarkwaian of Ghana, <u>in</u> Amstutz, G. C., and Bernard, A. J., eds., Ores in Sediments: International Union of the Geological Sciences, Series A, No. 3, p. 275-306.
- Wallace, R. M., 1965, Geology and mineral resources of the Pico de Itabirito district, Minais Gerais, Brazil: United States Geological Survey, Professional Paper 341-F, 68 p.
- White, M. G., 1961, Origin of uranium and gold in the quartzite-conglomerate of the Serra de Jacobina, Brazil: United States Geological Survey, Professional Paper 424-B, p. 88-B9.

# INDIAN SHIELD

## GEOLOGIC SETTING

Archean and Early Proterozoic rocks crop out in three areas in India (Figure 2.15). The largest and best studied area is in southern India and is called the Karnataka (or Dharwar) craton. The other two areas are in northeastern and northwestern India and have been named the Singhbhum and Aravalli cratons respectively (Naqvi and others, 1974). The cratons are separated by areas covered by Paleozoic Gondwana Group sediments, Cretaceous-Eocene Deccan flood basalts, and Quaternary alluvium. These areas conceal deep-seated crustal features which Naqvi and others (1974) interpreted as rift valleys located in zones of Early Proterozoic faulting, perhaps similar to the mobile belts of southern Africa. The Karnataka craton includes, in the south, the South Indian mobile belt, an area of granulite grade gneisses, charnokites, mafic rocks, and carbonatites.

All three cratonic blocks in India contain remnants of rocks older than 3000 m.y. (Crawford, 1969; Sarkar, 1968; Naqvi and others, 1974), and, as on other continents, it is not clear whether the oldest rocks are ultramafic and mafic volcanics or tonalitic gneisses. In Karnataka, high-grade schists of the Sargur Group are dated as  $3010 \pm 90$  m.y. (Jayarem and others, 1976) and are cross-cut by gneisses dated as  $2950 \pm 150$  m.y. (Radhakrishna and Vasudev, 1977). This thermal event at 3000 m.y. also affected gneisses on the other Indian cratons.

Archean greenstone belts, similar to the Keewatin greenstone belts in the Canadian Shield, crop out in north-trending arcuate belts in the eastern part of the Karnataka craton (Viswanatha and Ramakrishnan, 1975). These greenstone belts are dominated by mafic and intermediate volcanics, with subordinate felsic volcanics, graphite schist, chert, and iron formation



Figure 2.15. Simplified geological map of India showing distribution and strike of Archean and Proterozoic rocks and Archean protocontinents. Adapted from Naqvi and others (1974, p. 355).
and they contain important gold deposits associated with quartz veins (Radhakrishna and Vasudev, 1977). The greenstone belts are surrounded by granitic gneisses and are intruded by granites which Ramakrishnan and others (1976) suggest were mobilized during a major thermal episode 2500-2600 m.y. ago.

The best studied Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks crop out in the western part of the Karnataka craton and are called the Dharwar Supergroup. These rocks are metavolcanics and metasedimentary rocks which include thick quartzite successions with auriferous and uraniferous basal conglomerates. Most Indian geologists consider the rocks of the Dharwar Supergroup to be Archean and to be the same age as the Keewatin-type greenstone belts in eastern Karnataka (Radhakrishna and Vasudev, 1977). However, the fact that these sequences contain thick cross-bedded quartzites and uraniferous basal conglomerates which lie unconformably on Archean gneiss suggests that the Dharwar Supergroup is a clastic platform sequence more closely analogous to the Early Proterozoic rocks of the Witwatersrand Sequence and the Huronian Supergroup than to any known Archean greenstone belts.

Radiometric dates from the Dharwar Supergroup permit either interpretation. The only date from the metasediments is a questionable  $2345 \pm 60$  m.y. date for lavas of the "Dharwar Schist" which was obtained by Crawford (1969) by selecting only favorable points. Bracketing ages are not much better. A maximum age of 2500-2700 m.y. comes from dates on gneisses of the Peninsular Gneiss complex on which basal conglomerates rest unconformably (Radhakrishna and Vasudev, 1977). A minimum age is obtained from the Closepet granite which intrudes the Dharwar Supergroup. Crawford (1969) obtained an age of 2380 m.y. on this granite whereas Venkatasubramanian (1974) obtained an age of 2000  $\pm$  80 m.y. Thus, all existing evidence suggests that the Dharwar Supergroup was deposited between 2700 and 2000 m.y., during the same interval that Early Proterozoic platform sequences were being deposited elsewhere in the world. There seems to be little justification for Windley's statement (Windley, 1977, p. 30) that the auriferous and uraniferous conglomerates of the Dharwar Supergroup "are the earliest conglomerates of this type recorded from any continent."

### Problems in the Precambrian Stratigraphy of India

Despite nearly one hundred years of geological investigations, there are still major gaps in the understanding of Archean and Early Proterozoic stratigraphy in the Indian Shield. These gaps are largely the result of confused terminology, a lack of detailed field mapping of stratigraphical relationships, and a paucity of radiometric dates.

The major problem has been in the use of terms "Dharwar Schist" and "Peninsular Gneiss." According to Radhakrishna (1974), the term Dharwar Schist has been used "to include all schistose rocks based purely on their supposed lithologic similarity." Thus <u>all</u> schists, regardless of age, have been called Dharwar Schists. Similarly, the term Peninsular Gneiss has been used to refer to a whole complex of granitic gneisses and intrusive granites of various ages which enclose the Dharwar Schist belts (Figure 2.15). The use of the terms Dharwar Schist and Peninsular Gneiss in this purely lithologic context, instead of in a stratigraphic context, has resulted in numerous arguments among Indian geologists concerning the relative age of schists and gneisses.

Many of the early geologists thought that most of the Dharwar schists were younger than the Peninsular Gneiss (Foote, 1888; Oldham, 1893; Holland, 1907; Middlemiss, 1917). Their evidence was that: 1) Dharwar Schists rest with angular unconformity on Peninsular Gneisses locally, 2) there is a conglomerate at the base of the Dharwar Schists locally, and 3) top and bottom criteria in the schists consistently show the schists on top of the gneisses. This view is upheld by Radhakrishna, Ramakrishnan, Viswanatha, Swami Nath, and other members of the Geological Survey of India.

The opposing idea, that most of the Peninsular Gneisses are younger than most of the Dharwar Schists was brought forward to explain the schistose inclusions in the gneisses which are lithologically similar to and were thought to have been derived from the Dharwar Schists (Newbold, 1850; Smeeth, 1901; Fermor, 1936). Additional evidence for this interpretation is that there are areas where granitic gneisses cross-cut the schist belts (Srinivasan and Screenivas, 1972). Proponents of this view include Rama Rao (1962), Pascoe (1965), and Pichamuthu (1967).

The most reasonable interpretation of available evidence is that the Peninsular gneiss complex contains both intrusive granites which are younger than the Dharwar Supergroup and basement gneisses which are older (Srinivasan and Screenivas, 1972; Naqvi and others, 1974). Therefore, the solution to the arguments must involve detailed field mapping aimed at subdividing the Dharwar schists and Peninsular gneisses into correlatable lithostratigraphic units. This approach has been initiated by the Geological Survey of India (Viswanatha and Ramakrishnan, 1975; Ramakrishnan and others, 1976; Radhakrishna and Vasudev, 1977). These reports have subdivided the schists into several groups, shown in Table 2.9.

#### EARLY PROTEROZOIC METASEDIMENTARY ROCKS

### Karnataka Craton

Figure 2.16 shows the distribution of Early Proterozoic rocks in the Karnataka craton and Table 2.9 summarizes the stratigraphy of the metasedimentary groups. This stratigraphic subdivision is based on recent (1975-1977)





Figure 2.16. Geological map of the Karnataka Craton showing locations of uranium-bearing conglomerates U and other conglomerates with potential for fossil-placer mineralization C. Adapted from Radhakrishna and Vasudev (1977).

	Name	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Lithology	Mineralization	Age					
Cu v	ddapah Sy: vvvvvvv	stem vvvvvvv	argillite, quartzite, limestone	·····	<1700					
C1	osepet Gra	anite	porphyritic microcline granite		2000- 2380					
	Ranibenni Group	ur	manganiferous phyllite ankeritic limestone greywacke chlorite phyllite	manganese						
<b>DHARWAR</b> SUPERGROUP	Chitradun Group	rga	greywacke, phyllite pillow basalt, iron formation iron formation, phyllite manganiferous phyllite limestone, dolomite phyllite, quartzite polymictic, oligomictic congl.	iron iron manganese placer gold	2350?					
	Bababudar	1	carbonate, graphite, phyllite magnetitic quartzite argillite, felsic volcanics mafic volcanics cross-bedded quartzite	iron						
	www.	MMMMM	matic voicanics quartzite, quartz-mica schist oligomictic conglomerate	U, Au ^^^^^	www					
gra	anites and diorites Peninsula	f grano <del>-</del> of r Gneiss			2500- 2700					
Kee	ewatin-typ greenstor	pe ne belts	mafic and intermediate volcanics	gold in quartz- veins						
۰۰۰ tor	nalites ar of Peninsu	nd gneisse Ilar gneis	s tonalite-migmatite, amphibolite s granitic gneiss	••	2600- 3250					
Sar Gro	-gur Dup	-	amphibolite iron-formation garnet amphibolite mica schist calc-silicates mica-schist, paragneiss quartzite, quartz-mica schist	iron gold in quartz veins?	> 3000					
w	www.ww	^^^^^	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	~~~~~~					
010	der gneiss	;?	migmatites		3000					
T	able 2.9.	Early Pr from Vis (1977).	ecambrian stratigraphy of the Karn wanatha and Ramakrishnan (1975); R	ataka Craton. Ad adhakrishna and V	apted asudev					

reports of the Geological Survey of India which divide the Dharwar schists into an older group of high-grade schists called the Sargur Group (Viswanatha and Ramakrishnan, 1975), a group of Keewatin-type greenstone belts dominated by metavolcanic rocks, and a sequence of metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks called the Dharwar Supergroup.

This stratigraphic subdivision is new and there is still confusion regarding which schist belts belong to which sequence of metasediments. According to Ramakrishnan and others (1976), rocks of the Sargur Group and the Dharwar Supergroup are confined to western Karnataka and Keewatin-type greenstone belts are confined to eastern Karnataka (Figure 2.16). In contrast, Radhakrishna and Vasudev (1977) considered some of the schist belts in eastern Karnataka to be part of the Sargur Group and some to be Keewatin-type greenstone belts and they equated the Keewatin-type greenstone belts in eastern Karnataka with the Bababudan Group in western Karnataka. However, this second interpretation obscures the important distinction between the metavolcanics-dominated greenstone belts and clastic metasedimentary sequences of the Dharwar Supergroup. In this discussion, the Keewatin-type greenstone belts are considered to be older than the metasedimentary sequences of the Dharwar Supergroup (Table 2.9).

The Dharwar Supergroup is subdivided into three groups, shown in Table 2.9. The Bababudan Group includes basal uraniferous quartz-pebble conglomerate, vesicular mafic volcanics, quartzite and iron formation and was deposited in presumed subaerial to shallow water conditions. The Chitradurga Group is a miogeosynclinal conglomerate, quartzite, phyllite, stromatolitic limestone, iron formation, pillow basalt, and volcaniclastic graywacke. The Ranibennur Group contains thick sections of graywacke and chlorite phyllite.

As shown in Table 2.9, conglomerates of the Bababudan Group rest

unconformably on granites and gneiss of the Peninsular gneiss complex. In the Bababuden schist belt, the conglomerates trend E-W and truncate the north-trending foliation in the Chikamagular granite. Similarly, N-S trending conglomerate in the Sigegudda schist belt is discordant to the N-W trending underlying migmatites (Ramakrishnan and others, 1976). According to Ramakrishnan and others (1976) field relationships in these and other areas are unequivocal evidence that rocks of the Peninsular gneiss complex formed the basement on which conglomerates of the Bababudan Group were deposited.

The basal conglomerate occurs in layers and lenses 5-25 m thick which are intercalated with quartzites and quartz-sericite-fuchsite schists. Pebbles in the conglomerate are well rounded and are composed of vein quartz and quartzite. The matrix of the conglomerate contains sporadic disseminations of pyrite, chalcopyrite, gold, silver, and uranium minerals. According to Viswanatha and others (1977) "significant concentrations of chalcopyrite and uranium ores are known in the Kalasapura and Devagondonahalli areas."

The basal conglomerate and quartzite of the Bababudan Group is overlain by amygdaloidal metavolcanics which are interlayered with quartzites. Crossbedding and ripple marks in the quartzites and amygdules in the volcanics suggest subaerial to shallow water deposition. The upper part of the Bababudan Group contains iron formation and phyllite. The iron formation is a magnetitic quartzite 200 m thick which is of economic importance.

The Chitradurga Group is a miogeosynclinal sequence which has a higher proportion of sediments than the underlying Bababudan Group. The basal unit is a polymictic conglomerate called the Kaldurga conglomerate which shows graded bedding and contains rounded and moderately-sorted granite clasts

(Radhakrishna and Vasudev, 1977). This conglomerate grades both laterally and vertically into an oligomictic quartz-pebble conglomerate (Ramakrishnan and others, 1976) which may be a good target for exploration for fossil-placer uranium and gold deposits. According to Viswanatha and others, 1977, the basal conglomerate indicates rapid tectonic uplift during early deposition of the Chitradurga Group. The conglomerate is overlain by a transgressional sequence of quartzite, phyllite and limestone followed by manganiferous and ferruginous cherts, volcanics, and volcaniclastic sediments. The overlying Ranibennur Group contains mainly volcaniclastic phyllites and graywackes.

The three groups of the Dharwar Supergroup represent the same trends in Early Proterozoic sedimentation which are seen elsewhere in the world. First, an Archean granite-greenstone terrain was stabilized, uplifted, and eroded. Then, a period of subaerial fluvial deposition and sporadic subaerial volcanism ensued which deposited rocks of the Bababudan Group. This was followed by a broad trend of marine transgression accompanied by a decrease in volcanic activity which resulted in deposition of shallow marine miogeosynclinal sediments, including limestones and iron formation of the Chitradurga Group. Continued transgression resulted in deposition of deeper water sediments of the Ranibennur Group.

## Singhbhum Craton

Early Proterozoic rocks in the Singhbhum Craton are called the Iron-ore Series (Jones, 1922) because of the presence of economically important iron formation. This series lies unconformably above an assemblage of schists which is probably of Archean age and may be correlative with the Sargur Group of the Karnataka Craton. A minimum age for the Iron-ore Series is 2038 m.y., which is the age of the intrusive Singhbhum granite (Pichamuthu, 1967). The Iron-ore Series contains, in ascending order, conglomerate, sandstone, mafic volcanics, shales, hematitic iron formation, and shales (Sarker and Saha, 1962, <u>in</u> Pichamuthu, 1967. These rocks are essentially unmetamorphosed. The predominance of iron-formation and shales in the Iron-ore Series suggests that the Iron-ore Series may be correlatable with the Chitradurga Group of the Karnataka Craton. To our knowledge, no uraniferous quartz-pebble conglomerates have been reported from the Singhbhum Craton.

# Aravalli Craton

Early Proterozoic rocks in the Aravalli Craton are called the Aravalli Group. These metasediments appear to rest unconformably on a granitic basement which Crawford and Compston (1970) dated as 2585 m.y. old and they are intruded by granites which yield a questionable date of 2275 m.y. (Crawford and Compston, 1970).

The lower units of the Aravalli Group, in areas where they are not migmatized, include thin quartzites and conglomerates. These are overlain by argillaceous rocks and limestone which, in turn, are overlain by quartzites and grits of the upper Aravalli Group. These quartzites grade up into calcareous rocks of the Raialo Group (Pichamuthu, 1967).

## MINERAL DEPOSITS

Conglomerates of the Bababudan Group of the Dharwar Supergroup are the only known rocks in India which contain uranium- and gold-bearing conglomerates. These rocks fit the fossil placer model well. They were deposited on an eroded Archean terrain which contained sources for both gold (greenstone belts) and uranium (granites), and they appear to be fluvial deposits of about the right age (2700-2000 m.y.).

Another target for Precambrian fossil placer minerals in the Karnataka

Craton is the conglomerate unit at the base of the Chitradurga Group. This is mainly a polymictic conglomerate but also contains lenses of oligomictic conglomerate. The conglomerates were deposited unconformably on the Bababudan Group and are the basal deposits in a transgressional sequence of quartzite-phyllite-limestone. This suggests that the conglomerates may be fluvial deposits. The conglomerates contain gold (Radhakrishna and Vasudev, 1977, p. 538) and should be investigated in detail, particularly in areas where the Chitradurga conglomerates crop out close to a known source of gold and uranium such as the Bababudan conglomerate (e.g. south of Chitradurga).

Early Proterozoic rocks in the Singhbhum and Aravalli Cratons are broadly contemporaneous with the Dharwar Supergroup. However, the rocks in both of these areas are predominantly marine sediments such as iron-formation, limestone, and phyllite with only minor quartzite. Therefore, the depositional environments of the majority of the metasediments apparently were not favorable for concentration of heavy minerals. Nevertheless, these metasedimentary sequences should be investigated more closely in areas where they unconformably overlie Archean basement.

### **REFERENCES CITED**

- Crawford, A. R., 1969, Reconnaissance Rb-Sr dating of southern peninsular India: Journal of the Geological Society of India, v. 10, p. 117-160.
- Crawford, A. R. and Compston, W., 1970, The age of the Vindhyan System of peninsular India: Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society of London, v. 125, p. 351-371.
- Fermor, L. L., 1936, An attempt at the correlation of the ancient schistose formations of peninsular India: Memoir of the Geological Survey of India, v. 70, p. 1.
- Foote, R. B., 1888, The Dharwar System, the chief auriferous rock series in south India: Records of the Geological Survey of India, v. 21.
- Holland, T. H., 1907, Imperial Gazetteer of India, v. 1, p. 50-102.
- Jayarem, S., Venkatasubramanian, V. S., and Radhakrishna, B. P., 1976, Rb-Sr ages of cordierite gneisses of S. Karnataka: Journal of the Geological Society of India, v. 17, p. 560.
- Jones, H. C., 1922, The iron ores of Singhbhum and Orissa: Records of the Geological Survey of India, v. 54, p. 203.
- Middlemiss, C. S., 1917, Complexities of Archean geology in India, presidential address, section of geology, 4th Indian Scientific Congress: Journal of the Proceedings of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, v. 13, p. 195.
- Naqvi, S. M., Rao, V. D. and Hara Narain, 1974, The protocontinental growth of the Indian Shield and the antiquity of its rift valleys: Precambrian Research, v. 1, p. 345-398.
- Newbold, T. J., 1850, Summary of the geology of southern India: Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, v. 12, p. 78.
- Oldham, R. D., 1893, A manual of the geology of India and Burma, 2nd ed.: Calcutta.
- Pascoe, E. H., 1965, A manual of the geology of India and Burma: Geological Survey of India, third edn., v. 1, 485 p.
- Pichamuthu, C. S., 1967b, The Precambrian of India, in Rankama, K., ed., The Precambrian, v. 2, Interscience, New York, N.Y., P. 1-96.
- Radhakrishna, B. P., 1974, Peninsular gneissic complex of the Dharwar craton--a suggested model for its evolution: Journal of the Geological Society of India, v. 15, p. 439-454.
- Radhakrishna, B. P. and Vasudev, V. N., 1977, The early Precambrian of the southern Indian Shield: Journal of the Geological Society of India, v. 18, no. 10, p. 525-541.

- Ramakrishnan, M., Viswanatha, M. N. and Swami Nath, J., 1976, Basement-cover relationships of peninsular gneiss with high grade schists and greenstone belts of southern Karnataka: Journal of the Geological Society of India, v. 17, p. 97-111.
- Rama Rao, B., 1962, A handbook of geology of the Mysore State, southern India: Bangalore Printing and Publishing Co.
- Sarkar, S. N., 1968, Precambrian stratigraphy and geochronology of peninsular India: Dhanbad Publishing Co., Dhanbad, India.
- Sarkar, S. N. and Saha, A. K., 1962, A revision of the Precambrian stratigraphy and tectonics of Singhbhum and adjacent regions: Quarterly Journal of the Geological, Mining, and Metallurgical Society of India, v. 39, p. 97.
- Smeeth, W. F., 1901, General report on the work of the department for the years 1900-1901: Records Mysore Geology Department, v. 3, p. 1.
- Srinivasan, R. and Sreenivas, B. L., 1972, Dharwar stratigraphy: Journal of the Geological Society of India, v. 13, p. 75-85.
- Venkatasubramanyan, V. S., 1974, Geochronology of the Dharwar craton, a review: Journal of the Geological Society of India, v. 15, p. 463-468.
- Viswanatha, M. N. and Ramakrishnan, M., 1975, The pre-Dharwar supracrustal rocks of Sargur schist complex in southern Karnataka and their tectonometamorphic significance: Indian Mineralogist, v. 16, p. 48-65.
- Viswanatha, M. N., Ramakrishnan, M., Chayapathi, N., Seshadri, T. S., Devudu,
  G. R., and others, 1977, Geology of the greenstone-granite terrain of
  Karnataka craton, south India: IGCP Project no. 92, excursion guide.
- Windley, B. F., 1977, The evolving continents: New York, John Wiley and Sons, 385 p.

### AUSTRALIAN SHIELD

# GEOLOGIC SETTING

The main tectonic provinces in Australia are shown in Figure 2.17. These are: the Archean cratons of western Australia, Early Proterozoic supracrustal rocks of western and northern Australia, Middle Proterozoic infracrustal rocks in central and southern Australia, and Phanerozoic rocks of the Tasmanian orogenic province in eastern Australia (Rutland, 1973; Fisher and Warren, 1975). Early Proterozoic metasedimentary platform sequences occur adjacent to the Archean cratons in western Australia, and in isolated foldbelts in northern Australia, and these areas will be emphasized. More general discussions of the geology of Australia, including discussions of the Tasmanian province and the Middle Proterozoic mobile belts, are in Rutland (1973; 1976), Knight (1975), Parkin (1969), Brown and others (1968), Sprigg (1967), McWhae and others (1956), and David (1950).

Archean rocks crop out in the Yilgarn and Pilbara cratons which, together, make up the Western Australian Shield (Gee, 1975). Archean rocks also crop out in a few isolated basement domes in northern Australia. In addition, geophysical and sedimentological data (Gravity map of Australia; Gellatly, 1971) suggest that Archean rocks underlie most of western and northern Australia.

The Western Australian Shield contains two Archean cratons separated by Proterozoic sedimentary rocks (Figure 2.17). The Yilgarn craton to the south is the larger of the two and consists of two provinces. The southwestern province contains granulite-grade metamorphic rocks of the Wheat Belt which yield dates ranging from 2800 to 3100 m.y. (Arriens, 1971). These rocks are mainly gneisses and migmatites and are described by Wilson (1969) and Glikson and Lambert (1973). The northeastern province contains linear,





Figure 2.17. Distribution of Archean and Early Proterozoic rocks in Australia. Adapted from Rutland (1976).

low-grade greenstone belts surrounded by intrusive granites which yield 2600-2700 m.y. dates (Compston and Arriens, 1968). The greenstone belts contain basic and intermediate volcanics and volcanogenic sediments such as chert, graphitic schist, iron formation, and conglomerates as well as extensive gold and sulphide mineralization in quartz veins. The greenstone belts are discussed by Glikson and Lambert (1973), McCall (1971), Rutland (1976), and Gee (1975). According to Rutland (1973; 1976), the greenstone terrain of the northeastern Yilgarn craton is broadly synclinal and may be younger than the bordering granulite terrain. However, this view is disputed by Glikson and Lambert (1973; 1976) who interpreted the granulite terrain to have formed at deeper crustal levels at about the same time as the greenstone terrain.

The Pilbara craton is also a granite-greenstone terrain. However, it differs from the northwestern Yilgarn craton in several respects. First, most of the granitic plutons are 2900-3100 m.y. old instead of 2600-2700 m.y. This suggests that the greenstone belts may be significantly older in the Pilbara craton. Second, the Pilbara greenstone belts are unconformably overlain by Archean platform-type sedimentary successions containing iron formation and clastic sediments which may have been deposited at the same time as the greenstone belts in the Yilgarn craton to the south. Third, late Archean (2500-2700 m.y.) granites in the Pilbara craton are post-orogenic and equant in plan view whereas the Yilgarn granites are syn-orogenic and elongated. This supports the previous differences in suggesting that the Pilbara craton was stabilized before the Yilgarn craton, a situation which may be analogous to that of the Kaapvaal and Rhodesian cratons in South Africa, where the former was stabilized about 500 m.y. before the latter.

Archean rocks are also known from northern Australia, where they form the basement for Middle Proterozoic sediments of the Kimberley Block and crop out in isolated inliers of the Rum Jungle Complex and the Litchfield Block (Figure 2.17). These granites are about 2400-2500 m.y. old and have a high initial  $\mathrm{Sr}^{87}/\mathrm{Sr}^{86}$  ratio, which suggests that they represent remobilized older crustal material (Richards and others, 1966; Richards and Rhodes, 1967).

In terms of fossil-placer deposits, the Yilgarn Archean craton appears to be a very favorable source. It contains significant gold mineralization in greenstone belts and an abundance of late Archean potassium- and silicarich granites to supply uranium. Unfortunately, with the possible exception of the Nubberu Basin of Hall and Goode (1975), there are no major Early Proterozoic platform metasediments adjacent to the Yilgarn craton. The Pilbara craton was, perhaps, a slightly less favorable source area. It does contain gold-bearing greenstone belts (Woodall, 1975), but these are minor compared to the abundant gold areas in the Yilgarn craton. Also, the majority of the granitic rocks in the Pilbara craton are older, sodium-rich granites which are less likely to supply appreciable uranium than younger, potassium-rich granites. Nevertheless, the Pilbara craton apparently did supply both gold and uranium to basal clastics of the Fortesque Group, which crops out on the south margin of the craton, but values reported so far are generally uneconomic. The granites of the Rum Jungle Complex are also a favorable source for uranium and contain up to 28 ppm. These granites may have been one source for the uranium now concentrated in the unconformity deposits of the Pine Creek Geosyncline (Heier and Rhodes, 1968).

# EARLY PROTEROZOIC METASEDIMENTARY ROCKS

Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks in Australia are called the Nullaginean System. These rocks occur as relatively undeformed platform assemblages only in Hamersley Basin. In all other areas of Australia, Early

Proterozoic rocks crop out in foldbelts which are characterized by amphibolite facies metamorphism and open, upright folds with steeply inclined axial plane cleavage (Walpole and others, 1968). The deformation which formed these foldbelts was associated with intrusion of granites and took place about 1800-2000 m.y. ago, giving a minimum age for the metasediments.

### Hamersley Basin

The most likely target for fossil-placer mineralization is the relatively undeformed metasedimentary rocks of the basal units of the Mount Bruce Supergroup in the Hamersley Basin. These rocks are best exposed on the north side of the basin. However, isopachs show that the basin was a closed, intracratonic basin (Ryan and Blockley, 1965), and outcrops of the Mount Bruce Supergroup have been reported from the southern part of the basin as well (Hall and Goode, 1975). The degree of deformation increases to the south so the northern edge of the basin is probably the most favorable area for preservation of fossil-placer uranium deposits.

The Mount Bruce Supergroup is more than 12 km thick and is subdivided into the Fortesque Group (4.3 km), Hamersley Group (2.5 km), and the Wyloo Group (> 5 km). The Fortesque Group consists of epicontinental volcanics and clastic rocks and crops out along the south margin of the Pilbara craton. According to Robertson (1974), the basal unit in the Fortesque Group is a conglomerate-arkose unit which occurs in depressions in the Archean erosion surface. Near Nullagine, these conglomerates are polymictic boulder conglomerates that contain pyrite and rounded nuggets of gold (Robertson, 1974). The conglomerate-arkose unit is overlain by about 1000 m of andesitic volcanics which yield a Rb-Sr age of 2200 m.y. (Arriens, <u>in</u> Trendall, 1968). The next unit in the Fortesque Group is the Glen Herring Formation which contains 1500 m of argillite with interbeds of arenite. This is overlain by the Green Hole Formation which consists of coarse clastics, including poorlysorted, uranium-bearing quartz-pebble conglomerates in layers several meters thick which are laterally continuous over distances of 100 km. The pebbles are mainly vein quartz 1-10 cm in diameter and the matrix is greenish-gray arkose with pyrite, monazite, and zircon on bedding planes. Robertson (1974) reported average uranium values of 50-100 ppm in this unit with a value of 425 ppm over a two meter interval reported from one drill core. In this core, the uranium was associated with thucholite, pyrite, monazite, zircon, and anatase. The Green Hole Formation is overlain by a thick sequence of interbedded basic volcanics and dolomite.

Above the Fortesque Group is the Hamersley Group, which is about 2.5 km thick and includes a 1000 m thick section of economically important hematitic banded iron formation. Volcanics from the Hamersley Group are dated as 2000 m.y. old (Arriens, 1971). Discussions of the Hamersley Group are in Trendall (1968; 1973), Trendall and Blockley (1970), and Macloed (1966).

The Wyloo Group overlies the Hamersley Group with local unconformity. It is about 10 km thick and consists of red-beds and coarse-grained terrigenous clastics. The Wyloo Group is cross-cut by granites dated as 1700 m.y. old.

## Nabberu Basin

The Nabberu basin is on the northeast margin of the Yilgarn Craton (Figure 2.17) and is considered by many workers to be the southern extension of the Hamersley basin (Hall and Goode, 1975; Horwitz and Smith, 1978). It contains Early Proterozoic clastic metasediments which lie unconformably on Archean rocks and which underlie banded iron formation similar to the Hamersley Group to the north. No uraniferous conglomerates have been reported but quartz-pebble conglomerates occur within a 440 m thick section of otherwise fine-grained clastics called the Malmac Formation (Horwitz and Smith, 1978), and within a coarser-grained, but thinner, succession of sandstones which crop out in a similar stratigraphic position to the south (Hall and Goode, 1975). These quartz-pebble conglomerates, and correlative units, would appear to be favorable hosts for either uranium or gold placers (the Yilgarn craton is a good source of both metals) if the depositional environments were favorable for placer accumulation.

### Halls Creek Province

The Halls Creek Province contains metasediments and metavolcanics of the Halls Creek Group which crop out in foldbelts on the southwest and eastern margins of the Kimberley Block (Figure 2.17). These rocks were deformed and intruded by granites about 1960-2100 m.y. ago (Bofinger, 1967) and they are cross-cut by a pegmatite which yielded an age of 2700 m.y. (Plumb and Derrick, 1975). If this age on the pegmatite is correct, the Halls Creek Group is Archean. However, most workers consider the rocks to be Early Proterozoic in age (Rutland, 1973, 1976; Plumb and Derrick, 1975; Page and others, 1976). For example, Gellatly (1971) suggested that the Archean rocks occur in the subsurface below Carpentarian (1800-1400 m.y.) strata and that these Archean rocks may have been the basement on which the Halls Creek Group was deposited. This is supported by Dow and Gemuts (1969) who suggested that the Halls Creek Group is an Early Proterozoic sequence which originally was much more widely distributed than now.

The Halls Creek Group is about 11 km thick and is essentially a eugeosynclinal succession composed of basic volcanics passing up-section into graywacke and turbidites. The base of the group is not exposed but the lowest unit is a 300 m thick basic volcanic unit containing copper mineralization. This unit is overlain by a 200 m thick sequence of quartzite and quartz-graywacke which reportedly contains uranium (Plumb and Derrick, 1975). No details of this uranium mineralization were reported. Above the quartzite is more than 10 km of turbidites which contain minor interbeds of conglomerate and dolomite and which are hosts to gold mineralization (Plumb and Derrick, 1975).

The Halls Creek Group is unconformably overlain by volcanics of the Lamboo complex (1800-1900 m.y.) and these, in turn, are unconformably overlain by metasediments of the Carpentarian System (1800-1400 m.y.) in the Kimberley Basin to the north.

Within the basal units of the Carpentarian system is the radioactive King Leopold conglomerate of the Kimberley Group. This conglomerate contains pebbles and cobbles of quartz, quartzite, and chert, and occurs in lenses about one meter thick within sections of reddish coarse-grained arkose and grit. The conglomerate is interpreted by Hughes and Harms (1975) to be of fluvial origin and to have formed near a marine shoreline. The finer-grained conglomerates contain predominantly quartz pebbles and are notably radioactive. They typically contain 20 ppm uranium and 550 ppm thorium with values up to 100 ppm uranium and 1000 ppm thorium. These high Th/U values persist at depth and do not represent significant surface leaching of uranium. The radioactive minerals are thorogummite, florencite, thorite, and cheralite, and they are interpreted by Hughes and Harms (1975) to be detrital in origin. Other heavies include ilmenite, zircon, leucoxene, monazite, magnetite, hematite, and cassiterite.

According to our model, these conglomerates are certainly too young to contain significant fossil-placer uranium deposits. Nevertheless, the processes of concentration of heavy minerals in this conglomerate appear to be

analogous to those of older fossil-placer conglomerates; the unconformity and fluvial deposition in basement depressions are both familiar features. Thus, the conglomerates could contain significant thorium or gold deposits. Paleocurrent data from Gellatly and others (1970) indicate that the source of the conglomerate was to the north, an area now concealed by Carpentarian cover rocks. This source probably was mainly an Archean granitic terrain, but it is also possible that uranium and thorium were derived from concealed Early Proterozoic platform-type metasedimentary successions on the Kimberley Block.

# Pine Creek Geosyncline

The Pine Creek Geosyncline is a large area of deformed greenschist to upper amphibolite facies Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks in northern Australia (Figure 2.17). Metasedimentary rocks unconformably overlie Archean rocks which crop out in gneiss domes of the Rum Jungle complex and Litchfield Block (Walpole and others, 1968; Plumb and Derrick, 1975). The Rum Jungle complex is 2400-2500 m.y. old (Richards and Rhodes, 1967) and this provides a maximum age for the metasediments. Intrusive granites, 1944 m.y. old (Webb, in Plumb and Derrick, 1975), provide a minimum age.

The Early Proterozoic stratigraphy of the Pine Creek Geosyncline has been studied in detail by Walpole and others (1968) and Smart and Wilkes (1975). The most prominent features of the stratigraphy of the Pine Creek Geosyncline are the rapid facies changes within the depositional basin which are interpreted by Walpole and others (1968) to be a reflection of northwest trending tectonic zones and elongated depositional basins.

The lowest unit in the Pine Creek rocks is the Stag Creek mafic volcanic sequence which crops out in the central part of the basin. This unit is overlain by coarse-grained immature arkose of the Mount Partridge Formation in the eastern trough and by argillaceous arenites of the Masson Formation in the western trough. In the western fault zone, the equivalent strata are alternating arkose and dolomite of the Batchelor Group which unconformably overlie Archean rocks of the Rum Jungle complex. The Batchelor Group and Masson Formation are gradationally overlain by pyritic dolomite and pelitic rocks of the Golden Dyke Formation and the Mount Partridge Formation is gradationally overlain by dolomites and pelitic rocks of the Koolpin Formation. The Golden Dyke and Koolpin Formations are the hosts of the major unconformity-type uranium deposits in northern Australia. Continued marine deposition of the South Alligator Group in the eastern trough was accompanied by tectonic movements and deposition of turbidites of the Finiss River Group in the western fault zone. The final sedimentation in the Pine Creek Geosyncline was deposition of the Chilling Sandstone in the western margin of the basin.

The metasediments were metamorphosed and deformed about 1800-1900 m.y. ago. Deformation was most intense in the eastern part of the basin where metamorphism caused anatexis and migmatization of sediments in the Nananbu and Nimbuwah metamorphic complexes. This orogenic deformation was followed by platform deposition of the Carpentarian Sequence between 1800 and 1400 m.y. ago.

Uranium deposits occur in dolomite of the upper Batchelor Group, in black pyritic and carbonaceous shales of the Koolpin Formation, and in black shale and chlorite schist of the Golden Dyke Formation. The salient characteristics of these deposits are as follows: they are localized in specific lithographic units (black shales), they are adjacent to granitic complexes, the deposits occupy fractures, folds, and shear zones, the deposits are usually less than 50 m below the Carpentarian unconformity, and the most important deposits are adjacent to high-grade metamorphic complexes such as the Namabu and Nimbuwah complexes (Dodson and Prichard, 1975; Needham and Smart, 1972). It seems clear that the uranium deposits had a complex history which probably involved the following stages: 1) original syngenetic deposition of uranium in black shales by reduction of uranium from solutions which leached the underlying Archean granites; 2) remobilization of uranium during metamorphism about 1700-1900 m.y. ago; 3) introduction of supergene uranium from volcanics, sandstones, and arkoses of the Carpentarian System; and 4) renewed mobilization of uranium about 850 and 500 m.y. ago which are the dates obtained by Hills and Richards (1972) and Cooper (1973) for the uranium mineralization.

These deposits are clearly unrelated to the fossil-placer model. Deposition of sediments was in shallow marine instead of fluvial environments and uranium was transported in solution instead of as detrital particles. The concentration of uranium was evidently mainly an epigenetic, hydrothermal process (Eupene and others, 1976) and not related to sedimentary processes. Nevertheless, one pertinent aspect of the northern Australian deposits is that the most important deposits such as Jabiluka, Ranger, and Nabalek are adjacent to areas of intense metamorphism (Plumb and Derrick, 1975; Warren 1972a). This suggests that high-grade metamorphism literally expels uranium and concentrates it in near-by lower grade rocks. This concept could be very useful in exploration for uranium in metamorphosed quartzpebble conglomerates.

#### Other Areas

Early Proterozoic rocks also crop out in the Nicholson and Tennant Creek Blocks shown in Figure 2.17. The Nicholson Block includes pelites, graywackes, and volcanics which are metamorphosed to greenschist facies (Roberts and others, 1963). The volcanics contain uranium and copper

deposits which are related to the overlying unconformity with Carpentarian sediments (Warren, 1972b). The Tennant Creek Block contains marine graywackes and siltstones which apparently overlie Archean basement (Warren, 1972a).

#### MINERAL DEPOSITS

There are no known major Early Proterozoic fossil-placer conglomerates in Australia (1979), a rather surprising fact considering that the extensive Archean cratons of western Australia provide a good source for metals and the Early Proterozoic rocks on the margins of the cratons provide a suitable host. However, there are uneconomic uraniferous conglomerates and sub-economic auriferous conglomerates reported from the Hamersley Basin, where Early Proterozoic metasediments onlap the southern margin of the Pilbara craton (Robertson, 1974; Richards, 1972; Ryan, 1977). Auriferous conglomerates have been mined since 1888 from the base of the Fortesque Group of the Mount Bruce Supergroup (Robertson, 1974; Blockley, 1975) and uraniferous conglomerates occur in the same group some 2000 m higher in the section--in the Green Hole Formation. These conglomerates are 1-5 m thick and laterally continuous, and they contain values up to 425 ppm uranium. Either of these fossil-placer bearing conglomerates could prove to be important sources of uranium or gold if the right sedimentary facies could be found. The length of outcrop of the Fortesque Group is more than 600 km along the south margin of the Pilbara craton and it seems likely that somewhere within this distance, there were one or more deltas or alluvial fandeltas in which heavy minerals and coarse-clastics could be continually reworked and concentrated by braided rivers. Paleocurrent and depositional environment studies of the lower Fortesque Group would be very helpful in locating such deltas if they exist.

Other Early Proterozoic metasediments in Australia appear less likely

to contain fossil-placer deposits. The Halls Creek Group is mainly a eugeosynclinal sequence so depositional environments of the sediments were not favorable for fossil-placer accumulations. However, uranium is reported from a lower clastic unit of the group, and it remains possible that uranium could occur in miogeosynclinal or platform-type equivalents of the Halls Creek Group beneath the Carpentarian cover rocks on the Kimberley Block.

Rocks of the Pine Creek Geosyncline are mainly marine, and fluvial clastics are not abundant so the possibility for fossil-placer deposits in these rocks is also limited. There are radioactive conglomerates in the Crater Formation of the Batchelor Group, but the radioactivity is weak and is due to detrital thorite and monazite (Walpole and others, 1965; Ryan, 1977). This unit, and others like it, may have contributed uranium to the unconformity deposits but are probably not of economic significance themselves.

Rocks of the Tennant Creek and Nicholson Blocks are similar to the Pine Creek Syncline and are unlikely to contain fossil-placer ore-deposits. **REFERENCES CITED** 

- Arriens, P. A., 1971, The Archean geochronology of Australia: Geological Society of Australia special publication no. 3, p. 11-23.
- Blockley, J. G., 1975, Hamersley Basin--mineralization, <u>in</u> Knight, C. L., ed., Economic geology of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, monograph no. 5, v. 1, p. 413-416.
- Bofinger, V. M., 1967, Geochronology in the East Kimberley area of Western Australia: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Australian National University.
- Brown, D. A., Campbell, K. S. W., and Crook, K. A. W., 1968, The geological evolution of Australia and New Zealand: London, Pergamon Press.
- Compston, W., and Arriens, P. A., 1968, The Precambrian geochronology of Australia: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 5, p. 561-583.
- Cooper, J. A., 1973, On the age of uranium mineralization at Nabarlek, N. T., Australia: Journal of the Geological Society of Australia, v. 19, p. 483-486.
- David, T. W. E., 1950, (W. R. Browne, ed.,), The geology of the Commonwealth of Australia: Arnold, London.
- Dodson, R. G., and Prichard, C. E., 1975, Uranium in the Pine Creek Geosyncline, in Knight, C. L., ed., Economic geology of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, monograph no. 5, v. 1, p. 281-284.
- Dow, D. B., and Gemuts, I., 1969, Geology of the Kimberley Region, Western Australia: The East Kimberley: Bulletin of the Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology, and Geophysics of Australia, v. 106.
- Eupene, G. S., Fraser, W. J., and Ryan, G. R., 1976, Alligator Rivers type uranium deposits: paper presented to Australia/New Zealand Association Advancement of Science, 47th Congress, Hobart.
- Fisher, N. H., and Warren, R. G., 1975, Outline of the geological and tectonic evolution of Australia and Papua New Guinea, <u>in</u> Knight, C. L., ed., Economic geology of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, monograph no. 5, v. 1, p. 27-42.
- Gee, R. D., 1975, Regional geology of the Archean nucleii of the Western Australian Shield, in Knight, C. L., ed., Economic geology of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, monograph no. 5, v. 1, p. 27-42.
- Gellatly, D. C., 1971, Possible Archean rocks of the Kimberley region, Western Australia: Geological Society of Australia special publication no. 3, p. 93-102.

- Gellatly, D. C., Derrick, G. M., and Plumb, K. A., 1970, Proterozoic paleocurrent directions in the Kimberley region, Northwestern Australia: Geological Magazine, v. 107, p. 249-257.
- Glikson, A. Y., and Lambert, I. B., 1973, Relations in space and time between major Precambrian shield units: an interpretation of Western Australian data: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 20, p. 395-403.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Vertical zonation and petro-genesis of the Early Precambrian crust in Western Australia: Precambrian Research, v. 30, p. 55-89.

- Gravity map of Australia: Geological Society of Australia (referenced in Fisher and Warren, 1975).
- Hall, W. D., and Goode, A., 1975, The Nubberu Basin: a newly discovered Proterozoic basin in Western Australia: Geological Society of Australia, Ist Annual Convention, 1975 (abst.).
- Heier, K. S., and Rhodes, J. M., 1968, Thorium, uranium, and potassium concentrates in granites and gneisses of the Rum Jungle complex, N. T., Australia: Economic Geology, v. 61, p. 563-571.
- Hills, J. H., and Richards, J. R., 1972, The age of uranium mineralization in Northern Territory: Search, v. 3, p. 382-385.
- Horwitz, R. C., and Smith, R. E., 1978, Bridging the Yilgarn and Pilbara blocks, Western Australia: Precambrian Research, v. 6, p. 293-322.
- Hughes, F. E., and Harms, J. E., 1975, Radioactive King Leopold conglomerate, in Knight, C. L., ed., Economic geology of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy monograph no. 5, v. 1, p. 257-258.
- Knight, C. L., ed., 1975, Economic geology of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy monograph no. 5.
- McCall, G. J. H., 1971, Some ultrabasic and basic igneous rock occurrences in the Archean of Western Australia: Geological Society of Australia, special publication no. 3, p. 429-442.
- MacLoed, W. N., 1966, The geology and iron deposits of the Hamersley Range area, Western Australia: Geological Survey of Western Australia Bulletin, v. 117.
- McWhae, J. R. H., Playford, P. E., Lindner, A. W., Glenister, B. F., and Balme, B. E., 1956, The stratigraphy of Western Australia: Journal of the Geological Society of Australia, v. 4, p. 1-161.
- Needham, R. S., and Smart, P. G., 1972, Progress report, Alligator River Party, N. T., 1971, Report of the Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology, and Geophysics of Australia.

- Page, R. W., Blake, D. H., and Mahon, M. W., 1976, Geochronology and related aspects of acid volcanics, associated granites and other Proterozoic rocks in the Granites-Tanami region, northwestern Australia: Journal of the Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology, and Geophysics of Australia, v. 1, p. 1-13.
- Parkin, L. W., ed., 1969, Handbook of South Australian geology: Geological Survey of Southern Australia.
- Plumb, K. A., and Derrick, G. M., 1975, Geology of the Proterozoic rocks of the Kimberley to Mount Isa region, in Knight, C. L., ed., Economic geology of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy monograph no. 5, v. 1, p. 217-252.
- Richards, G. M., 1972, Proterozoic uraniferous conglomerates, Pilbara, Western Australia: Geological Society of Australia special groups meeting, Feb. 1972 (abst.).
- Richards, J. R., Berry, H., and Rhodes, J. M., 1966, Isotopic and lead alpha ages on some Australian zircons: Journal of the Geological Society of Australia, v. 13, p. 69-96.
- Richards, J. R., and Rhodes, J. M., 1967, Geochronology of the Rum Jungle complex (abst.): Australian Association for the Advancement of Science 39th congress, v. 3, p. 114-115.
- Roberts, H. G., Rhodes, J. M., and Yates, K. R., 1963, Calvert Hills, N. T.--1:250,000 Geological Series: Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology, and Geophysics of Australia, explanation notes. SE/53-8.
- Robertson, D. S., 1974, Basal Proterozoic units as fossil time markers and their use in uranium prospection, in Formation of uranium ore deposits: International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, p. 495-512.
- Rutland, R. W. R., 1973, Tectonic evolution of the continental crust of Australia, in Tarling, D. H., and Runcorn, S. K., eds., Implications of continental drift to the Earth Sciences: Academic Press, London, p. 1003-1025.
- \_\_\_\_, 1976, Orogenic evolution of Australia: Earth-Science Reviews, v. 12, p. 161-196.
- Ryan, G. R., 1977, Uranium in Australia, <u>in</u> Geology, mining, and extractive processing of uranium: Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Symposium, London, 1977.
- Ryan, G. R., and Blockley, J. G., 1965, Progress report on the Hamersley blue asbestos survey: Western Australia Geological Survey Record no. 1965/32 (open-file report).
- Smart, P. G., and Wilkes, P. G., 1975, Geology and geophysics of the Alligator Rivers region, in Knight, C. L., ed., Economic geology of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy monograph no. 5, v. 1, p. 285-300.

- Sprigg, R. C., 1967, A short geological history of Australia: Australian Petroleum Exploration Association Journal, v. 7, p. 59-82.
- Trendall, A. F., 1968, Three great basins of Precambrian banded iron deposition: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 79, p. 1527-1544.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1973, Iron formations of the Hamersley Group of Western Australia: type examples of varved Precambrian evaporites, <u>in</u> Genesis of Precambrian iron and manganese deposits: Proceedings of a Kiev Symposium 1970, United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization, Paris.

- Trendall, A. F., and Blockley, J. G., 1970, The iron formations of the Precambrian Hamersley Group, Western Australia: Western Australia Geological Survey, Bulletin, v. 119.
- Walpole, B. P., Crohn, P. W., Dunn, P. R., and Randel, M. R., 1968, Geology of the Katherine-Darwin region, Northern Territory: Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology, and Geophysics of Australia, Bulletin no. 82, 304 p.
- Walpole, B. P., Roberts, H. G., and Foreman, D. J., 1965, Geology of the Northern Territory in relation to mineralization, in McAndrew, J., ed., Geology of Australian ore deposits: 8th Commonwealth Mining and Metallurgy Congress, p. 160-167.
- Warren, R. G., 1972a, Metallogenic map of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology, and Geophysics, Canberra.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1972b, A commentary on the metallogenic map of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology, and Geophysics of Australia Bulletin, v. 145, 85 p.
- Wilson, A. F., 1969, Granulite terrains and their tectonic setting and relationships to associated metamorphic rocks in Australia: Geological Society of Australia special publication no. 2, p. 243-258.
- Woodall, R., 1975, Gold in the Precambrian Shield of Australia, <u>in</u> Knight, C. L., ed., Economic geology of Australia and Papua New Guinea: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, monograph no. 5, v. 1, p. 175-184.

# EAST EUROPEAN PLATFORM

# BALTIC SHIELD

# Geologic Setting

The Baltic Shield is located in Scandinavia and northwestern Russia and contains an Archean granite-greenstone nucleus, Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks, and a large area of Proterozoic metamorphic and igneous rocks. The Archean craton of the Baltic Shield contains: granulite facies supracrustal rocks (Kola Series) which are older than 3300 m.y.; granodioritic and tonalitic intrusives about 3000 m.y. old; greenstone belts which were deposited 3000-2800 m.y. ago and are preserved in a few north- to northwesttrending, isolated inliers surrounded by granitic rocks; intrusive trondhjemites and granodiorites 2800-2700 m.y. old; and potassium-rich (microcline) granites about 2700-2500 m.y. old (Gaál and others, 1978; Bowes, 1976; Salop, 1977). As shown in Figure 2.18, the Archean craton is bounded on the northeast by the Arctic Ocean, on the northwest by deformed Paleozoic sediments of the Scandinavian Calidonides, and on the southeast by Paleozoic sedimentary rocks of northwestern Russia which overlie and conceal large areas of Precambrian rocks of the East European Platform. On the southwest, the Archean craton is bounded by Proterozoic metasedimentary and plutonic rocks, including a sequence of Early Proterozoic quartz-rich clastics called the Karelian Supergroup. The Karelian Supergroup also crops out in isolated intracratonic basins within the Archean craton (Figure 2.18).

The Proterozoic rocks in the western and southwestern parts of the Baltic Shield are mainly 2100-1750 m.y. old (Lobach and others, 1972, <u>in</u> Bowes, 1976) and include schist belts which are referred to as the Svecofennian schist belts in the older literature. These schists were metamorphosed, deformed, and intruded by numerous granitic plutons during the Svecokarelian



Figure 2.18 Generalized geology of the Baltic Shield. Adapted from Nallvkin, 1960; Simonen, 1971; Bowes, 1976; Gaa'l and others, 1978; and Kahma, 1973. Numbered mineral occurrences refer to localities discussed in text.

orogeny, about 1800-2000 m.y. ago (Eskola, 1963; Stromberg, 1976), and include eugeosynclinal counterparts of the miogeosynclinal Karelian quartzites (Kahma, 1973; Eskola, 1963) plus younger metasediments (Bowes, 1976). The Svecokarelian orogeny is similar to the Hudsonian orogeny of the Canadian Shield in that it remobilized large areas of older basement in Sweden and Norway about 1800 m.y. ago (Stromberg, 1976).

The tectonic fabric of the Baltic Shield is dominated by a series of northwest-trending wrench faults and shear zones which form the boundaries of the major rock provinces (Touminen and others, 1973). According to Stromberg (1976, 1978) and Kahma (1973) these fault zones are the locus of important sulphide mineralization in Scandinavia and may be related to Archean structural patterns.

Post-Svecokarelian events include anorogenic plutonism and volcanism 1700-1500 m.y. ago, including emplacement of anorthosites and rapikivi granites, arenaceous sedimentation 1300-1200 m.y. ago, metamorphism about 1000 m.y. ago, and the Caledonian orogeny about 400 m.y. ago.

# Karelian Supergroup

#### Distribution and Age

Figure 2.18 shows that most of the outcrops of the Karelian Supergroup occur in a northwest-trending zone which extends from Lake Onega, in the southeast, to the Caledonides in the northwest. Other outcrops occur in the Kola Peninsula of Russia. Rocks of the Karelian Supergroup unconformably overlie the Archean granite-greenstone terrain and are preserved both on the southwest margin of the Archean craton, where they dip away from basement, and as isolated synclinal inliers within the Archean craton (Ojakangas, 1965). This distribution suggests that the Karelian Supergroup originally covered most of the Archean craton (at least 400,000 sq. km) and that the preserved inliers represent the deepest parts of, once larger, depositional basins on the craton (Ojakangas, 1965). This idea is compatible with Salop's (1977) observations that the Karelian rocks within the craton tend to be thin and only slightly metamorphosed platform sediments whereas the Karelian rocks which border the Archean craton (e.g. near Lake Ladoga, in northern Finland, and near the White Sea) are thicker, more highly metamorphosed miogeosynclinal strata. In both platform and miogeosynclinal sequences, the general stratigraphic sequences are similar but thickness and names differ (Salop, 1977).

The age of the Karelian Supergroup is bracketed between 2600 and 2000 m.y. (Table 2.10). A maximum age is given by 2600 m.y. old granites from Russia (Salop, 1977) and 2500 m.y. old granites from Finland (Gaál and others, 1978), both of which unconformably underlie the Karelian Supergroup. A minimum age comes from 2000-2150 m.y. old diabases which intrude the Karelian Supergroup in Russia and Finland (Table 2.10), from 1900 m.y. dates from metamorphic minerals in the Karelian Supergroup, and from 1900-2000 m.y. old intrusive syn-orogenic granites related to the Karelian (Svecokarelian) orogeny (Salop, 1977; Wetherill and others, 1962). Direct dates on the Karelian rocks include a 2500 m.y. K-Ar date from basic lavas of the Sego-zero Group in Russia (Svetov, 1972, <u>in</u> Salop, 1977) and a 2300 <u>+</u> 120 m.y. Pb isotope date on carbonate rocks in the overlying Onega Group (Salop, 1977).

# Stratigraphy and Lithology

Table 2.10 summarizes the stratigraphy of the Karelian Supergroup in Russia and Finland. In both areas, the Karelian Supergroup is divided into groups which are generally composed of a lower sedimentary sequence, dominated by clastics, and an upper volcanic sequence. As in other Early Proterozoic sequences such as the Witwatersrand Sequence, the ratio of clastic

KARELIAN SUPERGROUP OF RUSSIA					KARELIAN SUPERGROUP OF FINLAND				
Group (Mineralization)	Lithology	Thickne (m)	ss Age (method)	(Min	Group meralization)	Lithology	Thickness (m)	Age (method)	
Vespian	red, gray sandstone, slate dark quartzite, slate	1650 600	intruded by 2000-2150 m.y. diabase	Ka	, i i	quartzite conglomerate			
·····		$\sim$	with	hm	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	·····	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	·····	
Bessovets (Ladoga) vvvvvvvvvv	fmgr. sandstone, siltstone www.www basic volcanics	1000		Ka	levian	phyllite, mica schist quartzite, conglomerat	e	······	
Onega (Fe)	dolomite, siltstone, iron fm., quartzite, quartz- pebble congl.	800- : 1500	2300 <u>+</u> 120 (Pb-Pb) 2500(K-Ar)	T U L 1 A N	Marine Jatulian	amphibole schist dolomite, phyllite	>300 50~100	2050 <u>+</u> 50 (U-Pb zircor	
·····	tuff-sandstone, schist metadiabase	200- 400			Kainuu (Au, U)	quartzite basic volcanics schist, siltstone sericitic quartzite, quartz-pebble congl.	600-800 200	cross-cut by 2160 m.y diabases	
Segozero (Au, Fe)	dolomitic sandstone, siltstone, quartz-	700- 1000					350-450 100-200		
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	basic volcanics tuf	5 U-7UU 1 U-7UU	www.www	. < . ¬					
Sariolian	polymictite congl., arkose, grit,	0-800			Sariolian	basic volcanics conglomerate, arkose	0-500 0-50?		
······	www.titepple.cong	·····	·····	hm	hanna	·······································	www.ww	······	
Tunguda-	acid volcanics, tuff, basic volcanics, tuff	0-1800							
Nadvoitsa (U, pyrite)	quartzite, pyritic quartz-pebble congl. arkose, polymictic	3			elomoride	mica schist, quartzite	0-?		
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	men and a second	www.www.	·····	and		paragneiss, volcanic			
Pebozero	amphibolite, tuff, diabase gneiss, schist,	Luff, 0-3000 t,		Tuntsa- Savukoski		agglomerate			
······		www	······						
Tiksheozero NEXXXnChartXEI	conglomerate, quart- twittenschist	~ <del>~~~~~~</del>	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	' m		·····	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	www.	
Archean granit	e - greenstone rocks		2600-2800	1	Archean gi	ranite – greenstone rock	5	>2500	

Table 2.10. Comparative stratigraphies of the Karelian Supergroup in Russia and Finland. Adapted from Salop (1977); Simonen (1960); Silvennoinen (1972).

sediments to volcanics in the various groups increases up-section.

The lowest groups in both columns of Table 2.10 crop out mainly in the northern part of the Baltic Shield and are only locally developed (Salop, 1977; Simonen, 1960). These sequences are poorly known and may be Archean in age (Bogdanov and others, 1968; 1971, <u>in</u> Salop, 1977). However, Salop (1977) stated that they appear to underlie units of the Karelian Supergroup without marked angular unconformity and should, therefore, be considered part of the Karelian Supergroup.

The Sarolian Group is more widespread but it also is only locally developed. It occurs in isolated outcrops which appear to have filled valleys and depressions in the underlying Archean granitic basement (Simonen, 1960; Eskola, 1963). This group consists of basal conglomerates and arkosic quartzites which were derived from weathering products of the underlying basement (Eskola, 1963). The basal conglomerates are polymictic and contain subangular pebbles of gneiss, schist, and amphibolite up to 50 cm in diameter in a matrix of quartz, albite, mica, and carbonate (Silvennoinen, 1972; Eskola, 1963). The conglomerates get finer-grained and pebbles get more rounded up-section, eventually grading into coarse-grained arkose. This unit is, in part, a regolith developed on the Archean terrain and, in part, immature fluvial deposits which filled local depressions (Gaál and others, 1975; Ojakangas, 1965; Eskola, 1963; Simonen, 1960).

The Segozero Group of Russia and the Kainuu Group (Jatulian quartzites) of Finland are thick (1000-1500 m) and laterally persistent sequences of conglomerates, quartzites, and metavolcanics which are readily identified throughout the Baltic Shield. The distribution of the quartzites and conglomerates of this sequence is shown in Figure 2.18. The sequence is interpreted by Simonen (1960) and Eskola (1963) to be a transgressive epicontintal assemblage with a basal sericitic oligomictic quartz-pebble conglomerate, sericitic quartzite, sericite schist (and kaolinitic quartzite), and finally a pure quartz-arenite (Simonen, 1960). The lower units of the sequence contain gold- and uranium-bearing conglomerates in Finland and Soviet Karelia (Salop, 1977).

The Onega and Marine Jatulian Groups consist of marine sediments up to 2000 m thick such as stromatolitic dolomite, phyllite, iron formation, and pillow basalt. These sediments represent continued marine transgression following deposition of the Segozero/Kainuu sequence.

The Kalevian and Bassovets Groups unconformably overlie the Jatulian/ Onega Groups in most areas (Simonen, 1960; Salop, 1977). The base of the unit is marked by a conglomerate containing pebbles of the underlying quartzites. The majority of the rocks in this sequence are phyllites and mica schists, including graphitic schists and rhythmically bedded graywacke of probable turbidite origin.

The highest units of the Karelian Supergroup are the Vepsian and Koli Groups. These units consist of terrigenous clastics which were deposited unconformably on the underlying marine rocks. Some of these clastics are redbeds which contain microphytolites (Salop, 1977).

### Paleogeography

The paleogeographic setting prior to deposition of the lowest sediments of the Karelian Supergroup was characterized by an uplifted and deeply eroded block of Archean granitic gneisses and greenstones which was experiencing intermittent subaerial volcanism. The erosion surface on top of the block was irregular and probably contained several small intracratonic basins in which isolated sedimentary successions like the Tiksheozero, Pebozero, Tunguda-Nadvoitsa, and Sarolian Groups were deposited. These sequences contain
epicontinental to shallow-water detrital deposits and subaerial volcanics. For example, the Sarolian Group is probably a fluvial deposit and consists of poorly-sorted, oligomictic conglomerates which were derived from mechanical weathering of nearby topographic highs in the gneissic basement, transported a short distance, and deposited in local depressions (Simonen, 1960). These conglomerates contain heavy mineral assemblages but the distance of fluvial transport and amount of fluvial reworking were probably not adequate to form significant concentrations of heavy minerals.

The Kainuu/Segozero Groups represent the first widespread deposition of metasediments on the Archean craton. These groups are interpreted by Simonen (1960) and Ojakangas (1965) to be transgressive sequences, starting with fluvial deposition of conglomerate and aluminous quartzite, both of which were derived from deep mechanical and chemical weathering of the granitic source terrain. The aluminous quartzites grade up-section into more mature, marine quartzites. According to Ojakangas (1965), the Jatulian Sea transgressed eastward over the Archean craton and the quartzites thin to the east. The fluvial deposits of the lower part of this sequence contain uranium- and gold-bearing conglomerates but these disappear up-section, as marine deposition predominated.

Crossbedding in the quartzites of the Kainuu Group is common and includes both trough and planar types. Ripple marks are also present and some argillaceous units contain mudcracks (Ojakangas, 1965; Eskola, 1963). Paleocurrent data from crossbedding in the Finnish quartzites indicate that the dominant paleocurrent directions were to the west and south and that the source of the Jatulian quartzites of Finland was the Archean craton to the northeast (Ojakangas, 1965).

### Mineral Deposits

There are several reports of gold- and uranium-bearing conglomerates in the Karelian Supergroup but unfortunately very few detailed descriptions are available. Salop (1977) reported auriferous and uraniferous conglomerates in the Kainuu Group of Finland and in the corresponding Segozero Group of Russia and he reported pyritic quartz-pebble conglomerates in the underlying Tunguda-Nadvoitsa Group. According to our model, these units are the right age and lithology to contain fossil-placer uranium and pyrite. Also, the paleogeographic setting is favorable. The conglomerates were deposited on a deeply eroded Archean granitic basement by fluvial processes.

Kahma (1973) showed only three small uranium deposits in Finland. He interpreted them all to be stratiform deposits and they are all located within rocks of the Karelian Supergroup (Figure 2.18). This distribution of uranium within rocks of the Karelian Supergroup suggests that these rocks contain significant, if low-grade, concentrations of uranium.

The best known of the Finnish uranium deposits is the Paukkajanvarra mine in the Kola area of southeastern Finland (Ul, Figure 2.18). This deposit is described by Tyni (1962; <u>in</u> Kaliokoski and others, 1978) and Wennervirta (1960). Uranium mineralization occurs near the contact between Archean gneisses and the overlying Kainuu Group metasediments. In ascending order, the Kainuu Group consists of sericite schist, sericitic quartzite, conglomerate, and fine-grained quartzite. The lower sericite schist is gradational with granitic basement and may be, in part, a regolith. The conglomerate contains mainly quartz pebbles with minor quartzite and sericite schist pebbles. The pebbles get finer grained up-section and the conglomerate grades into a light-gray, strongly fractured quartzite. The matrix of the conglomerate is sericitic at the base, but higher up it consists of biotite, chlorite,

and magnetite. According to Ojakangas (1965) the most abundant heavy minerals in the Jatulian quartzites are apatite, tourmaline, and zircon with minor magnetite, ilmenite, hematite, pyrite, chalcopyrite, and other silicates.

Uranium ore is associated with diabase dikes which intrude both basement and metasediments. In most cases, the ore is within quartzites and conglomerates of the Karelian Supergroup which are in contact with intrusive diabase. The highest grades of ore are in conglomerate but quartzite and diabase also contain ore-grade mineralization and sub ore-grade uranium also extends into the underlying basement (Wennervirta, 1960).

According to Tyni (1962), the uranium is epigenetic in origin. The most common mineral is uranophane which occurs as soft masses which fill fractures. In the larger fractures, pitchblende is also observed. The best ore occurs in the highly-fractured areas of the metasediments adjacent to certain diabase dikes. Tyni suggested that the origin of the ore is related to the mineralogy of the diabase. However, it seems more likely to us that the uranium originated from the conglomerates and quartzites of the Kainuu Group and was reconcentrated by diabase intrusions which intersected paleochannels in the fluvial sediments. This would explain the association of uranium with only a few of diabase dikes and the preferred distribution of uranium ore with the basal conglomerate of the Karelian Supergroup.

The other uranium deposits in Finland are the Nuottijärva deposit in central Finland (U2 of Figure 2.18) and the Kesänkitunturi deposit (U3 of Figure 2.18) in northwestern Finland (Kahma, 1973). The Nuottijärva deposit contains uranium and thorium and is located near the basal contact of the Karelian Supergroup. The Kesänkitunturi deposit contains mainly uranium and is located entirely within metasediments (Figure 2.18). The nature and origin of these deposits is not known to us.

Radioactive conglomerates have also been reported from Soviet Karelia (Lobanov, 1961; Shkvorov and Kovalev, 1961; Davidson, 1964; Salop, 1977) but locations and detailed geologic information are not available. Shkvorov and Kovalev (1961, <u>in</u> Davidson, 1964, p. 172) reported uraninite-, brannerite-, and gold-bearing conglomerates in an unspecified locality which show a "zoning" between a uranium-pyrite-rutile assemblage and a brannerite-magnetite-davidite assemblage. Details on these rocks would be exceedingly interesting because the gradation between assemblages would suggest that the conglomerates were deposited during a period of transition between oxygenic and anoxygenic conditions.

One clue to the location of these conglomerates is the distribution of gold-bearing Proterozoic conglomerates in Soviet Karelia which, it appears, Russian geologists have discussed more freely. Yakoleva and others (1969) reported gold-bearing conglomerates from basal layers of clastic successions in three areas, shown in Figure 2.18. In the Koikar area (Gl of Figure 2.18), gold occurs in quartz-pebble conglomerates interpreted to be epicontinental sediments deposited in intermontane basins; in the Lekhtin area (G2 of Figure 2.18) gold, pyrite, and carbonaceous material are reported from presumed coastal-marine conglomerates; and the Yangozero area (G3 of Figure 2.18) contains a 300-350 m thick gold-bearing conglomerate horizon (Yakoleva and others, 1969). These rocks contain generally less than 2 ppm gold. However, they are reported to be similar in lithology to the Witwatersrand conglomerates and may well contain appreciable but unreported uranium as well as gold.

# UKRANIAN SHIELD

# Geologic Setting

The Ukranian Shield is located in southwestern Russia, north of the Black Sea, and includes Archean and Proterozoic rocks which are surrounded and partially concealed by Tertiary deposits. Drill data indicate that the Ukranian Shield and Baltic Shields are part of a continuous Precambrian block, the East European Platform, which is concealed by Phanerozoic rocks in western Russia. The oldest rocks in the Ukranian Shield are granulite facies supracrustal rocks of the Bug Group and equivalents which yield a Pbmodel age of 3600 m.y. (Salop, 1977). This group includes gneisses, migmatites, and amphibolites with layers of calc-silicate, marble, garnet schist, sillimanite gneiss, quartzite, and iron formation. These gneisses were intruded by granitic bodies about 3000 m.y. ago (Vinogradov and others, 1960). Greenstone belt assemblages were deposited unconformably on the gneisses between 2800 and 2600 m.y. ago (Ladieva, 1965, <u>in</u> Salop, 1977). These belts are complex synclines nestled between granite domes which intruded and metamorphosed the greenstone belts about 2700-2500 m.y. ago (Salop, 1977).

## Stratigraphy

Early Proterozoic rocks were deposited in the Ukranian Shield between 2700 and 2000 m.y. ago (Salop, 1977). These rocks are called the Krivoy Rog and Frunze Mine Groups in the central Ukranian Shield and the Belozerka and Pereversevsk Groups farther east. The Krivoy Rog Group (and equivalents) consist of two formations: a lower, 500 m thick clastic sequence containing conglomerate, arkose, quartz-arenite, and phyllite; and an upper, 1400 m thick, sequence of schists, phyllites, and economically important iron formation (Salop, 1977). Volcanic rocks are generally lacking. The basal conglomerate of this group is a paraconglomerate containing dropstones of possible glacial origin. The matrix of the conglomerate contains uraniumbearing pyrite grains which give a Pb-isotope age of 2600-2700 m.y. The Krivoy Rog Group is considered by Salop (1977) to be correlative with the Tunguda-Nadvoitsa and Sarolian Groups of the Karelian Supergroup.

The Frunze Mine Group (and equivalents) unconformably overlie the Krivoy Rog Group and consist of quartzite (40-120 m), slaty carbonate (300-900 m), a sandstone-conglomerate unit (1000-1500 m), and a slate unit (300-1000 m). These rocks are considered by Salop to be equivalent to the Segozero and Onega Group of the Karelian Supergroup on the basis of the similarities in stratigraphy and lithologies and the presence of organic remains in the carbonaceous rocks. A minimum age of 2000 m.y. for this group comes from 1700-2000 m.y. dates on metamorphic minerals in the sequence.

# Mineral Deposits

We know of no reports of economic concentrations of uranium or gold in the Ukranian Shield. However, Salop (1977, p. 135) reported the presence of syngenetic uranium-bearing pyrite grains in the matrix of the basal conglomerates of the Krivoy Rog Group and in correlative rocks of the Voronezh Anticline, to the northeast, and conglomerates in both of these areas also contain gold. Rozhov (1969) and Pisemskij and others (1969) reported gold, pyrite, and "other heavy minerals of clastic origin" in the basal parts of sericitic, quartz-pebble conglomerate layers. These layers are 1 cm to 2 m thick in the southern part of the Krivoy Rog Syncline and occur within a 5-50 m thick quartz sandstone unit. Farther north, the basal 60-100 m of the Krivoy Rog Group is made up of interlayered polymictic boulder conglomerates and oligomictic quartz-pebble conglomerates. Fire assays of over 300 samples of conglomerates were reported by Rozhov (1969). Of the samples, 32 percent were barren, 46 percent contained trace amounts of gold, 17 percent

contained .1 ppm, 4 percent contained .2 ppm, and one percent contained more than .3 ppm. The maximum reported gold content was 1 ppm. The gold occurs as fine-grained angular particles in the matrix or associated with pyrite and pyrrhotite grains. According to Rozhov (1969), the highest gold assays came from thin, uniform layers of quartz-pebble conglomerate which directly overlie coarser, polymictic boulder conglomerates. Rozhov also reported that the layers richest in gold show the highest gamma-ray readings of any rocks in the section, which suggests they may also contain some uranium-bearing detrital minerals.

The conglomerates in the Krivoy Rog Group are interpreted to be alluvial fan or intermontane fan-delta deposits (Rozhov, 1969), they were deposited unconformably on an eroded amphibolite terrain prior to 2000 m.y. ago, and they extend for about 80 km in a north-south direction. Thus, they appear to have been deposited in favorable depositional environment, they are the right age, and they are extensive enough to contain appreciable fossil-placer uranium and gold mineralization if the source area of the sediments contained uranium minerals and gold.

One interesting feature of the Krivoy Rog Group is the presence of economically important iron formation directly overlying the basal Proterozoic clastic sequence. This situation is analogous to the stratigraphic sequence seen in the Minas Series of Brazil. In both cases, the transgressive, and dominantly marine nature of the bulk of the sedimentary sequence suggests that fossil-placer deposits will be restricted to the basal clastic units and that mineral concentrations are likely to be of lower tenor than in Early Proterozoic cyclic fluvial sequences such as the Witwatersrand, where constant reworking of sediments during regressive cycles was responsible for concentrating heavy minerals.

### **REFERENCES CITED**

- Bogdanov, Y. B., Negrutza, V. Z., and Suslova, S. N., 1971, Precambrian stratigraphy of the eastern part of the Baltic Shield, in Stratigrafiya i Izotop, Geokhronologiya Dokembriya Vost. Chasti Baltiyskogo Shchita: Nauka, Leningrad, p. 160-170 (in Russian).
- Bogdanov, Yu. B., and Voinov, A. S., 1968, On Karelide-Belormide relationships in eastern Karelia: Trudy VSEGI, N. Ser., v. 143, p. 97-109.
- Bowes, D. R., 1976, Archean crustal history of the Baltic Shield, <u>in</u> Windley, B. F., ed., The early history of the earth: New York, John Wiley and Sons, p. 481-488.
- Davidson, C. F., 1964, Uranium in ancient conglomerates, a review of Kotlyar, V. N., ed., 1963, Uranium in ancient conglomerates: Gosatomizdat, Moscow: Economic Geology, v. 59, p. 168-178.
- Eskola, P., 1963, The Precambrian of Finland, in Rankama, K., ed., The Precambrian: Interscience, New York, v. 1, p. 145-264.
- Gaal, G., Koistinen, T., and Mattila, E., 1975, Tectonics and stratigraphy of the vicinity of Outokumpu, north Karelia, Finland: Geological Survey of Finland Bulletin, no. 271, 67 p.
- Gaál, G., Mikkola, A., and Söderholm, B., 1978, Evolution of the Archean crust in Finland: Precambrian Research, v. 6, p. 199-215.
- Kahma, A., 1973, The main metallogenic features of Finland: Geological Survey of Finland Bulletin, no. 265, 27 p.
- Kaliokoski, J., Langford, F. F., and Ojakangas, R. W., 1978, Criteria for uranium occurrences in Saskatchewan and Australia as guides to favorability for similar deposits in the United States: United States Department of Energy, Grand Junction, Colo., 480 p.
- Kononov, N. D., 1969, The geologic reasons for searching for gold-bearing conglomerates within the Voronezh Anticline, in Smirnov, V. I., ed., Problems with metal-bearing ancient conglomerates in the U.S.S.R.: Nauka, Moscow, p. 113-121.
- Ladieva, V. D., 1965, The sedimentary-volcanogenic formations in Konsk-Belozero zone, <u>in</u> Geokhronologiya Dokembriya Ukrainy, Naukova Dumka, Kiev, p. 16-25.
- Lobach-Zhuchenko, S. B., Kratz, K. O., and others, 1972, Geochronological boundaries and the geological evolution of the Baltic Shield: Precambrian Research Institute, U.S.S.R. Academy of Science, Leningrad (in Russian).
- Lobanov, I. N., 1961, Mineralogiya i proiskhozhdenie Yatuliiskikh Kvartzevykh Konglomeratakh Karellii: Mineralogicheskii Sbornik, Lvov, no. 15, p. 298-311, (in Russian).

- Nalivkin, D. V., 1960, The geology of the U.S.S.R.; a short outline, including a 1:7,500,000 geological map of the U.S.S.R.: New York, Pergamon Press, 170 p.
- Ojakangas, R. W., 1965, Petrography and sedimentation of the Precambrian Jatulian quartzites of Finland: Geological Survey of Finland Bulletin, no. 214, 74 p.
- Pisemskij, G. V., Ganzha, L. M., and Bolotova, N. Y., 1969, Preliminary results of the study of the gold-bearing Precambrian conglomerates in the area near Krivoy-Rog, and the Kursk magnetic anomaly, in Smirnov, V. I., ed., Problems with metal-bearing ancient conglomerates in the U.S.S.R.: Nauka, Moscow, p. 101-107 (in Russian)
- Rozhov, I. S., 1969, The status of research on gold-bearing conglomerates in the U.S.S.R., in Smirnov, V. I., ed., Problems with metal-bearing ancient conglomerates in the U.S.S.R.: Nauka, Moscow, p. 1-15.
- Salop, L. J., 1977, Precambrian of the northern hemisphere: New York, Elsevier, 378 p.
- Shkrorov, V. A., and Kovaleva, K. V., 1961, Proterozoiskie radioaktivnye Konglomeraty: Voprosy Rudnoi Geofiziki, no. 3, p. 68-78.
- Silvennoinen, A., 1972, On the stratigraphic and structural geology of the Rukatunturi area, Northeastern Finland: Geological Survey of Finland Bulletin, no. 257, 48 p.
- Simonen, A., 1960, Pre-Quaternary rocks in Finland: Geological Survey of Finland Bulletin, no. 191, 49 p.
- , 1971, Das finnische Grundgebirge: Geologische Rundschau, v. 60, p. 1406–1421.
- Stromberg, A. G. B., 1976, A pattern of tectonic zones in the western part of the East European Platform: Geologiska Foreningens i Stockholm Forhandlingar, v. 98, p. 227-243.

- Svetov, A. P., 1972, Jatulian paleovolcanology in central Karelia: Tr. Inst. Geol. Karelsk. Fil. Academy of Science of the U.S.S.R., v. 11, 120 p.
- Touminen, H. V., Aarnisalo, J., and Söderholm, B., 1973, Tectonic patterns in the central Baltic Shield: Geological Society of Finland Bulletin, no. 45, p. 205-217.
- Tyni, M., 1962, Geology of the Paakkajanvaara Uranium deposit: Geologi (Geological Society of Finland), v. 14, p. 24-27 (in Finnish), English translation in Kaliokoski, 1978.
- Vinogradov, A. P., Tugarinov, A. I., and Zykov, S. I., 1960, The age of pegmatite from the Stanovoy complex: Geokhimiya, v. 5, p. 383-391.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1978, Early tectonic zones in the Baltic Shield: Precambrian Research, v. 6, p. 217-222.

- Wennervirta, H., 1960, Occurrences of uranium ore in northern Karelia: International Geological Congress, 21st session, Norden, guide to excursions, nos. C32, C33, p. 25-27.
- Wetherill, G. H., Kouvo, O., Tilton, G. R., and Gast, P. W., 1962, Age measurements on rocks from the Finnish Precambrian: Journal of Geology, v. 70, p. 74-88.
- Yakovleva, V. V., Shustov, B. N., and Mirolubora, Z. P., 1969, Aspects of the gold-bearing Precambrian conglomerates of Karelia, <u>in</u> Smirnov, V. I., ed., Problems with metal-bearing ancient conglomerates in the U.S.S.R.: Nauka, Moscow, p. 95-100 (in Russian).

### SIBERIAN PLATFORM

## GEOLOGIC SETTING

Archean rocks of the Siberian Platform underlie most of Asia and constitute one of the largest Archean platforms in the world. As shown in Figure 2.19, Archean rocks crop out in three parts of the Siberian Platform: the Anabar Craton in the north, Aldan Craton in the southeast, and the Yenisei Anticline in the southwest. Drill data and geophysical data indicate that the areas in between contain Archean rocks in sub-outcrop, beneath late Proterozoic and Phanerozoic platform sediments (Salop, 1977; Kosygin and Parfenov, 1975). The Anabar Craton and Yenisei Anticline are continuous in sub-outcrop and form part of the Angara Shield, which comprises the entire western part of the Siberian Platform (Figure 2.19). The Angara Shield is separated from the Aldan Craton to the east by a north-trending trough which contains Archean rocks and Early Proterozoic metasediments and is considered by Salop (1977) to be two aulocogens separated by a small Archean block (Figure 2.19). The Siberian Platform is bounded on the west by Quaternary cover, on the northeast by folded Mesozoic sedimentary rocks and Mesozoic granites, and on the south by folded Proterozoic and Paleozoic sediments and Paleozoic (Caledonian) granitic intrusives (Figure 2.19).

The oldest rocks of the Siberian Platform are granulite-facies paragneisses and migmatites of the Aldan, Anabar, and Kansk Groups and equivalents. The Aldan Group, as an example, is about 16 km thick and is subdivided into three subgroups: a lower sequence containing metavolcanic gneisses and quartzites, a middle sequence containing amphibolite, mafic schist, and carbonate, and an upper sequence containing garnet paragneiss and calc-silicates. These rocks yield a Pb-isochron date and K-Ar mineral ages of about 3500 m.y. which are interpreted by Salop (1977) to represent the time of



Figure 2.19. Generalized geology and Early Proterozoic structural elements of the Siberian Platform. Adapted from Salop (1977).

granulite grade metamorphism. A minimum age for the Aldan Group is 2600-2800 m.y., which is the date on granites that cross-cut the greenstone belts which overlie the Aldan Group. Other Early and Middle Archean rocks crop out in the Anabar Craton, Yenisei Anticline, and in the fold belts which surround the Siberian Platform. These fold belts contain granulite and amphibolite facies rocks which were remobilized and retrograded during Proterozoic orogenies.

Archean greenstone belts overlie the granulite facies gneisses. These sequences consist of volcanic and sedimentary rocks, including iron-formation, which are similar to greenstone belts on other cratons except they may contain a higher percentage of volcaniclastic and sedimentary rocks relative to volcanics. Also, in several areas they are reported (Salop, 1977) to be continuous with Early Proterozoic metasedimentary successions, suggesting that there was no abrupt change in style of sedimentation at the end of the Archean in the Siberian Platform. Another interesting feature of the Archean gneissic sequences is that they sometimes occur in narrow fault-bounded troughs which contain strongly folded and metamorphosed metasediments and intrusive gabbros and granites. According to Salop (1977), these troughs bounded discrete Archean blocks and may have been the precursors of mobile belts and Proterozoic aulocogens.

### EARLY PROTEROZOIC METASEDIMENTARY ROCKS

There are four types of Early Proterozoic metasedimentary sequences in the Siberian Platform and in surrounding fold belts: 1) platform-type sequences, 2) miogeosynclinal sequences, 3) aulocogen-type sequences, and 4) eugeosynclinal sequences.

Early Proterozoic platform-type sequences of epicontinental clastic rocks are not common in the Siberian Platform. The only possible sequence

of this type is the Eyekit Group of the Ohenek uplift in the northeastern corner of the Siberian Platform. These rocks are terrigeneous clastics and are probably Early Proterozoic (Kosygin and Parfenov, 1975), although Salop considered them to be late Archean. Salop (1977) suggested that other Early Proterozoic epicontinental sequences may be concealed by the thick cover of younger sediments on the Siberian Platform.

Miogeosynclinal sequences occur on the south, west, and north margins of the Siberian Platform (Figure 2.19). The best example is the Udokan Group of the Baikal fold belt, on the southern margin of the platform. This group is about 13 km thick and contains three subgroups: a lower sequence of finegrained marine clastics, a middle sequence of presumed shallow marine quartzites and stromatolitic carbonates, and an upper sequence of coarse-grained arkoses and quartzites containing red-beds and detrital magnetite. An Early Proterozoic age for the Udokan Group is verified by the fact that it lies on 2600-2800 m.y. old greenstone sequences and is intruded by 1900 m.y. old granites (Salop, 1977).

Aulocogen-type sequences occur in the central Siberian Platform, between the Angara and Aldan Cratons, and on the eastern edge of the Aldan Craton (Figure 2.19). The best example is the Olekma sequence. This sequence is about 2.5 km thick and is divided into four formations: a lower unit consisting of basal conglomerate, arkose, and quartzite, a dolomite unit, a darkgray siltstone unit, and an upper unit containing thick cross-bedded quartzite. This sequence is a transgressive sequence which unconformably overlies Archean granitic rocks. It is comparable to the miogeosynclinal sequence except units are thinner.

Eugeosynclinal sequences occur on the north, west, and south margins of the platform. One example is the Zama Subgroup of the Baikal fold belt. This subgroup contains graywacke, tuffaceous sandstone, dolomite, and volcanic rocks and is considered by Salop (1977) to be a continuation of Archean sedimentation in the Kilvana Subgroup.

# MINERAL DEPOSITS

There are no reported occurrences of uraniferous conglomerates in Early Proterozoic rocks of the Siberian Platform that we are aware of. However, Levin and others (1970) do report gold-bearing Proterozoic conglomerates in Aldan craton. It seems likely that uranium may be associated with this and other similar conglomerates, particularly the basal conglomerates of aulocogen-type sequences, and possibly in basal units of the miogeosynclinal successions. Also, if other platform sequences are found beneath the younger cover rocks, these would be good targets for fossil placer deposits. REFERENCES CITED

- Kosygin, Yu. A., and Parfenov, L. M., 1975, Structural evolution of eastern Siberia and adjacent areas: American Journal of Science, v. 275-A, p. 187-208.
- Levin, V. I., Mikhaylov, V. A., and Nuzhov, S. V., 1970, Stratigraphic position and lithogenic characteristics of gold-bearing conglomerates from the Proterozoic in the Davanya-Khuddinsk graben, Aldan Plateau, in Sostayaniye i zadachi Sovetskoy litologil: Uses Litol. Soveshch, 8th Dokl., v. 2, p. 213-219 (in Russian).
- Nalivkin, D. V., 1960, The geology of the U.S.S.R., a short outline, including a 1:7,500,000 geological map of the U.S.S.R.: New York, Pergamon Press, 170 p.
- Salop, L. J., 1977, Precambrian of the northern hemisphere: New York, Elsevier Publ. Co., 378 p.

# PART III. UNITED STATES RESOURCE POTENTIAL

# INTRODUCTION

The preferred exploration model discussed in Part I restricts the occurrence of uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerates to Precambrian clastic rocks older than about 2000 m.y. This limits prospecting to two major regions of the United States--the Lake Superior region and the region surrounding the Wyoming Province. These areas are shown in Figure 3.1.

We will discuss the Lake Superior region first because this region borders the Canadian Shield and is a logical area to look for possible extensions of the uranium-bearing units of the Huronian Supergroup, which crop out only 200 km east of the Lake Superior region of the United States (Figure 3.1).

# LAKE SUPERIOR REGION

The Lake Superior region includes rocks of Archean age which form the southern extension, into the United States, of the Superior Province of the Canadian Shield. Archean rocks crop out in Minnesota, Michigan, and Wisconsin, as far west as the Minnesota-North Dakota border, as far south as about latitude 44<sup>o</sup> N in Wisconsin, and as far east as the vicinity of the city of Marquette, Michigan (Figure 3.2). Sims (1976) has subdivided the Archean into two terrains: a granite-greenstone terrain located primarily in northern Minnesota and northwestern Michigan and a high-grade gneiss terrain located in central Minnesota and Wisconsin (Figure 3.2). Two subparallel troughs of Proterozoic age (younger than 2500 m.y.) developed on this Archean basement. The older trough, shown in Figure 3.2 as the Marquette Range Supergroup and equivalents, is a geosyncline that extends roughly around the margin of Lake Superior and appears to be warped so that the axis strikes northeast in central Minnesota and western Wisconsin and then bends around

Figure 3.1. Geology of the Archean nucleus of North America showing Archean cratons (> 2.5 b.y.), rejuvenated Archean terrains (1.7 - 2.5 b.y.), and Proterozoic foldbelts (< 1.8 b.y.).

# EXPLANATION



2.5–3.2 Range of radiometric ages in billions of years

# LABELEO LOCALITIES

BI - Beicher Islands; BH - Black Hills; CG - Coronation Geosyncline; CS - Cape Smith Foldbelt; FR - Front Range; HG - Hurwitz Group and Montgomery Lake sediments; HS - Huronian Supergroup; K - Ketilidian Supracrustals; KR - Keweenawan Rift basalts and sediments; LR - Laramie Range; LT - Labrador Trough; MB - Medicine Bow Mountains; MG - Mistassini Group; MR - Marquette Range Supergroup; NACP - North Atlantic Central Plains conductivity anomaly; NF - Nelson Front; OM - Otish Mountains; S - Shuswap Complex; SL - Sakami Lake; SM - Sierra Madre; U - Umanek area; WL - Wollaston Lake foldbelt.

## REFERENCES

<u>Geology</u> - King (1969; 1976a); Bell (1970); Bondeson (1970); Bridgwater and others (1973); Condie (1977); Dimroth (1972); Henderson and Pultertaft (1967); Hoffman (1973); Houston and others (1968); Kleinkopf and Redden (1975); Money and others (1970); Roscoe (1969). <u>Geophysics</u> - Alabi and others (1975); Gibb and Thomas (1977); Horner and Hasegawa (1978); Kent and Simpson (1973); Kreary (1976); Lidiak (1971); Thomas and Gibt (1977). <u>Geochronology</u> - Duncan (1978); Goldich and Hedge (1974); Goldich and others (1966); Hurst and others (1975); Hills and others (1968); Hills and Armstrong (1974); Hills and Houston (1979); King (1976); Moorbath and others (1972); Peterman and Hedge (1968); Price and Douglas (1972); Van Schmus (1976).





so that it strikes west to northwest in eastern Michigan. This older trough contains thick successions of metasedimentary rocks that are primarily miogeosynclinal in the north and eugeosynclinal in the south (Sims, 1976). The younger trough is marked by the Keweenawan rocks of Figure 3.2 and by the mid-continent gravity high. Together they form a remarkable rift system (Chase and Gilmer, 1973) that extends northeasterly from eastern Kansas, through eastern Nebraska, central lowa, to eastern Minnesota and western Wisconsin, where it begins to change strike from northeast to east-west (Figure 3.2). The rift continues to the east, roughly conforming to the outline of Lake Superior, and at the east margin of Lake Superior, it apparently changes strike again to develop a southeast trend (Bayley and Muehlberger, 1968). This horseshoe-shaped structure is filled with metavolcanic and metasedimentary rocks; primarily basalt and gabbro in the lower part and clastic sedimentary rocks in the upper part. The metasedimentary-metavolcanic rocks in the rift are too young (1100-1000 m.y.) to be hosts for placer uranium minerals, but the rift itself is critical to our discussion because it separates rocks of the older Proterozoic geosyncline which are of possible interest.

Metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks that fill the older Proterozoic geosyncline of the Lake Superior region probably range in age from 2100 m.y. to 1900 m.y., so the older metasedimentary rocks in this geosyncline are a reasonable target for uranium exploration. As shown in Figure 3.2, metasedimentary rocks of the Huronian Supergroup, which contain the Canadian Blind River-Elliot Lake deposits, crop out about 200 km east of the easternmost outcrop of metasedimentary rocks in the older Proterozoic geosyncline. If we were to remove the late Proterozoic rift, assuming E-W rifting perpendicular to the line of gravity highs, and fit these areas as they may have been about 1800 m.y. ago we would find that the Canadian metasedimentary rocks should either fit exactly with the United States section or be slightly north of the main United States section (if the strike of the Lake Superior geosyncline changes to the southeast as it appears to in Figure 3.2). In any event, on these grounds it would appear reasonable to assume that a corelation can be made between these two Early Proterozoic successions of metasedimentary rocks.

This correlation was indeed made by Van Hise (1892) and Van Hise and Leith (1911) and the term Huronian was used for the metasedimentary successions in both Canada (Logan and Hunt, 1855) and the United States. Following his classic study of the metasedimentary rocks on the North Shore of Lake Huron, W. H. Collins (1925, p. 112-114) refined this correlation and suggested that the "Lower Huronian" of the Marquette District of the United States (Van Hise and Leith, 1911) was correlative with his lower Bruce series of the North Shore of Lake Huron. However, he noted that no reasonable correlation could be made between overlying rocks, and it is clear from his discussion that he had some doubt about the overall correlation. After fifteen years of re-study of the iron-bearing districts of Michigan by geologists of the United States Geological Survey, James (1958, p. 33-35) suggested that the term Huronian be abandoned for the metasedimentary successions in the United States because of substantial uncertainty in correlation between the type Huronian section on the North Shore of Lake Huron and the metasedimentary succession in the United States. James (1958) justly pointed out that on lithologic grounds the Bruce series (Lower Huronian Supergroup of Canada) does not correlate very well with the "Lower Huronian" as defined in the Marquette District by Van Hise and Leith, and that a more reasonable correlation is between the Fern Creek Formation of Dickinson County, Michigan and the Gowganda Formation (tillite) of the Huronian Supergroup of Canada. This would make the entire sequence of Michigan younger than uranium-bearing units of Canada.

Following James' 1958 proposal, terminology for the Proterozoic metasedimentary successions have been completely revised as shown in Table 3.1. The term Marquette Range Supergroup (Cannon and Gair, 1970) is now used to describe the Proterozoic succession in Michigan, the term Animikie Group is used for equivalent rocks in Minnesota, and the term Huronian Supergroup is now used only to describe the Proterozoic succession in Canada. As stated in 1970 by Cannon and Gair (1970, p. 2844), detailed investigations of both the Huronian Supergroup and Marquette Range Supergroup to that time had not produced sufficient evidence for correlation of the two sequences. This indicates that the assumption of east-west rifting across the Keweenawan trough is overly simplistic and does not satisfactorily explain the pre-rifting paleogeography.

Geochronological studies of the past decade have not entirely solved the above correlation problem, but these studies indicate that rocks of the Huronain Supergroup are older than those of the Marquette Range Supergroup. The rocks of the Huronian Supergroup are cut by the Nipissing diabase dated as approximately 2160 m.y. (Van Schmus, 1965; Fairbairn and others, 1969) and they lie on a basement of Archean rocks dated as 2400-2600 m.y. They are therefore bracketed in age between about 2500 m.y. and 2150 m.y. In contrast, Banks and Van Schmus (1971; 1972) have shown that metamorphic rocks that underlie basal beds of the Marquette Range Supergroup in the Felch Trough of northern Michigan were subjected to a severe thermal event 2100-2000 m.y. ago; an event that is not recorded in the overlying metasedimentary rocks. Thus, Van Schmus (1976) proposed that rocks of the Marquette Range Supergroup are younger than approximately 2100-2000 m.y. Also, rhyolite tuff from the Hemlock Formation which is about in the middle of the Marquette Range Supergroup



Table 3.1. Correlation chart of Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks in the Lake Superior region. Taken from Sims (1976, p. 1097). Rocks in Michigan are called the Marquette Range Supergroup; rocks in Minnesota are called the Animikie Group. Precambrian W = Archean; Precambrian X = Early Proterozoic. Reproduced from Economic Geology, 1976, vol. 71, p. 1097. (Table 3.1) yielded a date of 1950 m.y. and a minimum age for the succession is given by 1850 m.y. metamorphic and igneous events of the Penokean orogeny (Banks and Van Schmus, 1972). Van Schmus thus placed deposition of the Marquette Range Supergroup between about 2000 and 1850 m.y.--at least 150 m.y. later than deposition of the Huronian Supergroup. The critical date is the age of deformation of reactivated basement underlying the Marquette Range Supergroup. Sims (1976) suggested on geologic evidence that the basement gneiss was reactivated <u>after</u> deposition of the Marquette Range Supergroup, and if this could be demonstrated conclusively beds below the Hemlock Formation might be anywhere between 2500 m.y. and 1910 m.y. in age.

Thus, there is a legitimate question concerning the age of the lower part of the Marquette Range Supergroup, and inasmuch as prospecting for uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerates in the Lake Superior region depends on recognition of metasedimentary rocks older than 2000 m.y. we will consider two alternatives. First, that all rocks of the Marquette Range Supergroup are indeed younger than rocks of the Huronian Supergroup. Second, that some of the units of the Marquette Range Supergroup below the Hemlock Formation may be older than 2000 m.y. and correlative with rocks of the Huronian Supergroup.

If all rocks of the Marquette Range Supergroup are younger than 2000 m.y., we believe that the best possibility for prospecting for uranium would be in any metasedimentary succession that underlies the Marquette Range Supergroup. Table 3.1 shows that in most of the Lake Superior area Marquette Range Supergroup rocks are underlain by gneiss, granite, and greenstone of Archean (?) age. An exception is in Iron and Dickinson Counties, Michigan where James and others (1961, p. 12-21) described a sedimentary-volcanic sequence named the Dickinson Group. The metasedimentary rocks of the Dickinson Group unconformably underlie metasedimentary rocks of the Marquette Range Supergroup,

and they have been classed as Lower Precambrian by James and others (1961). Recent geochronological studies by Van Schmus (1976) suggested that rocks of the Dickinson Group may be Archean because zircons from a gneiss that intrudes the Dickinson Group have been dated as 2600 m.y. However, zircons from a gneiss that is said to underlie the Dickinson Group have been dated as 2400 m.y. In any event, it appears that the Dickinson Group rocks are older than 2000 m.y. and are a reasonable target for uranium exploration.

The Dickinson Group is a three-fold unit consisting of the East Branch Arkose (oldest), the Solberg Schist, and the Six-mile Lake Amphibolite (youngest). The East Branch Arkose is a thick-bedded arkose with numerous beds of conglomerate. Locally, the arkose and conglomerates are interbedded with volcanic rocks. Vitreous quartzite is said to be the most abundant clastic in the conglomerate which also contains clasts of quartz, granite gneiss, slate or schist (James and others, 1961, p. 14-15). The East Branch Arkose is probably a fluvial deposit and appears to be a better than average target for uranium exploration.

The second possibility is that beds below the Hemlock Formation of the Marquette Range Supergroup may correlate with rocks of the Huronian Supergroup. The best lithologic correlation is probably the one suggested by James (1958) and Young (1966; 1970), who pointed out that the Fern Creek Formation, which is at the base of the Marquette Range Supergroup, might correlate with the Gowganda Formation of the Huronian Supergroup (Table 3.1). The Fern Creek Formation was defined by Pettijohn (1943) who believed that the unit should not be considered simply a basal phase of the overlying Sturgeon Quartzite as was done by Bayley (1904) because the Fern Creek Formation contained a graywacke conglomerate that was probably tillite and laminated argillite with rafted cobbles that were probably also of glacial

origin. The glacial origin is questionable (Bayley and others, 1966) and as noted by James and others (1961) it is not a very thick (~ 85 meters) or widespread unit. The Fern Creek Formation was apparently deposited on an erosional surface and is confined to topographic lows on the old surface. However, if it is a glacial deposit it may indeed correlate with the Gowganda Formation of the Huronian Supergroup which is clearly of glacial origin. Furthermore, the overlying Sturgeon Quartzite is an aluminum-rich quartzite which is similar to and may correlate with the Lorrain Quartzite of the Huronian type-section (Church and Young, 1970).

Even if the above correlation between the Fern Creek and Gowganda is correct, there may not be too much promise for uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerates because all significant uranium deposits in the Huronian Supergroup are several thousand feet lower in the section than the Gowganda Formation and quartz-pebble conglomerates in the Lorrain Formation, which overlies the Gowganda in the type area, contain iron-oxides and monazite as the principal heavy minerals and were considered by Roscoe (1973) to have been deposited under oxidizing conditions. Thus, the Fern Creek Formation and Sturgeon Quartzite, as well as equivalent quartzite units in Minnesota (Table 3.1) are not especially favorable targets for fossil-placer uranium deposits.

Fossil-placer gold deposits are not restricted in age and could be present in any fluvial quartzite with a favorable source area. With this in mind, it is interesting to note the similarity between the metasedimentary successions of the Gunflint and Mesabi Ranges of Minnesota (Table 3.1) and the Jacobina Series and Minas Series of Brazil. In both areas, a basal arkose-conglomerate unit overlies an erosional unconformity and gradationally underlies units containing banded iron formation and, in Brazil, the arkose-conglomerate units contain fossil-placer gold and uranium deposits. In Minnesota, the Pokegama and Kakabeka quartzites nonconformably overlie an Archean granite-greenstone terrain. The erosion surface has up to 30 m of relief. Quartzites which fill the depressions reach thicknesses of 60 m and grade up-section into banded iron formation (Sims, 1976). According to Sims (1976), these rocks were deposited in a miogeosynclinal zone and were derived from the Archean granite-greenstone terrain to the north. This type of terrain is favorable as a source of gold and uranium and the gold would be transportable even in an oxidizing environment of deposition. Thus, conglomerates and quartzites in these basement depressions might contain gold even if they are too young to contain detrital uranium.

Our best opinion in this review of the Lake Superior region is that there are no rocks in this area that correlate with the Canadian Huronian section on the North Shore of Lake Huron. As shown schematically in Plate 1, we consider that the Lake Superior region was probably elevated during deposition of the Huronian strata and that the bulk of the rocks in the United States Lake Superior area are either older or younger than the Canadian Huronian.

There are many unanswered questions on age of the various metasedimentary rocks, however, and individuals who wish to prospect in this general area might keep track of the rapidly developing geochronological studies. For the present, it seems to us that rocks equivalent to the Dickinson Group are the best possibility for prospecting for uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerates and that basal Proterozoic quartzite-conglomerate units in the Gunflint, Mesabi, and Cuyuna ranges might contain fossil gold placers.

### WYOMING PROVINCE

# GEOLOGIC SETTING

The Wyoming Province is a geochronological province containing rocks of Archean age that are similar to rocks of the Archean Superior Province of Canada and the Great Lakes region. Engel (1963) suggested that the Wyoming Archean rocks were continuous with those of the Superior Province and he used the name Superior-Wyoming Province for the combined entity. However, as shown in Figure 3.1, this continuity has not been substantiated by more recent subsurface data in North and South Dakota and southern Canada. Instead, it appears that Archean rocks in Wyoming are separated from the main mass of Archean rocks in the Superior Province by rocks which were strongly deformed about 1700 m.y. ago (Goldich and others, 1966; King, 1976). The Wyoming area is therefore much like the Slave Province of Canada, which is also an isolated block of Archean rocks surrounded by rocks deformed in later orogenic events (Figure 3.1). Thus, several workers (including Houston and others, 1968; Condie, 1969b; Hills and Armstrong, 1974) have modified Engel's terminology and have defined the Wyoming Province as the area in Wyoming and adjacent states which is underlain by Archean rocks. Like the Canadian Superior Province, the Wyoming Province consists of a gneissic terrain containing isolated greenstone belts. Also like the Superior Province, the Wyoming Province Archean basement has younger Proterozoic sedimentary basins near its margins that contain thick piles of metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks.

As shown in Figure 3.3, the boundaries of the Wyoming Province are only approximately known. This is because Archean rocks are exposed only in the cores of the Laramide uplifts and these constitute less than ten percent of the outcrop area in Wyoming and far less than ten percent of the area in Montana, South Dakota, Utah, Idaho, and Colorado--the rest being covered by a thick sequence of Phanerozoic rocks. Also, the geology along the western



boundary is drastically complicated by deformation associated with the Idaho-Wyoming and Montana thrust belts beginning in the late Mesozoic. This means that interpreting the Early Precambrian geology is like working with a jigsaw puzzle with less than ten percent of the parts and only a few edge pieces. Geologists working in the Wyoming Province do have one major advantage, however, and that is the generally superb exposures that characterize the outcrop areas.

The northern and northwestern margins of the Wyoming Province are poorly defined because of the scarcity of outcrops. However, Archean rocks are known as far north as the Little Belt Mountains of Montana (Figure 3.3). Here, zircons in gneisses give an age of 2450 m.y. (Catanzaro, 1966) while whole rock ages were reset to about 1900 m.y. during a Middle Proterozoic thermal episode probably related to the Hudsonian orogeny of Canada. King (1976) suggested that Archean and Hudsonian dates were intermingled in the Little Belt Mountains and in the ranges of southwestern Montana so that the northwestern boundary of the Wyoming Province is a wide zone which exhibits a gradational change from Archean dates in the Wyoming Province to reset Hudsonian dates to the northwest. This zone is shown in Figure 3.3. According to King (1976, p. 48), this gradational boundary between two Precambrian provinces contrasts to the boundary between the Superior and Churchill Provinces of the Canadian Shield which is marked by an abrupt structural change.

The southwestern and southern margins of the Wyoming Province are also poorly defined. However, Archean rocks have been reported from the Albion Range (Armstrong and Hills, 1967) and from the Farmington Canyon complex of the Wasatch Range (Carl Hedge, personal communication, 1978). The Archean rocks were strongly overprinted in the Wasatch Range during the 1700 m.y. Hudsonian orogeny so most rocks yield 1700 m.y. dates (Crittenden and others, 1971). This suggests that the southwestern margin of the Wyoming Province may

also be a zone of intermingled Archean and Hudsonian dates. The farthest south rocks which are interpreted to be in the Wyoming Province are metasedimentary rocks of the Red Creek Quartzite and Little Willow Formation (Figure 3.3). Hansen (1965) reported a minimum age of 2320 m.y. for the Red Creek Quartzite and a subsequent thermal episode at 1520 m.y. and King (1976, p. 58) suggested that the Little Willow Formation resembles the Red Creek Quartzite in that it is a paraschist without cross-cutting intrusives.

The eastern margin of the Wyoming Province is similar to the northwestern margin in that it appears to be a zone of transition between the Archean ages to the west and rejuvenated Hudsonian metamorphic ages to the east, in South Dakota. Archean rocks crop out in two small domes in the Black Hills of South Dakota and are overlain by miogeosynclinal, then eugeosynclinal metasediments (Figure 3.3). The metasediments were strongly metamorphosed and deformed during the 1700-1800 m.y. Black Hills orogeny of Goldich and others (1966). In addition, subsurface and geophysical data (Lidiak, 1971; King, 1976) indicate that the Precambrian rocks which underlie central and western South and North Dakota were probably also intensely deformed and rejuvenated during the Hudsonian (1700-1800 m.y.) orogeny. Thus, as shown in Figure 3.1, the area of North and South Dakota is considered to be a southern extension of the Canadian Churchill Province.

The best exposed margin of the Wyoming Province--in fact, the only edge piece of the puzzle, is in southeastern Wyoming (Figure 3.3). Here, outcrops of Precambrian rocks are continuous from Wyoming south into Colorado in three separate ranges: the Sierra Madre, the Medicine Bow Mountains, and the Laramie Range. In each range, there is an abrupt transition between Archean and Early Proterozoic rocks to the north and Middle Proterozoic rocks to the south. In the Medicine Bow Mountains, this boundary or transition zone is the northeast trending Mullen Creek - Nash Fork shear zone (Houston and McCallum, 1961). This shear zone continues southwest into the Sierra Madre (Houston and others, 1975), where it either changes strike to east-west or is offset by a later fault system. In the Laramie Range the projected position of the shear zone is occupied by an anorthosite complex of Middle Proterozoic age (Hills and Armstrong, 1974). Little is known about this boundary east or west of these ranges but inferred extensions will be discussed in a later section.

The Mullen Creek - Nash Fork shear zone is up to 7 km wide in the Medicine Bow Mountains and contains cataclastic rocks ranging from mylonite and blastomylonite to augen gneiss. This zone is both a geologic-structural boundary and a geochronologic boundary (Houston and others, 1968). Rocks north of the shear zone are Archean rocks and low-grade Early Proterozoic miogeosynclinal metasediments (Figure 3.3). These rocks have many characteristics like those of the Lake Superior region of the United States and the Superior and Southern Provinces of the Canadian Shield. In fact, reasonable lithologic correlations can be made between Early Proterozoic rocks in southeastern Wyoming and the Great Lakes area (Plate 1). This analogy suggests that the metasediments north of the shear zone are an attractive target for uranium-bearing conglomerates.

In contrast, rocks south of the shear zone are mainly eugeosynclinal facies metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks and associated intrusive bodies. These rocks are intensely deformed and metamorphosed to amphibolite facies. None of the rocks south of the shear zone has yielded an Archean age and the oldest ages found so far are 1900-1700 m.y. Rocks south of the shear zone probably represent island arc-type successions and current interpretations are that island arcs located in Colorado and other areas were accreted

on to the Wyoming Province possibly about 1700 m.y. ago (Hills and others, 1975; Hills and Armstrong, 1974; Hills and Houston, 1979) and that the shear zone represents the suture along which this accretion took place. The important fact for the uranium geologist is that rocks south of this shear zone appear to be too young to be of interest as an exploration target for uraniumbearing quartz-pebble conglomerates.

In the following review of the Wyoming Province we will emphasize Late Archean and Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks of the Wyoming Province that might be hosts for uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerate, but we will also discuss other aspects of the Precambrian history so the reader can better understand the geologic setting of the metasedimentary rocks.

### ARCHEAN ROCKS

Figure 3.3 shows that there are three main types of Archean rocks in the Wyoming Province: granulite to amphibolite facies paragneisses and orthogneisses (most common); granitic to tonalitic batholiths; and a few Archean metasedimentary successions, including greenstone belts. The geologic history of these rocks is summarized in Figure 3.4.

# Gneissic Terrain

The gneissic terrain of the Wyoming Province includes some of the most ancient rocks in North America. As shown in Figure 3.4, rocks older than 3000 m.y. have been reported in the Beartooth Mountains (Catanzaro and Kulp, 1964), Wind River Range (Cannon and others, 1966), Laramie Mountains (Johnson and Hills, 1976), and Granite Mountains (Peterman and Hildreth, 1978) and gneissic rocks 3000-2600 m.y. are present in most of the uplifts of the Wyoming Province. One of the most complete summaries of the geologic and geochronologic history of this gneissic terrain is that of Reed and Zartman (1973),




Medicine Bows and Sierra Madre - Hills and others (1968); Hills and others (1975); Divis (1977); Hills and Houston (1979).

Front Range and Park Range - Peterman and others (1968); Snyder and Hedge (1978).

Northern Utah - Hansen (1965); Armstrong and Hansen (1966); Armstrong and Hills (1967); Armstrong (1968).

Granite Mountains - Peterman and others (1971); Rosholt and others (1973); Houston (1973); Peterman and Hildredth (1978). Wind River Mountains - Basset and Giletti (1963); Condie and others (1969); Naylor and others (1970); Bayley and others (1973).

Teton Range - Reed and Zartman (1973).

Owl Creek Mountains - Giletti and Gast (1961); Granath (1975). Bighorn Mountains - Heimlich and Banks (1968); Heimlich and Armstrong (1972); Stueber and others (1976); Barker (1976); Stueber and Heimlich (1977).

Beartooth Mountains - Catanzaro and Kulp (1964); Brookins (1968); Powell and others (1969); Nunes and Tilton (1971); Baadsgaard and Mueller (1973); Reid and others (1975); Page (1977).

SW Montana - Scholten and others (1955); Giletti (1966); King (1974); Spencer and Kozak (1975); Condie (1977).

Little Belt Mountains - Catanzaro and Kulp (1964); Woodward (1970).

who studied rocks in the Teton Range of western Wyoming. The oldest rocks of the Teton Range are interlayered biotite gneiss, plagioclase gneiss, amphibole gneiss, and amphibolite. These gneisses contain conformable bodies of quartz monzonite gneiss and a coarse metagabbro that is intrusive into but was metamorphosed and deformed with older units. The quartz monzonite gneiss and metagabbro were metamorphosed approximately 2700 to 3000 m.y. ago (Figure 3.4); therefore the interlayered gneiss and amphibolite are even older. These older rocks are cut by plutons and swarms of undeformed dikes of quartz monzonite and pegmatite dated as about 2500 m.y. old (Figure 3.4), and the entire complex is cut by undeformed but slightly altered tholeiitic diabase dikes of uncertain age. Reed and Zartman (1973) suggest that the diabase dikes may have been emplaced prior to or during a widespread thermal event, 1300 to 1500 m.y. ago, because biotite in the wall rocks of one major dike has a K-Ar age of about 1500 m.y.

Elsewhere in the Wyoming Province Archean gneissic rocks have had an equally complex or even more complex geologic history. For example, the Beartooth Mountains, mapped by Arie Poldervaart of Columbia University and his students and more recently by Reid and coworkers (1975) and Page (1977), are composed largely of granitized and metamorphosed quartzo-feldspathic gneiss with inliers of metasedimentary rocks which are more common to the northwest. According to Reid and others (1975), the northwestern Beartooths have been affected by four separate orogenies about 3100, 2600, 2200, and 1700 m.y. ago. These are shown in Figure 3.4 as regional metamorphic episodes. The earliest of these orogenies metamorphosed pre-existing sedimentary rocks indicating a pre-3100 m.y. geologic history. Then, sometime between 3150 and 2750 m.y. ago, the Stillwater layered mafic complex was emplaced (Page, 1977) and this was intruded by granitic rocks about 2750 m.y., during the second major orogeny (Figure 3.4). Mafic dikes and sills were emplaced during several different geologic events and are both syn- and post-tectonic in origin. Structural patterns in the Beartooths are extremely complex--Reid and others (1975) postulated seven superimposed deformational events, but the major structural pattern is of south- and southeast-plunging folds (Figure 3.1).

In the Bighorn Mountains Osterwald (1955; 1959) and Hoppin (1961) have shown that the Precambrian core consists of older gneiss and schist, amphibolite, and rare layers of tuff and agglomerate, and Heimlich (1969) suggested that granitic rocks in the northern Bighorns were formed by granitization of the metamorphic rocks. The gneiss has a northeast-trending fabric and the granitic rocks occupy a northwest plunging synform. These granitic rocks are cut by diabase dikes, some of which, in turn, were cut by and invaded by the same granite they cut (Figure 3.5). Heimlich and Armstrong (1972) have dated a large number of these rocks in the Bighorn Mountains by K-Ar methods, and they suggested that the event that formed the crystalline rocks (both gneiss and granitic rocks) ended about 2750 m.y. ago. Stueber and Heimlich (1977) suggested on the basis of Rb-Sr whole rock dates that this major period of metamorphism and granitization took place about 2850 m.y. ago (Figure 3.4). This date agrees with the 2830 m.y. date obtained by Stueber and others (1976) on the syn-tectonic mafic dikes. The last igneous event in the Bighorns was emplacement of post-tectonic mafic dikes about 2200 m.y. ago (Stueber and others, 1976).

More recent geologic mapping by Barker (1976) of Archean rocks in the southwestern Bighorn Mountains revealed two major episodes of magmatism, deformation, and metamorphism. Rocks formed in the early episode are felsic gneisses with minor amphibolite both of which may be volcanic. These gneisses



Figure 3.5. Sketch of altered mafic dike from the Archean of Wyoming showing dike that presumably cut granite; partially engulfed by the same granite.

were intruded by a syn-tectonic quartz monzonite, and the early episode ended with the intrusion of tonalite dikes about 3000 m.y. ago (Barker, 1976). The late episode began with the emplacement of syn-tectonic felsic igneous rocks that were metamorphosed to middle amphibolite facies and were mildly deformed. The late episode ended with intrusion of dikes of metabasalt. According to Barker (1976), these late episode rocks may correlate with northern Bighorn units dated as 2850 m.y. by Heimlich and Banks (1968) and Stueber and Heimlich (1977).

In most other ranges of the Wyoming Province, the earliest history is recorded by remnants of hornblende gneisses, felsic genisses, metamorphic schists of probable volcanic origin, rare layers of iron formation, quartzite, and marble. These rocks have been so intensely metamorphosed and granitized that little remains of the original characteristics of the rocks.

Nevertheless, Figure 3.4 shows some common elements in the geologic history of the various ranges. First, there appear to be very early periods of high-grade metamorphism and granite formation about 3000 m.y. ago and clearly many of the Wyoming Province rocks are older than this metamorphic event. These pre-3000 m.y. rocks are mainly restricted to the central core of the Wyoming Province--the Beartooth Mountains, Teton Range, Bighorn Mountains, Wind River Range and Granite Mountains. This is essentially the area shown in Figure 3.3 as the area least affected by later ( $\sim$  1700 m.y.) metamorphism and it may represent an Early Archean nucleus of the Wyoming Province. A second widespread geologic event was the introduction of synorogenic granites and tonalites in the interval 2700-2500 m.y. This event took place throughout the Wyoming Province and was approximately synchronous

with a world-wide period of granite emplacement which took place near the end of the Archean ( $\sim 2600$  m.y. ago). A third common thread in the geologic history of the Wyoming Province appears to be an episode of emplacement of post-tectonic mafic intrusives about 2200-2000 m.y. Admittedly, only a few ranges (Beartooths, Bighorns, Wind Rivers) have even moderately well dated dikes. Nevertheless, other ranges have mafic dikes which may be in this age range (Black Hills, Medicine Bows, Sierra Madre, Tetons). Also, the Nipissing Diabase and equivalents of Canada (which may be analogous rocks in a similar tectonic environment) yield ages of about 2150 m.y. A fourth common event is metamorphism and emplacement of granitic rocks about 1700 m.y. ago. This event strongly affected the edges of the Wyoming Province as shown in Figure 3.3 and had least affect toward the center of the Province.

## Archean Metasedimentary Successions

#### Greenstone Belts

Greenstone belts have been recognized in the southern Wind River Mountains (Bayley and others, 1973), Seminoe Mountains (Bishop, 1963; Bayley, 1968), Casper Mountain (Beckwith, 1939), Owl Creek Mountains (Gliozzi, 1967; Duhling, 1971; Houston, 1973; Granath, 1975), and the Granite Mountains (Houston, 1973; Peterman and Hildreth, 1978). All of these greenstone belts contain iron formation, quartzite, amphibole gneiss, amphibolite, and fuchsitic quartzite in variable proportions. In some areas, primary textures and structures in metamorphic rocks suggest pillow basalts, tuffs, conglomerates, agglomerates and graywackes.

The age relationships between rocks of the greenstone belts and surrounding gneissic terrains is questionable here as it is elsewhere in Early Precambrian shields. Bayley and others (1973) have made the most careful study of one of these belts, which is located in the southern Wind River Mountains, and they concluded that rocks of the greenstone belt are older than a posttectonic batholith, the Louis Lake Batholith, which is approximately 2700 m.y. old. Bayley and others (1973, p. 28) therefore correlated the rocks of this greenstone belt with early Precambrian rock groups "such as the Couchiching Series, Keewatin Series, and Knife Lake (Seine) Group, and the Dickinson Group of the Felch District of Michigan," all of which they believed predated the 2700 m.y. old Algoman granite "sea" that makes up the major part of the Superior Province of the Canadian Shield.

We agree that the rocks of the Wyoming greenstone belts are indeed old, and although individual belts may vary in age, they are probably older than the associated Late Archean granites which, as Bayley and others have demonstrated, cut the greenstone belts. Also, these greenstone belts may not be as old as some of the gneissic rocks and remnants of metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks contained within them. It is possible that much of the gneissic terrain formed about 3000 m.y. ago, or earlier, from rocks already in existence, and that the major greenstone belts were deposited in the interval 3000 m.y. to 2700 or 2500 m.y. on this gneissic terrain. Individual greenstone belts of various ages may then have been invaded by Late Archean posttectonic granitic rocks emplaced 2700-2500 m.y. ago, during and slightly after the time of deformation of the greenstone belts.

We consider these greenstone belts to be generally poor targets for uranium exploration. Quartzites are rare and of limited extent and the environments of deposition of these rocks does not appear to have been favorable for concentration of uranium.

#### Beartooth Mountains

Archean metasedimentary rocks also crop out in several areas of the Beartooth Mountains. These are definitely Archean in age but are not typical greenstone successions. Instead, they appear to be a unique metasedimentary assemblage in the Wyoming Province. These rocks underlie a large area southwest of the Stillwater Complex in the northern part of the mountains (Page, 1977); they crop out in the North Snowy Block, in the extreme northwest corner of the mountains (Reid and others, 1975); and they occur as small inliers in gneisses in the eastern and southeastern Beartooths (Casella, 1969).

The metasedimentary rocks at the base of the Stillwater Complex are primarily fine-grained cordierite hornfels, but Page (1977) also described blue quartzite, iron formation, and a diamictite or paraconglomerate as interlayered with the hornfels. This metasedimentary succession probably contains both clastic sedimentary rocks and chemically precipitated sedimentary rocks and Page (1977) suggested that the bulk of the succession may be turbidites or marine clastic sedimentary rocks of some type. However, he also reported that the paraconglomerate contains dropstones and could be glacial in origin. The blue quartzite is a quartz-arenite (> 98 percent quartz) which is locally conglomeratic, containing rounded quartz pebbles up to 1.5 cm in diameter. This quartzite is interlayered with chlorite-quartz schists and reportedly grades up-section into magnetite-bearing iron formation.

Nunes and Tilton (1971) reported a Pb-isotope age of 3140 m.y. for zircons in the metasediments and they interpreted this age to be a minimum age. Also, the metasediments were thermally metamorphosed during intrusion of the Stillwater Complex which is greater than 2750 m.y. Thus, the metasediments are obviously Archean in age and appear to be older than 3000 m.y., at least 250 m.y. older than the greenstones of the southern Wind River Mountains.

There is no mention of radioactivity or uranium or thorium in any of these rocks (Page, 1977) and we consider the potential to be low because

Archean supracrustal rocks in high-grade terrains elsewhere in the world are generally uranium-poor. Nevertheless, a reconnaissance examination of the blue quartzite might be worthwhile for uranium or gold. Page (1977) suggested that the source area for the metasediments contained abundant mafic and ultramafic rocks and these are a good potential source of detrital gold. Excellent geologic maps are available (Page and Nokleburg, 1974) that show the distribution of the blue quartzite so reconnaissance prospecting for uranium and gold in this area should not be difficult.

Metasedimentary rocks in the North Snowy Block of the northwestern Beartooths were named the North Snowy Group by Reid and others (1975). They divided the group into seven formations: Barney Creek Amphibolite, George Lake Marble, Jewel Quartzite, Davis Creek Schist, Mount Delano Gneiss, Mount Cowen Gneiss, and Falls Creek Gneiss. According to Reid and others (1975), the Mount Delano Gneiss displays a minimum Pb-isotope age of 3000 m.y. and the Barney Creek Amphibolite, George Lake Marble, and Jewel Quartzite are older than the gneiss. Thus, these metasediments are older than 3000 m.y. and probably correlate with metasediments in the Stillwater block. Reid and others (1975) suggested that the metasediments were derived from a granitic source terrain and deposited as muds, quartz sands, and dolomitic carbonates which were intercalated with large volumes of basaltic tuffs and flows.

There are no reports of radioactive materials in the succession and the great age of the sediments suggests that the source area contained tonalites and other Early Archean granitic rocks which are not especially favorable sources of uranium. Also, even if originally present, uranium is likely to have been remobilized during the intense deformation and metamorphism which took place about 2700 m.y. ago (Reid and others, 1975). Thus, we consider these rocks to be a poor target for uranium. Nevertheless, a reconnaissance

survey of the Jewel Quartzite would be relatively simple, using the maps of Reid and others (1975), and could conceivably turn up some gold or uranium. It should be noted that Reid and others reported accessory pyrite and pyrite replacing iron-oxides in the quartzite and inasmuch as pyritic quartzites are sometimes associated with uranium and gold, it might be fruitful to investigate the quartzites.

Metasedimentary rocks are also present in the eastern Beartooths. Casella (1969) described these as small, discontinuous units of quartzite, schist, amphibolite, gneiss and iron formation within a migmatite terrain. We consider these to be an unlikely target for uranium because of their limited extent and high degree of metamorphism (sillimanite is reported in some of the schists).

In summary, we interpret the metasediments in the Beartooths to be isolated remnants of ancient sediments which somehow escaped the intense metamorphism and deformation which the rest of the high-grade migmatite terrain experienced. Thus, they are more similar to supracrustal rocks in Archean high-grade terrains such as the Isua supracrustals of Greenland (Allaart, 1976) or the rocks of the Scourian Complex of Great Britain (Sutton, 1973) than to typical volcanogenic greenstone belts such as the Swaziland Sequence of South Africa (Anhaeusser, 1973) or greenstones of the Canadian Shield (Goodwin and Ridler, 1970). We consider them to be an unlikely host for uranium mineralization of any sort.

#### Northeast Laramie Range

Barlow (1950) described quartzite and mica schist in the LaPrele Creek-Boulder Creek area (T. 32 N., Rs. 73 and 74 W) of the northeastern Laramie Mountains. The Precambrian metasedimentary rocks may not be very extensive in this area inasmuch as Barlow shows quartzite in only one locality (sec. 24,

T. 32 N., R. 74 W.). We have shown these rocks as Archean metasediments in Figure 3.3 because of their limited distribution, their association with Archean granites and gneisses of the northern metamorphic complex of Condie (1969a), and the fact that these rocks are essentially on-strike with greenstones on Casper Mountain. However, very little is known of the Precambrian rocks in this general area so a reconnaissance study might reveal metasedimentary rocks of interest to the uranium geologist.

#### Central Laramie Range

Metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks occur in several areas of Condie's (1969a) central metamorphic complex. Figure 3.3 shows the two largest of such outcrops. The northern outcrop is described by Condie (1969a) as an area of amphibolites which occurs near the boundary between the Laramie batholith and the central metamorphic complex. He suggested that these rocks are similar to metasedimentary rocks on Casper Mountain and in the Owl Creek Mountains and we interpret them, on this basis, to be part of a greenstone succession.

The southern outcrop is located along Slate Creek, just north of the Laramie anorthosite and the inferred extension of the Mullen Creek-Nash Fork shear zone (Figure 3.3). The generalized geology of this area is shown in Figure 3.6. The most abundant metasedimentary rocks are hornblende gneisses, amphibolites and quartzo-feldspathic gneisses, but there are also quartzites, conglomerates, marbles, calc-schists, and pelitic rocks (Toogood, 1967; Holden, 1978). Holden (1978, p. 7) suggested that the most likely protolith for the hornblende gneiss, amphibolite, and quartzo-feldspathic gneiss was a sequence of mafic and intermediate lavas and volcaniclastic sediments. However, the entire sequence of rocks is metamorphosed to highest almandine amphibolite facies (sillimanite is present in pelites) so primary features are



Figure 3.6. Generalized geology of the Slate Creek metamorphic terrain, adapted from Holden (1978), Hodge (1966), Toogood (1967) and Bothner (1967). Known radioactive quartzites occur on the SW side of the Squaw Mountain Granite.

absent and the origin of the rocks is difficult to ascertain (Fields, 1963; Bothner, 1967; Smith, 1967; Toogood, 1967; Hodge, 1966; Holden, 1978). We interpret these rocks to be a greenstone succession because of the predominance of amphibolite and pelitic sediments and the structural setting of the rocks--in a synform between two granite domes (Figure 3.6). However, the high metamorphic grade of these rocks is not typical of greenstone belts and this sequence could be a supracrustal succession which is transitional between true Archean greenstone belts and Early Proterozoic clastic sedimentary successions.

The age of these rocks has not been determined; the only date is a 1700 m.y. K-Ar date on hornblende reported by Hills and Armstrong (1974) and this is a minimum age. However, Holden (1978) suggested from field evidence that granitic rocks of the Squaw Mountain and Government Peak domes (Figure 3.6) intruded and deformed the metasediments. These granites yield dates of about 2600 m.y. (Hills and Armstrong, 1974) so if this is true, the metasediments are older than 2600 m.y.

Reconnaissance examination of the Slate Creek metasediments by the authors with a portable scintillometer has shown that mildly radioactive quartzite and conglomerate are present in several localities and may occur in one or more semi-continuous quartzite-conglomerate zones within the Slate Creek synform (Figure 3.6). The radioactivity of these rocks is only 3-4 times background and the quartzites are relatively thin units. Nevertheless, very few outcrops have been examined to date and therefore this area should be investigated more fully as a potential target for uranium-bearing rocks.

# LATE ARCHEAN(?) OR EARLY PROTEROZOIC(?) METASEDIMENTARY SUCCESSIONS

Figure 3.3 shows that metasedimentary rocks crop out in several isolated ranges near the northwestern and southwestern margins of the Wyoming Province.

We have, somewhat arbitrarily, classified them in Figure 3.3 as Early Proterozoic-type successions because most of them contain abundant quartzites, marbles, pelitic rocks and other lithologies commonly found in Proterozoic successions, and we believe they should be investigated for uranium mineralization. However, these successions have been intensely deformed and metamorphosed and their age and original sedimentary characteristics are not well understood so it is also quite possible that some or all of these metasediments are Archean in age.

#### Southwestern Montana

Metasedimentary rocks are present in the Tobacco Root Mountains, Ruby Range, Gravelly Range, and Madison Range (Figure 3.7). These rocks are mainly paragneisses, mica schists and amphibolites, but there are also quartzites, marbles, phyllites and iron formation. The metasedimentary rocks in southwestern Montana are sometimes referred to as the Cherry Creek Group and this is the terminology used in Figure 3.7. Originally, the name "Cherry Creek Group" was used by Peale (1896) for a several thousand foot thick succession of marbles, mica schists, quartzites, and gneisses which crop out in Cherry Creek, in the eastern foothills of the northern Gravelly Range (Figure 3.7). Since then, however, many workers have applied the term to any pre-Beltian rocks in southwestern Montana which contain marble and quartzite and are of obvious sedimentary parentage. For example, Tansley and others (1933) and Reid (1957; 1963) have used the name to refer to the marble-bearing metasedimentary successions in the Tobacco Roots and Heinrich (1960) and Hadley (1969a; 1969b) applied the name to similar rocks in the Ruby Range and Gravelly Range. It should be noted, however, that the term is not universally accepted. For example, Witkind (1964; 1969; 1972; 1976) preferred not to use the term for metasedimentary rocks in the southern Madison Range



and instead mapped the units according to age (Early Proterozoic) and lithology. Thus the designation of the rocks near the Montana-Idaho border in Figure 3.7 as Cherry Creek Group is ours, not Witkind's.

The relationship of the Cherry Creek Group to other gneissic rocks in southwestern Montana is not well understood. In the Tobacco Root Mountains, Tansley and others (1933) believed that the Cherry Creek Group unconformably overlies an older series of gneisses and schists, because they found inclusions of gneisses in Cherry Creek schists. They call these gneisses the Pony Series. A similar picture was presented by Heinrich (1960) in the Ruby, Blacktail, and Gravelly Ranges. He reported a series of pre-Cherry Creek gneissic rocks which are more intensely deformed and metamorphosed than the Cherry Creek rocks. However, this interpretation was disputed by Reid (1963), who suggested that the inclusions cited by Tansley and others (1933) were actually rotated boudins and that the Pony Series and Cherry Creek Group are part of the same depositional succession and were deformed together into recumbant isoclinal folds. In fact, Reid (1963) believed that the Pony Series in the Tobacco Roots is younger than the Cherry Creek Group because it is in a structurally higher position.

In Figure 3.7, we have reluctantly used the Cherry Creek--pre-Cherry Creek subdivision of Tansley and others (1933) and Heinrich (1960) because we know of no new regional interpretations to supersede it and because it seems likely to us that the marble-quartzite successions in the Gravelly Range and southern Madison Range will prove to be younger than the quartzofeldspathic gneisses. We are not confident this will prove to be true in the Tobacco Root Mountains and the Ruby Range. In these areas, thin marble and quartzite lenses appear to be infolded in units mapped both as the Cherry Creek Group and as pre-Cherry Creek gneisses (Figure 3.7) and the age relations between the two rock-types is still debatable. It seems probable that Reid's interpretation is correct--that both units are part of a paragneiss terrain which has been variably deformed and metamorphosed. If this is true, the metasediments in the Tobacco Roots and Ruby Range could be Archean. This appears to be supported by a 2670 m.y. date reported by Mueller and Cordua (1976) for Cherry Creek gneisses in the Tobacco Root Mountains (Figure 3.7) which is similar to Archean ages reported by Giletti (1971) for Pony Series gneisses in the Gallatin Range.

The third major unit shown in Figure 3.7 is the Dillon granite-gneiss, an intrusive, syn-orogenic granite which yields K-Ar dates of about 1400-1700 m.y. (Giletti, 1966). Giletti (1966) suggested that the Dillon granite intruded the older gneisses and metasediments during or shortly after a period of regional metamorphism about 1600 m.y. ago which also reset K-Ar dates in the gneisses and metasediments. Dillon granite-gneiss appears to crop out mainly in the western part of Figure 3.7. This led King (1976) to suggest that the Dillon granite may represent a Hudsonian plutonic event that was, at least partly, responsible for isotopically reconstituting Archean rocks within a zone extending from the geochronologic boundary shown in Figure 3.7 to the edge of the Wyoming Province (Figure 3.3).

In spite of the uncertainty about the age and contact relationships of the Cherry Creek Group, we consider it to be a reasonable target for uranium exploration. It does not appear to be a typical Archean greenstone belt because of the abundance of quartzites, marbles, and quartzo-feldspathic paragneisses; instead it is perhaps more reminiscent of Early Proterozoic-type successions. A good starting point for exploration might be the quartzites in the Gravelly Range and southern Madison Range because quartzites in these areas appear to be more extensive than quartzites reported from the Ruby Range and Tobacco Root Mountains (Figure 3.7). The maps of Hadley (1969a, 1969b) in the Gravelly Range and Witkind (1964, 1972, 1976) near the Montana-Idaho border show the distribution of quartzites and should greatly facilitate reconnaissance exploration.

#### Northern Utah and Southern Idaho

Archean and/or Early Proterozoic rocks of the Wyoming Province crop out in three areas in northern Utah and southern Idaho: the Albion-Raft River Range area; the Wasatch Range-Antelope Island area; and the northeastern Uinta Mountains (Figure 3.3). None of these areas contain known radioactive conglomerates and most of the rocks have been strongly deformed more than once since they were deposited--suggesting that even if uranium-bearing placers were deposited in these areas it is questionable that they would be preserved. Nevertheless, these areas deserve some attention from uranium explorationists because some of the metasediments appear to be the right age for placer uranium deposition and they are located in a favorable tectonic position--near the southwest margin of the Wyoming Province.

## Albion and Raft River Ranges

The Albion Range in Idaho and the Raft River Range and Grouse Creek Mountains in Utah contain Precambrian rocks that were involved in a period of Mesozoic deformation and metamorphism associated with the Sevier orogeny (Armstrong, 1968). This area is believed to be part of a Cordilleran core complex or infrastructure analogous to the Shuswap terrain of the Canadian Cordillera. These core complexes are interpreted to be zones of updoming of plasticized material which instigated gravitational spreading and imbricate thrust faulting in the suprastructure to the east (Price and Mountjoy, 1970). Progress has been slow in unraveling the Precambrian history of these complexes because the intense Mesozoic deformation has strongly overprinted Precambrian events. However, geochronologic work has, at least, demonstrated the existence of Archean basement in several core complexes (Armstrong and Hills, 1967; Compton and others, 1977; Duncan, 1978).

In the Albion and Raft River Ranges, Archean rocks crop out in a series of domes. Armstrong (1968) referred to these as mantled gneiss domes in the Albion Range, implying that in-situ remobilization of basement rocks domed and deformed the mantling sediments (Eskola, 1949). However, Compton and others (1977) have presented a more detailed geologic picture for the Raft River Range and Grouse Creek Mountains and here, it appears that the Archean rocks are part of a large autochthon which has been partly concealed by three generations of allocthonous thrust sheets containing variably deformed Paleozoic and Mesozoic metasediments. Figure 3.8 shows the distribution of autochthonous areas (or gneiss domes) in both ranges.

Archean rocks in the Albion Range were named the Green Creek Complex by Armstrong (1968). This complex includes quartzo-feldspathic gneisses, schists, amphibolites, and quartzites which yield a poor Rb-Sr whole rock isochron of 2.46 b.y. (Armstrong and Hills, 1967). Correlative rocks in the Raft River Range and Grouse Creek Mountains were divided by Compton (1972, 1975) into four mappable units: an older quartz-schist; amphibolite; metamorphosed trondhjemite and pegmatite; and metamorphosed adamellite. According to Compton and others (1977) the adamellite yields a Rb-Sr age of 2510 + 170 m.y.

The older schist of the Raft River Range is one possible target for fossil placer uranium or gold deposits. According to Compton (1972, 1975) this unit was originally shale, siltstone, arkose, and pebbly mudstone. The older schist is cross-cut by adamellite and therefore represents an Archean clastic metasedimentary succession (Figure 3.8). On the northeastern flank of the



Raft River Range, the lowest 70 m of this unit is semischistose crossbedded quartzite and this area might be a good place to begin reconnaissance sampling.

Another possible target for fossil-placer mineralization is the Elba Quartzite. This unit was named by Armstrong (1968) and its distribution is shown in Figure 3.8. The Elba Quartzite unconformably overlies the Archean schist and adamellite and the unconformity shows several meters of relief. There is commonly a gradation between adamellite and the basal Elba Quartzite through a mica-schist zone interpreted to be a regolith (Armstrong, 1968; Compton, 1975). A basal quartz- and quartzite-pebble and cobble conglomerate up to 15 m thick locally fills depressions in the erosion surface. This is overlain by 30-50 m of white, cross-bedded micaceous quartzite then by 30-80 m of quartz-schist which contains hematitic quartzite layers.

The age of the Elba Quartzite is not known. It is obviously post-Archean but Armstrong (1968) and Compton (1972, 1975) interpreted it to be Cambrian in age because they found no important stratigraphic break between the Elba and overlying fossiliferous Paleozoic rocks. Also, Armstrong (1976, p. 21) reported a Rb-Sr whole rock date of  $570 \pm 80$  m.y. from quartzschists in the Elba Quartzite. In contrast, Crittenden (1979) suggested that the Elba could be substantially older because it contains distinctive lithologies such as fuchsitic quartzite, hematitic schist, amphibolite, and metatuff which are not found in Paleozoic sections elsewhere in the region.

In a brief visit to the Raft River - Albion area, we found no indication of above-background radioactivity in the Elba. Our tentative conclusion was that the Elba is too young to contain fossil-placer uranium. This conclusion is supported by the presence of hematite, rather than pyrite, in the conglomerates and quartzites plus the Rb-Sr date and stratigraphic evidence mentioned earlier and summarized by Compton and Todd (1979). The older schist, however, is still a reasonable target for uranium exploration.

#### Wasatch Range-Antelope Island area

Precambrian crystalline rocks crop out on the southeastern margin of the Great Salt Lake and along the western margin of the Wasatch Range in north-central Utah (Figure 3.3). These rocks are thought to be metasedimentary in origin and may be Archean or Early Proterozoic in age. These sequences are the Farmington Canyon Complex, the Little Willow Series, and the Formation of Facer Creek.

The Farmington Canyon Complex has been described by Eardley and Hatch (1940), Larsen (1957), Bell (1952), and Cohenour and Thomson (1966). It crops out in the Wasatch Range, from Salt Lake City to Ogden, and on Antelope Island, in the southwestern part of the Great Salt Lake. The complex is composed mainly of felsic paraschists and paragneisses which are permeated by sills and dikes of granitic and pegmatitic material. It also contains quartz-ites, quartz schists, arkosic quartzites, meta-graywacke, and quartzite-pebble conglomerates. The entire complex has been folded into north and north-west trending folds and metamorphic grades range from greenschist facies to granulite facies, with amphibolite facies metamorphism most common (Bell, 1952). According to Eardley and Hatch (1940, p. 61), the complex has a minimum thickness of 3600 m.

The age of the Farmington Canyon Complex is not precisely known. It is at least 1600-1700 m.y. old, which is the age of some of the felsic igneous rocks which intrude the paragneisses and the age of the major metamorphism (Whelan, 1970). However, more recent geochronologic work by Carl Hedge (personal communication, 1978) suggests that at least some of the gneisses may be Archean in age.

Whether Archean or Early Proterozoic, the Farmington Canyon complex is a reasonable target for reconnaissance uranium exploration. The complex as a whole is thought to have been a sedimentary sequence containing second cycle sediments (the conglomerates contain lithic fragments) and first cycle arkoses and deposition is interpreted to have taken place close to the source of the detritus (Eardley and Hatch, 1940; Cohenour and Thomson, 1966). Thus the Farmington Canyon Complex appears to have some similarities to Early Proterozoic-type clastic successions. Unfortunately, the degree of deformation and metamorphism is appreciably higher than for known uranium-bearing Early Proterozoic successions so, even if uranium was originally present, it may well have been remobilized during the 1600-1700 m.y. metamorphism. With this in mind, the explorationist should not overlook the possibility for secondary uranium deposits.

#### Little Willow Series

The Little Willow Series is a sequence of folded metasedimentary rocks which crops out in a small area (less than two km in diameter) in the core of the Uinta Arch, just north of Little Cottonwood Canyon near Salt Lake City (Crittenden, 1965; Granger and others, 1952). It consists of quartzites, quartz-mica schists, and stretched-pebble schists cut by mafic igneous rocks. According to Cohenour (1959, p. 36), the lower grade of metamorphism of the Little Willow Series, the absence of migmatites and pegmatites, and the abundance of mafic igneous rocks distinguishes it from the Farmington Canyon Complex to the north. The age of the Little Willow Series is unknown and various correlations have been suggested. Blackwelder (1949, p. 27) suggested it may be equivalent to the Red Creek Quartzite of the northeast Uinta Mountains, the metasediments in the Raft River and Albion Ranges, and the Farmington Canyon Complex; Granger and others (1952) agreed that it may be equivalent to the Farmington Canyon Complex; Cohenour (1959, p. 37) suggested that the Little Willow Series is younger than the Farmington Canyon Complex because it lacks injected felsic material and he correlated it with rocks in the Raft River Range; and Cohenour and Thomson (1966, p. 39) suggested the Little Willow Series was older than the Farmington Canyon Complex. Obviously the available data permit several interpretations. We agree with Cohenour (1959) and King (1976) that the absence of felsic intrusive material and the abundance of mafic intrusive material in the Little Willow Series may be significant. Using this as a criterion, it is reasonable to speculate that the Farmington Canyon Complex may be an older, possibly Archean, basement and that the Little Willow Series may be a relic of a somewhat younger metasedimentary succession.

If so, the quartzites and pebble schists of the Little Willow Series are interesting from a uranium exploration viewpoint. Indeed, a one day visit to the area by Karlstrom and Rex Cole of Bendix Field Engineering Corporation revealed quartzites and conglomerates with 2-4 times background radioactivity. The most radioactive unit found was a laminated, fine-grained, pyritic quartzite on the south side of Little Willow Creek. This was structurally overlain by a conglomeratic graywacke unit which is shown on Crittenden's (1965) map. The conglomeratic unit is also radioactive ( $2\frac{1}{2}$  times background). The conglomerate is matrix supported and contains sparse pebbles of quartz, granite, schist, and mafic rock in a pyritic, schistose matrix. The abundance of basaltic clasts in the conglomerate plus the immature nature of most of the clastic rocks suggests to us that the Little Willow Series represents a volcano-sedimentary succession, possibly of Late Archean or Earliest Proterozoic age. If so, it may be analogous to the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite in southeastern Wyoming or the Livingstone Creek-Thessalon Formations in the Huronian Supergroup and may contain thin radioactive conglomerate units.

## Formation of Facer Creek

Metasedimentary rocks also crop out in the upper plate of the Willard Thrust Sheet, north of Huntsville, Utah (Crittenden and others, 1971). These rocks unconformably underlie upper Precambrian diamictites and have been informally referred to as the Formation of Facer Creek by Crittenden and Wallace (1973, p. 125). The unit consists of vitreous quartzite, fuchsitic quartzite, pelitic schist, amphibolite, mica-schist, and rare pegmatite and Rb-Sr dates on muscovite yield a minimum age of 1.6-1.7 b.y. (Crittenden and others, 1971). Crittenden (1979) suggested that the rocks resemble the Elba Quartzite of the Raft River Range. Geologic maps of this unit are not available to us so we do not know how extensive it may be. Nevertheless, it is a reasonable target for uranium exploration.

# Red Creek Quartzite of the northeast Uinta Mountains

Hansen (1965, p. 22-31) described intricately folded amphibolite facies metasedimentary rocks located in five horst-like blocks exposed along the northeastern margin of the Uinta Mountains of Utah and Colorado (Figure 3.3). They are collectively referred to as the Red Creek Quartzite, but a variety of metasedimentary rocks are present. Unfortunately, the Red Creek Quartzite is apparently too deformed and fragmented to establish a stratigraphic succession, but rock types include feldspathic quartzite, nearly pure quartzite, mica schist, and metalimestone. The quartzites contain kyanite and chrome-micas, and some of the more massive, cleaner quartzites resemble the Medicine Peak Quartzite of the Medicine Bow Mountains. However, the Red Creek Quartzite is more highly deformed than the Medicine Peak Quartzite and apparently is older, because muscovite from the mica schist yields a Rb-Sr metamorphic age of 2320 m.y.

Hansen (1965) also suggested that the Red Creek Quartzite is similar to Precambrian rocks found in the Albion and Raft River Ranges, the Farmington Canyon Complex, and the Little Willow Series beacuse all of these areas contain green fuchsitic quartzites, pelitic schists and amphibolites. However, none of these correlations has been proven and the relationship of the Red Creek Quartzite to metasedimentary successions in southeastern Wyoming and central Utah is still not understood. The 2320 m.y. minimum age, if correct, indicates the Red Creek Quartzite is either Archean or Earliest Proterozoic. At present, we lean toward an Archean age because, as Hansen (1965, p. 31) suggested, the 2320 m.y. date may be a relic of the 2500 m.y. metamorphic episode recorded elsewhere in the Wyoming Province which was down-graded by local open-system conditions. By this interpretation, the Red Creek Quartzite would represent an Archean clastic succession analogous to Compton's (1972, 1975) older schist of the Raft River Range and to the Farmington Canyon Complex of the Wasatch Range.

No uraniferous rocks have been reported from the Red Creek Quartzite. Hansen (1965, p. 25) reported analyses of two metaquartzites and neither of them contained detectable uranium, thorium, or gold. Nevertheless, the uranium potential of the Red Creek Quartzite cannot be established until enough work is done on the stratigraphy of the unit to determine whether it contains fluvial sedimentary rocks. If it does, it appears to be the right age to have potential for uranium-bearing fossil placers.

#### EARLY PROTEROZOIC-TYPE METASEDIMENTARY SUCCESSIONS

Metasedimentary successions of known Early Proterozoic age crop out near the eastern and southeastern margins of the Wyoming Province (Figure 3.3)--in the Black Hills of South Dakota, and the Hartville Uplift, Medicine Bow Mountains and Sierra Madre of Wyoming. These Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks have many characteristics like those of the Huronian Supergroup of Canada and the Marquette Range Supergroup of the United States. We will discuss the Proterozoic succession in the Medicine Bow Mountains of Wyoming first because this area has the most complete section and contains rocks that probably correlate with both the Huronian and Marquette Range Supergroups.

## Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming

This section of the report is a brief summary of on-going research by the authors in the Medicine Bow Mountains. More detailed accounts can be found in Houston and others (1968); Karlstrom (1977); Houston and others (1977); and Karlstrom and Houston (1979a, 1979b).

## Geologic Setting

The Medicine Bow Mountains are a north-trending anticlinal uplift located in southeastern Wyoming about 50 km west of the city of Laramie (Figure 3.3). The mountains were uplifted during the Laramide orogeny (Late Cretaceous) and consist of a core of Precambrian rocks flanked by upturned Paleozoic and Mesozoic rocks and surrounded by basins filled with Tertiary sediments.

Precambrian rocks in the core of the mountains are divided into two geological provinces by the northeast-trending Mullen Creek - Nash Fork shear zone (Figure 3.9), which is a zone of mylonites and cataclastic augen gneisses

up to 7 km wide (Houston and others, 1968). Precambrian rocks north of the shear zone are part of the Wyoming Province (Figure 3.3) and consist of an Archean basement overlain by Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks. The Archean basement is mainly quartzo-feldspathic gneiss and intrusive granite (Houston and others, 1968), both of which yield dates in excess of 2500 m.y. (Hills and others, 1968; Divis, 1977; Hills and Houston, 1979). The meta-sedimentary rocks form a 13 km thick section of epicontinental and miogeosynclinal clastic rocks which is divisible into three successions, shown in Figure 3.9: the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite, the Deep Lake Group, and the Libby Creek Group (Karlstrom and Houston, 1979a, 1979b). These rocks were deposited between 2500 and 1700 m.y. ago (Hills and others, 1968) and will be discussed in detail below.

Precambrian rocks south of the Mullen Creek-Nash Fork shear zone include quartzo-feldspathic and hornblende gneisses, mafic to ultramafic complexes, and intrusive granites (Figure 3.9). The gneisses appear to be eugeosynclinal facies metasediments which were deposited between 2000 and 1800 m.y. ago (Houston and others, 1968) and the intrusive rocks yield dates of around 1700 m.y. (Hedge and others, 1978; Hills and Houston, 1979). It should be emphasized that rocks south of the shear zone consistently yield dates younger than 1800 m.y. and are, therefore, not part of the Wyoming Province. Hills and Houston (1979) believe these rocks are island-arc sediments which were accreted onto the Wyoming Province during one or more craton-island arc collisions around 1700 m.y. ago. By this interpretation, the metasedimentary successions north of the shear zone represent a clastic wedge sequence deposited on an Atlantic-type continental margin. These sediments were deformed and the shear zone developed about 1700 m.y. ago, when an island arc collided with the clastic succession. Mafic rocks south of the shear zone are

# EXPLANATION



Explanation to Figure 3.9 -- Generalized geology of the Medicine Bow Mountains; adapted from Houston and others (1968) and Karlstrom (1977).

# LABELED LOCATIONS

CL - Cascade Lake; Cm - Campbell Lake; DL - Deep Lake; LL Lindsey
Lake; ML - Magnolia Lake; OM - Onemile Creek; PL - Phantom Lake;
RC - Rock Creek; RK - Rock Creek Knoll; VL - Vagner Lake.



interpreted by Hills and Houston (1979) as accreted oceanic crust, gneisses are interpreted to be volcanogenic sediments, and granodiorites are thought to have been derived from a southeast dipping subduction zone.

#### Distribution and Structure

Figure 3.9 shows the distribution and generalized structure of Precambrian rocks in the Medicine Bow Mountains. Archean basement rocks crop out mainly in the western and northwestern parts of the mountains. The dominant structures in Archean rocks are north-trending antiforms and synforms and superimposed northeast-trending folds (Karlstrom and Houston, 1979b).

Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite rocks crop out mainly in the northeastern Medicine Bows (Figure 3.9). These rocks are folded into isoclinal folds with axial plane traces varying from east-west to north-south. Formation of these isoclinal folds and subsequent warping of axial plane traces are both considered to be the result of deformations which pre-dated deposition of the Deep Lake Group.

Rocks of the Deep Lake Group unconformably overlie the Phantom Lake Suite and occupy the north-central part of the Medicine Bows (Figure 3.9). This group has been folded into east-west and northeast trending open anticlines and synclines. These folds, in turn, have been warped by a later northwest-trending fold system (Karlstrom and Houston, 1979b).

Rocks of the Libby Creek Group form a south-dipping homoclinal succession in the central Medicine Bows. These rocks are interpreted to be miogeosynclinal rocks which were deposited farther off-shore than the epicontinental rocks of the Deep Lake Group and then brought into contact with Deep Lake Group rocks by movement along major northeast-trending thrust faults (Figure 3.9). This thrust faulting, and the northeast folding of the Libby Creek Group, are interpreted by Karlstrom and Houston (1979b) to be the result of

plate margin tectonics associated with early movements along the Mullen Creek-Nash Fork shear zone about 1700 m.y. ago. The last recognizable deformation north of the shear zone was left lateral strike-slip movement on the shear zone and folding of earlier thrusts in the southwestern part of area of outcrop of the Libby Creek Group (Figure 3.9).

Thus, metasedimentary rocks in the Medicine Bow Mountains have undergone at least six folding episodes accompanied by one or more regional metamorphic episodes of greenschist to upper amphibolite grade and one or more episodes of intrusion of gabbroic sills and dikes. The sum of these deformations, coupled with the discontinuous nature of outcrop, has made stratigraphic and sedimentological reconstructions and the search for stratiform uranium mineralization unusually difficult.

## Stratigraphy and Paleogeography

<u>Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite</u>. The Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite is a sequence of metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks that has been deformed into isoclinal folds and metamorphosed to amphibolite facies. It is different from the overlying Deep Lake and Libby Creek Groups in that it is more highly deformed and metamorphosed and it contains a higher percentage of metavolcanic rocks. Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite rocks crop out in the northeastern and west-central Medicine Bow Mountains, where they apparently lie unconformably on Archean basement and are overlain unconformably by rocks of the Deep Lake Group. In the west-central Medicine Bow Mountains a mafic sill lies between Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite rocks and the Archean basement (Figure 3.9) and in the northeastern Medicine Bow Mountains rocks previously mapped as Archean basement (Houston and others, 1968) appear to be complexly interlayered with Phantom Lake Suite rocks so that the exact age relationships are unclear--although the Phantom Lake rocks are in a structurally

higher (younger) position. In any event, from the viewpoint of the uranium geologist, no basal conglomerate has been recognized that marks the boundary between Archean basement and rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite. Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite rocks include paraconglomerate, quartzite, phyllite, metavolcanic rocks and marble (Table 3.2). The metavolcanic rocks are largely basalt, most of which appears to be surface flows with amygdaloidal tops, but some basaltic pillow lava is present, and meta-agglomerates and metatuffs have been recognized. Quartzite of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite is typically a fine-grained feldspathic variety but coarse-grained quartzite with local layers of quartz-pebble conglomerate also occurs and this is pyritic in places and is usually radioactive (2-4 times local background) especially where the pyrite is present. Amphibolite, hornblende gneiss and schist, and felsic gneiss are also interlayered with Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite rocks. These metamorphic rocks are probably of volcanic origin and they are more common in the northeastern Medicine Bow Mountains where the rank of metamorphism is upper almandine amphibolite facies.

In the northeastern Medicine Bow Mountains, rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite are tightly folded and primary sedimentary structures necessary to determine the top of the succession are not always preserved. Nevertheless, a tentative stratigraphic succession has been put together from partial sections (Table 3.2), and the best current guess is that the total thickness of Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite rocks exceeds 3,000-5,000 meters.

The age of metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite has not been determined. Two samples of a staurolite-garnetmuscovite schist from a locality three kilometers southwest of Arlington (in T. 18 N., R. 79 W.) were analyzed by Hills and others (1968, p. 1771). These two points gave an isochron solution of 1913 m.y. which is probably a
GROUP		NAME	THICKNESS HETERS	LITHOLOGY	SEDIMENTARY FEATURES	SOURCE	HEAVY MINERALS	DEFOSITIONAL ENVIRONMENT				
LIBBY CREEK		Headquarters Formation	650	phyllite quartzite phyllite paraconolomerate	varves trough cross-beds dropstones	NE		glacio-marine				
T		www.unconformity ww	~~		· · ·	<u></u>		·				
		Rock Knoll Formation	380	conglomerate	quartzite, pebbles,	ESE		fluvial				
	le 3			quartzite	galls, cross-beds, ripple marks			shallow marine				
	Cycl	Vagner Formation	120 - 400	phyllitic quartzite	ripple marks, cross- beds		pyrite					
				marble paraconglomerate	dropstones?	ENE opstones?		glacio-marine				
	<u> </u>	vvvv unconformity ານ	··	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								
ROUP	Cycle 2	Cascade Quartzite	150 - 1530	pebbly arkose pebbly quartzite quartzite	black chert pebbles, tabular cross-beds, trough cross-beds	ENE	apatite pyrite zircon	fluvial				
P LAKE G		Campbell Lake Formation	75	phyllite paraconglomerate	faint stratification		zircon apatite	marine glacial?				
DEE		Lindsey Quartzite	440	quartzite	trough cross-beds	NE	zircon pyrite	fluvial- deltaic				
	cle l	Magnolia Formation (quartzite member)	420	quartz-granule conglomerate	trough cross-beds	N	zircon pyrite apatite	fluvial				
	Ç	Magnolia Formation (radioactive conglomerate member)	150	quartz-pebble conglomerate	planar bedding	NE	pyrite, zircon rutile, monazite	fluvial				
	$\square$											
1 TC	20110	Upper Phantom Lake Metamorphic	1500 - 2000	paraconglomerate metabasalt	angular clasts amvodules			continental				
4		Suite		micaceous quartzite	trough cross-beds	NE		shallow-marine				
				quartzite	tabular cross-beds			marine				
				quartz-pebble conglomerate	channel s		pyrite monazite, zircon garnet, apatite	fluvial				
	¥¥ ¥				· · · ·							
PHANTOM 1		Lower Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite	800	paraconglomerate quartzite metavolcanic				continental?				
—		nonconformity	ww									
		Archean basement		granitic rocks								

# Table 3.2. Stratigraphy of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite and Deep Lake Group of the Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming.

metamorphic date. Certainly two points are inadequate to establish a reliable isochron, but the date of 1913 m.y. is about two hundred million years older than ages determined by whole-rock Rb/Sr methods for schists of the Libby Creek Group. This information, though not conclusive, supports the concept that rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite were deformed and metamorphosed earlier than the metasedimentary rocks that overlie them.

Granite which resembles Archean granite of this area is locally in contact with rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite. In some areas, field relationships suggest that Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite rocks lie unconformably on this granite, but in other areas granite has gradational or cross-cutting contacts with rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite. There are no reliable age determinations of these granitic rocks. Three samples were analyzed by Hills and others (1968, p. 1763) from gneissic granite near Arlington; these samples formed an isochron with an apparent age of 2350 m.y. with an error of  $\pm$  84 m.y. This is again too few samples for a reliable isochron, but it does suggest that some of the rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite are earliest Proterozoic or Archean in age.

<u>Deep Lake Group</u>. The Deep Lake Group is defined in the north-central Medicine Bow Mountains where the rocks of this group are best exposed and where they are least deformed and metamorphosed. A tentative stratigraphic succession has been established by Karlstrom (1977, p. 10) and Karlstrom and Houston (1979a, 1979b), who have subdivided the Deep Lake Group into six formations: the Magnolia Formation, Lindsey Quartzite, Campbell Lake Formation, Cascade Quartzite, Vagner Formation, and Rock Knoll Formation. Characteristics of formations are summarized in Table 3.2 and described below.

Magnolia Formation. The Magnolia Formation is composed of two members, a basal conglomerate member and an upper quartzite member. The basal conglomerate member is a radioactive, coarse-grained guartzite containing layers of quartz-pebble conglomerate. These basal beds of the Magnolia Formation vary from one locality to another. For example, in the Medicine Bow Mountains east of Arrastre Lake (near ML of Figure 3.9) a lenticular relatively coarse-grained, polymictic conglomerate with clasts up to 16 cm in diameter is present at the base of the unit. This conglomerate is up to 3 meters thick in places and is radioactive (7-8 times background). It is green to yellowish-red and contains rounded clasts of quartzite, micaceous quartzite, phyllite, metavolcanic rocks, and granite in a pyritic, arkosic matrix. The basal conglomerate is overlain by a more continuous guartz-pebble conglomerate that contains pebble-sized clasts of quartz, quartzite, fine-grained sericitic quartzite, phyllite, and altered rocks of probable volcanic origin in a sericitic, feldspathic-quartzite matrix. In the Arrastre Lake area the conglomerate member is not continuous; it pinches out west of Arrastre Lake where it apparently grades laterally into fine-grained quartzite. The conglomerate member that crops out near the head of the North Fork of Rock Creek (north of LL, T. 17 N., R. 79 W.) consists of arkosic quartzite interbedded with dark colored, conglomeratic quartzite. The dark colored conglomerate layers are more radioactive than the arkosic quartzite.

The most significant outcrop of the conglomerate member of the Magnolia Formation is in exposures along One-Mile Creek approximately 3 kilometers south of the village of Arlington in the northeastern

Medicine Bow Mountains (OM of Figure 3.9). Information on this area comes from outcrop study and the examination of cores made available by the Exxon Company. The conglomerate member of this area is a sericitic, coarse-grained quartzite, with pebble layers. Maximum thickness of the radioactive unit measured in subsurface is about 150 meters. The pebble layers range from beds with the thickness of a single pebble to compound zones up to 20 meters thick that include pyritic quartz-pebble conglomerate, fine-grained pyritic quartzite, and coarse-grained pyritic guartzite, in varying combinations. There are four compound zones ranging from 0.5 to 3 meters in thickness, and these are the most pyrite-rich and radioactive rocks in the sec-In addition, there are more than eleven other pyritic quartztion. pebble layers less than 0.5 meters thick scattered through the 130 meter section. The entire section has radioactivity above background for the area, but the most radioactive units are the conglomerate layers. These conglomerate layers are several orders of magnitude more radioactive in subsurface samples (at depths below 35 meters) than they are on the surface and they contain up to 20 percent pyrite which is almost entirely leached from surface outcrops.

Subsurface samples show that the most intense radioactivity is characteristically at the base of conglomerate suggesting that there is a concentration of uranium and thorium bearing minerals at the base of channels. The pyritic quartz-pebble conglomerate layers are trimodal and consist of a major clay-silt-sized fraction, sand-sized fraction, and pebble-sized fraction. The silt-sized fraction is largely sericite, the sand-size fraction is largely quartz with subordinate feldspar, and the rounded pebbles consist chiefly of vein quartz, quartzite, altered felsic volcanic rocks (?) and some altered feldspar of possible pegmatite origin.

The source of the clasts in the radioactive unit is not known. A few paleocurrent measurements have been made on crossbedding sets in quartzite above the conglomerate member and they indicate a source to the north or north-northeast. However, these measurements are not from rocks within the conglomerate member proper. Nevertheless, field observations of the size of clasts within the conglomerate member indicate that the coarsest fraction is found in the northernmost outcrop; so the available evidence suggests a north to northnortheast source.

The conglomerate member of the Magnolia Formation must underlie a large area of the Medicine Bow Mountains because outcrops of the conglomerate member have been found in the cores of anticlines and on the flanks of synclines from the Arrastre Lake area to One-Mile Creek, a distance of approximately 30 kilometers. The width of the outcrop belt of the conglomerate member varies, but probably averages about 8 kilometers. So far, the most promising uraniumthorium prospects have been found in the One-Mile Creek area, but very little of this 240 square kilometer area has been prospected by drilling. Thus, the conglomerate member of the Magnolia Formation remains one of the most significant prospects for uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerate in the United States.

The conglomerate member of the Magnolia Formation grades upward into a unit referred to as the quartzite member of the Magnolia Formation. The quartzite member is a coarse-grained, moderately-sorted

quartzite consisting largely of well-rounded quartz granules that average 1-2 mm in diameter and less common pebbles that are up to one cm in diameter. The quartzite member contains less matrix than the underlying conglomerate (< 5%) and is lower in feldspar. The quartzite member has well-developed trough crossbeds with troughs approximately 5 to 15 cm deep. It is more consistent in thickness than the conglomerate member; averaging 425 meters.

In total, the Magnolia Formation is a fluvial succession that has a more proximal facies at its base and a more distal facies at its top. The conglomerate member must represent braided stream or river deposits not close enough to source to represent alluvial fan facies, but within the true braided stream depositional environment. The quartzite member is probably also a braided stream deposit, but the finer grain size of clasts, abundance of trough crossbed sets, that may have even finer grained material overlying such crossbed sets, suggests lower energy deposition than for the conglomerate member. A change in facies of this type may be a function of changing climate, changing supply of clastics in the source area, or it might represent a minor marine transgression.

The Magnolia Formation certainly represents a major change in character of sedimentation from rocks of the underlying Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite. It lies unconformably on metavolcanic rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite in the Arrastre Lake area, on quartzite in the outcrop area along the Medicine Bow River, on paraconglomerate in the Deep Creek area, and on granite in the One Mile Creek area. We have not detected an angular unconformity at contacts between the Magnolia Formation and rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic

Suite, but inasmuch as the rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite are tightly folded as compared with rocks of the overlying Deep Lake Group and Libby Creek Group and inasmuch as the Magnolia Formation lies on a great variety of Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite rocks--we believe that there is a major unconformity at the base of the Magnolia Formation and that the rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite were deformed and perhaps metamorphosed prior to deposition of the Magnolia Formation. This interpretation indicates that the unconformity at the base of the Magnolia Formation is profound and therefore may be of tremendous significance in uranium exploration.

Lindsey Quartzite. The quartzite member of the Magnolia Formation is gradationally overlain by the Lindsey Quartzite (Karlstrom and Houston, 1979a, 1979b). West of Vagner Lake (VL of Figure 3.9), the Lindsey Quartzite is a light gray, mediumgrained quartzite with layers of pebbles concentrated on foreset beds of cross-beds and in small scours. In the area between Deep Creek and the middle fork of Rock Creek of the Medicine Bow Mountains (near LL), the Lindsey Quartzite is composed of typical fining upward sets having pebble conglomerate at their base and trough crossbedded quartzite at their top. The pebble conglomerate is slightly radioactive (2-3X local background). The overall characteristics of the Lindsey Quartzite suggest a fluvial origin for the formation.

<u>Campbell Lake Formation</u>. The Lindsey Quartzite is overlain by the Campbell Lake Formation which consists of a paraconglomerate overlain by a quartz-rich phyllite. The paraconglomerate has an arkosic matrix containing rounded clasts of white granite, phyllite, quartzite, and metabasalt that are up to 76 cm in diameter. The conglomerate grades upward into a dark gray to black phyllite which becomes quartzrich at the top. The Campbell Lake Formation is exposed over a wide area of the Medicine Bow Mountains but it is not continuous; where it is absent, this is thought to be non-depositional. The paraconglomerate of the Campbell Lake Formation may be glacial in origin, but no definitive glacial criteria such as dropstones have been found in the unit.

<u>Cascade Quartzite</u>. The Campbell Lake Formation is overlain by the Cascade Quartzite. The Cascade Quartzite has a distinctive lithology; it is marked by pebble layers ranging from a thickness of one pebble to channels 20 meters thick that contain pebbles of quartz, quartzite, black chert, and pink granite. The black chert is distinctive and aids in the identification of the Cascade. For the most part, the Cascade Quartzite is a more mature rock-type than most quartzites that underlie it. For example, it contains more resistant clasts and it is not feldspathic except at the very top of the unit where feldspathic quartzite is locally developed. No radioactive conglomerate has been identified in the Cascade quartzite, but like the underlying Lindsey Quartzite and Magnolia Formation it is considered fluvial (Karlstrom and Houston, 1979a, 1979b).

<u>Vagner Formation</u>. The Vagner Formation overlies the Cascade Quartzite unconformably. The Vagner Formation is a three-fold unit consisting of a basal paraconglomerate, a middle metalimestone, and and upper phyllite. The matrix of the paraconglomerate is arkosic and clasts in order of decreasing abundance are red granite, white

granite, quartzite, phyllite and rare metavolcanic (?) rocks. This paraconglomerate and associate phyllite have features suggestive of a glacial origin. As first noted by Blackwelder (1926) and later by Sylvester (1973) these paraconglomerates are poorly sorted and have clasts which are more angular (some boulder-sized) than paraconglomerates described previously. Furthermore, associated phyllites have dropstones and this, along with other evidence (Sylvester, 1973), strongly suggests a glacial or possibly glacio-marine origin for the paraconglomerate and phyllite. The origin of the associated metalimestones is uncertain, but they may represent calcium carbonate brines deposited in response to the retreat of dry-based glaciers (Carey and Ahmad, 1961, p. 886).

<u>Rock Knoll Formation</u>. The Vagner Formation is in fault contact with the overlying Rock Knoll Formation. This unit is chiefly gray, fine- to medium-grained quartzite with thin layers of phyllite. Near the base of the Rock Knoll Formation planar cross-bedding in sets 0.6 to 1.5 m thick is common. This cross-bedded sequence is overlain by quartzite with phyllitic partings. The partings weather to olive patches on bedding surfaces and are distinctive and characteristic of this part of the Rock Knoll Formation. In addition, Blackwelder (1926, p. 627) and Houston and others (1968, p. 17-22) reported clay galls in the quartzites. The upper part of the Rock Knoll Formation is quartzite with abundant thin (6-10 cm) beds of conglomerate. Clasts are vein quartz, quartzite, and granite. As suggested by Blackwelder (1926, p. 626-627), this part of the Rock Knoll Formation may be fluvial.

Libby Creek Group. The Libby Creek Group has been described by Blackwelder (1926), Houston and others (1968), and Lanthier (1979). As defined by Houston and others (1968), it includes all rocks above the unit then referred to as the Deep Lake Formation and now referred to as the Deep Lake Group. As shown in Table 3.3, the formations of the Libby Creek Group include the Headquarters Formation (paraconglomerate and laminated phyllite of possible glacial origin), Heart Formation (largely quartzite with primary structures suggestive of shallow water origin), Medicine Peak Quartzite (thick, massive quartzite probably including fluvial deposits and high energy marine shoreline deposits), Lookout Schist (interlayered quartzite, phyllite and schist with structures characteristic of distal turbidites; beds of iron formation are present at the base of the Lookout Schist), Sugarloaf Quartzite (high silica orthoquartzite of probable marine origin), Nash Formation (stromatolitic dolomite and black graphitic phyllite, both of probable shallow marine origin), Towner Greenstone (mafic igneous rocks of uncertain origin), and French Slate (gray slate with rare thin hematitic quartzite layers, both of probable marine origin). These formations are described in some detail in the reports cited above and in papers by Knight (1968) on the Nash Formation and Wilson (1975) on the Lookout Schist.

It has been necessary to redefine the Headquarters Schist of the Libby Creek Group, because part of this unit as originally defined by Blackwelder (1926, p. 627-631) has been included in the Vagner Formation of the Deep Lake Group of this report (Table 3.2). The name Headquarters Formation replaces Headquarters Schist as three lithologic members are now recognized in this unit (Lanthier, 1978, 1979).

Several rocks within the Libby Creek Group have been dated by Hills and others (1968). The Rb/Sr whole rock ages determined for these metasedimentary

	Formation	Lithology	Primary features	Source	Depositional Environment	Thickness [m]
	French Slate	black slate	thin atzite layers	?	marine	600
	Towner Greenstone	chlorite schist	relict igneous textures	?	?	0-480
GROUP	Nash Formation	lenticular phyllite metadolomite	graphitic layers stromatolites	?	marine shallow marine	1900
	Sugarloaf Qtzite	massive qtzite	cross-beds, ripple marks	?	marine	0-580
CREEK	Lookout Schist	laminated schist with qtzite layers	sole markings clastic dikes cross-bedding	?	marine, turbidites	365
	Medicine Peak Qtzite	qtzite; congl. qtz-pebble congl qtzite qtzite	finning upward sequences massive tabular cross-beds	ENE	fluvial and shallow marine pro-deltaic? near shore marine	<b>,</b> 1585
LIBBY	Heart Formation	qtzite phyllite qtzite	massive laminated massive, cross-beds	NE	shałlow marine marine shallow marine; fluvial	650
	Headquarters Formation	phyllite arkosic qtzite paracongl	varves? cross-beds dropstones	NNE	glacial or glacio-marine	650

Table 3.3. Stratigraphy of the Libby Creek Group of the Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming.

rocks are probably dates of metamorphism, but they set an upper limit on the age of the metasedimentary succession. The most reliable metamorphic date is a Rb/Sr whole rock age for the Lookout Schist of  $1710 \pm 60$  m.y. Inasmuch as the basal units of the Libby Creek Group lie on basement gneiss (southwestern area of Figure 3.9) dated as older than 2500 m.y. (Hills and others, 1968, p. 1762-1763) and the metamorphic date is approximately 1710  $\pm$  60 m.y., these rocks must be younger than about 2500 m.y. and older than about 1700 m.y. Clearly we need a much closer age bracketing to evaluate the economic potential of these metasedimentary rocks.

In general, however, there are several indications that the quartzites of the Libby Creek Group are probably not a good target for uranium mineralization. First, they are interpreted to be mainly marine deposits which are less likely than fluvial deposits to contain uranium-bearing fossil-placers. Second, they contain magnetite and hematite rather than pyrite as their main iron phase. This suggests that they were deposited in oxygenated conditions which were unfavorable for transport of detrital uraninite (Roscoe, 1973). Third, geochemical assays to date have not revealed anomalously high uranium content in conglomerates of the Medicine Peak Quartzite. Fourth, lithostratigraphic correlation of the Medicine Bow metasediments with other Early Proterozoic rocks in North America (see Figure 3.10), especially the Huronian Supergroup, suggests that the Libby Creek Group may be too young to contain significant fossil placer uranium (Young, 1973).

#### Regional Stratigraphic Correlations

A remarkable aspect of the metasedimentary rocks of the Medicine Bow Mountains is their close lithologic resemblance to formations of the Huronian Supergroup of Canada. As shown in Figure 3.10, both areas contain volcanics, quartz-pebble conglomerates, drab quartzites, glacial (?) paraconglomerates,

SIERRA MADRE Wyoming AFTER GRAFF (1978)				MEDICINE BOW MOUNTAINS WYOMING AFTER KARLSTROM AND HOUSTON (1979a, 1979b)			HURONIAN SUPERGROUP ONTARIO, CANADA AFTER ROSCOE, 1969					
YOUNGER IGNEOUS AND METAMORPHIC ROCKS				Medicine Peak Qtzite. Heart Fm.	Sandstone Qtz-pebble cgl. Sandstone Siltstone Sandstone	Shailow marine Marine?		۹.	Lorraine Fm.	Sandstone Qtz-pebble cgl.	Shallow marine	
LIBBY CR. GP.		Slaughterhouse Fm,	Dolomite	Carbonate bank	Headquarters Schist	Shale Arkose Paraconglomerate	Glacio-marine		COBALT GROI	Gowganda Fm.	Graywacke Siltstone Sandstone Paraconglomerate	Glacial, glacial-marine
	CYCLE 4	Copperton Qtaite Vagner Fm.	Sandstone Sandstone Shale Limestone Paraconglomerate	Shallow marine Glacio-marine	Rock Knoll Fm. Vagner Fm.	Conglomerate Sandstone, shale Shale Limestone Paraconglomerate	Shallow marine Glacio-marine		QUIRKE LAKE GP.	Serpent Fm. Espanola Fm. Bruce Fm.	Sandstone Dolomite Limestone Sandstone Paraconglomerate	Fluvial shallow marine Shallow marine Glacio-marine
LAKE SUITE DEEP LAKE GROUP	CYCLE 3	Cascade Qtzite Campbeli Lake Fm.	Arkose Sandstone Sandstone Shale Paraconglomerate	Fluvial Glacial?	Cascade Qtzite Campbell Lake Fm.	Pebbly arkose Pebbly sandstone Shale Paraconglomerate	Fluvial Glacial		HOUGH LAKE GP.	Mississagi Fm. Pecors Fm. Ramsey Lake Fm.	Sandstone Siltstone Paraconglomerate	Shallow marine Shallow marine Glacial-shallow wster
	CYCLE 2	Singer Peak Fm, Magnolia Fm,	Sandstone Shale Sandstone Qtz-granule ss. Qtz-peb cgl.	Marine Fluvial	Lindsey Qtzite Magnolia Fm,	Sandstone Qtz-granule ss, Qtz-pebble cgl,	Fluvial Fluvial	JOT LAKE GP.		McKim Fm. Matinenda Fm.	Siltstone Sandstone Qtz-pebble cgl.	Shallow marine Fluvial
	CYCLE 1	Silver Lake Conglomerate Spring Lake Volcanics Upper Jack Greek Fm.	Graywacke Boulder cgl. Flows, tuffs Shale, sandstone Paraconglomerate Qtz-peb cgl.	Marine? Subaerial-shallow marine Shallow marine Fluvial	Upper Phantom Lake Meta- morphic Suite	Paraconglomerate basalt micaceous ss. argilite fine-gr. ss. quartz-pebble conglomerate	Subaerial Shallow marine Marine Fluvial	;		Thessalon Fm. Livingstone Creek Fm.	Basalt Subarkose	Subaerial Marine
PHANTON		Lower Jack Creek Fm,	Sandstone Paraconglomerate Shale, flows, tuffs Graywacke	Subaerial, fluvial, and shailow marine	Lower Phantom Lake Meta- morphic Suite	Volcanoclastic graywackes, flows and tuffs ARCHEAN	Subserial?	NTS. GNEISSES	. AN	) GRANITE		

Figure 3.10. Lithostratigraphic correlation of metasedimentary rocks in the Sierra Madre, Medicine Bow Mountains, and Huronian Supergroup. Adapted from Graff (1978, p. 71).

siltstones, and thick aluminous quartzites. In addition, the distinctive lithologic units in both areas occur in the same stratigraphic order. Figure 3.10 shows that it is possible to correlate the Huronian Supergroup with rocks of the upper Phantom Lake Suite, Deep Lake Group and lower Libby Creek Group almost formation by formation. The Magnolia Formation corresponds to the ore-bearing Matinenda Formation and paraconglomerates of the Campbell Lake, Vagner, and Headquarters Formations correspond to the Ramsey Lake, Bruce, and Gowganda Formations respectively. By this correlation, most of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite is interpreted to be older than the Huronian Supergroup and most of the Libby Creek Group is interpreted to be younger. Plate 1 shows that the upper Libby Creek Group may correlate with the Marquette Range Supergroup of the Lake Superior area.

This type of lithostratigraphic correlation between widely separated sequences can be strongly criticized because there are no fossils or precise radiometric age determinations to prove that the rocks are the same age. Nevertheless, we believe that lithostratigraphic correlation is a valid procedure, especially in Early Proterozoic metasedimentary successions, for several reasons. First, the appearance of radioactive conglomerates on earth reflects increased cratonic stability following the end of the Archean (about 2500 m.y. in North America) and these units persisted only about 300-500 m.y.-until the atmosphere became rich enough in oxygen to prevent transport of detrital uraninite. Second, if the paraconglomerate units are glacial in origin, they may represent continent-wide climatic episodes which could be correlated throughout Early Proterozoic rocks in North America. Third, the sequence tillite-aluminous quartzite may represent a widespread climatic change from subpolar to subtropical latitudes (Young, 1973) which can be used for correlation. Fourth, both the Medicine Bow rocks and the Huronian Supergroup appear to be older than nearby Proterozoic banded iron formations (Plate 1) so they both presumably were deposited prior to the development of appreciable free oxygen in the atmosphere.

The significance of this correlation with respect to uranium exploration is that it suggests that the overall character of the Medicine Bow succession is close enough to uranium producing sequences of the Huronian Supergroup to be of economic interest simply on this basis. The significance of the correlation with respect to ideas on crustal and atmospheric evolution is discussed in a later section.

#### Mineral Deposits

<u>History of Exploration</u>. The lithologic resemblance of the metasedimentary rocks of the Medicine Bow Mountains to metasedimentary rocks on the North Shore of Lake Huron was recognized as early as 1926 by Blackwelder and was further emphasized by Houston and others (1968) and by Young (1970). Because of this similarity Houston and others (1968, p. 159) recommended that quartz-pebble conglomerate of the Deep Lake Formation (Deep Lake Group of this report) be examined for gold and other heavy elements. This recommendation was discussed further in a report on the Sierra Madre (Houston and others, 1975) and in 1975 a joint study of the Medicine Bow Mountains and Sierra Madre was undertaken by the Geology Department of the University of Wyoming; U.S. Geological Survey; and Wyoming Geological Survey to study both mountain areas and assess their potential for uranium. The U.S. Geological Survey project in the Medicine Bow Mountains was partially funded by a grant from the Department of Energy, then the Energy Research and Development Agency.

To the writers' knowledge the first discovery of radioactive conglomerate in the Medicine Bow Mountains was made by Stuart Roscoe of the Canadian Geological Survey who had done much of the original work on the Canadian,

Blind River occurrences. Roscoe examined a quartz-pebble conglomerate locality near the Arrastre Lake area which was brought to his attention by one of the authors (Houston) and noted that it was radioactive. Additional localities were found as a result of the joint study during the 1975-78 field seasons, and the regional extent of the radioactive conglomerate at the base of the Magnolia Formation was finally determined during the 1978 field season by the writers. During this period, 1975-1978, geologists of the Exxon Company discovered the One Mile Creek locality by use of aerial radiometric surveys and surface geochemical surveys and subsequently most of the favorable areas in the Medicine Bows have been staked by mining companies of the United States and Canada. Geologic reports on uranium in the Medicine Bow Mountains include Miller and others (1977), Houston and others (1977), Houston and others (1979), and Karlstrom and Houston (1979a, 1979b).

<u>Uranium Exploration Possibilities</u>. It is clear from the above discussion that the basal conglomerate member of the Magnolia Formation of the Deep Lake Group is a prime target for exploration for uranium-bearing, quartzpebble conglomerate. The exact age of this unit is unknown but it is bracketed between about 2700 m.y. and 1700 m.y. so it is probably Early Proterozoic. As indicated in the discussion of stratigraphy of the Deep Lake Group, uranium- and thorium-bearing pyritic conglomerate has been discovered in the conglomerate member of the Magnolia Formation at several localities in the Medicine Bow Mountains. This uranium-thorium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerate has many features in common with classic conglomerate occurrences in the Blind River-Elliot Lake area of Canada and in the Witwatersrand of South Africa. The conglomerate occurs in fluviatile sedimentary rocks, it is pyritic, and radioactive zones are thick enough (> 3 meters) to be of economic interest provided grade of the ore is high enough and tonnages are sufficient

to be mineable.

<u>Geochemistry and Mineralogy</u>. The quartz-pebble conglomerate occurrences in the conglomerate member of the Magnolia Formation are highly altered on the surface. Pyrite is almost totally leached from surface outcrops leaving vuggy limonitic zones as evidence of its former presence. Some of these outcrops are strongly radioactive, despite leaching of pyrite and uranium minerals, because of the thorium content of the conglomerate. Conglomerate samples in outcrop contain up to 1000 ppm thorium and up to 150 ppm uranium and thorium/uranium ratios average about 4:1. Relative radioactivity of surface and subsurface (core) samples indicates that the uranium content of core samples taken below the zone of weathering is much higher than on the surface, perhaps an order of magnitude or more.

We have not been able to identify the primary uranium and thorium minerals in samples studied to date because most core samples come from the One Mile Creek locality of the Medicine Bow Mountains where the metamorphic rank is almandine amphibolite facies. Pyrite, for example, is completely recrystallized and there is no evidence of a rounded shape for the mineral except in some round clusters of euhedral crystals that may have been rounded grains originally.

Desborough and Sharp (1978) have identified 0.1 to 0.2 mm grains in pyritic conglomerate that have the chemical composition of coffenite and thorite. The "coffenite" contains 45-61 weight percent uranium and a few tenths to several weight percent of thorium and lead. Thorite contains 30-45 weight percent thorium, and a few tenths to several percent of uranium, lead, and yttrium. According to Desborough and Sharp these two uranium and thorium silicate minerals are anhedral, but are more like blebs than rounded grains that may have had a detrital history. These minerals are probably secondary. In addition to pyrite, coffenite, and thorite, other minerals that appear to be secondary or recrystallized are zircon, a monazite containing up to 6 weight percent thorium and an ilmenorutile that Desborough and Sharp state is a recrystallized Nb-rich detrital mineral because it occurs as rounded spongy aggregates of euhedral to subhedral crystals supported interstitially by quartz. There is also carbon material in the conglomerate and Desborough and Sharp believe it is of organic origin because it contains sulphur. Other minerals of uncertain origin identified by Desborough and Sharp are Ni-Co-sulfides, marcasite, chalcopyrite, and columbite.

Heavy minerals that are clearly of detrital origin are sphene, ilmenite, spessertine, and zircon. There is also sparse magnetite that has the morphological characteristics of detrital grains.

<u>Reserves</u>. Extensive drilling programs will be required before ore reserves, if any, are outlined in the Medicine Bow Mountain area. The entire conglomerate member of the Magnolia Formation which underlies an area about 30 by 8 kilometers is not likely to be uniformly mineralized inasmuch as the radioactive conglomerate layers show wide variations in counts per minute from one locality to another. The uranium-thorium minerals were probably deposited in channels of braided streams or river systems and their extent depends on the width of these systems and on the proximity to source. Information on paleocurrent directions suggests that these braided river systems flowed south or south-southwest, but this has not been verified statistically.

# Sierra Madre, Wyoming

#### Geologic Setting

The Sierra Madre of Wyoming is the northern extension of the Park Range of Colorado and is located about 10 km southwest of the Medicine Bow Mountains (Figure 3.3). The overall geology of the Sierra Madre is similar to that of the Medicine Bows in that the northern Sierra Madre consists of Archean granitic basement nonconformably overlain by a thick sequence of Early Proterozoic miogeosynclinal metasedimentary rocks and the southern Sierra Madre consists of a metavolcanic succession cut by mafic and felsic intrusive rocks (Houston and others, 1975). As shown in Figure 3.11, the northern and southern areas are separated by a shear zone which is thought to be the western extension of the Mullen Creek-Nash Fork shear zone of the Medicine Bow Mountains (Graff, 1978, 1979).

### Distribution and Structure

Figure 3.11 shows that Early Proterozoic metasedimentary rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite and Deep Lake Group are preserved in a westthickening wedge in the central Sierra Madre. The overall structure of the metasediments was interpreted by Spencer (1904) to be a west plunging, overturned synclinorium and by Houston and others (1975) to be a south dipping homoclinal succession. Graff (1978, 1979) reconciled these views by suggesting that the metasedimentary rocks form the north limb of a faulted synclinorium, the south limb having been removed by movements along the major shear zone.

Graff (1978) identified several generations of folds in the metasediments: a major east-west fold system, less well developed northeast- and northwesttrending folds, and a late episode of nearly vertical rotation. These four deformational events are similar in style and sequence to deformations identified by Karlstrom (1977) in the Medicine Bow Mountains. Graff (1978) also identified major east-trending faults in the southern part of the metasedimentary wedge, shown in Figure 3.11, which he interpreted to be major thrust faults. These faults have greatly attenuated the stratigraphic section of



the Phantom Lake Suite and Deep Lake Group in the eastern Sierra Madre.

Figure 3.11 shows that rocks of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite crop out in the northern half of the metasedimentary wedge and rocks of the Deep Lake Group in the southern half. Rocks equivalent to the Libby Creek Group of the Medicine Bow Mountains, if they were originally present, have been removed by faulting along the shear zone.

The age of the metasedimentary rocks in the Sierra Madre is bracketed between about 2500 m.y., the age of the granitic basement (Divis, 1976; Hills and Houston, 1979) and 1700 m.y., the age of metamorphism of the sediments and movement along the shear zone (Hills and Houston, 1979).

#### Stratigraphy and Paleogeography

Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite. The Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite in the northern and northwestern Sierra Madre contains metavolcanic and metasedimentary rocks that are very similar lithologically to the rocks of the Phantom Lake Suite in the Medicine Bow Mountains. The stratigraphy of these rocks is not completely understood, but rock types include fine-grained feldspathic quartzite, paraconglomerate, metabasalt, pillow lava, metatuffs, metaagglomerate, phyllite, quartz-pebble conglomerate and marble. Locally these rocks are interlayered with quartzo-feldspathic gneiss, hornblende schist and amphibolite. Graff (1978, 1979) has divided the Phantom Lake Suite into three formations, shown in Table 3.4. These are the Jack Creek Formation, Spring Lake Volcanics, and Silver Lake Conglomerate. The total thickness of the Phantom Lake Suite in the Sierra Madre is more than three kilometers.

Graff's (1978) interpretation of the depositional environments of the Phantom Lake Suite are shown in Table 3.4. In general, the sequence is believed to be an epicontinental succession which contains mainly fluvial and subaerial deposits.

		,						
	Libby Cr.Gr.	Slaughter- house Fm.	Thick calc-silicate and calcareous phyllites. Buff to tan, arenaceous, silica-seamed metadolomite.					
		Copperton Quartzite	White, massive to mylonitized completely recrystal- lized quartzite.					
		Vagner Fm.	Interbedded, fine-grained, clean quartzite and green phyllite. Tillite (poorly sorted, angular-clast paraconglom- erate) pink granite and rare quartzite clasts.					
	e Group	Cascade Quartz- ite	Thick, massive, clean quartzite with occasional thin lenses of quartz-pebble conglomerate. Quartzites contain channels, cross-beds, and graded beds. Rare beds of sandy phyllites or green and blue phyllites.					
GROUP	Deep Lak	Campbell Lake Fm.	Paraconglomerates with angular, red granite clasts. Thin, clean, fine-grained quartzites. Thin green and blue phyllites.					
SUPER		Singer Peak Fm.	Thick green and silver phyllites. Thin phyllitic quartzite with rare pebbly layers.					
WY RANGE		Magnolia Fm.	Coarse to fine-grained quartzite (fining upward), generally phyllitic. Very coarse-grained quartz-granule conglomerates, slightly radioactive. Feldspathic quartzites with cross~beds and channels. Uraniferous quartz-pebble conglomerate and feld- spathic, micaceous quartzite.					
SNO	nic Suite	Silver Lake Conglom- erate	Metagraywacke (cleaning upward). Boulder paraconglomerates with arkosic or amphibo- litic matrices, clasts of granite, quartzite, and phyllite.					
	e Metamorph	Spring Lake Volcanics	Amphibole schists. Garnet-amphibole and micaceous schists. Pillow basalts, amygdaloidal basalts. Metatuffs, flowsgand peridotites.					
	Phantom Lake	Jack Creek Fm.	<pre>Phyllitic quartzites and radioactive, silver (pebbly?) phyllites. Stromatolitic metalimestones, metadolomite, calcarenite. Fine-grained quartzite, feldspathic, very coarse- grained quartzite. Uraniferous quartz-pebble conblomerates, phyllitic fine-grained feldspathic quartzite.</pre>					
		<u> </u>	ARCHEAN GNEISSES AND METASEDIMENTS					

Table 3.4. Stratigraphy of Early Proterozoic metasediments of the Sierra Madre, Wyoming. Taken from Graff (1978, p. 18).

The Deep Lake Group. Metasedimentary rocks believed to be equivalent to rocks of the Deep Lake Group of the Medicine Bow Mountains crop out in the southern part of the wedge of metasedimentary rocks in the Sierra Madre (Figure 3.11). The basal beds of the Deep Lake Group are like the Magnolia Formation of the Medicine Bow Mountains, but formations that overlie the Magnolia Formation are not always lithologically identical to those in the Deep Lake Group of the Medicine Bow Mountains. Figure 3.10 shows a tentative correlation of the metasedimentary rocks of the Sierra Madre and Medicine Bow Mountains. This correlation is based upon distinctive lithologic units such as radioactive conglomerates, boulder paraconglomerates, and glacial (?) paraconglomerates; and on similar cyclic stratigraphic sequences, shown in Figure 3.10 (Graff, 1979). In general, metasedimentary rocks of the Sierra Madre are finer grained than those of the Medicine Bow Mountains and apparently were deposited a greater distance from the source.

#### Mineral Deposits

<u>Radioactive Conglomerate Units</u>. There are two major radioactive quartzpebble conglomerate units in the Sierra Madre. In the northwestern Sierra Madre radioactive quartz-pebble conglomerate has been recognized in the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite (Graff and Houston, 1977). This radioactive quartz-pebble conglomerate crops out in the Deep Gulch area where it can be traced for approximately 5 kilometers, and it also crops out to the northeast in sec. 6 and 7, T. 15 N., R. 87 W. where it can be traced for about 3 kilometers (Figure 3.11). The quartz-pebble conglomerate is present as beds within a radioactive coarse-grained sericitic quartzite, and is very similar to the conglomerate in the Magnolia Formation of the Medicine Bow Mountains. Conglomerate layers are parts of fining upward sets in the quartzite unit and they range from beds the thickness of a single pebble to compound beds a meter or more thick. The coarse-grained quartzite with layers of conglomerate grades upward into finer-grained quartzite with trough cross-beds and this quartzite grades into phyllitic quartzites with layers of marble. The succession is believed to represent braided stream or river deposits that grade upward into marine quartzites.

Radioactive quartz-pebble conglomerates have also been recognized in the Magnolia Formation of the Sierra Madre. Major occurrences are in the Dexter Peak area (secs. 21, 28, and 34, T. 15 N., R. 87 W.) where radioactive quartzite with conglomerate layers has been traced about 5 kilometers (Figure 3.11). The radioactive conglomerate of the Dexter Peak area is like that described in other occurrences of the Sierra Madre and Medicine Bow Mountains and is also interpreted as braided stream deposits.

In the eastern Sierra Madre radioactive, quartz-pebble conglomerate has been mapped for a distance of about 5 kilometers along strike near Bottle Creek, from sec. 14, T. 14 N., R. 85 W. east to sec. 18, T. 14 N., R. 84 W. (Figure 3.11). This conglomerate is cleaner, better sorted, and not as radioactive as that in the western Sierra Madre.

<u>Uranium Exploration Possibilities</u>. The radioactive, quartz-pebble conglomerates of the Sierra Madre are similar in most respects to those of the Medicine Bow Mountains and the radioactive conglomerate in the basal Magnolia Formation is considered to be the same in both areas. The Sierra Madre has additional radioactive conglomerate beds in the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite.

There has been no drilling in the Sierra Madre so very little is known about the uranium content of the conglomerate. In the western Sierra Madre, however, radioactive beds have about the same above background count as beds of the One Mile Creek area of the Medicine Bow Mountains, and surface samples contain up to 128 ppm uranium and 718 ppm thorium.

In mapping done to date, <u>strongly radioactive</u> beds can be shown to crop out over a greater area in the Sierra Madre than in the Medicine Bow Mountains, if we consider that the strongly radioactive beds of the Medicine Bow Mountains are mainly in the One Mile Creek area. Certainly the Sierra Madre seems to show equal promise as a uranium prospect, but extensive drilling will have to be done before an economic appraisal can be made.

#### Hartville Uplift, Wyoming

The Hartville uplift is a north striking uplift of Precambrian rocks located in eastern Wyoming between the towns of Guernsey and Lusk (Figure 3.3). Metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks crop out on the western margin of the uplift, but their relationship to Archean rocks of the Wyoming Province is not known. These metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks are more eugeosynclinal in aspect than those of either the Sierra Madre or Medicine Bow Mountains. Metasedimentary rocks include quartzite, iron formation, metadolomite, slate, phyllite and graywacke. Metavolcanic rocks are primarily basalt--some showing pillow structures. The stratigraphy of metasediments in the Hartville uplift is shown in Plate 1.

This succession of rocks was first defined by Smith and Darton (1903) and was subsequently studied by Ebbett (1956) and Millgate (1965). The entire uplift is currently being studied by George L. Snyder of the U.S.G.S. The writers had the opportunity to review this area with Snyder in August 1978, and it is clear that this succession of metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks is not similar to that of the Sierra Madre or Medicine Bow Mountains; in fact, it more closely resembles rocks of the eugeosynclinal or younger parts of the Marquette Range Supergroup of the Lake Superior Region (Plate 1). We believe that the metasedimentary rocks of the Hartville uplift are not good prospects for quartz-pebble conglomerate-type uranium deposits because they are probably wholly marine and are perhaps younger than 2000 m.y.

# Black Hills Uplift, South Dakota

The Black Hills uplift of South Dakota is a broad anticlinal uplift located in the southwestern part of the state (Figure 3.3). The core of the uplift consists of Precambrian metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks that are highly deformed and metamorphosed (Noble and others, 1949). The metasedimentary rocks are cut by amphibolite, foliated granite, and pegmatite. The major granitic bodies are in the south and are referred to as the Harney Peak Granite.

The metasedimentary rocks of the Black Hills have been studied in detail only in certain areas and the relationship between areas is not fully understood. A modern compilation of the Precambrian geology of the entire uplift by Kleinkopf and Redden (1975) and a review of the general geology by Bayley and James (1973) serve as the basis for this discussion.

Figure 3.12 shows that there are two areas in the Black Hills were Archean basement is exposed: the Nemo district of the northeastern Black Hills and the Bear Mountain area in the southwestern Black Hills. In the Nemo district, contacts between units are poorly exposed or covered by Phanerozoic sedimentary rocks, but the Archean Little Elk Granite is believed to be overlain unconformably by quartzite which is referred to as the Boxelder Creek Quartzite by Bayley (1972). This quartzite has interbedded quartz-mica schist and also contains layers of quartz-granule conglomerate. It is overlain conformably by layered oxide-facies iron formation referred to as the Benchmark Iron-Formation (Plate 1). The Benchmark Iron-Formation and Boxelder Creek Quartzite are overlain unconformably by the Estes Conglomerate of Bayley (1972). The Estes Conglomerate is a complex unit which Bayley considered a boulder conglomerate that grades into finer-grained facies including quartzite, quartz-mica schist, meta-arkose, and pebbly chlorite schist. All facies have pebbly layers. The boulder conglomerate is an open framework conglomerate with a chloritic matrix; Bayley's descriptions suggest that this boulder conglomerate is a proximal or perhaps an alluvial fan facies that grades laterally into a braided stream facies. Bayley (1970, p. 197) notes that the Estes Conglomerate contains abundant fragments of underlying rocks such as the Benchmark Iron-Formation and states that "each of the several facies rest unconformably on the Nemo Group (Boxelder Creek Quartzite and Benchmark Iron-Formation) at different places--each facies is basal in its own area-which probably indicates that the pre-Estes topography had considerable relief."

The Estes Conglomerate therefore fits the quartz-pebble conglomerate model quite well inasmuch as it is a fluviatile succession lying unconformably on Archean rocks. The age of the Estes Conglomerate is not precisely known; it lies on basement dated as about 2500 m.y. (Zartman and Stern, 1967), and although no upper age limit can be set, Black Hills metasedimentary rocks younger than the Estes Conglomerate are cut by the Harney Peak Granite dated as about 1600 to 1740 m.y. (Wetherill and others, 1956; Giletti and Gast, 1961; Riley, 1970).

F. A. Hills (1977, 1979) of the United States Geological Survey examined the Estes Conglomerate because he believed it might fit the quartz-pebble conglomerate model, and thus might contain detrital uranium minerals or other heavy metals. Hills' study resulted in the discovery of radioactive quartzpebble conglomerate in the Nemo District. Hills (1977, 1979) found that the Estes Conglomerate contains beds of quartzite and quartz-pebble conglomerate with matrices of micaceous quartzite that had up to 25 percent pyrite. The conglomerate layers contain uranium (10 to 40 ppm) and thorium (20 to 800 ppm), and inasmuch as the Black Hills area is an important gold producing province, Hills considered that the Estes Conglomerate should have potential for gold (Hills, 1979).

After the announcement of the discovery of uranium-bearing, quartz-pebble conglomerate in the Black Hills, the area has been more thoroughly prospected by private companies and drilling has begun to determine if ore-grade uranium is present in the Estes Conglomerate. However, the results of these recent efforts are not available to us.

The Bear Mountain area of the southwestern Black Hills is a dome of Archean granite dated as about 2500 m.y. (Ratte and Zartman, 1970) overlain unconformably by metasedimentary and metavolcanic rocks (about 1000 meters thick) that are the dome's mantle (Ratte and Zartman, 1970). These mantle rocks are in turn separated by an unconformity from an even thicker overlying metasedimentary-metavolcanic succession. According to Kleinkopf and Redden (1975, p. 3) the mantling rocks include light-colored, pure quartzites, pebble conglomerates, and arkose. These rocks are correlated with the Estes Conglomerate by Kleinkopf and Redden (1975). They appear to be a good target for uranium exploration.

The uranium potential of other metasedimentary rocks of the Black Hills does not appear good. The Black Hills area has not been mapped in the detail necessary to fully appraise the uranium potential, but the Black Hills Precambrian can be viewed as a north-northwest striking synclinorium of metasedimentary rocks having two uplifts or domes of Archean basement on either side (Figure 3.12). The older metasedimentary successions that have uranium potential are apparently confined to the vicinity of the basement domes and



355

103°

younger metasedimentary rocks are largely marine and eugeosynclinal. These younger metasedimentary rocks contain iron formation and as Bayley and James (1973, p. 948) have suggested they are somewhat like the younger eugeosynclinal phase of the Marquette Range Supergroup. If so, they are too young and are the wrong geological environment to contain uranium-bearing quartzpebble conglomerates.

# SUMMARY AND CORRELATION OF EARLY PROTEROZOIC-TYPE METASEDIMENTARY SUCCESSIONS.

Perhaps the best way to summarize the potential for Early Proterozoic uranium-bearing conglomerates in the United States is via a regional lithostratigraphic correlation of Early Proterozoic successions, such as is shown in Plate 1. Part I of this report, the exploration model, has emphasized that uranium-bearing conglomerates are most likely to be found in thick quartz-rich miogeosynclinal sedimentary successions that are older than about 2000 m.y. Within such successions, the richest conglomerates are likely to be fluvial, braided-river deposits which are either in the basal, clastic part of the succession (Huronian-type deposits) or within the coarse clastics of cyclic (transgressive-regressive) sedimentary sequences (Witwatersrand-type deposits). Clearly, age and stratigraphic-sedimentologic information are the most important factors in evaluating the uranium potential of a sequence, and this information can be portrayed in a lithostratigraphic correlation chart.

However, it is necessary to evaluate the justifications for lithostratigraphic correlation in Early Proterozoic successions. Without the benefit of guide fossils and with only a scattering of radiometric age determinations, what is the basis for correlating units in widely separated Proterozoic sequences?

The key to this question is that the Early Proterozoic (2500-1700 m.y.) appears to have been a time of evolutionary changes in tectonic conditions, atmospheric and hydrospheric composition, and perhaps climatic conditions, and these factors all contributed to recognizable patterns in sedimentation. For example, Late Archean metasedimentary successions generally contain an appreciable percentage of volcanic rocks, reflecting the change from permobile tectonics in the Archean to cratonic stabilization in the Early Proterozoic. Somewhat younger, Early Proterozoic, successions tend to be richer in quartz and often contain fluvial, uranium- and gold-bearing conglomerates. Such conglomerates appear to be restricted in geologic time between 2500 and 2000 m.y. in North America, reflecting both tectonic and atmospheric evolution. Still younger rocks include widespread glacial (?) paraconglomerates and highly aluminous quartzites, which may reflect regional climatic changes; stromatolitic dolomites, which reflect biologic and atmospheric evolution; and Proterozoic banded iron formations, which reflect the early stages of a change toward an oxygenated atmosphere.

No one of these distinctive lithologies should be used for correlation by itself because of the diachronous nature of evolutionary processes. However, in North America, several of these lithologies occur in the <u>same stratigraphic order</u> within widely separated Early Proterozoic successions and this suggests to us that sedimentation in North America during the Early Proterozoic was strongly influenced by regional changes in tectonic, climatic, and atmospheric conditions. These regional changes, we believe, are justification for the lithostratigraphic correlation and idealized Early Proterozoic stratigraphy shown in Plate 1.

We have divided the Early Proterozoic rocks in North America into four broad depositional sequences, shown in Plate 1. (1) The Volcano-sedimentary sequence includes Late Archean and Earliest Proterozoic metasediments and is characterized by interbedded volcanic rocks and clastic rocks; including volcanic flows, pyroclastics, thin iron-formation, and sometimes thin beds of radioactive quartz-pebble conglomerate. Examples include the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite of the Medicine Bows and Sierra Madre; the Nemo Group of the Black Hills; and possibly the Red Creek Quartzite and Little Willow Series of northern Utah, the Dickenson Group of the Lake Superior region, and the Thessalon and associated rocks of the Huronian Supergroup. These sequences were deposited during the transition between permobile Archean tectonic conditions and Early Proterozoic stable craton conditions--probably between 2700 and 2300 m.y. ago.

(2) The radioactive conglomerate-tillite sequence is characterized by thicker radioactive conglomerate beds, several glacial (?) paraconglomerates (tillites), thick clastic successions of quartzites and shales, and thin limestones. Another characteristic of this sequence is that the rocks appear to occur within cyclic stratification sequences which are interpreted to reflect climatic changes associated with glacial advance and retreat. As shown in Plate 1, examples of this type of sequence are the Deep Lake Group of the Medicine Bows and Sierra Madre, the Estes Conglomerate of the Black Hills, and the Huronian Supergroup of Ontario. These sequences were deposited on newly stabilized cratonic blocks in an atmosphere which was low enough in oxygen to permit detrital transport of uraninite and pyrite. This was probably between 2500 and 2000 m.y. ago.

(3) The stromatolitic dolomite, quartzite, argillite sequence is characterized by stromatolitic dolomites and by the presence of non-cyclic miogeosynclinal sediments which tend to be thicker and laterally more extensive than units of the underlying sequences. The appearance of thick sections of carbonates containing stromatolites in the miogeosynclinal sequence, often above aluminous quartzite, is probably related both to biologic and atmospheric evolution and is, thus, a valid unit for lithostratigraphic correlation. These dolomites occur in the Medicines Bows, Hartville uplift, and throughout the Lake Superior region of the United States (Plate 1). This sequence was probably deposited between 2300 and 2000 m.y. ago. (4) The iron formation-volcaniclastic sequence contains mainly eugeosynclinal clastic sediments plus major Proterozoic banded iron formations. The appearance of the banded iron formations is usually interpreted as an indication of increasing free oxygen in the atmosphere--which is certainly a regional event. Examples of this sequence are in the Hartville Uplift, Black Hills and the Lake Superior area of the United States (Plate 1). This sequence was probably deposited between 2100 and 1800 m.y. ago.

From the uranium explorationists' viewpoint, the lower two sequences are the ones of interest. Thus, if the correlation shown in Plate 1 is correct, the Medicine Bows, Sierra Madre and Black Hills are of greatest economic interest because they contain rocks of the radioactive conglomeratetillite sequence as well as the volcano-sedimentary sequence. However, the Cherry Creek Group of Montana, the Red Creek Quartzite and Little Willow Series of northern Utah and the Dickenson Group are also of interest and may contain thin conglomerate units interbedded with volcanic rocks.
## REFERENCES CITED

- Alabi, A. O., Camfield, P. A., and Gough, D. I., 1975, The North American central plains conductivity anomaly: Geophysical Journal of the Royal Astronomical Society, v. 43, p. 815-833.
- Allaart, J. H., 1976, The pre-3760 m.y. old supracrustal rocks of the Isua area, central West Greenland, and the associated occurrence of quartz-banded ironstone, <u>in</u> Windley, B. F., ed., The Early History of the Earth: New York, John Wiley, p. 177-190.
- Anhauesser, C. R., 1973, The evolution of the Early Precambrian crust of southern Africa: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. A273, p. 359-388.
- Armstrong, R. L., 1968, Mantled gneiss domes in the Albion Range, southern Idaho: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 79, p. 1295-1314.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1976, The geochronometry of Idaho (Part 2): Isochron West, no. 15, p. 1-34.

- Armstrong, R. L., and Hansen, E. C., 1966, Metamorphic infrastructure in the eastern Great Basin: American Journal of Science, v. 264, p. 112-127.
- Armstrong, R. L., and Hills, F. A., 1967, Rubidium-strontium and potassium-argon geochronologic studies of mantled gneiss domes, Albion Range, southern Idaho, U.S.: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 3, p. 114-124.
- Baadsgaard, H., and Mueller, P. A., 1973, K-Ar and Rb-Sr ages of intrusive Precambrian mafic rocks, southern Beartooth Mountains, Montana and Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 74, p. 209-212.
- Banks, P. O., and Van Schmus, W. R., 1971, Chronology of Precambrian rocks of Iron and Dickinson Counties, Michigan (abs.), Institute on Lake Superior Geology, 17th Annual Abstracts and Field Guides, 9-10.
- , 1972, Chronology of Precambrian rocks of Iron and Dickinson Counties, Michigan - Part II (abs.), Institute on Lake Superior Geology, 18th Annual Abstracts and Field Guides, Houghton, Michigan, paper 23.
- Barker, F., 1976, Archean sequence of the southwestern Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming (abst.): Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 8, p. 568.
- Barlow, J. A., Jr., 1950, Geology of the LaPrele Creek-Boxelder Creek area, Converse County, Wyoming: unpublished M.S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 49 p.
- Basset, W. A., and Giletti, B. J., 1963, Precambrian ages in the Wind River Mountains, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 74, p. 209-212.

- Bayley, R. W., 1968, Geologic map of the Bradley Peak quadrangle, Carbon County, Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey map GQ-773.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970, Iron deposits of the Estes Creek area, Lawrence County, South Dakota, <u>in</u> Geological Survey research 1970: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 700-B, p. B93-B101.
- , 1972, Preliminary geologic map of the Nemo District, Black Hills, South Dakota: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Investigations Map 1-712.
- Bayley, R. W., Dutton, C. E., and Lamey, C. A., 1966, Geology of the Menominee iron-bearing district, Michigan and Wisconsin: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 513, 96 p.
- Bayley, R. W., and James, H. L., 1973, Precambrian iron-formations of the United States: Economic Geology, v. 68, p. 934-959.
- Bayley, R. W., and Muelberger, W. R., 1968, Basement rock map of the United States, exclusive of Alaska and Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey, scale 1:2,500,000.
- Bayley, R. W., Proctor, P. D., and Condie, K. C., 1973, Geology of the South Pass area, Fremont County, Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper, 793, 39 p.
- Bayley, W. S., 1904, The Menominee iron-bearing district of Michigan: U.S. Geological Survey Monograph 46, 513 p.
- Beckwith, R. H., 1939, Asbestos and chromite deposits of Wyoming: Wyoming Geological Survey Bulletin, v. 29, 31 p.
- Becraft, G. E., Calkins, J. A., Pattee, E. C., Weldon, R. D., and Roche, J. M., 1966, Mineral resources of the Spanish Peaks primitive area, Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin, 1230-B, p. B1-B45.
- Bell, G. L., 1952, Geology of the northern Farmington Mountains: in Marsell, R. E., ed., Guidebook to the Geology of Utah, no. 8, p. 38-51.
- Bell, R. T., 1970, The Hurwitz Group, a prototype for deposition on metastable cratons, in Baer, A. J., ed., Basins and geosynclines of the Canadian Shield: Canadian Geological Survey Paper 70-40, p. 159-168.
- Bishop, D. T., 1963, Retrogressive metamorphism in the Seminoe Mountains, Carbon County, Wyoming: unpublished M.S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 49 p.
- Blackwelder, Eliot, 1926, Precambrian geology of the Medicine Bow Mountains: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 37, p. 615-658.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1935, Precambrian rocks of Utah and Wyoming: Utah Academy of Sciences, Arts and Letters, v. 22, p. 153-157.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1949, Precambrian rocks of Utah, <u>in</u> Hansen, and Bell, eds., The oil and gas possibilities of Utah: Utah Geological and Mineralogical Survey, p. 25-30.

- Boardman, L., McIntosh, W. L., and Morgan, I. M., 1969, Geologic map index of Montana: U.S. Geological Survey map index.
- Bondeson, E., 1970, The stratigraphy and deformation of the Precambrian rocks of the Graensland area, southwest Greenland: Meddelelser om Groenland, Bd. 185.
- Bothner, W. A., 1967, Structure, petrology, and economic geology of the Cooney Hills, Platte County, Wyoming, unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Wyoming, 130 p.
- Bridgwater, D., Escher, A., Jackson, G. D., Taylor, F. C., and Windley, B. F., 1973, Development of the Precambrian shield in west Greenland, Labrador, and Baffin Island: <u>in Arctic Geology</u>: American Association of Petroleum Geologists Memoir no. 19, p. 99-116.
- Brookins, D. G., 1968, Rb-Sr and K-Ar age determinations from the Precambrian rocks of the Jardine-Crevice Mountain area, southwestern Montana: Earth Science Bulletin, v. 1, p. 5-9.
- Cannon, R. S., Bayley, R. W., Stern, T. W., and Pierce, A. P., 1966, Ancient rocks and ores in south-central Wyoming (abs.): Geological Society of America Special Paper no. 87, p. 279.
- Cannon, W. F., and Gair, J. E., 1970, A revision of stratigraphic nomenclature for middle Precambrian rocks in northern Michigan: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 81, p. 2843-2846.
- Cannon, W. F., and Klasner, J. S., 1972, Guide to Penokean deformational style and regional metamorphism of western Marquette range, Michigan--Part I [Field Trip B], Institute on Lake Superior Geology, 18th Annual Abstracts and Field Guides, Houghton, Michigan, p. B1-B38.
- Carey, S. W., and Ahmad, N., 1961, Glacial marine sedimentation, in Raasch, G. O., ed., Geology of the Arctic: Toronto, University of Toronto Press, p. 865-894.
- Casella, C. J., 1969, A review of the Precambrian geology of the eastern Beartooth Mountains, Montana and Wyoming: Geological Society of America Memoir 115, p. 53-71.
- Catanzaro, E. J., 1966, Correlation of some Precambrian rocks and metamorphic events in parts of Wyoming and Montana: Mountain Geologist, v. 4, p. 9-21.
- Catanzaro, E. J., and Kulp, J. L., 1964, Discordant zircons from the Little Belt (Montana), Beartooth (Montana), and Santa Catalina (Arizona) Mountains: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 28, p. 87-124.
- Cavanaugh, M. D., and Seyfert, C. K., 1977, Apparent polar wander paths and the joining of the Superior and Slave Provinces during early Proterozoic time: Geology, v. 5, p. 207-211.

- Chase, C. G., and Gilmer, T. H., 1973, Precambrian plate tectonics -- the Midcontinent Gravity High: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 21, p. 70-78.
- Church, W. R., and Young, G. M., 1970, Discussion on the Progress Report of the Federal-Provincial Committee on Huronian Stratigraphy: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 7, p. 912-918.
- Clabaugh, S. E., 1952, Corundum deposits in Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 983, 100 p.
- Clabaugh, S. E., and Armstrong, F. C., 1950, Corundum deposits of Gallatin and Madison Counties, Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 969-B p. 29-51.
- Cohenour, R. E., 1959, Precambrian rocks of the Uinta-Wasatch Mountain junction and part of central Utah, in Intermountain Association of Petroleum Geologists Tenth Annual Field Conference, p. 34-39.
- Cohenour, R. E., and Thompson, K. C., 1966, Geologic setting of Great Salt Lake, <u>in</u> the Great Salt Lake: Utah Geological Society Guidebook to Geology of Utah, no. 20, p. 35-56.
- Collins, W. H., 1925, North shore of Lake Huron: Canadian Geological Survey Memoir 143.
- Compton, R. R., 1972, Geologic map of the Yost quadrangle, Box Elder County, Utah, and Cassia County, Idaho: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Geological Investigations Map 1-672, scale 1:31,680.
- , 1975, Geologic map of the Park Valley quadrangle, Box Elder County, Utah and Cassia County, Idaho: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Geological Investigations Map 1-873, scale 1:31,680.
- Compton, R. R., and Todd, V. R., 1979, Oligocene and Miocene metamorphism, folding, and low-angle faulting in northwestern Utah: discussion and reply: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 90, p. 307-309.
- Compton, R. R., Todd, V. R., Zartman, R. E., and Naeser, C. W., 1977, Oligocene and Miocene metamorphism, folding, and low-angle faulting in northwestern Utah: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 88, p. 1237-1250.
- Condie, K. C., 1969a, Petrology and geochemistry of the Laramie batholith and related metamorphic rocks of Precambrian age, eastern Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 80, p. 57-82.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969b, Geologic evolution of the Precambrian rocks in northern Utah and adjacent areas: Utah Geological Survey Bulletin, v. 82, p. 71-95.

\_\_\_\_, 1977, The Wyoming Archean Province in the western United States, <u>in</u> Windley, B. F., ed., The early history of the Earth: New York, John Wiley, p. 499-510.

- Condie, K. C., Leech, A. P., and Baadsgaard, H., 1969, Potassium-argon ages of Precambrian mafic dikes in Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 80, p. 899-906.
- Crittenden, M. D., Jr., 1965, Geology of the Draper quadrangle, Utah: U.S. Geological Survey Geological Quadrangle Map GQ-377, scale 1: 24,000.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1979, Oligocene and Miocene metamorphism, folding, and low-angle faulting in northwestern Utah: discussion and reply: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 90, p. 305-309.
- Crittenden, M. D., McKee, E. H., and Peterman, Z. E., 1971, 1.5 billionyear-old rocks in the Willard thrust sheet, Utah: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 3, p. 105-106.
- Crittenden, M. D., Jr., and Wallace, C. A., 1973, Possible equivalents of the Belt Supergroup in Utah, in Belt Symposium, 1973, Volume 1, Moscow, University of Idaho and Idaho Bureau of Mines and Geology, p. 116-138.
- Desborough, G. A., and Sharp, W. N., 1978, Uranium and thorium minerals in Precambrian metaconglomerates, Medicine Bow Mountains, south-central Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Central Minerals Division unpublished report, 3 p.
- Dimroth, E., 1972, The Labrador geosyncline revisited: American Journal of Science, v. 272, p. 487-506.
- Divis, A. F., 1976, Geology and geochemistry of Sierra Madre Range, Wyoming: Colorado School of Mines Quarterly, v. 71, no. 3, 127 p.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1977, Isotopic studies on a Precambrian geochronologic boundary, Sierra Madre Mountains, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 88, p. 96-100.

- Duhling, W. H., Jr., 1971, Precambrian iron formation at Copper Mountain, Fremont County, Wyoming (abst.): 17th Annual Institute of Lake Superior Geology, Technical Sessions, p. 18.
- Duncan, I., 1978, Rb-Sr whole rock evidence for three Precambrian events in the Shuswap Complex, southeast British Columbia (abst.): Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 10, p. 392-393.
- Eardley, A. J., and Hatch, R. A., 1940, Precambrian crystalline rocks of north-central Utah: Journal of Geology, v. 48, p. 58-72.
- Ebbett, B. E., 1956, Structure and petrology of the metasedimentary rocks of the Good Fortune Mining area, Platte County, Wyoming: unpublished M.S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 151 p.
- Engel, A. E. J., 1963, Geologic evolution of North America: Science, v. 140, p. 143-152.

Eskola, P. E., 1949, The problem of mantled gneiss domes: Geological Society of London Quarterly Journal, v. 104, p. 461-476.

- Fairbairn, H. W., Hurley, P. M., Card, K. D., and Knight, C. J., 1969, Correlation of radiometric ages of Nipissing Diabase and Huronian metasediments with Proterozoic orogenic events in Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 6, p. 489-497.
- Fields, E. D., 1963, Precambrian rocks of the Halleck Canyon area, Albany County, Wyoming: unpublished M.S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 91 p.
- Gair, J. E., 1975, Bedrock geology and ore deposits of the Palmer quadrangle, Marquette County, Michigan: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 769, 159 p.
- Gair, J. E., and Thaden, R. E., 1968, Geology of the Marquette and Sands quadrangles, Marquette County, Michigan: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 397, 77 p.
- Gibb, R. A., and Thomas, M. D., 1977, The Thelon Front: a cryptic suture in the Canadian Shield?, Tectonophysics, v. 38, p. 211-222.
- Giletti, B. J., 1966, Isotopic ages from southwestern Montana, Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 71, p. 4029-4036.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971, Discordant isotopic dates and excess argon in biotites: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 10, p. 157-164.
- Giletti, B. J., and Gast, P. W., 1961, Absolute age of Precambrian rocks in Wyoming and Montana, in Geochronology of Rock Systems: Annals of the New York Academy of Science, v. 91, p. 454-458.
- Gliozzi, J., 1967, Petrology and structure of the Precambrian rocks of the Copper Mountain district, Owl Creek Mountains, Fremont County, Wyoming: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Wyoming, 141 p.
- Goldich, S. S., and Hedge, C. E., 1974, 3,800 Myr granitic gneiss in southwestern Minnesota: Nature, v. 252, p. 467-468.
- Goldich, S. S., Lidiak, E. G., Hedge, C. E., and Walthall, F. G., 1966, Geochronology of the midcontinent region, United States - Part 2, northern area: Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 71, p. 5389-5408.
- Goldich, S. S., Nier, A. O., Baadsgaard, H., Hoffman, J. N., and Krueger, H. W., 1961, The Precambrian geology and geochronology of Minnesota: Minnesota Geological Survey Bulletin 41, 193 p.
- Goodwin, A. M., and Ridler, R. H., 1970, The Abitibi orogenic belt: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 70-74, p. 1-30.
- Graff, P. J., 1978, Geology of the lower part of the Early Proterozoic Snowy Range Supergroup, Sierra Madre, Wyoming - with chapters on Proterozoic regional tectonics and uraniferous quartz-pebble conglomerates: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Wyoming, 85 p.

366

- Graff, P. J., 1979, A review of the stratigraphy and uranium potential of Early Proterozoic (Precambrian X) metasediments in the Sierra Madre, Wyoming: Contributions to Geology, v. 17, no. 2, in press.
- Graff, P. J., and Houston, R. S., 1977, Radioactive conglomerate in Proterozoic (Precambrian X) metasedimentary rocks of the Sierra Madre, Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-830, 7 p.
- Granath, J. W., 1975, Wind River Canyon: an example of a greenstone belt in the Archean of Wyoming, U.S.A.: Precambrian Research, v. 2, p. 71-91.
- Granger, A. E., Sharp, B. J., and Calkins, F. C., 1952, Geology of the Wasatch Mountains east of Salt Lake City in Marsell, R. E., ed., Guidebook to the Geology of Utah, no. 8, p. 1-38.
- Hadley, J. B., 1969a, Geologic map of the Cameron quadrangle, Madison County, Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Quadrangle Map GQ-813, scale 1:62,500.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1969b, Geologic map of the Varney quadrangle, Madison County, Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Quadrangle Map, GQ-814, scale 1:62,500.

- Hansen, W. R., 1965, Geology of the Flaming Gorge area Utah Colorado -Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 490, 196 p.
- Hedge, C. E., Houston, R. S., Tweto, O. L., Reid, R. R., Harrison, J. A., and Peterman, Z., 1978, The Precambrian of the Rocky Mountain region, in Lageson, D. R., ed., Occurrences of uranium in Precambrian and younger rocks of Wyoming and adjacent areas: Wyoming Geological Survey Public Information Circular no. 7, p. 17.
- Heimlich, R. A., 1969, Reconnaissance petrology of Precambrian rocks in the Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Contributions to Geology, v. 8, p. 47-61.
- Heimlich, R. A., and Armstrong, R. L., 1972, Variance of Precambrian K-Ar biotite dates, Beghorn Mountains, Wyoming: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 14, p. 75-78.
- Heimlich, R. A., and Banks, P. O., 1968, Radiometric age determinations, Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: American Journal of Science, v. 266, p. 180-192.
- Heinrich, E. W., 1960, Pre-Beltian geology of the Cherry Creek and Ruby Mountain areas, southwestern Montana: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology, Memoir no. 38, 40 p.
- Henderson, G., and Pultertaft, T., 1967, The stratigraphy and structure of the Precambrian rocks of the Umanek area, west Greenland: Dansk Geologisk Forening, Meddelelser, Bd. 17, p. 1-20.
- Hills, F. A., 1977, Uranium and thorium in the Middle Precambrian Estes Conglomerate, Nemo District, Lawrence County, South Dakota--A preliminary report: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-55, 27 p.

- Hills, F. A., 1979, Uranium, thorium, and gold in the lower Proterozoic (?) Estes Conglomerate, Nemo District, Lawrence County, South Dakota: Contributions to Geology, v. 17, no. 2, in press.
- Hills, F. A., and Armstrong, R. L., 1974, Geochronology of Precambrian rocks in the Laramie Range and implications for the tectonic framework of Precambrian southern Wyoming: Precambrian Research, v. 1, p. 213-225.
- Hills, F. A., Gast, P. W., Houston, R. S., and Swainbank, lan, 1968, Precambrian geochronology of the Medicine Bow Mountains of southeastern Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 79, p. 1757-1784.
- Hills, F. A., and Houston, R. S., 1979, Early Proterozoic tectonics of the central Rocky Mountains, North America: Contributions to Geology, v. 17, no. 2, (in press).
- Hills, F. A., Houston, R. S., and Subbarayudu, G. V., 1975, Possible Proterozoic plate boundary in southern Wyoming: Geological Society of America, Rocky Mountain Section, Abstracts with Programs, v. 7, p. 1287.
- Hodge, D. S., 1966, Petrology and structural geometry of Precambrian rocks in the Bluegrass area, Albany County, Wyoming: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Wyoming, 135 p.
- Hoffman, P., 1973, Evolution of an early Proterozoic continental margin: the Coronation geosyncline and associated aulocogens of the northwestern Canadian Shield: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. A273, p. 547-581.
- Holden, G. S., 1978, The Slate Creek metamorphic terrain, Albany County, Wyoming: conditions of metamorphism and mineral equilibria in metapelites: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Wyoming, 95 p.
- Hoppin, R. A., 1961, Precambrian rocks and their relationship to Laramide structure along the east flank of the Bighorn Mountains near Buffalo, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 72, p. 351-367.
- Horner, R. B., and Hasegawa, H. S., 1978, The seismotectonics of southern Saskatchewan: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 15, p. 1341-1355.
- Houston, R. S., 1973, Multilevel sensing as an aid in mineral exploration-iron formation example: Contributions to Geology, v. 12, p. 43-60.
- Houston, R. S., Graff, P. J., Karlstrom, K. E., and Root, F. K., 1977, Preliminary report on radioactive conglomerate of Middle Precambrian age in the Sierra Madre and Medicine Bow Mountains of southeastern Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report, 77-584, 31 p.
- Houston, R. S., Karlstrom, K. E., and Graff, P. J., 1979, Progress report on the study of radioactive quartz-pebble conglomerate of the Medicine Bow and Sierra Madre, southeastern Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report (in press).

- Houston, R. S., and McCallum, M. E., 1961, Mullen Creek-Nash Fork shear zone, Medicine Bow Mountains, southeastern Wyoming (abs.): Geological Society of America Special Paper 68.
- Houston, R. S., and others, 1968, A regional study of rocks of Precambrian age in that part of the Medicine Bow Mountains lying in southeastern Wyoming, with a chapter on The relationship between Precambrian and Laramide structure: Wyoming Geological Survey Memoir no. 1, 167 p.
- Houston, R. S., Schuster, J. E., and Ebbett, B. E., 1975, Preliminary report on the distributions of copper and platinum group metals in mafic igneous rocks of the Sierra Madre, Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report, 75-85, 129 p.
- Hurst, R. W., Bridgwater, D., and Collerson, K. D., 1975, 3600 m.y. Rb-Sr ages from very Early Archean gneisses from Saglek Bay, Labrador: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 27, p. 393-403.
- James, H. L., 1958, Stratigraphy of pre-Keweenawan rocks in parts of northern Michigan: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 314-C, p. 27-44.
- James, H. L., Clark, L. D., Lamey, C. L., and Pettijohn, F. J., 1961, Geology of central Dickinson County, Michigan: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 310, 176 p.
- Johnson, R. C., and Hills, F. A., 1976, Precambrian geochronology and geology of the Box Elder Canyon area, northern Laramie Range, Wyoming, Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 87, p. 809-817.
- Karlstrom, K. E., 1977, Geology of the Deep Lake Group, central Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: unpublished M.S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 116 p.
- Karlstrom, K. E., and Houston, R. S., 1979a, Stratigraphy and uranium potential of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite and Deep Lake Group, Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: Wyoming Geological Survey Report of Investigations, RI-13 (in press).
- , 1979b, Stratigraphy of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite and Deep Lake Group and a review of the Precambrian tectonic history of the Medicine Bow Mountains: Contributions to Geology, v. 17, no. 2, (in press).
- Kent, D. M., and Simpson, F., 1973, Outline of the geology of southern Saskatchewan, in An excursion guide to the geology of Saskatchewan. Edited by F. Simpson: Saskatchewan Geological Society, Special Publication no. 1, p. 103-125.
- King, P. B., 1969, Tectonic map of North America: U.S. Geological Survey map, 1:5,000,000.

- King, P. B., 1974, Geologic map of the United States, exclusive of Alaska and Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey map 1:2,500,000.
- , 1976, Precambrian geology of the United States; an explanatory text to accompany the geologic map of the United States: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 902, 85 p.
- Kleinkopf, M. D., and Redden, J. A., 1975, Bougner gravity, aeromagnetic, and generalized geologic maps of part of the Black Hills of South Dakota and Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Geophysical Investigations Map GP-903.
- Knight, S. H., 1968, Precambrian Stromatolites, bioherms, and reefs in the lower half of the Nash Formation, Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: Contributions to Geology, v. 7, no. 2, p. 73-116.
- Kreary, P., 1976, A regional structural model of the Labrador Trough, northern Quebec, from gravity studies, and its relevance to continent collision in the Precambrian: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 28, p. 371-378.
- Lanthier, L. R., 1978, Stratigraphy and structure of the lower part of the Precambrian Libby Creek Group, central Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: unpublished M.S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 30 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1979, Stratigraphy and structure of the lower part of the Precambrian Libby Creek Group, central Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: Contributions to Geology, v. 17, no. 2 (in press).
- Larsen, W. N., 1957, Petrology and structure of Antelope Island, Davis County, Utah: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Utah.
- Leith, C. K., Lund, R. J., and Leith, A., 1935, Precambrian rocks of the Lake Superior region: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 184, 34 p.
- Lidiak, E. G., 1971, Buried Precambrian rocks of South Dakota: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 82, p. 1411-1420.
- Logan, W. E., and Hunt, T. S., 1855, Esquisse geologique du Canada à l'Exposition Université de Paris (Geological Survey of Canada).
- Lowell, W. R., 1965, Geologic map of the Bannack-Grayling area, Beaverhead County, Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Map 1-433.
- McMannis, W. J., 1955, Geology of the Bridger Range, Montana: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 66, p. 1385-1430.
- McMannis, W. J., and Chadwick, R. A., 1964, Geology of the Garnet Mountain quadrangle: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Bulletin, v. 43, 47 p.

- McThenia, A. W., Jr., 1960, Geology of the Madison River Canyon area north of Ennis, Montana, in Campau, D. E., and Anisgard, H. W., eds., West Yellowstone Earthquake area: Billings Geological Society 11th Annual Field Conference, Billings, Montana, p. 155-164.
- Marsden, R. W., 1972, Cuyuna district, <u>in</u> Sims, P. K., and Morey, G. B., eds., Geology of Minnesota: A centennial volume: Minnesota Geological Survey, p. 227-239.
- Miller, W. R., Houston, R. S., Karlstrom, K. E., Hopkins, D. M., and Ficklin, W. H., 1977, Geological and geochemical investigations of uranium occurrences in the Arrastre Lake area of the Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-92, 30 p.
- Millgate, M. L., 1965, The Haystack Range, Goshen and Platte Counties, Wyoming: Wyoming Geological Survey Preliminary Report no. 5, 9 p.
- Money, P. L., Baer, A. J., Scott, B. P., and Wallace, R. H., 1970, The Wollaston Lake belt, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Northwest Territories, in Baer, A. J., ed., Basins and geosynclines of the Canadian Shield: Canadian Geological Survey Paper 70-40, p. 169-199.
- Moorbath, S., O'Nions, R. K., Pankhurst, R. J., Gale, N. H., and McGregor, V. R., 1972, Further rubidium-strontium determinations on the very early Precambrian rocks of the Godthaab district, West Greenland: Nature Physical Science, v. 240, p. 78-82.
- Mueller, P. A., and Cordua, W. S., 1976, Rb-Sr whole rock age of gneisses from the Horse Creek area, Tobacco Root Mountains, Montana: Isochron West, v. 16, p. 33-36.
- Naylor, R. S., Steiger, R. H., and Wasserburg, G. J., 1970, U-Th-Pb and Rb-Sr systematics in 2700 × 10<sup>9</sup> - year old plutons from the southern Wind River Range, Wyoming: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta v. 34, p. 1133-1159.
- Noble, J. A., Harder, J. O., and Slaughter, A. L., 1949, Structure of a part of the northern Black Hills and the Homestake mine, Lead, South Dakota: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 60, p. 321-352.
- Nunes, P. D., and Tilton, G. R., 1971, Uranium-Lead ages of minerals from the Stillwater Igneous Complex and associated rocks, Montana: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 82, p. 2231-2250.
- Osterwald, F. W., 1955, Petrology of Precambrian granites in the northern Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Journal of Geology, v. 63, p. 310-327.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1959, Structure and petrology of the northern Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Wyoming Geological Survey Bulletin, v. 48, 47 p.

Page, N. J., 1977, Stillwater Complex, Montana: rock succession, metamorphism, and structure of the complex and adjacent rocks: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 999, 79 p.

- Page, N. J., and Nokleberg, W. J., 1974, Geologic map of the Stillwater Complex, Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Investigations Map 1-797, scale 1:12,000.
- Peale, A. C., 1896, Three Forks Folio, Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Geologic Atlas no. 24.
- Peterman, Z. E., and Hedge, C. E., 1968, Chronology of Precambrian events in the Front Range, Colorado: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 5, p. 749-756.
- Peterman, Z. E., Hedge, C. E., and Braddock. W. A., 1968, Age of Precambrian events in the northeastern Front Range, Colorado: Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 73, p. 2277-2296.
- Peterman, Z. E., Hildreth, R. A., and Nkomo, I. T., 1971, Precambrian geology and geochronology of the Granite Mountains, central Wyoming: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 3, p. 403-404.
- Peterman, Z. E., and Hildreth, R. A., 1978, Reconnaissance geology and geochronology of the Precambrian of the Granite Mountains, Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1055, 22 p.
- Pettijohn, F. J., 1943, Archean sedimentation: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 54, p. 925-972.
- Powell, J. L., Skinner, W. R., and Walker, D., 1969, Whole-rock Rb-Sr age of metasedimentary rocks below the Stillwater Complex, Montana: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 80, p. 1605-1612.
- Price, R. A., and Douglas, R. J. W., 1972, Variations in tectonic styles in Canada: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 11, 688 p.
- Price, R. A., and Mountjoy, E. W., 1970, Geologic structure of the Canadian Rocky Mountains between the Bow and Athabasca Rivers -- a progress report: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 6, p. 7-25.
- Ratté, J. C., and Zartman, R. E., 1970, Bear Mountain gneiss dome, Black Hills, South Dakota -- age and structure: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 2, p. 345.
- Reed, J. C., Jr., and Zartman, R. E., 1973, Geochronology of Precambrian rocks of the Teton Range, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 84, p. 561-582.
- Reid, R. R., 1957, Bedrock geology of the north end of the Tobacco Root Mountains, Madison County, Montana: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Memoir no. 36, 27 p.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1963, Metamorphic rocks of the northern Tobacco Root Mountains, Madison County, Montana: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 74, p. 293-305.

- Reid, R. R., McMannis, W. J., and Palmquist, J. C., 1975, Precambrian geology of North Snowy Block, Beartooth Mountains, Montana: Geological Society of America Special Paper no. 157, 135 p.
- Riley, G. H., 1970, Isotopic discrepancies in zoned pegmatites, Black Hills, South Dakota: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 34, p. 713-725.
- Robertson, J. A., 1976, The Blind River uranium deposits: the ores and their setting: Ontario Division of Mines MP 65, 45 p.
- Robertson, J. A., and Card, K. D., 1972, Geology and scenery north shore of Lake Huron region: Ontario Division of Mines and Geology Guidebook no. 4, 224 p.
- Robinson, G. D., 1963, Geology of the Three Forks quadrangle, Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 370, 143 p.
- Roscoe, S. M., 1969, Huronian rocks and uraniferous conglomerates in the Canadian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 68-40, 205 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, The Huronian Supergroup, a Paleoaphebian succession showing evidence of atmospheric evolution, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 31-48.
- Rosholt, J. N., Zartman, R. E., and Nkomo, I. T., 1973, Lead isotope systematics and uranium depletion in the Granite Mountains, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 84, p. 989-1002.
- Ross, C. P., Andrews, D. A., and Witkind, I. J., compilers, 1955, Geologic map of Montana: U.S. Geological Survey, scale 1:500,000.
- Roy, J. L., and Lapointe, P. L., 1976, The paleomagnetism of Huronian red beds and Nipissing Diabase; post-Huronian igneous events and apparent polar path for the interval -2,300 to -1,500 Ma for Laurentia: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 13, p. 749-773.
- Sahinen, U., 1939, Geology and ore deposits of the Rochester and adjacent mining districts, Madison County, Montana: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Memoir, no. 19, 53 p.
- Schmidt, R. G., 1963, Geology and ore deposits of the Cuyuna north range, Minnesota: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 407, 96 p.
- Scholten, R., Keenmon, R. A., and Kupsch, W. O., 1955, Geology of the Lima region, southwestern Montana and adjacent Idaho: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 66, p. 345-404.
- Sims, P. K., 1976, Precambrian tectonics and mineral deposits, Lake Superior region: Economic Geology, v. 71, p. 1092-1118.

- Smith, B. D., 1967, Geology and geophysical investigations of an area of Precambrian rocks, central Laramie Range, Albany County, Wyoming: unpublished M.S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 104 p.
- Smith, W. S. T., and Darton, N. H., 1903, Description of the Hartville quadrangle: U.S. Geological Survey Folio 91, 9 p.
- Snyder, G. L., and Hedge, C. E., 1978, Intrusive rocks northeast of Steamboat Springs, Park Range, Colorado: U.S. Geological Survey, Professional Paper 1041, 42 p.
- Spencer, A. C., 1904, The copper deposits of the Encampment district, Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 25, 107 p.
- Spencer, E. W., and Kozak, S. J., 1975, Precambrian evolution of the Spanish Peaks area, Montana: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 86, p. 785-792.
- Stueber, A. M., and Heimlich, R. A., 1977, Rb-Sr isochron age of the Precambrian basement complex, Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 88, p. 441-444.
- Stueber, A. M., Heimlich, R. A., and Ikkamuddin, M., 1976, Rb-Sr ages of Precambrian mafic dikes, Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 87, p. 909-914.
- Subbarayudu, G. V., and Hills, F. A., 1974, On the age and origin of syenite in the Laramie anorthosite complex, Wyoming: American Geophysical Union Transactions, v. 55, p. 476.
- Sutton, J., 1973, Stages in the evolution of the granitic crust: Geological Society of South Africa Special Publication no. 3, p. 1-6.
- Sylvester, G. H., 1973, Depositional environments of diomictites in the Headquarters Formation, Medicine Bow Mountains, southeastern Wyoming: unpublished M.S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 84 p.
- Tansley, W., Schafer, P. A., and Hart, L. H., 1933, A geological reconnaissance of the Tobacco Root Mountains, Madison County, Montana: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Memoir no. 9, 57 p.
- Tanton, T. L., 1931, Fort William and Port Arthur, and Thunder Cape map areas, Thunder Bay district, Ontario: Canadian Geological Survey Monograph 167, 222 p.
- Thomas, M. D., and Gibb, R. A., 1977, Gravity anomalies and deep structure of the Cape Smith Foldbelt, northern Ungava, Quebec: Geology, v. 5, p. 169-172.
- Thompson, W. D., Jr., 1960, Geology of the northern part of the Cherry Creek Metamorphic rocks, Madison County, Montana, <u>in</u> Campau, D. E., and Anisgard, H. W., eds., West Yellowstone Earthquake area: Billings Geological Society 11th Annual Field Conference, Billings, Montana, p. 135-147.

- Toogood, D. J., 1967, Repeated folding in the Precambrian basement of the Laramie Mountains, Albany and Platte Counties, Wyoming: unpublished M.S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 65 p.
- Van Hise, C. R., 1892, Correlation papers; Archean and Algonkian: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 86, 594 p.
- Van Hise, C. R., and Leith, C. K., 1911, The geology of the Lake Superior region: U.S. Geological Survey Memoir 52.
- Van Schmus, W. R., 1965, The geochronology of the Blind River-Bruce mines area, Ontario, Canada: Journal of Geology, v. 73, p. 755-780.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Early and Middle Proterozoic history of the Great Lakes area, North America: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. A280, p. 605-628.
- Wetherill, G. W., Tilton, G. R., Davis, G. L., and Aldrich, L. T., 1956, New determinations of the age of the Bob Ingersoll pegmatite, Keystone, South Dakota: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 9, p. 292-297.
- Whelan, J. A., compiler, 1970, Radioactive and isotopic age determinations of Utah rocks: Utah Geological and Mineralogical Survey Bulletin, no. 81, 25 p.
- White, D. A., 1954, The stratigraphy and structure of the Mesabi Range, Minnesota: Minnesota Geological Survey Bulletin 38, 92 p.
- Wilson, B. D., 1975, The origin of slaty cleavage and associated structures, Precambrian Lookout schist, Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: unpublished M.S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 83 p.
- Witkind, I. J., 1964, Preliminary geologic map of the Tepee Creek quadrangle, Montana-Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Map 1-417, scale 1: 48,000.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Geology of the Tepee Creek quadrangle, Montana-Wyoming: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 609, 101 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1972, Geologic map of the Henrys Lake quadrangle, Idaho and Montana: U.S. Geological Survey Map 1-781-A, scale 1:62,500.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Geologic map of the southern part of the Upper Red Rock Lake quadrangle, southwestern Montana and adjacent Idaho: U.S. Geological Survey Map I-943, scale 1:62,500.
- Witkind, I. J., Hadley, J. B., and Nelson, N. H., 1959, Pre-Tertiary stratigraphy and structure of the Hebgren Lake area, in The Hebgren Lake, Montana Earthquake of August 17, 1959: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper no. 435, p. 199-208.

- Woodward, L. A., 1970, Time of emplacement of Pinto Diorite, Little Belt Mountains, Montana: Earth Science Bulletin, v. 3, p. 15-26.
- Young, G. M., 1966, Huronian stratigraphy of the MacGregor Bay area, Ontario: relevance to the paleogeography of the Lake Superior region: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 3, p. 203-210.

, 1970, An extensive Early Proterozoic glaciation in North America?: Paleogeography, Paleoclimatology, Paleoecology, v. 7, p. 85-101.

- , 1973, Tillites and aluminous quartzites as possible time markers for Middle Precambrian (Aphebian) rocks of North America; in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian Stratigraphy and Sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 97-127.
- Zartman, R. E., and Stern, T. W., 1967, Isotopic age and geologic relationships of the Little Elk Granite, northern Black Hills, South Dakota: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 575-D, p. D157-D163.

376

PART IV. BIBLIOGRAPHY OF

## PRECAMBRIAN URANIUM-BEARING

FOSSIL PLACERS.

## I. CANADIAN SHIELD

- Abraham, E. M., 1953, Geology of parts of Long and Spragge Townships, Blind River uranium area, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Report, 1953-2, 10 p., and attached map, scale, 1 inch to 1/4 mile.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1956, Townships 149 and 150, District of Algoma, Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Geologic Map p. 1.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957, The North Shore of Lake Huron from Gladstone to Spragge Townships, <u>in</u> The Proterozoic in Canada: Royal Society of Canada, Special Publications no. 2, p. 59-62.
- Ambrose, J. W. and Ferguson, S. A., 1945, Geology and mining properties of part of the west half of Beauchastel Township, Temiskaming County, Quebec: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 45-17.
- Arnold, R. G., 1954, A preliminary account of the mineralogy and genesis of the uraniferous conglomerate of the Blind River Area, Ontario: University of Toronto, unpublished M.A. thesis.
- Ayres, L. D., Lumbers, S. B., Milne, V. G., and Robeson, D. W., 1970, Ontario Geological Map: Ontario Department of Mines Maps 2197 (Southern Sheet), 2198 (East Central Sheet), 2199 (West Central Sheet), 2200 (Northeast Sheet), and 2201 (Northwest Sheet), scale 1 inch to 16 miles.
- Barlow, A. E., Faribault, E. R., and Gwillim, J. C., 1911, Geology and mineral resources of the Chibougamau Region, Quebec: Quebec Department of Mines and Fisheries, Mines Branch, p. 131-133.
- Barlow, R. D., and Ware, C., 1977, Geophysical, geochemical, and geological investigations of some uranium occurrences, Sharbot Lake Area, Southeastern Ontario, <u>in</u>, Summary of Field Work, 1977, Ontario Geological Survey Miscellaneous Paper 75, p. 174-177.
- Barnes, F. Q., and Lalonde, E. J., 1973, Lower Huronian stratigraphy in Hyman and Drury Townships, Sudbury, Ontario, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 147-156.
- Bass, M. N., 1961, Regional tectonics of part of the southern Canadian Shield: Journal of Geology, v. 60, p. 668-702.
- Bateman, J. D., 1955, Recent uranium developments in Ontario: Economic Geology, v. 51, p. 361-372.

- Bell, Robert, 1891, Report on the Sudbury Mining District: Geological Survey of Canada, v. 5, 95 p.
- Bell, R. T., 1968, Study of the Hurwitz Group, District of Keewatin, in Report of Activities, Part A; May to October 1967: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 68-1A, p. 116-120.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Study of the Hurwitz Group in the eastern part of the Rankin Ennadal belt, District of Keewatin (65 H East half), (65 1 East Half): Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 69-1A, p. 147-148.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970a, Preliminary notes on the Hurwitz Group, Padlei map-area, Northwest Territories: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 69-52.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970b, The Hurwitz Group -- a prototype for deposition on metastable cratons: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 70-40, p. 159-168.
- \_\_\_\_, 1971, Geology of Henik Lake (east half) and Ferguson Lake (east half) map-area district of Keewatin: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 70-61, 31 p.
- Bennett, G., 1975, Jarvis Lake Garden Lake Area, District of Algoma in Summary of Field Work, 1975: Ontario Division of Mines, MP63, 158 p.
- Beger, R. M., 1963, Geology of the Pater Mine-Blind River area, Ontario: unpublished M.Sc. thesis, Michigan College of Mining and Technology (now Michigan Technological University) Houghton, Michigan.
- Bergeron, R., 1957, Late Precambrian rocks of the north shore of the St. Lawrence River and of the Mistassini and Otish Mountains area, Quebec, in Gill, J. E. (ed.), The Proterozoic in Canada: Royal Society of Canada Special Publication, no. 2, p. 124-131.
- Bottrill, T. J., 1970, Geology and genesis of uranium deposits in the Huronian and associated geology, Blind River, Sudbury and Gowganda areas, Ontario, <u>in</u> Report of Activities, Part A: April to October, 1969: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 70-1, Pt. A., p. 57-58.
- , 1971, Uraniferous conglomerates of the Canadian Shield, in Report of Activities, Part A: April to October, 1970: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 71-1, Pt. A., p. 77-83.
- Boutcher, S. M., Edhorn, A. S. and Moorhouse, W. W., 1966, Archean conglomerates and lithic sandstones of Lake Timiskaming, Ontario: Proceedings Geological Association of Canada, v. 17, p. 21-42.

- Brown, L. C., 1967, Elliot Lake, the world's uranium capital: Canadian Geographical Journal, October, 1967.
- Bruce, E. L., 1932, Geology of the townships of Janes, McMish, Pardo, and Dana, Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 41, pt. IV, p. 1-28.
- Cannon, W. F., 1970, Plutonic evolution of the Cutler area, Ontario: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 81, p. 81-94.

, 1973, The Penokean Orogeny in northern Michigan, in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 251-271.

- Cannon, W. F. and Gair, J. E., 1970, A revision of stratigraphic nomenclature for Middle Precambrian rocks in northern Michigan: Geological Society of America, Bulletin, v. 81, p. 2843-2846.
- Card, K. D., 1964, Metamorphism in the Agnew Lake area, Sudbury District, Ontario, Canada: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 75, p. 1011-1030.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965a, Hyman and Drury Townships: Ontario Department of Mines, Geological Report 34.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965b, The Croker Island complex: Ontario Department of Mines, Geological Circular 14.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965c, Preliminary map of Merritt Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Map p. 322.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967a, Denison-Waters area, Sudbury District: Ontario Department of Mines, Map 2119.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967b, Preliminary map of Foster Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Map p. 390.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967c, Preliminary map of Mongomin Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Map p. 391.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967d, Preliminary map of Curtis Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Map p. 392.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967e, Bay of Islands sheet (West Half), Bay of Islands~ McGregor Bay area, districts of Sudbury and Manitoulin: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Geologic Map p. 440, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile.

- Card, K. D., 1967f, Bay of Islands sheet (East Half), Bay of Islands-McGregor Bay area, districts of Sudbury and Manitoulin: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Geologic Map p. 441, scale 1 inch to 1 mile.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1967g, McGregor Bay sheet (West Half) Bay of Islands-McGregor Bay area: Ontario Department of Mines Preliminary Geologic Map P. 442.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1968a, Bay of Islands-McGregor Bay area, District of Sudbury, <u>in</u> Pye, E. G., ed., Summary of field work, 1968 by the Geological Branch, Ontario Department of Mines Miscellaneous Paper, v. 22, p. 37-40.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1968b, Geology of Denison -- Waters area: Ontario Department of Mines, Geological Report 60.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1968c, The Mongowin Pluton: Ontario Department of Mines, Miscellaneous Paper 14.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1969a, Geology and geochronology of the southern province of the Canadian shield (abst.): Geological Society of America Abstract, 1969, p. 6-7.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1969b, Operation Maple Mountain Districts of Sudbury and Timiskaming, in Pye, E. G., ed., Summary of field work, 1969 by the Geological Branch: Ontario Department of Mines Miscellaneous Paper, v. 32, p. 38-41.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1969c, Sudbury Mining area: Ontario Department of Mines, coloured geological map, Map 2170, 1 inch to 1 mile.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1969d, Geology of the McGregor Bay-Bay of Islands area, Districts of Sudbury and Manitoulin: Ontario Department of Mines Open File Report, no. 5038.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1971a, Panache Lake area (West part) Districts of Sudbury and Manitoulin: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Map p. 668, 1 inch to 1 mile.
    - \_\_\_\_,1971b, Panache Lake area (East part) Districts of Sudbury and Manitoulin: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Map p. 669, 1 inch to 1 mile.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1974, Precambrian igneous rocks of the North Shore of Lake Huron region: Institute on Lake Superior Geology Abstract and field guides, no. 20, p. 68-93.

- Card, K. D., 1976a, Geology of the Espanola-Whitefish Falls Area, District of Sudbury, Ontario: Ontario Division of Mines GR131, 70 p. Accompanied\_by/maps 2311, 2312, scale 1 inch to 1/2 mile (1:31,680) and 2 charts.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976b, Geology of the McGregor Bay-Bay of Islands area, districts of Sudbury and Manitoulin: Ontario Division of Mines, Geoscience Report, no. 138, 63 p.
- Card, K. D., Church, W. R., Franklin, J. M., Frarey, M. J., Robertson, J. A., West, G. F., and Young, G. M., 1972, The southern province, <u>in Price, R. A., and Douglas, R. J. W., eds., Variations in tectonic styles in Canada: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper no. 11, p. 335-380.</u>
- Card, K. D., and Hutchinson, R. W., 1972, The Sudbury structure, its regional setting, in New developments in Sudbury geology: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper, no. 10, p. 67-78.
- Card, K. D., and Lumbers, S. B., 1976, Evolution of Middle Precambrian supracrustal sequences of the Southern and Grenville Provinces, Great Lakes Region (abstract): Geological Association of Canada, 1976 annual meeting programs with abstracts, v. 1, p. 62.
- Card, K. D., McIlwaine, W. H., and Meyn, H. D., 1970, Operation Maple Mountain, Districts of Temiskaming, Nipissing, and Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines Open File Report no. 5050, 275 p.
- Card, K. D., Mcllwaine, W. H., and Meyn, H. D., 1973, Geology of the Maple Mountain area of Timiskaming, Nipissing, and Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines, Geologic Report, no. 106, 133 p.
- Card, K. D., Palonen, P., and Fox, J., 1968a, McGregor Bay sheet (West Half), (revised edition), Bay of Islands-McGregor Bay area, Districts of Sudbury and Manitoulin: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Geologic Map No. P. 442, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968b, McGregor Bay sheet (East Half), (revised edition), Bay of Islands-McGregor Bay area, Districts of Sudbury and Manitoulin: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Geologic Map No. p. 443, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile.
- Card, K. D., Palonen, P. A., and Siemiatkowska, K. M., 1975, Geology of the Louise-Eden area, District of Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs Geologic Report, 124, 66 p., accompanied by Map 2299.
- Card, K. D., and Pattison, E. F., 1973, Nipissing diabase of the southern province, Ontario, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 7-30.

- Card, K. D., and Robertson, J. A., 1972, General geology of the Sudbury-Elliot Lake Region: 24th International Geologic Congress, Field Excursion, C. 38.
- Casshyap, S. M., 1966, Sedimentary petrology and stratigraphy of the Huronian rocks south of Espanola, Ontario: unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, 232 p.

\_\_\_\_, 1968, Huronian stratigraphy and paleocurrent analysis in the Espanola-Willisville area, Sudbury District, Ontario, Canada: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 38, p. 920-942.

- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Petrology of the Bruce and Gowganda Formations and its bearing on the evolution of Huronian sedimentation in the Espanola-Willisville area, Ontario, Canada: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 6, p. 5-36.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971, Petrology and sedimentation of Huronian arenites, south of Espanola, Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 8. p. 20-49.
- Chandler, F. W., 1969, Geology of the Huronian rocks, Harrow Township area, Ontario: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970a, McMahon and Morin Townships, District of Algoma; <u>in</u> Pye, E. G., (ed.), Summary of field work, 1970; Geological Branch: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs, MP43, p. 41-44.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970b, McMahon Township, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs, Preliminary Geologic Map P. 620.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970c, Morin Township, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs Preliminary Geologic Map P. 621.
- , 1973a, Clastic dykes at Whitefish Falls, Ontario and the base of the Huronian Gowganda Formation, in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada. Special Paper no. 12, p. 199-210.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1973b, Geology of McMahon and Morin Townships, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines Geologic Report no. 112, 71 p.

- Chandler, F. W., 1975, Lower Huronian sandstones: correlation problems and uranium: Morin Township area, Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 12, p. 237-251.
- Chandler, F. W., Young, G. M., and Wood, J., 1969, Diaspore in early Proterozoic quartzite (Lorrain Formation) of Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 6, p. 337-340.

Chown, E. H., 1960a, Shigami Mountain area: Quebec Department of Natural Resources; Preliminary Report 440.

\_\_\_\_, 1960b, Papachouesati River area: Quebec Department of Natural Resources; Preliminary Report 415.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1964, Boivin Lake area: Quebec Department of Natural Resources; Preliminary Report 520.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1965, East Peribonca River area: Quebec Department of Natural Resources; Preliminary Report 535.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1970, Geology of the Pluto Lake area: Quebec Department of Natural Resources Preliminary Report no. 584, 24 p.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1971, Geology of the Savane River area: Quebec Department of Natural Resources, Geologic Report no. 146.

- Chown, E. H., and Caty, J. L., 1973, Stratigraphy, petrology, and paleocurrent analysis of the Aphebian clastic formation of the Mistassini-Otish Basin, in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 49-72.
- Church, W. R., 1967, The occurrence of kyanite, andalusite, and kaolinite in Lower Proterozoic (Huronian) rocks of Ontario (abstract): Geological Association of Canada Technical Program Abstract, Kingston 1967, p. 14-15.
- Church, W. R., 1968, The Penokean and Hudsonian Orogenies in the Great Lakes region and the age of the Grenville Front (abstract): 14th Annual Institute on Lake Superior Geology, Superior, Wisconsin, p. 16-18.
- Church, W. R., and Young, G. M., 1970, Discussion of the Progress Report of the Federal-Provincial Committee on Huronian Stratigraphy: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 7, p. 912-918.
- Claveau, Jacques, 1949, Wakeham Lake Area Saguenay County: Quebec Department of Mines, Geologic Report 37.
- Cimm, 1957, Mining, metallurgy, and geology in the Algoma Uranium area: Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (Published for the Sixth Commonwealth Mining and Metallurgical Congress, 1957).
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958, Geology of the Algoma uranium district; (prepared for the field tour of the Geology Division, Sept. 12-13, 1958): Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Special Publication, 22 p.

Coleman, A. P., 1907, A lower Huronian ice age: American Journal of Science, v. 23, p. 187-192.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1914, The pre-Cambrian rocks north of Lake Huron: Ontario Bureau of Mines, Annual Report, v. 23, Pt. 1, p. 204-236.

, 1926, Ice ages recent and ancient: The Macmillan Co., New York.

- Collins, W. H., 1914, The Huronian formations of Timiskaming region: Canadian Department of Mines, Geological Survey of Canada, Bulletin no. 18.
- , 1917a, Onaping Map-area: Geological Survey of Canada, Memoir 95.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1917b, The north shore of Lake Huron, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada Summary Report, Pt. E, p. 6-16, 1917.
- , 1925, North shore of Lake Huron: Geological Survey of Canada, Memoir 143, 160 p., Accompanied by Maps 1969, 1970, and 1971, scale 1 inch to 2 miles.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1935, Lake Huron sheet, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada, Map 155A, scale 1 inch to 8 miles. Third Edition.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1936, The Sudbury Series: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 47, p. 1675-1689.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1937, Temiskaming sub-province: Geological Society of America, Bulletin, v. 48, p. 1427-1458.
- Collins, C. B., Lang, A. H., Robinson, S. C. and Farquhar, R. M., 1952, Age determinations for some uranium deposits in the Canadian Shield: Proceedings Geological Association of Canada, v. 5, p. 15-41.
- Cooke, H. C., 1922, Opasatika map-area. Temiskaming Country, Quebec: Geological Survey of Canada Summary Report. Pt. D.
- Cook, H. C., James, W. F. and Mawdsley, D. B., 1931, Geology and ore deposits of the Rouyn-Harricanaw region, Quebec: Geological Survey of Canada Memoir 166, 314 p.
- Cooke, H. C., 1933, Land and sea on the Canadian Shield in Precambrian time: American Journal of Science, v. 26, p. 428-441, 457-474.
- Cooper, G. E., 1957, Johan Beetz Area: Quebec Department of Mines, Geological Report no. 74.
- Darnley, A. G., Cameron, E. M., and Richardson, K. A., 1975, The federalprovincial uranium reconnaissance program: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 75-26, p. 49-63.

- Darnley, A. G., and Grasty, R. L., 1971, Airborne radiometric survey of the Elliot Lake area: Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 75.
- Davidson, A., 1970, Kaminak Lake (55L) map-area, District of Kerwatin: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 69-51.
- Davidson, C. F., 1960, The mineralized conglomerates of Blind River: Economic Geology, v. 55, p. 1561-1565.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1965, The mode of origin of banket ore bodies: Transactions of the Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, (London), v. 74, p. 319-338.

Derry, D. R., 1960, Evidence of the origin of the Blind River uranium deposits: Economic Geology, v. 55, p. 906-927.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1961, Economic aspects of Archean-Proterozoic boundaries: Economic Geology, v. 56, p. 635-647.

- Dimroth, E., Otelnuk Lake area: Quebec Department of Natural Resources, P.R. 532.
- Dimroth, E., and Kimberley, M. M., 1976, Precambrian atmospheric oxygen: evidence in the sedimentary distributions of carbon, sulfur, uranium, and iron: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 13, p. 1161-1185.
- Donaldson, J. A., 1967, Precambrian veriform structures: a new interpretation: Canadian Journal Earth Science, v. 4, p. 1273-1276.
- Douglas, R. J. W., ed., 1970, Geology and economic minerals of Canada: Geological Survey of Canada Economic Geology Report no. 1, fifth edition, 838 p.
- Duquette, G., 1964, Northwest quarter of Roy Township: Quebec Department of Natural Resources, Preliminary Report 513, p. 9.
- Eade, K. E., 1964, Preliminary report, Kognak River map-area (east half), District of Keewatin: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 64-27.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1966a, Fort George River and Kaniapiskau River (west half) mapareas, New Quebec: Geological Survey of Canada, Memoir 339.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1966b, Kognak River (west half) District of Keewatin: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 65-8.

Eisbacher, G. H., 1969, Regional structural study in the Elliot Lake area, Ontario (41J/7): Geological Survey of Canada Paper 69-1, Pt. A, p. 158-161.

- Eisbacher, G. H., 1970, Contemporaneous faulting and clastic intrusions in the Quirke Lake Group, Elliot Lake: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 7, p. 215-225.
- \_\_\_\_\_, Contemporaneous faulting and clastic intrusions in the Quirke Lake Group, Elliot Lake, Ontario: Reply; Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 8, p. 308.
- Eisbacher, G. H., and Bielenstein, H. U., 1969, The Flack Lake depression, Elliot Lake area, Ontario (41J/10): Geological Survey of Canada Paper 69-1, Pt. B, p. 58-60.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970, Interpretation of elastic-strain-recovery measurements near Elliot Lake, Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 7, p. 576-578.
- Ellsworth, H. V., 1928, Thucholite and uraninite from the Wallingford Mine, near Buckingham, Quebec: American Mineralogist, v. 13, p. 442-448.
- Emmons, R. C., 1927, Wakomata Lake map-area, Algoma Distrist, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada Summary Report 1926, Pt. C, p. 1C-15C.
- Energy, Mines, and Resources Canada, 1977, 1976 assessment of Canada's uranium supply and demand, Report EP 77-3.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1978, Canada Mineral Survey 1977. Mineral Policy Sector, Energy Mines and Resources, Ottawa.

- Fahrig, W. F., 1957, Geology of certain Proterozoic rocks in Quebec and Labrador, in the Proterozoic of Canada: Royal Society of Canada, Special Publication no. 2, p. 112-123.
- Fairbairn, H. W., 1939, Geology of the Ashigami Lake area: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 48, Pt. 10, p. 1-15.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1941a, Relation of the Sudbury Series to the Bruce Series in the vicinity of Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines, Report 50, Pt. 6, p. 1-13.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1941b, The Bruce Series in Falconbridge and Dryden Townships: Ontario Department of Mines, Report 50, Pt. 6, p. 14-17.

, 1965, Re-examination of Rb-Sr whole rock ages at Sudbury - Blind River, Ontario: Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Department of Geology and Geophysics, 13th Annual Report, 1381-13, p. 107.

Fairbairn, H. W., Hurley, P. M., Card, K. D. and Knight, D. J., 1969, Correlation of radiometric ages of Nipissing Diabase and Huronian metasediments with Proterozoic orogenic events in Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 6, p. 489-497.

- Fairbairn, H. W., Hurley, P. M. and Pinson, W. H., 1960, Rock and mineral ages at Sudbury-Blind River, Ontario: Proceedings Geological Association of Canada, v. 12, p. 41-66.
- , 1965, Re-examination of Rb-Sr whole rock ages at Sudbury-Blind River Ontario: MIT-1381-13; 13th Annual Progress Report; Department of Geology and Geophysics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, p. 107.
- , 1966, Preliminary report on Rb-Sr age of Sudbury Basin rocks: M.I.T.-1381-14, 14th Annual Progress Report for 1966, United States Atomic Energy Commission; Department of Geology and Geophysics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, p. 145-147.
- Ferris, C. S., and Rudd, C. O., 1971, Brannerite: its occurrences and recognition by microprobe: Quarterly Journal of Colorado School of Mines, v. 66, no. 4.
- Frarey, M. J., 1959, Geology, Echo Lake District of Algoma, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada Map 23-1959.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961a, Dean Lake, District of Algoma: Geological Survey of Canada Map 5-1969, 1 inch to 1 mile.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961b, Wakwekobi Lake, District of Algoma: Geological Survey of Canada Map 6-1961, 1 inch to 1 mile.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1962a, Bruce Mines, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada Map 32-1962, 1 inch to 1 mile.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1962b, Lake George, District of Algoma: Geological Survey of Canada Map 33-1962, 1 inch to 1 mile.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966, Lake Panache-Collins Inlet: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 66-1, p. 152-153.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967, Three new Huronian formational names: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 67-6, 3 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971, Huronian rocks north of Lake Huron: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 71-1, Pt. A, p. 128-133.
- Frarey, M. J., and Cannon, R. T., 1969, Notes to accompany a map of the geology of the Proterozoic Rocks of Lake Panache Collins Inlet map areas, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 68-63.
- Frarey, M. J., and Roscoe, S. M., 1970, The Huronian Supergroup north of Lake Huron, in Baer, A. J., Symposium on basins and geosynclines of the Canadian Shield, Geological Survey of Canada Paper 70-40, p. 143-157.

- Fraser, J. A. and Tremblay, L. P., 1969, Correlation of Proterozoic strata in the northwestern Canadian Shield: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 6, p. 1-9.
- Friedman, G. M., 1959, On the uranium-thorium ratio in the Blind River, Ontario, uranium-bearing conglomerate: Economic Geology, v. 53, p. 889-890.
- Fryer, B. J., 1971, Age determinations and correlations in the Circum-Ungava Geosyncline, in Variations in isotopic abundances of strontiam, calcium, and argon and related topics: 19th Annual Progress Report for 1971, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, p. 76-85.
- Giblin, P. E., and Leahy, E. J., 1967a, Sault Ste. Marie-Elliot Lake, Algoma, Manitoulin, and Sudbury Districts: Ontario Department of Mines Geologic Compilation Series Map 2108.
- \_\_\_\_\_\_, 1967b, Blind River-Elliot Lake sheet Districts of Algoma and Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines, geological compilation series, Preliminary Geologic Map P. 304, scale 1 inch to 2 miles. Geological compilation 1964-1965, issued 1965, reissued with corrections and additions 1967.
- Gilboy, C. F., 1975, Project 8: Foster Lake area, <u>in</u> Summary of Investigations, 1975: Saskatchewan Department of Mineral Resources.
- Ginn, R. M., 1958, Preliminary geological map of Nairn and Lorne townships, District of Sudbury, Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines Map P48.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1960, The relationship of the Bruce Series to the granites in the Espanola area: University of Toronto, unpublished Ph.D. thesis.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961, Geology of Porter Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Geologic Report 5.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965, Geology of Nairn and Lorne Townships, Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines, Geologic Report 35.
- Goldich, S., Nier, A. O., Baadsgaard H., Hoffman, J. H., and Krueger,
  H. W., 1961, The Precambrian geology and geochronology of Minnesota:
  Minnesota Geological Survey Bulletin 41.
- Goodwin, A. M., ed., 1966, Precambrian symposium the relationship of mineralization to Precambrian stratigraphy in certain mining areas of Ontario and Quebec: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 3.
- , 1970, Metallogenic evolution of the Canadian Shield, in Douglas, R. J. W., ed., Geology and economic minerals of Canada: Geological Survey of Canada Geologic Report no. 1, p. 156-162.

- Goodwin, A. M., Ambrose, J. W., Ayers, L. D., Clifford, P. M., Currie, K. L., Ermanovics, I. M., Fahrig, W. F., Gibb, R. A., Hall, D. H., Innes, M. J. S., Irvine, T. N., MacLaren, A. S., Norris, A. W., and Pettijohn, F. J., 1972, The Superior Province, <u>in</u> Price, R. A., and Douglas, R. J. W., Variations in tectonic styles in Canada: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 11, p. 527-624.
- Goodwin, A. M., and Douglas, R. J. W., eds., 1972, Variations in tectonic styles in Canada: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 11, 688 p.
- Grant, J. A., Pearson, W. J., Phemister, T. C. and Thomson, Jas. E., 1962, Broder, Dill Neelon, and Dryden Townships: Ontario Department of Mines Report no. 9, 24 p.
- Griffith, J. W. and Roscoe, S. M., 1964, Canadian resources of uranium and thorium: Canadian Department of Mines Mineral Information Bulletin MR 77.
- Guy-Bray, J. V., 1972, New developments in Sudbury geology: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 10.
- Hadley, D. G., 1968, Sedimentology of the Huronian Lorrain Formation, Ontario and Quebec, Canada: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland, 301 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Depositional framework of the jasper-bearing conglomerate in the Lorrain Formation, Ontario, Canada (abstract): Geological Society of America Abstract 82nd Annual Meeting, Atlantic City, New Jersey, p. 87-88.
- Hamblin, W. K., 1961, Paleogeographic evolution of the Lake Superior region from Late Keweenawan to Lake Cambrian time: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 72, p. 1-18.
- Harding, W. D., 1939, Geology of the Flack Lake area: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 48, Pt. 11, 12 p., accompanied by Map 48K.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1950, Preliminary report on the geology along the Mississagi road: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Report 1950-6.

- Hart, R. C., Harper, H. G., and Algom Field Staff, 1955, Uranium deposits of the Quirke Lake Trough, Algoma District, Ontario: Transactions Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy v. 48, p. 260-265.
- Hawley, J. E., 1952, Spectrographic studies of pyrite in some eastern Canadian gold mines: Economic Geology, v. 47, p. 260-304.

- Hawley, J. E., and Nichol, J., 1961, Trace elements in pyrite, pyrrhotite, and chalcopyrite of different ores: Economic Geology, v. 56, p. 467-487.
- Hay, R. E., 1961, Sault Ste. Marie, District of Algoma: Geological Survey of Canada, Map 26-1961.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1963, The geology of the Sault Ste. Marie Map area: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, McGill University.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964, Sault Ste. Marie-lle Parisienne, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada, Map 1181.
- Hewitt, D. F., 1967, Uranium and thorium deposits of Southern Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines and Mineral Resources, Circular 4.
- Heywood, W. W. and Roscoe, S. M., 1967, Pyritic quartz-pebble conglomerate in the Hurwitz Group, District of Keewatin: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 67-1 Part A.
- Hoffmann, H. J., 1967, Precambrian fossils(?) near Elliot Lake, Ontario: Science, v. 156, p. 500-504.
- Holmes, S. W., 1956a, The Pronto Mine-geology: Western Mines and Oil Review, v. 29, no. 7.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1956b, The Algom Mines-geology: Western Mines and Oil Review, v. 29, no. 7, p. 66-68.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1956c, Geology and mineralogy of the Pronto uranium deposit, district of Algoma, Ontario, Canada (abstract): Economic Geology, v. 51, p. 116.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957a, <u>in Mining</u>, Metallurgy and Geology in the Algoma Uranium area, Brochure prepared for 6th Commonwealth Mining and Metallurgy Congress, p. 21.
- , 1957b, Pronto Mine, in Structural geology of Canadian ore deposits, Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy: Special Paper v. 2, p. 324-339.
- Hughson, M. R., 1959, Identification of radioactive minerals in some hand specimens from Pronto Uranium Mines Limited, Algoma Mills, Ontario: Mines Branch Investigation report I. R. 59-107, Canada Department of Mines and Technology, December 8, 1959, 10 p., Unpublished.
- Irving, R. D., 1887, Is there a Huronian group?: American Journal of Science, 3rd Series, v. 34.

- Jackson, G. D., and Taylor, F. C., 1972, Correlation of major Aphebian rock units in the Northern Canadian Shield: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 9, p. 1650-1669.
- James, D. H. and Joubin, F. R., 1956, The Algoma District: Canadian Mining Journal, v. 77.
- James, H. L., 1958, Stratigraphy of pre-Keweenawan rocks in parts of northern Michigan: United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 314C.
- Joubin, F. R., 1954, Uranium deposits of the Algoma District, Ontario: Canadian Institute of Mining Transactions, v. 57, p. 431-437.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957, Algoma uranium district <u>in</u> Structural geology of Canadian ore deposits, Canadian Institute of Mining, Special vol. no. 2, p. 305-317.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1960, Comments regarding the Blind River (Algoma) uranium ores and their origin: Economic Geology, v. 55, p. 1751-1756.

- Joubin, F. R., and James, D. H., 1956, The Algoma District: Canadian Mining Journal, v. 77, p. 84-86 and 156.
- Kaiman, S., and Horwood, J., 1976, An unusual "thucholite" from Elliot Lake, Ontario: Paper presented at the Geological Association of Canada Annual Meeting, Edmonton, May 19-21.
- Kanasawich, E. R., and Farquhar, R. M., 1965, Lead isotope ratio from the Cobalt Noranda area: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 2, no. 4, p. 361-384.
- Kesten, S. N., 1950, Radioactive occurrences Sault Ste. Marie area: Canadian Mining Journal, v. 71, p. 46-53.
- Killeen, P. G., and Carmichael, C. M., 1972, Experimental survey with a portable gamma-ray spectrometer, Blind River area, Ontario: a case history with discussion, in Uranium prospecting handbook, p. 306-311, London, Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.
- Kimberley, M. M., ed., 1978a, Short course in uranium deposits: their mineralogy and origin: Mineralogical Association of Canada, Toronto, Ontario, 521 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1978b, Origin of stratiform uranium deposits in sandstone, conglomerate, and pyroclastic rock, <u>in</u> Kimberley, M. M., ed., Short course in uranium deposits: their mineralogy and origin: Mineralogical Association of Canada, Toronto, Ontario, p. 339-382.

- Kindle, L. F., 1932, Moose Mountain-Wanapitei area: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 41, p. 29-49, accompanied by map 41e.
- Knight, C. J., 1963, The geology of Pater Mine: unpublished B. A. Science, thesis, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965, A petrographic study of the Spragge Group and discussion of its correlation with the Sudbury Series: unpublished M. A. Science thesis, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966, A study of Rb-Sr whole-rock ages of volcanics on the north shore of Lake Huron, Ontario, Canada: MIT-1381-4, 14th Annual Progress Report for 1966 United States Atomic Energy Commission; Department of Geology and Geophysics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, p. 129-139.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967, Rubidium-Strontium isochron ages of volcanic rocks on the north shore of Lake Huron, Ontario, Canada: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of Toronto.
- Knight, C. W., 1915, The North shore of Lake Huron: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 24, p. 216-41.
- Koster, F. and Baadsgaard, H., 1970, On the geology and geochronology of northwestern Saskatchewan, 1. Tazin Lake region: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 7, p. 919-930.
- Lang, A. H., 1952, Canadian deposits of uranium and thorium: Geological Survey of Canada Economic Geology Series no. 16.
- Lang, A. H., Griffith, J. W. and Steacy, H. R., 1962, Canadian deposits of uranium and thorium: Geological Survey of Canada Economic Geology Series no. 16, 2nd ed.
- Leahy, E. J., 1973, Diamond drilling in the Huronian Supergroup, Sault Ste. Marie - Elliot Lake area, Algoma District, Ontario: Ontario Division of Mines, Open - File Report 5093 with Map p. 753.
- Leith, C. K., Lund, R. J. and Leith, A., 1935, Precambrian rocks of the Lake Superior region: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 184, 34 p.
- Lindsay, J. F., Summerson, C. H., and Barrett, P. J., 1970, A long-axis clast fabric comparison of the Squantum "tillite", Massachusetts and the Gowganda Formation, Ontario: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 40, p. 475-479.
- Lindsey, D. A., 1966, Sediment transport in a Precambrian ice age: The Huronian Gowganda Formation: Science, v. 154, p. 1442-1443.

- Lindsey, D. A., 1967, The sedimentology of the Huronian Gowganda Formation, Ontario, Canada: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland, 296 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Glacial sedimentology of the Precambrian Gowganda Formation, Ontario, Canada: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 80, p. 1685-1701.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971, Glacial marine sediments in the Precambrian Gowganda Formation at Whitefish Falls, Ontario (Canada): Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 9, p. 7-25.
- Little, H. W., 1974, Uranium deposits in Canada -- their exploration, reserves, and potential: Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Bulletin, March 1, 1974, v. 67, no. 743.
- Little, H. W., Smith, E. E. N., and Barnes, F. Q., 1972, Uranium deposits of Canada: Excursion C67, International Geological Congress Guidebook.
- Logan, Sir Wm. E., 1863, Geology of Canada: Montreal, Dawson Bros., 983 p.
- Long, D. G. F., 1974, Glacial and paraglacial genesis of conglomeratic rocks of the Chibougamau Formation (Aphebian), Chibougamau, Quebec: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 11, p. 1236-1253.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, Revision of Huronian stratigraphy: the Mississagi-Bruce and Serpent-Gowganda boundary problems (abstract): Geological Society of America, Abstracts with Programs, v. 7, p. 810.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, The stratigraphy and sedimentology of the Huronian (lower Aphebian) Mississagi and Serpent Formations: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of Western Ontario, 291 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1977, Resedimented conglomerates of Huronian (lower Aphebian age) age, from the north shore of Lake Huron, Ontario, Canada: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 14, p. 2495-2509.
- , 1978, Depositional environments of a thick Proterozoic sandstone: the (Huronian) Mississagi Formation of Ontario, Canada: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 15, p. 190-206.
- Lord, C. S., 1953, Geologic notes on southern District of Keewatin, Northwest Territories: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 53-22.
- Lowdon, J. A., comp., 1962, Age determinations and geological studies, 1962, Part 1, Isotopic ages, Report 3: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 62-17.
  - \_\_\_\_, 1963, Age determination and geological studies, 1963, Part 1, Isotopic ages, Report 4: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 63-17.
- Lumbers, S. B., 1971, Tomiko area (west half) District of Nipissing: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs Preliminary Map p. 678.

- Lumbers, S. B., 1971b, Geology of the North Bay area, Districts of Nipissing and Perry Sound: Ontario Department of Mines Geologic Report 94, 104 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, Geology of the Berwash area, Districts of Nipissing, Perry Sound, and Sudbury: Ontario Division of Mines Geologic Report 116, 160 p., accompanied by Map 2271.
- McConnell, R. G., 1905, Report on the Klondike gold fields: Geological Survey of Canada Annual Report (New Series), v. 14, Pt. B, p. 1-71.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1926, Sault Ste. Marie area, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 35.
- McDowell, J. P., 1957, The sedimentary petrology of the Mississagi Quartzite in the Blind River area: Ontario Department of Mines, GC6, 31 p. Accompanied by 3 figures.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1963, A paleocurrent study of the Mississagi Quartzite along the north shore of Lake Huron: unpublished Ph. D. Thesis, The Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland.
- McGlynn, J. C., 1970, The geology of the Canadian Shield, in Douglas, R. J., ed., Geology and economic minerals of Canada, Geological Survey of Canada, Economic Geology Report, 1.
- Mcllwaine, W. H., 1971, Geology of Leith, Charters, and Corkill Townships, District of Timiskaming: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs Geologic Report 89, 53 p.
- McMillan, R. H., 1977, Metallogenesis of Canadian uranium deposits: a review in Geology, mining and extractive processing of uranium: Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy symposium, p. 43-55.
- , 1978, Genetic aspects and classification of important Canadian uranium deposits, in Kimberley, M. M., ed., Short course in uranium deposits: their mineralogy and origin: Mineralogical Association of Canada, Toronto, Ontario, p. 187-204.
- Mackie, Wm., 1920, The principles that regulate the distribution of particles of heavy minerals in sedimentary rocks, as illustrated by the sandstones of northeast of Scotland: Edinburgh Geological Society, v. 11, p. 138-164.
- Mair, J. A., Maynes, A. D., Patchett, J. E. and Russell, R. D., 1960, Isotopic evidence on the origin and age of the Blind River uranium deposits: Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 65, no. 1.

- Martindale, R. D., 1968, The concentration and distribution of gold in the uraniferous conglomerates of Elliot Lake: unpublished M. S. thesis, McMaster University.
- Masterman, P. C., 1960, Geology of the non-conglomeratic ores, Pronto Mine: unpublished report to Pronto Division, Rio Algom Mines Ltd.
- Mathieu, A., 1966, Northeast quarter of Roy Township: Quebec Department of Natural Resources, Preliminary Report no. 553.
- Mawdsley, J. B. and Norman, G. W., 1935, Chibougamau Lake map-area, Quebec: Geological Survey of Canada, Memoir 185, 95p.
- Meyn, H. D., 1970, Geology of Hutton and Parkin Townships: Ontario Department of Mines Geologic Report 80, 78 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971a, Geology of Roberts, Creelman and Fraleck Townships, District of Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs Geologic Report 91, 48 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971b, Geology of Sweeney, Beaumont and Beresford Townships, District of Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs Open File Report 5058.

, 1972, Geology of Grigg and Stobie Townships, District of Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs, Geologic Report 100.

- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, The Proterozoic sedimentary rocks north and northeast of Sudbury, Ontario, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 129-145.
- Miller, Willet G. and Knight, Cyril W., 1913, Correlation of the Precambrian rocks of Ontario, western Quebec and southeastern Manitoba: Appendix in Precambrian geology of southeastern Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 22, Pt. 2, p. 123-138.

\_\_\_\_, 1914, The Precambrian geology of southeastern Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines Annual Report, v. 22, no. 2.

\_\_\_\_, 1915, Revision of Pre-Cambrian classification in Ontario: Journal of Geology, v. 23, p. 585-599.

Milne, J. C., 1958, The non-radioactive heavy minerals of the Mississagi Conglomerate, Blind River, Ontario: unpublished M. A. thesis, University of Toronto.
- Money, P. L., 1968, The Wollaston Lake fold-belt system, Saskatchewan-Manitoba: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 5, p. 1489-1505.
- Money, P. L., Baer, A. J., Scott, B. P., and Wallace, R. H., 1970, The Wallaston Lake belt, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Northwest Territories, <u>in</u> Baer, A. J., ed., Symposium on basins and geosynclines of the Canadian Shield: Canadian Geological Survey Paper 70-40, p. 169-199.
- Moore, E. S., 1925, Mississagi Reserve and Goulais River Iron Ranges, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 34, Pt. 4, p. 1-33.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1926, Batchewana area, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 35, Pt. 2.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1929, Ore deposits near the North Shore of Lake Huron: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 38, Pt. 7, p. 151.
- Moore, E. S. and Armstrong, H. S., 1943, Geology of the East Bull Lake area: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 52, Pt. 6.
- Moorhouse, W. W., 1957, The Proterozoic of the Port Arthur and Lake Nipigon regions, Ontario: Royal Society of Canada Special Publication no. 4, p. 67-76.
- Morey, G. B., 1973, Stratigraphic framework of Middle Precambrian rocks in Minnesota, in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 211-250.
- Morris, W. A., 1977, Paleomagnetism of the Gowganda and Chibougamau Formations. Evidence for 2200 - m.y.-old folding and remagnetization event of the Southern Province: Geology, v. 5, p. 137-140.
- Murray, Alexander, 1849, On the north coast of Lake Huron: Geological Survey of Canada Report of Progress p. 93-124.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1850, Geological Survey of Canada Report Progress, p. 7-46.

, 1859, Geological Survey of Canada Report Progress, p. 67-104.

- Nielson, J. M., 1951, Takwa River area, Quebec: Quebec Department of Mines, Preliminary Report 254-1951.
- Nuffield, E. W., 1954, Brannerite from Ontario, Canada: American Mineralogist, v. 39, p. 520-522.

- Nuffield, E. W., 1955, Geology of the Montreal River Area: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 64, Pt. 3, p. 1-30. Accompanied by Map 1955-1, scale 1 inch to 1/2 mile.
- Ontario Department of Mines, 1923, Report of the Ontario Iron Ore Committee with appendix: 290 p. Published 1924.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1954a, Esten Township, District of Algoma: Ontario Dept. Mines, Provincial aeromagnetic and radioactive survey series, Map no. 48, scale 1 inch to 1320 feet. Flown and compiled February and March, 1954.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1954b, Lewis Township, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines Provincial aeromagnetic and radioactive survey series. Map no. 52, scale, 1 inch to 1320 feet. Flown and compiled February and March 1954.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1954c, Long Township, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, Provincial aeromagnetic and radioactive survey series, Map 50, scale 1 inch to 1320 feet. Flown and compiled February and March 1954.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1954d, McGiverin Township, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines. Provincial aeromagnetic and radioactive survey series. Map 47, scale 1 inch to 1320 feet. Flown and compiled February and March, 1954.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1954e, Spragge Township, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines. Provincial aeromagnetic and radioactive survey series. Map no. 51, scale 1 inch to 1320 feet. Flown and compiled February and March, 1954.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1954f, Township aeromagnetic and radioactivity maps Algoma Block, 12 townships: Ontario Department of Mines.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1955, Township aeromagnetic and radioactivity maps Blind River Block, 16 townships: Ontario Department of Mines.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1959, Report of the special committee on mining practices at Elliot Lake- Part 1, Accidents and related representations: Ontario Department of Mines, Bulletin no. 155, 133 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961, Report of the special committee on mining practices at Elliot Lake - Part 2, Accident review, ventilation, ground control and related subjects: Ontario Department of Mines Bulletin no. 155, 120 p. and accompanying figures and maps.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1963, Algoma sheet, Algoma and Manitoulin Districts, Ontario: Ontario Dept. Mines-Geological Survey Canada, Aeromagnetic series, Map 2240G, scale 1 inch to 1 mile. Survey flown October 1962 to May 1963.

- Ontario Department of Mines, 1964, Elliot Lake sheet. Algoma District, Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines-Geological Survey Canada. Aeromagnetic series, Map 3237G, scale 1 inch to 1 mile. Survey flown 1954 to 1956, data reduced from 1 inch equals 1/4 mile, September 1963.
- Ovenshine, A. T., 1964, Glacial interpretation of Precambrian Gowganda Formation, North of Lake Huron (abstract): Geological Society of America, Program Annual Meeting, p. 146.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965, Sedimentary structures in portions of the Gowganda Formation, North Shore of Lake Huron, Canada: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of California at Los Angeles, California.
- , 1970, Observations of iceberg rafting in Glacier Bay, Alaska, and the identification of ancient ice-rafting deposits: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 81, p. 891-894.
- Overton, A., 1967, Seismic studies, Elliot Lake Area: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 67-1, Pt. A, p. 155-157.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Seismic data evaluation, Elliot Lake area, Ontario, Geological Survey of Canada Paper 69-1, Pt. B, p. 40-41.

- Palonen, P. A., 1971, Stratigraphy and depositional environment of the Missisagi Formation, Ontario: unpublished M. Science thesis, University of Calgary, Alberta.
- \_\_\_\_\_\_, 1973, Paleogeography of the Mississagi Formation and Lower Huronian cyclicity, in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 157-168.
- Parvianen, E. A. U., 1973, The sedimentology of the Huronian Ramsey Lake and Bruce Formations, north shore of Lake Huron, Ontario: unpublished Masters thesis, University of Calgary, Alberta, 103 p.
- Patchett, J., 1960, A study of radioactive minerals of the uraniferous conglomerate, Blind River area: unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Toronto, Ontario.
- Patchett, J. E., and Nuffield, E. W., 1960, Studies of Radioactive Compunds X-The synthesis and Crystallography of Brannerite: Canadian Mineralogist, v. 6, Pt. 4.
- Peters, T. J., 1969, The geology of the Huronian sequence in parts of Fraleck, Grigg, Stobie, and Telfer Townships, Ontario: unpublished M. S. thesis, Bowling Green State University, Bowling Green, Ohio, 59 p.

Pettijohn, F. J., 1941, Persistence of heavy minerals with geological age: Journal of Geology, v. 49, p. 610-625.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1970, The Canadian Shield - a status report, 1970, <u>in</u> Baer, A. J., ed., Symposium on basins and geosynclines of the Canadian Shield, Geological Survey of Canada Paper 70-40, p. 248.

- Pettijohn, F. J. and Bastron, H., 1959, Chemical composition of argillites of the Cobalt Series (Precambrian) and the problem of sodarich sediments: Bulletin Geological Society of America, v. 70, p. 593-600.
- Pettijohn, F. J. and Ridge, J. D., 1933, A mineral variation series of beach sands from Cedar Point, Ohio: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 3, p. 92-94.
- Pienaar, P. J., 1958, Stratigraphy, petrography and genesis of the Elliot Group including the uraniferous conglomerates, Quirke Lake Syncline, Blind River area: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, Queens University, Ontario.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1963, Stratigraphy, petrology and genesis of the Elliot Group, Blind River, Ontario, including the uraniferous conglomerate: Geological Survey of Canada Bulletin 83, 143 p.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1974, Blind River uraniferous conglomerates, Ontario, Canada: Anglo American Corporation, Johannesburg.

Quirke, T. T., 1917, Espanola district, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada Memoir 102, 92 p., accompanied by Map 180A.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1921, Wanapetei Lake Map-area: Geological Survey of Canada Summary Report 1921, Pt. D, p. 34-50.

- Quirke, T. T. and Collins, W. H., 1930, The disappearance of the Huronian: Geological Survey of Canada, Memoir 160.
- Ray, G. E., 1974, Geology of the Foster Lake (s) and LaRange (NW) area, Saskatchewan, in Summary of Investigations 1974 Saskatchewan Department of Mineral Resources.

, 1975, Project 5: Foster Lake (NE) - Geikie River (SE) area, in Summary of Investigations 1975: Saskatchewan Department of Mineral Resources.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1957, Paleocurrents of Lake Superior Precambrian Quartzites: Bulletin Geological Society of America, v. 68, p. 469-480.

- Ray, G. E., 1976, Project 5: Foster Lake (NW) Geikie River (SW) area, in Summary of Investigations 1976: Saskatchewan Department of Mineral Resources.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1977, The geology of the Highrock Lake Key Lake vicinity, Saskatchewan: Department of Mineral Resources, Department no. 197, 36 p.
- Retty, J. A., 1929, Township of McKenzie, Chibougamau Region, Quebec: Quebec Bureau of Mines, Annual Report 1929, Pt. D, p. 58.
- Rice, W. A., 1940, Geology of the Blind River Spragge area, north shore of Lake Huron: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, Yale University, New Haven, Connecticut.
- Rice, W., 1959, Geology and ore deposits of the Elliot Lake district, Ontario: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, Emmanuel College, Cambridge, England.
- Richardson, K. A., Killeen, P. G., and Charbonneau, B. W., 1975, Results of a reconnaissance type airborne gamma-ray spectrometer survey of the Blind River-Elliot Lake area: <u>in</u> Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 75-1, Part A, p. 133-135.
- Roberts, Leslie, 1955, The Algoma story: Technical Mine Consultants Ltd., (special publication), 27 p.
- Robertson, D. S., 1962a, Thorium and uranium variations in the Blind River ores: Economic Geology, v. 57, p. 1175-1184.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1962b, Thorium and uranium variations in the Blind River camp: Canadian Mining Journal, p. 58-65.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1970, Uranium--its geological occurrence as a guide to exploration, <u>in</u> Uranium exploration geology: International Atomic Energy Agency Panel Proceedings, p. 267-282 (I.A.E.A.--P1.-391/5).

- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974a, Basal Proterozoic units as fossil time markers and their use in uranium prospection: International Atomic Energy Agency Symposium on the formation of uranium ore deposits, Atherns, May 6-10, 1974.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974b, Uranium in quartz-pebble conglomerates: Report of working groups, International Atomic Energy Agency, Proceeding Series no. 571/PUB/374, p. 707-711.

Robertson, D. S. and Steenland, N. C., 1960, On the Blind River uranium ores and their origin: Economic Geology, v. 55, p. 659-694.

- Robertson, J. A., 1960, Geology of part of the Blind River area, Ontario: unpublished M.Sc. thesis; Queen's University, Kingston, Ontario.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961, Geology of Townships 143 and 144: Ontario Department of Mines, GR4, 65 p. Accompanied by Maps 2001 and 2002, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile, and 4 charts.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1962, Geology of Townships 137 and 138, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, GR10, 94 p. Accompanied by Maps 2003 and 2004, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1963a, Townships 155, 156, 161, 162, and parts of 167 and 168, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, GR13, 88 p. Accompanied by Maps 2014, 2015, 2026, and 2027, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1963b, Geology of the Iron Bridge Area, Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines Geological Report 17, Colored geological map, 1 inch to 1/2 mile.
- , 1964a, Geology of Scarfe, Mack, Cobden, and Striker Townships, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines GR20, 89 p. Accompanied by Map 2028, scale 1 inch to 1/2 mile, and Map 2032, scale 1 inch to 2 miles.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964b, Geology of Scarfe, Mackenzie, Cobden and Striker Townships: Ontario Department of Mines, Geological Report No. 20.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964c, Preliminary map of Proctor Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Map P. 245.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964d, Preliminary map of Lewis Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Map P. 246.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965a, Preliminary map of Deagle Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Map P. 317.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965b, Preliminary map of Shedden Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Map P. 318.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965c, Preliminary map of 1. R. 7 East and Offshore Islands: Ontario Department of Mines, Map P. 319.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965d, Preliminary map of 1. R. 5 West and Offshore Islands: Ontario Department of Mines, Map P. 320.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965e, Shedden Township and Part of I. R. No. 7, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Geologic Map No. P. 318, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile.

- Robertson, J. A., 1966a, The relationship of mineralization to stratigraphy in the Blind River area, Ontario: Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper no. 3.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966b, Preliminary map of Victoria Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Map P, 377.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966c, Preliminary map of Slater Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Map P, 378.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967a, Recent geological investigations in the Elliot Lake-Blind River uranium area, Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines, MP9, 31 p. Accompanied by 8 figures.
- , 1967b, Township 149: Ontario Department of Mines, Map No. 2113.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967c, Township 150: Ontario Department of Mines, Map No. 2114.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967d, I. R. No. 5, Spanish River Reserve central and east portions and adjacent Islands, District of Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines, Map P, 438.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968a, Geology of Townships 149 and 150: Ontario Department of Mines, GR57, 162 p. Accompanied by Maps 2113 and 2114, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968b, Uranium and thorium deposits of northern Ontario: Ontario Department of Mines MRC9, 106 p.
- \_\_\_\_, 1969a, Geology of the Cutler area, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, OFR5026, 119 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969b, Geology and uranium deposits of the Blind River area, Ontario: Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Bulletin v. 62, June 1969, p. 619-634.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969c, Township 163: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Map P. 560, 1 inch to 1/4 mile.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1969d, Township 157: Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Map P. 561, 1 inch to 1/4 mile.
  - , 1970a, Geology of the Spragge area, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, GR76, 109 p. Accompanied by 2 maps, scale 1 inch to 1/2 mile, and 1 chart.
- , 1970b, Geology of the Massey area, Districts of Algoma, Manitoulin and Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines, OFR5043, 150 p. (2 folders). Accompanied by 3 maps, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile.

Robertson, J. A., 1970c, Township 1A, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs, Preliminary Geologic Map No. P. 610, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile. Geology 1970.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1970d, Township 1B; Ontario Department of Mines, Preliminary Map P. 610, 1 inch to 1/4 mile.

- , 1972, Granitic plutonic rocks of the Southern Province of the Canadian Shield: Paper 29, 5 p. in Pt. 1, Technical Sessions, Abstracts for 18th Annual Institute on Lake Superior Geology: Michigan Technological University, Houghton, Michigan, May 3-6, 1972.
- , 1973, A review of recently acquired geological data, Blind River-Elliot Lake area, in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper, no. 12, p. 169-198.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975a, Uranium and thorium Deposits of Ontario, East Central Sheet, Districts of Thunder Bay, Algoma, Cochrane, Sudbury, Timiskaming and Nipissing: Ontario Division of Mines, Preliminary Map P. 971, Mineral Deposits Series, scale 1 inch to 16 miles. Compilation 1973, 1974.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975b, Victoria and Salter Townships, District of Sudbury: Ontario Division of Mines, Map 2308, scale 1 inch to 1/2 mile (1:31,680).
- , 1975c, Part of Indian Reserve No. 5 and Offshore Islands, Districts of Algoma and Manitoulin: Ontario Division of Mines Map 2309, scale 1 inch to 1/2 mile (1:31,680).
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976a, Geology of the Massey area, Districts of Algoma, Manitoulin and Sudbury: Ontario Division of Mines, GR136, 130 p. Accompanied by Maps 2308, 2309, scale 1 inch to 1/2 mile and 2 charts.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976b, The Blind River uranium deposits: the ores and their setting: Ontario Division of Mines, MP65, 45 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1977, Uranium deposits in Ontario, in, Summary of Fieldwork, 1977: Ontario Geological Survey MP 75, p. 185-187.

\_\_\_\_, 1978, Uranium deposits in Ontario, <u>in</u> Kimberley, M. M., ed., Short course in uranium deposits: their mineralogy and origin: Mineralogical Association of Canada,, Toronto, Ontario, p. 229-280.

Robertson, J. A., and Card, K. D., 1972, Geology and scenery north shore of Lake Huron region: Ontario Department of Mines Geologic Guide Book no. 4, 224 p.

- Robertson, J. A., Card, K. D., and Frarey, M. J., 1968, The Federal Provincial Committee on Huronian Stratigraphy Progress Report (abstract); in 14th Annual Institute on Lake Superior Geology: Superior, Wisconsin, p. 33-34.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, The Federal Provincial Committee on Huronian Stratigraphy Progress Report: Ontario Department of Mines MP31.
- Robertson, J. A., Frarey, M. J., and Card, K. D., 1969, The Federal Provincial Committee on Huronian Stratigraphy Progress Report: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 6, no. 2, p. 335-336.
- Robertson, J. A., and Johnson, J. M., 1969, Township 163, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines Preliminary Geologic Map P. 560.

\_\_\_, 1970, Township 1B, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines and Northern Affairs Preliminary Geologic Map P. 609.

- Robertson, J. A., and McCrindle, W. E., 1967, I. R. No. 5, Spanish River Reserve (Central and East Portions) and Adjacent Islands, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines, preliminary Geologic Map No. P. 438, scale 1 inch to 1/4 mile.
- Roscoe, S. M., 1956, The Blind River, Ontario, uranium area, in Snelgrove, A. K., ed., Geological exploration: Institute on Lake Superior Geology, Houghton, Michigan, p. 40-48.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957a, Geology and uranium deposits, Quirke Lake-Elliot Lake, Blind River, Ontario: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 56~7.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957b, Stratigraphy, Quirke Lake-Elliot Lake sector, Blind River, Ontario: Royal Society of Canada, Special Publication 2, p. 54-58.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957c, Cambrian Lake (East Half) New Quebec: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 57-6.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1959a, On thorium-uranium ratios in conglomerates and associated rocks near Blind River, Ontario: Economic Geology, v. 54, No. 3.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1959b, Monazite as an ore mineral in Elliot Lake uranium ores: Canadian Mining Journal, July 1959, p. 1-2.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1960a, Huronian uraniferous conglomerates: Economic Geology, vol. 55, p. 410-414.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1960b, Huronian rocks, their definition and classification: Northern Miner, April 21.

- Roscoe, S. M., 1963, Evidence for placer origin of Elliot Lake (Blind River), Onterio uraniferous conglomerates (abstract): Geological Society of America Special Paper no. 73, p. 228.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966, Unexplored uranium and thorium resources of Canada: Geological Survey of Canada paper 66-12.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967, Metallogenic study, Lake Superior-Chibougamau region, Ontario and Quebec: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 67-1A, p. 134-212.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Huronian rocks and uraniferous conglomerates in the Canadian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 68-40, 205 p.
- , 1973, The Huronian Supergroup, a Paleoaphebian succession showing evidence of atmospheric evolution, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 31-48.
- Roscoe, S. M., and Frarey, M. J., 1970, Comments on the Canadian Shield, A status report 1970 by F. J. Pettijohn; in A. J. Baer (ed.), Symposium on basins and geosynclines of the Canadian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 70-40, p. 255-262.
- Roscoe, S. M., and Steacy, H. R., 1958, On the geology and radioactive deposits of the Blind River region: Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd., Chalk River, Ontario, Atomic Conference, 15/P/222, 19 p., A.E.C.L.+ 632, September 1958.
- Roy, J. L., and La Pointe, P. L., 1976, The paleomagnetism of Huronian redbeds and the Nipissing Diabase; post-Huronian igneous events and apparent polar wander path for the interval -2300 to -1500 Ma for Laurentia: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 13, p. 749-773.
- Ruzicka, V., 1971, Geological comparison between East European and Canadian uranium deposits: Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 70-48, 196 p.
- Ruzicka, V., and Steacy, H. R., 1976, Some sedimentary features of conglomeratic uranium ore from Elliot Lake, Ontario; <u>in</u> Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 76-1A, Report of Activities Pt. A, p. 343-346.
- Schenk, P. E., 1960, The Gowganda sediments at the south end of Lake Timagami, Ontario: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University of Wisconsin.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965, Depositional environment of the Gowganda Formation (Precambrian at the south end of Lake Timagami, Ontario: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 35, p. 309-38.

- Schenk, P. E., 1971, Southeastern Atlantic Canada, northwestern Africa, and continental drift: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 8, p. 1218-1251.
- Siemiatkowska, K. M., and Guthrie, A. E., 1975, Kirkpatrick Lake Area, District of Algoma: in Milne, V. G., Hewitt, D. F., Card, K. D., and Robertson, J. A., eds., Summary of Field Work, 1975, by Geological Branch: Ontario Division of Mines, MP63, 158 p.
- Simony, P. S., 1964, Geology of northwestern Timagami area, District of Nipissing: Ontario Department of Mines, Geologic Report No. 28.
- Smith, A. Y., 1969, Development of geochemical exploration methods for uranium, Bancroft and Elliot Lake, Ontario (31C, 31D, 31F, 41J): Geological Survey of Canada Paper 69-1, Pt. A, p. 56-57.
- Smith, A. Y., and Dyck, W., 1969, The application of radon methods to geochemical exploration for uranium (abstract): Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Bulletin, v. 62, no. 683, p. 215.
- Spector, Allan, 1970, Deep uranium exploration with the aid of aeromagnetic maps (abstract): Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Bulletin, v. 63, no. 695, p. 291.
- Steenland, Nelson C., and Brod, R. S., 1960, Basement mapping with aeromagnetic data - Blind River basin: Geophysics, v. 25, p. 586-601.
- Stevenson, J. S., 1960, Origin of quartzite at the base of the Whitewater Series, Sudbury Basin, Ontario: Report of 21st session, International Geologic Congress, Norden, Pt. 23, p. 32-41.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961, Recognition of the quartzite breccia in the Whitewater Series, Sudbury, Ontario: Transactions Royal Society of Canada, v. 55, Ser. 111, p. 57-66.
- \_\_\_\_, ed, 1962, The tectonics of the Canadian Shield: Royal Society of Canada Publication, no. 8, 180 p.
- Stieff, L. R., Stern, T. W., Cialella, C. M. and Warr, J. J., 1956, Preliminary age studies on uranium ores of the Blind River District, Ontario, Canada, abstract: Bulletin Geological Society of America, v. 67, p. 1736.
- Stockwell, C. H., 1961, Structural provinces, orogenesis, and timeclassification of rocks of the Canadian Precambrian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 61-17, p. 29-77.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964, Fourth report on structural provinces, orogenesis, and classification of rocks of the Canadian Precambrian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 64-17, p. 1-21.

- Stockwell, C. H., 1965, Tectonic map of the Canadian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada, Map 4-1965.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968, Geochronology of stratified rocks of the Canadian Shield: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 5, p. 693-698.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1973, Revised Precambrian time scale for the Canadian Shield: Geological Survey of Canada Paper 72-52, 4 p.

- Stockwell, C. H., McGlynn, J. C., Emslie, R. F., Sanford, B. V., Norris, A. W., Donaldson, J. A., Fahrig, W. F., and Currie, K. L., 1970, Geology of the Canadian Shield, in Douglas, R. J., ed., Geology and Economic Minerals of Canada: Geological Survey of Canada, Ottawa, 838 p.
- Symons, D. T. A., 1967, Paleomagnetism of Precambrian rocks near Cobalt, Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 4, p. 1161-1170.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, Huronian glaciation and polar wander from the Gowganda Formation, Ontario: Geology, v. 3, p. 303-306.
- Symons, D. T. A., and O'leary, R. J., 1975, Paleomagnetism of the Thessalon Volcanics and Huronian polar wander: Geological Society of America Abstract with Programs, v. 7, p. 867.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1978, Huronian polar wander and paleomagnetism of the Thessalon volconics: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 15, p. 1141-1150.
- Theis, N. J., 1973, Comparative Mineralogy of the Quirke No. 1 and New Quirke Mines, Rio Algom Mines Ltd., Elliot Lake, Ontario: unpublished M. Sci. thesis, Queens University, Kingston, Ontario.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Uranium-bearing and associated minerals in their geochemical and sedimentological context, Elliot Lake, Ontario: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, Queen's University, Kingston, Ontario.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1978, Mineralogy and setting of Elliot Lake deposits, in Kimberley, M. M., ed., Short course in uranium deposits; their mineralogy and origin: Mineralogical Association of Canada, Tomonto, Ontario, p. 331-338.
- Thompson, Robert, 1957, The Proterozoic of the Cobalt area: Royal Society of Canada, Special Publication no. 2, p. 40-45.
- Thomson, J. E., 1952, Geology of Baldwin Township: Ontario Department of Mines, Annual Report, v. 61, Pt. 4.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1953, Problems of Precambrian stratigraphy west of Sudbury, Ontario: Transactions Royal Society of Canada, 3rd Series, vol. 47, Sect. 4, p. 61-70.

Thomson, J. E., 1957a, Geology of the Sudbury basin: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 65, Pt. 3, p. 1-56.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1957b, The Sudbury-Espanola area: Royal Society of Canada, Special Publication no. 2, p. 48-53.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1959, Geology of Falconbridge Township: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 66, Pt. 6.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1960a, Uranium and thorium deposits at the base of the Huronian System in the District of Sudbury: Ontario Department of Mines, Geologic Report 1.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1960b, On the origin of algal-like forms and carbon in the Sudbury Basin, Ontario: Transactions Royal Society of Canada, 3rd Series, v. 54, Section 4, p. 65-75.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1961a, McLennan and Scadding Townships: Ontario Department of Mines, Geologic Report No. 2.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1961b, Espanola sheet, Sudbury Mining Division: Ontario Department of Mines, Map P. 105.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1962, Extent of the Huronian System between Lake Timagami and Blind River, <u>in</u> the Tectonics of the Canadian Shield: Royal Society of Canada Special Publication, No. 2, p. 76-89.

- Thomson, J. E., and Card, K. D., 1963, Kelly and David Townships: Ontario Department of Mines, Geologic Report No. 15.
- Thorpe, R. I., 1963, The radioactive mineralogy of the ore conglomerate at Panel Mines, Blind River, Ontario: Unpublished M. Sc. thesis, Queen's University, Kingston, Ontario.
- Todd, E. W., 1925, The Matabitchuan area, Districts of Timiskaming and Nipissing: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 34, p. 1-35.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1926, Anima-Nipissing area, Districts of Timiskaming and Nipissing: Ontario Department of Mines, v. 35, p. 79–104.

- Traill, R. J., 1954, A preliminary account of the mineralogy of radioactive conglomerates in the Blind River region, Ontario: Canadian Mining Journal (April).
- Van Hise, C. R., 1908, The problem of the Pre-Cambrian: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 119.
- Van Hise, C. R., and Leith, C. K., 1911, The geology of the Lake Superior region: U. S. Geological Survey Memoir 52.

- Van Schmus, W. R., 1964, The geochronology of the Blind River-Bruce Mines area, Ontario, Canada: Unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of California, Los Angeles, California, U.S.A.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965, The geochronology of the Blind River-Bruce Mines area, Ontario, Canada: Journal of Geology, v. 73, p. 755-780.
- , 1971, Ages of lamprophyre dykes and of the Mongowin Pluton, North Shore of Lake Huron, Ontario, Canada: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 8, p. 1203-1209.
- Van Schmus, W. R., Card, K. D., and Harrower, K. L., 1975, Geology and ages of buried Precambrian rocks, Manitoulin Island, Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 12, p. 1175-1189.
- Van Schmus, W. R., Thurman, E. M., and Peterman, Z. E., 1975, Geology and Rb-Sr chronology of middle Precambrian rocks in eastern and central Wisconsin: Geological Society America Bulletin, v. 86, p. 1255-1265.
- Van Schmus, W. R., 1976, Early and Middle Proterozoic history of the Great Kajes area, North America: Philadelphia Thesis. Royal Society of London, v. A280, p. 605-628.
- Wanless, R. K., and Traill, R. J., 1956, Age of uraninites from Blind River, Ontario: Nature, v. 178, p. 249-250.
- Western Miner, 1956, Algoma-Blind River: Western Miner and Oil Review: Special edition, July 1956, 198 p.
- Williams, R. M., 1970, Uranium and thorium: Mineral review preprint from Canadian minerals yearbook 1969: Department of Energy, Mines and Resources, Mineral Resources Branch, 13 p.
- Williams, R. M., and Little, H. W., 1973, Canadian uranium resources and production capability: Department of Energy, Mines and Resources, Ottawa, Mineral Bulletin, MR140, 27 p.
- Wilson, M. E., 1913, The Cobalt Series, its character and origin: Journal of Geology, v. 25, p. 121-141.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958, Precambrian classification and correlation in the Canadian Shield: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 69, p. 757-773.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965, Precambrian of Canada (Canadian Shield), <u>in</u> K. Rankama, The Precambrian, v. 2: Interscience, New York, N.Y., p. 263-415.
- Winchell, Alexander, 1887, Report of a geological survey in Minnesota during the season of 1887 embracing comparative observations in some other regions: Minnesota Geology and Natural History Survey, 16th Report p. 168.

Winchell, Alexander, 1888, The original Huronian: <u>in</u> Sixteenth annual report of Geology and Natural History Survey of Minnesota for 1887, p. 13-36. Or <u>in</u> Minnesota Legislature, Executive Documents, v. 4, 1887-8, p. 509-536.

\_\_\_\_, 1891, A last word with the Huronian: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 2, p. 85-124.

- Wood, John, 1967, Rawhide Lake area (Townships U and Q), District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines Miscellaneous Paper 11, p. 40-42.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968a, Township U, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines Preliminary Geologic Map p. 468.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968b, Township Q, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines Preliminary Geologic Map p. 474.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969a, Township 151, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines Preliminary Geologic Map p. 531.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969b, Township 145, District of Algoma: Ontario Department of Mines Preliminary Geologic Map p. 532.
- , 1970a, Evidence for a tropical climate and oxygenic atmosphere in Upper Huronian rocks of the Rawhide Lake-Flack Lake area, Ontario (abstract), in Institute on Lake Superior Geology, 16th Annual Meeting: Thunder Bay, Ontario, p. 45~46.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970b, Upper Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation, Rawhide Lake area, Ontario; unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971, Depositional environment in the upper Huronian, Flack Lake Area, Ontario: Paper given at the 1971 annual meeting of Geological Association of Canada, Sudbury.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, Stratigraphy and depositional environments of the Upper Huronian rocks of the Rawhide Lake - Flack Lake Area, Ontario, <u>in</u> Young, G. M., ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 73-96.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1975, Geology of the Rawhide Lake Area, District of Algoma: Ontario Division of Mines, GR 129, 67 p. Accompanied by Maps 2305 and 2306, 1 inch to 1/2 mile (1:31, 680).

Woodward, Nicholas B., 1970, A measured section and description of the Bar River and Gordon Lake Formations along Highway 639, Township 157, Ontario, Canada: unpublished senior thesis (BA), Cornell University, Ithaca, New York.

- Wright, G. M., 1955, Geological notes on Central District of Keewatin, Northwest Territories: Geological Survey Canada Paper 55-17.
- Young, G. M., 1966, Huronian stratigraphy of the MacGregor Bay area, Ontario: relevance to the paleogeography of the Lake Superior region: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 3, 203-210.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967, Possible organic structures in Early Proterozoic (Huronian) \_\_\_\_\_rocks of Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 4, p. 565-568.
- \_\_\_\_, 1968, Sedimentary structures in Huronian rocks of Ontario: Paleogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 4, p. 125-153.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1969a, Inorganic origin of corrugated vermiform structures in the Huronian Gordon Lake Formation near Flack Lake, Ontario: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 6, p. 795-799.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969b, Geochemistry of Early Proterozoic tillites and argillites of the Gowganda Formation, Ontario, Canada: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 33, p. 483-492.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970a, An extensive Early Proterozoic glaciation in North America?: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 7, p. 85-101.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970b, Widespread occurrence of aluminous minerals in Aphebian Quartzites (abstract); <u>in</u> Institute on Lake Superior Geology: 16th Annual Meeting, Thunder Bay, Ontario, p. 47-48.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973a, Origin of carbonate-rich early Proterozoic Espanola Formation, Ontario, Canada: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 84, p. 135-160.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973b, ed., Huronian stratigraphy and sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, 271 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973c, Tillites and aluminous quartzites as possible time markers for Middle Precambrian (Aphebian) rocks of North America: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 97-127.
  - \_\_, 1974, Stratigraphy, paleocurrents and stromatolites of Hadrynian (Upper Precambrian) rocks of Victoria Island, Arctic Archipelago, Canada: Precambrian Research, v. 1, p. 13-41.
- Young, G. M., and Chandler, F. W., 1968, Possible glacial origin for three Precambrian Huronian conglomerates, North Shore of Lake Michigan (abstract): in 14th Annual Institute on Lake Superior Geology, Superior, Wisconsin, p. 42-43.

- Young, G. M., and Church, W. R., 1966, The Huronian System in the Sudbury District and adjoining areas of Ontario; A review: Geological Association of Canada, Proceedings, v. 17, p. 65-82.
- Young, P. E., 1955, Ore occurrences and developments in the Algoma District: Western Miner, v. 28, no. 6.

## AFRICAN PLATFORM

- Adams, J. S. and Piller, R., 1958, On the occurrence of uranium in ancient conglomerates: Economic Geology, v. 53, p. 621.
- Allsopp, H. L., 1964, Rubidium-strontium ages from the Western Transvaal: Nature, London, v. 204, p. 361-363.
- Alford, C. J., 1889, Witwatersrand goldfields: their geological features: Mining Journal, London, p. 1141-1142.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1890, The geology of the Witwatersrand district: Witwatersrand Mining and Metallurgic Review, 1., v. 1, p. 1-6.

- Anderson, C. B., 1954, Development of the Orange Free State goldfields: South Africa Journal of Science, v. 51, p. 99-105.
- Anhaeusser, C. R., 1973, The evolution of the Early Precambrian crust of southern Africa: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. A-273, p. 359-388.
- Anhaeusser, C. R. and Button, A., 1976, A review of southern African stratiform ore deposits--their position in time and space, in Wolf, K. H., ed., Handbook of strata-bound and stratiform ore deposits: New York, Elsevier Publishing Company, v. 5, p. 257-267.
- Antrobus, E. S. A., 1954, A study of the Witwatersrand System: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, McGill University.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1956, The origin of the auriferous reefs of the Witwatersrand System: Geological Society of South Africa, Transactions, v. 59, p. 1-22.
- Antrobus, E. S. A., 1956, The origin of the auriferous reefs of the Witwatersrand system: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 59, p. 1-22.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964, Notes on the geological column of the East Rand, <u>in</u> Haughton, S. H., ed., Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1., p. 113-123.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, Presidential address, unpublished report, Congress, Bloemfontein: Geological Society of South Africa.
- Antrobus, E. S. A., and Whiteside, H. C. M., 1964, The geology of certain mines in the East Rand, in Haughton, S. H., ed., Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 126-160.
- Armstrong, G. C., 1965, A sedimentological study of the UK9 Kimberley Reefs in part of the East Rand: unpublished thesis, University of Witwatersrand, 65 p.

- Armstrong, G. C., 1968, Sedimentological control of gold mineralization in the Kimberley Reefs of the East Rand Goldfield: University Witwatersrand Economic Resources Unit, Information Circular, no. 47, 24 p.
- Baardt, J. J., 1948, A stratigraphic study of the sediments of the Upper Witwatersrand Formation as disclosed in the Venterspost-Libanon mining area: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University of Witwatersrand.
- Bahnemann, F., 1936, The geophysical magnetometric investigations on west Witwatersrand areas between Randfontein and Potchefstroom, Transvaal (Discussion): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 39, p. 72-73.
- Bain, G. W., 1955, Discussion of "The occurrence and origin of gold and radioactive minerals in the Witwatersrand System, the Dominion Reef, the Ventersdorp Contact Reef and the Black Reef" by W. T. Liebenberg: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 58, p. 236.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1960, Patterns to ores in layered rocks: Economic Geology, v. 55, p. 695-731.
- Baines, V., 1949, The geology of the Odendaalsrus goldfield in relation to that of the Klerksdorp district and notes on the correlation of the upper division of the Witwatersrand System: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 52, p. 301-320.
- Ballot, J., 1888, The Banket Formation: its probable origin and present position: Johannesburg, Mendelssohn and Scott, 18 p., also in Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 3, p. 147.
- Bawden, F. W., 1898, A short description of the Klerksdorp goldfields: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 3, p. 12-16.
- Becker, G. F., 1896, The goldfields of South Africa: Cosmopolitan Review, December.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1896, The Witwatersrand conglomerates. Washington, p. 167, quoted by Corstorphine: Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 8, p. 28.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1896, The Witwatersrand Banket, with notes on other gold-bearing pudding stones: Annual Report U. S. Geological Survey, v. 18, Pt 5, p. 153–184; also, 1898, Zeitschrift für Praktische Geologie, p. 89– 92; and 1899, Neues Jahrbuch p. 212–217.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1898, Auriferous conglomerates of the Transvaal: American Journal of Science, v. 5, p. 193-208, Nature, London, v. 57, p. 500.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1900, Auriferous conglomerate of the Transvaal: Neues Jahrbuch, v. 1, p. 240-241.

416

- Becker, G. F., 1909, Origin of the gold of the Rand Goldfields: some features of the Rand Banket: Economic Geology, v. 4, p. 373-384.
- Beetz, P. F. W., 1936, Contributions to the geology of the Klerksdorp district from the results of the drilling activities by the Western Reefs Exploration and Development Company: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 39, p. 223-261.
- Bergne, J. A. C., 1944, West African Banket: Some surveying, geological, and other features: Transactions Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 53, p. 253-278.
- Berning, J., Cooke, R., Hiemstra, S. A. and Hoffman, U., 1976, The Rossing uranium deposit, South West Africa: Economic Geology, v. 71, p. 351-368.
- Bishopp, D. W., 1962, The Witwatersrand metallogeny: Mining Magazine London, v. 107, p. 21-23.
- Bleloch, W. E., 1899, Rand conglomerates: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 4, p. 175-181.
- , 1903, Discussion on Mr. Kuntz's paper: The Main Reef horizon in the Klerksdorp district: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 6, p. 116-122.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912, The Lower Witwatersrand System on the Central Rand, and its connection with West Rand sections (discussion): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 15, p. 61-67 and 75-79.
- , 1919, The Far East Rand: Johannesburg.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1921, The geology of the neighbourhood of Heidelberg (discussion): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 24, p. 37.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1921, The geology of Heidelberg: South Africa Mining and Engineering Journal, no. 1560, p. 1699-1700; no. 1561, p. 1719-1720; no. 1562, p. 1777-1779; no. 1563, p. 27-29, no. 1564, p. 67-70, no. 1565, p. 105-107; no. 1566, p. 147-149.
- Borchers, R., 1950, The Odendaalsrus-Virginia goldfield and its relation to the Witwatersrand: unpublished D. Sc. thesis, University of South Africa.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961, Exploration of the Witwatersrand System and its extensions: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 64, p. 67-98.

- Borchers, R., 1964, Exploration of the Witwatersrand System and its extensions, in Haughton, S. H., ed., Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. l, p. 1-23.
- Borchers, R. and White, G. V., 1943, Preliminary contribution to the geology of the Odendaalsrus goldfield: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 46, p. 127-153.
- Bordeaux, A., 1898, Les Mines de l'Afrique du Sud, Transvaal, Rhodesia, etc.: Paris.
- Boreholes, 1921, Records of the boreholes of the Witwatersrand: African Mines, p. 63-77.
- Bosazza, V. L., 1959a, The occurrence of uranium in ancient conglomerates (discussions): Economic Geology, v. 54, p. 313-324.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1959b, Gold and uranium in the Witwatersrand bankets: Mining Magazine, London, v. 100, p. 24-27.
- Bosazza, V. L. and Davidson, C. F., 1959, The Witwatersrand mineralization: Mining Magazine, London, v. 101, p. 120-123.
- Bouwer, R. F., 1954, Borehole temperatures in the Klerksdorp and Orange Free State areas: Bulletin Geological Survey of South Africa, v. 22, 35p.
- Bowie, S. H. U., 1958, Helium in natural gas in the Witwatersrand: Nature, v. 182, p. 1082-1083.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968, Two varieties of pyrite from the basal reef of the Witwatersrand system: Economic Geology, v. 63, p. 85-86.
- Brandt, R. T., 1950, The geology of certain igneous intrusive rocks in the Far East Rand, Transvaal, South Africa: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University of Witwatersrand.
- Bridges, R. J., 1936, The geophysical magnetometric investigation on west Witwatersrand areas between Randfontein and Potchefstroom, Transvaal (discussion): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 39, p. 86-87.
- Brock, B. B., 1954, A view of faulting in the Orange Free State: Optima, v. 4, no. 1, South Africa Mining and Engineering Journal, v. 65, Pt. 1, p. 83-90.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1959, On orogenic evolution, with special reference to southern Africa: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 62, p. 325-366.

- Brock, B. B., 1961, The structural environment and borehole geology of Western Deep Levels, Limited: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 64, p. 163-192.
- Brock, B. B., Nel, L. T., and Visser, D. J. L., 1957, The geological background of the uranium industry, <u>in</u> Uranium in South Africa, 1946-1956: Associated Scientific and Technical Societies of South Africa, Symposium, v. 1, p. 274-305.
- Brock, B. B., and Pretorius, D. A., 1964a, An introduction to the stratigraphy and structure of the Rand goldfield, <u>in</u> Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 25-62.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964b, Rand basin sedimentation and tectonics, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society South Africa, v. 1, p. 549-599.
- Brotzen, O., 1958, On the occurrence of uranium in ancient conglomerates (discussions): Economic Geology, v. 53, p. 489-491.
- Brown, F. J., 1960-61, Mining at Freddies Consolidated Mines, Limited: Paper: Associated Mine Managers Transvaal, p. 491-504.
- Bunkell, H. B., 1896, Notes on the Venterskroon goldfields, South African Republic: Transactions Federal Institute Mining and Engineering, v. 12.
- Bunkell, H. B., 1902, Geology of the Krugersdorp district: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 5, p. 75-77.
- Burger, A. J. and Coertze, F. J., 1973, Radiometric age measurements on rocks from southern Africa to the end of 1971: South Africa Geological Survey Bulletin 58.
- Burger, A. J., Nicolaysen, L. O., and de Villiers, J. W. L., 1962, Lead isotope compositions of galenas from the Witwatersrand and Orange Free State and their relation to the Witwatersrand and Dominion Reef uraninites: Geochimica Cosmochimica Acta, v. 26, p. 25-29.
- Button, A., 1970a, The stratigraphy of the Witwatersrand sequence in the Delmas area, Transvaal: Information Circular Economic Geology Research Unit, University of Witwatersrand, no. 58.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970b, Subsurface stratigraphic mapping of the Witwatersrand sequence in the Delmas area, Transvaal: Information Circular, Economic Geology Research Unit, University of Witwatersrand, no. 59.

- Button, A., 1974, A regional study of the stratigraphy and development of the Transvaal Basin in the eastern and northeastern Transvaal: unpublished thesis, University Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, 352 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Iron-formation as an end member in carbonate sedimentary cycles in the Transvaal Supergroup, South Africa: Economic Geology, v. 71, p. 193-201.
- Cahen, L., and Lapersonne, J., 1967, The Precambrian of the Congo, Rwanda and Burundi, in Rankama, K., ed., The Precambrian, v. 3, New York, John Wiley and Sons.
- Cahen, L., and Snelling, N. J., 1966, The geochronology of equatorial Africa: Amsterdam, North Holland Publishing Company.
- Cameron, W. S. F., 1931, Hydrothermal origin of the Rand gold deposits: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 34, p. 89-92.
- Carleton-Jones, G., 1936, Correlation and other aspects of the exploited auriferous horizons on the Witwatersrand mining field: Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 39, p. 23-63.
- Carrick, J. T., 1897, On faulting along the main reef line: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 2, p. 39-41.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1905, The geology of the West Rand: South Africa Journal of Science, v. 2, Pt. 1, Section C, p. 88-100.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1906, New facts bearing on the extension of the main reef eastward (discussion): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 9, p. 37-39.
- Clifford, T. N., 1968, Radiometric dating and pre-Silurian geology of Africa, in Hamilton, E., and Farquhar, R., eds., Radiometric dating for geologist: London, Oliver and Boyd, p. 299-416.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970, The structural framework of Africa, <u>in</u> Clifford, T. N., and Gass, I. G., eds., African magmatism and tectonics: Edinburgh, Oliver and Boyd.
- Clifford, T. N., and Gass, I. G., eds., 1970, African magmatism and tectonics: Edinburgh, Oliver and Boyd.
- Cloos, H., 1937, Fortschritte in der Kartierung von Transvaal: Geologische Rundschau, v. 28, p. 250-258.
- Cluver, A. F., 1957, On the tectonic history and some related sedimentatational aspects of the Witwatersrand and Ventersdorp Systems in the Far East Rand, during Upper-Witwatersrand Pre-Transvaal System time: Annual, University of Stellenbosch, v. 33, Sect. A, p. 71-124.

- Coetzee, C. B., 1960, The geology of the Orange Free State goldfield: Memoir Geological Survey of South Africa, no. 49.
- Coetzee, F., 1962, Die Verspreiding en Korrelgrootte van Goud, Piriet en Ander Swaar Minerale in Sommige Goudriwwe van die Witwatersrandbekken: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University of Orange Free State, Bloemfontein.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965, Distribution and grain-size of gold, uraninite, pyrite, and certain other heavy minerals in gold-bearing reefs of the Witwatersrand basin: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 68, p. 61-88.
- \_\_\_\_, ed., 1976, Mineral resources of the Republic of South Africa: Geological Survey of South Africa, 462 p.
- Coetzee, G. L., 1955, The copper, cobalt and nickel content of some South African pyrites: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University of Witwatersrand.
- Collender, F. D., 1960, The Witwatersrand System in the Klerksdorp area as revealed by diamond drilling: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 63, p. 189-226.
- Cooke, H. B. S., 1938, The Black Reef Series in the Klerksdorp and Randfontein areas (discussion): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 41, p. 64-65.
- Cooke, L. H., 1916, The Rand conglomerates: Mining Magazine, London, v. 14, p. 157.
- Cooper, M. A., 1950, Thermal conductivity of Witwatersrand rocks (abstract): Geophysics, v. 15, p. 312.
- Cooper, R. A., 1924, Mineral constituents of Rand concentrates: Chemical, Metallurgic and Mineral Society of South Africa, v. 24, p. 90-95.
- Corstorphine, G. S., 1904, The geological relation of the old granite to the Witwatersrand Series: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 9-12.
- Corstorphine, G. S. and Jorissen, E., 1908, The stratigraphy of Zwartkop: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 11, p. 55-68.

- Corstorphine, G. S. and Jorissen, E., 1908, The stratigraphy of Zwartkop 82 (reply to discussions): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 11, p. 54-56.
- Cousins, C. A., 1956, The value distribution of economic minerals with special reference to the Witwatersrand gold reefs: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 59, p. 95-113.
- , 1962, The stratigraphy, structure, and igneous rocks of the Transvaal System at the Western areas gold mine: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 65, Pt. 2, p. 13-40.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965, Disconformities in the Main Reef Zone of the Witwatersrand System and their bearing on reef correlation with particular reference to the east, central and west Witwatersrand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 68, p. 121-142.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1972, Suggestions for the revision of the existing Witwatersrand stratigraphic classification and nomenclature: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 75, p. 77-84; discussion and reply, 1973, v. 76, p. 181-182.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, Platinoids in the Witwatersrand System: South Africa Instiution of Mining and Metallurgy Journal, v. 73, p. 184-199.
- Cowles, E. P., 1931, Notes on the distribution of gold in the Reef Section and the gold content of quartz veins: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, Annex 34, p. 71-80.
- Craib, R., 1939, The birth, growth and future stability of the gold mining industry: South Africa Journal of Science, v. 36, p. 19-35.
- Crockett, R. N., 1972, The Transvaal System in Botswana: its geotectonic and depositional environment and special problems: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 75, Pt. 3, p. 275-289.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971, The rocks of the Ventersdorp System of the Lobatse and Ramotswa areas, Republic of Botswana; their possible origins and regional correlations: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 74, Pt. 1, p. 1-24.
- Crosse, 1899, Notes on the payable conglomerate beds of the Witwatersrand: Transactions Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London, p. 2-7.
- Cudjoe, J. E., 1970, Progress in mineral exploration in Ghana during the past half century (1913-1963): Ghana Geological Survey Bulletin, no. 38, p. 1-10.

- Cumenge, E., 1896, 1897, Sur la mode de formation hypothetique des conglomerats auriferes du Witwatersrand (Transvaal): Compte Rendue Academy of Science, Paris, v. 122, p. 346-348.
- Curle, J. H., 1907-1908, The origin of the gold in the Rand banket: Journal of the Chemical Society of South Africa, v. 8, p. 198-202.
- Curtis, J. S., 1890, The banket deposits of the Witwatersrand: Engineering Mining Journal, New York, February.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1903, The Witwatersrand ore deposits and their relation to the various formations: Journal South African Association of Engineers, v. 1, p. 225.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1908, The origin of the gold in banket: Journal Chemical Society of South Africa, v. 8, p. 198-202.
- Czyszkowski, S., 1896, La venue aurifere de l'Afrique du Sud: 34 p. Paris. Translated by Winchell, H. V. The deposition of gold in South Africa: American Geology, May, 1896. (Quoted by Corstorphine, 1905): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 8, p. 28.
- Davidson, C. F., 1952, On the hydrothermal origin of the Rand gold ores (abstract): 19th International Geological Congress, Algeria, Resumes, p. 82-83.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1953, Gold-uranium ores of the Transvaal: Rhodesian Mining Journal, v. 25, p. 285-289; no. 317, p. 319-323; no. 318, p. 349-353. Mining Magazine, London, v. 88, p. 73-85.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1955a, Concentration of uranium by carbon compounds: Economic Geology, v. 50, p. 879-880.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1955b, The mineralization of the Witwatersrand: Mining Magazine, London, v. 92, p. 152-156.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957, On the occurrence of uranium in ancient conglomerates: Economic Geology, v. 52, p. 668-693. Discussions by various authors: 1958, v. 53, p. 489-493, 620-622, 757-759, 887-889, 1048-1049; 1959, v. 54, p. 313-325, 325-329, 1316-1320, 1320-1323.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958, Uranium in ancient conglomerates, a reply (discussions): Economic Geology, v. 53, p. 887-888.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1959, The Witwatersrand mineralization: Mining Magazine, London, v. 100, p. 92-93.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1959, Ores of the Witwatersrand: Mining Magazine, London, v. 101, p. 30.

- Davidson, C. F., 1959, Further observations on uraniferous conglomerates (discussion): Economic Geology, v. 54, p. 1316-1319.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1960a, The present state of the Witwatersrand controversy: Mining Magazine, v. 102, p. 84-95, 149-159, 222-229.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1960b, La controverse sur l'origine des mineralisations du Witwatersrand: Bur. Etud. Geol. Min. Colon., no. 289, p. 14.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961, The Witwatersrand controversy: Mining Magazine, London, v. 105, p. 88-90.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1962, On the Witwatersrand metallogeny: Mining Magazine, London, v. 107, p. 158-160.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964a, Uranium in ancient conglomerates (a review of Uran v drevnykh Konglomeratakh, Kotlyar, V. N., ed.): Economic Geology, v. 59, p. 168-177.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964b, Uniformitarianism and ore genesis: Mining Journal, v. 262, p. 176-177, 179, 181, 183, 185, 244-245, 247, 249, 251, 253.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965a, The mode of origin in banket orebodies: Transactions Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 74, p. 319-337.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965b, Geochemical aspects of atmospheric evolution: Proceedings National Academy of Sciences, v. 53, p. 1194-1204.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966, Selenium in Witwatersrand bankets: Institution of Mining and Metallurgy Transactions, v. 75, Bulletin no. 711, Section B, p. 8108.
- Davidson, C. F., and Bowie, S. R. U., 1951, On thucholite and related hydrocarbon-uraninite complexes: Geological Survey Great Britain Bulletin, v. 3, p. 1-19.
- Davidson, C. F. and Cosgrove, M. E., 1955, On the impersistence of uraninite as a detrital mineral: Bulletin Geological Survey Great Britain, v. 10, p. 74-80.
- Davidson, C. F. and Horne, J. E. T., 1955, The age of the mineralization of the Witwatersrand: Bulletin Geological Survey of Great Britain, v. 10, p. 58-73.
- Davies, D. N., 1950, The development and mineralization of the Ventersdorp Contact Reef Series at Venterspost: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University of Witwatersrand.

- Davis, A. S., 1945, Notes on the development of the Blyvooruitzicht Gold Mining Company: Bulletin South Africa Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, no. 475, 15 p.
- DeCarvalho, H., 1972, Chronologie des formations geologiques Precambriennes de la region centrale du sud-ouest de l'Angola et essai de correlation avec celles du sud-ouest Africain: International Geological Congress, 24th, section 1, p. 187-194.
- De Jager, F. S. J., 1949, Discussion on "The economic auriferous bankets of the upper Witwatersrand beds and their relationship to sedimentation features" by J. W. N. Sharpe: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 52, p. 290-296.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957, Morphological reconstruction of the Kimberley-Elsburg Series, with special reference to the Kimberley Group of sediments in the East Rand basin: Annual, University of Stellenbosch, v. 33, section A, p. 125-196.
- , 1964, The Witwatersrand System in the Springs-Nigel-Heidelberg section of the East Rand basin, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 161-190.
- De Kock, W. P., 1940, The Ventersdorp Contact Reef: its nature, mode of occurrence and economic significance, with special reference to the Far West Rank: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 43, p. 85-108.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1944, Geology applied to mining in South Africa, with special reference to the Witwatersrand: Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 47, p. 23-47.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1949, The Carbon Leader of the Far West Rand with special reference to the proportion of the gold content of this horizon recovered in drilling: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 51, p. 213-238.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1950, Die Vrystaatse Goudvelde: Tydskr. Wet. Kuns., X, no. 2, p. 82-84.
- De Kum, N., 1965, The mineral resources of Africa: New York, Elsevier, 740 p.

De Launay, 1896, Les mines d'or du Transvaal: Paris, 299 p.

- De Launay, 1896, Sur la mode de formation des minerais auriferes du Witwatersrand (Transvaal): Compte Rendue Academy Science, Paris, v. 122, p. 343-346; Neues Jahrbuch Mineralogie, 1897, v. 1, p. 296.
- , 1896, Les Mines d'or du Transvaal: districts du Witwatersrand, d'Heidelberg et de Klerksdorp: Annual Mines, Paris, v. 9, p. 5-201; Transactions Federal Institute of Mining Engineers, v. 11, p. 378-459; Neues Jahrbuch Mineralogic, 1897, v. 1, p. 296; Paris (book), 203 p.
- Des Ligneris, X., and Bernazeaud, J., 1960, Le gisement de mounana (Gabon): Bulletin d'Informations Scientifiques et Techniques (Commissariat àl'Énergie Atomique, Paris), no. 38, p. 4-19.
- Demaret, L., 1897, On the extension of the main reef eastwards beyond Vogelfontein and the nature of the Rietfontein Reef: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 2, p. 143-144.
- Denby, H. G. and Muirhead, W., 1962, The mining of the pyritic zones of the Brakpan footwall channel: Paper Associated Mine Managers Transvaal Circular, no. 4/62
- Denny, G. A., 1897, The Klerksdorp goldfields: London, Macmillan, 251 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1904, Eruptive theory of the origin of the Hospital Hill shales: Journal of South Africa Association of Engineers, v. 11, no. 4, p. 125-190.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1909, The origin of the gold of the Rand goldfields: Economic Geology, (discussion), v. 4, p. 470.
- De Villiers, J. E., 1941, Optical properties and crystallography of zoned pumpellyite from the Witwatersrand: American Mineralogist, v. 26, p. 237-246.
- \_\_\_\_\_, compiler, 1959, The mineral resources of the Union of South Africa, Ed. 4: South Africa Geological Survey.
- De Villiers, J. W. L., Burger, A. J. and Nicolaysen, L. O., 1958, The interpretation of age measurements on the Witwatersrand uraninite: Proceedings 2nd United Nations International Conference on Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, v. 2, p. 237-238.
- De Waal, S. A. and Herzberg, W., 1969, Uranium and gold mineralization in the Kaapschoop area, Nelspruit district, eastern Transvaal: Annual Geological Survey of South Africa, no. 7.
- Dorffel, D., 1903, The Kromdraai quartz reef and its geological association: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 6.

- Dorffel, D., 1904, The relation of the Buffelsdoorn Series to the Lower Witwatersrand beds in the Klerksdorp district: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 7-8.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1904, Discussion on Mr. Denny's paper: Eruptive theory of the origin of the Hospital Hill shales: Journal of South Africa Association of Engineers, v. 11, p. 197-198.
- Dorsey, E. B., 1899, On the Witwatersrand goldfields: Report British Association, p. 592-594.
- Draper, D., 1896, The primary systems of South Africa, with special reference to the conglomerate beds of the Witwatersrand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 12-26.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1896, The auriferous conglomerates of South Africa: Imperial Institute, London.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1897, The extension of the main reef westwards on the farm Witpoortjie: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 2, p. 5-14.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1897, On the connection between the conglomerate beds of the Witwatersrand and those situated in the districts of Potchefstroom and Klerksdorp: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 2, p. 47-51.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1898, The Rand conglomerates: notes on Dr. Becker's paper: Transactions Geological Survey South Africa, v. 3, p. 147-148.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1908, Notes on Zwartkop no. 82: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 11, p. 78-82.

\_\_\_\_, 1911, Some structural features of the Witwatersrand system on the Central Rand, with a note on the Rietfontein Series (discussion): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 14, p. 35-36.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1913, Notes on a section from Barberton to the Komati River: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 16, p. 162-164.

Duff, P. M., Hallum, A., and Walton, E. K., 1967, Cyclic sedimentation: New York, Elsevier Publishing Company, p. 43-48.

DuToit, A. L., 1926, Geology of South Africa: Oliver and Boyd, London.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1931a, Origin of the Witwatersrand System (discussion): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 34, p. 36-38. DuToit, A. L., 1931b, The geology of the country surrounding Nkandla, Natal: Explanation Sheet 109, Geological Survey of South Africa.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1939, Geology of South Africa, 2nd ed.: London, Oliver and Boyd.

, 1940a, An intrusion of quartz dolerite occurring in the Far East Rand, Transvaal (discussion): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 43, p. 64-65.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1940b, Developments on and around the Witwatersrand: Economic Geology, v. 35, p. 98-108, South Africa Mining and Engineering Journal, 51, Pt. 1, no. 2468, 2469, p. 357-359 and 393-395.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1953, Geology of South Africa, 3rd ed.: New York, Hafner Publishing Company.

Ellis, J., 1940, An intrusion of quartz dolerite occurring in the Far East Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 43, p. 127.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1943, A tear-fault in the Far East Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 46, p. 75-90.

, 1946, The simple dykes and sills of the Far East Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 49, p. 213-242.

Emmons, W. H., 1937, Gold deposits of the world: McGraw Hill, p. 423-437.

Engelbrecht, C. J., 1957, The correlation of the Rietfontein Series: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University of Witwatersrand.

Evans, J. W., 1916, Discussion on "The conglomerates of the Witwatersrand" by E. T. Mellor: Transactions Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 25, p. 291-294.

Feakes, J., 1962, Thoughts on the Witwatersrand System, its origin and structure: South Africa Mining Engineering Journal, 26 October, 1962, p. 921-926.

Feather, C. E. and Koen, G. M., 1975, The mineralogy of the Witwatersrand reefs: Mineral Science and Engineering, v. 7, p. 189-224.

Feringa, G., 1954, The northwestern Free State goldfield: contribution to the geological interpretation of the recently discovered goldfield in the northwest of the Orange Free State, with special reference to 1--structure, 2--Kimberley Series: unpublished Dr. Ir. thesis, Delft, Technical Hogeschool, 70 p. The Hague, Excelsior.

- Fisher, M. S., 1939, Notes on the gold, pyrite and carbon in the Rand banket: Bulletin Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London, no. 414, p. 1-36.
- Fletcher, H., 1960, Discussion on "Radioactivity logging" by D. J. Simpson and R. F. Bouwer: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 53, p. 11.
- Fourmarier, P., 1904, Experiences sur la formation de certains conglomerats. Origines des poudinges auriferes du Transvaal: Annual Society of Geology Belgium Bulletin, v. 30, p. 124-128.
- Fowler, A. R. C., 1949, Some notes on pyritic quartzites on the Geldenhuis Deep, Ltd.: Paper Associated Mine Managers Transvaal, 1948-1949, p. 499-511.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968, Mining at Transvaal Gold Mining Estates Limited, 1892-1967: Journal South Africa Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 68, no.7.
- Fox, E. F., 1939, The geophysical and geological investigation of the Far East Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 42, p. 83-122.
- Frames, M. E., 1897, A few observations on the Potchefstroom and Klerksdorp districts: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 2, p. 87-90.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1899, A few notes on Mr. Bleloch's theory on the Rand conglomerates: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 5, p. 26-29.
- Frankel, J. J., 1939, Observations on the mineralogy and treatment of auriferous rocks of the Black Reef Series from the New Machavie Mine: Journal of Chemical Metallurgical and Mineralogical Society of South Africa, v. 24.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1939a, The green colour of the Hospital Hill quartzites: Transactions of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 42, p. 15-17.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1939b, The mineralogy of the Black Reef: South Africa Mining and Engineering Journal, v. 50, Pt. 2, no. 2440, 2441, p. 287-288 and 317-320.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1940, Notes on some minerals in the Black Reef: Transactions of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 3, p. 1-8.

- Frankel, J. J., 1944, On silicates and dusts from the Witwatersrand gold mines: Journal of the South Africa Chemical Society, v. 4, p. 169-179.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1948, Occurrence of troilite: Nature, London, v. 61, no. 4080, p. 63.

, 1949, Dickite from the Witwatersrand gold mines: Mining Magazine, London, v. 28, no. 205, p. 582-586.

- \_\_\_\_\_, 1956, Notes on gold amalgam crystals: Journal of the South Africa Chemical Society, v. 56, p. 451.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957, Abraded pyrite crystals from the Witwatersrand gold mines: Mining Magazine, London, v. 31, no. 236, p. 392-401.
- Frost, A., 1944, Preliminary contribution to the geology of the Odendaalsrus goldfield (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 47, p. 63-68.
- Frost, A., McIntyre, R. C., Papenfus, E. B. and Weiss, O., 1946, The discovery and prospecting of a potential goldfield near Odendaalsrus in the Orange Free State, Union of South Africa: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 49, p. 1-33.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1946, Odendaalsrus goldfield, how it was discovered and prospected: South Africa Mining and Engineering Journal, v. 57, Pt. 2, nos. 2802-2804, p. 177-182, 223-226, 255-256.
- Fuller, A. O., 1957, The Witwatersrand System: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, Princeton University, U.S.A.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1958a, A contribution to the petrology of the Witwatersrand System: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 61, p. 19-50.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1958b, Temperatures of formation of sphalerite from the Bird Reef Group: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 61, p. 97-102.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1960, Discussion on "Further observations on uraniferous conglomerates" by C. F. Davidson: Economic Geology, v. 55, p. 842-843.

- Garlick, W. G., 1953, Reflections on prospecting and ore genesis in northern Rhodesia: Bulletin of the Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, no. 563, p. 9-20.
- Garnier, J., 1896, Gold and diamonds in the Transvaal and the Cape: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 2, p. 91-103; 109-120.

Geological Survey of South Africa, Department of Mines, 1936, The Mineral resources of the Union of South Africa: Special Publication, no. 10, 454 p.

, 1940, The mineral resources of the Union of South Africa. 3rd ed.

- Geological Survey of South Africa, Department of Mines, De Villiers, J. (compiler), 1959, The mineral resources of the Union of South Africa. Handbook 1: Geological Survey of South Africa, 4th ed.
- Gibson, W., 1892, The geology of the gold-bearing and associated rocks of the southern Transvaal: Quarterly Journal of the Geological Society of London, v. 48, p. 404-435.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1893, Geology of the southern Transvaal: Transactions of the Technical Institute of Mining and Engineering, v. 6.

, 1897, Age of the Rand beds: Geological Magazine, v. 4, p. 548-550.

- Goldman, C. S., 1899, Map of the Witwatersrand goldfields: Stanfords Geographical Establishment, London.
- Gotthard, K., 1933, Origin of the auriferous beds and reefs within the South African Witwatersrand: Foldtani Szle., p. 1-47. (Hungarian, with abstract in English.)
- Graham, K. L. and Wartenweiler, F., 1924, A research to determine the size of gold particles in the Witwatersrand banket ore: Journal of the South Africa Chemical Society, v. 24, p. 285-292.
- Grandstaff, D. E., 1974a, Kinetics of uraninite oxidation: implications for the Precambrian atmosphere: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, Princeton University.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974b, Uraninite oxidation and the mid-Precambrian atmosphere: Transactions of the American Geophysical Union, v. 55, p. 457.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, Microprobe analysis of uranium and thorium in uraninite from the Witwatersrand, South Africa, and Blind River, Ontario, Canada: Transactions of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 77, p. 291-294.
- Graton. L. C., 1930, Hydrothermal origin of the Rand gold deposits: Economic Geology, v. 25, supplement to no. 3, 185 p.

Gray, J., 1937, Payable gold: Central News Agency, South Africa.

Greenberg, R., 1963, Structure-gold relationships as revealed by some Witwatersrand mine survey plans: Institution of Mining and Metallurgy Transactions, v. 72, p. 1-10; (discussions) v. 72, p. 278-288, 434-436, 538-543, 612-614, 841-847.

- Gregory, J. W., 1906, The ancient auriferous conglomerates of southern Rhodesia: Transactions Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London, v. 15, p. 563-578.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1908, The origin of the gold in the Rand banket: Transactions Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London, v. 17, p. 2-41.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1909, The origin of the gold of the Rand goldfields: Economic Geology, v. 4, p. 118-129.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1931, Professor Graton on the Rand banket: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa Annexure, v. 34, p. 23-36.
- Hales, A. L., 1961, An upper limit to the age of the Witwatersrand System: Annual New York Academy of Science, v. 91, p. 524-529.
- Hall, A. L., 1925, On the metamorphism of the lower Witwatersrand System in the Vredefort Mountain Land: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 28, p. 135-176.
- Hall, A. L. and Humphrey, W. A., 1906, The Black Reef Series and the underlying formations in the neighbourhood of Kromdraai and Zwartkop, north of Krugersdorp: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 9, p. 10-15.
- Hall, A. L. and Molengraaf, G. A. F., 1925, The Vredefort Mountain Land in the southern Transvaal and the northern Orange Free State: Verhandlungen Akademee Wetenschappen Amsterdam, v. 24, no. 3, p. 1-183.
- Hallbauer, D. K., 1972, Distribution and size of gold particles in reefs: Chamber of Mines of South Africa, 10th Annual Research Report, p. 24-29.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, The biological nature of the carbon in some Witwatersrand reefs and its association with gold. Research report, Chamber of Mines South Africa, no. 9173, 14 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974a, Nature of reefs: Chamber of Mines of South Africa, 12th Annual Research Report, p. 45-55.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974b, Gold and other heavy minerals in reefs: Chamber of Mines of South Africa, 12th Annual Research Report, p. 48-53.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, The plant origin of the Witwatersrand 'carbon': Minerals Science Engineering, v. 7, p. 111-131.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Epitaxial growth of secondary gold on authigenic pyrite in some Witwatersrand reefs: Chamber of Mines of South Africa.
- Hallbauer, D. K., Jahns, H. M. and Beltmann, H. A., 1975, Morphological and anatomical observations on some Precambrian plants from the Witwatersrand, South Africa: Chamber of Mines of South Africa Research Report, 49/75, 22 p.
- Hallbauer, D. K. and Joughin, N. C., 1972, Distribution and size of gold particles in the Witwatersrand reefs and their effects on sampling procedures: Transactions, Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 81, p. A133-A142.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, The size distribution and morphology of gold particles in Witwatersrand reefs and their crushed products: South Africa Institution of Mining and Metallurgy Journal, v. 76, p. 395-405.
- Hallbauer, D. K., and Utter, T., 1976, Geochemical and morphological characteristics of gold particles from recent river deposits and the fossil placers of the Witwatersrand: Chamber of Mines of South Africa Research Report, 73/76, 18 p.
- Hallbauer, D. K. and Van Warmelo, K. T., 1974, Fossilized plants in thucholite from Precambrian rocks of the Witwatersrand, South Africa: Precambrian Research, v. 1, p. 199-212.
- Hamilton, G. N. and Cooke, H. B., 1960, Geology for South African students (4th ed.): Constantia News Agency, Johannesburg, 275 p.
- Hammerbeck, E. C. I., 1976, Gold outside the Witwatersrand Triad, in Coetzee, C. B. (ed.); Mineral Resources of the Republic of South Africa, 5th. ed.: Geological Survey of South Africa, p. 75-92.
- Hargraves, R. B., 1960, A bibliography of the geology of the Witwatersrand system: University of Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit information circular, no. 1, 47 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961, Silver content of gold in Witwatersrand conglomerates: Information Circular, Economic Geology Research Unit University Witwatersrand, no. 3.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1962, Crossbedding and ripple marks in the Main-Bird quartzites in the East Rand area: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 65, p. 263-279.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1963a, Silver-gold ratios in some Witwatersrand conglomerates: Economic Geology, v. 58, p. 952-970, discussion 1964, v. 59, p. 325.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1963b, A bibliography of the geology of the Witwatersrand system: University Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit information circular, no. 15, 60 p.

- Harmer, 1933, The genesis of the Rand conglomerates: South Africa Mining Engineering Journal, v. 44, Pt. 2, no. 2164, p. 261.
- Hatch, F. H., 1895, The auriferous conglomerates of the Witwatersrand, Transvaal: Report to British Association, p. 691-692.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1898, A geological survey of the Witwatersrand: Quarterly Journal Geological Society of London, v. 54, p. 73-100.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1903, A description of two geological sections taken through the Potchefstroom district: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 6, p. 50-51.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1903, Notes on the Witwatersrand beds, Transvaal: Geology Magazine, v. 10, p. 543-547.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1903, Notes on the Witwatersrand gold deposits and their associated rocks: South Africa Association of Engineers, v. 2, p. 35; Geology Magazine, p. 543.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1904, The extension of the Witwatersrand beds eastward under the dolomite and the Ecca Series of the southern Transvaal: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 57-69.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1904, The oldest sedimentary rocks of the Transvaal: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 147-150.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1905, New facts bearing on the extension of the Main Reef eastward (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 8, p. 71.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1906, The geological history of the South African formations: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 9, p. 21-34.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1913, Impoverishment with depth on the Rand (letter to editor): Mining Magazine, London, v. 9, p. 450-451.

- Hatch, F. H. and Chalmers, J. A., 1895, The gold mines of the Rand: Macmillan and Company, London.
- Hatch, F. H. and Corstorphine, G. S., 1904, The geology of the Bezuidenhout Valley and the district east of Johannesburg: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 97-109.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1904, The petrography of the Witwatersrand conglomerates with special reference to the origin of the gold: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 140-145.

Hatch, F. H. and Corstorphine, G. S., 1905, The geology of South Africa, 1st ed.: Macmillan Company.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1905, The geology of South Africa, 2nd ed.: Macmillan and Company, London.

- Haughton, S. H., 1934, The Witwatersrand rocks in the Klerksdorp and Ventersdorp districts (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 37, p. 61-63.
- Haughton, S. H., 1963, The stratigraphic history of Africa south of the Sahara: London, Oliver and Boyd, 365 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, ed., 1964, Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa; v. l, Gold deposits of the Witwatersrand Basin: Geological Society of South Africa, v. l, 616 p.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Geological history of southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa Special Publication, Cape Town, Cape and Transvaal Printers Ltd.

- Haughton, S. H. and Nel, L. T., 1934, Observations on the correlations of certain rock units in the upper Witwatersrand beds: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 37, p. 145-152.
- Heinrich, E. W., 1958, Witwatersrand, Union of South Africa, in Mineralogy and geology of radioactive raw materials: McGraw-Hill, New York, p. 319-324.
- Henderson, J. McC., 1905, New facts bearing on the extension of the Main Reef eastward: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 8, p. 151-157.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1906, New facts of the extension of the Main Reef eastward (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 9, p. 41.
- , 1907, Petrographical note on the Kimberley Slates in the Eastern Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 10, p. 1-5.
- Hendricks, L. P., 1964, Quantitative evidence of the alteration of zircon grains in the Dominion Reef: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 64, p. 211-217.
- Hiemstra, S. A., 1968a, The mineralogy and petrology of the uraniferous conglomerate of the Dominion Reefs mine, Klerksdorp area: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 71, p. 1-65.

- Hiemstra, S. A., 1968b, The geochemistry of the uraniferous conglomerate of the Dominion Reefs mine, Klerksdorp area: Geological Society of South Africa, Transactions, v. 71, p. 67-100.
- Hirst, T., 1938, The geology of the Tarkwa goldfield and adjacent country. Gold Coast Geology Survey Bulletin, v. 10, 24 p.
- Hoefs, J., Nielsen, H., and Schidlowski, M., 1968, Sulphur isotope abundances in pyrite from the Witwatersrand conglomerates: Economic Geology, v. 63, p. 975-977.
- Hoefs, J. and Schidlowski, M., 1967, Carbon isotope composition of carbonaceous matter from the Precambrian of the Witwatersrand system: Science, New York, v. 155, p. 1096-1097.
- Homersham, E., 1931, Origin of the gold in the Witwatersrand conglomerate: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, Annexure, v. 34, p. 15-18.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1938, Note on the occurrence of visible gold at Randfontein Estates (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 41, p. 53.
- Hope, P., 1873, Journey from Natal via the South African Republic: Journal of the Geographic Society of London, v. 44, p. 203-217.
- Horne, J. E. T. and Davidson, C. F., 1955, The age of the mineralization of the Witwatersrand: Bulletin Geological Survey of Great Britain, v. 10, p. 58-73.
- Horwood, C. B., 1905, The Witwatersrand and associated beds: Johannesburg, Esson and Perkins, 88 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1910, Notes and analyses of typical Transvaal rocks: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 13, p. 29-55.
- \_\_\_\_, 1910, The mode of occurrence and genesis of the carbon in the Rand bankets: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 13, p. 65.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912, Iridosmine from the New Rietfontein mines: its occurrence, analysis and genesis: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 15, p. 51-62.
- , 1912, The normal section of the lower Witwatersrand System on the Central Rand, and its connection with West Rand sections (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 15, p. 35-46.

Horwood, C. B., 1913, The Rand banket: Mining Scientific Press, 107 p.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1917, The gold deposits of the Rand: London, Charles Griffin and Company.

- Humphrey, W. A., 1910, The geology of the valley of the Klip River: Annual Report Geological Survey Transvaal, p. 89-98.
- Humphrey, W. A. and Krige, L. J., 1931, The geology of the country south of Piet Retief: Geological Survey of South Africa, Explanation Sheet 68.
- Hunter, D. R., 1974, Crustal development in the Kaapvaal Craton: Precambrian Research, v. 1, p. 259-326.
- Jacob, R. E., 1966, The geology of the Vaal Reefs gold mine, western Transvaal: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, Rhodes University, Grahamstown, 118 p.
- Jacobsen, W., 1943, Ausbildung und petrographie der sudafrikanischen Ventersdorp-Formation im sudwestlichen Transvaal und nordlichen Oranje-Freistaat.: Neues Jahrbuck Mineralogie Geologie Palaontologie Abteilung A, Abhandlungen Band 78, pp. 217-282.
- Jager, F. S. J. de, 1964, The Witwatersrand system in the Springs-Nigel-Heidelberg section of the East Rand basin, in Haughton, S. H., General Editor, The geology of some ore deposits in Southern Africa: Geologic Society of South Africa, Johannesburg, v. 1, p. 161-190.
- James, S., 1925, Geological features of the Witwatersrand and observations during the working of mines: Transactions Royal Geological Society of Cornwall, v. 15, p. 395-399.
- Jeppe, F., 1896, Map of the southern goldfields of the Transvaal, compiled from official sources (1,600 Cape roods = 1 in.), Pretoria.
- Johnson, J. P., 1905, Notes on a section through the Witwatersrand beds: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 146.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1906, The Main Reef horizon on the eastern edge of the Witpoortje break: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 9, p. 16-18.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1909, Further notes on the auriferous conglomerates of the Witwatersrand, with a discussion on the origin of the gold (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 12, p. 47.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1909, Notes on the occurrence of acid intrusives in the Witwatersrand System (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 12, p. 44-45.

- Jones, G. C., 1936, Correlation and other aspects of the exploited auriferous horizons on the Witwatersrand mining field: Geological Society of South Africa Proceedings, v. 39, p. 23-41.
- Jorissen, E., 1906, Structural and stratigraphical notes on the Klerksdorp district with special reference to the unconformity beneath the Elsburg Series: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 9, p. 40-52.
- Joseph, E. H. A., 1931, Memorandum on the Footwall Reef on the Far East Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, Annexure, v. 34, p. 37-48.
- Junner, N. R., 1935, Gold in the Gold Coast: Gold Coast Geological Survey Memoir, no. 4.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1959, The occurrence of uranium in ancient conglomerates (discussion): Economic Geology, v. 54, p. 1320-1323.

- Junner, N. R., Hirst, T., Service, H., 1942, The Tarkwa goldfield: Gold Coast Geological Survey Memoir, no. 6, 75 p.
- Kassner, T., 1933, Geology of the eastern Rand Basin: explanatory notes on the new map of the East Rand, Nigel and Heidelberg goldfields: South Africa Mining Engineering Journal, v. 44, no. 2166, p. 315-316.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1933, The geology of the Witpoortje Break (Theo. Kassner's map): South Africa Mining Engineering Journal, v. 44, no. 2164, p. 229.
- Katayama, N., 1960, Genesis of uranium deposits in sedimentary rocks: Report International Geological Congress, Session no. 21, Pt. 15, p. 7-13.
- Keep, F. E., 1931, Discussion on the origin of the gold in the Witwatersrand System: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, Annexure, v. 34, p. 49-54.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1934, Some occurrences of native gold at the City Deep Mine, Johannesburg: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 37, p. 97-102.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1940, The Ventersdorp contact reef, its nature, mode of occurrence and economic significance, with special reference to the Far West Rand (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, 43 p., p. 63-64.
- Kessler, 1904, The gold mines of the Witwatersrand: London, Stanford and Company, 135 p.

- Knowles, A. G., 1966, A paleocurrent study of the Ventersdorp Contact Reef at Western Deep Levels Limited, on the Far West Rand: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University Witwatersrand, 125 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, A sedimentological investigation of borehole intersections of the Basal Reef in the southern part of the central area of the Orange Free State goldfields: unpublished report, Anglo American Corporation South Africa, 10 p.
- Koen, G. M., 1958, The attrition of uraninite: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 61, p. 183-196.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961, The genetic significance of the size distribution of uraninite in Witwatersrand bankets: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 64, p. 23-54.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964, Rounded platinoid grains in the Witwatersrand banket: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 67, p. 139.
- Kolbe, P., Pinson, W. H., Saul, J. M., and Miller, E. W., 1967, Rb-Sr study on country rocks of the Busumtwi Crater, Ghana: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 31, p. 869-875.
- Köppel, V. H. and Saager, R., 1973, Lead isotope evidence for the detrital origin of Witwatersrand gold: University Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit Information Circular no. 79, p. 1-17.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974, Lead isotope evidence on the detrital origin of the Witwatersrand pyrites and its bearing on the provenance of the Witwatersrand gold: Economic Geology, v. 69, p. 318-331.
- Kovaloff, P., 1934, Observations on the correlations of certain rock units in the upper Witwatersrand beds (discussion): Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa, v. 37, p. 69-81.
- Krahmann, R., 1930, Magnetic investigations as an aid to economic geology: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 33, p. 65-87.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1936, The geophysical magnetometric investigations of West Witwatersrand areas between Randfontein and Potchefstroom, Transvaal: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 39, p. 1-44.
- Kransdorff, D., 1937, Note on the occurrence of visible gold at Randfontein Estates: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 40, p. 121-126.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1938, Contributions to the geology of the Far West Rand (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 41, p. 53-54.

- Kransdorff, D., 1938, Notes on the occurrence of visible gold at Randfontein Estates (reply to Mr. Homersham): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 41, p. 59.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1945, Additional notes on the upper Witwatersrand System at Randfontein Estates: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 48, p. 11-13.
- Krause, H. L., 1912, A contribution to the structural geology of the East Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 15, p. 93-99.
- Krenkel, E., 1934, Geologie Afrikas: Gebruder Borntraeger, Berlin.
- Krige, D. G., 1960, The departure of ore-value distributions from the log-normal model in South African gold mines: South African Institution of Mining and Metallurgy Journal, v. 61, p. 231-244.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1966, A study of gold and uranium distribution patterns in the Klerksdorp gold field: Geoexploration, v. 4, p. 43-53.

- Krige, L. J., 1948, Borehole temperatures in the Transvaal and Orange Free State: Bulletin Geological Survey of South Africa, v. 18.
- Kroner, A., 1976, Proterozoic crustal evolution in parts of southern Africa and evidence for extensive sialic crust since the end of the Archean: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. A280, p. 541-554.
- Kubale, G., 1896, On the geology of the Klerksdorp goldfields of the South African Republic: Report to State Mining Engineer, Pretoria, p. 50.
- Kun, N. de, 1965, South Africa (gold), in The mineral resources of Africa: Elsevier Publishing Company, Amsterdam, p. 329-335 (includes Welkom, Klerksdorp, Barberton, and Pilgrim's Rest).
- Kuntz, J., 1895, The Rand conglomerates: how they were formed: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 113-122.
- , 1896, Ein Beitrag zur geologie des Witwatersrandes (Sudafrikanische Republik): Berg. u. huttenm. Ztg., v. 55, p. 1-5.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1897, Criticism of Mr. Schmutz-Dumont's river-bed theory: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 2, p. 128-130.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1903, Remarks on the Rand conglomerates: Engineering Mining Journal, v. 76, p. 575-576.

- Kuntz, J., 1903, The Main Reef horizon in the Klerksdorp district: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 6, p. 106-110.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1908, Die Herkunft des goldes in den conglom. des Witwatersrand: Monatsbericht Deutsche Geologie Gesellschaft, 1908, p. 172-180.
- Kynaston, H., 1905, On a portion of the dolomite, Black Reef and granite area, south of Pretoria: Annual Report Geological Survey of Transvaal, 1904, p. 67-70.
- , 1906, The Black Reef Series and the underlying formations in the neighbourhood of Kromdraai and Zwartkop, north of Krugersdorp (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 9, p. 39-40.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1907, The marginal phenomena and geological relations of the granite north of Johannesburg: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 10, p. 51.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1908, The stratigraphy of Zwartkop 82 (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 11, p. 38-43.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1908, Notes on Zwartkop no. 82 (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 11, p. 44-45.
- Lange, E., 1958, Zur genese der Witwatersrand-Erze: Zältschrift Angewandte Geologie, v. 5, p. 238-241.
- Launay, L. de, 1896, Les mines d'or Transvaal: districts de Witwatersrand, d'Heidelberg et de Klerksdorp: Annales de Mines Paris, 9th series, v. 9, p. 5-201.
- Lawn, J. G., 1924, Presidential address on subject of silver in Witwatersrand ores: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 27, p. 19-31.
- Lenthall, D. H., 1972, Quantitative compositional variations in Witwatersrand conglomerates in the East Rand-Delmas area: University Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit Information Circular no. 68, 12 p.
- Letcher, O., 1930, The Witwatersrand goldfield: Engineering Mining World, p. 433-434.
- Levainville, J., 1921, Le degre geothermique dans les mines d'or du Witwatersrand et de minas geraes: Annales de Geographia, v. 30, p. 149.

- Liebenberg, W. L., 1973, Mineralogical features of gold ores in South Africa, in Adamson, R. J., Editor, Gold metallurgy in South Africa: Chamber Mines South Africa, Johannesburg, p. 352-446.
- Liebenberg, W. R., 1948, Rare minerals in the banket of the Witwatersrand System: U. S. Atomic Energy Commission N. P. 3992, restricted; unpublished D. Sc. thesis, University Pretoria.
- , 1955, The occurrence and origin of gold and radioactive minerals in the Witwatersrand System, the Dominion Reef, the Ventersdorp Contact Reef and the Black Reef: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 58, p. 101-223.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1956, A mineralogical approach to the development of the uraniumextraction processes practised on the Witwatersrand: Journal South Africa Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 57.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958, The mode of occurrence and theory of origin of the uranium minerals and gold in the Witwatersrand ores: Proceedings 2nd United Nations International Conference on Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, v. 2, p. 379-387.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1960, On the origin of uranium, gold and osmiridium in the conglomerates of the Witwatersrand goldfields: Neues Jahrbuch Mineralogie Abhandlungen Band 94, 2 Halfte, p. 831-867.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961, Forensic mineralogy with special reference to the Erfdeel enquiry: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 64, p. 9-48.
- Lindgren, W., 1933, Mineral deposits, 4th ed.: New York, McGraw-Hill, p. 240-246.
- Lindhorst, B. H., 1915, The East Rand (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 18, p. 39-41.
- Lodin, A., 1896, Sur la mode de formation des conglomerats auriferes: Compte Rendue Acadamie Science, Paris, v. 122, p. 637-640.
- Louw, J. D., 1954, Geological age determinations on Witwatersrand uraninites using the lead isotope method (with appendix by F.W.E. Strelow): Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 57, p. 209-230.
- Luffman, W. W., 1926, The world's greatest goldfield: how and by whom it was found. The story of Mr. Fred Struben's discovery: "South Africa", London, p. 52.
- Luttman-Johnson, H., 1904, Notes on the geology of the Fortuna Valley: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 136-139.

Macadam, P., 1931, The distribution of gold and carbon in the Witwatersrand bankets: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, Annexure, v. 34, p. 81-88.

\_\_\_\_, 1936, The heavier metals and minerals in the Witwatersrand banket: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 39, p. 77-79.

- Macer, L. W., 1918, Notes on the Footwall beds of the Far East Rand: J. Chemical Society of South Africa, v. 19, Nov., p. 70-73.
- Macgregor, A. M., 1953, Reply to Davidson's paper, The gold-uranium ores of the Witwatersrand: Mining Magazine, v. 88, p. 281-282.
- Maclaren, J. M., 1908, Gold: Its geological occurrence and geographical distribution: London, The Mining Journal, p. 95-98.
- Malan, S. P., 1959, The petrology and mineralogy of the rocks of the Dominion Reef system near Klerksdorp: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University Witwatersrand.
- Maree, B. D., 1944, Preliminary contribution to the geology of the Odendaalsrus goldfield (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 47, p. 68-70.
- Marland, E. F., 1941, The stratigraphy of Zwartkop: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University Witwatersrand.
- Marquard, J. D., 1934, Notes on the geology and the possibility of mining certain gold-bearing reefs around the Vredefort granite plug in the Orange Free State and the southern part of the Potchefstroom district in the Transvaal: Journal of South Africa Chemical Society, v. 34, p. 102-111.
- Marriot, H. F., 1904, Notes on the chemical composition of the Hospital Hill shales: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 27-29.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1916, Map of the central portion of the Witwatersrand: gold contents of Main Reef leader. 1:10,000.

- Martin, H., 1965, The Precambrian geology of South West Africa and Namaqualand, Wynberg, Cape Province: The Rustica Press (Pty.) Ltd., 159 p.
- Mathers, E. P., 1887, The gold fields revisited: Durban, Davis and Sons, 352 p.
- Matthews, P. S., and Scharrer, R. H., 1968, A graded unconformity at the base of the Early Precambrian Pongola System: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 71, p. 257-272.

- McDonald, D. P., 1911, The intrusive rocks of the Witwatersrand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 14, p. 89-98.
- McKinney, J. S., and others, 1964, Geology of the Anglo American Group mines in the Welkom area, Orange Free State goldfield, <u>in</u> Haughton,
  S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 451-506.
- McLachlan, C., 1968, A grain-size study of zircon and chromite in the Vaal Reef of the Klerksdorp goldfield, Transvaal: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, 106 p.
- McWhirter, D. J. L., 1956, Witwatersrand gold and uranium: Mining Magazine, London, v. 94, p. 84-86, 148-150, 211-213.
- Mellor, E. T., 1908, The geology of the central portion of the Potchefstroom district: Annual Report Geological Survey of Transvaal, 1907, p. 11-30.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1911a, The geology of a portion of the central Witwatersrand: Annual Report Geological Survey of South Africa, 1910, p. 23-37.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1911b, Some structural features of the Witwatersrand System on the Central Rand, with a note on the Rietfontein Series: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 14, p. 24-42.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1911c, The normal section of the lower Witwatersrand System: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 14, p. 93-131.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912a, The geology of the western Witwatersrand: Annual Report Geological Survey of South Africa, v. 16, p. 1-32.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912b, The lower Witwatersrand System on the Central Rand: Annual Report Geological Survey of South Africa for 1911, p. 33-60.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1913a, Structural features of the western Witwatersrand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 16, p. 1-32.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1913b, On the mode of deposition of the auriferous conglomerates of the Witwatersrand: International Geological Congress, Toronto, Canada, p. 895-900.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1915a, The upper Witwatersrand System: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 18, p. 11-57.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1915b, Conditions of deposition of the Witwatersrand System: Mining Magazine, London, v. 13, p. 255-262.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1915c, The East Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 18, p. 57-71.

- Mellor, E. T., 1915d, The Far East Rand: Mining Magazine, London, v. 13, p. 255-262, 313-320.
- , 1916, The conglomerates of the Witwatersrand: Transactions Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 25, p. 226-291, Journal South Africa Chemical Society, v. 16, p. 144-180.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1917, The geology of the Witwatersrand--explanation of geological map: Special Publication, Geological Survey of South Africa, no. 3.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1920, Distribution of the pebbles in the Rand banket and other features of the rock (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 23, p. 47-51.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1921, The geology of the neighbourhood of Heidelberg (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 24, p. 39-42.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1931a, The origin of the gold in the Rand banket. Discussion on Prof. Graton's paper: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa Annexure, v. 34, p. 55-70.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1931b, Origin of the Witwatersrand System (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 34, p. 38-40.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1932, Geology of the Witwatersrand, <u>in</u> Witwatersrand Mining Practice, ch. 2, by Watermeyer, G. A. and Hoffenberg, S. N.: Johannesburg.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1936, Notes on the conditions of deposition of portions of the Witwatersrand System: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 39, p. 211-213.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1938, The upper Witwatersrand System at Randfontein Estates (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 41, p. 72-74.
- Mendelssohn, E., 1933, Notes on a vein containing cobaltite, gold and apatite, on the Far East Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 35, p. 191-192.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1938, The Black Reef Series in the Klerksdorp and Randfontein areas (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 41, p. 62-64.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1944, Notes on some sulphide minerals from the Far East Rand: Journal South Africa Chemical Society, v. 45, p. 84-90.
- Mendelssohn, E., Burger, A. J., Nicolaysen, L. O. and de Villiers, J. W. L., 1958, Age of monazite crystals from the Sub-Nigel Mine, Witwatersrand: Abstract Annual Congress Geological Society of South Africa.

- Mendelssohn, E. and Marland, E. F., 1934, An occurrence of monazite in the Sub-Nigel Mine, Witwatersrand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 36, p. 113-115.
- Mikalik, P. and Saager, R., 1968a, Chromite grains showing altered borders from the Basal Reef, Witwatersrand system: American Mineralogy, v. 53, p. 1543-1550

\_\_\_\_\_, 1968b, Chromite grains showing altered borders from the Basal Reef, Witwatersrand system: University Witwatersrand Economic Geological Research Unit Information Circular no. 43.

- Miholic, S., 1954, Genesis of the Witwatersrand gold-uranium deposits: Economic Geology, v. 49, p. 537-540.
- Minnitt, R. C., Button, A. and Kable, E. J., 1973, The gold content of the Precambrian sediments in the Transvaal Super Group: Economic Geological Research Unit, Information Circular, no. 82, Johannesburg.
- Minter, W. E. L., 1970, Gold distribution related to the sedimentology of a Precambrian Witwatersrand conglomerate, South Africa, as outlined by moving-average analysis: Economic Geology, v. 65, p. 963-969.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1972, The sedimentology of the Vaal Reef in the Klerksdorp area: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg.
- Minter, W. E. L., 1976, Detrital gold, uranium, and pyrite concentrations related to sedimentology in the Precambrian Vaal Reef placer, Witwatersrand, South Africa: Economic Geology, v. 71, p. 157-176.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1977, Sedimentologic synthesis of fossil gold, uranium and pyrite concentrations in Proterozoic Witwatersrand placers, South Africa (abstract): American Association Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, v. 61, p. 815.
- Minter, W. E. L., and Toens, P. D., 1970, Experimental simulation of gold deposition in gravel beds: Geological Society South Africa Transactions, v. 73, p. 89-98.
- Molengraaff, G. A. F., 1891, De geologische gestelheid van de Goudvelden op het Hoogveld in de Transvaal: Hand. 3e Ned. Nat. en Geneesk. Congr., p. 340-345.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1903, Remarks on the Vredefort Mountain Land: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 6, p. 20-26.
- , 1904, Notes on the geology of a portion of Klerksdorp district with special reference to the development of the lower Witwatersrand beds and the Vaal river system: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 16-25.

- Molengraaff, G. A. F., 1904, The Vredefort Mountain Land: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 7, p. 115-116.
- , 1904, Geology of the Transvaal: Esson and Perkins, Johannesburg.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1905, The oldest sedimentary rocks of the Transvaal (discussion): Proceedings of Geological Society of South Africa, v. 8, p. 29-32.
- Nel, L. T., 1927, The geology of the country around Vredefort: Special Publication Geological Survey of South Africa, no. 6.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1933, The Witwatersrand System outside the Rand: Proceedings of of Geological Society of South Africa, v. 36, p. 23-48.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1934, The Witwatersrand rocks in the Klerksdorp and Ventersdorp districts: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 37, p. 103-143; Preliminary Report Department of Mining Geology Series B., no. 1; Bulletin Geological Survey of South Africa, v. 1.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1935, The geology of the Klerksdorp-Ventersdorp area. Explanation of geological map no. 37: Special Publication Geological Survey of South Africa, no. 9.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1935, The geology of Ventersdorp and adjoining country. Explanation of geological map no. 53, with H. F. Frommurze, J. Willemse and S. H. Haughton: Geological Survey of South Africa, Explanatory Sheet no. 53, 80 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1939, The geology of the country around Potchefstroom and Klerksdorp. Explanation of geological map no. 61: Geological Survey of South Africa.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958, The occurrence of uranium in the Union of South Africa: Proceedings 2nd United Nations International Conference Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, v. 2, p. 54-86.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1959, Uranium and thorium in the Union of South Africa. (Uranium et throium en Union Sud Africaine.): Chronique Mines d'Outre-Mer, Paris an 27, no. 279, p. 325-331.
- , 1960, The genetic problem of uraninite in the South African goldbearing conglomerates: Report to International Geological Congress, Session no. 21, Pt. 15, p. 15-25.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1960, The geology of the Orange Free State goldfield, <u>in</u> Coetzee, C. B., ed., Geological Survey of South Africa Memoir 49.

- Nel, L. T., Frommurze, H. F., Willemse, J. and Haughton, S. H., 1935, The geology of Ventersdorp and adjoining country: Explanation Sheet 53, Geological Survey of South Africa.
- Nel, L. T. and Jansen, H., 1957, The geology of the country around Vereeniging: Explanation Sheet no. 62, Geological Survey of South Africa.
- Nicolaysen, L. O., 1962, Stratigraphic interpretation of age measurements in southern Africa: Petrologic studies: a volume to honour A. F. Buddington: Geological Society of America, p. 569-598.
- Nicolaysen, L. O., Burger, A. J., and Liebenberg, W. R., 1962, Evidence for the extreme age of certain minerals from the Dominion Reef conglomerates and underlying granite in the western Transvaal: Geochimica Cosmochimica Acta, v. 26, p. 15-23.
- Nicolaysen, L. O., Burger, A. J. and de Villiers, J. W. L., 1962, Lead isotope compositions of galenas from the Witwatersrand and Orange Free State and their relation to the Witwatersrand and Dominion Reef uraninites: Geochimica Cosmochimica Acta, v. 26, p. 25-59.
- Niekerk, C. B. and Burger, A. J., 1964a, The age of the Ventersdorp System: Geological Survey of South Africa Annual, v. 3, p. 75-86.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964b, Lead isotope data relating to the age of the Dominion Reef lava: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 72, p. 37-45.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Lead isotope data relating to the age of the Dominion Reef lava: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 72, Pt. 11, p. 37-45.
- Olivier, H.J., 1965, The tectonics of the upper division of the Witwarersrand system in the Loraine area of the Orange Free State goldfield: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 65, p. 197-202.
- Olver, J. S., 1911, Faults and dykes: a geological study of the Witwatersrand: Cape Town.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912, The lower Witwatersrand System on the Central Rand, and its connection with West Rand sections (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 15, p. 56-61.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1925, The problem of Rand geology: South Africa Mining Engineering Journal, no. 1782, p. 377-379; no. 1785, p. 399-402, no. 1786, p. 431-433; no. 1787, p. 467-469.

- Olver, J. S., 1926, The problem of Rand geology: South Africa Mining Engineering Journal, no. 1788, p. 489-492; no. 1789, p. 513-516; no. 1804, p. 191-194; no. 1805, p. 221-223.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1927, The human element in Rand geology: South Africa Mining Engineering Journal, no. 1877, p. 71-72; no. 1867, p. 559-561; no. 1874, p. 751-753, no. 1875, p. 19-20.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1931, Rand geological problems: South Africa Mining Engineering Journal, no. 2098, p. 374.

- Ortlepp, R. J., 1962, On the occurrence of uranothorite in the Dominion Reef: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 65, Pt. 1, p. 197-202.
- Ortlepp, W. D., 1960, An approximate determination of the shear strengths of some Witwatersrand quartzites: South Africa Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 61, no. 5.
- Papenfus, J. A., 1957, The geology of Government Gold Mining Areas and the New State Areas, with particular reference to channel sediments and the origin of minerals of economic importance: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University South Africa.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964a, The Black Reef Series within the Witwatersrand basin with special reference to its occurrence at Government Gold Mining Areas, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 191-218.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1964b, The geology of the Western Areas gold mine and vicinity, <u>in</u> Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 387-391.

Pegg, C. W., 1950, A contribution to the geology of the West Rand area: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 53, p. 209-227.

- Pelletier, R. A., 1937, Contributions to the geology of the Far West Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 40, p. 127-162.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1939, The upper Witwatersrand System at Randfontein Estates: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 42, p. 48-53.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1940, Pyrrhotite as an enriching factor in Rand ores: Journal of South Africa Chemical Society, v. 40, p. 353-365.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1959, The occurrence of uranium in ancient conglomerates (discussion): Economic Geology, v. 54, p. 325-328.

- Pelletier, R. A., 1941, Mineral resources of South Africa and the Rhodesias and their importance in relation to the mineral wealth of the British empire: Proceedings Geological Society of South Africa: v. 44, p. 25-70.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964, Mineral resources of south-central Africa: Oxford University Press, 277 p.
- Penning, W. H., 1888, The South African goldfields: Journal of the Society of Arts, London, v. 36, p. 433-444.
- , 1890, Geology and gold mining. On the geology of the Witwatersrand, with reference to gold mining: Witwatersrand Mining and Metallurgy Review, v. 1, no. 9, p. 11; no. 10, p. 12-14.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1891, A contribution to the geology of the southern Transvaal: Quarterly Journal Geological Society of London, v. 70, p. 451-461.
- Penny, F. W., 1914, The Vredefort granite in relation to the Witwatersrand System: Quarterly Journal Geological Society of London, v. 70, p. 328-335.
- Penrose, R. A. F., Jr., 1907, The Witwatersrand gold region, Transvaal, South Africa as seen in recent mining developments: Journal of Geology, v. 15, p. 735-749.
- Pienaar, P. J., 1973, Sedimentological and structural guides in prospecting for auriferous and uraniferous conglomerates in the Witwatersrand System, Republic of South Africa (abstract), in Resuma das comunicacdes, simposios e conferencias: Congresso Brasileiro de Geologia no. 27, v. 2, p. 22.
- Pieterse, D. J., 1943, Die geskiedenis van die mynindustrie in Transvaal, 1836-1886: Archives year book for South African history, sixth year.
- Pirow, H., 1920, Distribution of pebbles in the Rand banket and other features of the rock: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 23, p. 64-97.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1924, Investigations regarding the existence of an alleged break in the continuity of the reef mined in the Cason-Blue Sky section of the E. R. P. M. : South Africa Journal of Industry, v. 7, p. 812-817.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1935, Die goudmynbedryf van Suid Afrika: Witwatersrandse Universiteitpers.
- Plumstead, E. P., 1969, Three thousand million years of plant life in Africa: Annexure to Geological Society of South Africa, v. 72.

- Poole, P. G., 1890, Map of the Klerksdorp goldfields: Diggers News Company, Johannesburg.
- Prashnowsky, A. A., and Schidlowski, M., 1967a, Investigation of Precambrian thucolite: Nature, v. 216, p. 560-563.
- Prashnowsky, A. A. and Schidlowski, H., 1967b, Investigation of Precambrian thucolite: Nature, v. 216, p. 660-663.
- Prentice, T. K., 1940, Precious metal constituents of Witwatersrand ores: Annual Proceedings Associated Science and Technology Society South Africa.
- Pretorius, D. A., 1962, Results of research on Witwatersrand and Ventersdorp Systems: Mining Industry Review, v. 106, no. 5, p. 11, 14-15.
- Pretorius, D. A., 1963, Geology of the Central Rand goldfields: University Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit Information Circular no. 13, 69 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964a, The geology of the Central Rand goldfield, <u>in</u> Haughton, S. H., ed., Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geology Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 63-108.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964b, The geology of the South Rand goldfield, <u>in</u> Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geology Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 219-282.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964c, The geology of the South Rand goldfield: University Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit Information Circular no. 17, 86 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965a, The evolution of Precambrian basins in South Africa: a conceptual stratigraphic process-response model (abstract): Geological Society of South Africa, Synopsis Papers 8th Annual Congress, p. 28-30.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965b, Sixth Annual Report: University Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit, 33 p.
- , 1966a, Conceptual geological models in the exploration for gold mineralization in the Witwatersrand Basin: University Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit, Information Circular no. 33, 38 p.
- , 1966b, Conceptual geological models in the exploration for gold mineralization in the Witwatersrand Basin, <u>in</u> Symposium on mathematical statistics and computer application in ore valuation, Johannesburg: South Africa Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 1966, p. 225-275.

- Pretorius, D. A., 1966c, Recorrelation of alleged Witwatersrand correlatives: Annual Report Economic Geology Research Unit, University Witwatersrand, no. 8, p. 17.
  - \_\_\_\_, 1968, Mineral exploration in southern Africa; problems and prognosis for the next twenty years: University Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit Information Circular no. 50, 15 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974a, The nature of the Witwatersrand gold-uranium deposits: Economical Geology Research Unit Information Circular no. 86, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, 50 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974b, Gold in the Proterozoic sediments of South Africa: systems, paradigms, and models: Information Circular Economic Geology Research Unit, University Witwatersrand, no. 87, 22 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, The depositional environment of the Witwatersrand gold fields: a chronological review of speculations and observations: Mining Science Engineer, v. 7, p. 18-47.
- , 1976a, Gold in the Proterozoic sediments of South Africa: systems, paradigms, and models, in Wolf, K. H., ed., Handbook of strata-bound and stratiform ore deposits: New York, Elsevier Publishing Company, v. 7, p. 1-27.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976b, The nature of the Witwatersrand gold-uranium deposits, <u>in</u> Wolf, K. H., ed., Handbook of strata-bound and stratiform ore deposits: New York, Elsevier Publishing Company, v. 7, p. 29-88.
- Prister, A., 1898, A few observations on two pieces of sandstone found on the top of the hill near Orange Grove, Johannesburg: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 4, p. 173-174.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1898, Notes on the origin and formation of the Witwatersrand auriferous deposits: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 4, p. 19.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1898, Preliminary notes on glacial phenomena at Pretoria and on the Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 3, p. 70-82, 109-121.
- Rahden, H. V. R. von, 1965, Apparent fineness values of gold from two Witwatersrand gold mines: Economic Geology, v. 60, p. 980-997.
- Ramdohr, P., 1955, Neue beobachtungen an erzen des Witwatersrande in Sudafrika und ihre genetische bedeuting: Abhandlungen Deutsche Akademie der Wissenschaften Berlin, Jahrgang 1954, nr. 5, 43 s. (English translation available in Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 61, p. 1-50, 1958).

- Ramdohr, P., 1957, Die "Pronto-Reaktion": Neues Jahrbuch Mineralogie Monatschefte, p. 217-222.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958a, Uber das vorkommen von uranin alten konglomeraten: Geologie (Berlin), Jahrgang 7, p. 965-968.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958b, Gold und uranlagerstatten des Witwatersrand in einem vergleich mit den neuen vorkommen des Blind River District: Geologie (Helsinki), v. 10, no. 4-5, p. 35-37.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958c, On the occurrence of uranium in ancient conglomerates (discussion), Economic Geology, v. 53, p. 620.
- , 1958d, Die uran und goldlagerstatten Witwatersrand-Blind River District-Dominion Reef-Serra de Jacobina: Erzmikroskopische untersuchungen und ein geologischer vergleich abhandlungen der Deutchen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin. Klasse fur Chemie, Geologie und Biologie, Jahrgang nr. 3.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1958e, New observations on the ores of the Witwatersrand in South Africa and their genetic significance: Geological Society of South Africa, Annexure to volume 61.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961a, The Witwatersrand controversy; a final comment on the review by Professor C. F. Davidson; Mining Magazine (July), v. 105, p. 18-21.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961b, The present state of the Witwatersrand controversy: Geologie, Jahrgang 10, H. 6, p. 712-715.
- Rathbone, E. P., 1891-94, The study of ore deposits in relation to the occurrence of auriferous pyrites in the conglomerates of the Witwatersrand: Proceedings of the South Africa Association of Engineers Archives, v. 1.
- Reh, H., 1957, Zur glazialen enstehung der Witwatersrand-konglomerate: Zeitschrift angewandte geologie Bd. 3, H. 56, p. 209-211.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968, Stand und Zukunftaussichten der Gold- und Uranerzgewinnung am "Grosseren Witwatersrand": Zeitschrift fuer angewardte Geologie, Bd. 14, H. 2, S. 99-104.
- Reichenbach, R., 1937, A review of geophysical prospecting on the Witwatersrabd: South Africa Journal of Science, v. 33, p. 207-214.
- Reimer, T. O., 1975, The age of the Witwatersrand System and other golduranium placers: implications on the origin of mineralization: Neues Jahrbuch fuer Mineralogie Monatshefte (NJMMAW), no. 2, p. 79-98.
- Reinecke, L., 1927, The location of payable ore-bodies in the gold-bearing reefs of the Witwatersrand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 30, p. 89-120.

- Reinecke, L., 1930, Origin of the Witwatersrand System: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 33, p. 111-133.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1934, The Witwatersrand rocks in the Klerksdorp and Ventersdorp districts (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 37, p. 59-61.
- Reinecke, L. and Krahmann, R., 1935, Magnetometric prospecting on the Witwatersrand: American Institution of Mining and Metallurgical Engineering, February 1935.
- Roberts, E. R. and Kransdorff, D., 1938, The upper Witwatersrand System at Randfontein Estates: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 41, p. 225-248.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1939, The upper Witwatersrand System at Randfontein Estates: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 42, p. 59-66.
- Robinson, R. A., 1891, A short sketch of the Orange Free State goldfields: Witwatersrand Mining and Metallurgy Review, v. 11, no. 18, p. 1-5.
- Roering, C., 1968, The tectonics of the West Rand syncline; a field study of brittle failure in the Witwatersrand basin: University Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit Information Circular no. 48, 26 p.
- Routhier, P., 1963, Les gisements d'or et d'uranium du Witwatersrand placers antécambriens?, in Les gisements métalliféres - Géologie et principes de recherches: Masson et Cie, Paris, p. 295-310.
- Rogers, A. W., 1921, The geology of the neighbourhood of Heidelberg: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 24, p. 17-52.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1922, The geology of the country around Heidelberg. Explanation of geological map: Special Publication Geological Survey of South Africa, v. 4.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1931, Discussion on the origin of the gold in the Witwatersrand System: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 34, Annexure, p. 19-22.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1931, Origin of the Witwatersrand System (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 34, p. 41.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1933, Calcareous sediments in the Witwatersrand Formation: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 36, p. 65-68.

- Rogers, A. W., Hall, A. L., Wagner, P. A. and Haughton, S. H., 1929, Handbuch der regionalen geologie--the Union of South Africa: Carl Winter's Universitatsbuch-handlung, Heidelberg.
- Rogers, A. W. and Sutherland, A. C., 1924, The Leeupoort gold area: South Africa Journal of Industry, v. 7, p. 211-218.
- Roubault, M., 1958, Gites sedimentaires (Witwatersrand), in Géologie de l'uranium: Masson et Cie, Paris, p. 335-345.
- Ross, F. W. J., 1950, A statistical value distribution theory for the Witwatersrand auriferous deposits: unpublished M. Sc. (England) thesis, University Witwatersrand.
- Rozhkov, I. S., 1967, The gold-bearing conglomerates of the Precambrian deposits of Tarkwa: Geologiya i Geofizika (Academiya Nauk SSSR, Sibirskoye Otdelemiye),v. 1, p. 60-74.
- Rundle, C. C. and Snelling, N. J., 1977, The geochronology of uraniferous minerals in the Witwatersrand Triad; an interpretation of new and existing U-Pb age data on rocks and minerals from the Dominion Reef, Witwatersrand, and Ventersdorp Supergroups: Philosophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. 286, p. 567-583.
- Saager, R., 1968a, A myrmekitic intergrowth of linnaeite, gold, and pyrrhotite from the Basal Reef of the Orange Free State gold field, South Africa (in German): Schweizerische Mineralogische Petrographische Mitteilungen, v. 48, p. 519-524.
- 1968b, Newly observed ore-minerals from the Basal Reef in the Orange Free State goldfields in South Africa: Economic Geology, v. 63, p. 116-123.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, The relationship of silver and gold in the Basal Reef of the Witwatersrand System, South Africa: Mineralium Deposita, v. 4, p. 93-113.
- , 1970, Structures in pyrite from the Basal Reef in the Orange Free State goldfield: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 73, Pt. 1, p. 29-46.
- Saager, R., 1974, Geologische und geochemische untersuchungen an primaren und sekundaren goldvorkommen im fruhen Prakambrium Sudafrikas: Ein Beitrag zur Deutung der primaren herkunft des goldes in der Witwatersrand lagerstatte: unpublished thesis, University of Heidelberg, 150 p.
- Saager, R., and Esselaar, P. A., 1969, Factor analysis of geochemical data from the Basal Reef, Orange Free State goldfield, South Africa: Economic Geology, v. 64, p. 445-451.

- Saager, R., and Mihalik, P., 1967a, Two varieties of pyrite from the Basal Reef of the Witwatersrand System: Economic Geology, v. 62, p. 719-731.
- Saager, R., and Mihalik, P., 1967a, Two varieties of pyrite from the Basal Reef of the Witwatersrand System: Economic Geology, v. 62, p. 719-731.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967b, Notes on two varieties of pyrite from the Basal Reef of the Free State Geduld Mine, Orange Free State Goldfield: University Witwatersrand Economic Geology Research Unit Information Circular no 37, 11 p.
- Sauer, H., 1933, The Witwatersrand goldfield: Walter E. Skinner, 15 Dowgate Hill, London, E. C. 4.
- Sawyer, A. R., 1889, The Witwatersrand goldfield: mining at Johannesburg: Transactions N. Staffs. Institution of Mining and Mechanical Engineers, v. 10, Pt. 3.
- , 1889-1890, The northern extension of the Witwatersrand goldfield: Transactions N. Staffs. Institution of Mining and Mechanical Engineers, v. 10, p. 124.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1895, Remarks on the banket formation at Johannesburg, Transvaal: Transactions Institution of Mining Engineers, v. 9, p. 360-369.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1897, Notes on the extension of the Main Reef westwards of Witpoortje: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 2, p. 35-36.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1898, The South Rand coalfield, and its connection with the Witwatersrand banket formation: Transactions Institution of Mining Engineers, v. 14, p. 312-327.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1899, Remarks on the anticlinal theory in connection with Rand deposits: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 5, p. 47-52.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1903-1904, The South Rand goldfield, Transvaal: Transactions Institution of Mining Engineers, v. 27, p. 546-556.
- , 1903, The origin of the slates occurring on the Rand and in other South African goldfields: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 6, p. 70-72.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1905, The geology of the Klerksdorp district (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 8, p. 39.

- Sawyer, A. R., 1907, New Rand goldfield, Orange River Colony: Transactions Institution of Mining Engineers, v. 33, p. 530.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1911, Some structural features of the Witwatersrand System on the Central Rand, with a note on the Rietfontein Series (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 14, p. 35.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912, The lower Witwatersrand System on the Central Rand, and its connection with West Rand sections (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 15, p. 55-56.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912, The new Rand goldfield: Transactions Institution of Mining Engineers, v. 44, p. 4-30.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1917, The South Rand goldfield, Pt. 11: Transactions Institution of Mining Engineers, v. 54, Pt. 2, p. 93-106.
- Schidlowski, M., 1964, Das Oranje-Freistaat-Goldfeld (Südafrika): Zeitschrift fur Erzbergbau und Metallhuttenwisen Bd. 17, H. 2, S. 90-93.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966a, Some observations on radioactive blasting haloes and radioactive corrosion phenomena in conglomerates from the Orange Free State goldfield: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 69, p. 155-159.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966b, Contributions to knowledge of the radioactive components of the Witwatersrand conglomerates; Pt. 3, Carbonaceous matter ("thucholite"): Neues Jahrbuch fur Mineralogie Abhandlungen, v. 106, no. 1, p. 55-71.
- , 1966c, Beiträge zur Kenntnis der radioaktiven Bestandteile der Witwatersrand-Konglomerate. I. Uranpecherz in den Konglomeraten des Oranje-Freistaat-Goldfeldes; II. Brannerite und "Uranpecherzgeister"; III. Kohlige Substana ("Thucholith"): Neues Jahrbuch fur Mineralogie Monatsheff Abhandlungen, Bd. 105, S. 183-202; Bd. 105, S. 310-324; Bd. 106, S. 55-71.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1966d, Note on zircons from the Witwatersrand conglomerate: Neues Jahrbuch fur Mineralogie Monatsheff Jahrgang, 1966, S. 281-287.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967, Note on graphite in the Witwatersrand conglomerates: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 70, p. 65-66.
- , 1968a, Zur Kenntnis der Randstrukturen des Witwatersrand-Beckens im nord-lichen Oranje-Freistaat-Goldfeld (Südafrika): Geologische Kundschäu, Band 57, S. 557-585 (with English summary).

- Schidlowski, M., 1968b, The gold fraction of the Witwatersrand conglomerates from the Orange Free State goldfield (South Africa): Mineralium Deposita, v. 3, p. 344-363.
- , 1969, Critical remarks on a postulated genetic relationship between Precambrian thucholite and boghead coal, in Advances in organic geochemistry, p. 579-592; Oxford, Pergamon Press.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970, Untersuchungen zur metallogenese im sudwestlichen Witwatersrand-Becken: Beihefte Geologie Jahrbucht, v. 85, 80 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 1971, Probleme der atmospharischen evolution im Praekambrium: Geologische Rundschau, v. 60, p. 1351-1382.
- Schidlowski, M. and Otteman, J., 1966, Mackinawite from the Witwatersrand conglomerate: American Mineralogist, v. 51, p. 1535-1541.
- Schidlowski, M. and Trurnit, P., 1966, Druchlösungserscheinungen an Geröllpyriten aus den Witwatersrand-Konglomeraten. Ein Beitrag zue Frage des diagenetischen Verhaltens von Sulfiden: Schweizerische Mineralogische und Petrographische Mitteil ungen Band 46, S. 337-351.
- Schmeisser, C., 1894, Uber vorkommen und gewinnung der nutzbaren mineralien in der Sud-Afrikanischen Republik (Transvaal): Berlin. Quoted by Corstorphine: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 8, p. 28.
- Schmitz-Dumont, P., 1896, The river-bed theory of the Witwatersrand conglomerates: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 2, p. 141-142.
- Schnellmann, G. A., 1958, On the occurrence of uranium in ancient conglomerates (discussion): Economic Geology, v. 53, p. 492.
- Schwarz, E. H. L., 1911, The origin of the Rand banket: South Africa Journal of Science, v. 8, p. 52-59; South Africa Mining Engineers Journal, 1915, p. 469, 491, 586.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912a, Further observations on the origin of the Rand banket: South Africa Journal of Science, v. 8, p. 357-364.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912b, South African geology: Blackie and Son, Limited. London.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1915a, The origin of the Rand gold: South Africa Mining Engineering Journal, nos. 1242, 1243, 1245.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1915b, The upper Witwatersrand System (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 18, p. 42-43.

- Schwarz, E. H. L., 1926, On the metamorphism of the lower Witwatersrand System in the Vredefort Mountain Land (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 29, p. 37-38.
- Schwellnus, J. E. G., 1953, The distribution of the gold within the Basal Reef, Orange Free State, Union of South Africa: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, Queens University, Canada; (abstract) Canadian Mining Journal, v. 74, no. 6, p. 100.
- Sellschop, J. P., Rasmussen, S. E. and Fesq, H. W., 1973, Distribution of trace and minor elements in Durban Roodepoort Deep Mine rock samples: Nuclear Physics Research Unit., Report, C87/69, p. 1-79.
- Sestini, G., 1971, Paleocurrents and exploration for gold in the Tarkwain of Ghana: 15th Annual Report Research Institute African Geology, University Leeds, p. 23-25.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, Sedimentology of a paleoplacer: the gold-bearing Tarkwaion of Ghana, in Amstutz, G., and Bernard, A., eds., Ores in sediments: International Union Geological Sciences, series A., no. 3, p. 275-305.
- Sharpe, J. W. N., 1945, Footwall and Kimberley Reefs on government gold mining areas: Paper Associated Mine Managers Transvaal, v. 2, p. 851-856.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1949, The economic auriferous bankets of the upper Witwatersrand beds and their relationship to sedimentation features: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 52, p. 265-288.
- Shepard, P. G., 1908, The stratigraphy of Zwartkop 82 (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 11, p. 46-47.
- Shepherd, T. J., 1977, Fluid inclusion study of the Witwatersrand golduranium ores: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, v. 286, p. 549-565.
- Sidorenko, A. V. and Sidorenko, Sv. A., 1971, Organic matter in Precambrian sedimentary-metamorphic rocks and certain geological problems: Sovetskaiia Geologiya, v. 5, p. 3-20.
- Sims, J. F. M., 1969, The stratigraphy and paleocurrent history of the Upper Division of the Witwatersrand System on President Steyn Mine and adjacent areas with special reference to the origin of auriferous reefs: unpublished thesis, University Witwatersrand, 181 p.

- Simpson, D. J., 1951, Some results of radiometric logging in the boreholes of the Orange Free State goldfields and neighbouring areas: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 54, p. 99-133.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1952a, Correlation by means of radioactive logging in the Witwatersrand System in the Klerksdorp area: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 55, p. 33-52.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1952b, Correlation of the sediments of the Witwatersrand System in the west Witwatersrand, Klerksdorp and Orange Free State areas by radioactivity borehole logging: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 55, p. 133-154.
- Simpson, P. R. and Bowles, J. F. W., 1977, Uranium mineralization of the Witwatersrand and Dominion Reef Systems: Philsophical Transactions Royal Society of London, v. 286, p. 527-548.
- Smith, W., 1902, The Buffelsdoorn and adjacent districts of the north Klerksdorp goldfield, Transvaal: Transactions Newcastle Institution of Mining Engineers, v. 22, p. 444-448.
- Snyman, C. P., 1965, Possible biogenic structures in Witwatersrand thucolite: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 68, p. 225-235.
- Sohnge, P. G., 1954, Stylolitic solution in Witwatersrand quartzites (discussion): Transactions Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, London, v. 63, p. 457-473.
- Sommerlatte, H. W. A., 1955, Mineralogical observations on the Witwatersrand ores: Mining Magazine, London, v. 93, p. 142-152.
- Spilsbury, E. G., 1908, Discussion on "The origin of the gold in the Rand banket" by J. W. Gregory: Transactions Institution of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 17.
- Steyn, L. S., 1963, The sedimentology and gold distribution pattern of the Livingstone Reefs on the West Rand: unpublished Masters thesis, University Witwatersrand, 132 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974, Sedimentological studies of the Bird reefs of the West Rand goldfield: unpublished report Economic Geological Research Unit, University Witwatersrand, 32 p.
- Stokes, R. S. G., 1954, Future resources and problems of the Witwatersrand goldfield: Transactions Institution Mining and Metallurgy, London, v. 63, p. 457-473.

- Struben, F., 1885, A geological section of the Witwatersrand: reported anonymously in Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 5, p. 177-178 (1947).
- Strydom, P. M., 1952, The arenaceous and rudaceous beds in the Jeppestown Series on Brakpan Mines, Ltd., and South Africa Land and Exploration Company, Ltd.: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University Witwatersrand.
- Swiegers, J. U., 1938, A study of the Black Reef Series in the Klerksdorp and Randfontein areas: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University Witwatersrand. Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 41, p. 177-191.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1939, Gold, carbon, pyrite and other sulphides in the Black Reef: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 42, p. 35-45.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1940, Distinguishing features of the Black Reef: Journal of South Africa Chemical Society, v. 40, p. 262-266.
- Taylor, J. H., 1944, Preliminary contribution to the geology of the Odendaalsrus goldfield (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 47, p. 70-72.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1950, Brief history of correlation of the Witwatersrand System: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 53, p. 29-41.
- Taylor, K., Bowie, S. H. U. and Horne, J. E. T., 1962, Radioactive minerals in the Dominion Reef: Mineralogical Magazine, v. 107, p. 329-332.
- Threader, V. M., 1963, A study of fracture patterns of the Orange Free State goldfields of South Africa: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 66, p. 93-108.
- Tipping, N. D., 1954, The two major pay shoots of the Free State: South Africa Mining Review, March-April, 1954.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1955, Pay shoots of the Free State: South Africa Mining Review, v. 98, p. 19-24.
- Toens, P. D. and Griffiths, G. H., 1964, The geology of the West Rand, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 283-321.
- Transvaal Chamber of Mines, 1929, The Witwatersrand goldfield: a brief survey: International Geological Congress, 15th Session (South Africa).

- Truter, F. C., 1936, Observations on the geology and tectonics of a portion of the Potchefstroom district: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 39, p. 441-455.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1949, A review of volcanism in the geological history of South Africa: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 52, 24-89.
- Truter, F. C. and Strauss, C. A., 1941, The pre-Transvaal rocks at Taungs, Cape Province: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 44, p. 161-166.
- Tweedie, K. A. M., 1968, The stratigraphy and sedimentary structures of the Kimberley series in the Evander goldfield, eastern Transvaal, South Africa: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 71, p. 235-256.
- Utter, T., 1977, Morphology and geochemistry of pyrites from the upper Witwatersrand System of the Klerksdorp goldfield: Chamber of Mines of South Africa research report 8/77, 48 p.
- Van Aubel, R., 1939, Sur l'origine de l'or dans les conglomerats du Rand Sud-Africain: Annales de Mines, Paris, s. 13, t. 16, p. 162-185.
- Van der Vyver, G. P., 1956, The Rainbow Reefs of the Van den Heeversrust area, north west of Odendaalsrus: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University Pretoria.
- Van Eeden, O. R., 1946, Die korrelasie van sekere Voor-Transvaal-Gesteentes in die distrik Schweizer Reneke: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 49, p. 277-288.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1972, The geology of the Republic of South Africa, an explanation of the 1:1,000,000 map, 1970 edition: Cape Town.
- Van Es, E., 1968, Sheets 49 and 50, Dunkwa NW and NE. Report Director Geological Survey of Ghana for 1963-1964, p. 18-23.
- Van Niekerk, C. B., 1959, A petrographical study of certain dykes of Pilansberg age, intrusive into the Witwatersrand System: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University Pretoria.
- Van Niekerk, C. B., and Burger, A. J., 1964, The age of the Ventersdorp System: Annual Geological Survey of South Africa, v. 3, p. 75-86.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1969a, Lead isotopic data relating to the age of the Dominion Reef lava: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 72, p. 37-45.

- Van Niekerk, C. B., and Burger, A. J., 1969b, The uranium-lead isotopic dating of South African acid lavas: Bulletin Volcanologique, v. 32, p. 481-498.
- Van Rooyen, D. P., 1947, Sekere pre-Transvaal rotse noord-oos van Potgietersrus: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 50, p. 63-72.
- Vautin, C., 1890, On the occurrence of the gold in the Witwatersrand conglomerate: Witwatersrand Mining and Metallurgy Review, v. 1, no. 7.
- Viljoen, E. A. and Hiemstra, S. A., 1971, An electron-microprobe analysis of gold in the Witwatersrand banket and in ores from the Barberton Mountain Land: Report 1361, National Institute of Metallurgy (unpublished).
- Viljoen, R. P., 1963, Petrographic and mineralgraphic aspects of the Main Reef and Main Reef leader of the Main-Bird Series, Witwatersrand: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, 193 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967, The composition of the Main Reef and Main Reef Leader conglomerate horizons in the northeastern part of the Witwatersrand basin: University Witwatersrand Economic Geological Research Unit Information Circular no. 40, 48 p.
- , 1968, The quantitative mineralogical properties of the Main Reef and Main Reef Leader of the Witwatersrand system: University Witwatersrand, Economic Research Unit Information Circular, no. 41, 63 p.
- Viljoen, R. P., Saager, R. and Viljoen, M. J., 1970, Some thoughts on the origin and processes responsible for the concentration of gold in the early Precambrian of southern Africa: Mineralium Deposita, v. 5, p. 164-180.
- Visser, D. J. L., 1959, The structural evolution of the Union: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 60, p. 13-50.
- Voit, F., 1908, Genesis of the Rand gold: Mining Journal, September.
- Von Backstrom, J. W., 1952, The Dominion Reef and Witwatersrand Systems between Wolmaransstad and Ottosdal, Transvaal: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 55, p. 53-71.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1972, Some favourability criteria in the search for uranium in the major sedimentary formations of South Africa: Report Atomic Energy Board of South Africa, Pel. 212.

- Von Backstrom J. W., 1975, Uranium and the generation of power, a South African perspective: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 78.
  - \_\_\_\_, 1976, Uranium, in Coetzee, C. B., Mineral resources of the Republic of South Africa, p. 233-239.
- Von Bonde, W., 1915, On the crystallography of anatase crystals from the auriferous conglomerates of the Witwatersrand: Transactions Royal Society of South Africa, v. 4, p. 299.
- Von Rahden, H. V. R., Urli, G. P., and Hiemstra, S. A., 1969, The association of gold and uranium with other minerals in different Witwatersrand reefs: Report 837, National Institute of Metallurgy (unpublished).
- Vos, R. S., 1975, An alluvial plain and lacustrine model for the Precambrian Witwatersrand deposits of South Africa: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 45, p. 480-493.
- Waal, S. A. de, and Herzberg, W., 1971, Uranium and gold mineralization of the Black Reef Series in the Kaapsehoop area, Nelspruit district, eastern Transvaal: Geological Survey of South Africa Annual Report, v. 7, p. 111-124.
- Wagener, G. F., 1972, Suggestions for the revision of existing Witwatersrand stratigraphic classification and nomenclature: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 75, p. 77-84; discussion 1973, v. 76, p. 75-76.
- Wagner, P. A., 1917, Some problems in South African geology: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 20, p. 19-40.
- Wartenweiler, F., 1921, Distribution of gold in banket ore: Journal of South Africa Chemical Society, v. 21, p. 217-222.
- Waspe, L. W., 1956, The Bethal area, eastern Transvaal: Mining Magazine, London, v. 94, p. 142-147.
- Watson, F. W., 1921, Analyses of Far East Rand ore: Journal of South Africa Chemical Society, v. 21, p. 197-198.
- Watson, J., 1913, Notes on the assay of mine samples: Journal of South Africa Chemical Society, v. 14, p. 69.
- Weber, M., 1909, Notes on acid intrusives of the Witwatersrand System: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 12, p. 67-77.
- Weiss, 0., 1934, The applications and limitations of geophysical prospecting methods in the Witwatersrand area: Journal of South Africa Chemical Society, v. 34, no. 10.

- Weiss, O., 1936a, Typical magnetic anomalies of lower Witwatersrand shales and younger dykes in the Witwatersrand: Journal of South Africa Chemical Society, v. 34, p. 227-234.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1936b, The geophysical magnetometric investigations on west Witwatersrand areas between Randfontein and Potchefstroom, Transvaal (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 39, p. 67-71 and 85-86.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1944, Preliminary contribution to the geology of the Odendaalsrus goldfield (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 47, p. 72-75.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1949, Aerial magnetic survey of the Vredefort Dome in the Union of South Africa: Mining Engineering (New York), v. 1, p. 433-438.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1950, Gravimeter results in prospecting for Witwatersrand quartzites in the Transvaal and Orange Free State (abstract): Geophysics, v. 15, p. 311.

- \_\_\_\_\_, 1951, Contribution of geophysical surveys to the discovery of Stilfontein gold mine in South Africa: Mining Engineering (New York), v. 3, p. 886-890.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1952, Geophysical methods in exploration for gold deposits in the Witwatersrand System in the Union of South Africa (abstract): Geophysics, v. 17, p. 177-178.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 1952, Contribution of geophysical surveys to the discovery of Stilfontein gold mine: Transactions American Institute of Mining and Metallurgic Engineering, v. 190, p. 886-890.
- Wetherill, G. W., 1956, An interpretation of the Rhodesia and Witwatersrand age patterns: Geochimica Cosmochimica Acta, v. 9, p. 290-292.
- Wetherill, G. W., Davis, G. L. and Aldrich, L. T., 1957, Age measurements on rocks north of Lake Huron (abstract): American Geophysics Union Transactions, v. 38, p. 412.
- Whitelaw, O. A. L., 1929, The geological and mining features of the Tarkwa-Abosso goldfield: Gold Coast Geological Survey Memoir no. 1, 46 p.
- Whiteside, H. C. M., 1941, An unusual suite of minerals from a vug in a quartz vein in the Kimberley Series, Daggafontein Mines, Ltd: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 44, p. 121-126.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1944a, Heavy mineral analyses of two reefs from the Far East Rand: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University Witwatersrand.

- Whiteside, H. C. M., 1944b, A tear fault in the Far East Rand (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 47, p. 56-61.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1950a, The geology of a part of the Far East Rand basin, with special reference to the economic horizons of the Kimberley-Elsburg Series and the Footwall beds: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of London.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1950b, The Kimberley-Elsburg Series in certain mines in the Far East Rand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 53, p. 243-252.
- , 1964, Introduction to the geology of the East Rand, in Haughton, S. H., ed., Geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 109-111.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1970a, Volcanic rocks of the Witwatersrand Triad, <u>in</u> Clifford, T. N. and Gass, I. G., eds., African magmatism and tectonics: Edinburg, Oliver and Boyd.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1970b, Uranium exploration geology: Panel Proceedings, Vienna, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, p. 49-74.

, 1970c, Uraniferous Precambrian conglomerates of South Africa, with discussion, in Uranium exploration geology, International Atomic Energy Agency, Panel Proceeding Series, p. 49-75.

- Whiteside, H. C. M., and Brock, B. B., 1961, The role of geology on the gold mines of the Witwatersrand and the Orange Free State: 7th Commonwealth Mining and Metallurgy Congress, South Africa, Transactions, v. 2, p. 513-523.
- Whiteside, H. C. M., Glasspool, K. R., Hiemstra, S. A., Pretorius, D. A., and Antrobus, E. S., A., 1976, Gold in the Witwatersrand Triad, in Coetzee, C. B., ed., Mineral resources of the Republic of South Africa: Geological Survey of South Africa, p. 39-74.
- Whitten, E. H. T., 1966, Quantitative models in the economic evaluation of rock units: illustrated with the Donegal granite and the gold-bearing Witwatersrand conglomerates: Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Transactions, v. 75, Bulletin no. 717, Section B, p. B181-B198.
- Wiebols, J. H., 1955, A suggested glacial origin for the Witwatersrand conglomerates: Geological Society of South Africa Transactions, v. 58, p. 367.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1958, On the occurrence of uranium in ancient conglomerates discussion: Economic Geology, v. 53, p. 757-758.

- Wiebols, J. H., 1961, Note on chloritoid in the Witwatersrand System: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 64, p. 85-98.
- Wilson, N. L., Oosthuizen, D. H., Brink, W. C. J. and Toens, P. D., 1964, The geology of the Vaal Reef basin in the Klerksdorp area, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 399-416.
- Wilson, N. L., Toens, P. D. and Van der Schyff, D. P., 1964, The geology of the Rietkuil syncline, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa, v. 1, p. 393-398.
- Wilson-Moore, C., 1896, The economic importance of the Murchison Range: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 51-62 and 62-72 (discussion); p. 73-75 (a reply).
- Winter, H. de la R., 1957, The upper division of the Witwatersrand System in the Virginia and Merriespruit mining areas: unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University of Pretoria.
- , 1962, The geology of the Virginia section of the Orange Free State goldfield: Information Circular Economic Geology Research University of Witwatersrand, v. 10.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964a, The geology of the northern section of the Orange Free State goldfield, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 417-448.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964b, The geology of the Virginia section of the Orange Free State goldfield, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 507-548.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964c, A bibliography of the geology of the Witwatersrand System, in Haughton, S. H., ed., The geology of some ore deposits in southern Africa: Geological Society of South Africa, v. 1, p. 601-616.
- Wood, H. E., 1914, The Witwatersrand earth tremors: Journal of South Africa Chemical Society, v. 14, p. 423-426.
- Woodburn, A., 1936, The geophysical magnetometric investigations on West Witwatersrand areas between Randfontein and Potchefstroom, Transvaal (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 39, p. 71-72.
- Woodburn, J. A. and Young, R. B., 1937, Far East Rand areas, Limited: Geological report: South Africa Mining Engineering Journal, v. 47, no. 2296, p. 665-667.

Young, R. B., 1907a, The alteration of the felspars in the felspathic quartzite underlying the Hospital Hill slates: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 10, p. 62-64.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1907b, Notes on the auriferous conglomerates of the Witwatersrand: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 10, p. 17-30.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1909, Further notes on the auriferous conglomerates of the Witwatersrand, with a discussion on the origin of the gold: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 12, p. 82-100.

- \_\_\_\_\_, 1910a, The replacement of quartz by carbon in the Rand banket: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 13, p. 105-106.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1910b, The mode of occurrence and genesis of the carbon in the Rand bankets (discussion): Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 13, p. 48-49.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1911, The problem of the Rand banket: Proceedings of the Geological Society of South Africa, v. 14, p. 22-29.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912a, The pebbles of the Rand banket: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 15, p. 81-87.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1912b, Note on the origin of iridosmine in the banket: Transactions Geological of Society of South Africa, v. 15, p. 113-114.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1913, Note on the diamonds in the banket: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 16, p. 39-40.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1914, Metasomatism in banket: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 17, p. 31-38.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1917, The banket of the South African goldfields: Gurney and Jackson, London.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1931, The genesis of the gold in the Rand banket: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, Annexure, v. 34, p. 1-14.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1944, Stylolitic solution in Witwatersrand quartzites: Transactions Geological Society of South Africa, v. 47, p. 137-142.

Zuffardi, P., 1953, l giacimenti auriferi dell' Orange Free State (Unione Sud Africana): Industria Mineraria, Roma, an 4, p. 59-67.
SOUTH AMERICAN PLATFORM

469

## SOUTH AMERICAN PLATFORM

- Almeida, F. F. M. de, 1967, Origem e evolucao da Plataforma Brasileira: Boletim Departmento Nacional de Producao Mineral, v. 241, p. 1-36.
- Almeida, F. F. M., de, Amaral, E., Cordani, U. G., and Kawashita, K., 1973, The Precambrian evolution of the South American cratonic margin south of the Amazon River, <u>in</u> The Ocean basins and margins, v. 1: New York, Plenum Publishing Corporation, p. 411-446.
- Almeida, F. F. M., de, Melcher, G. C., Cordani, U. G., Kawashita, K., and Vandoros, P., 1968, Radiometric age determinations from northern Brazil: Boletim Sociedade Brasileira Geologia, v. 17, p. 3-14.
- Barbosa, O., 1949, Contribuicao à geologia do Centro de Minas Gerais: Mineracao e Metalurgia (Rio de Janeiro), v. 14, no. 79, p. 3-19.
- Barbosa, A. L. de Miranda, 1968, Geologia do Quadrilàtero ferrífero: 22d Congresso Brasileiro de Geologia, Belo Horizonte, Roterioros Excursões, p. 2-6.
- Bateman, J. D., 1958, Uranium-bearing auriferous reefs at Jacobina, Brazil: Economic Geology, v. 53, p. 417-425.
- Branner, J. C., 1910, The geology and topography of the Serra Jacobina, state of Bahia, Brazil: Americas Journal of Science, 4th Series, v. 30, p. 385-392.
- Cassedane, J. P., Cassedane, J. O. and Maranhao, R., 1973, The paragenesis in the Sao Francisco (Brazil) gold mine; Currais Novos, Rio Grande Norte: Mining and Metallurgy, v. 37, no. 344, p. 6-13, with English summary.
- Cordani, U. G., Amaral, G., and Kawashita, K., 1973, The Precambrian evolution of South America: Geologische Rundschare, v. 62, no. 2, p. 309-317.
- Cordani, U. G., Delhal, J., and Ledent, D., 1973, Orogeneses superposees dans le Precambrien du Bresil Sud-Oriental (Etats de Rio de Janeiro at de Minas Gerais): Revista Brasileira Geociencias, v. 3, no. 1, p. 1-22, Sao Paulo.
- Cordani, U. G., Melcher, G. C., and de Almeida, F. F. M., 1968, Outline of the Precambrian geochronology of South America: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 5, no. 3, Pt. 2, p. 629-632.

- Cox, D. P., 1967, Regional environment of the Jacobina auriferous conglomerate, Brazil: Economic Geology, v. 62, p. 773-780.
- Da Costa, La. A. and Angeiras, A. G., 1971, Geosynclinal evolution of the epi-Baykalian platform of central Brazil: Geologische Rdschan, v. 60, p. 1024-1049.
- de Oliveira, A. I., 1956, Brazil; Handbook of South America geology: Geological Society of America, Memoir 65, p. 3-62.
- Dorr, J. V. B., 1969, Physiographic, stratigraphic, and structural development of the Quadrilatero Ferrifero, Minas Gerais, Brazil: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 641 A.
- Dorr, J. V. N., II, and Barbosa, A. L. de Miranda, 1963, Geology and ore deposits of the Itabira district, Minas Gerais, Brazil: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 341-C, p. C1-C110.
- Ferreira, E. O., 1972, Tectonic map of Brazil, explanatory note: Departmento Nacional de Producao Mineral (Brazil), Boletim L.
- Gair, J. E., 1962, Geology and ore deposits of the Nova Lima and Rio Acima quadrangles, Minas Gerais, Brazil: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 341-A, p. Al-A67.
- Gorsky, V. A., and Gorsky, E., 1962, Further contribution to the study of uranium-bearing auriferous metaconglomerate of Jacobina, state of Bahia, Brazil: Inter-American Symposium for Peaceful Application Nuclear Energy, 4th, Mexico City, v. 1, p. 301-312.
- Grabert, H., 1959, Gold-und Manganerze in der Serra de Jacobina (Bahia, Brasilien): Zeitschnft fur Erzbergbau und Metallhuttenwesen, Bd. 12, H. 7, S. 330-335.
- Gross, W. H., 1968, Evidence for a modified placer origin for auriferous conglomerates, Canavierras Mine, Jacobina, Brazil: Economic Geology, v. 63, p. 271-276.
- Guild, P. W., 1957, Geology and ore deposits of the Congonhas district, Minas Gerais, Brazil: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 290, 90 p.
- Herz, N. 1970, Gneissic and igneous rocks of the Quadrilatero Ferrifero, Minas Gerais, Brazil: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 641 B., 58 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1978, Metamorphic rocks of the Quadrilatero Ferrifero, Minas Gerais, Brazil: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 641-6, 81 p.

- Hurley, P. M., Melcher, G. C., Pinson, W. M., Jr., and Fairbairn, H. W., 1968, Some orogenic episodes in South America by K-Ar and whole-rock Rb-Sr dating: Canadian Journal Earth Science, v. 5 no. 3, Pt. 2, p. 633-638.
- Hurley, P. M., and Rand, J. R., 1973, Outline of Precambrian chronology in lands bordering the South Atlantic, exclusive of Brazil, <u>in</u> Nairn, A., and Stehli, F., (eds.), The ocean basins and margins: New York, Pienum Press, v. 1, p. 391-410.
- Jordan, H., 1973, The age of the Caraiba, Jacobina, Tombador (Lauras) and Bambui groups from the Sao Francisco River, Brazil; (abstract): Munstersche Forschungen zur Geologie und Palaeontologie no. 31-32, p. 27, in German.
- Leo, G. W., Cox, D. P., and de Carvalho, J. P. P., 1962, Geologia de parte sul da Serra da Jacobena, Bahia, Brasil: Divisao de Geologia e Mineralogia, boletim no. 209, 87 p.
- Leo, G. W., Rose, H. J., and Warr, J. J., 1965, Chromian muscovite from the Serra da Jacobena, Bahia, Brazil: American Mineralogist, v. 50, p. 392-402.
- Liandrat, E., 1974, An attempted correlation of some Precambrian geologic formations from the Brazilian Amazon region with similar formations in the Guianas: Mineracao Metalurgia, v. 38, no. 355, p. 30-36, with English summary.
- Maciel, A. C., Azuaga, C. H. C., and Cruz, P. R., 1973, The reserves of uranium and thorium in Brazil and the world; productive capacity and demand perspectives (abstract), in Resumo das Communicacoes, Simposios e Conferencias; simposio de economia mineral: Congresso Brasileira Geologia, no. 27, boletim 2, p. 119-121.
- Maciel, A. C., and Cruz, P. R., 1973, The analytic profile or uranium: Brazil, Ministerio Minas Energia, Departmento Nacional de Produção Mineral, boletim, no. 27, 70 p. (in Spanish).
- Oliveira, A. I., and Leonardos, O. H., 1943, Geologia do Brasil, 2nd ed.: Rio de Janeiro, Ministerio da Agricultura.
- Percival, F. G., 1964, Geology and ore deposits of the Belo Horizonte, Ibirité, and Macacos quadrangles, Minas Gerais, Brazil (review): Economic Geology, v. 59, p. 1398-1402.
- Pflug, Reinhard, 1975, Reconnaissance mapping in the Precambrian of eastern Brazil: Seminarbericht der Deutschen United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization--Kommission no. 29.

- Pflug, Reinhard, and Scholl, W. U., 1975, Proterozoic glaciations in eastern Brazil; a review: Geologische Rundschare, v. 64, no. 1, p. 287-299.
- Pomerene, J. B., 1964, Geology and ore deposits of the Belo Horizonte, Ibirité, and Macacos quadrangles, Minas Gerais, Brazil, U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 341-D, 83 p.
- Ramdohr, P., 1958, Die uran-und goldlagerstatten Witwatersrand Blind River District-Dominon Reef-Serra de Jacobina: Deutsch Academic der Wissenschaften Abhandlungen, 35 p.
- Ramos, A. J. R., 1972, Possibilides e prospectivas do uranio Brasileiro: Mineracao Metalurgia, v. 334, p. 36-41.
- Ramos, A. J. R., and Fraenkel, M. O., 1974, Uranium occurrences in Brazil, <u>in</u> Formation of Uranium deposits: International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, p. 637-658.
- Ramos, A., and Raimundo, J., 1970, The present situation of nuclear mineral exploration in Brazil: Congresso Brasileiro de Geologia, no. 24, p. 27-39, (with English summary).
- Ridge, J. D., 1972, Annotated bibliographies of mineral deposits in the western hemisphere: Geological Society of America, Memoir no. 131, p. 588-590.
- Snelling, N. and Berrange, J. P., 1969, The geochronology of Guyana II. Results obtained in the period 1966-1969: 8th Guyana Geological Conference, Georgetown.
- Snelling, N. and McConnell, R. B., 1969, The geochronology of Guyana: Geologie en Mijnbouw, v. 48, no. 2, p. 201-213.
- Souza, H. C. Alves de, 1942, Ouro na Serra de Jacobina (estado de Baia): Departmento Nacional de Producao Mineral, Divisiao de Fomento Producao, boletim 31, 52 p.
- Thompson, E. G., 1959, Mineralogy of the Canavieriras mine ore, Jacobina, Brazil: unpublished B. S. thesis, University of Toronto.
- Wallace, R. M., 1958, The Moeda Formation, a symposium on the stratigraphy of the Minas series in the Quadrilatero Ferrifero, Minas Gerais, Brazil: Boletim Sociedade Brazil Geologia, v. 7, no. 2, p. 59-60.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1965, Geology and mineral resources of the Pico de Italirito district, Minas Gerais, Brazil: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 341-F, 68 p.

- White, M. G., 1956, Uranium in the Serra de Jacobina, state of Bahia, Brazil: 1st United Nations International Conference on Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy (Geneva) Proceedings, v. 6, p. 140-142.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957a, Uranio nos conglomerados auriferos da mina de ouro de Canavieiras, estado da Bahia, Brasil: Conselho Nacional Pesquisas, Rio de Janeiro, 11 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1957b, Uranium in the auriferous conglomerates at the Canavieiras gold mine, state of Bahia, Brazil: Engenharia, Mineracao e Metalurgia (Rio de Janeiro), v. 26, no. 155, p. 279-282.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1961, Origin of uranium and gold in the quartzite-conglomerate of the Serra de Jacobina, Brazil: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 424-B, p. B8-B9.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964, Uranium at Morro do Vento, Serra de Jacobina, Brazil: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 1185-A, p. Al-Al8.

EAST EUROPEAN PLATFORM

## EAST EUROPEAN PLATFORM

- Bogdanov, Yu. B., 1971a, On the so-called basal conglomerate of the Kola group in the area of Chuna-Monche-Volch'y tundra in Kola Peninsula, in Problemy Geologii Dokembriya. Baltiyskogo Shchita i Pokrova Russkoy Platformy: Trudy Vsesoivznyi Geologicheskii Institut (Leningrad), 175, p. 199-205.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971b, Types of Lower Proterozoic sections and their correlation, <u>in</u> Problemy Geologii Dokembriya; Baltiyskogo Shchita i Pokrova Russkoy Platformy: Trudy Vsesoivznyi Geologicheskii Institut (Leningrad), 175, p. 106-121.
- Bogdanov, Yu. B., Negrutza, V. Z. and Suslova, S. N., 1971, Precambrian stratigraphy of the eastern part of the Baltic shield, <u>in</u> Stratigrafiya i Izotop. Geokhronologiya Dokembriya Vost. Chasti Baltiyskogo Shchita: Nauka, Leningrad, p. 160-170.
- Bogdanov, Yu. B. and Voinov, A. S., 1968, On Karelide-Belomoride relationships in eastern Karelia: Trudy Vsesoivznyi Geologicheskii Institut (Leningrad), New Series, 143, p. 97-109.
- Bowes, D. R. 1976, Archean crustal history of the Baltic shield, in Windley, B. F., ed., The early history of the earth: New York, John Wiley and Sons, p. 481-488.
- Drugova, G. M., 1971, Conglomerates of Monchegorsk area in Kola Peninsula, <u>in</u> Problemy Litologii Dokembriya: Nauka, Leningrad, p. 109.
- Eskola, P., 1965, The Precambrian of Finland, <u>in</u> Rankama, K., ed., The Precambrian, v. 1: Interscience, New York, N.Y., p. 145-264.
- Gaál, G., Mikkola, A., and Söderholm, B., 1978, Evolution of the Archean crust in Finland: Precambrian Research, v. 6, p. 199-215.
- Kahma, Aarno, 1973, The main metallogenic features of Finland: Geological Survey and Finland Bulletin, no. 265, 27 p.
- Kahma, A., Saltikoff, B., and Landberg, E., 1976, Ore deposits of Finland: Geological Survey of Finland map 1: 1,000,000 with notes.
- Kononov, N. D., 1969, The geological reasons for searching for goldbearing conglomerates within the Voronezh Anticline, in Smirnov, V.I., ed., Problems with metal-bearing ancient conglomerates in the U.S.S.R.: Nauka, Moscow, p. 113-121.

- Laitakari, I., 1969, On the set of olivine diabase dykes in Hame, Finland: Bulletin Commission of Geologique Finland, v. 241, 65 p.
- Laz'ko, E. M., Krilyuk, V. P., Sivoronov, A. A. and Yatsenko, G. M., 1970, Geological Precambrian complexes in the southwestern part of the Ukrainian Shield and the criteria for their subdivision: Sovetskaya Geologiya, v. 6, p. 29-43.
- Lobach-Zhuchenko, S. B., Kratz, K. O., and others, 1972, Geochronological boundaries and the geological evolution of the Baltic Shield: Precambrian Research Institute, U. S. S. R. Academy of Science, Leningrad (in Russian).
- Lobanov, I. N., 1961, Mineralogiya i proiskhozhdenie Yatuliiskikh Kvartzevykh Konglomeratakh Karellii: Mineralogicheskii Sbornik, Lvov, no. 15, p. 298-311, (in Russian).
- Makiyevsky, S. J. and Nikolayeva, K. A., 1971, Conglomerates and older crusts of weathering in the Precambrian metamorphic strata in the northwestern part of the Kola Peninsula, in Stratigrafiya, Raschleneniye i Korrelyatsiya Dokembriya Severo-Vostochnoye Chasti Balt. Shchita: Nauka, Leningrad, p. 28-42.
- Mikkola, A. and Niini, H., 1968, Structural position of ore bearing areas in Finland: Bulletin Geological Society of Finland, v. 40, p. 17-33.
- Nalivkin, D. V., 1960, The geology of the U. S. S. R.; a short outline, including a 1:7,500,000 geological map of the U. S. S. R.: New York, Pergamon Press, 170 p.
- Negrutza, V. Z. and Negrutza, T. F., 1968, The Jatulian geology problem: Trudy Vsesoivznyi Geologicheskii Institut (Leningrad), New Series, v. 143, p. 81-96.
- Ojakangas, R. W., 1965, Petrography and sedimentation of the Precambrian Jatulian quartzites of Finland: Bulletin Commission Geologique Finlande, no. 214, 74 p.
- Piirainen, T., 1968, Die petrologie und uranlagerstatten des Koli-Kaltimogebietes im finnischen Nordkarelien: Bulletin Commission Geologique Finlande, v. 237, 99 p.
- Piirainen, T., Honkamo, M. and Rossi, S., 1974, A preliminary report on the geology of the Koli area: Bulletin Geological Society of Finland, v. 46, p. 161-166.
- Pisemskij, G. V., Ganzha, L. M., and Bolotova, N. Y., 1969, Preliminary results of the study of the gold-bearing Precambrian conglomerates in the area near Krivoy-Rog, and the Kursk magnetic anomaly, <u>in</u> Smirnov, V. I., ed., Problems with metal-bearing ancient conglomerates in the U.S.S.R.: Nauka, Moscow, p. 101-107 (in Russian).

- Polkanov, A. A., and Gerling, E. K., 1960, The Precambrian geochronology of the Baltic Shield: International Geological Congress, 24th, Pt. 9, p. 183-191.
- Rankama, K., 1970, Global Precambrian stratigraphy; background and principles: Scientia, v. 105, p. 382-421.
- Rozhov, I. S., 1969, The status of research on gold-bearing conglomerates in the U.S.S.R., in Smirnov, V. I., ed., Problems with metal-bearing ancient conglomerates in the U.S.S.R.: Nauka, Moscow, p. 1-15.
- Salop, L. J., 1964, Precambrian geochronology and some features of the early stage of the geological history of the earth: Proceedings of the International Geological Congress, 22nd Session, New Delhi 1964, Pt. 10, Archean and Precambrian Geology, p. 131-149.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964-1967, Geology of Baikal Mountain area: Nedra, Moscow, v. l (1964), 515 p., v. 2 (1967), 699 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1968, Precambrian of the U.S.S.R.: International Geological Congress, 23rd, Sec. 4, p. 61-73.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970a, General criteria for stratigraphic and geochronologic subdivision of the Precambrian, <u>in</u> Geokhronologiya Dokembriya: Nauka, Moscow, p. 112-130.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970b, Revision of the geochronological scale of the Precambrian: Byull. MOIP, v. 45(4), p. 115-135, v. 45(5), p. 5-26.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971a, Basic features of the stratigraphy and tectonics of the Precambrian in the Baltic shield, <u>in</u> Problemy Geologii Dokembriya. Baltiyskogo Shchita i Pokrova Russkoy Platformy: Trudy Vsesoivznyi Geologicheskii Institut, v. 175, p. 6-87.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1972, A unified stratigraphic scale of the Precambrian: International Geological Congress, 24th, Section 1, p. 253-259.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1977, Precambrian of the northern hemisphere; Developments in paleontology and stratigraphy, 3: New York, Elsevier Publishing Company.
- Sederholm, J., 1930, Pre-quaternary rocks of Finland; explanatory notes to accompany a general geological map of Finland: no. 91. 47 p.
- Semenenko, N. P., 1965, The Precambrian stratigraphical scale for the Ukrainian shield, in Geokhronologiya Dokembriya Ukrainy: Naukova Dumka, Kiev, p. 174-181.

- Semenenko, N. P., 1970, Intercontinental correlation of the Precambrian, in Geokhronologiya Dokembriya: Nauka, Moscow, p. 5-22.
- Semenenko, N. P., Rodionov, S. P., Usenko, I. S., Lichak, I. L. and Tsarovsky, J. D., 1960, The Precambrian stratigraphy of the Ukrainian crystalline shield, <u>in</u> Doklady Sovetskaya Geologiya, Stratigrafiya i Korrelyatsiya Dokembriya: Academy of Science of the U.S.S.R., Moscow, p. 36-45.
- Semenenko, N. P., Scherbak, A. P., Vinogradov, A. P., Touraginov, A. I., Eliseeva, G. D., Cotlovskay, F. I. and Demidenko. S. G., 1968, Geochronology of the Ukrainian Precambrian: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 5, no. 3, Pt. 2, p. 661-671.
- Semikhatov, M. A., 1964, on Proterozoic problems: Izvestiya Academy of the Sciences of the U.S.S.R., Geologic Series, v. 2, p. 66-84.

- Shatalov, E. T., ed., 1968, Geological structure of the U.S.S.R., 1: Nedra, Moscow, 711 p.
- Shcherbak, N. P., Polovko, N. I. and Levkovskaya, N. Yu., 1969, Isotopic composition of accessory minerals from the lower formation of Krivoy Rog group: Geologicheskiy Zhurnal, v. 29, no. 3, p. 23-32.
- Shkrorov, V. A., and Kovaleva, K. V., 1961, Proterozoiskie radioaktivnye Konglomeraty: Voprosy Rudnoi Geofiziki, no. 3, p. 68-78.
- Silvennoinen, A., 1972, On the stratigraphic and structural geology of the Rukatunturi area, Northeastern Finland: Geological Survey of Finland Bulletin, no. 257, 48.
- Simonen, A., 1960, Pre-Quaternary rocks in Finland: Geological Survey of Finland Bulletin, no. 191, 49 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971, Das finnische Grundgebirge: Geologische Rundschau, v. 60, p. 1406-1421.
- Smirnov, Yu. D., 1964, The evolution of the Urals fold belt during the Precambrian, in Doklady Soverskaya Geologiya Problemy, v. 10, Geologiya Dokembriya: Nedra, Moscow, p. 195-207.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Problems with metal-bearing ancient conglomerates in the U.S.S.R.; Nauka, Moscow, 192 p. (in Russian).
- Stromberg, A. G. B., 1976, A pattern of tectonic zones in the western part of the East European Platform: Geologiska Foreningens i Stockholm Forhandlingar, v. 98, p. 227-243.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1974, Stratigraphy and geochronology of the Proterozoic: Nauka, Moscow, 300 p.

- Stromberg, A. G. B., 1978, Early tectonic zones in the Baltic Shield: Precambrian Research, v. 6, p. 217-222.
- Svetov, A. P., 1972, Jatulian paleovolcanology in central Karelia: Trudy Institut Geologiya Karelsk. Fil Academy of Sciences of the U.S.S.R., v. 11, 120 p.
- Touminen, H. V., Aarnisalo, J., and Söderholm, B., 1973, Tectonic patterns in the central Baltic Shield: Geological Society of Finland Bulletin, no. 45, p. 205-217.
- Tugarinov, A. I., Bibikova, E. V. and Krasnobayev, A. A., 1970, Precambrian geochronology in the Urals: Geokhimiya, 1970(4), p. 501-509.
- Tugarinov, A. I, and Voytkevich, G. V., 1970, Geochronology of the Precambrian of the continents: Nedra, Moscow, 2nd ed. supplement, 431 p.
- Tuominen, H. V., Aarnisalo, J., and Soderholm, B., 1973, Tectonic patterns in the central Baltic Shield: Bulletin Geological Society of Finland, v. 45, p. 205-217.
- Tyni, M., 1962, Geology of the Paakkajanvaara Uranium deposit: Geologi (Geological Society of Finland), v. 14, p. 24-27 (in Finnish), English translation in Kaliokoski, 1978.
- Vinogradov, A. P., 1957, Age of the Precambrian rocks in the Ukraine: Geokhimiya, v. 7, p. 10-17.
- Welin, E. and Blomqvist, G., 1964, Age measurements on radioactive minerals from Sweden: Geologiska Föreningen Stockholm Förhandlingar, 86/1(516), p. 33-50.
- Wennervirta, H., 1960, Occurrences of uranium ore in northern Karelia: International Geological Congress 21st session, Norden, guide to excursions, nos. A37, A38, C32, C33, p. 25-27.
- Wennervirta, H., and Kauranen, P., 1960, Radon measurement in uranium prospecting: Bulletin Commission Geologique Finlande, v. 188, p. 23-40.
- Yarosh, A. Ha., 1970, Structural relationships in the eastern margin of the Russian platform and the Urals geosyncline, <u>in</u> Voprosy Tektoniki Dokembriya Kontinentov: Nauka, Moscow, p. 23-89.
- Yakovleva, V. V., Shustov, B. N., and Mirolubora, Z. P., 1969, Aspects of the gold-bearing Precambrian conglomerates of Karelia, in Smirnov, V. I., ed., Problems with metal-bearing ancient conglomerates in the U.S.S.R.: Nauka, Moscow, p. 95-100 (in Russian).

INDIAN SHIELD

INDIAN SHIELD

- Aswathanarayana, U., 1968, Metamorphic chronology of the Precambrian provinces of south India: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 5, p. 591-600.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971, Th/U and U/K ratios as possible aid in prospecting for uranium deposits in peninsular India: Economic Geology, v. 66, no. 7, p. 1078-1082.
- Balasundaram, M. S. and Balasubrahmanyan, M. N., 1973, Geochronology of the Indian Precambrian: Bulletin Geological Society of Malaysia, v. 6, p. 213-226.
- Bhaskar, Rao Y. J. and Naqvi, S. M., 1977, Geochemistry of metavolcanics from Bababudan schist belt, a late Archean-Early Proterozoic geosynclinal from India (abstract): International Union of Geological Sciences-United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization-International Geological Correlation Program symposium, November, 1977, p. 33-34.
- Crawford, A. R., 1969, Reconnaissance Rb-Sr dating of southern peninsular India: Journal Geological Society of India, v. 10, p. 117-160.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970, The Precambrian geochronology of Rajasthan and Bundelkhand, northern India: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 7, p. 91-110.
- Dhruva Rao, B. K., Ramakrishnan, M., and Viswanatha, M. N., 1972, Dharwar stratigraphy; discussion: Journal Geological Society of India, v. 13, p. 303-305.
- Dunn, J. A., 1929, The geology of northern Singhbum including parts of Ranchi and Manghum Districts: Memoir Geological Survey of India, v. 54.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1937, The mineral deposits of eastern Singhbum and surrounding areas: Geological Survey of India Memiors, v. 69, p. 122.
- Dunn, J. A. and Dey, A. K., 1942, The geology and petrology of eastern Singhbum and surrounding areas: Memiors Geological Survey of India, v. 69, p. 281.
- Fermor, L. L., 1936, An attempt at the correlation of the ancient schistose formations of peninsular India: Memiors Geological Survey of India, v. 70, p. 1.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1950, Precambrian formations of India, discussion: Geological Magazine, v. 87, p. 140-144.

- Foote, R. B., 1882, Notes on a traverse across some gold fields of Mysore: Records Geological Survey of India, v. 15.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1888, The Dharwar System, the chief auriferous rock series in south India: Records Geological Survey of India, v. 21.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1896, The geology of the Bellary District: Memoirs Geological Survey of India, v. 25.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1900, Geological notes on traverses through Mysore State: Memoir Mysore Geology Department, v. 1.
- Hasnain, I. and Qureshy, M. N., 1971, Paleomagnetism and geochemistry of some dikes in Mysore State, India: Journal Geophysical Research, v. 76, p. 4786-4795.
- Heron, A. M., 1935, Synopsis of the pre-Vindhyan geology of Rajputana: Transactions National Institute of Science India, v. 1, p. 17.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1936, The geology of southeastern Mewar, Rajputna: Memoirs Geological Survey of India, v. 68, p. 1.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1953, The geology of the central Rajputana: Memoirs Geological Survey of India, v. 79, p. l.
- Holland, T. H., 1907, Imperial Gazetteer of India, v. 1, p. 50-102.
- Iyengar, B. R. C., 1971, Precambrian rocks in Holenarsipur, Hassan district, Mysore state, south India: Journal of Indian Geoscience Association, v. 13, p. 31-44.
- lyengar, B. R. C. and Jayaram, B. N., 1970, Stratigraphy of the Dharwar rocks of Mysore: Journal of Indian Geoscience Association, v. 12, p. 1-4.
- lyengar, S. V. P., 1971, Structure, stratigraphy and correlation of the Dharwar Supergroup of rocks of Mysore and the adjoining areas: Seminar on the Precambrian geology of Peninsular Shield: Geological Survey of India, abstract, p. 52-53.
- Jayaram, S., Venkatasubramanian, V. S., and Radhakrishna, B. P., 1976, Rb-Sr ages of cordierite gneisses of South Karnataka: Journal Geological Society of India, v. 17, p. 560.
- Krishnan, M. S., 1960a, Geology of India and Burma, Higginbotham, Madras, 604 p.

- Krishnan, M. S., 1960b, Precambrian stratigraphy of India: International Geological Congress, Copenhagen 1960, Report no. 21, p. 95-107.
- Mathur, S. M., 1960, A note on the Bijawar Series in the eastern part of type area, Chhatarpur district, N. P.: Geological Survey India Record, v. 86, p. 539-544.
- Middlemiss, C. S., 1917, Complexities of Archean geology in India, presidential address, section of geology, 4th Indian Science Congress: Journal Proceedings Asiatic Society of Bengal, v. 13, p. 195.
- Moralev, V. M. and Perfil'ev, Yu, S., 1972, The Precambrian geology of southern India: Sovetskaya Geologiya, v. 6, p. 98-107.
- Naqvi, S. M., 1973, Geological structure and aeromagentic and gravity anomalies in the central part of the Chitaldrug schist belt, Mysore, India: Geological Society America Bulletin, v. <sup>84</sup>, p. 1721-1732.
- Naqvi, S. M., and Hussain, S. M., 1972, Petrochemistry of early Precambrian metasediments from the central part of the Chitaldrug schist belt, Mysore, India: Chemical Geology, v. 10, p. 109-135.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1973, Geochemistry of Dharwar metavolcanics and composition of primeval crust of peninsular India: Geochimica, Cosmochimica Acta, v. 37, p. 159-164.
- Naqvi, S. M., Rao, V. D. and Hara Narain, 1974, The protocontinental growth of the Indian Shield and the antiquite of its rift valleys: Precambrian Research, v. 1, p. 345-398.
- Nautiyal, S. P., 1966, Precambrians of Mysore plateau: Presidential address, 53rd Indian Science Congress, sec. 3.
- Newbold, T. J., 1850, Summary of the geology of southern India: Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, v. 12, p. 78.
- Oldham, R. D., 1893, A manual of the geology of India and Burma, 2nd ed.: Calcutta.
- Pascoe, E. H., 1965, A manual of the geology of India and Burma: Geological Survey of India, third edition, v. 1, 485 p.
- Pichamuthu, C. S., 1935, The conglomerates and grits of Kaldurga, Kadur district, Mysore State: Proceedings Indian Academy of Science, v. 2.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1947, Some aspects of Dharwar geology with special reference to Mysore State: Presidential address, geology and geography section, 34th India Science Congress Proceedings, part 2.

- Pichamuthu, C. S., 1951, Some observations on the structure and classification of Dharwars of Mysore State: Current Science, v. 20, p. 117.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1962, Some observations on the structure, metamorphism, and geological evolution of Peninsular India: Journal Geological Society of India, v. 3, p. 106-118.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1967a, Dharwar sedimentation: Journal of Geological Society, University of Saugar, Vasundhara, v. 3, p. 21-29.
- \_\_\_\_, 1967b, The Precambrian of India, <u>in</u> Rankama, K., ed., The Precambrian, v. 2, Interscience, New York, N. Y., p. 1-96.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1971, Precambrian geochronology of Peninsular India: Journal of the Geological Society of India, v. 12, p. 262-273.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974, The Dharwar craton: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 15, p. 339-346.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Some problems pertaining to the peninsular gneissic complex: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 17, no. 1, p. 1-16.
- Prasada Rao, G. H., Murty, Y. G. and Dekkshitulu, M., 1964, Stratigraphic relations and associated sedimentary sequences in part of Keionjhar, Kuttack, and Sundargarh districts, Orissa: Proceedings of International Geological Congress, 22 Session, New Delhi 1964, Pt. 10, p. 72-88.
- Radhakrishna, B. P., 1967, Reconsideration of some problems in the Archean complex of Mysore: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 8.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1974, Peninsular gneissic complex of the Dharwar craton--a suggested model for its evolution: Journal Geological Society of India, v. 15, p. 439-454.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, The two greenstone groups in the Dharwar craton: Indian Mineralogist, v. 16, p. 12-15.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976a, Mineralization episodes in the Dharwar craton of peninsular India: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 17, no. 1, p. 79-88.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976b, Two greenstone groups in the Dharwar craton: Indian Mineralogist, v. 16, p. 12-85.
- Radhakrishna, B. P. and Vasudev, V. N., 1977, The early Precambrian of the southern Indian Shield: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 18, no. 10, p. 525-541.

- Ramakrishnan, M., Viswanatha, M. N. and Swami Nath, J., 1976, Basementcover relationships of peninsular gneiss with high grade schists and greenstone belts of southern Karnataka: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 17, p. 97-111.
- Rama Rao, B., 1935, Correlation of Indian Precambrian with Lake Superior formations: Research Mysore Geology Department, v. 33, p. 70-79.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1962, A handbook of geology of the Mysore State, southern India: Bangalore Printing and Publishing Company.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1964, The Archean provinces of India and their comparison with those of other continental shields: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 5, p. 56-71.
- Ray, S. and Ganganopadhyay, P. K., 1971, Metamorphic belts in Singhbhum, Manbhum, and Chhota Nagpur, East India: Geological Society of India Journal, v. 12, p. 286-294.
- Rogers, J. J. W., 1974, Problems concerning the evolution of the Precambrian shield of peninsular India: Hyderabad, India National Geophysical Research Institute, v. 12, p. 103-118.
- Sampath Iyengar, P., 1906, Report on the survey work in the Chitaldurg District: Record Mysore Geology Department, v. 6, p. 57-92.
- Sarkar, S. N., 1968, Precambrian stratigraphy and geochronology of peninsular India: Dhanbad Publications, Dhanbad, India.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1972, Present status of Precambrian geochronology of peninsular India: Proceedings International Geological Congress, 24 Session, Montreal 1972, Section 1, Precambrian Geology, p. 260-272.

- Sarkar, S. N. and Saha, A. K., 1962, A revision of the Precambrian stratigraphy and tectonics of Singhbhum and adjacent regions: Quarterly Journal of Geology Mining and Metallurgy Society of India, v. 39, p. 97.
- Satyanarayana, K., Divakara, Rao, V., Naqvi, S. M. and Hussain, S. M., 1973, On the provenance of Dharwar schists, Shimoga, Mysore: Bulletin National Geophysical Research Institute, v. 15, p. 35-41.
- Sen, S., 1970, Some problems of Precambrian geology of the central and southern Aravalli Range, Rajasthan: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 11, p. 217-231.
- Smeeth, W. F., 1901, General report on the work of the department for the years 1900-1901: Records Mysore Geology Department, v. 3, p. 1.

- Smeeth. W. F., 1916, Outline of the geological history of Mysore: Department of Mines Geology, Mysore State, Bulletin, v. 6.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1926, Some views about the Archeans of southern India, Presidential address, section of geology: Records Mysore Geology Department, v. 23, p. 37.
- Sreenivas, B. L., 1968, Dharwar conglomerates of Mysore--a restudy: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 9, p. 197-205.
- Sreenivas, B. L. and Srinivasan, R., 1974, Geochemistry of the granitegreenstone terrain of south India: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 15, p. 390-406.
- Srinivasan, R. and Sreenivas, B. L., 1968, Sedimentation and tectonics in Dharwars (Archean), Mysore State, India: Indian Mineralogist, v. 9, p. 47-58.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Flood basalts from Dharwars of Mysore (abstract): Proceedings International Symposium on Deccan Traps and other flood basalts, p. 30.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1972, Dharwar stratigraphy: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 13, p. 75-85.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, Pre-Dharwar rock formations of Karnataka: Indian Mineralogist, v. 16, p. 76-88.
- Swami Nath, J., Ramakrishnan, M., and Viswanatha, M. N., 1976, Dharwar stratigraphic model and Karnataka craton evolution: Records Geological Survey of India, v. 107, Pt. 2.
- Venkatasubramanyan, V. S., 1974, Geochronology of the Dharwar craton, a review: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 15, p. 463-468.
- Venkatasubramanyan, V. S., Gopalan, K., Iyer, S. S., Pal, S., and Krishnan, R. S., 1963, Studies on the Rb-Sr and K-Ar dating of minerals from the Precambrian of India: Canadian Journal Earth Science, v. 5, p. 601-603.
- Venkatasubramanyan, V. S., Iyer, S. S. and Pal, S., 1971, Studies on the Rb-Sr geochronology of the Precambrian formations of Mysore State: American Journal Science, v. 270, p. 43-53.
- Venkatasubramanyan, V. S. and Narayanaswamy, R., 1974, Ages of some gneissic pebbles in Kaldurga conglomerates: Journal of Geological Society of India, v. 15, p. 318-319.

- Viswanatha, M. N. and Ramakrishnan, M., 1975, The pre-Dharwar supracrustal rocks of Sargur schist complex in southern Karnataka and their tectonometamorphic significance: Indian Mineralogist, v. 16, p. 48-65.
- Viswanatha, M. N., Ramakrishnan, M., Chayapathi, N., Seshadri, T. S., Devudu, G. R., and others, 1977, Geology of the greenstone-granite terrain of Karnataka craton, south India: International Geological Correlation Program Project no. 92, excursion guide.
- Wadia, N. N., 1961, Geology of India: MacMillon Company, London, 3rd. edition, 536 p.
- Wood, R., 1972, Early Precambrian Kambui schist belt, southern Sierra Leone, and the surrounding basement: Nature; Physical Science, v. 236, p. 14.

SIBERIAN SHIELD

SIBERIAN SHIELD

- Gamaleya, Yu. N., Losev, A. G. and Popov, M. Ya., 1969, The oldest cover formations in the southeastern part of the Siberian platform: Soviet Geology, 1969, volume 4, p. 137-144.
- Garifulin, L. L., 1971, Conglomerates of the Kolmozero-Voronya Group, <u>in</u> Stratigrafiya, raschleneniye i korrelyatsiya Dokembriya Sev.-Vost. Chasti Balt. Shchita: Nauka, Leningrad, p. 42-52.
- Kostrikina, A. N., 1968, Stratigraphy of Proterozoic strata in Nognyazhek-Davangro-Khugda graben: Materialy po Geologii i Poleznym Iskopayemym Yakutsk. ASSR, v. 18, p. 76-86.
- Kosygin, Yu. A., and Parfenov, L. M., 1975, Structural evolution of eastern Siberia and adjacent areas: American Journal of Science, v. 275-A, p. 187-208.
- Kulish, E. A., 1971, Conglomerates in the lowermost lyengra Group of the Archean in Aldan area: Doklady Academy of the Sciences of the U.S.S.R., v. 198(4), p. 1216-1248.
- Levin, V. I., Mikhaylov, V. A., and Nuzhov, S. V., 1970, Stratigraphic position and lithogenic characteristics of gold-bearing conglomerates from the Proterozoic in the Davanya-Khugdinsk graben, Aldan Plateau, in Sostayaniye i zadachi Sovietskey lithologi, Uses Litol. Saveshch, 8th Doklady, v. 2, p. 213-219.
- Manuylova, M. M., ed., 1968, Geochronology of Precambrian strata in the Siberian platform and surrounding fold belts: Nauka, Leningrad, 331 p.
- Mironyuk, E. P., Lyubimov, B. K. and Mangushevsky, E. L., 1971, Geology of the western part of Aldan shield: Nedra, Moscow, 236 p.
- Nuzhnov, S. V., 1968, Regional stratigraphical chart of Proterozoic strata in the Aldan shield: Materialy po Geologii i Poleznym Iskopayemym Yakutsk. ASSR, 1968, v. 18, p. 19-37.
- Nuzhnov, S. V., Kudryavtsev, V. P. and Akhmetov, R. N., 1968, Subdivision of the Sakhabor (Late Archean) strata in the Aldan shield: Doklady Adademy of the Sciences of the USSR, v. 182(1), p. 164-166.
- Nuzhnov, S. V. and Mikhailov, V. A., 1968, Lower Proterozoic stratigraphy of the southern margin of the Aldan shield: Materialy po Geologii i Poleznym Iskopayemym Yakutsk. ASSR, 1968, v. 18, p. 70-75.

- Nuzhnov, S. V. and Yarmolyuk, V. A., 1968, New data on Precambrian stratigraphy with reference to the Aldan shield: Soviet Geology, 1968, v. 5, Geologiya p. 3-20.
- Obruchev, V. A., 1935-1938, Geology of Siberia: Academy of Sciences of the USSR, Moscow-Leningrad, 1358 p.
- Salop, L. J., 1977, Precambrian of the northern hemisphere: New York Elsevier Publishing Company, 378 p.
- Sudovikov, N. G., Glebovitsky, V. A., Drugova, G. M. and Krylova, M. D., 1965, Geology and petrology of the southern margin of the Aldan shield: Nauka, Leningrad, 290 p.
- Tougarinov, A. I., 1968, Geochronology of the Aldan shield, southeastern Siberia: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 5, no. 3, Pt. 2, p. 649-655.
- Tugarinov, A. I., Stupnikova, N. I. and Zykov, S. I., 1965b, Geochronology in the southern part of the Siberian platform: Izvestiya Academy of Sciences of the USSR, Geological Series, 1965, v. 1, p. 21-36.
- Vinogradov, A. P., Komlev, L. V., Danilevich, S. I., Sovonenko, V. G., Tugarinov, A. I. and Filippov, M. S., 1960, Absolute geochronology of the Ukrainian Precambrian: Copenhagen, 21st International Geological Congress Report 9, p. 116-132.
- Vinogradov, A. P. and Tugarinov, A. I., 1964, Problems of the Precambrian geochronology in eastern Asia, in Absolyutnogo vozrasta geologii formatsyi: Nauka, Moscow, p. 177-184.
- Vorona, I. D., Dukin, V. A. and Ivensen, Yu. V., 1968, Gold-bearing older conglomerate of the Aldan shield: Materialy po Geologii i Poleznym Iskopayemym Yakutsk. ASSR, 1968, v. 18, p. 191-200.
- Zabrodin, V. E., 1966, The early stages in the evolution of sedimentary cover in the southeast of the Siberian platform: Izvestiya Academy of Sciences of the USSR, Geologic Services, 1966, v. 8, p. 121-125.

- Allchurch, P. D. and Bunting, J. A., 1976, The Kaluweerie Conglomerate: a Proterozoic fluviatile sediment from the northern Yilgarn Block, Western Australia: West Australia Geological Survey Annual Report, 1975: 83-87.
- Arriens, P. A., 1971, The Archean geochronology of Australia: Special Publication Geological Society of Australia, v. 3, p. 11-24.
- Barnett, J. C., 1975, Some probable Lower Proterozoic sediments in the Mount Padbury area: West Australia Geological Survey Annual Report, 1974: 52-54.
- Brown, D. A., Campbell, K. S. and Crook, K. A., 1968, The geological evolution of Australia and New Zealand: Pergamon Press, Oxford, 409 p.
- Button, A., 1975, Transvaal and Mt. Bruce Supergroups parallels and some contrasts in basin development and mineral deposits: Geological Society of Australia, First Australia Geological Convention Abstract, 1.
- Carter, J. D., 1975, Recent exploration for uranium in the Kimberly region, West Australia: Report of Geological Survey of Western Australia.
- Compston, W. and Arriens, P. A., 1968, The Precambrian geochronology of Australia: Canadian Journal of Earth Science, v. 5, p. 561-583.
- Daniels, J. T., 1966, The Proterozoic geology of the northwest division of West Australia: Proceedings Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, v. 219, p. 17-26.
- Dunn, P. R., Plumb, K. A. and Roberts, H. G., 1966, A proposal for timestratigraphic subdivision of the Australian Precambrian: Journal of the Geological Society of Australia, v. 13, Pt. 2, p. 593-608.
- Gee, R. D., 1974, Recent progress on the Precambrian stratigraphy of Western Australia: West Australia Geological Survey Annual Report, 1973: 50-52.
- Hall, W. D. M. and Goode, A. D. T., 1975, The Nabberu Basin; a newly discovered Proterozoic basin in West Australia (abstract): Geological Society of Australia Annual Convention, 1975.

\_\_\_\_\_, in preparation: The Nabberu Basin: a newly discovered Lower Proterozoic basin in Western Australia.

- Halligan, and Daniels, 1965, Precambrian geology of Ashburton Valley region, N. W. division: West Australia Geological Survey Annual Report, p. 38-46.
- Hills, J. H. and Richards, J. R., 1972, The age of uranium mineralization in northern Australia: Search, Sydney, v. 3, no. 10, p. 382-385.
- Horwitz, R. C., 1967, Provisional subdivisions of the Precambrian in Western Australia: West Australia Geological Survey Annual Report, 1966: 58.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975a, Provisional geological map at 1:250,000 of the Northeast margin of the Yilgarn Block, Western Australia: Australia CSIRO Mining Research Laboratory, FP, 10.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975b, The southern boundaries of the Hamersley and Bangemall basins of sedimentation: Geological Society of Australia First, Australian Geology Convention Abstract, 91 p.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Two unrecorded basal sections in older Proterozoic rocks of Western Australia: Australia CSIRO Mining Research Laboratory, FP 17.

- \_\_\_\_\_, 1978, Bridging the Yilgarn and Pilbara blocks, Western Australia: Precambrian Research, v. 6, p. 293-322.
- Horwitz, R. C. and Sofoulis, J., 1965, Igneous activity and sedimentation in the Precambrian between Kalgoorlie and Norseman, Western Australia: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Proceedings, 214: 45-59.
- Hughes, F. E. and Harms, J. E., 1975, Radioactive King Leopold conglomerate, <u>in</u> Knight, C. L., ed., Economic geology of Australia and Papua, New Guinea: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy monograph series no. 5, 1126 p.
- Knight, C. L., ed., 1975, Economic geology of Australia and Papua, New Guinea: 1. metals: Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy monograph series no. 5, 1126 p.
- Kriewaldt, M., 1964, The Fortescue Group of the Roebourne region, North-West Division: West Australia Geological Survey Annual Report, 1963.
- Leggo, Compston, and Trendall, 1965, Radiometric ages of some Precambrian rocks from North West Division of Western Australia: Geological Society of Australia Journal, v. 12, p. 53-66.
- Richards, G. M., 1972, Proterozoic uraniferous conglomerates, Pilbara, West Australia: Geological Society of Australia Special Groups Meeting (abstract).

- Rutland, R. W. R., 1976, Orogenic evolution of Australia: Earth Science Reviews, v. 12, p. 161-196.
- Ryan, G. R., 1977, Uranium in Australia, <u>in</u> Geology, mining and extractive processing of uranium: Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Symposium, p. 24-42.
- South, S. A., 1972, Uranium in Australia: Atomic Energy Australia, v. 15, no. 4, p. 15-30.
- Sullivan, C. J., and Matheson, R. S., 1952, Uranium-Copper deposits, Rum Jungle, Australia: Economic Geology, v. 47, p. 751-758.
- Thomson, B. P., 1965, Geology and mineralization of South Australia, in Geology of Australian ore deposits: 8th Commonwealth Mining and Metallurgy Congress, v. 1, p. 270-284.
- Warren, R. G., 1972, A commentary on the metalogenic map of Australia and Papua, New Guinea: Bureau of Mineral Resources, Geology and Geophysics Bulletin 145.

- Alabi, A. O., Camfield, P. A., and Gough, D. I., 1975, The North American central plains conductivity anomaly: Geophysical Journal of the Royal Astronomical Society, v. 43, p. 815-833.
- Armstrong, R. L., 1968, Mantled gneiss domes in the Albion Range, southern Idaho: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 79, p. 1295-1314.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, The geochronometry of Idaho (Part 2): Isochron West, no. 15, p. 1-34.
- Armstrong, R. L., and Hills, F. A., 1967, Rubidium-strontium and potassiumargon geochronologic studies of mantled gneiss domes, Albion Range, southern Idaho, U. S.: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 3, p. 114-124.
- Baadsgaard, H., and Mueller, P. A., 1973, K-Ar and Rb-Sr ages of intrusive Precambrian mafic rocks, southern Beartooth Mountains, Montana and Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 74, p. 209-212.
- Barker, F., 1976, Archean sequence of the southwestern Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming (abstract): Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 8, p. 568.
- Barlow, J. A., Jr., 1950, Geology of the LaPrele Creek-Boxelder Creek area, Converse County, Wyoming: unpublished M. S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 49 p.
- Basset, W. A., and Giletti, B. J., 1963, Precambrian ages in the Wind River Mountains, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 74, p. 209-212.
- Bayley, R. W., 1968, Geologic map of the Bradley Peak quadrangle, Carbon County, Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey map GQ-773.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1970, Iron deposits of the Estes Creek area, Lawrence County, South Dakota, in Geological Survey research 1970: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 700-B, p. B93-B101.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1972a, Preliminary geologic map of the Nemo District, Black Hills, South Dakota: U. S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Investigations Map 1-712.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1972b, Geologic field compilation map of the northern Black Hills, South Dakota: U. S. Geological Survey Open-file Report.

- Bayley, R. W., and James, H. L., 1973, Precambrian iron-formations of the United States: Economic Geology, v. 68, p. 934-959.
- Bayley, R. W., and Muelberger, W. R., 1968, Basement rock map of the United States, exclusive of Alaska and Hawaii: U. S. Geological Survey, scale 1:2,500,000.
- Bayley, R. W., Proctor, P. D., and Condie, K. C., 1973, Geology of the South Pass area, Fremont County, Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper, 793, 39 p.
- Beckwith, R. H., 1939, Asbestos and chromite deposits of Wyoming: Wyoming Geological Survey Bulletin, v. 29, 31 p.
- Becraft, G. E., Calkins, J. A., Pattee, E. C., Weldon, R. D., and Roche, J. M., 1966, Mineral resources of the Spanish Peaks primitive area, Montana: U. S. Geological Survey Bulletin, 1230-B, p. B1-B45.
- Bell, G. L., 1952, Geology of the northern Farmington Mountains: in Marsell, R. E., ed., Guidebook to the Geology of Utah, no. 8, p. 38-51.
- Bishop, D. T., 1963, Retrogressive metamorphism in the Seminoe Mountains, Carbon County, Wyoming: unpublished M. S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 49 p.
- Blackwelder, Eliot, 1926, Precambrian geology of the Medicine Bow Mountains: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 37, p. 615-658.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1935, Precambrian rocks of Utah and Wyoming: Utah Academy of Sciences, Arts and Letters, v. 22, p. 153-157.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1949, Precambrian rocks of Utah, <u>in</u> Hansen, and Bell, eds., The oil and gas possibilities of Utah: Utah Geological and Mineralogical Survey, p. 25-30.
- Boardman, L., McIntosh, W. L., and Morgan, I. M., 1969, Geologic map index of Montana: U. S. Geological Survey map index.
- Bothner, W. A., 1967, Structure, petrology, and economic geology of the Cooney Hills, Platte County, Wyoming: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of Wyoming, 130 p.
- Brookins, D. G., 1968, Rb-Sr and K-Ar age determinations from the Precambrian rocks of the Jardine-Crevice Mountain area, southwestern Montana: Earth Science Bulletin, v. 1, p. 5-9.
- Cannon, R. S., Bayley, R. W., Stern, T. W., and Pierce, A. P., 1966, Ancient rocks and ores in south-central Wyoming (abstract): Geological Society of America Special Paper no. 87, p. 279.

- Casella, C. J., 1969, A review of the Precambrian geology of the eastern Beartooth Mountains, Montana and Wyoming: Geological Society of America Memoir 115, p. 53-71.
- Catanzaro, E. J., 1966, Correlation of some Precambrian rocks and metamorphic events in parts of Wyoming and Montana: Mountain Geologist, v. 4, p. 9-21.
- Catanzaro, E. J., and Kulp, J. L., 1964, Discordant zircons from the Little Belt (Montana), Beartooth (Montana), and Santa Catalina (Arizona) Mountains: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 28, p. 87-124.
- Clabaugh, S. E., 1952, Corundum deposits in Montana: U. S. Geological Survey Bulletin 983, 100 p.
- Clabaugh, S. E., and Armstrong, F. C., 1950, Corundum deposits of Gallatin and Madison Counties, Montana: U. S. Geological Survey Bulletin 969-B, p. 29-51.
- Cohenour, R. E., 1959, Precambrian rocks of the Uinta-Wasatch Mountain junction and part of central Utah, in Intermountain Association of Petroleum Geologists Tenth Annual Field Conference, p. 34-39.
- Cohenour, R. E., and Thompson, K. C., 1966, Geologic setting of Great Salt Lake, in the Great Salt Lake: Utah Geological Society Guidebook to Geology of Utah, no. 20, p. 35-56.
- Compton, R. R., 1972, Geologic map of the Yost quadrangle, Box Elder Country, Utah, and Cassia County, Idaho: U. S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Geological Investigations Map 1-672, scale 1:31,680.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1975, Geologic map of the Park Valley quadrangle, Box Elder County, Utah and Cassia County, Idaho: U. S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Geological Investigations Map I-873, scale 1:31,680.
- Compton, R. R., and Todd, V. R., 1979, Oligocene and Miocene metamorphism, folding, and low-angle faulting in northwestern Utah: discussion and reply: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 90, p. 307-309.
- Compton, R. R., Todd, V. R., Zartman, R. E., and Naeser, C. W., 1977, Oligocene and Miocene metamorphism, folding, and low-angle faulting in northwestern Utah: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 88, p. 1237-1250.
- Condie, K. C., 1969a, Petrology and geochemistry of the Laramie batholith and related metamorphic rocks of Precambrian age, eastern Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 80, p. 57-82.

- Condie, K. C., 1969b, Geologic evolution of the Precambrian rocks in northern Utah and adjacent areas: Utah Geological Survey Bulletin, v. 82, p. 71-95.
- , 1977, The Wyoming Archean Province in the western United States, in Windley, B. F., ed., The early history of the Earth: New York, John Wiley, p. 499-510.
- Condie, K. C., Leech, A. P., and Baadsgaard, H., 1969, Potassium-argon ages of Precambrian mafic dikes in Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 80, p. 899-906.
- Crittenden, M. D., Jr., 1965, Geology of the Draper quadrangle, Utah: U. S. Geological Survey Geological Quadrangle Map GQ-377, scale 1: 24,000.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1979, Oligocene and Miocene metamorphism, folding, and low-angle faulting in northwestern Utah: discussion and reply: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 90, p. 305-309.
- Crittenden, M. D., Jr., McKee, E. H., and Peterman, Z. E., 1971, 1.5 billion-year-old rocks in the Willard thrust sheet, Utah: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 3, p. 105-106.
- Crittenden, M. D., Jr., and Wallace, C. A., 1973, Possible equivalents of the Belt Supergroup in Utah, in Belt Symposium, 1973, Volume 1, Moscow, University of Idaho and Idaho Bureau of Mines and Geology, p. 116-138.
- Desborough, G. A., and Sharp, W. N., 1978, Uranium and thorium minerals in Precambrian metaconglomerates, Medicine Bow Mountains, southcentral Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Central Minerals Division unpublished report, 3 p.
- Divis, A. F., 1976, Geology and geochemistry of Sierra Madre Range, Wyoming: Colorado School of Mines Quarterly, v. 71, no. 3, 127 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1977, Isotopic studies on a Precambrian geochronologic boundary, Sierra Madre Mountains, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 88, p. 96-100.
- Duhling, W. H., Jr., 1971, Precambrian iron formation at Copper Mountain, Fremont County, Wyoming (abstract): 17th Annual Institute of Lake Superior Geology, Technical Sessions, p. 18.
- Duncan, I., 1978, Rb-Sr whole rock evidence for three Precambrian events in the Shuswap Complex, southeast British Columbia (abstract): Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 10, p. 392-393.

- Eardley, A. J., and Hatch, R. A., 1940, Precambrian crystalline rocks of north-central Utah: Journal of Geology, v. 48, p. 58-72.
- Ebbett, B. E., 1956, Structure and petrology of the metasedimentary rocks of the Good Fortune Mining area, Platte County, Wyoming: unpublished M. S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 151 p.
- Engel, A. E. J., 1963, Geologic evolution of North America: Science, v. 140, p. 143-152.
- Fields, E. D., 1963, Precambrian rocks of the Halleck Canyon area, Albany County, Wyoming: unpublished M. S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 91 p.
- Giletti, B. J., 1966, Isotopic ages from southwestern Montana: Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 71, p. 4029-4036.
  - \_\_\_\_, 1971, Discordant isotopic dates and excess argon in biotites: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 10, p. 157–164.
- Giletti, B. J., and Gast, P. W., 1961, Absolute age of Precambrian rocks in Wyoming and Montana, <u>in</u> Geochronology of Rock Systems: Annals of the New York Academy of Science, v. 91, p. 454-458.
- Gliozzi, J., 1967, Petrology and structure of the Precambrian rocks of the Copper Mountain district, Owl Creek Mountains, Fremont County, Wyoming: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of Wyoming, 141 p.
- Graff, P. J., 1978a, Geology of the lower part of the Early Proterozoic Snowy Range Supergroup, Sierra Madre, Wyoming - with chapters on Proterozoic regional tectonics and uraniferous quartz-pebble conglomerates: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of Wyoming, 85 p.
- , 1978b, Stratigraphy of Proterozoic metasediments in the Sierra Madre, Wyoming and correlation with a similar sequence in the Medicine Bow, Wyoming (abstract), <u>in</u> Lageson, D. R., and Hausel, W. D., eds:,Wyoming Geological Survey Public Information Circular no. 7, p. 9-10.
- , 1979, A review of the stratigraphy and uranium potential of Early Proterozoic (Precambrian X) metasediments in the Sierra Madre, Wyoming: Contributions to Geology, v. 17, no. 2, in press.
- Graff, P. J., and Houston, R. S., 1977, Radioactive conglomerate in Proterozoic (Precambrian X) metasedimentary rocks of the Sierra Madre, Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77~830, 7 p.

- Granath, J. W., 1975, Wind River Canyon: an example of a greenstone belt in the Archean of Wyoming, U.S.A.: Precambrian Research, v. 2, p. 71-91.
- Granger, A. E., Sharp, B. J., and Calkins, F. C., 1952, Geology of the Wasatch Mountains east of Salt Lake City,<u>in</u> Marsell, R. E., ed., Guidebook to the Geology of Utah, no. 8, p. 1-38.
- Hadley, J. B., 1969a, Geologic map of the Cameron quadrangle, Madison County, Montana: U. S. Geological Survey Quadrangle Map GQ-813 scale, 1:62,500.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969b, Geologic map of the Varney quadrangle, Madison County, Montana: U. S. Geological Survey Quadrangle Map, GQ-814, scale 1:62,500.
- Hague, A., and Emmons, S. F., 1877, Descriptive geology: United States Geological Exploration, 40th Parallel (King), v. 2, 890 p.
- Hansen, W. R., 1965, Geology of the Flaming Gorge area Utah Colorado -Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 490, 196 p.
- Hedge, C. E., Houston, R. S., Tweto, O. L., Reid, R. R., Harrison, J. A., and Peterman, Z., 1978, The Precambrian of the Rocky Mountain region, <u>in</u> Lageson, D. R., ed., Occurrences of uranium in Precambrian and younger rocks of Wyoming and adjacent areas: Wyoming Geological Survey Public Information Circular no. 7, p. 17.
- Heimlich, R. A., 1969, Reconnaissance petrology of Precambrian rocks in the Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Contributions to Geology, v. 8, p. 47-61.
- Heimlich, R. A., and Armstrong, R. L., 1972, Variance of Precambrian K-Arbiotite dates, Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 14, p. 75-78.
- Heimlich, R. A., and Banks, P. O., 1968, Radiometric age determinations, Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: American Journal of Science, v. 266, p. 180-192.
- Heinrich, E. W., 1960, Pre-Beltian geology of the Cherry Creek and Ruby Mountain areas, southwestern Montana: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology, Memoir no. 38, 40 p.
- Hills, F. A., 1977, Uranium and thorium in the Middle Precambrian Estes Conglomerate, Nemo District, Lawrence County, South Dakota--A preliminary report: U. S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-55, 27 p.

- Hills, F. A., 1978, Uranium, thorium and gold in the Estes conglomerate of Early Proterozoic age, Nemo District, Lawrence County, South Dakota (abstract), <u>in</u> Lageson, D. R., and Hansel, W. D., eds., Wyoming Geological Survey Public Information Circular no. 7, p. 21-22.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1979, Uranium, thorium, and gold in the lower Proterozoic (?) Estes Conglomerate, Nemo District, Lawrence County, South Dakota: Contributions to Geology, v. 17, no. 2, in press.
- Hills, F. A., and Armstrong, R. L., 1974, Geochronology of Precambrian rocks in the Laramie Range and implications for the tectonic framework of Precambrian southern Wyoming: Precambrian Research, v. 1, p. 213-225.
- Hills, F. A., and Delevaux, M. H., 1977, Origin of uranium in the Middle Precambrian Estes Conglomerate, eastern Black Hills, South Dakota-inferences from lead isotopes, in Campbell, J. A., ed., Short papers of the U. S. Geological Survey uranium-thorium symposium: U. S. Geological Survey Circular 753, p. 15-17.
- Hills, F. A., Gast, P. W., Houston, R. S., and Swainbank, Ian, 1968, Precambrian geochronology of the Medicine Bow Mountains of southeastern Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 79, p. 1757-1784.
- Hills, F. A., and Houston, R. S., 1978, Early Proterozoic tectonics of southern Wyoming and northern Colorado and the tectonic setting of the radioactive Precambrian conglomerates (abstract), <u>in</u> Lageson, D. R., and Hausel, W. D., eds., Wyoming Geological Survey Public Information Circular no. 7, p. 19-20.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1979, Early Proterozoic tectonics of the central Rocky Mountains, North America: Contributions to Geology, v. 17, no. 2, in press.

- Hills, F. A., Houston, R. S., and Subbarayudu, G. V., 1975, Possible Proterozoic plate boundary in southern Wyoming: Geological Society of America, Rocky Mountain Section, Abstracts with Programs, v. 7, p. 1287.
- Hodge, D. S., 1966, Petrology and structural geometry of Precambrian rocks in the Bluegrass area, Albany County, Wyoming: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of Wyoming, 135 p.
- Holden, G. S., 1978, The Slate Creek metamorphic terrain, Albany County, Wyoming: conditions of metamorphism and mineral equilibria in metapelites: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of Wyoming, 95 p.
- Hoppin, R. A., 1961, Precambrian rocks and their relationship to Laramide structure along the east flank of the Bighorn Mountains near Buffalo, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 72, p. 351-367.

- Horner, R. B., and Hasegawa, H. S., 1978, The seismotectonics of southern Saskatchewan: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 15, p. 1341-1355.
- Houston, R. S., 1973, Multilevel sensing as an aid in mineral exploration-iron formation example: Contributions to Geology, v. 12, p. 43-60.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1978, Introduction to papers on the uranium potential of rocks of Precambrian age of the Wyoming Province (abstract), in Lageson, D. R.,and Hausel, W. D., eds.,Wyoming Geological Survey Public Information Circular no. 7, p. 3-4.
- Houston, R. S., Graff, P. J., Karlstrom, K. E., and Root, F. K., 1977,
  Preliminary report on radioactive conglomerate of Middle Precambrian age in the Sierra Madre and Medicine Bow Mountains of southeastern
   Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Open-File Report, 77-584, 31 p.
- Houston, R. S., Karlstrom, K. E. and Graff, P. J., 1977, Uranium indications in the Precambrian of southern Wyoming (abstract): NURE Geology uranium symposium, metamorphic host rock session, p. 36.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1978, Radioactive quartz-pebble conglomerates of the Sierra Madre and Medicine Bow Mountains, southeastern Wyoming; Wyoming Geological Survey final report on grant no. 14-08-0001-G-411, 49 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1979, Progress report on the study of radioactive quartz-pebble conglomerate of the Medicine Bow and Sierra Madre, southeastern Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Open-File Report, in press.
- Houston, R. S., and McCallum, M. E., 1961, Mullen Creek-Nash Fork shear zone, Medicine Bow Mountains, southeastern Wyoming (abstract): Geological Society of America Special Paper 68.
- Houston, R. S., and others, 1968, A regional study of rocks of Precambrian age in that part of the Medicine Bow Mountains lying in southeastern Wyoming, with a chapter on The relationship between Precambrian and Laramide structure: Wyoming Geological Survey Memoir no. 1, 167 p.
- Houston, R. S., Schuster, J. E., and Ebbett, B. E., 1975, Preliminary report on the distributions of copper and platinum group metals in mafic igneous rocks of the Sierra Madre, Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Open-File Report, 75-85, 129 p.
- Johnson, R. C., and Hills, F. A., 1976, Precambrian geochronology and geology of the Box Elder Canyon area, northern Laramie Range, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 87, p. 809-817.
- Karlstrom, K. E., 1977, Geology of the Deep Lake Group, central Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: unpublished M. S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 116 p.
- Karlstrom, K. E., 1978a, Stratigraphy of the Deep Lake Group and a review of the tectonic history of the Medicine Bow Mountains (abstract), in Lageson, D. R., and Hausel, W. D., eds., Wyoming Geological Survey Public Information Circular no. 7, p. 21-22.
- Karlstrom, K. E., and Houston, R. S., 1979a, Stratigraphy and uranium potential of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite and Deep Lake Group, Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: Wyoming Geological Survey Report of Investigations, RI-13, 45 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1979b, Stratigraphy of the Phantom Lake Metamorphic Suite and Deep Lake Group and a review of the Precambrian tectonic history of the Medicine Bow Mountains: Contricutions to Geology, v. 17, no. 2, in press.
- King, P. B., 1976, Precambrian geology of the United States; an explanatory text to accompany the geologic map of the United States: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 902, 85 p.
- Kleinkopf, M. D., and Redden, J. A., 1975, Bouguer gravity, aeromagnetic, and generalized geologic maps of part of the Black Hills of South Dakota and Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Geophysical Investigations Map GP-903.
- Knight, S. H., 1968, Precambrian Stromatolites, bioherms, and reefs in the lower half of the Nash Formation, Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: Contributions to Geology, v. 7, no. 2, p. 73-116.
- Lageson, D. R., and Hausel, W. D., eds., 1978, Occurrences of uranium in Precambrian and younger rocks of Wyoming and adjacent areas: Wyoming Geological Survey Public Information Circular no. 7, 37 p.
- Lanthier, L. R., 1978, Stratigraphy and structure of the lower part of the Precambrian Libby Creek Group, central Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: unpublished M. S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 30 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1979, Stratigraphy and structure of the lower part of the Precambrian Libby Creek Group, central Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: Contributions to Geology, v. 17, no. 2, in press.
- Larsen, W. N., 1957, Petrology and structure of Antelope Island, Davis County, Utah: unpublished Ph. D. thesis, University of Utah.
- Lidiak, E. G., 1971, Buried Precambrian rocks of South Dakota: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 82, p. 1411-1420.
- Lowell, W. R., 1965, Geologic map of the Bannack-Grayling area, Beaverhead County, Montana: U. S. Geological Survey Map 1-433.

- McMannis, W. J., 1955, Geology of the Bridger Range, Montana: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 66, p. 1385-1430.
- McMannis, W. J., and Chadwick, R. A., 1964, Geology of the Garnet Mountain quadrangle: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Bulletin, v. 43, 47 p.
- McThenia, A. W., Jr., 1960, Geology of the Madison River Canyon area north of Ennis, Montana, in Campau, D. E., and Anisgard, H. W., eds., West Yellowstone Earthquake area: Billings Geological Society 11th Annual Field Conference, Billings, Montana, p. 155-164.
- Miller, W. R., Houston, R. S., Karlstrom, K. E., Hopkins, D. M., and Ficklin, W. H., 1977, Geological and geochemical investigations of uranium occurrences in the Arrastre Lake area of the Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-92, 30 p.
- Millgate, M. L., 1965, The Haystack Range, Goshen and Platte Counties, Wyoming: Wyoming Geological Survey Preliminary Report no. 5, 9 p.
- Mueller, P. A., and Cordua, W. S., 1976, Rb-Sr whole rock age of gneisses from the Horse Creek area, Tobacco Root Mountains, Montana: Isochron West, v. 16, p. 33-36.
- Naylor, R. S., Steiger, R. H., and Wasserburg, G. J., 1970, U-Th-Pb and Rb-Sr systematics in 2700 x 10<sup>9</sup> - year old plutons from the southern Wind River Range, Wyoming: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta v. 34, p. 1133-1159.
- Noble, J. A., Harder, J. O., and Slaughter, A. L., 1949, Structure of a part of the northern Black Hills and the Homestake mine, Lead, South Dakota: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 60, p. 321-352.
- Nunes, P. D., and Tilton, G. R., 1971, Uranium-Lead ages of minerals from the Stillwater Igneous Complex and associated rocks, Montana: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 82, p. 2231-2250.
- Osterwald, F. W., 1955, Petrology of Precambrian granites in the northern Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Journal of Geology, v. 63, p. 310-327.

\_\_\_\_\_, 1959, Structure and petrology of the northern Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Wyoming Geological Survey Bulletin, v. 48, 47 p.

Page, N. J., 1977, Stillwater Complex, Montana: rock succession, metamorphism, and structure of the complex and adjacent rocks: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 999, 79 p.

- Page, N. J., and Nokleberg, W. J., 1974, Geologic map of the Stillwater Complex, Montana: U. S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Investigations Map 1-797, scale 1:12,000.
- Peale, A. C., 1896, Three Forks Folio, Montana: U. S. Geological Survey Geologic Atlas no. 24.
- Peterman, Z. E., and Hedge, C. E., 1968, Chronology of Precambrian events in the Front Range, Colorado: Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 5, p. 749-756.
- Peterman, Z. E., Hedge, C. E., and Braddock, W. A., 1968, Age of Precambrian events in the northeastern Front Range, Colorado: Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 73, p. 2277-2296.
- Peterman, Z. E., Hildreth, R. A., and Nkomo, I. T., 1971, Precambrian geology and geochronology of the Granite Mountains, central Wyoming: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 3, p. 403-404.
- Peterman, Z. E., and Hildreth, R. A., 1978, Reconnaissance geology and geochronology of the Precambrian of the Granite Mountains, Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1055, 22 p.
- Powell, J. L., Skinner, W. R., and Walker, D., 1969, Whole-rock Rb-Sr age of metasedimentary rocks below the Stillwater Complex, Montana: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 80, p. 1605-1612.
- Ratté, J. C., and Zartman, R. E., 1970, Bear Mountain gneiss dome, Black Hills, South Dakota -- age and structure: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 2, p. 345.
- Redden, J. A., 1968, Geology of the Berne quadrangle, Black Hills, South Dakota: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 297-F, p. 343-408.
- Redden, J. A. and Norton, J. J., 1975, Precambrian geology of the Black Hills, in Mineral and water resources of South Dakota: U. S. Senate Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, Committee Print, p. 21-28.
- Reed, J. C., Jr., and Zartman, R. E., 1973, Geochronology of Precambrian rocks of the Teton Range, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 84, p. 561-582.
- Reid, R. R., 1957, Bedrock geology of the north end of the Tobacco Root Mountains, Madison County, Montana: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Memoir no. 36, 27 p.

- Reid, R. R., 1963, Metamorphic rocks of the northern Tobacco Root Mountains, Madison County, Montana: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 74, p. 293-305.
- Reid, R. R., McMannis, W. J., and Palmquist, J. C., 1975, Precambrian geology of North Snowy Block, Beartooth Mountains, Montana: Geological Society of America Special Paper no. 157, 135 p.
- Riley, G. H., 1970, Isotopic discrepancies in zoned pegmatites, Black Hills, South Dakota: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 34, p. 713-725.
- Robinson, G. D., 1963, Geology of the Three Forks quadrangle, Montana: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 370, 143 p.
- Rosholt, J. N., Zartman, R. E., and Nkomo, I. T., 1973, Lead isotope systematics and uranium depletion in the Granite Mountains, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 84, p. 989-1002.
- Ross, C. P., Andrews, D. A., and Witkind, I. J., compilers, 1955, Geologic map of Montana: U. S. Geological Survey, scale 1:500,000.
- Runner, J. J., 1934, Precambrian geology of the Nemo district, Black Hills, South Dakota: American Journal of Science, v. 28, p. 353-372.
- Sahinen, U., 1939, Geology and ore deposits of the Rochester and adjacent mining districts, Madison County, Montana: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Memoir, no. 19, 53 p.
- Scholten, R., Keenmon, R. A., and Kupsch, W. O., 1955, Geology of the Lima region, southwestern Montana and adjacent Idaho: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 66, p. 345-404.
- Smith, B. D., 1967, Geology and geophysical investigations of an area of Precambrian rocks, central Laramie Range, Albany County, Wyoming: unpublished M. S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 104 p.
- Smith, W. S. T., and Darton, N. H., 1903, Description of the Hartville quadrangle: U. S. Geological Survey Folio 91, 9 p.
- Snyder, G. L., and Hedge, C. E., 1978, Intrusive rocks northeast of Steamboat Springs, Park Range, Colorado: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1041, 42 p.
- Spencer, A. C., 1904, The copper deposits of the Encampment district, Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 25, 107 p.

- Spencer, E. W., and Kozak, S. J., 1975, Precambrian evolution of the Spanish Peaks area, Montana: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 86, p. 785-792.
- Stueber, A. M., and Heimlich, R. A., 1977, Rb-Sr isochron age of the Precambrian basement complex, Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 88, p. 441-444.
- Stueber, A. M., Heimlich, R. A., and Ikkamuddin, M., 1976, Rb-Sr ages of Precambrian mafic dikes, Bighorn Mountains, Wyoming: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 87, p. 909-914.
- Subbarayudu, G. V., and Hills, F. A., 1974, On the age and origin of syenite in the Laramie anorthosite complex, Wyoming: American Geophysical Union Transactions, v. 55, p. 476.
- Sylvester, G. H., 1973, Depositional environments of diamictites in the Headquarters Formation, Medicine Bow Mountains, southeastern Wyoming: unpublished M. S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 84 p.
- Tansley, W., Schafer, P. A., and Hart, L. H., 1933, A geological reconnaissance of the Tobacco Root Mountains, Madison County, Montana: Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology Memoir no. 9, 57 p.
- Thompson, W. D., Jr., 1960, Geology of the northern part of the Cherry Creek Metamorphic rocks, Madison County, Montana, in Campau, D. E., and Anisgard, H. W., eds., West Yellowstone Earthquake area: Billings Geological Society 11th Annual Field Conference, Billings, Montana, p. 135-147.
- Toogood, D. J., 1967, Repeated folding in the Precambrian basement of the Laramie Mountains, Albany and Platte Counties, Wyoming: unpublished M. S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 65 p.
- Van Hise, C. R., 1892, Correlation papers; Archean and Algonkian: U. S. Geological Survey Bulletin 86, 594 p.
- Van Hise, C. R., and Leith, C. K., 1911, The geology of the Lake Superior region: U. S. Geological Survey Memoir 52.
- Wetherill, G. W., Tilton, G. R., Davis, G. L., and Aldrich, L. T., 1956, New determinations of the age of the Bob Ingersoll pegmatite, Keystone, South Dakota: Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, v. 9, p. 292-297.
- Whelan, J. A., compiler, 1970, Radioactive and isotopic age determinations of Utah rocks: Utah Geological and Mineralogical Survey Bulletin, no. 81, 25 p.

- Wilson, B. D., 1975, The origin of slaty cleavage and associated structures, Precambrian Lookout schist, Medicine Bow Mountains, Wyoming: unpublished M. S. thesis, University of Wyoming, 83 p.
- Witkind, I. J., 1964, Preliminary geologic map of the Tepee Creek quadrangle, Montana-Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Map 1-417, scale 1:48,000.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1969, Geology of the Tepee Creek quadrangle, Montana-Wyoming: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 609, 101 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1972, Geologic map of the Henrys Lake quadrangle, Idaho and Montana: U. S. Geological Survey Map 1-781-A, scale 1:62,500.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 1976, Geologic map of the southern part of the Upper Red Rock Lake quadrangle, southwestern Montana and adjacent Idaho: U. S. Geological Survey Map I-943, scale 1:62,500.
- Witkind, I. J., Hadley, J. B., and Nelson, N. H., 1959, Pre-Tertiary stratigraphy and structure of the Hebgren Lake area, in The Hebgren Lake, Montana Earthquake of August 17, 1959: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper no. 435, p. 199-208.
- Woodward, L. A., 1970, Time of emplacement of Pinto Diorite, Little Belt Mountains, Montana: Earth Science Bulletin, v. 3, p. 15-26.
- Young, G. M., 1973, Tillites and aluminous quartzites as possible time markers for Middle Precambrian (Aphebian) rocks of North America; in Young, G. M., ed., Huronian Stratigraphy and Sedimentation: Geological Association of Canada Special Paper no. 12, p. 97-127.
- Zartman, R. E., and Stern, T. W., 1967, Isotopic age and geologic relationships of the Little Elk Granite, northern Black Hills, South Dakota: U. S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 575-D, p. D157-D163.

IDEALIZ FOR E	ZED STRATIGRAPHIC COLUMN EARLY PROTEROZOIC ROCKS IN NORTH AMERICA		1 SIERRA MADRE, WYOMING Graff (1978)							MEDICINE BO Houston and others ( 1978b); Karlst				
Fe														
V	IRON FORMATION – VOLCANICLASTIC SEQUENCE (2000-1700 m.y.)													
Fe												FORMATION		
												French Slate		
S		•										Towner Greenstor Nash Fork Fm.		
	STROMATOLITE DOLOMITE – QUARTZITE – ARGILLITE									GROUP		Sugarloaf Qtzite		
	(2150-1900 m.y.)	-	14	-	FORMATION	LITHOLOGY		Y CREEK		Lookout Schist Medicine Peak Quartzite				
T					s	HEAR ZONE	==			LIBB		Heart Fm.		
T		DEEP LAKE GROUP			Slaughterhouse Fm.	dolomite siltstone		500				Headquarters Fm.		
(T)			e 3 Cycle 4		Vagner Fm.	siltstone limestone paraconglomerate	• •	600			Cycle 3	Rock Knoll Fm.		
	RADIOACTIVE CONGLOMERATE – TILLITE SEQUENCE (2500 – 2150 m.y.)			-e c	Cascade Otzite	sandstone pebbly sandstone		2100		GROUP	2	Cascade Otzite		
T			- MC	CAC	Campbell Lake Formation	sandstone shale paraconglomerate	T	300		EP LAKE	Cycle	Campbell Lake Fr		
B			Cvcle 2	6 .2	Singer Peak Fm.	sandstone shale		1100		DE	e 1	Lindsey Qtzite		
				CVCI	Magnolia Fm.	sandstone qtz-granule sandstone qtz-pebble corgl.	<sup>8</sup> (R)	400			Cycl	Magnolia Fm.		
Fe		SUITE		Silver Lak Conglor	Silver Lake Conglomerate	graywake boulder paraçongl.		600		ANTOM LAKE SUITE		` upper clastic unit		
(V)				Cycle 1	Spring Lake Volcanics	graywacke basalt, tuff	$\odot$	650				upper metavolcan unit		
	VOLCANO – SEDIMENTARY SEQUENCE (2700 – 2300 m.v.)	NTOM LAKE			Upper Jack Creek Formation	shale, sandstone paraconglomerate qtz.—pebble congl.	R	> 1000				lower clastic unit		
(R) (V)		AHA			Lower Jack Creek Formation	sandstone paraconglomerate shale, basalt, tuff graywacke	$\odot$	> 1000		d		lower metavolcar unit		
	ARCHEAN BASEMENT			••••	Archean gneisses and gr	anite						Archean gneiss ar		

.

1

-

2 W MOUNTAINS, WYOMING (1968); Karlstrom and Houston (1979a; trom (1977); Lanthier (1978).

3 HARTVILLE UPLIFT, WYOMING George Snyder (personal communication, 1978)

4 BLACK HILLS, SOUTH DAKOTA Kleinkopf and Redden (1975); Bayley (1970; 1972); Paul Graff (personal communication, 1979)



5 CUYUNA DISTRICT, MINNESOTA

6 MARQUETTE AND SANDS QUADRANGLES, MICHIGAN Gair and Thaden (1968)

\*

7 IRON AND DICKENSON COUNTIES, MICHIGAN James (1958); James and others (1961), Sims (1976)

Marsden (1972)

8 HURONIAN SUPERGROUP, ONTARIO Robertson (1976); Roscoe (1969), Robertson and Card (1972)

9 OTISH-MISTASSINI AREA, QUEBEC Roscoe (1973); Chown and Caty (1973)

										12					
LOGY	TH	IICKNESS (m)													
cke ne, cherty magnetite		(?)													
rock cke		15-120													
ate	Fe	30-200													
e, shale,		120-245													
lows	$\bigcirc$	< 3000													
cke, shale, ne		1525- 3355										ROCK NAME	LITHOLOGY	тни	CKNESS (m)
rmation	Fe	(?)													
e tuff te		610													
ne		(?)										Mistassini Gp.	basalt, shale iron fm.	(∨) (Fe)	
iron- ion	Fe	120										and Kaniapiskau	limestone, dolomite basalt, shale	$\odot$	> 350
ne, iron- shales, ne		15										Supergroup	limestone sandstone, shale		
te	 (5)	305-610										Cheno and Peribonca Fms.	sandstone dolomite	6	150-34
one	A	61-610		-		FORMATION	LITHOLOGY	TH	ICKNESS (m)			~~~~~	*******		
.)	7	(?)				e a									
*****		•••••				Bar River Fm. > 2.15 b.y.	sandstone siltstone		300-1500						
					T GROUP	Gordon Lake Fm.	siltstone sandstone mudstone		250-1000						
					COBAL	Lorrain Fm.	sandstone qtz-pebble congl.	A	600-2100			Papaskwasati and Indicator Fms.	sandstone qtz.—pebble congl.	(A)	300-80
						Gowganda Fm.	paracongl., qtzite, siltstone, graywacke	Ŧ	150-2200			Chibougamau Gp.	paracongl., arkose	(7)	
				RGROU	LK.	Serpent Fm.	sandstone		0-1000						
				SUPEF	JIRKE	Espanola Fm.	limestone, siltstone dolostone		0-460						
active sequence			•		ol	Bruce Fm.	paraconglomerate	7	0-180						
					LK.	Mississagi Fm.	sandstone	*******	0-4000			no reco conglomer	rd of radioactive ate – tillite sequence		
				NIAN	нрис	· Pecors Fm.	argillite		0-500						
				HURO	Н	Ramsey Lake Fm.	paraconglomerate	(7)	0-180						
					OUP	McKim Fm.	siltstone graywacke		0-2150						
7					LAKE GR	Matinenda Fm.	sandstone qtz-pebble congl.	R	0-760	/		no reco sedime	rd of volcano – ntary sequence		******
oolite	(V) (Fe)	915 915			ELLIOT	Thessalon, Pater, Stobie, Copper Cliff	basalt, andesite rhyolite, congl.	$\odot$	0-1500	معممهم	Janaana				
		305				Livingstone Creek	arkose, congl.	R	0-500	~~~~~~~~~~		basement gneiss			

Archean granite-greenstone terrain > 2.5 b.y.





